
FAIRFAX COUNTY
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

December 5, 2017

AGENDA

9:30 Done Presentations

10:00 Done Presentation of the TAC Transportation Award

10:10 Done Board Appointments

10:20 Adopted Board Adoption of the Legislative Program 

10:30 Done Items Presented by the County Executive

ADMINISTRATIVE 
ITEMS

1 Approved Authorization to Advertise a Public Hearing to Convey Board-
Owned Property to the Fairfax County Park Authority (Lee and 
Mount Vernon Districts)

2 Approved Authorization to Advertise a Public Hearing to Establish Parking 
Restrictions on Old Lee Highway (Providence District)

3 Approved Approval of Traffic Calming Measures as Part of the Residential 
Traffic Administration Program (Hunter Mill, Providence and Sully 
Districts)

4 Approved Extension of Review Period for 2232 Applications (Mason, Mount 
Vernon and Sully Districts)

5 Approved Authorization to Advertise Proposed Amendments to Chapter 112 
(Zoning Ordinance) and Appendix Q (Land Development 
Services Fee Schedule) of the Code of the County of Fairfax, 
Virginia (County Code) Re: Parking Requirements and 
Reductions

6 Approved Authorization to Advertise a Public Hearing to Consider 
Amending Fairfax County Code Chapter 82 (Motor Vehicles and 
Traffic), Article 5 (Stopping, Standing, and Parking)

ACTION ITEMS
1 Approved Renewal of a Memorandum of Agreement Between the Fairfax 

County Police Department and the United States Bureau of 
Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (ATF) for 
Reimbursement of Overtime Salary Costs Associated with ATF 
Task Force

1



FAIRFAX COUNTY
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

December 5, 2017

ACTION ITEMS 
(Continued)

2 Approved Approval of a Resolution Requesting the Fairfax County 
Redevelopment and Housing Authority (FCRHA) Issue Revenue 
Bonds Series 2018A for the Crescent Apartments (Hunter Mill 
District), Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2018B for the 
Wedgewood Apartments (Mason District) and Other Necessary 
Documents  

3 Approved Sale of General Obligation Public Improvement Bonds and Public 
Improvement Refunding Bonds

4 Approved Authorization of Economic Development Support Funding for 
Annandale Pilot Projects

5 Approved Approval of a Memorandum of Understanding Between the 
Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments and the Fairfax 
County Board of Supervisors Regarding Participation in a Coastal 
Storm Risk Management Study

6 Approved Adoption of a Resolution Approving the Issuance by the Fairfax 
County Economic Development Authority of its Refunding 
Revenue Bonds or Notes for the Benefit of GMUF Potomac 
Heights, LLC

7 Approved Approval of Project Agreements Between the Virginia Department 
of Rail and Public Transportation (DRPT) and Fairfax County for 
Fiscal Year (FY) 2018 Transit Assistance Grant Funds

8 Approved Endorsement of the Chief Administrative Officer’s Task Force 
Recommendation Regarding the Preliminary FY 2019 Virginia 
Railway Express Capital and Operating Budget

9 Approved Approval of a Resolution Endorsing Projects For Submission to 
the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission for the Fiscal 
Year 2018 I-66 Inside the Beltway Commuter Choice Program 
(Providence, Mason, and Dranesville Districts)

10 Approved Approval of a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) Between the 
Northern Virginia Transportation Commission and the County of 
Fairfax Regarding Coordination of Technical Analysis, Testing 
and Funding for Phase III of the Envision Route 7 Project 
(Dranesville, Hunter Mill, Mason and Providence Districts)

2



FAIRFAX COUNTY
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

December 5, 2017

ACTION ITEMS 
(Continued)

11 Approved Approval of a Resolution Endorsing Projects Being Submitted for 
FY 2018 to FY 2023 Regional Funding, and FY 2024 Regional 
Surface Transportation Program and Congestion Mitigation and 
Air Quality Federal Funding through the Northern Virginia 
Transportation Authority

12 Approved Approval of the Fairfax County’s Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise Policy and Goal Update for the Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA) for Federal Fiscal Years 2018-2020

CONSIDERATION 
ITEMS

1 Approved Approval of the Proposed Amended Bylaws for the Fairfax 
County Architectural Review Board

2 Defer Decision to 
1/23/2018

Proffer Interpretation Appeal Associated with The Reserve at 
Tysons Corner Related to Proffers Accepted for RZ/FDP 2003-
PR-008

INFORMATION 
ITEMS

1 Noted Fairfax-Falls Church Community Services Board 2018 Fee 
Schedule

2 Noted Presentation of the Fiscal Year 2017 Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report (CAFR)

3 Noted Contract Award – Nursing and Other Healthcare Services

4 Noted Contract Award – Legal Services for Individuals with Disabilities

10:40 Done Matters Presented by Board Members

11:30 Done Closed Session

PUBLIC
HEARINGS

3:30 Approved Public Hearing on SE 2017-SP-018 (Cellco Partnership D/B/A 
Verizon Wireless) (Springfield District)

3:30 Approved Public Hearing on SEA 89-C-047-02 (CM & DOM, LLC) (Sully 
District)

3



FAIRFAX COUNTY
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

December 5, 2017

PUBLIC HEARING 
ITEMS 

(Continued)

3:30 Approved Public Hearing on RZ 2017-SU-011 (DD South 5 LC) (Sully 
District)

3:30 Approved Public Hearing on AA 2012-SU-001 (Jon & Kim Hickox) (Sully 
District)

4:00 Approved Public Hearing to Reallocate Proffered Funds from Patriot Park 
to Patriot Park North (Springfield District)

4:00 Approved Public Hearing on Proposed Plan Amendment 2016-CW-4CP, 
Office Building Repurposing

4:00 Approved Public Hearing to Consider Amendments to The Code of the 
County of Fairfax, Virginia, Chapter 82, Motor Vehicles and 
Traffic, Article 5, Sections 32, 32.1, 32.1.a, and 32.2

4:00 Approved Public Hearing on the Proposed Amendment to Deed of Lease 
with Comstock Reston Station Holdings, LC Regarding Further 
Development at the Wiehle-Reston East Metrorail Station 
(Hunter Mill District)

4:30 Approved Public Hearing on PCA-C-696-11/ CDPA-C-696-02 (Houston 
Office Partners LP and DSVO Dulles LP, PCA and CDPA)
(Dranesville District)

4:30 Public Hearing 
Held

Public Hearing on the First Interim Agreement: Master 
Development Plan Between the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax 
County, Virginia and The Alexander Company and Elm Street 
Development (Collectively, “Developer”) (Mount Vernon District)

4:30 Done Public Comment

4



R E V I S E D

Fairfax County, Virginia

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
AGENDA

Tuesday
December 5, 2017

9:30 a.m.

RECOGNITION

∑ Recognition of Fairfax County employers selected as “Best Workplaces for 
Commuters” by the Fairfax County Department of Transportation and the 
National Center for Transit Research at the University of South Florida.

PRESENTATIONS

SPORTS AND SCHOOLS

∑ CERTIFICATE – To recognize Rugby Virginia’s Middle School Boys Team for 
winning the Middle School National Invitational Rugby Tournament.  Requested 
by Supervisor Herrity.

∑ RESOLUTION – To recognize The Langley School for its 75th anniversary.  
Requested by Supervisor Foust.

∑ PROCLAMATION – To designate December 4-8, 2017, as Inclusive Schools 
Week in Fairfax County.  Requested by Supervisor Cook.

— more —

5



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

RECOGNITIONS

∑ RESOLUTION – To recognize the 50th anniversary of the Age Discrimination in 
Employment Act.  Requested by Supervisor Cook.

∑ RESOLUTION – To recognize the Vienna Choral Society for its 30th anniversary.  
Requested by Supervisor Hudgins.

∑ RESOLUTION – To recognize Todd Lattimer for his contributions to Fairfax 
County and the Springfield community.  Requested by Supervisor McKay.

STAFF:
Tony Castrilli, Director, Office of Public Affairs
Bill Miller, Office of Public Affairs
Lisa Connors, Office of Public Affairs

6



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

10:00 a.m.

Presentation of the 2016 Transportation Advisory Commission (TAC) Achievement 
Award 

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
None. 

PRESENTED BY:
Jeffrey M. Parnes, Chairman of the Transportation Advisory Commission

7



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

10:10 a.m.

Board Appointments to Citizen Boards, Authorities, Commissions, and Advisory Groups

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1: Appointments to be heard December 5, 2017
(An updated list will be distributed at the Board meeting.)

STAFF:
Catherine A. Chianese, Assistant County Executive and Clerk to the Board of 
Supervisors

8



December 5, 2017

FINAL COPY

APPOINTMENTS TO BE HEARD DECEMBER 5, 2017
(ENCOMPASSING VACANCIES PROJECTED THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2017)

(Unless otherwise noted, members are eligible for reappointment)

ADVISORY SOCIAL SERVICES BOARD
(4 years – limited to 2 full consecutive terms)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Francine Ronis
(Appointed 2/16 by 
L. Smyth)
Term exp. 9/17

Providence District 
Representative

L. Smyth Providence

AFFORDABLE DWELLING UNIT ADVISORY BOARD (4 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Mark Drake
(Appointed 2/09-5/12 
by McKay)
Term exp. 5/16

Engineer/Architect/ 
Planner #2 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor 

At-Large

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
James Francis Carey; 
appointed 2/95-5/02 
by Hanley; 5/06 by 
Connolly)
Term exp. 5/10
Resigned

Lending Institution 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor 

At-Large

9



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 2

AIRPORTS ADVISORY COMMITTEE (3 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Robert A. Peter;
appointed 2/09-1/13 
by L. Smyth)
Term exp. 1/16
Resigned

Providence District 
Representative

Clifford L. Elow L. Smyth Providence

ANIMAL SERVICES ADVISORY COMMISSION (2 years) 
[Note:  In addition to attendance at Commission meetings, members shall volunteer at least 24 
hours per year in some capacity for the Animal Services Division.]

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Barbara Hyde; 
appointed 9/13-9/14 
by Gross)
Term exp. 2/16
Resigned

Mason District 
Representative

Gross Mason

ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD (3 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(John Boland;
appointed 2/91-9/95 
by Dix; 7/01 by 
Mendelsohn; 9/04-
9/07 by DuBois; 
9/10-9/13 by Foust)
Term exp. 9/16
Resigned

Attorney 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

10



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 3

ATHLETIC COUNCIL  (2 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Clement Chan; 
appointed 12/09-1/16 
by Bulova)
Term exp. 12/17
Resigned

Diversity-At-Large 
Principal  
Representative

Douglas Phung
(Bulova)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Eric T. Sohn
(Appointed 4/10-1/15 
by Herrity)
Term exp. 11/17

Diversity-At-Large 
Alternate
Representative

Eric T. Sohn
(Herrity)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

VACANT
(Formerly held by
Terry Adams; 
appointed 11/11-7/13 
by Gross)
Term exp. 6/15

Mason District 
Alternate 
Representative

Gross Mason

Mr. Chip Chidester
(Appointed 3/10-10/15 
by Bulova)
Term exp. 10/17

Member-At-Large 
Alternate 
Representative

Bulova At-Large 
Chairman

BARBARA VARON VOLUNTEER AWARD SELECTION COMMITTEE
(1 year)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Judith Fogel;
appointed 6/12-5/15 
by Gross)
Term exp. 6/16
Resigned

Mason District 
Representative

Gross Mason

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Joshua D. Foley;
appointed 9/13-6/16 
by Herrity)
Term exp. 6/17
Resigned

Springfield District 
Representative

Herrity Springfield

11



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 4

BOARD OF BUILDING AND FIRE PREVENTION CODE APPEALS (4 years)
(No official, technical assistant, inspector or other employee of the DPWES, DPZ, 

or FR shall serve as a member of the board.)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Susan Kim Harris; 
appointed 5/09-2/11 
by Hudgins)
Term exp. 2/15
Resigned

Alternate #4 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Michael LeMay;  
appointed 2/87 by 
Pennino; 1/99 by Dix; 
2/03-2/15 by 
Hudgins)
Term exp. 2/19
Resigned

Design Professional 
#4 Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

BOARD OF EQUALIZATION OF REAL ESTATE ASSESSMENTS (BOE)
(2 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Thomas Parr; 
appointed 12/04-
12/08 by Connolly; 
12/10-12/16 by 
Bulova)
Term exp. 12/18
Resigned

At-Large #1 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Joseph Blackwell
(Appointed 2/05-1/08 
by Kauffman; 12/09-
1/16 by McKay)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #2 
Representative

Joseph Blackwell
(McKay)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Continued on next page

12



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 5

BOARD OF EQUALIZATION OF REAL ESTATE ASSESSMENTS (BOE)
(2 years)
continued

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Robert Mansker
(Appointed 9/06-1/16 
by Gross)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #3 
Representative

Robert Mansker
(Gross)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

John M. Yeatman
(Appointed 3/05-1/08 
by Connolly; 1/09-
1/16 by Bulova)
Term exp. 12/17

Professional #1 
Representative

John M. Yeatman
(Bulova)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Robert Kyle McDaniel
(Appointed 2/17 by 
Herrity)
Term exp. 12/17

Professional #3
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

CHESAPEAKE BAY PRESERVATION ORDINANCE
EXCEPTION REVIEW COMMITTEE (4 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Stephen Kirby;
appointed 12/03-1/08 
by Kauffman; 9/11 by 
McKay)
Term exp. 9/15
Resigned

Lee District 
Representative

McKay Lee

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
David Schnare; 
appointed 12/08 by 
McConnell; 11/10-
9/15 by Herrity)
Term exp. 9/19
Resigned

Springfield District 
Representative

Herrity Springfield

13



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 6

CHILD CARE ADVISORY COUNCIL (2 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Mercedes O. Dash
(Appointed 3/15 by L. 
Smyth)
Term exp. 9/17

Providence 
District 
Representative

L. Smyth Providence

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Hugh Mac Cannon;
appointed 12/09-9/14 
by Herrity)
Term exp. 9/16
Resigned

Springfield 
District 
Representative

Herrity Springfield

CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION (2 years)
[NOTE:  The Commission shall include at least 3 members who are male, 3 members who are 
female, and 3 members who are from a member of a minority group.]

Current Membership:  Males  - 9           Females – 3       Minorities:   5

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Nancy Angland Rice
(Appointed 2/16 by K. 
Smith)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #1 
Representative

Nancy Angland 
Rice
(K. Smith)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Rosemarie Annunziata
(Appointed 10/05-1/08 
by Connolly; 12/09-
1/16 by Bulova)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #3 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Jason Fong
(Appointed 1/00 by 
Hanley; 2/04-1/08 by 
Connolly; 12/09-11/16 
by Bulova)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #4 
Representative

Jason Fong
(Bulova)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Continued on next page

14



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 7

CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION (2 years)
continued

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Nicole V. Foster
(Appointed 4/16 by 
Hudgins)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #5 
Representative

Nicole V. Foster
(Hudgins)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Thomas Garnett, Jr.
(Appointed 10/05-1/08 
by Kauffman; 12/09-
1/16 by McKay)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #6 
Representative

Thomas Garnett
(McKay)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Patrick Morrison
(Appointed 10/05-3/16 
by Bulova)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #7 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Broderick C. Dunn
(Appointed 1/14-1/16 
by Cook)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #8 
Representative

Broderick C. 
Dunn
(Cook)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Lee E. Helfrich 
(Appointed 2/14-1/16 
by Gross)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #9 
Representative

Lee E. Helfrich
(Gross)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

John C. Harris, Jr.
(Appointed 10/05-
11/13 by Hyland; 1/16 
by Storck)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #10 
Representative

John C. Harris
(Storck)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Herbert C. Kemp
(Appointed 9/13-1/16 
by Foust)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #11 
Representative

Herbert C. 
Kemp
(Foust)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

John Townes
(Appointed 11/05-1/08 
by McConnell; 12/09-
1/16 by Herrity)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #12 
Representative

John Townes
(Herrity)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

15



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 8

COMMISSION FOR WOMEN (3 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Reena Desai;
Appointed 7/16 by 
Hudgins)
Term exp. 10/18
Resigned

Hunter Mill District 
Representative

Hudgins Hunter Mill

Kathryn M. McDaniel
(Appointed 10/14 by 
Herrity)
Term exp. 10/17

Springfield District 
Representative

Kathryn M. 
McDaniel

Herrity Springfield

COMMISSION ON AGING (2 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Robert Kuhns; 
appointed 2/15 by 
Hyland; 9/16 by 
Storck)
Term exp. 9/18
Resigned

Mount Vernon 
District 
Representative

Storck Mount 
Vernon

CONSUMER PROTECTION COMMISSION
(3 years) 

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Hung Nguyen; 
appointed 3/04-7/06 
by Connolly; 7/09-
6/15 by Bulova)
Term exp. 7/18
Resigned

Fairfax County 
Resident #9
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

16



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 9

ECONOMIC ADVISORY COMMISSION  (3 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Frank McDermott
(Appointed 6/09-12/14 
by Bulova)
Term exp. 12/17 

At-Large #4 
Chairman’s Land 
Use 
Representative

Bulova At-Large 
Chairman’s

Peter G. Hartmann
(Appointed 2/09-11/14 
by Bulova)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large 
Chairman’s #1 
Representative

Bulova At-Large 
Chairman’s

Denton Urban Kent
(Appointed 2/09-12/14 
by Bulova)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large 
Chairman’s #2 
Representative

Bulova At-Large 
Chairman’s

Mohammad S. Sheikh
(Appointed 3/09-11/14 
by Bulova)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large 
Chairman’s #3 
Representative

Bulova At-Large 
Chairman’s

Taylor Chess
(Appointed 1/12-11/14 
by Cook)
Term exp. 12/17

Braddock District 
Representative

Cook Braddock

Marcus B. Simon
(Appointed 7/12-11/14 
by Foust)
Term exp. 12/17

Dranesville 
District 
Representative

Esther C. Lee Foust Dranesville

Mark Silverwood
(Appointed 1/09-11/14 
by Hudgins)
Term exp. 12/17

Hunter Mill 
District 
Representative

Hudgins Hunter Mill

Justin Mark Brown
(Appointed 09/15 by 
McKay)
Term exp. 12/17

Lee District 
Representative

Justin Mark 
Brown

McKay Lee

Alfred Thieme, Jr.
(Appointed 1/09-12/14 
by Gross)
Term exp. 12/17

Mason District 
Representative

Alfred Thieme Gross Mason

Continued on next page

17



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 10

ECONOMIC ADVISORY COMMISSION  (3 years)
continued

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Stephen Keat 
(Appointed 9/12-11/14 
by Hyland)
Term exp. 12/17

Mount Vernon 
District 
Representative

Stephen Keat Storck Mount 
Vernon

John Harrison
(Appointed 2/09-11/14 
by L. Smyth)
Term exp. 12/17

Providence 
District 
Representative

L. Smyth Providence

Brian Schoeneman
(Appointed 12/11-
11/17 by Herrity)
Term exp. 12/17

Springfield 
District 
Representative

Brian 
Schoeneman

Herrity Springfield

FAIRFAX AREA DISABILITY SERVICES BOARD
(3 years- limited to 2 full consecutive terms per MOU, after initial term)

[NOTE:  Persons may be reappointed after being off for 3 years.  State Code requires that 
membership in the local disabilities board include at least 30 percent representation by 
individuals with physical, visual or hearing disabilities or their family members.  For this 15-
member board, the minimum number of representation would be 5.

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Timothy W. Lavelle
(Appointed 4/09-
12/14 by Bulova)
Term exp. 11/17
Not eligible for
reappointment

At-Large #2 
Business 
Community 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Leanne Alberts
(Appointed 10/13-
12/14 by Bulova)
Term exp. 11/17

At-Large 
Chairman’s 
Representative

Bulova At-Large 
Chairman’s

Continued on next page

18



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 11

FAIRFAX AREA DISABILITY SERVICES BOARD
(3 years- limited to 2 full consecutive terms per MOU, after initial term)
continued

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Linda L. Collins
(appointed 1/09 by 
Bulova; 12/11-11/14 
by Cook)
Term exp. 11/17
Not eligible for
reappointment

Braddock District 
Representative

Cook Braddock

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Barbara Johnson; 
appointed 4/16 by 
K. Smith)
Term exp. 11/18
Resigned

Sully District 
Representative

K. Smith Sully

FAIRFAX COUNTY CONVENTION AND VISITORS CORPORATION
BOARD OF DIRECTORS (3 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Theresa L. Fox
(Appointed 1/06-
5/14 by Gross)
Term exp. 6/17

Mason District 
Representative

Gross Mason

19



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 12

FAIRFAX-FALLS CHURCH COMMUNITY SERVICES BOARD
(3 years – limited to 3 full terms)

[NOTE:  In accordance with Virginia Code Section 37.2-501, "prior to making appointments, 
the governing body shall disclose the names of those persons being considered for appointment.”    
Members can be reappointed after 1 year break from initial 3 full terms, VA Code 37.2-502.

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Jeffrey M. Wisoff; 
appointed 6/13-6/14 
by L. Smyth)
Term exp. 6/17
Resigned

Providence District 
Representative

Nancy Cromwell 
Scott
(Nomination 
announced on 
November 21, 
2017)

L. Smyth Providence

HEALTH CARE ADVISORY BOARD (4 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Chafiq Moummi; 
appointed 1/17 by 
McKay)
Term exp. 6/20
Resigned

Lee District 
Representative

McKay Lee

HEALTH SYSTEMS AGENCY BOARD
(3 years - limited to 2 full terms, may be reappointed after 1 year lapse)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Richard T. Hartman
(Appointed 2/14 by 
Bulova)
Term exp. 6/17

Consumer #1 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

20



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 13

HISTORY COMMISSION (3 years)
[NOTE:  The Commission shall include at least one member who is a resident from each 
supervisor district.]  Current Membership:
Braddock   - 3                                 Lee  - 2                                    Providence  - 1
Dranesville  - 2                       Mason  - 0 Springfield  - 2
Hunter Mill  - 3                               Mt. Vernon  - 2 Sully  - 2

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Gretchen Bulova
(Appointed 10/06-
11/14 by Bulova)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #4 
Representative

Gretchen Bulova By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Steve Sherman
(Appointed 10/09-
11/14 by McKay)
Term exp. 12/17

Citizen #9 
Representative

Steve Sherman By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Esther W. 
McCullough
(Appointed 3/00-
11/02 by Hanley; 
12/05-12/08 by 
Connolly; 3/12-9/15 
by Bulova)
Term exp. 12/17

Citizen #10 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Naomi D. Zeavin;
appointed 1/95 by 
Trapnell; 1/96-11/13 
by Gross)
Term exp. 12/16
Mason District 
Resident
Resigned

Historian #1 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Page S. Shelp
(Appointed 1/09-
11/14 by Foust)
Term exp. 12/17

Historian #3 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

21



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 14

HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION (3 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Daoud Khairallah
(Appointed 11/05-
9/14 by Gross)
Term exp. 9/17

At-Large #8 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Mona Malik
(Appointed 4/14-9/14
by Bulova)
Term exp. 9/17

At-Large #9 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

HUMAN SERVICES COUNCIL (4 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Adrienne M. Walters;
appointed 3/14 by 
L. Smyth)
Term exp. 7/17
Resigned

Providence District 
#2 Representative

L. Smyth Providence

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
(4 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Inge Gedo
(Appointed 11/09-
1/14 by Herrity)
Term exp. 10/17)

At-Large #3 
Representative

Inge Gedo
(Herrity)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Christopher A. 
Glaser
(Appointed 10/09-
10/13 by Hudgins)
Term exp. 10/17

At-Large #4 
Representative

Christopher A. 
Glaser
(Hudgins)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

22



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 15

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY POLICY ADVISORY COMMITTEE (ITPAC)
(3 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Steven Lam
(Appointed 5/09-
11/14 by Cook)
Term exp. 12/17

Braddock District 
Representative

Steven Lam Cook Braddock

Susan Hoffman
(Appointed 2/97-
12/14 by Gross)
Term exp. 12/17

Mason District 
Representative

Susan Hoffman Gross Mason

Edward Blum
(Appointed 2/97-
9/01 by Connolly; 
1/04-11/14 by 
L. Smyth)
Term exp. 12/17

Providence District 
Representative

Edward Blum L. Smyth Providence

John M. Yeatman
(Appointed1/02-1/04 
by McConnell; 6/15 
by Herrity)
Term exp. 12/17

Springfield District 
Representative

John M. Yeatman Herrity Springfield

JUVENILE AND DOMESTIC RELATIONS COURT CITIZENS ADVISORY COUNCIL
(2 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by
John W. Herold;
appointed 11/13-
1/15 by Bulova)
Term exp. 1/17
Resigned

At-Large 
Chairman’s 
Representative

Bulova At-Large 
Chairman’s

23



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 16

LIBRARY BOARD
(4 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Charles Fegan; 
appointed 3/09-6/15 
by Bulova)
Term exp. 7/19
Resigned

At-Large 
Chairman’s 
Representative

Bulova At-Large 
Chairman’s

Yearn Hong Choi
(Appointed 5/16 by 
Herrity)
Term exp. 7/17

Springfield 
District 
Representative

Herrity Springfield

OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE ON DISTRACTED AND 
IMPAIRED DRIVING (3 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
William Uehling;
appointed 3/10-7/12 
by Bulova)
Term exp. 6/15
Resigned

Braddock District 
Representative

Cook Braddock

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Amy K. Reif; 
appointed 8/09-6/12 
by Foust)
Term exp. 6/15
Resigned

Dranesville District 
Representative

Foust Dranesville

Continued on next page

24



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 17

OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE ON DISTRACTED AND 
IMPAIRED DRIVING (3 years)
continued

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Adam Parnes; 
appointed 9/03-6/12 
by Hudgins)
Term exp. 6/15
Resigned

Hunter Mill District 
Representative

Hudgins Hunter Mill

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Jeffrey Levy;
Appointed 7/02-6/13 
by Hyland)
Term exp. 6/16
Resigned

Mount Vernon 
District 
Representative

Storck Mount 
Vernon

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Tina Montgomery;
appointed 9/10-6/11 
by L. Smyth)
Term exp. 6/14
Resigned

Providence District 
Representative

L. Smyth Providence

PARK AUTHORITY (4 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Mary Cortina; 
appointed 2/13-1/16 
by Bulova)
Term exp. 12/19
Resigned

At-Large #1 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Walter L. Alcorn
(Appointed 7/15 by 
Bulova)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #2 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

25



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 18

PLANNING COMMISSION (4 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Frank de la Fe
(Appointed 12/01-
11/13 by Hudgins)
Term exp. 12/17

Hunter Mill 
District 
Representative

Hudgins Hunter Mill

Earl L. Flanagan
(Appointed 12/06-
12/13 by Hyland)
Term exp. 12/17

Mount Vernon 
District 
Representative

Earl L. Flanagan Storck Mount 
Vernon

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Karen Keys-Gamarra; 
appointed 1/16 by K. 
Smith)
Term exp. 12/19
Resigned

Sully District 
Representative

K. Smith Sully

POLICE OFFICERS RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD OF TRUSTEES (4 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Jay A. Jupiter
(Appointed 2/17 by 
Storck)
Term exp. 12/17

Citizen At-Large 
#1 Representative

Jay A. Jupiter
(Storck)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

26



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 19

RESTON TRANSPORTATION SERVICE DISTRICT ADVISORY BOARD
The Board of Supervisors established the advisory board on April 4, 2017

There will be a total of 14 members on this advisory board.  The appointees would serve 
for 4 year terms from April 4, 2017

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

NEW POSITION Residential Owners 
and HOA/Civic 
Association #1 
Representative 

Foust or
Hudgins

At-Large

NEW POSITION Residential Owners 
and HOA/Civic 
Association #2 
Representative 

Foust or
Hudgins

At-Large

NEW POSITION Residential Owners 
and HOA/Civic 
Association #3 
Representative

Foust or
Hudgins

At-Large

27



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 20

ROAD VIEWERS BOARD (1 year)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Joseph Bunnell; 
appointed 9/05-12/06 
by McConnell; 2/08-
11/13 by Herrity)
Term exp. 12/14
Resigned

At-Large #1 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Paul Davis, Jr. 
(Appointed 3/14 by 
Bulova)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #2 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Marcus Wadsworth
(Appointed 06/09-
12/16)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #3 
Representative

Marcus 
Wadsworth

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Stephen E. Still; 
appointed 6/06-12/11 
by L. Smyth)
Term exp. 12/12
Resigned

At-Large #4 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Micah D. Himmel
(Appointed 12/11-
12/16 by L. Smyth)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #5 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

28



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 21

SMALL BUSINESS COMMISSION, FAIRFAX COUNTY (3 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Claire L. Tse
(Appointed 9/16 by 
Hudgins)
Term exp. 12/17

At-Large #2 
Representative

Claire L. Tse
(Hudgins)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

Ed Reniker
(Appointed 3/15 by 
Cook)
Term exp. 12/17

Braddock District 
Representative

Joseph 
Underwood

Cook Braddock

Koorosh Cyrus 
Sobhani
(Appointed 10/08-
1/15 by Foust)
Term exp. 12/17

Dranesville District 
Representative

Foust Dranesville

Carmen L. Powell
(Appointed 7/17 by 
Hudgins)
Term exp. 12/17

Hunter Mill District 
Representative

Carmen L. 
Powell

Hudgins Hunter Mill

Kelly Pride Hebron
(Appointed 11/08-
11/14 by McKay)
Term exp. 12/17

Lee District 
Representative

Kelly Pride 
Hebron

McKay Lee

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Patrick Fogarty;
Appointed 12/16 by 
Storck)
Term exp. 12/17
Resigned

Mount Vernon 
District 
Representative

Storck Mount 
Vernon

Eva Freund
(Appointed 11/14 by 
L. Smyth)
Term exp. 12/17

Providence District 
Representative

Eva Freund L. Smyth Providence

Samantha Lentz
(Appointed 2/17 by 
Herrity)
Term exp. 12/17

Springfield District 
Representative

Herrity Springfield

29



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 22

SOUTHGATE COMMUNITY CENTER ADVISORY COUNCIL (2 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Linda Diamond; 
appointed 3/07-4/13 
by Hudgins)
Term exp. 3/15 
Resigned

Fairfax County #8 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

TENANT LANDLORD COMMISSION (3 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Michael Congleton; 
appointed 7/13-2/17 
by Herrity)
Term exp. 1/20
Resigned

Citizen Member 
#1 Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

VACANT
(Formerly held by
Sally D. Liff; 
appointed 8/04-1/11 
by L. Smyth)
Term exp. 1/14
Deceased

Condo Owner 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

TRAILS AND SIDEWALKS COMMITTEE (2 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Steve Descano
(Appointed 7/15 by 
Gross)
Term exp. 1/18
Resigned

Mason District 
Representative

Gross Mason

30



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 23

TRANSPORTATION ADVISORY COMMISSION (2 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Alan Young; 
appointed 9/14-6/16 
by Bulova)
Term exp. 6/18
Resigned

At-Large 
Representative

Linda D. Sperling
(Bulova)

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

TREE COMMISSION (3 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

VACANT
(Formerly held by
Lyle Chet McLaren;
appointed 6/09-
11/17 by Bulova)
Term exp. 10/17
Resigned

At-Large 
Chairman's
Representative

Monica Billger Bulova At-Large 
Chairman’s

Thomas D. Fleury
(Appointed 1/17 by 
L. Smyth)
Term exp. 10/17

Providence District 
Representative

L. Smyth Providence

31



December 5, 2017                        Appointments to Boards, Authorities, and Commissions  
Page 24

TYSONS TRANSPORTATION SERVICE DISTRICT ADVISORY BOARD
(2 YEARS)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Cory Scott 
(Appointed 1/16 by 
L. Smyth)
Term exp. 2/17

Commercial or 
Retail Ownership 
Representative #2

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Molly Peacock;
appointed 2/13-1/15 
by L. Smyth)
Term exp. 2/17
Resigned

Providence District 
Representative #2 

L. Smyth Providence

WETLANDS BOARD (5 years)

Incumbent History Requirement Nominee Supervisor District

Deana M. Crumbling
(Appointed 1/14 by 
Bulova)
Term exp. 7/16

Alternate #1 
Representative

By Any 
Supervisor

At-Large

VACANT
(Formerly held by 
Glenda Booth; 
appointed 4/88-1/13 
by Hyland)
Term exp. 12/17
Resigned

Mount Vernon 
District #1 
Representative

Storck Mount 
Vernon

32



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

10:20 a.m.

Board Adoption of the 2018 Legislative Program for the Virginia General Assembly, 
Approval of the County’s 115th Congress Federal Legislative Strategy and Principles

ISSUE:
Board adoption of a legislative program for the 2018 Session of the Virginia General 
Assembly and Board approval of federal legislative strategy and principles for the 115th

Congress.

TIMING:
Immediate. On November 21, 2017, the Board of Supervisors held a public hearing on 
the 2018 Legislative Program. This program will be presented at the Board’s work 
session with the members of the Fairfax County Delegation to the Virginia General 
Assembly on December 12, 2017. The General Assembly will convene January 10, 
2018, and is scheduled to adjourn on March 10, 2018.

Board action is also requested at this time in order to formally adopt the County’s 
federal strategy for action during the 115th Congress. County staff will also apply for 
federal grants based on the criteria adopted by the Board.

BACKGROUND:
The draft State legislative program has been developed over the past several months 
by the Legislative Committee of the Board.  The program contains the Committee’s 
recommended legislative positions for the County at the 2018 Session of the Virginia 
General Assembly; an issue paper on human services needs is included as an 
addendum to this program. After adoption by the Board, final versions of these 
documents will be available at www.fairfaxcounty.gov/government/board.  In preparing 
this package, the Committee has considered the County’s legislative needs and 
opportunities and has endeavored to maintain a program of priority requests.  The 
Legislative Committee will continue to meet, generally on a weekly basis, throughout the 
Session to monitor legislation and recommend positions for adoption at regular Board 
meetings.

Draft federal strategy and principles were also developed as part of the Legislative 
Committee process. Discussion took place at the October 31, 2017, and November 28, 
2017, meetings. Staff recommendations presented to the Committee focused on areas 
determined to be of strategic importance to the County, including the federal budget,

33

http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/government/board


Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

funding for transportation, federal agency relocation and consolidation, and the social 
safety net. Specifics on budget items, as well as federal funding opportunities, will be 
reported periodically to the Board. The federal strategies and principles contain the 
Legislative Committee’s recommended positions for the County during the 115th

Congressional session.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Documents available online at www.fairfaxcounty.gov/government/board, under 
“Reports,” by December 4, 2017.
Attachment 1 - Draft Fairfax County Legislative Program for the 2018 Virginia General

Assembly 
Attachment 2 – 2018 Draft Human Services Issue Paper 
Attachment 3 – Draft 115th Congress Federal Legislative Strategy and Principles

STAFF:
Kirk W. Kincannon, Acting County Executive
Claudia Arko, Legislative Director
Tom Biesiadny, Director, Department of Transportation

34



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

10:30 a.m.

Items Presented by the County Executive

35



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ADMINISTRATIVE - 1

Authorization to Advertise a Public Hearing to Convey Board-Owned Property to the 
Fairfax County Park Authority (Lee and Mount Vernon Districts)

ISSUE:
Board of Supervisors authorization of the Board of Supervisors to advertise a public 
hearing regarding the conveyance of Board-owned property to the Fairfax County Park 
Authority (FCPA).

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board authorize a public hearing regarding 
the proposed conveyance of Board-owned property to the FCPA and authorize staff 
recommends that the Board authorize staff to execute all necessary documents to 
convey the above-referenced properties to the FCPA.

TIMING:
Board action is requested on December 5, 2017, to provide sufficient time to advertise 
the proposed public hearing on January 23, 2018, at 4:30 p.m.

BACKGROUND:
The Board of Supervisors is the owner of the following five (5) parcels in Lee and Mount 
Vernon Districts:

Name Tax Map No. Acreage District
Telegraph Road site 0921 01 0006 1.22 Acres Lee
Archstone site 0812 01 0012E 1.22 Acres Lee
Loftridge site 0822 01 0003C 6.37 Acres Lee
Rolling Wood site 0894 06 D 3.36 Acres Mount Vernon
Rolling Wood site 0982 06 D9 9.55 Acres Mount Vernon

The Archstone and Rolling Wood sites were developer dedications to the Board and
contain active recreational amenities, while the Loftridge property was acquired by the 
Board for open space purposes and the Telegraph Road parcel was purchased in 
connection with a County transportation project.  The FCPA has requested the 
conveyance of these parcels for inclusion in their parkland inventory and for use in 
accordance with the existing FCPA park master plans and the County Comprehensive 
Plan.  The Board has already delegated responsibility for maintaining the Rolling Wood
elementary school site to the FCPA pursuant to an Interim Use Agreement.  

36



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

Since all but the Telegraph Road property were acquired by the Board for public 
parkland or open space purposes, the Telegraph Road parcel is the only property 
subject to the existing Land Bank Agreement between the Board and the FCPA.  The 
Land Bank serves as a mechanism to allow the FCPA to convey land to the Board 
without the requirement of fair market value compensation in return.  In exchange for 
the conveyance of the properties to the FCPA, the Board will receive a credit in the 
Land Bank in an amount equivalent to the tax-assessed value of the properties. The 
existing balance in the Bank operates as an accounting measure only and cannot be 
“cashed out” by either party to the agreement.

Staff recommends that the conveyance of the property to the FCPA be subject to the 
condition that the parcels must be used for public park and stormwater purposes.
Staff further recommends that the conveyance be made subject to the County’s 
reservation of the right to assign to public entities, public utilities, or telecommunications 
or cable television providers the right to construct improvements on the property for the 
purpose of providing utilities and other public services.  Staff also recommends that any 
public utilities located on the property that are owned and maintained by County 
agencies, such as sanitary sewers, storm sewers and stormwater management facilities 
and structures, continue to be owned and maintained by the County.  

FISCAL IMPACT:
None

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1 – Location Maps

STAFF:
David J. Molchany, Deputy County Executive
Joseph M. Mondoro, CFO, Department of Management and Budget
Sara K. Baldwin, Acting Director, FCPA
José A. Comayagua, Director, Facilities Management Department

37



ATTACHMENT  1

38



39



40



41



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ADMINISTRATIVE - 2

Authorization to Advertise a Public Hearing to Establish Parking Restrictions on Old Lee 
Highway (Providence District)

ISSUE:
Board authorization to advertise a public hearing to consider a proposed amendment to 
Appendix R of The Code of the County of Fairfax, Virginia (Fairfax County Code), to 
establish parking restrictions on Old Lee Highway in the Providence District.

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board authorize advertisement of a public 
hearing for January 23, 2018, at 4:00 p.m. to consider adoption of a Fairfax County 
Code amendment (Attachment I) to Appendix R, to prohibit commercial vehicles, 
recreational vehicles and trailers as defined, respectively, in Fairfax County Code 
§§ 82-5-7, 82-5B-1, and 82-1-2(a)(50), from parking on the west side of Old Lee 
Highway, from Hilltop Road to the southern driveway of the Old Lee Highway 
Professional Condominium complex, from 6:00 p.m. to 9:00 a.m., seven days a week.

TIMING:
The Board of Supervisors should take action on December 5, 2017, to provide sufficient 
time for advertisement of the public hearing on January 23, 2018, at 4:00 p.m.

BACKGROUND:
Fairfax County Code Section 82-5-37(5) authorizes the Board of Supervisors to 
designate restricted parking in non-residential areas where long term parking of 
vehicles diminishes the capacity of on-street parking for other uses.

A representative of various property owners of land along Old Lee Highway contacted 
the Providence District office requesting a parking restriction along Old Lee Highway, 
from 6:00 p.m. to 9:00 a.m., seven days a week. 

This area has been reviewed multiple times over a period of 30 days. Due to the road
configuration on Old Lee Highway, the restricted parking designation should be applied
as shown in attachment II. Staff has verified that long term parking is occurring at this 
location, thereby diminishing the capacity of on-street parking for other uses. Staff is 
recommending a parking restriction for all commercial vehicles, recreational vehicles, 
and trailers along the west side of Old Lee Highway, from Hilltop Road to the southern 

42



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

driveway of the Old Lee Highway Professional Condominium complex, from 6:00 p.m. 
to 9:00 a.m., seven days a week.

FISCAL IMPACT:
The cost of sign installation is estimated to be $600. It will be paid from Fairfax County 
Department of Transportation funds.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment I:  Amendment to the Fairfax County Code, Appendix R
Attachment II:  Area Map of Proposed Parking Restriction 

STAFF:
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive
Tom Biesiadny, Director, Fairfax County Department of Transportation (FCDOT)
Eric Teitelman, Chief, Capital Projects and Traffic Engineering Division, FCDOT
Neil Freschman, Chief, Traffic Engineering Section, FCDOT
Charisse Padilla, Transportation Planner, FCDOT

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
Marc E. Gori, Assistant County Attorney

43



Attachment I 
 
 

PROPOSED CODE AMENDMENT 
 

THE CODE OF THE COUNTY OF FAIRFAX, VIRGINIA 
APPENDIX R 

 
 
Amend The Code of the County of Fairfax, Virginia, by adding the following to Appendix 
R, in accordance with Section 82-5-37: 

 
Old Lee Highway (Route 3741) from Hilltop Road to the southern driveway of the 
Old Lee Highway Professional Condominium complex. 
Commercial vehicles, recreational vehicles, and trailers, as defined, respectively, in 
Fairfax County Code §§ 82-5-7, 82-5B-1, and 82-1-2(a)(50), are restricted from 
parking on the west side of Old Lee Highway, from Hilltop Road to the southern 
driveway of the Old Lee Highway Professional Condominium complex, from 6:00 
p.m. to 9:00 a.m., seven days a week. 

44



Tax Map: 49-3

Tax Map: 49-1

Attachment II

®
Fairfax County 

Department of Transportation
Traffic Engineering Section

Proposed Parking Restriction
Providence District

Old L
ee 

Highw
ay 

Profe
ssio

nal 
Cond

om
iniu

m HILLTOP  RD

OLD LEE HWY

HILLTOP  RD

Proposed Parking Restriction   
(Old Lee Highway)

No Parking Commercial Vehicles, Recreational Vehicles, and Trailers
6:00pm- 9:00am, 7 days a week

LEE  HWY

45



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ADMINISTRATIVE - 3

Approval of Traffic Calming Measures as Part of the Residential Traffic Administration 
Program (Hunter Mill, Providence and Sully Districts)

ISSUE:
Board endorsement of Traffic Calming measures as part of the Residential Traffic 
Administration Program (RTAP).

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board endorse the traffic calming plans for 
Steeplechase Drive (Attachment I), Five Oaks Road (Attachment II) and Oxon Road 
(Attachment lll) consisting of the following:

∑ Three speed humps on Steeplechase Drive (Hunter Mill District)
∑ One pedestrian refuge/raised crosswalk on Five Oaks Road (Providence)
∑ Four speed tables on Oxon Road (Sully District)

In addition, the County Executive recommends that the Fairfax County Department of 
Transportation (FCDOT) be requested to schedule the installation of the approved 
traffic calming measures as soon as possible.

TIMING:
Board action is requested on December 5, 2017.

BACKGROUND:
As part of the RTAP, roads are reviewed for traffic calming when requested by a Board 
member on behalf of a homeowners’ or civic association. Traffic calming employs the 
use of physical devices such as speed humps, speed tables, raised pedestrian 
crosswalks, chokers, median islands, traffic circles, or multi-way stop signs (MWS), to 
reduce the speed of traffic on a residential street. Staff performed engineering studies 
documenting the attainment of qualifying criteria. Staff worked with the local 
Supervisor’s office and communities to determine the viability of the requested traffic 
calming measures to reduce the speed of traffic. Once the plan for the road under 
review is approved and adopted by staff that plan is then submitted for approval to 
residents of the ballot area in the adjacent community. On October 2, 2017, 
(Steeplechase Drive, Hunter Mill District), on September 21, 2017, (Five Oaks Road, 

46



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

Providence District) and on October 6, 2017, (Oxon Road, Sully District), FCDOT 
received verification from the local Supervisors’ office confirming community support for 
the above referenced traffic calming plan.

FISCAL IMPACT:
Funding in the amount of $98,000 for the traffic calming measures associated with
the Steeplechase Drive, Five Oaks Road and Oxon Road projects is available in Fund
2G25-076-000, General Fund, under Job Number 40TTCP.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment I:  Traffic Calming Plan for Steeplechase Drive
Attachment II: Traffic Calming Plan for Five Oaks Road
Attachment III: Traffic Calming Plan for Oxon Road

STAFF:
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive
Tom Biesiadny, Director, Fairfax County Department of Transportation (FCDOT) 
Eric Teitelman, Chief, Capital Projects and Traffic Engineering Division, FCDOT
Neil Freschman, Chief, Traffic Engineering Section, FCDOT
Steven K. Knudsen, Transportation Planner, Traffic Engineering Section, FCDOT
Paolo Belita, Transportation Planner, Traffic Engineering Section, FCDOT

47



LAWYERS RD

ST
EEPLECHASE DR

FOX MILL RD

CANTER LN

RIDERS LN

WHIP RD

AINTREE LN

WILD CHERRY PL

TROPHY LN
FOWLERS LN

DE
ER

DE
LL 

LN

MOUNTAIN LA
UREL P

L

TURF LN

OL
DW

IC
K C

T

AP
PA

LO
OS

A C
T

.

Fairfax County Department of Transportation
Residential Traffic Administration Program (RTAP)

TRAFFIC CALMING PLAN
STEEPLECHASE DRIVE

Hunter Mill District Tax Map:  26-3A Fairfax Co. Va., publication

ATTACHMENT I

October 2017

0 500 1,000250
Feet

Proposed Speed Hump
adjacent to 2613 Steeplechase Drive

& 2601 Deerdell Lane

Proposed Speed Hump
adjacent to 2623 Steeplechase Drive

& 2607 Deerdell Ln

Proposed Speed Hump adjacent
to property owned by Reston Association

& 12000 Aintree Ln

48



I66 EBI66 WB

BLAKE LN

FIV
E O

AK
S R

D

SA
VO

Y D
R

WATER OAK DR

SUTTON RD

KINGSBRIDGE DR

NO
RT

HW
OO

D 
RD

BA
RL

EY
 R

D

SWEET MINT DR

KINGS CROWN CT

EDGELEA RD

CASHEL LN

JAMES ST

RA
NG

ER
 R

D

BA
RN

SB
UR

Y C
T

TIPPERARY PASS

PL
AT

TE
N 

DR

BICKLEY CT

OUTLET

SU
GA

R 
LN

ALWAES DR

DR
AP

ER
 D

R

PARKING LOT

BU
CC

AN
EE

R 
CT

SP
IC

E C
T

LONGFORD CT

BA
YS

WA
TE

R 
CT

VA
LE

RA
 C

T

OAK CREEK PL

OAKTON CREST PL
STEVEN MARTIN DR

OA
K P

ON
D C

T

CYRANDALL PL

OAK PLANK CT

CA
ST

O 
DR

RESTRICTED

BLAKE LN

.

Fairfax County Department of Transportation
Residential Traffic Administration Program (RTAP)

TRAFFIC CALMING PLAN
FIVE OAKS DRIVE
Providence District Tax Map:  48-1, 48-3A Fairfax Co. Va., publication

Proposed Pedestrian
Refuge / Raised Crosswalk

adjacent to 9745 
and 9747 Water Oak Drive

ATTACHMENT II

September 2017

0 500 1,000250
Feet

49



OXON RD

THOMPSON RD
WE

ST
 O

X R
D

PARAPET WAY

OUTLET

CEDAR CREST LNFAIRFAX COUNTY PKWY NB

FAIRFAX COUNTY PKWY SB

ROSE CREST LN

AUTUMN CREST DR

ROSE GROVE DR

WILLOW GLEN DR

OX MEADOW DR

WILBURY RD

DRIVEWAY

SHADOW OAK LN

WILL
OW GLEN CT

HOLLY GROVE CT

MI
ST

Y C
RE

EK
 LN

PO
ND

 M
IST

 W
AY

WINTER SUN TER
LOUGHRIE WAY

CO
MM

OD
OR

E C
T

TOLMAN RD

BL
AK

ES
LE

Y H
AL

L C
T

SPRING RAIN CTOX MEADOW CT

ORCHARD GLEN CT

CENTURION LN

RUSHTON RD

BA
RT

ON W
AY

SUNNY FIELDS LN

WEST OX RD
.

Fairfax County Department of Transportation
Residential Traffic Administration Program (RTAP)

TRAFFIC CALMING PLAN
OXON ROAD
Sully District Tax Map:  35-4A Fairfax Co. Va., publication

ATTACHMENT III

October 2017

0 500 1,000250
Feet

Proposed Speed Table
Adjacent to 12614 &

12619 Oxon Rd

Proposed Speed Table
Adjacent to 12713 Oxon Rd

& 12713 Ox Meadow Dr

Proposed Speed Table
Adjacent to 12815 Oxon Rd

& Oak Hill Reserve HOA Property

Proposed Speed Table
Adjacent to 12900 Oxon Rd

& 3406 Blakesley Hall Ct

50



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ADMINISTRATIVE – 4

Extension of Review Period for 2232 Applications (Mason, Mount Vernon and Sully 
Districts)

ISSUE:
Extension of review period for 2232 applications to ensure compliance with review 
requirements of Section 15.2-2232 of the Code of Virginia.

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board extend the review period for the 
following applications:  2232-M17-37, FSA-V15-18-2, FS-M17-36, 2232-Y17-38, and 
2232-Y17-40.

TIMING:
Board action is required on December 5, 2017, to extend the review period of the 
applications noted above before their expiration date.

BACKGROUND:
Subsection B of Section 15.2-2232 of the Code of Virginia states:  “Failure of the 
commission to act within 60 days of a submission, unless the time is extended by the 
governing body, shall be deemed approval.”  Subsection F of Section 15.2-2232 of the 
Code of Virginia states:  “Failure of the commission to act on any such application for a 
telecommunications facility under subsection A submitted on or after July 1, 1998, within 
90 days of such submission shall be deemed approval of the application by the 
commission unless the governing body has authorized an extension of time for 
consideration or the applicant has agreed to an extension of time.  The governing body 
may extend the time required for action by the local commission by no more than 60 
additional days.  If the commission has not acted on the application by the end of the 
extension, or by the end of such longer period as may be agreed to by the applicant, the 
application is deemed approved by the commission.”  The need for the full time of an 
extension may not be necessary, and is not intended to set a date for final action.  

The review period for the following applications should be extended:

2232-M17-37 Fairfax County Park Authority
Green Spring Gardens
4603 Green Spring Road
Alexandria, VA
Mason District
Accepted October 23, 2017
Extend to April 23, 2018

51



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

FSA-V15-18-2 Verizon Wireless
1804 Ingemar Court
Alexandria, VA
Mount Vernon District
Accepted September 19, 2017
Extend to February 16, 2018

FS-M17-36 T-Mobile
6166 Leesburg Pike
Falls Church, VA
Mason District 
Accepted October 17, 2017
Extend to March 16, 2018

2232-Y17-38 Verizon Wireless
13857 McLearen Road
Herndon, VA
Sully District 
Accepted October 17, 2017
Extend to March 16, 2018

2232-Y17-40 T-Mobile
3903 Fair Ridge Drive
Fairfax, VA
Sully District 
Accepted October 25, 2017
Extend to March 24, 2018

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
None.

STAFF:
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive
Fred R. Selden, Director, Department of Planning and Zoning, DPZ
Marianne R. Gardner, Director, Planning Division, DPZ
Douglas W. Hansen, Senior Planner, Facilities Planning Branch, Planning Division, DPZ

52



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ADMINISTRATIVE - 5

Authorization to Advertise Proposed Amendments to Chapter 112 (Zoning Ordinance) 
and Appendix Q (Land Development Services Fee Schedule) of the Code of the County 
of Fairfax, Virginia (County Code) Re: Parking Requirements and Reductions

ISSUE:
Board of Supervisors’ authorization to advertise public hearings on proposed 
amendments to the parking requirements in Article 11 of the Zoning Ordinance and fees 
charged for the review of parking reductions in Appendix Q.  The proposed 
amendments streamline and add flexibility to the regulatory process by eliminating the 
need for some parking reductions, providing for administrative approval of some parking 
reductions currently requiring Board of Supervisors (Board) approval, and providing for 
Board approval of parking reductions ineligible for consideration under the current 
parking reduction provisions.

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board authorize the advertisement of the 
proposed amendments as set forth in the Staff Report dated December 5, 2017, by 
adopting the resolution in Attachment 1.

TIMING:
Board action is requested on December 5, 2017, to provide sufficient time to advertise 
public hearings on January 24, 2018, before the Planning Commission, and on 
February 20, 2018, before the Board.

BACKGROUND:
The proposed amendments: provide for administrative approval of some parking 
reductions based on sharing of parking among uses; reduce the amount of parking 
required for office, residential, and commercial uses within Transit Station Areas (TSAs)
identified in the Comprehensive Plan; replace the current provisions for parking 
reductions based on proffered Transportation Demand Management (TDM) programs 
with provisions for a more general parking reduction based on unique characteristics of 
a proposed use; and include related minor changes to existing parking requirements.
The proposed amendments were developed in response to both the Fairfax First 
initiative and the Strategic Plan to Facilitate the Economic Success of Fairfax County.  A 
small working group of County staff and stakeholders was tasked with reviewing the 

53



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

parking requirements in the Zoning Ordinance focusing on parking reductions.  The 
proposed amendments are included as Item #3 on the 2017 Priority 1 Zoning Ordinance 
Work Program.  Five proposals were developed and presented to the Board’s 
Development Process Committee over a series of four meetings beginning with the 
February 17, 2017, meeting. Four of the proposals resulted in the proposed changes to 
the County Code presented below. The fifth proposal, which provides for the 
development and publishing of basic submission requirements for parking reduction 
requests, doesn’t require a code amendment and will be completed subsequent to final 
Board action on the proposed amendments. The proposed amendments have been 
presented, in concept, to the Planning Commission’s Land Use Process Review 
Committee, the Engineering Standards Review Committee, the Northern Virginia 
Building Industry Association, NAIOP (the Commercial Real Estate Development 
Association), the Engineers and Surveyors Institute, and the zMOD Citizen Advisory 
Group.

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS:
The specific changes to the Zoning Ordinance and County Code include:

1. Lower parking rates for office, multifamily residential, and commercial uses in the ten 
TSAs identified in the Comprehensive Plan.  This will eliminate the need for many of the 
parking reduction requests based on proximity to the transit stations that have been 
routinely approved by the Board in the past.  Reductions below the new base rates may 
be approved by the Board.  The proposed rate for offices has two tiers based on 
distance from the metro station as opposed to the current requirement with three tiers 
based on total Gross Floor Area (GFA) of the building(s).  The proposed rate for 
multifamily residential uses is based on the number of bedrooms per unit as opposed to 
the current rate of 1.6 spaces per unit.  The proposed rate for commercial uses is a flat 
20 percent reduction of current rates.  The 20 percent reduction excludes office and
eating establishment uses.

2. Approval of parking reductions of up to 30 percent by the Director of Land 
Development Services (LDS) based on the timing of peak parking demand for different
uses (shared parking) subject to specific conditions to ensure that the site and adjacent 
areas are not adversely affected.  Currently, such reductions must be approved by the 
Board.  These provisions are narrowly tailored so that the Board retains authority over 
reductions for active zoning cases and any reduction previously approved by the Board.
Approval by the Director of LDS will not be available for pending zoning cases
submitted for approval by the Board or revisions to parking reductions previously 
approved by the Board.  These would still have to be approved by the Board regardless 
of the amount of the requested reduction.  Additionally, requests for reductions
exceeding 30 percent could be approved by the Board.

54



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

3.  Elimination of provisions for parking reductions based on proffered TDM programs.
There is no generally accepted method for correlating vehicle trip reductions, using 
TDM strategies, with reductions in the amount of parking needed and there must be a 
plan in place to provide additional parking if the expected reduction in parking needed 
does not materialize.  Additionally, the time of peak parking demand for a site that is 
assessed with parking studies, and the time of peak traffic for that same site that TDM 
typically targets, rarely align, making conclusions about parking reductions through TDM 
programs questionable. As a result, parking reductions based on proffered TDM 
programs are rarely justifiable and problematic because of post-construction site 
constraints preventing the installation of additional parking.

4.  Provisions for Board approval of a parking reduction based on the unique 
characteristics of the proposed use(s).  These provisions provide for parking reductions 
that do not qualify for consideration under more specific types of reductions and 
currently cannot be approved regardless of merit.

5.  Related minor changes to clarify current requirements for the use of offsite parking, 
shared parking, and parking reductions based on proximity to mass transit stations and 
other types of transportation facilities or within TSAs.

6.  Eliminate the $2,811.60 fee for review of parking reductions based on proffered TDM 
programs and add a fee in the same amount for review of parking reductions based on 
unique characteristics of a proposed use. Clarify that the fee for parking reductions 
based on proximity to mass transit includes reductions for other types of transportation 
facilities including bus service and sites within TSAs.  The description in the fee 
schedule was not updated when the provisions for reductions related to mass transit 
were clarified in 2016.

REGULATORY IMPACT:
The lowering of parking rates for multifamily residential, office, and commercial uses in 
TSAs is a lessening of current regulatory requirements.  The allowance for 
administrative approval for some parking reductions currently requiring Board approval 
will lessen the processing time for review of such requests. The elimination of the 
current provision for parking reductions based on proffered TDM programs will have 
little impact because it is rarely used.  The addition of a provision for a parking reduction 
based on unique characteristics of a proposed use will address situations that currently 
cannot be considered under any of the existing types of reductions.  A fee will be 
charged for review of parking reduction requests in accordance with the Land 
Development Services Fee Schedule.  Fees are unchanged except for the replacement 
of the fee for reductions based on proffered TDM programs with an equal fee for 
reductions based on unique characteristics of a proposed use.

55



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

FISCAL IMPACT:
There is no fiscal impact to the County.  The proposed amendments will not require any 
additional staff to implement.  Staff time will be reduced because of reduced processing 
time for some parking reduction requests and the elimination of the need for some 
requests in TSAs altogether.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1 – Resolution
Attachment 2 – Staff Report Dated December 5, 2017

STAFF:
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive
William D. Hicks, P.E., Director, Land Development Services
Leslie B. Johnson, Zoning Administrator, Department of Planning and Zoning

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
F. Hayden Codding, Assistant County Attorney

56



ATTACHMENT  1 
 

RESOLUTION 
 
At a regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia, held in the Board 
Auditorium in the Government Center Building, Fairfax, Virginia, on December 5, 2017, at 
which meeting a quorum was present and the following resolution was adopted: 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (Board) has adopted a Zoning Ordinance Amendment 
Work Program and placed the Parking Amendments on the First Tier of the Priority 1 
amendments; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Parking Amendments were developed in response to the Board’s Fairfax First 
Initiative; and 
 
WHEREAS, changes to the parking requirements were recommended as part of the Board’s 
Strategic Plan to Facilitate Fairfax County’s Economic Success; and 
 
WHEREAS, providing for administrative approval of some parking reductions currently 
requiring Board approval and replacing provisions for parking reductions based on proffered 
Transportation Demand Management programs with provisions for parking reductions based on 
the unique characteristics of proposed uses will add additional flexibility to the Zoning 
Ordinance; and 
 
WHEREAS, in order to reduce the need for formal parking reduction requests in Transit Station 
Areas (TSAs) identified in the Comprehensive Plan, new lower parking rates are proposed in 
TSAs; and 
 
WHEREAS, related minor changes to requirements for shared parking, use of offsite parking, 
transit related parking reductions, and review fees for parking reductions are needed; and 
 
WHEREAS, the public necessity, convenience, general welfare, and good practice require 
consideration of the proposed revisions to Chapter 112 (Zoning Ordinance) and Appendix Q 
(Land Development Services Fees) of the County Code. 
 
NOW, THERFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, for the foregoing reasons and as further set forth in the 
Staff Report, the Board of Supervisors authorize the advertisement of the proposed amendments 
to the Zoning Ordinance and Appendix Q of the County Code, as recommended by staff. 
 
Given under my hand this 5th day of December, 2017. 
 
 A Copy Teste: 
  
 ____________________________________ 
 Catherine A. Chianese 
 Clerk to the Board of Supervisors 

57



ATTACHMENT 2 

LAND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
December 5, 2017 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 
 
 
 

 PROPOSED COUNTY CODE AMENDMENT 
 

 PROPOSED PFM AMENDMENT 
 

 APPEAL OF DECISION 
 

  WAIVER REQUEST 
 

 

Proposed Amendments to Chapter 112 (Zoning Ordinance) and Appendix Q (Land 
Development Services Fee Schedule) of the Code of the County of Fairfax, Virginia 
(County Code) Re: Parking Requirements and Reductions 

 
 
Authorization to Advertise December 5, 2017 
 
Planning Commission Hearing January 24, 2018 

 
Board of Supervisors Hearing February 20, 2018 

 
  
 Code Development and 
Prepared by: Compliance Division 
 JAF (703) 324-1780 

58



2 
 

STAFF REPORT 
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that the Board of Supervisors (the Board) adopt the proposed 
amendments as set forth in this Staff Report dated December 5, 2017. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The proposed amendments were developed in response to both the Fairfax First 
initiative and the Strategic Plan to Facilitate the Economic Success of Fairfax County.  A 
small working group of County staff and stakeholders was tasked with reviewing the 
parking requirements in the Zoning Ordinance focusing on parking reductions.  The 
proposed amendments are included as Item #3 on the 2017 Priority 1 Zoning Ordinance 
Work Program.  Five proposals were developed and presented to the Board’s 
Development Process Committee at committee meetings held on February 17, March 
28, May 23, and July 18, 2017, which may be viewed here: 
https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/bosclerk/board-committees/meetings/2017/archive.htm.  
Four of the proposals resulted in the proposed changes to the County Code presented 
below.  The fifth proposal, which provides for the development and publishing of basic 
submission requirements for parking reduction requests, does not require a code 
amendment and will be completed subsequent to final Board action on the proposed 
amendments.  In addition to the Board’s Development Process Committee, the 
proposed amendments have been presented, in concept, to the Planning Commission’s 
Land Use Process Review Committee, the Engineering Standards Review Committee, 
the Northern Virginia Building Industry Association, NAIOP (the Commercial Real Estate 
Development Association), the Engineers and Surveyors Institute, and the zMOD 
Citizen Advisory Group. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Amendments related to the use of offsite parking 
Generally, required parking must be provided on the same lot as the building or use it 
serves.  However, the Zoning Ordinance includes provisions to allow a site to meet its 
parking requirement using excess offsite parking spaces provided there is an 
agreement between the two property owners that assures the “permanent availability” of 
the off-site parking spaces.  This provision is rarely used because most owners are 
unwilling to commit to providing permanent availability of the parking spaces.  As uses 
on sites change over time, permanent availability is not always necessary, especially 
with respect to temporary uses.  The proposed amendments add some flexibility to 
these provisions by replacing the requirement for permanent availability with a 
requirement for continuing availability sufficient to serve the uses associated with the 
parking.  Continuing availability could relate to a specific minimum time period or the 
period of a lease, including options, determined on a case by case basis by the Director 
of Land Development Services (LDS) or the Board. 

59

https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/bosclerk/board-committees/meetings/2017/archive.htm


3 
 

 
Amendments related to parking reductions based on the timing of peak parking demand 
for different uses (shared parking). 
Where there are multiple uses on a site, although the physical parking spaces may be 
shared by the users, the required parking for the site is the sum of the required parking 
for each of the individual uses.  In actuality, the demand for parking by each use varies 
throughout the day.  Basing parking on a simple sum of the required parking for the 
individual uses may result in more parking being required than is actually needed.  
Determining the number of parking spaces based on the timing of parking demand for 
the different uses is basically a mathematical exercise conducted using a standard 
methodology.  An example of how parking is determined using hourly parking demand 
was included in a staff presentation to the Board’s Development Process Committee on 
March 28, 2017.  The Zoning Ordinance includes provisions for approval of reductions 
in required parking by the Board based on the hourly variation in demand for parking 
provided the reduction does not adversely affect the site or the adjacent area.  Staff 
reviewed 42 shared parking reductions approved by the Board between 2000 and 2016 
and found that approximately 85 percent of the approved reductions were below 30 
percent.  Allowing for administrative approval of some of these routinely approved 
reductions would save time and effort for both applicants and the Board.  Two 
amendments are proposed.   
 

 The Zoning Ordinance refers to the variation in demand throughout the day as 
“hourly parking accumulation characteristics.”  This terminology is being replaced 
by the term “hourly parking demand” which is more readily understood. 

 The proposed amendments include additional provisions for administrative 
approval of such reductions up to 30 percent by the Director of Land 
Development Services (LDS) subject to specific conditions to insure that the site 
and adjacent areas are not adversely affected.  Approval by the Director of LDS 
will not be available for pending zoning cases submitted for approval by the 
Board, sites within 1,000 feet of a Residential Permit Parking District, or sites 
where the number of parking spaces is specified by an approved special permit, 
special exception, proffered condition, or a parking reduction approved by the 
Board.  Any requests for reductions not eligible for administrative approval may 
be approved by the Board under the current shared parking provisions which are 
being retained.  Approximately 50 percent of the 42 reductions reviewed by staff 
would have been eligible for administrative approval under the conditions 
proposed.  Individual Board members would be consulted as part of the review 
process for each administrative reduction applied for in their district. 

 
Amendments related to parking reductions based on proffered Transportation Demand 
Management (TDM) programs 
The Zoning Ordinance includes provisions for approval by the Board of reductions in 
required parking based on proffered TDM programs.  The purpose of TDM programs is 
the reduction of single occupancy vehicle trips.  There is no generally accepted method 
for correlating trip reductions with reductions in parking demand.  Additionally, the time 
of peak parking demand for a site that is assessed with parking studies, and the time of 

60



4 
 

peak traffic for that same site that TDM typically targets, rarely align, making 
conclusions about parking reductions through TDM programs questionable.  Current 
provisions require that the applicant demonstrate how parking would be provided if the 
TDM program doesn’t result in the projected reduction in parking demand.  This is 
necessary because of the speculative nature of these reductions but is problematic 
because site layout is so reliant on the parking reduction that providing for additional 
parking after the site is built-out is unrealistic.  There have been only a handful of 
reductions based solely on proffered TDM programs in the past 30 years.  The 
proposed amendments delete the provisions for parking reductions based on proffered 
TDM programs and replace them with a more general type of reduction. 
 
Amendments related to a parking reductions based on the unique characteristics of 
proposed uses. 
The proposed amendments add provisions for Board approval of a more general type of 
parking reduction based on the unique characteristics of the proposed use(s). Some 
reductions don’t fit neatly into the existing categories of reductions and couldn’t 
otherwise be considered regardless of merit.  As with other types of reductions, the 
applicant would still have to provide justification for the request and demonstrate that 
there would be no adverse impacts on the site or adjacent areas.  This type of reduction 
request is only intended to address unique circumstances specific to that use and not as 
a mechanism to ask for a change to the parking rates set forth in the Zoning Ordinance 
for the general type of use involved. 
 
Amendments related to parking rates in TSAs. 
The Comprehensive Plan identifies ten transit station areas surrounding existing and 
proposed Metrorail stations.  All of the proposed stations are in the design/construction 
stage with funding.  Development in TSAs is transit oriented or influenced with specific 
plan recommendations.  It is generally recognized that parking demand near transit 
stations is less than demand for similar uses without convenient access to transit 
stations.  The basic proposal is to lower parking rates in the TSAs so that reductions are 
not needed.  The proposed rates are structured in a similar manner to the current rates 
in the Zoning Ordinance for the PTC Planned Tysons Corner Urban District.  However, 
unlike the PTC District, there are no maximum rates proposed for the TSAs.  Applicants 
may still apply for Board approval of reductions below the new base rates under the 
provisions for proximity to mass transit, which are being retained.  The basic proposal 
has three components: multifamily, office, and commercial excluding eating 
establishments and fast food restaurants. 
 
The current parking requirement for multifamily residential uses is 1.6 spaces per 
dwelling unit (DU).  The proposed multifamily rates are based on the number of 
bedrooms per DU as shown in Table 1. 

61



5 
 

 
Table 1. 

Proposed Multifamily Parking Rates in TSAs 

Bedrooms Parking Rate 

0-1 1.3 

2 1.5 

3+ 1.6 

 
Parking required under the proposed rates was compared with observed parking at four 
multifamily developments in Fairfax County.  All sites were within 0.4 miles of transit 
stations and bedroom counts were known.  The parking supply at three of the four sites 
was adequate (i.e. more spaces were available than needed to meet the observed 
demand).  At the fourth site, all of the available spaces were used.  Therefore, it is 
assumed that the parking provided on the site is inadequate to meet the actual demand 
although the extent of the inadequacy is unknown.  In all four cases, parking required 
under the proposed rates was adequate to meet the observed demand without over 
parking the site (i.e. Parking supply between 80 – 95 percent of demand.).  Parking 
required under the proposed rates was also compared with eleven parking reductions 
for multi-family sites approved by the Board between 2000 and 2017.  In each case, the 
amount of parking required under the proposed rates is more than the amount of 
parking that was required for the approved reductions.  The average parking reduction 
approved by the Board was 19.9 percent versus an average reduction of 14.6 percent 
for the proposed rates as compared to the current rate.  Therefore, the proposed rates 
are slightly more conservative than the reductions that the Board has been approving.  
The proposed rates were also compared to rates in neighboring jurisdictions for their 
equivalent of our TSAs and the Tysons PTC District.  As depicted in the chart below, the 
proposed rates are more conservative than most of the neighboring jurisdictions and the 
Tysons PTC District. 

62



6 
 

 
 
The second component of the proposal covers office uses in TSAs.  The current 
countywide parking requirement for office uses has a tiered structure that varies with the 
total gross floor area (GFA) of the building(s).  The proposed parking requirement in 
TSAs also has a tiered structure but it varies with distance to a metro station.  The 
proposed TSA and current countywide rates are shown in Table 2. 
 

Table 2. 

Proposed and Current Office Parking Rates in TSAs 

Proposed Office Rates 

Distance Proposed Rate 

0 - 1/4 mile 2.0 

> 1/4 mile 2.3 

Current Office Rates 

Total GFA (sq. ft.) Existing Rate 

< 50,000 3.6 

50,000 - < 125,000 3.0 

> 125,000 2.6 

Note: All rates in spaces per 1,000 sq. ft. GFA 

 
Parking data was collected at ten office sites located in Merrifield, Tysons, Reston, 
Herndon, and Fair Oaks in 2008-2009 prior to construction of the Silver Line.  The 
average parking demand for the ten sites was 1.64 spaces per 1,000 sq. ft. of GFA with 

63



7 
 

an 85th percentile value of 2.33 spaces per 1,000 sq. ft. of GFA.  The 85th percentile 
value simply means that 85 percent of the observed values were below that number.  
The 85th percentile value is frequently used to set parking requirements.  Because the 
data was collected prior to construction of the Silver Line, it is a strong indication that 
the proposed rates will provide adequate parking in the TSAs.  The proposed rates were 
also compared to rates in neighboring jurisdictions for their equivalent of our TSAs and 
the Tysons PTC District.  As depicted in the chart below, the proposed rates are more 
conservative than most of the neighboring jurisdictions and the Tysons PTC District. 
 

 
The third component covers commercial uses not including office and eating 
establishment in TSAs.  [Note: On October 24, 2017, the Board authorized public 
hearings on a proposed zoning ordinance amendment to delete the definition of eating 
establishment and replace it with a new definition of restaurant.  If the amendment is 
adopted the reference to eating establishment will be replaced with restaurant.]  The 
proposed amendments would reduce the parking requirements in the TSAs by 20 
percent.  Because there are many and varied commercial uses, all of which cannot be 
compared, as an example, the proposed rates were compared to rates in neighboring 
jurisdictions for their equivalent of our TSAs and the Tysons PTC District.  As depicted 
in the chart below, the proposed rates are more conservative than most of the 
neighboring jurisdictions and the Tysons PTC District. 

64



8 
 

 
Amendments to the LDS Fee Schedule 
Because parking reductions for proffered TDMs are being eliminated, its associated 
review fee is being deleted.  A review fee is being added for the new reduction type 
based on the unique characteristics of proposed uses in an amount of $ 2,811.60, which 
is equal to the lowest current fee for any reduction requiring Board approval.  The text 
for the fee related to shared parking is being changed to match the replacement of the 
terminology “hourly parking accumulation characteristics” with “sum of the hourly 
parking demand.”  The text for the fee for parking reductions based on proximity to 
mass transit includes reductions for other types of transportation facilities including bus 
service and sites within TSAs.  The description in the fee schedule was not updated 
when the provisions for reductions related to mass transit were clarified in 2016. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The proposed amendments streamline and add flexibility to the regulatory process by 
eliminating the need for some parking reductions, providing for administrative approval 
of some parking reductions currently requiring Board approval, providing for Board 
approval of parking reductions ineligible for consideration under the current parking 
reduction provisions, and clarifying existing requirements.  

65



9 
 

PROPOSED ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENT 
CHAPTER 112 OF THE FAIRFAX COUNTY CODE 

 
This proposed Zoning Ordinance amendment is based on the Zoning Ordinance 
in effect as of December 5, 2017, and there may be other proposed amendments 
which may affect some of the numbering, order or text arrangement of the 
paragraphs or sections set forth in this amendment, which other amendments 
may be adopted prior to action on this amendment.  In such event, any 
necessary renumbering or editorial revisions caused by the adoption of any 
Zoning Ordinance amendments by the Board of Supervisors prior to the date of 
adoption of this amendment will be administratively incorporated by the Clerk 
in the printed version of this amendment following Board adoption. 

 
Amend Article 11, Off-Street Parking and Loading, Private Streets, Part 1, Off-Street 1 
Parking, as follows: 2 
 3 
- Amend Sect. 11-102, General Provisions, by revising Paragraphs 1, 4, 5 and 26, to read 4 

as follows: 5 
 6 
1. All required off-street parking spaces shall must be located on the same lot as the 7 

structure or use to which they are accessory or on a lot contiguous thereto which has the 8 
same zoning classification, and is either under the same ownership, or is subject to 9 
agreements or arrangements satisfactory to the Director that will ensure the continuing 10 
availability of such spaces in a manner that is sufficient to adequately serve the use(s) to 11 
which such parking is associated permanent availability of such spaces.   12 

  Provided, however, where there are practical difficulties or if the public safety and/or 13 
public convenience would be better served by the location other than on the same lot or 14 
on a contiguous lot with the use to which it is accessory, the Board, acting upon a specific 15 
request, may authorize such alternative location subject to conditions it deems 16 
appropriate and the following:  17 

 18 
A. Such required space shall will be subject to agreements or arrangements satisfactory 19 

to the Board that will ensure the continuing availability of such spaces in a manner 20 
that is sufficient to adequately serve the use(s) to which such parking is associated 21 
permanent availability of such spaces, and  22 

 23 
B. The applicant shall must demonstrate to the Board’s satisfaction that such required 24 

space shall be is generally located within 500 feet walking distance of a building 25 
entrance to the use that such space serves or such space will be provided off-site with 26 
access via a valet or shuttle service subject to agreements or arrangements approved 27 
by the Board which will ensure the operation of such service and that there will not be 28 
any adverse impacts on the site of the parking spaces or the adjacent area, or  29 

 30 
C. Such required space shall will be accommodated in accordance with the provisions of 31 

Par. 6 below.  32 

66



10 
 

In a Commercial Revitalization District, the Director may approve an alternative location 1 
in accordance with the above and the provisions of the Commercial Revitalization 2 
District. 3 
 4 

4. Off-street parking spaces may serve two (2) or more uses; however, in such case, the total 5 
number of such spaces must equal the sum of the spaces required for each separate use 6 
except:  7 
 8 
A. As may be permitted under Paragraphs 5, 22, 26, and 27, and 28 below and Par. 3 of 9 

Sect. 106 below, or a previously approved parking reduction based on a proffered 10 
transportation demand management program; 11 

 12 
B. That the Board may, subject to conditions it deems appropriate, reduce the total 13 

number of parking spaces required by the strict application of this Part when the 14 
applicant has demonstrated to the Board’s satisfaction that fewer spaces than those 15 
required by this Part will adequately serve two (2) or more uses by reason of the sum 16 
of the hourly parking demand accumulation characteristics of such uses and such 17 
reduction will not adversely affect the site or the adjacent area.  18 

 19 
C. That the Director may, subject to appropriate conditions, reduce by up to thirty (30) 20 

percent the total number of parking spaces required by the strict application of this 21 
Part when the applicant has demonstrated to the Director’s satisfaction that fewer 22 
spaces than those required by this Part will adequately serve two (2) or more uses by 23 
reason of the sum of the hourly parking demand of such uses and such reduction will 24 
not adversely affect the site or the adjacent area.  Such reductions may not be 25 
approved if: [Advertised to permit the Board to consider a parking reduction of 0 to 26 
50 percent.] 27 

 28 
(1) There is a pending rezoning, special exception, or proffered condition 29 

amendment application for the site; or 30 
 31 
(2) There is a Residential Permit Parking District within 1000 feet of the subject site; 32 

or 33 
 34 
(3) The number of parking spaces on the site is specified by an approved special 35 

permit, special exception, proffered condition, or a parking reduction approved 36 
by the Board, unless the approval allows such administrative reductions. 37 

 38 
(4)  Any reduction not meeting the requirements for approval by the Director under 39 

this paragraph may be approved by the Board pursuant to Par. 4B above. 40 
 41 

Notwithstanding the above, Required off-street parking spaces and their appurtenant 42 
aisles and driveways which are not fully utilized during the weekday may be used for a 43 
public commuter park-and-ride lot when such lot is established and operated in 44 
accordance with a public commuter park-and-ride lot agreement approved by the Board.  45 

67



11 
 

In addition, for a use where the minimum number of required parking spaces is 1 
provided on site in accordance with this Part, but additional off-site parking may be 2 
desired, the Director may, subject to conditions the Director deems appropriate, approve 3 
the use of a portion of an adjacent site’s required parking spaces, when the applicant has 4 
demonstrated to the Director’s satisfaction that the use of such spaces on the adjacent site 5 
will not adversely affect such site or the adjacent area by reason of the sum of the hourly 6 
parking demand accumulation characteristics of such uses. 7 

 8 
5. Subject to conditions it deems appropriate, the Board may reduce the number of off-street 9 

parking spaces otherwise required by the strict application of the provisions of this Part 10 
when a proposed development is within reasonable walking distance to: 11 

  12 
A. Reasonable walking distance to a mass transit station and/or within an area designated 13 

in the adopted comprehensive plan as a Transit Station Area wherein the station either 14 
exists or is programmed for completion within the same time frame as the completion 15 
of the subject development; or 16 

 17 
B. An area designated in the adopted comprehensive plan as a Transit Station Area; or 18 
  19 
BC. Reasonable walking distance to an existing transportation facility consisting of a 20 

streetcar, bus rapid transit, or express bus service or wherein such facility is 21 
programmed for completion within the same timeframe as the completion of the 22 
subject development and will provide high-frequency service; or 23 

 24 
CD. Reasonable walking distance to a bus stop(s) when service to this stop(s) consists of 25 

more than three routes and at least one route serves a mass transit station or 26 
transportation facility and provides high-frequency service.  27 

 28 
Such reduction may be approved when the applicant has demonstrated to the Board’s 29 

satisfaction that the spaces proposed to be eliminated are unnecessary based on the 30 
projected reduction in the parking demand resulting from the proximity of the mass transit 31 
station or transportation facility or bus service and such reduction in parking spaces will 32 
not adversely affect the site or the adjacent area, including potential impacts on existing 33 
overflow parking in nearby neighborhoods. For the purposes of this provision, a 34 
determination regarding the completion time frame for a mass transit station or 35 
transportation facility shall must include an assessment of the funding status for the 36 
transportation project. 37 

 38 
26. In conjunction with the approval of a proffer to establish a transportation demand 39 

management (TDM) program, or if a development is subject to an approved proffer for the 40 
establishment of a TDM program, the Board may, subject to conditions it deems 41 
appropriate, reduce the number of off-street parking spaces otherwise required by the strict 42 
application of the provisions of this Part when the applicant has demonstrated to the 43 
Board’s satisfaction that, due to the proffered TDM program, the spaces proposed to be 44 
eliminated for a site are unnecessary and such reduction in parking spaces will not 45 
adversely affect the site or the adjacent area. In no event shall the reduction in the number 46 

68



12 
 

of required spaces exceed the projected reduction in parking demand specified by the 1 
proffered TDM program. 2 

For the purposes of this provision, a proffered TDM program shall include: a projected 3 
reduction in parking demand expressed as a percentage of overall parking demand and the 4 
basis for such projection; the TDM program actions to be taken by the applicant to reduce 5 
the parking demand; a requirement by the applicant to periodically monitor and report to 6 
the County as to whether the projected reductions are being achieved; and a commitment 7 
and plan whereby the applicant shall provide additional parking spaces in an amount 8 
equivalent to the reduction should the TDM program not result in the projected reduction 9 
in parking demand. 10 
For reductions that are not eligible for consideration under Paragraphs 4, 5, 22, 27, or 28 11 
of this Section, or Par. 3 of Sect.106 below, the Board may, subject to conditions it deems 12 
appropriate, reduce the total number of parking spaces required by the strict application of 13 
this Part when the applicant has demonstrated to the Board’s satisfaction that, due to the 14 
unique characteristics of the proposed use(s), the spaces proposed to be eliminated for the 15 
site are unnecessary and such reduction in parking spaces will not adversely affect the site 16 
or the adjacent area. 17 
 18 

- Amend Sect. 11-106, Minimum Required Spaces for Other Uses, by revising Par. 3 to 19 
read as follows: 20 

 21 
3. Church, Chapel, Temple, Synagogue or Other Such Place of Worship: 22 

 23 
One (1) space per four (4) seats in the principal place of worship; provided that the 24 
number of spaces thus required may be reduced by the Director, subject to conditions the 25 
Director deems appropriate, by not more than fifty (50) percent if the place of worship is 26 
generally located within 500 feet of any public parking lot or any commercial parking lot 27 
where sufficient spaces are available by permission of the owner(s) without charge, 28 
during the time of services to make up the additional spaces required. 29 

For places of worship with child care centers, nursery schools and/or schools of 30 
general or special education, the Director may, subject to conditions the Director deems 31 
appropriate, reduce the total number of parking spaces required by the strict application 32 
of this Part for such child care centers, nursery schools and/or schools of general or 33 
special education when the Director has determined that fewer spaces than those required 34 
will adequately serve all the uses on-site due to their respective the sum of the hourly 35 
parking demand for such uses accumulation characteristics. 36 

 37 
- Add new Sect. 11-107, Minimum Required Spaces for Transit Station Areas, to read as 38 

follows: 39 
 40 

11-107 Minimum Required Spaces for Transit Station Areas 41 
 42 

For any development within an area designated in the adopted comprehensive plan as a 43 
Transit Station Area, minimum off-street parking spaces accessory to the uses hereinafter 44 
designated will be provided as follows: 45 

 46 

69



13 
 

1. Dwelling, Multiple Family: 1 
 2 

A. 0 or 1 bedroom: One and three-tenths (1.3) spaces per unit 3 
 4 
B. 2 bedrooms: One and five-tenths (1.5) spaces per unit 5 
 6 
C. 3 or more bedrooms: One and six-tenths (1.6) spaces per unit 7 

  8 
 [Advertised to permit the Board to consider a range of 1.1 -1.6 spaces per unit.] 9 
 10 
2. Office: 11 

 12 
A. Two (2.0) spaces per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area for a building located a 13 

distance of 0-1/4 mile from a metro station entrance along an accessible route 14 
 15 
B. Two and three-tenths (2.3) spaces per 1000 square feet of gross floor area for a 16 

building located a distance of greater than 1/4 mile from a metro station entrance 17 
along an accessible route 18 

 19 
4. Eating Establishment:  Parking rates set forth in Sect. 11-104. 20 
 21 

[On October 24, 2017, the Board authorized public hearings on a proposed zoning 22 
ordinance amendment to replace the eating establishment definition with a new 23 
restaurant definition.  If the amendment is adopted, the reference to eating 24 
establishment will be replaced with a reference to restaurant.] 25 

 26 
5. Commercial and Related Uses: 27 
 28 

All commercial and related uses set forth in Sect. 11-104 and not contained in this 29 
section:  Eighty (80) percent of the parking rate set forth in Sect. 11-104 30 

 31 
 [Advertised to permit the Board to consider a range of 75 to 95 percent of the 32 
minimum parking space requirement and/or include eating establishments.]  33 

 34 
All other uses located in a designated Transit Station Area that do not have a parking rate set 35 
forth in this section will be subject to the parking rates set forth in Sections 11-103, 11-105 36 
and 11-106. 37 

 
 

 

70



14 
 

 
 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS 
TO 

APPENDIX Q (LAND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES FEE SCHEDULE) 
OF THE CODE OF THE COUNTY OF FAIRFAX, VIRGINIA 

 
 
Amend Section II Site Development Fees, by modifying Part A (Plan and Document Review 
Fees, Subpart (D) (Processing of Studies, Soils Reports and Other Plans) Item No. 1 
(Studies) to read as follows: 
 
 
1. Studies  

● Drainage study, per submission (non-floodplain watersheds) $1,960.80 
● Floodplain study  

 Per submission, per linear foot of baseline or fraction 
thereof  $2.76 

 Plus, fee per road crossing and per dam, 
Not to exceed total fee, per submission 

$610.80 

$11,226.00 
● Parking study  

 Parking tabulation for change in use, per submission $980.40 

 Parking redesignation plan, per submission $980.40 

 Administrative parking reduction for churches, chapels, 
temples, synagogues and other such places of worship 
with child care center, nursery school or private school of 
general or special education, per submission $980.40 

 Parking reduction based on hourly parking accumulation 
characteristics or hourly parking accumulation characteristics the 
sum of the hourly parking demand or the sum of the hourly 
parking demand in combination with other factors when the 
required spaces are: 

 

 Under 225 spaces $2,811.60 
 225 to 350 spaces  $4,882.80 
 351 to 599 spaces $7,806.00 
 600 spaces or more $16,351.20 

 Parking reduction based on proximity to a mass transit station, 
transportation facility, or bus service or a parking reduction 
within a Transit Station Area $2,811.60 

 Parking reduction based on a Transportation Demand 
Management Program the unique nature of the proposed use(s) $2,811.60 

● Recycling study: When the plan or study is submitted to the County 
for the sole purpose of placing recycling containers on a commercial 
or industrial site, as required by the Fairfax County Business 
Implementation Recycling Plan, per submission. $0.00 

● Water quality Fees*  

 Resource Protection Area (RPA) Boundary Delineations and  

71



15 
 

 
 

Resource Management Area (RMA) Boundary Delineations 
 Non-bonded lots, existing lots and acreage, rough grading 

and filling parcels, and parcels with lots of 5 acres or more 
not within a subdivision or site plan development currently 
bonded with the County, per submission $418.80 

 Bonded lots: lots in conjunction with multiple construction 
within a subdivision currently bonded with the County, per 
submission:  
 Projects with 150 linear feet or less of baseline $418.80 
 Projects with greater than 150 linear feet of baseline $418.80 

 Plus, fee per linear foot of baseline or fraction 
thereof, in excess of 150 linear feet 

$0.96 

● Water Quality Impact Assessment (WQIA)  
 Non-bonded lots: existing lots and acreage, rough grading 

and filling parcels, and parcels with lots of 5 acres or more 
not within a subdivision or site plan development currently 
bonded with the County, per submission $432.00 

 Bonded lots: lots in conjunction with multiple construction 
within a subdivision or site plan currently bonded with the 
County, per submission $1,652.00 

*In the event that a RPA and RMA Boundary Delineation and a WQIA are 
submitted simultaneously, only one fee shall be required and such fee shall 
be the higher of the fees required for the individual studies. 

 

 
 
 

72



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ADMINISTRATIVE - 6

Authorization to Advertise a Public Hearing to Consider Amending Fairfax County Code 
Chapter 82 (Motor Vehicles and Traffic), Article 5 (Stopping, Standing, and Parking)

ISSUE:
Board authorization to advertise a public hearing to consider amending Chapter 82, 
Article 5 of The Code of the County of Fairfax, Virginia (Fairfax County Code).
Changes being considered include code revisions to allow certain residential parking 
restrictions adjacent to governmental property, to update the pay for parking sections of 
the code to reflect current and future technologies, to prohibit habitation in vehicles, and 
to prohibit maintenance of vehicles in the public right-of-way, except for emergency 
repairs, such as fixing a flat tire or changing a battery.

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board authorize advertisement of a public 
hearing for January 23, 2018, at 4:30 p.m. to consider adoption of proposed 
amendments to Chapter 82, Article 5 (Attachments I through V) of the Fairfax County 
Code. Proposed amendments include code revisions to allow certain residential parking 
restrictions adjacent to governmental property, to update the pay for parking sections of 
the code to reflect current and future technologies, to prohibit habitation in vehicles, and 
to prohibit maintenance of vehicles in the public right-of-way, except for emergency 
repairs, such as fixing a flat tire or changing a battery.

TIMING:
The Board of Supervisors should take action on December 5, 2017, to provide sufficient 
time for advertisement of the public hearing on January 23, 2018, at 4:30 p.m.

BACKGROUND:
On September 10, 2013, the Board directed County staff to assemble a working group 
with representatives from various County agencies to review the County Parking 
Ordinance, to consider changes in technology, parking management and community 
needs.

In February 2014, a list of parking issues was distributed to each Magisterial District 
office, followed by discussions with Board aides from each District regarding proposed 
ordinance revisions. Fairfax County Department of Transportation staff worked with the 
Office of the County Attorney and Fairfax County Police to develop the proposed 
amendments to Chapter 82 (Motor Vehicles and Traffic), Article 5 (Stopping, Standing, 

73



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

and Parking) of The Fairfax County Code. In October 2016, the proposed ordinance
revisions were presented to the Board Transportation Committee for comment and 
feedback. An updated version of the proposed ordinance revisions was presented to
the Board Transportation Committee in February 2017.

The proposed amendments include the addition of a general definitions section for 
Section 82-5, along with four sets of changes to the parking code. The definitions 
section is found in Attachment I. Attachment II is a code revision to allow certain 
residential parking restrictions adjacent to governmental property.  Attachment III 
includes modifications to the pay for parking sections of the code to reflect current and 
future technologies. Attachment IV is a new code section prohibiting habitation in 
vehicles parked in public rights-of-way. Attachment V is a new code section regarding 
maintenance of vehicles parked in public rights-of-way, except for emergency repairs,
such as fixing a flat tire or changing a battery.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment I: Proposed Amendment to the Fairfax County Code, § 82-5-0; Definitions 
Attachment II:  Proposed Amendment to the Fairfax County Code, § 82-5-7; Parking 

commercial vehicles in residential districts.
Attachment III: Proposed Amendment to the Fairfax County Code, § 82-5-11 through 

14, 16, and 17; Pay for parking 
Attachment IV: Proposed Amendment to the Fairfax County Code, § 82-5-42; 

Habitation in vehicles parked in public right-of-way
Attachment V: Proposed Amendment to the Fairfax County Code, § 82-5-43; 

Maintenance of vehicles parked in public right-of-way

STAFF:
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive
Tom Biesiadny, Director, Fairfax County Department of Transportation (FCDOT)
Eric Teitelman, Chief, Capital Projects and Traffic Engineering Division, FCDOT
Neil Freschman, Chief, Traffic Engineering Section, FCDOT

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
F. Hayden Codding, Assistant County Attorney

74



Admin Item 6- Revised 
Attachment I 

  Proposed Amendment 
 
Amend The Code of the County of Fairfax, Virginia, by adding the following Section, in 
accordance with Article 5 of Chapter 82: 
 
Section 82-5-0. -  Definitions 

For the purposes of this Article, the following words and phrases shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them in this Section, except in those instances where the 
context clearly indicates a different meaning: 
 

(a) Acceptable form of payment means the use of United States legal tender in 
the form of coins or paper currency, as well as the use of a credit card and 
other forms of payment or the equivalent as determined by the Board of 
Supervisors or approved designee. 

(b) Public right-of-way denotes land or property dedicated and used for public 
street purposes such as pedestrian, roadway or highway use in Fairfax 
County.  

 

75



Attachment II 

Proposed Amendment 
 
Amend The Code of the County of Fairfax, Virginia, by modifying the following 
Section, in accordance with Article 5 of Chapter 82: 
 
 
Section 82-5-7. -  Parking commercial vehicles in residential districts. 
… 
"Areas zoned for of residential use" includes all areas of the County which have been 
zoned to a zoning classification which permits one or more residential dwelling units. 
The zoning boundaries shall be used in the enforcement of the requirements of this 
Subsection. However, in any case in which a highway serves as the boundary 
between an area zoned for residential use and an area zoned for another use, then 
the centerline of that highway shall be considered as the boundary between the area 
zoned for residential use and the area zoned for another use. In such cases, the 
prohibitions of this Subsection shall apply only to the side of the highway that abuts 
the area zoned for residential use except as otherwise provided in Section 82-5-
37(54). In any case in which a service road or frontage road is adjacent to an area 
zoned for residential use, then the prohibitions of this Subsection shall apply to the 
side of the highway that abuts the area zoned for residential use except as otherwise 
provided in Section 82-5-37(54).   

 
In any case in which a roadway is adjacent to an area zoned for residential use on 
one side and not zoned on the other as a result of government owned or maintained 
land, then the prohibitions of this Subsection shall apply to both sides of the roadway. 
 

76



Attachment III 

Proposed Amendment 

Amend The Code of the County of Fairfax, Virginia, by modifying the following 
Sections, in accordance with Article 5 of Chapter 82: 
 
Section 82-5-11. Pay for pParking zonesmeters; authority of County Executive.  
The County Executive is hereby authorized to designate pay for parking zones, and to 
locate, install, maintain and operate parking meters in the public right-of-way and on 
County-owned or -leased property.  

Section 82-5-12. Parking meters; installation and operation generally.  Legal parking 
in pay for parking zones 
Parking meters and other methods to allow or indicate legal parking in pay for parking 
zones are defined in this section.  Other methods not specifically defined in this 
section may be acceptable as long as the method is approved by the County 
Executive and meets the requirements of specifying the legal parking length of time 
and uses an acceptable form of payment. 

Parking meters shall may be placed adjacent to the individual parking spaces 
hereinafter described. Each parking meter, if installed, shall be placed or set in such a 
manner as to show or display by signal that the parking space adjacent to such meter 
is or is not legally in use. Each parking meter shall be set to display upon deposit of 
proper coin or coins of the United States therein acceptable form of payment, a signal 
indicating the remaining, allowable time for parking at that meter in that particular pay 
for parking zone, a signal indicating legal parking for the period of time conforming to 
the limit of parking time established for meter zone, and shall continue to operate from 
the time of deposit of such coin or coins therein until the expiration of the paid period 
for parking. time fixed as a parking limit for the parking meter zone.  

In-vehicle parking meters may also be made available to the public for lease or 
purchase for the regulation of prepaid parking. Each such device shall be able to 
differentiate between various parking periods and rates and shall be capable of being 
attached within the user's vehicle in such manner as to permit the unobstructed view 
of its display from outside said vehicle.  Each such device shall be set to display a 
signal showing the amount of legal parking time remaining at the rate and for the 
period of time as is designated on the parking meter for the parking space being used. 
Each such device shall also be so arranged that upon expiration of the lawful time limit 
it will indicate by a proper visible signal or display that the lawful parking period has 
expired.  In such cases, the right of such vehicle to occupy such space shall cease 
and the operator, owner, possessor or manager of the vehicle shall be subject to the 
penalties provided in Section 82-1-32. Accommodations may also be authorized for 
persons with disabilities as may be necessary concerning such in-vehicle parking 

77



  

meters, including other means of prepaid parking for disabled persons who are not 
physically able to operate in-vehicle parking meters.  
 
Multi-space parking meters may also be installed to provide metering for more than 
one parking space at a time on the street, in surface lots or in garages within pay for 
parking zones. Immediately after occupancy of a multi-space parking meter space, the 
operator of a vehicle shall deposit an acceptable form of payment in said multi-space 
meter and follow operational procedures in accordance with the instructions posted on 
the meter.  When appropriate, a receipt must be displayed that is clearly visible 
through the front windshield from outside the vehicle per the instructions on the 
parking meter. 

Electronic payment options for pay for parking zones may also be implemented 
allowing payment of a parking fee with no physical parking meter, parking device or 
multi-space parking meter.   

The operator of any vehicle parked in any parking space or area within a pay for 
parking zone during the hours when payment is required shall,  upon parking in such 
space or area, use the acceptable form of payment that is required in that zone.  

Section 82-5-13. Parking meters; how meters and space to be used; time limit; 
parking overtime generally.  Parking at meters indicating unused time and rates for 
parking in pay for parking zones. 

(a) When any vehicle shall be parked in any space in the parking meter zone,  
the operator of such vehicle shall, upon entering such parking space, 
immediately deposit or cause to be deposited the proper coin or coins of the 
United States in such parking meter, and when required by directions on a 
meter, such operator shall also set or cause to be set in operation the timing 
mechanism on such meter in accordance with directions, and the parking 
space may then be used by such vehicle during the parking period purchased 
by the proper coin or coins deposited in accordance with the provisions of this 
Section.  

 (b) If such vehicle shall remain parked in any such parking space beyond the 
time limit paid for such parking space, then such vehicle shall be considered as 
parking overtime and beyond the period of legal parking time, and such parking 
shall be deemed a violation.  

 

(c) It shall be unlawful for any person to deposit or cause to be deposited in a 
parking meter a coin or coins for the purpose of extending the parking time 
beyond the maximum time established for the parking meter.  

78



  

(d)(a) Any person placing a vehicle in a parking space adjacent to a meter 
which indicates that unused time has been left in the meter by the previous 
occupant of the space shall not be required to pay as long as his occupancy of 
such space does not exceed the indicated unused parking time.  

(e)(b) The rate for metered parking spaces pay for parking zones established 
pursuant to Section 82-5-11 shall be determined by the County Executive. 
Twenty-five Cents (one quarter) for each half hour; Fifty Cents (two quarters) 
for each hour period, and One Dollar (four quarters) for each two-hour period.  

Section 82-5-14. Pay for pParking zones meters; parking overtime prohibited. 
Failure to follow the operational procedures, or remaining in the parking space 

after the expiration of the lawful time limit, shall cause the operator, owner, possessor, 
or manager of the vehicle thereof to be subject to the penalties provided in Section 82-
1-32. It shall be unlawful for any person to cause, allow, permit or suffer any vehicle to 
be parked overtime or beyond the period of legal parking time established for that 
parking meter zone.  

Section 82-5-16. Parking meters; injuring or tampering with prohibited. 
(a) It shall be unlawful for any person to deface, injure, tamper with, open or 

willfully break, destroy or impair the usefulness of any parking meter or in-
vehicle parking meter installed under the provisions of this Section.  

(b) Any person violationing this Section shall, upon conviction, be subject to the 
penalties provided in Section 82-1-32. fined not less than One Dollar ($1.00) 
nor more than One Hundred Dollars ($100.00).  

Section 82-5-17. Parking meters Pay for parking zones; when to be inhours of 
operation. 

The parking meters pay for parking zones provided for in Section 82-5-11 shall be 
operated as specified for each zone. between the hours of 8:00 A.M. and 5:00 P.M. 
each day, except on Saturdays, Sundays or legal holidays of the State.  

 

79

https://library.municode.com/HTML/10051/level3/THCOCOFAVI1976_CH82MOVETR_ART5STSTPA.html#THCOCOFAVI1976_CH82MOVETR_ART5STSTPA_S82-5-11PAMEAUCOEX
https://library.municode.com/HTML/10051/level3/THCOCOFAVI1976_CH82MOVETR_ART5STSTPA.html#THCOCOFAVI1976_CH82MOVETR_ART5STSTPA_S82-5-11PAMEAUCOEX


Admin Item 6- Revised 
Attachment IV 

Proposed Amendment 
 

Amend The Code of the County of Fairfax, Virginia, by adding the following Section, in 
accordance with Article 5 of Chapter 82: 
 
 
Section 82-5-42 – Habitation in vehicles parked in public right-of-way. 
 
For purposes of this Section, the following words and phrases shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them in this Section, except in those instances where the 
context clearly indicates a different meaning: 

 
Camper means a structure designed to be mounted to a motor vehicle and to 
provide facilities for human habitation or camping purposes.  
House car means a motor vehicle originally designed or permanently or 
temporarily altered and equipped for human habitation, or to which a camper 
has been permanently or temporarily attached. 
Human habitation shall mean the use of a vehicle for dwelling. Evidence of 
human habitation shall include activities such as sleeping, food preparation, 
and/or any other activity where it reasonably appears, in light of all the 
circumstances, that a person or persons is using the vehicle as a living 
accommodation. The use of a vehicle for six or more consecutive hours for 
eating, resting, recreating and/or sleeping shall per se constitute “human 
habitation” for purposes of this chapter. 
Recreational vehicle shall mean a motor home, travel trailer, trailer coach, truck 
camper, camping trailer or park trailer, and vehicles which are designed for 
recreational, emergency, or other types of human habitation. 

This Code Section refers to any motorized vehicle including, but not limited to, 
a recreational vehicle or house car. 
 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person to use, occupy, or permit the use or 
occupancy of any automobile, truck, camper, house car, mobile home, 
recreational vehicle, trailer, trailer coach, or similar equipment for human 
habitation on any public property, street, avenue, alley, or other public right-of-
way within Fairfax County, except in a designated public campground, 
recreational park, or licensed mobile home park. 
 

(b) Penalty. 
Penalties as defined in Section 82-1-32. 

 

80



Attachment V 

Proposed Amendment 
 

Amend The Code of the County of Fairfax, Virginia, by adding the following Section, in 
accordance with Article 5 of Chapter 82: 
 
 
Section 82-5-43 – Maintenance of vehicles parked in public right-of-way. 
 

(a) It shall be unlawful for a person, firm or corporation to service any motor vehicle 
stopped or parked on any public street or public right-of-way within the County, 
except for minor repairs as necessitated by an emergency.  Emergency repairs 
constitute the least amount of immediate repair necessary for a vehicle to 
operate.  Examples of repairs would be replacing a battery or changing a tire.  
Regularly required vehicle maintenance or complex vehicle repairs would not 
be considered emergency repairs.  
 

(b) Penalty. 
Penalties as defined in Section 82-1-32. 

81



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ACTION - 1

Renewal of a Memorandum of Agreement Between the Fairfax County Police 
Department and the United States Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and 
Explosives (ATF) for Reimbursement of Overtime Salary Costs Associated with ATF 
Task Force

ISSUE:
Board of Supervisors’ approval of a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) between the 
Fairfax County Police Department (FCPD) and the United States Bureau of Alcohol, 
Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (ATF), authorizing the ATF to compensate the 
County for all incurred overtime and other costs related to the assignment of Fairfax 
County police officers to the ATF Task Force under the 2010 Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) between the ATF and the FCPD.

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board of Supervisors authorize the Chief 
of Police to sign the MOA between the FCPD and the ATF. 

TIMING:  
Board action is requested on December 5, 2017.

BACKGROUND:  
On February 23, 2010, the Board approved an MOU between the ATF and the FCPD to 
battle organized criminal activity, illegal firearms, untaxed liquor, and tobacco 
(Attachment 1).  This MOU is still in effect today, and the Police Department continues 
to work closely with the ATF and neighboring jurisdictions to address organized and 
gang-related criminal enterprises operating within Fairfax County.  A renewed MOA 
(Attachment 2) is required to authorize the ATF to compensate the County for all 
incurred overtime and other costs related to the assignment of Fairfax County police
officers to the 2010 MOU.  The prior MOA expired on September 30, 2017.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

82



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1 – Memorandum of Understanding Between the Bureau of Alcohol, 
Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives and the Fairfax County, Virginia Police Department 
Dated 2010.
Attachment 2 – Memorandum of Agreement Between the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, 
Firearms and Explosives and Fairfax County Police Department for Reimbursement of 
Overtime Salary Costs Associated with ATF Task Force.

STAFF:
David M. Rohrer, Deputy County Executive
Colonel Edwin C. Roessler Jr., Chief of Police

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
Karen L. Gibbons, Deputy County Attorney

83



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
BETWEEN 

THE BUREAU OF ALCOHOL, TOBACCO, FIREARMS AND EXPLOSIVES 
AND THE FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA POLICE DEPARTMENT 

This memorandum of understanding (MOU) delineates a cooperative law enforcement 
effort between the Department of Justice, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and 
Explosives (ATF), and the Fairfax County, Virginia Police Department (FCPD), known 
collectively as "the agencies" or "the participating agencies." This MOU is not intended 
as a formal contract between the agencies but rather is an expression of understanding to 
facilitate cooperation on investigations as detailed below. 

I. 	AUTHORITY 

This MOU is established pursuant to the participating agencies' authority to investigate 
criminal activities. Offenses investigated and enforced pursuant to this MOU are those 
falling within ATF's jurisdiction 28 U.S.C. sec. 559A; 27 C.F.R. sec. 0.130. Specifically, 
the Gun Control Act of 1968, 18 U.S.C. sec. 921 et. seg. and the National Firearms Act, 
26 U.S.C. sec. 5861 et. m. FCPD's authority includes Virginia Code § 15.2-1726. The 
MOU is in furtherance of a federal task force known as the Northern Virginia Violent 
Crimes Task Force. The task force will have representatives from ATF, Alexandria 
Police Department, Arlington County Police Department, Fairfax County Police 
Department, Fairfax County Sheriffs Office, Prince William County Police Department 
and the Stafford County Sheriffs Office. 

IL 	PURPOSE OF THIS MOU 

This MOU serves to formalize the relationship between the participating agencies with 
regard to policy, guidance, planning, training, and media relations in order to foster an 
efficient and cohesive unit capable of addressing violent crime and to maximize 
interagency cooperation. 

The goal of this MOU is to develop a cooperative effort among the participating agencies 
charged with the investigation and prosecution of violent and/or firearms-related criminal 
offenses. The criminal offenses investigated under this MOU will be referred to the 
courts of the United States and/or the courts of the State for prosecution. 

The mission of the participating agencies is to conduct in-depth investigations of violent 
and firearms-related crimes; to identify and target for prosecution the perpetrators of such 
crimes (i.e., street gangs, armed career criminals); and to achieve maximum coordination 
and cooperation among the participating agencies. 

III. MEASUREMENT OF SUCCESS 

The success of the task force will be measured by its impact on violent firearms crime 
and armed robberies of commercial store businesses, in Fairfax County, Virginia and 

ATTACHMENT 1

84



surrounding communities, where the agencies will primarily focus investigative efforts. 
The agencies will conduct regular reviews of violent crime statistics within the identified 
area to measure success. 

IV. CONDITIONS AND PROCEDURES 

A. Administration 

Because this MOU outlines a cooperative endeavor on the part of the 
participating agencies, the supervisors of the agencies shall be jointly 
responsible for the policy, program involvement, and direction of each 
participating agency. Therefore, cases will be jointly investigated and no 
particular agency will prevail over another or act unilaterally. Participating 
agency supervisors shall meet on a regular basis to discuss, review, and 
prioritize investigations undertaken as a result of this agreement. 

B. Operational Guidelines 

The agencies will follow the guidelines below regarding policy, planning, 
training, supervision, and media relations. The participating agencies agree 
that these guidelines will serve as a basis to mediate any disputes that arise 
during the operation of this agreement. 

(1) Chain of Command: The day to day supervision and administrative 
control of task force officers (TF0s) will be the mutual responsibility 
of the participants, with the ATF Special Agent in Charge or his/her 
designee having operational control over all operations related to this 
task force. Supervision of the covert facility in Northern Virginia has 
been delegated to the ATF Resident Agent in Charge (RAC) and the 
TFO Lieutenant and TFO Sergeant from the FCPD Criminal 
Intelligence Unit (CIU). ATF agrees to designate the RAC of Falls 
Church Group II as ATF's coordinator of this agreement. FCPD 
agrees to designate the Lieutenant of the Criminal Intelligence Unit as 
the department coordinator. The coordinators have overall 
responsibility for the policies and guidelines affecting this MOU. 
Operational problems encountered between ATF and FCPD will be 
mutually addressed and resolved by the coordinators. FCPD robbery 
detectives assigned to the task force will continue to report to their 
FCPD chain of command on a daily basis. Detectives assigned to the 
task force, located at a covert facility in Northern Virginia, will report 
to the ATF RAC and the Lieutenant and Sergeant from the Fairfax 
County Police Department's Criminal Intelligence Unit on a daily 
basis. 

(2) Operations: The coordinators shall be primarily responsible for 
opening, assigning, directing, monitoring, and closing investigations 
subject to guidance from the participating agencies. Each participating 

1 

85



agency agrees that it will take no unilateral action with respect to any 
operation under this MOU. 

ATF, as the sponsoring Federal law enforcement agency, shall request 
that FCPD detectives or officers be deputized by the U.S. Marshals 
Service to extend their jurisdiction, to include applying for and 
executing Federal search and arrest warrants, and requesting and 
executing Federal grand jury subpoenas for records and evidence 
involving violations of Federal laws. FCPD officers shall be federally 
deputized before undertaking any task force responsibilities or duties. 
FCPD will dedicate full-time robbery detective(s) and one full-time 
detective(s) to the task force for a period no less than two years. 
Participating agencies reserve the right to add or remove personnel 
based on agency staffing levels. 

The participating agencies agree that any Federal authority that may be 
conferred by the above requests will terminate when this MOU is 
terminated or when the deputized detectives or officers leave the task 
force. 

Resources: ATF agrees to supply supervisors and special agents as 
needed to fulfill the obligations of this MOU. FCPD agrees to supply 
detectives or officers on a full-time basis, dependent on its manpower 
constraints. Additional personnel will be added or removed from this 
MOU on an as-needed basis at the discretion of the respective 
participating agencies, with notice to the other participating agencies. 

Continued assignment of specific personnel will be based upon 
performance and will be at the discretion of the respective 
participating agency. Each participating agency, upon request, will be 
provided with an update of the accomplishments of participating 
members. 

During the period of the MOU, each participating agency will provide 
for the salary and employment benefits of its respective employees. 
All participating agencies will retain control over employees' work 
hours, including the approval of overtime. FCPD robbery detectives 
will continue to work hours scheduled and approved by their chain of 
command. FCPD detectives assigned to the covert facility will be 
required to work a 40 hour work week specifically Tuesday, 
Wednesday, Thursday and Friday from 13:00 hours to 23:00 hours 
each day. Scheduled days off will be Saturday, Sunday and Monday. 

ATF may have funds available to pay overtime to state and local task 
force members subject to the guidelines of the Department of Justice 
Asset Forfeiture Fund. This funding would be available under the 
terms of a memorandum of agreement (MOA) established pursuant to 
the provisions of 28 U.S.C. section 524. The participating agencies 

2 

86



agree to abide by the terms of the applicable Federal statutes and 
Department of Justice guidelines and policies related to the payment of 
overtime from the Department of Justice Asset Forfeiture Fund. The 
Fairfax County Police Department is recognized under State law as a 
law enforcement agency and its investigators as sworn law 
enforcement officers. If required or requested, FCPD shall be 
responsible for demonstrating to the Department of Justice that its 
personnel are law enforcement officers for the purpose of overtime 
payment from the Department of Justice Asset Forfeiture Fund. This 
MOU is not a funding document. 

In accordance with these provisions and the MOA on overtime 
reimbursement, the ATF Special Agent in Charge or designee shall be 
responsible for certifying requests for overtime expenses incurred as a 
result of this agreement. Proceeds of any legal forfeiture arising out of 
an investigation generated by the participating agencies will be divided 
equally among the participants in accordance with applicable Federal 
law and the policies and guidelines of the Department of Justice Asset 
Forfeiture Fund. This MOU does not allocate or ensure that ATF has 
funds available or will make any payments with regard to overtime to 
state and local task force members. 

(4) 	General Guidelines: While all personnel assigned under this MOU 
will give primary consideration to the regulations and guidelines 
imposed by their own agencies, they will be mindful of those imposed 
by the other participants' agencies. When acting under U.S. Marshals 
Service authority requested under this MOU, the participants agree 
that Federal policies and procedures are controlling. Accordingly, 
deputized personnel will take the following measures: 

Comply with ATF enforcement policy regarding the use of 
firearms, financial and property controls, investigative techniques, 
and supervisory controls. 

Qualify with their respective firearms. 

Comply with the Department of Justice use of force policy. 
Officers must be briefed on this policy by the task force supervisor 
upon assignment to the task force. 

Comply with ATF policies concerning the use and care of Federal 
Government-owned vehicles and abide by ATF's pursuit driving 
policy (when driving ATF vehicles), in addition to the policies of 
their respective agencies. Such vehicles are for official use only. 

87



Comply with the Department of Justice's and ATF's standards of 
conduct, particularly as they relate to sexual harassment and equal 
opportunity issues. 

Comply with the provisions of the Privacy Act, 5 USC Section 
552a, and the applicable disclosure provision contained in 26 USC 
Section 6103, and further agree not to discuss any target, 
investigative technique or impending investigative action of the 
task force with any individual or agency outside the task force 
without the prior approval of the task force Coordinator or the 
ATF. 

- 	Failure to comply with these guidelines could result in a TFO's dismissal 
from the Task Force. 

(5) Media Relations: Media relations will be handled by ATF and the 
U.S. Attorney's Office's public information officers in coordination 
with each participating agency. Information for press releases will be 
reviewed and mutually agreed upon by all participating agencies, who 
will take part in press conferences. Assigned personnel will be 
informed not to give statements to the media concerning any ongoing 
investigation or prosecution under this MOU without the concurrence 
of the other participants and, when appropriate, the relevant 
prosecutor's office. 

All personnel from the participating agencies shall strictly adhere to 
the requirements of Title 26, United States Code, § 6103. Disclosure 
of tax return information and tax information acquired during the 
course of investigations involving National Firearms Act (NFA) 
firearms as defined in 26 U.S.C., Chapter 53 shall not be made except 
as provided by law. 

(6) Physical Location: Agents and detectives assigned to robbery 
investigations will remain at their current office location. Agents and 
detectives assigned to undercover operations will report to a covert 
facility located in Northern Virginia. 

(7) Equipment: Assigned personnel working robbery investigations will 
utilize equipment and vehicles assigned by their respective agencies. 
Assigned personnel working undercover operations will utilize 
equipment assigned by their respective agencies. ATF will supply 
vehicles to undercover detectives. 

(8) Asset Forfeiture: All assets seized for administrative forfeiture will be 

88



seized and forfeited in compliance with the rules and regulations set 
forth by the U.S. Department of Justice Asset Forfeiture guidelines. 
When the size or composition of the item(s) seized make it impossible 
for ATF to store it, any of the participating agencies having the 
storage facilities to handle the seized property agree to store the 
property at no charge and to maintain the property in the same 
condition as when it was first taken into custody. The agency storing 
said seized property agrees not to dispose of the property until 
authorized to do so by ATF. 

The MOU provides that proceeds from forfeitures will be shared, with 
sharing percentages based upon the U.S. Department of Justice Asset 
Forfeiture policies on equitable sharing of assets, such as determining 
the level of involvement by each participating agency. Task Force 
assets seized through administrative forfeiture will be distributed in 
equitable amounts based upon the number of full-time persons 
committed by each participating agency. Should it become impossible 
to separate the assets into equal shares, it will be the responsibility of 
all the participating agencies to come to an equitable decision. If this 
process fails and an impasse results, ATF will become the final 
arbitrator of the distributive shares for the participating agencies. 

(9) SECURITY CLEARANCES 

All TFOs will undergo a security clearance and background 
investigation, and ATF shall bear the costs associated with those 
investigations. TFOs must not be the subject of any ongoing 
investigation by their department or any other law enforcement agency, 
and past behavior or punishment, disciplinary, punitive or otherwise, 
may disqualify one from eligibility to join the Task Force. ATF has 
final authority as to the suitability of TFOs for inclusion on the Task 
Force. 

(10) ASSIGNMENTS, REPORTS AND INFORMATION SHARING 

An ATF supervisor and FCPD TFO Lieutenant and TFO Sergeant will be 
empowered with designated oversight for investigative and personnel 
matters related to the Task Force and will be responsible for opening, 
monitoring, directing and closing Task Force investigations in accordance 
with ATF policy and the applicable United States Attorney General's 
Guidelines. 

Assignments will be based on, but not limited to, experience, training and 
performance, in addition to the discretion of the supervisors. 

All investigative reports prepared for federal prosecution will be prepared 
utilizing ATF's investigative case management system, (N-Force) utilizing 

5 

89



ATF case report numbers. The participating agency will share 
investigative reports, findings, intelligence, etc., in furtherance of the 
mission of this agreement, to the fullest extent allowed by law. For the 
purposes of uniformity, there will be no duplication of reports, but rather a 
single report prepared by a designated individual which can be duplicated 
as necessary. Every effort should be made to document investigative 
activity on ATF Reports of Investigation (ROI), unless otherwise agreed 
to by ATF and the participating agencies. This section does not preclude 
the necessity of individual TFOs to complete forms required by their 
employing agency. 

Information will be freely shared among the TFOs and ATF personnel 
with the understanding that all investigative information will be kept 
strictly confidential and will only be used in furtherance of criminal 
investigations. No information gathered during the course of the Task 
Force, to include informal communications between TFOs and ATF 
personnel, may be disseminated to any third party, non-task force member 
by any task force member without the express permission of the ATF 
Special Agent in Charge or his/her designee. 

Any public requests for access to the records or any disclosures of 
information obtained by task force members during Task Force 
investigations will be handled in accordance with applicable statutes, 
regulations, and policies pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act and 
the Privacy Act and other applicable federal and/or state statutes and 
regulations. 

(11) INVESTIGATIVE METHODS 

The parties agree to utilize Federal standards pertaining to evidence 
handling and electronic surveillance activities to the greatest extent 
possible. However, in situations where state or local laws are more 
restrictive than comparable Federal law, investigative methods employed 
by state and local law enforcement agencies shall conform to those 
requirements, pending a decision as to a venue for prosecution. 

The use of other investigative methods (search warrants, interceptions of 
oral communications, etc.) and reporting procedures in connection 
therewith will be consistent with the policy and procedures of ATF. All 
Task Force operations will be conducted and reviewed in accordance with 
applicable ATF and Department of Justice policy and guidelines. 

None of the parties to this MOU will knowingly seek investigations under 
this MOU that would cause a conflict with any ongoing investigation of an 
agency not party to this MOU. It is incumbent upon each participating 
agency to notify its personnel regarding the Task Force's areas of concern 
and jurisdiction. All law enforcement actions will be coordinated and 
cooperatively carried out by all parties to this MOU. 

6 

90



(12) INFORMANTS 

ATF guidelines and policy regarding the operation of informants and 
cooperating witnesses will apply to all informants and cooperating 
witnesses directed by TFOs. 

Informants developed by TFOs may be registered as informants of their 
respective agencies for administrative purposes and handling. The 
policies and procedures of the participating agency with regard to handling 
informants will apply to all informants that the participating agency 
registers. In addition, it will be incumbent upon the registering 
participating agency to maintain a file with respect to the performance of 
all informants or witnesses it registers. All information obtained from an 
informant and relevant to matters within the jurisdiction of this MOU will 
be shared with all parties to this MOU. The registering agency will pay all 
reasonable and necessary informant expenses for each informant that a 
participating agency registers. 

(13) DECONFLICTION 

Each participating agency agrees that the deconfliction process requires 
the sharing of certain operational information with the Task Force, which, 
if disclosed to unauthorized persons, could endanger law enforcement 
personnel and the public. As a result of this concern, each participating 
agency agrees to adopt security measures set forth herein: 

a. Each participating agency will assign primary and secondary 
points of contact. 

b. Each participating agency agrees to keep its points of contact list 
updated. 

The points of contact for this Task Force are: 

ATF: RAC Ashan M. Benedict 

FCPD: 2"d  Lt. David R. Smith 

(14) EVIDENCE 

Evidence maintained by the lead agency having jurisdiction in the court 
system intended for prosecution. Evidence generated from investigations 
initiated by a TFO or ATF special agent intended for Federal prosecution 
will be placed in the ATF designated vault, using the procedures found in 
ATF orders. 

All firearms seized by a TFO must be submitted for fingerprint analysis 
and for a National Integrated Ballistics Information Network (NIBIN) 
examination. Once all analyses are completed, all firearms seized under 

7 

91



Federal law shall be placed into the ATF designated vault for proper 
storage. All firearms information/descriptions taken into ATF custody 
must be submitted to ATF's National Tracing Center. 

(15) USE OF FORCE 

All full-time TFOs will comply with ATF and the Department of Justice's 
(DOJ's) use of force policies, unless a TFOs agency's Use of Force policy 
is more restrictive, in which case the TFO may use their respective 
agency's use of force policy. TFOs must be briefed on ATF's and DOJ's 
use of force policy by an ATF official, and will be provided with a copy of 
such policy. 

(16) DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

In cases of overlapping jurisdiction, the participating agencies agree to 
work in concert to achieve the Task Force's goals and objectives. The 
parties to this MOU agree to attempt to resolve any disputes regarding 
jurisdiction, case assignments and workload at the lowest level possible. 

C. JURISDICTION 

The assigned coordinators will determine whether cases will be referred for 
prosecution to the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of Virginia 
or the Commonwealth of Virginia. The supervisors will base their 
determination upon which level of prosecution will best serve the interests 
of justice and the greatest overall benefit to the public. Any question that 
arises pertaining to prosecution will be resolved through discussion among 
the investigative agencies and prosecuting entities having an interest in the 
matter. 

V. PROGRAM AUDIT 

Operations under this MOU are subject to audit by ATF, the Department of Justice's 
Office of the Inspector General, the Government Accountability Office, and other 
Government-designated auditors. FCPD agrees to permit such audits and to maintain all 
records relating to Department of Justice Asset Forfeiture Fund payments for overtime 
expenses either incurred during the course of this task force for a period of not less than 3 
years and, if an audit is being conducted, until such time that the audit is officially 
completed, whichever is greater. 

VI. LIABILITY 

ATF acknowledges that the United States is liable for the wrongful or negligent acts or 
omissions of its officers and employees, including TFOs, while on duty and acting within 
the scope of their federal employment, to the extent permitted by the Federal Tort Claims 

8 

92



Act. 

Claims against the United States for injury or loss of property, personal injury, or death 
arising or resulting from the negligent or wrongful act or omission of any Federal 
employee while acting within the scope of his or her office or employment are governed 
by the Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. sections 1346(b), 2672-2680 (unless the claim 
arises from a violation of the Constitution of the United States, or a violation of a statute 
of the United States under which other recovery is authorized). 

Except as otherwise provided, the parties agree to be solely responsible for the negligent 
or wrongful acts or omissions of their respective employees and will not seek financial 
contributions from the other for such acts or omissions. Legal representation by the 
United States is determined by the United States Department of Justice on a case-by-case 
basis. ATF cannot guarantee the United States will provide legal representation to any 
State or local law enforcement officer. 

Liability for any negligent or willful acts of any agent or officer undertaken outside the 
terms of this MOU will be the sole responsibility of the respective agent or officer and 
agency involved. 

VII. DURATION OF MOU 

This MOU shall remain in effect until it is terminated in writing (to include electronic 
mail and facsimile). All participating agencies agree that no agency shall withdraw from 
the Task Force without providing ninety (90) days written notice to other participating 
agencies. If any participating agency withdraws from the Task Force prior to its 
termination, the remaining participating agencies shall determine the distributive share of 
assets for the withdrawing agency, in accordance with Department of Justice guidelines 
and directives. 

The MOU shall be deemed terminated at the time all participating agencies withdraw and 
ATF elects not to replace such members, or in the event ATF unilaterally terminates the 
MOU upon 90 days written notice to all the remaining participating agencies. 

VIII. MODIFICATIONS 
9 

93



This agreement may be modified at any time by written consent of all participating 
agencies. Modifications shall have no force and effect unless such modifications are 
reduced to writing and signed by an authorized representative of each participating 
agency. 

By: 12\ . 	CIA.),..rvY,-cr Date: 	1--16 

Special Agent in Charge 
Washington Field Division 
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives 

By: 	/11 • 	Date: 	2-47s-10 

David M. Rohrer, Colonel 
Chief of Police 
Fairfax County Police Department 

10 

94



ATTACHMENT 2

95



96



97



98



99



Board Agenda Item REVISED
December 5, 2017

ACTION - 2

Approval of a Resolution Requesting the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 
Authority (FCRHA) Issue Revenue Bonds Series 2018A for the Crescent Apartments 
(Hunter Mill District), Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2018B for the Wedgewood 
Apartments (Mason Braddock District) and Other Necessary Documents  

ISSUE:
Approval by the Board of Supervisors of a resolution (Attachment 1) to request a public 
bond sale by the FCRHA for Revenue Bonds Series 2018A for the Crescent Apartments
and a resolution (Attachment 8) to request a public bond sale by the FCRHA for 
Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2018B for the Wedgewood Apartments. 

RECOMMENDATION:
The Acting County Executive recommends approval of the attached resolution 
(Attachment 1) relating to the issuance of Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 
Authority (FCRHA) Revenue Bonds Series 2018A for the Crescent Apartments, and the 
attached resolution (Attachment 8) relating to the issuance of FCRHA Revenue 
Refunding Bonds Series 2018B for the Wedgewood Apartments per the schedule 
shown on Attachment 15.  The Board resolutions authorize the following actions:

1. Request the FCRHA to issue revenue bonds for the purpose of amortizing the 
remaining balance of the direct loan associated with the Crescent Apartments
over a five-year period. The current loan matures on March 1, 2018.  

2. Request the FCRHA to issue revenue refunding bonds for the purpose of 
achieving savings associated with the outstanding debt on the Wedgewood 
Apartments.  

3. Approve the form, execution, and delivery of the Payment Agreements for both 
properties between Fairfax County and the FCRHA.  (Attachments 2, 9)

4. Approve the form of the Assignment Agreements for both properties from 
FCRHA and acknowledged by the County.  (Attachments 3, 10)

5. Approve the form, execution, and delivery of the Lease Agreements for both 
properties between Fairfax County and the FCRHA.  (Attachments 4, 11)

6. Approve the form, execution and delivery of the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreements for both properties.  (Attachments 5, 12)

7. Approve the form of the Bonds for both properties.  (Attachments 6, 13)
8. Approve the form of a Bond Purchase Agreement for both properties. 

(Attachment 7,14)
9. Approve the form of the Preliminary Official Statement for both properties and the 

delivery of a final Official Statement to the winning bidder of the Bonds.
(Attachment 16)

100



Board Agenda Item REVISED
December 5, 2017

TIMING:
Approval by the Board is requested on December 5, 2017.

BACKGROUND:
Crescent Apartments
Fairfax County purchased the Crescent Apartments complex, a 16.5-acre site with 180 
units located at 1527 Cameron Crescent Drive in Reston, Virginia, on February 16, 
2006 for $49.5 million.  This property is adjacent to the Lake Anne Revitalization District 
and the majority of the site is leased to the FCRHA.  

In January 2006, the complex’s first interim financing in the amount of $40.6 million was 
obtained through a competitive private placement bidding process with Wachovia Bank 
for a one-year note.  In February 2007, second interim financing in the amount of $40.5 
million was obtained through a competitive sale with Lehman Brothers for a one-year
tax exempt BAN while the FCRHA reviewed options for redevelopment of the property.  
In February 2008, the FCRHA sold a five year, tax-exempt BAN in the amount of $37.62 
million, which was obtained via a competitive sale to UBS Securities LLC with a final 
maturity on March 1, 2013. In May 2011 (Series 2011), the County conducted a 
refinancing sale for the remaining two years of payments to reduce the interest rate on 
the BAN.  The 2011 BAN, totaling $28.91 million, was sold to JP Morgan Securities 
LLC.  

On March 1, 2013, payment for the outstanding principal of $26.73 million for the five-
year BAN became due.  As a result, County staff rolled the BAN for another two-year 
period (Series 2013) with a maturity of March 1, 2015. The County’s Bond Counsel 
recommended the BAN be sold on a taxable basis as there had been anticipated at the 
time for a private sector component to redevelop the property. The taxable status is 
recommended to remain and provides the County the flexibility for any future 
negotiations on the site for redevelopment with respect to use, transfer, timing, and 
business structure of any continuing ground lease on the property   

In February 2015, a three-year taxable direct loan in the amount of $21.5 million was 
obtained via a Request for Proposal (RFP). The direct loan obtained in 2015 has an 
outstanding principal balance of $13.26 million due on March 1, 2018.  An equity 
contribution of $2.5 million included in current year appropriations, from Fund 30300,
the Penny for Affordable Housing Fund, will be used to reduce the amount financed.  
County staff is requesting to amortize the balance of the loan utilizing a taxable public 
bond sale for a five-year term.  Debt service payments of approximately $2.6 million will 
also be paid from Fund 30300, the Penny for Affordable Housing Fund.  

Wedgewood Apartments
Wedgewood Apartments is a garden-style multifamily rental community located on Little 
River Turnpike and McWhorter Road in Annandale, Virginia, on 34.8 acres of land. In 
total, there are 672 units in three phases - Wedgewood Manor – 125 units; Wedgewood 

101



Board Agenda Item REVISED
December 5, 2017

West – 424 units; and Wedgewood East – 123 units. Wedgewood Apartments has one, 
two and three bedroom units and 15 townhomes.  Property amenities include tot lots, 
swimming pool and a community building. The property is adjacent to Annandale 
Terrace Elementary School and Ossian Hall Park.  

Fairfax County purchased the Wedgewood Apartment complex on November 28, 2007
for $107,500,000.  Financing was provided through the FCRHA issuance of Bond 
Anticipation Notes (BANs). The Penny for Affordable Housing Fund paid for a portion of 
the acquisition cost and cost of issuance, relocation, and reserves.  On October 9,
2008, the FCRHA refinanced the outstanding BANs by issuing new BANs in the amount 
of $104,105,000.  On July 13, 2009, the Board approved a permanent plan of finance in 
the amount of $94,950,000 with a final maturity of October 2039.  

There is no new money sale component on this project, and only savings is sought from 
refunding outstanding debt and no extension of the original maturities on the bonds.   
Assuming market conditions as of October 2017, $75 million of these outstanding bonds 
meet the County’s minimum savings threshold and would generate net present value 
savings of approximately $8.6 million or 11.5 percent of the refunded par amount.
Actual savings and the total amount refunded will be dependent upon bond market 
conditions leading up to the day of the bond sale. There is no extension of the original 
final maturity date of FY 2040 with this bond sale. The County Resolution (Attachment 
8) requests the RHA to issue the Bonds in an amount not to exceed $82 million.  Staff 
requests this additional amount to provide for flexibility with ongoing changes in 
municipal market conditions and if any additional maturities on the bonds were to be 
added to the refunding bond sale anticipated for early 2018. 

The annual debt service is currently $5.7 million and is paid from Fund 30300, the 
Penny for Affordable Housing Fund. The financing documents for the Series 2018B
revenue refunding bonds will be structured in a similar manner to the Series 2009.  The 
County and the FCRHA will sign an Amended and Restated Ground Lease Agreement 
giving the FCRHA the right to lease the land from the County.  The County and the 
FCRHA will execute a Payment Agreement and an Assignment Agreement that 
provides that the County will pay to the FCRHA from Fund 30300, subject to annual 
appropriations, an amount that is sufficient to pay the debt service on the bonds.  

The FCRHA Board will consider the Crescent Apartments Revenue Bonds and the 
Wedgewood Apartments Revenue Refunding Bonds for approval at its December 14, 
2017 meeting.

Proposed Federal Tax Reform Plan
On November 2, 2017 the United State House of Representatives Ways and Means 
Committee released the details of the federal tax reform plan.  There are several 
components to this plan that would affect the municipal market, and one provision 
potentially affects the Wedgewood refinancing deal.  This federal plan as proposed 
repeals Advance Refunding Bonds whereby interest had traditionally been tax-exempt 

102



Board Agenda Item REVISED
December 5, 2017

and would now become taxable. The Wedgewood deal is an Advance Refunding Bond 
sale and the potential debt service savings could be reduced or eliminated due to the 
loss in tax-exempt status for the bonds.  The federal tax reform plan would become 
effective January 1, 2018, if passed as currently described by Congress. Per the bond 
sale schedule of events (Attachment 15), a refunding bond sale is currently anticipated 
for the week of January 22, 2018. As a result, County staff will monitor the ongoing 
events at the federal level and discuss with its bond counsel and its financial advisor to 
determine if the Wedgewood bond deal is still feasible at this time given these factors.
Even if the Wedgewood refinancing could not proceed as currently anticipated, the tax 
reform proposal as introduced would still allow for certain types of refinancing’s in the 
future. In the case of the Wedgewood bonds, that window of occasion would open on 
July 1, 2019.  The Crescent bonds are being sold on a taxable basis as cited earlier and 
there is no impact from any of the provisions of the federal tax reform plan. Updates to 
the Board of Supervisors will be provided accordingly as more information is made 
available.

Series 2018 Bond Sale
The Series 2018 bonds are recommended to be sold on a negotiated basis, and the 
County will select an underwriter from the County’s pre-qualified pool of underwriters.
A negotiated sale permits more in-depth and targeted marketing of investors prior to the 
sale of the bonds, and will provide further value in gaining market insight given the 
backdrop of the federal tax reform plan.  In accordance with the delegation of authority 
provided for this resolution, staff will select pre-qualified firms with the assistance of the 
County’s Financial Advisor and execute the Bond Purchase Agreements (Attachment 7 
& 14).

FISCAL IMPACT:
The direct loan obtained for Crescent in 2015 has an outstanding principal balance of 
$13.26 million due on March 1, 2018.  An equity contribution of $2.5 million included in 
current year appropriations, from Fund 30300, the Penny for Affordable Housing Fund, 
will be used to reduce the amount financed.  County staff is requesting to amortize the 
balance of the loan utilizing a taxable public bond sale for a five-year term.  Debt service 
payments of approximately $2.6 million will also be paid from Fund 30300, the Penny 
for Affordable Housing Fund.  

Based on market conditions as of October 2017, a refunding bond sale of $75 million of 
the existing debt for the Wedgewood Apartments is estimated to generate a net present 
value savings of $8.6 million or 11.5 percent of the refunded bonds.  Annual debt 
service payments under these projections would be reduced by approximately $500,000 
from $5.7 million to $5.2 million and repaid from Fund 30300, the Penny for Affordable 
Housing Fund.

103



Board Agenda Item REVISED
December 5, 2017

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1 – Crescent Board Resolution
Attachment 2 – Crescent Payment Agreement
Attachment 3 – Crescent Assignment Agreement
Attachment 4 – Crescent Lease Agreement
Attachment 5 – Crescent Continuing Disclosure Agreement
Attachment 6 – Crescent Form of Bonds
Attachment 7 – Crescent Bond Purchase Agreement
Attachment 8 – Wedgewood Board Resolution
Attachment 9 – Wedgewood Payment Agreement
Attachment 10 – Wedgewood Assignment Agreement
Attachment 11 – Wedgewood Lease Agreement
Attachment 12 – Wedgewood Continuing Disclosure Agreement
Attachment 13 – Wedgewood Form of Bonds
Attachment 14 – Wedgewood Bond Purchase Agreement
Attachment 15 – Bond Sale Timeline
Attachment 16 – Preliminary Official Statement 

STAFF:
Patricia Harrison, Deputy County Executive
Joseph Mondoro, Chief Financial Officer
Tom Fleetwood, Director, Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD)
Hossein Malayeri, Deputy Director, HCD
Aseem K. Nigam, Director, Real Estate Finance and Grants Management Division, HCD
Joseph LaHait, Debt Coordinator, Department of Management and Budget

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
Ryan Wolf, Assistant County Attorney
Patricia McCay, Assistant County Attorney

104



Attachment 1   

 
County Resolution 

 

RESOLUTION REQUESTING THE ISSUANCE BY THE FAIRFAX 

COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

(FCRHA) OF ITS REVENUE BONDS (CRESCENT AFFORDABLE 

HOUSING ACQUISITION) (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) IN ONE OR 

MORE SERIES IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT UP TO 

$11,300,000 AND APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE 

EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A PAYMENT AGREEMENT 

WITH FCRHA, ALL FOR THE PURPOSE OF REFINANCING A 

BANK LOAN ENTERED INTO BY FCRHA WITH A BANK FOR THE 

PURPOSE OF PROVIDING INTERIM FINANCING FOR THE 

REFINANCING OF NOTES PREVIOUSLY ISSUED FOR 

REFINANCING A PORTION OF THE PURCHASE PRICE OF A 

MULTI-FAMILY RENTAL HOUSING COMPLEX LOCATED IN 

FAIRFAX COUNTY; APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE 

EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A LEASE WITH FCRHA FOR 

THE LEASE OF THE PROPERTY TO FCRHA; APPROVING THE 

FORM OF THE FCRHA BONDS; APPROVING A PRELIMINARY 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND A FINAL OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

RELATING TO SUCH BONDS, APPROVING THE FORM OF A 

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT AND EXECUTION OF AN 

APPROVAL RELATING TO THE PURCHASE OF THE BONDS; 

APPROVING THE FORM OF AND EXECUTION OF AN 

ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT; APPROVING THE MAKING OF A 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING AND GRANTING 

THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE AND DELIVER SUCH OTHER 

DOCUMENTS AND AGREEMENTS RELATING TO SUCH 

TRANSACTIONS AND TO DETERMINE CERTAIN DETAILS OF 

SUCH TRANSACTION 

WHEREAS, the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority (“FCRHA”), in 

furtherance of its goal to preserve existing affordable housing in Fairfax County, requested that 

the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the County of Fairfax, Virginia (the “County”), 

contract for the purchase of the 180-unit Crescent Apartments multi-family rental housing 

complex, including the approximately 16.5 acre site thereof, located at 1527 Cameron Crescent 

Drive in Reston, Virginia (the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, on February 6, 2006, the Board entered into an Agreement of Purchase and 

Sale (the “Purchase Contract”) for the purchase of the Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Board, upon entering into the Purchase Contract, requested that 

FCRHA provide interim financing for a portion of the purchase price of the Property and related 

costs and offered to enter into a payment agreement pursuant to which the County agreed to 

make payments, to or for the account of FCRHA, in amounts sufficient, with the proceeds of any 

permanent financing and renewal notes financing (as herein provided) and any other sources of 

funds available for the purpose, for FCRHA to pay timely the interest on and the principal of 

notes to be issued for such interim financing; and 

 

105



Attachment 1 

 2 

 

WHEREAS, FCRHA, pursuant to the Board’s request and a payment agreement, issued 

on February 16, 2006 a bond anticipation note (the “Original Note”), the proceeds of which were 

used to pay a portion of the purchase price of the Property; and 

WHEREAS, FCRHA, pursuant to the Board’s request and the terms of a payment 

agreement, issued on February 13, 2007, a bond anticipation note (the “2007 Note”) the proceeds 

of which were used to pay the principal of the Original Note; and 

WHEREAS, FCRHA, pursuant to the Board’s request and the terms of a payment 

agreement, issued on February 11, 2008, bond anticipation notes (the “2008 Notes”) the proceeds 

of which were used to pay a portion of the principal of the 2007 Note; and 

WHEREAS, FCHRA, pursuant to the Board’s request and the terms of a payment 

agreement, issued on May 19, 2011, bond anticipation notes (the “2011 Notes”) the proceeds of 

which were issued to pay the principal of and interest on the outstanding 2008 Notes; and 

WHEREAS, FCHRA, pursuant to the Board’s request and the terms of a payment 

agreement, issued on February 14, 2013, bond anticipation notes (the “2013 Notes”) the proceeds 

of which were issued to pay the principal of and interest on the outstanding 2011 Notes; and 

WHEREAS, FCHRA, pursuant to the Board’s request and the terms of a payment 

agreement, entered into a Loan Agreement with Bank of America, N.A. (the “Outstanding 

Loan”) the proceeds of which were issued to pay the principal of and interest on the outstanding 

2013 Notes; and 

WHEREAS, the final installment of the Outstanding Loan is due on March 1, 2018, and 

FCRHA desires to provide new financing, which together with other County funds, shall pay the 

outstanding principal of and interest on the Outstanding Loan; and 

WHEREAS, FCRHA proposes to issue its Revenue Bonds (Crescent Affordable 

Housing Acquisition) Series 201[7/8]A (Federally Taxable), in one or more series, in an 

aggregate principal amount of up to $11,300,000 (the “Bonds”) pursuant to the Housing 

Authorities Law, Chapter 1, Title 36, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Act”), which 

together with other funds, will be sufficient to refinance the Outstanding Loan and pay certain 

costs of issuance of the Bonds; and   

WHEREAS, FCRHA and the County may have the opportunity in the future to sell all or 

a portion of the Property to third parties for purposes of effectuating low income housing tax 

credit financings and FCRHA desires to include in the terms of the Bonds and the related 

documents necessary provisions to allow for such possible sales including provisions relating to 

the redemption of such Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the County proposes to enter into a payment agreement with FCRHA (the 

“Payment Agreement”) by the terms of which the County will agree to make payments, subject 

to appropriation, to FCRHA in sufficient amounts for FCRHA to pay timely the interest and the 

principal of the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the County proposes to enter into a lease agreement with FCRHA (the 

“Lease”) by the terms of which the County will lease the Property to FCRHA; and 

106



Attachment 1 

 3 

 

WHEREAS, there has been presented to the Board a proposed form of a Bond Purchase 

Agreement between the Authority and Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, as representative of the 

underwriters (the “Underwriters”) and approved by the County relating to the purchase of the Bonds 

(the “Bond Purchase Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, there has been presented to the Board a proposed form of an Assignment 

Agreement (the “Assignment Agreement”) pursuant to which FCRHA will assign to the bond 

registrar and paying agent of the Bonds all of FCRHA’s rights under the Payment Agreement, 

including FCRHA’s rights to the County Payments under, and to enforce the terms and 

provisions of, the Payment Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, there has been presented to the Board a proposed Preliminary Official 

Statement describing the Bonds, FCRHA, the County and the Property (the “Preliminary Official 

Statement”); and 

WHEREAS, the County will undertake responsibility for any annual and other reports, 

notices or disclosures that may be required under Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Securities and 

Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended 

from time to time, and make a continuing disclosure undertaking (the “Continuing Disclosure 

Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors has duly reviewed and considered the forms of the  

Payment Agreement, the Lease, the Bonds, , the sources of payment and security therefore, the 

Bond Purchase Agreement, the Assignment Agreement, the Preliminary Official Statement and 

the Continuing Disclosure Agreement and has determined that each is in acceptable form; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is necessary to delegate to appropriate 

County officials authority to approve the sale of the Bonds including and the details of the 

transaction but subject to the guidelines and standards established hereby; now, therefore, 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia, as follows: 

SECTION 1.  FCRHA is hereby requested to sell the Bonds to the Underwriters in a 

negotiated sale in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $11,300,000 for the purpose of 

providing funds, together with any other available funds, if any, to refinance the Outstanding Loan 

and pay costs and expenses associated with the issuance of the Bonds 

SECTION 2.  The form of the Bonds presented to this meeting is approved. 

SECTION 3. The form of the Payment Agreement presented to this meeting is 

approved, and the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board or the County Executive or the 

Deputy County Executive/Chief Financial Officer of the County (each a “Delegate”), as 

appropriate, is authorized and directed to execute and deliver, in the name and on behalf of the 

County, and the Clerk or any Deputy Clerk is authorized and directed to impress the County’s 

seal upon, the Payment Agreement in substantially such form, with such additions and 

modifications as shall be approved by the Delegate executing the Payment Agreement, such 

execution being conclusive evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 4. The form of the Lease presented to this meeting is approved, and a 

Delegate, as appropriate, is authorized and directed to execute and deliver, in the name and on 

107



Attachment 1 

 4 

 

behalf of the County, and the Clerk or any Deputy Clerk is authorized and directed to impress the 

County’s seal upon, the Lease in substantially such form, with such additions and modifications 

as shall be approved by the Delegate executing the Lease, such execution being conclusive 

evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 5. The form of the Bond Purchase Agreement (including the County’s Letter 

of Representations) presented to this meeting is approved, and a Delegate, as appropriate, is 

authorized and directed to execute and deliver, in the name and on behalf of the County, the 

Bond Purchase Agreement (including the Letter of Representation) in substantially such form, 

with such additions and modifications as shall be approved by the Delegate executing the Bond 

Purchase Agreement, such execution being conclusive evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 6.  The form of an Assignment Agreement presented to this meeting is 

approved, and a Delegate, as appropriate is authorized and directed to execute and deliver, in the 

name and on behalf of the County an acknowledgement of such Assignment Agreement, the 

Assignment Agreement in substantially such form, with such additions and modifications as 

shall be approved by the Delegate executing the Assignment Agreement, such execution being 

conclusive evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 7.  The form of the Preliminary Official Statement is hereby approved and 

deemed “final” for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended.  The distribution and use by the underwriters of a final Official Statement relating to 

the Bonds (the “Official Statement”) is hereby approved.  The Official Statement shall be 

completed with the pricing and other information in substantially the form of the Preliminary 

Official Statement approved this day with such minor changes, insertions and omissions as may 

be approved by a Delegate. 

SECTION 8.  The form of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement presented to this 

meeting is approved, and a Delegate, as appropriate, is authorized and directed to execute and 

deliver in the name and on behalf of the County, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement in such 

form and containing substantially the terms and provisions therein contained, with such additions 

and modifications as shall be approved by the person executing the Continuing Disclosure 

Agreement, such execution thereof being conclusive evidence of such approval 

 SECTION 9.  The execution and delivery by any Delegate of the Payment Agreement, 

the Lease, Bond Purchase Agreement, the Assignment Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure 

Agreement and any other agreements, documents, closing papers and certificates executed and 

delivered pursuant to this Resolution shall be conclusive evidence of the Delegate’s approval, on 

behalf of the County, of the changes, if any, in the form and content of the Payment Agreement, 

the Lease, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Assignment Agreement and the Continuing 

Disclosure Agreement. 

SECTION 10.  The Delegates and other members, officers and employees of the Board 

of Supervisors and the County are hereby authorized and directed to do all acts and things 

required of them by the provisions of the Bonds, the Lease, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the 

Payment Agreement, the Assignment Agreement and the Continuing Disclosure Agreement for 

the full, punctual and complete performance of all the terms, covenants, provisions and 

agreements of the Bonds, the Lease, the Payment Agreement, the Assignment Agreement and the 

Continuing Disclosure Agreement and also to do all acts and things required of them by the 

108



Attachment 1 

 5 

 

provisions of this Resolution and the resolution to be adopted by the FCRHA Board of 

Commissioners relating to the Bonds. 

SECTION 11.  Each of the Delegates is authorized to execute one or more certificates 

evidencing the determinations made or other actions carried out pursuant to the authority granted 

in this Resolution, and any such certificate shall be conclusive evidence of the actions or 

determinations as stated therein. 

SECTION 12.  All actions taken by any of the Delegates and other members, officers 

and employees of the County in connection with the transactions authorized and approved 

hereby are hereby ratified and confirmed. 

SECTION 13.  Any and all resolutions of the Board of Supervisors or portions thereof in 

conflict with the provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 14.  This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 

 

(Seal)  A Copy Teste: 

 

  _____________________________ 

  Clerk to the Board of Supervisors 

109



Attachment 2 

 

 

 

County & Authority 

PAYMENT AGREEMENT 

This Payment Agreement (this “Agreement”), dated as of _______ __, 2018, by and 

between the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority (the “Authority”) and the 

Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”). 

 

SECTION I. DEFINITIONS 

 

 For purposes of this Agreement, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, the words 

and terms defined in this Section I have the respective meanings given to them herein: 

 

 “Assignment Agreement” means the Assignment Agreement, dated as of _______ __, 

2018 by the Authority pursuant to which the Authority assigns to the bond registrar and paying 

agent of the Bonds all of the Authority’s rights under the Payment Agreement, including the 

Authority’s rights to receive County Payments under and to enforce the terms and provisions of 

this Payment Agreement.  

 

[“Bonds” means the $___________ Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority Revenue Bonds (Crescent Affordable Housing Acquisition) [Series 2017/2018A] 

(Federally Taxable), dated _______ __, 20__.] 

 

“Bond Payment Date” means each Interest Payment Date and Principal Payment Date on 

the Bonds. 

 

“County Payments” means the payments made or to be made by the County, to or for the 

account of the Authority, in respect of scheduled interest and principal payments on the Bonds. 

 

 “County Payment Date” means a Bond Payment Date. 

 

 “Holder of the Bonds” means the registered owners and if the registered owners are a 

nominee the beneficial owners of the Bonds. 

 

“Interest Payment Date” means each April 1 and October 1, commencing October 1, 

2018, each such date being a date when interest is scheduled to be due and payable on the Bonds. 

 

“Payment Agreement” means this Payment Agreement as the same may be amended by 

written agreement of the parties with the consent of the Holder of the Bonds as provided in 

Section 4.02 hereof. 

 

“Principal Payment Date” means each October 1 upon which the principal of any Bond is 

due and payable (whether at maturity or upon sinking fund redemption). 

 

110



Attachment 2 

 

 

 2 

 

“Property” means the multi-family rental housing complex, including the sites thereof, 

located in Fairfax County, Virginia (the “Property”), identified in the Purchase Contract, that the 

County acquired from the seller with proceeds of the 2006 Note to further the  mutual goal of the 

County and the Authority of preserving existing affordable housing in the County. 

 

“Purchaser” means the underwriter or underwriters that shall have been awarded the 

Bonds pursuant to a negotiated sale and shall purchase the Bonds from the Authority on the date 

hereof. 

 

“Purchase Contract” means the Agreements of Purchase and Sale made and entered into 

as of the 6th day of February, 2006 between the County, as purchaser, and the seller named 

therein, pursuant to which the County purchased the Property from the seller. 

 

“2006 Note” means the $40,600,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority Bond Anticipation Note (Affordable Housing Acquisition), Series 2006, dated 

February 16, 2006, issued for the purpose of providing a portion of the purchase price of the 

Property. 

 

“2007 Note” means the $40,465,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority Bond Anticipation Note (Affordable Housing Acquisition), Series 2007, dated 

February 13, 2007, issued for the purpose of paying the principal of the 2006 Note. 

 

“2008 Notes” means the $37,615,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority Bond Anticipation Note (Affordable Housing Acquisition), Series 2008, dated 

February 11, 2008, issued for the purpose of paying a portion of the principal of the 2007 Note. 

 

“2011 Notes” means the $28,905,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority Bond Anticipation Note (Affordable Housing Acquisition), Series 2011, dated May 

19, 2011, issued for the purpose of paying the principal of and interest on the outstanding  2008 

Notes. 

 

“2013 Notes” means the $24,650,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority Bond Anticipation Note (Affordable Housing Acquisition), Series 2013A (Taxable), 

dated February 14, 2013, issued for the purpose of paying the principal of and interest on the 

outstanding  2011 Notes. 

 

“2015 Loan” means the $18,260,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority Taxable Loan with Bank of America, N.A., dated February 25, 2015, issued for the 

purpose of refinancing the 2013 Notes. 

 

 

 

 

111



Attachment 2 

 

 

 3 

 

 

SECTION II.  ISSUANCE OF THE  BONDS BY THE AUTHORITY 

 

Section 2.01. Issuance of the Bonds. The Authority agrees to issue the Bonds on 

or before ______ __, 2018.  The Purchaser has agreed to buy the Bonds from the Authority on 

______ __, 2018.   

 

Section 2.02. Purpose for the Issuance of the Bonds. The Authority agrees to apply 

the proceeds of the Bonds, [together with other funds], to refinance the 2015 Loan and to pay for 

certain costs of issuance of the Bonds, all as approved by the County, and for no other purpose.    

 

SECTION III. PAYMENT UNDERTAKING BY THE COUNTY 

 

Section 3.01. County Payments and Bond Debt Service Payments.  (a) The County 

hereby agrees to make County Payments on each Bond Payment Date as set forth on Exhibit A 

hereto subject to the provisions of Sections 3.02 and 3.03 below. 

 

(b) the County may, at its option, prepay the County Payments in whole or in part on 

any date on or after ______ 1, 20__ on not less than forty-five (45) days’ written notice to the  

Authority accompanied by a specific direction to the Authority to apply such prepayment to the 

redemption of the Bonds in accordance with their terms.  Upon such redemption, the Authority 

shall credit the principal amount of the Bonds so redeemed against the County Payments and 

reduce the remaining County Payments otherwise payable in an amount equal to the sum of (x) 

the principal amount of the Bonds redeemed, (y) the interest on the Bonds so redeemed and (z) 

the interest that would have accrued on such Bonds so redeemed but for such prepayment 

redemption. 

 

(c) [the County will prepay the County Payments in whole or in part at any time on 

not less than forty-five (45) days’ written notice to the Authority upon the extraordinary 

mandatory redemption of Bonds (“Extraordinary Mandatory Redemption”) in whole or in part 

upon the sale by the County of all or any portion of the Property.  Upon the sale of a portion of 

the Property the Bonds to be redeemed shall be the pro rata portion of the Bonds (rounded up to 

the next $5,000 increment) allocable to that portion of the Property, all in accordance with the 

terms of the Bonds.  Upon such redemption, the Authority shall credit the principal amount of 

the Bonds so redeemed against the County Payments and reduce the remaining County Payments 

otherwise payable in an amount equal to the sum of (x) the principal amount of the Bonds 

redeemed, (y) the interest on the Bonds so redeemed and (z) the interest that would have accrued 

on such Bonds so redeemed but for such prepayment redemption.] 

 

Section 3.02. Payments Subject to Appropriation. The obligation of the County to 

make the County Payments under this Agreement is contingent upon the appropriation for the 

applicable fiscal year by the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors of funds from which such 

County Payments can be made.  The County shall not be liable for any County Payments which 

112



Attachment 2 

 

 

 4 

 

may be payable pursuant to this Payment Agreement unless and until such funds have been 

appropriated for payment and then only to the extent thereof.  This Payment Agreement shall not 

constitute a pledge of the full faith and credit of the County or a bond or debt of the County in 

violation of Section 10 of Article VII of the Constitution of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

Section 3.03. County Executive to Request Appropriations.   

The Board of Supervisors of the County covenants that it will cause the County 

Executive in preparing the County’s operating budget for each fiscal year subsequent to fiscal 

year 2018 so long as the Bonds remain outstanding under the Authority’s Bond Resolution 

passed by the Authority on ____ __, 2017 (the “Authority Bond Resolution”) to include as a 

separate line item therein the debt service on the Bonds that is scheduled to become due and 

payable during such fiscal year for which the budget is proposed.  In the alternative, the County 

Executive may include in a line item in the County’s operating budget the debt service on the 

Bonds that is scheduled to become due and payable during such fiscal year together with other 

amounts due and payable by the County during such fiscal year under similar arrangements for 

other projects. 

Section 3.04. Consent to Assignment.  The County hereby agrees that the Authority 

shall assign to the bond registrar and paying agent of the Bonds the Authority’s rights under this 

Payment Agreement, including the Authority’s rights to receive County Payments under and to 

enforce the terms and provisions of this Payment Agreement.  

 

SECTION IV. MISCELLANEOUS 

 

Section 4.01. Third Party Beneficiaries. This Payment Agreement shall inure to the 

benefit of the Authority, the County and the Holder of the Bonds, and no other persons shall be 

deemed third party beneficiaries of this Payment Agreement. 

 

Section 4.02. Amendments. This Agreement may be amended or any of its terms 

modified only by a written document authorized, executed and delivered by the Authority and 

the County with the prior written consent of the Holder of the Bonds. 

 

Section 4.03.  Effective Date.  This Agreement shall take effect immediately upon its 

execution and delivery.  

 

Section 4.04. Termination. This Agreement shall terminate upon the earlier of the 

retirement and the defeasance of the Bonds. 

 

Section 4.05. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more 

counterparts and when each party hereto has executed at least one counterpart, this Agreement 

shall become binding on both parties and such counterparts shall be deemed to be one and the 

same document. 

113



Attachment 2 

 

 

 5 

 

 

Section 4.06. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

 

 

[The rest of this page is left blank intentionally] 

114



Attachment 2 

 

 

 6 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority and the County have caused this Agreement to 

be executed by their respective duly authorized officers, all as of the date and year first written 

above. 

 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING 

AUTHORITY 

 

 

 

 

By:______________________________ 

                        

  Chairman 

 

 

[SEAL] 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

By: _________________________ 

 

Assistant Secretary 

 

 

      BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

  

  

 By:____________________________ 

                       

County Executive 

 

 

[SEAL] 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

By: ______________________________ 

 

Clerk to the Board of Supervisors

115



Attachment 2 

 

 

 

Exhibit A 

 

    County Payments 

 
County 

Payment Date 

 

    Principal 

 

       Interest 

 

       Total 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

116



Attachment 2 

 

 

 8 

 

County 

Payment Date 

 

    Principal 

 

       Interest 

 

       Total 

 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

 

117



Attachment 3 

 1 
 

ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT 

(Crescent Affordable Housing Acquisition) 

THIS ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT (“Assignment”) is made as of _____ __, 2018, 

from the FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY, a political 

subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, as assignor (the “Assignor”) to the Director of 

the Department of Finance of Fairfax County, as bond registrar and paying agent of the 

$____________ Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Revenue Bonds 

(Crescent Affordable Housing Acquisition) [Series 2017/2018A] (Federally Taxable) (the 

“Assignee”). 

RECITALS 

Assignor and Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”) have entered into a Payment 

Agreement, dated as of _____ __, 2018 (the “Payment Agreement”), between the County and 

Assignor pursuant to the terms of which the County will agree to make payments to the Assignor 

in sufficient amounts for the Assignor to pay timely the interest and the principal of the 

$____,_____,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Revenue Bonds 

(Crescent Affordable Housing Acquisition) [Series 2017/2018A] (Federally Taxable) (the 

“Bonds”).  The Bonds are being issued to provide funds, together with other funds, sufficient to 

(i) refinance the outstanding portion of the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority promissory note issued to Bank of America, N.A. (the “Bank”) as evidence of a loan 

received by FCRHA from the Bank pursuant to the terms of a loan agreement (the “Loan 

Agreement”) by and among the Bank, FCRHA and the County to refinance the outstanding 

Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Bond Anticipation Notes (Affordable 

Housing Acquisition) Series 2013A (Taxable) previously issued to refinance the outstanding 

Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Bond Anticipation Notes (Affordable 

Housing Acquisition) Series 2011A (the “2011 Notes”).  The proceeds of the 2011 Notes were 

applied in May 2011 to refinance  bond anticipation notes issued in February 2008 to pay the 

principal amount of a bond anticipation note issued in February 2007, which was issued to pay 

the principal amount of a bond anticipation note issued in February 2006, for purposes of 

providing a portion of the purchase price of, and enabling the County to acquire title to, the 181-

unit Crescent Apartments multi-family rental housing complex, including the approximately 16.5 

acre site thereof, located at 1527 Cameron Crescent Drive in Reston, Virginia and (ii) pay certain 

costs of issuance of the Bonds.  Assignor has agreed to assign to the Assignee for the benefit of 

the owners of the Bonds all of its right, title and interest in and to the Payment Agreement 

including the Assignor’s right to receive payments and to conform and enforce the provisions of 

the Payment Agreement. 

Unless otherwise defined in this Assignment, all capitalized terms used in this 

Assignment shall have the same meanings as set forth in the Payment Agreement. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and One Dollar ($1) paid 

by Assignee, Assignor hereby conveys, transfers and assigns unto Assignee, its successors and 

assigns, for the benefit of the owners of the Bonds, all the rights, interest and privileges which 

118



Attachment 3 

 2 
 

Assignor has and may have in the Payment Agreement, including all payments or monies due 

and becoming due therefrom.   

This Assignment is made as additional security for the payment of the principal of and 

interest on the Bonds and all other payments required by, and the performance of the County’s 

and Assignor’s obligations under, the Bonds and the Payment Agreement.  Notwithstanding 

anything contained herein to the contrary, this Assignment is intended to be an absolute 

assignment from Assignor to Assignee of County Payments and not merely a granting of a 

security interest. 

The acceptance of this Assignment and the collection of County Payments under the 

Payment Agreement hereby assigned shall not constitute a waiver of any rights of Assignee 

under the terms of the Bonds, the Payment Agreement or any other agreement or instrument 

executed in connection therewith.  Assignee shall not be obligated to perform or discharge any 

obligation or duty to be performed or discharged by Assignor under the Payment Agreement.   

Assignor covenants and represents that no other assignment of any interest in the County 

Payments assigned has been made, and that Assignor will not hereafter amend, alter, modify, 

cancel, surrender or terminate the Payment Agreement, exercise any option which might lead to 

any such amendment, alteration, modification, cancellation, surrender or termination or consent 

to the release of the County thereunder without the prior written consent of Assignee. 

Assignor hereby authorizes and directs the County to make all payments due under the 

Payment Agreement directly to the Assignee. 

The full performance of the Bonds and the Payment Agreement shall render this 

Assignment void. 

The net proceeds collected by Assignee under the terms of this instrument shall be 

applied in reduction of the entire indebtedness from time to time unpaid on the Bonds. 

This Assignment applies to and binds the parties hereto and their respective heirs, 

administrators, executors, successors and assigns. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Assignor has executed this Assignment Agreement as of the 

date first written above. 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND 

HOUSING AUTHORITY 

By:        

 

Chairman 

 

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE TO ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT] 

119



Attachment 3 

 3 
 

 

COUNTY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT: 

Fairfax County, Virginia, as obligor under the aforementioned Payment Agreement, 

hereby acknowledges and accepts the foregoing Assignment Agreement as executed and 

delivered by the Assignor. 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

By:       

 

County Executive 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
[COUNTY ACKNOWLEDGMENT PAGE TO ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT] 

120



Attachment 4 

28770697.3  

 

 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

Between 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

 

       Landlord, 

and 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

 

       Tenant 

relating to 

CRESCENT AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACQUISITION 

_______________________________ 

 

Dated _________ __, 2018 

 

121



Attachment 4 

 

 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT, dated __________ __, 2018 (the “Lease”), by 

and between the BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA, a 

political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia having its principal office at 12000 

Government Center Parkway, Fairfax, Virginia (the “County”), and the FAIRFAX COUNTY 

REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY, a political subdivision of the 

Commonwealth of Virginia having its principal office at 3700 Pender Drive, Suite 300, Fairfax, 

Virginia (“FCRHA”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this Lease, 

FCRHA has issued its $___________ Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority 

Revenue Bonds (Crescent Affordable Housing Acquisition) [Series 2017/2018A] (Federally 

Taxable) (the “Bonds”) to (i) refinance the outstanding portion of the Fairfax County 

Redevelopment and Housing Authority promissory note issued to Bank of America, N.A. (the 

“Bank”) as evidence of a loan (the “2015 Loan”) received by FCRHA from the Bank pursuant 

to the terms of a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) by and among the Bank, FCRHA and 

the County to refinance the outstanding Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority 

Bond Anticipation Notes (Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 2013A (Taxable) previously 

issued to refinance the outstanding Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Bond 

Anticipation Notes (Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 2011A (the “2011 Notes”).  The 

proceeds of the 2011 Notes were applied in May 2011 to refinance  bond anticipation notes 

issued in February 2008 to pay the principal amount of a bond anticipation note issued in 

February 2007, which was issued to pay the principal amount of a bond anticipation note issued 

in February 2006, for purposes of providing a portion of the purchase price of, and enabling the 

County to acquire title to, the 181-unit Crescent Apartments multi-family rental housing 

complex, including the approximately 16.5 acre site thereof, located at 1527 Cameron Crescent 

Drive in Reston, Virginia (the “Crescent Property”); and  

WHEREAS, simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this Lease, 

FCRHA has partially prepaid the rent due under this Lease by making available the proceeds of 

the Bonds, [together with other available funds], and has caused the proceeds to be applied to the 

repayment of the outstanding portion of the 2015 Loan; and 

WHEREAS, simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this Lease, the 

parties will also enter into a Payment Agreement of even date (the “Payment Agreement”) by 

the terms of which the County will agree to make payments to the Authority in amounts 

sufficient for the Authority to pay timely debt service on the Bonds and the Authority, with the 

consent of the County, will assign its rights under the Payment Agreement to the Director of 

Finance for Fairfax County, as bond registrar and paying agent for the benefit of the holders of 

the Bonds; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein 

and the sum of Ten Dollars ($10) paid by FCRHA to the County and receipt of which is hereby 

122



Attachment 4 

 

 

acknowledged by the County, the County hereby leases to FCRHA [the Crescent Property 

excluding 10 units to be controlled by the County for County purposes] (the “Property”) which 

is hereinafter identified generally and includes the parcel of land described in Exhibit A to this 

Lease and all improvements thereon, as the same may at any time exist, subject to encumbrances 

specified in Exhibit B to this lease and subject to the following terms and conditions: 

1. Term of Lease.  The term of this Lease commences on ______ 1, 20__ 

(“Effective Date”), and expires on _____ 1, 20__.   This lease terminates and replaces the Lease 

Agreement, dated February 25, 2015, as amended, entered into by and between the County and 

FCRHA relating to the Property. 

2. Rent.  The County agrees to rent the Property to FCRHA for a rental 

equal to the proceeds of the Bonds payable on the Effective Date [and an annual amount 

 payable by FCRHA to the County from the net income derived from the operation of the 

Property fifteen business days prior to each March 1, commencing on March 1, 2018, and ending 

on March 1, 20__, or on any earlier date agreed to by the County and FCRHA if this lease is 

terminated pursuant to Section 6 hereof.  Does this continue?]     

3. Purposes for which Property May Be Used.  The Property which is 

subject to this Lease may be used and occupied, and shall be operated and managed by FCRHA, 

solely for purposes authorized by and in accordance with the provisions of the Housing 

Authorities Law, Chapter 1, Title 36, of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the 

“Enabling Act”).  To that end, FCRHA hereby covenants to implement and comply with the 

terms of the resolution adopted by the Commissioners of FCRHA on July 27, 2006, with respect 

to the income limits applicable to tenants of the Property and the requirement that the Property 

be operated and maintained as a “residential building” within the meaning of the Enabling Act. 

4. Compliance with All Laws, Rules and Regulations.  The parties hereto 

represent that each will comply with all applicable, binding laws, rules and regulations, whether 

federal, Commonwealth of Virginia or County, relating to the use and occupancy of the Property. 

5. Nonassignability.  This Lease shall not be assigned by either party 

without the prior written approval of the other party. 

6. Termination.  This Lease may be terminated by the County, at its option, 

at any time prior to the expiration date after payment, or provision for payment, in full, of the 

principal of and redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds. 

7. Surrender  of  Property.  On the expiration date or upon earlier 

termination of this Lease, FCRHA shall quietly and peaceably surrender the Property.  The 

County waives any right to recover from FCRHA for any unrepaired damage to the Property 

upon such surrender. 

8. Release of a Portion of the Property.  [Notwithstanding any other 

provisions of this Lease, the parties hereto reserve the right at any time and from time to time to 

amend this Lease and the leasehold estate created hereby of (i) any portion of the Property, 

provided the Director of Public Works of the County or any person holding the highest rated 

engineering position held by the County or an independent engineer or engineering firm if so 

123



Attachment 4 

 

 

designated by the Board of Supervisors of the County provides a certificate not more than sixty 

(60) days prior to the date of the proposed release which states such release will not adversely 

affect the utility of the Property as a multi-family rental housing facility, (ii) any unimproved 

part of the Property or (iii) any part of the Property with respect to which the County proposes to 

grant an easement or convey fee title to a public utility or public body in order that utility 

services or roads or other services may be provided for the Property; provided that if at the time 

such amendment is made any portion of the Bonds is outstanding there shall be deposited with 

the bond registrar and paying agent of the Bonds the following: 

(a) A copy of the said amendment as executed; 

(b) A resolution of the Board of Supervisors of the County (i) stating that the 

County is not in default under any of the provisions of this Lease or the Payment Agreement and 

FCRHA is not to the knowledge of the County in default under any provisions of this Lease or 

the Payment Agreement, (ii) giving an adequate legal description of that portion of the Property 

to be released and (iii) stating the purpose for which the County desires the release; and 

(c) A certificate showing that FCRHA has approved such amendment and 

stating FCRHA is not in default under any provisions of this Lease or the Payment Agreement.] 

[any need for surrender of property provision like in Wedgewood (Section 8) 

9. Limitation of Liability of FCRHA.  [The obligations of FCRHA 

hereunder are not general obligations of FCRHA but are limited obligations payable solely from 

the proceeds of the Bonds and certain income derived from the operation of the Property.] 

10. Limitation of Personal Liability.  No covenant, condition or agreement 

contained herein shall be deemed to be a covenant, agreement or obligation of any present or 

future supervisor, commissioner, officer, employee or agent of the County or FCRHA in his or 

her individual capacity, nor shall any supervisor, commissioner, officer, employee or agent of the 

County or FCRHA incur any personal liability with respect to any other action pursuant to this  

Lease, provided such supervisor, commissioner, officer, employee or agent acts in good faith. 

11. Insurance.  Insurance will be provided by the parties in accordance with 

Exhibit C. 

12. Governing Law.  The laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia govern the 

validity, interpretation, construction, and performance of this Lease. 

13. Amendments.  This Lease shall not be amended, changed or modified 

except by a written instrument duly executed by the parties hereto.   

14. Severability.  If any provision of this Lease is declared to be invalid by a 

court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

[The rest of this page has been left blank intentionally]

124



Attachment 4 

 

 

 

     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Lease under Seal as of the 

day and year first written above. 

 

 

[SEAL]     BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

      FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

___________________________  By: ________________________ 

 ________________                         _________________ 

  Clerk                County Executive 

       

 

 

 

 

[SEAL]     FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT 

      AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

___________________________  By: ________________________ 

     ________________                   ___________________ 

    Assistant Secretary             Chairman 

125



Attachment 4 

 

 

Exhibit A 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

Property To Be Leased By 

 

Board of Supervisors of 

Fairfax County, Virginia 

to 

Fairfax County Redevelopment and 

Housing Authority 

 

126



Attachment 4 

 

 

Exhibit B 

 

PERMITTED ENCUMBRANCES 

 

 “Permitted Encumbrances” shall mean, as of any particular time: 

127



Attachment 4 

 

 

Exhibit C 

 

INSURANCE 

128



Attachment 5 

 

1 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 

 This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the “Disclosure Agreement”) is executed and 

delivered by Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”) in connection with the issuance by the 

Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority (“FCRHA”) of its $__________ Revenue 

Bonds (Crescent Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series [2017/2018A] (Federally Taxable) (the 

“Bonds”) issued pursuant to the provisions of a resolution adopted on _______ __, 2017 by 

FCRHA.  The proceeds of the Bonds are being used to provide funds, which together with other 

funds, are sufficient to (i) refinance the outstanding portion of the Fairfax County 

Redevelopment and Housing Authority promissory note issued to Bank of America, N.A. (the 

“Bank”) as evidence of a loan received by FCRHA from the Bank pursuant to the terms of a loan 

agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) by and among the Bank, FCRHA and the County to 

refinance the outstanding Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Bond 

Anticipation Notes (Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 2013A (Taxable) previously issued 

to refinance the outstanding Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Bond 

Anticipation Notes (Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 2011A (the “2011 Notes”).  The 

proceeds of the 2011 Notes were applied in May 2011 to refinance  bond anticipation notes 

issued in February 2008 to pay the principal amount of a bond anticipation note issued in 

February 2007, which was issued to pay the principal amount of a bond anticipation note issued 

in February 2006, for purposes of providing a portion of the purchase price of, and enabling the 

County to acquire title to, the 181-unit Crescent Apartments multi-family rental housing 

complex, including the approximately 16.5 acre site thereof, located at 1527 Cameron Crescent 

Drive in Reston, Virginia (the “Property” and (ii) pay certain costs of issuance of the Bonds.  

The County hereby covenants and agrees as follows: 

 SECTION 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement.  This Disclosure Agreement is 

being executed and delivered by the County acting on behalf of itself and the Authority, for the 

benefit of the holders of the Bonds and in order to assist the Participating Underwriters (defined 

below) in complying with the Rule (defined below).  Under the Rule, the County is an “obligated 

person.”  The County acknowledges that it is undertaking responsibility for any reports, notices 

or disclosures that may be required under this Disclosure Agreement. 

SECTION 2. Definitions.  Any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement 

unless otherwise defined in this Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the following 

meanings: 

“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the County pursuant to, and 

as described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement. 

“Dissemination Agent” shall mean the County, acting in its capacity as Dissemination 

Agent hereunder, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the County and 

which has filed with the County a written acceptance of such designation. 

“Filing Date” shall have the meaning given to such term in Section 3(a) hereof. 

129



Attachment 5 
 

2 

“Fiscal Year” shall mean the twelve month period at the end of which financial position 

and results of operations are determined.  Currently, the County’s Fiscal Year begins July 1 and 

continues through June 30 of the next calendar year. 

“Holder” or “holder” shall mean, for purposes of this Disclosure Agreement, any person 

who is a record owner or beneficial owner of the Bonds. 

“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in subsection (b)(5)(i)(C) of the Rule, 

which are as follows: 

(1)  principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

(2)  non-payment related defaults; if material; 

(3)  unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

(4)  unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

(5)  substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

(6)  adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or 

final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 570-TEB) or other 

material notices or determinations with respect to or events affecting the tax status of the Bonds; 

(7)  modifications to rights of holders, if material; 

(8)  bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

(9)  defeasances; 

(10)  release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if 

material; 

(11)  rating changes; 

(12)  bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the County; 

(13)  the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the County 

or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the County, other than in the ordinary course 

of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination 

of a definitive agreement relating any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; 

and 

(14)  appointment of a successor or additional paying agent or the change of name of a 

paying agent, if material.  

“Participating Underwriters” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the Bonds 

required to comply with the Rule in connection with the offering of such Bonds. 

130



Attachment 5 
 

3 

“Repository” shall mean The Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system 

administered by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.  EMMA is recognized as a 

National Repository for purposes of the Rule. 

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission 

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time. 

SECTION 3. Provision of Annual Reports. 

A. The County shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, provide to the 

Repository an Annual Report which is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this 

Disclosure Agreement.  Such Annual Report shall be filed on a date (the “Filing Date”) that is 

not later than March 31 after the end of any Fiscal Year (commencing with its Fiscal Year 

ending June 30, 2018).  Not later than ten (10) days prior to the Filing Date, the County shall 

provide the Annual Report to the Dissemination Agent (if applicable).  In such case, the Annual 

Report (i) may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a 

package, (ii) may cross-reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure 

Agreement, and (iii) shall include the County’s audited financial statements or, if audited 

financial statements are not available, such unaudited financial statements as may be required by 

the Rule.  In any event, audited financial statements of the County must be submitted, if and 

when available, together with or separately from the Annual Report. 

B. The annual financial statements of the County shall be prepared on the basis of 

generally accepted accounting principles and will be audited.  Copies of the audited annual 

financial statements, which may be filed separately from the Annual Report, will be filed with 

the Repository when they become publicly available. 

C. If the County fails to provide an Annual Report to the Repository by the date 

required in subsection (A) hereto or to file its audited annual financial statements with the 

Repository when they become publicly available, the County shall send a notice to the 

Repository in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

SECTION 4. Content of Annual Reports.  Except as otherwise agreed, any Annual 

Report required to be filed hereunder shall contain or incorporate by reference, at a minimum, 

annual financial information relating to the County, including operating data, updating such 

information relating to the County as described in Exhibit A, all with a view toward assisting the 

Participating Underwriters in complying with the Rule. 

Any or all of such information may be incorporated by reference from other documents, 

including official statements of securities issues with respect to which the County is an 

“obligated person” (within the meaning of the Rule), which have been filed with the Repository 

or the Securities and Exchange Commission.  If the document incorporated by reference is a final 

official statement, it must be available from the Repository.  The County shall clearly identify 

each such other document so incorporated by reference. 

SECTION 5. Reporting of Listed Events.  The County will provide within 10 business 

days to the Repository notice of any of the Listed Events. 

131



Attachment 5 
 

4 

SECTION 6. Termination of Reporting Obligation.  The County’s obligations under this 

Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the earlier to occur of the legal defeasance and the 

final retirement of all the Bonds. 

SECTION 7. Dissemination Agent.  The County may, from time to time, appoint or 

engage a Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure 

Agreement and may discharge any such Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a 

successor Dissemination Agent.  If at any time there is not any other designated Dissemination 

Agent, the County shall be the Dissemination Agent. 

SECTION 8. Amendment.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure 

Agreement, the County may amend this Disclosure Agreement, if such amendment is supported 

by an opinion of independent counsel with expertise in federal securities laws, to the effect that 

such amendment is permitted or required by the Rule. 

SECTION 9. Additional Information.  Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be 

deemed to prevent the County from disseminating any other information, using the means of 

dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, or 

including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, 

in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Agreement.  If the County chooses to 

include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in 

addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement, the County shall 

have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update such information or include it in 

any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event. 

SECTION 10. Default.  Any person referred to in Section 11 (other than the County) may 

take such action as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific 

performance by court order, to cause the County to file its Annual Report or to give notice of a 

Listed Event.  The holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds 

outstanding may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking 

mandate or specific performance by court order, to challenge the adequacy of any information 

provided pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement, or to enforce any other obligation of the County 

hereunder.  A default under this Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed an event of default 

under any authorizing, or the Bonds, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Agreement in the 

event of any failure of the County to comply herewith shall be an action to compel performance.  

Nothing in this provision shall be deemed to restrict the rights or remedies of any holder pursuant 

to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, or 

other applicable laws. 

SECTION 11.  Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit 

of the County, the Participating Underwriters, and holders from time to time of the Bonds, and 

shall create no rights in any other person or entity. 

Date:  __________ __, 2018 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

132



Attachment 5 
 

5 

By: ______________________________ 

        Chief Financial Officer

133



Attachment 5 

 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

CONTENT OF ANNUAL REPORT 

Respecting Fairfax County, Virginia  

(a) Financial Information.  Updated information concerning General Fund 

revenues, expenditures, categories of expenditures, fund balances, assessed value of taxable 

property, tax rates, major taxpayers, and tax levies and collections. 

(b) Debt Information.  Updated information concerning general obligation bonds 

indebtedness, including bonds authorized and unissued, bonds outstanding, the ratios of debt to 

the market value of taxable property, debt per capita, and debt service as a percentage of General 

Fund disbursements. 

(c) Demographic Information.  Updated demographic information respecting the 

County, such as its population, public school enrollment and per pupil expenditure. 

(d) Economic Information.  Updated economic information respecting the County 

such as income, employment, unemployment, building permits and taxable sales data. 

(e) Retirement Plans.  Updated information respecting pension and retirement plans 

for County employees, including a summary of membership, revenues, expenses and actuarial 

valuation(s) of such plans. 

(f) Contingent Liabilities.  A summary of material litigation and other material 

contingent liabilities pending against the County. 

 In general, the foregoing will include information as of the end of the most recent fiscal 

year or as of the most recent practicable date.  Where information for the fiscal year just ended is 

provided, it may be preliminary and unaudited.  Where information has historically been 

provided for more than a single period, comparable information will in general be provided for 

the same number of periods where valid and available.  Where comparative demographic or 

economic information for the County and the United States as a whole is contemporaneously 

available and, in the judgment of the County, informative, such information may be included.  

Where, in the judgment of the County, an accompanying narrative is required to make data 

presented not misleading, such narrative will be provided. 

134



Attachment 5 

 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

NOTICE OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 

[AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS] 

Re: FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE BONDS (AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACQUISITION) 

[SERIES 2017/2018A] (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

 

 

CUSIP NOS.   ___-___ 

Dated: _________ __, 20__ 

 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that Fairfax County, Virginia has not provided an Annual 

Report [Audited Annual Financial Statements] as required by Section 3 of the Continuing 

Disclosure Agreement, which was entered into in connection with the above-named bonds.  [The 

County anticipates that the Annual Report [Audited Annual Financial Statements] will be filed 

by ___________.] 

Dated: ________________ 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

By: _______________________________ 

Title: 

135



Attachment 6 

 

 

 

 

UNLESS THIS CERTIFICATE IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED 

REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY, A NEW YORK 

CORPORATION (“DTC”), TO THE FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OR ITS AGENT FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, 

EXCHANGE, OR PAYMENT, AND ANY CERTIFICATE ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN 

THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR IN SUCH OTHER NAME AS IS REQUESTED BY AN 

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC (AND ANY PAYMENT IS MADE TO 

CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN 

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR 

OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS 

WRONGFUL INASMUCH AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., 

HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN. 

R-1  $____________ 
 

United States of America 

Commonwealth of Virginia 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE BOND (CRESCENT AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACQUISITION) 

SERIES[2017A/2018A] (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

 

INTEREST RATE  MATURITY DATE  DATED DATE    CUSIP  

         ______%  _______ 1, 20__  ______ __, 20__   ____ __ 

 

REGISTERED HOLDER: CEDE & CO.  

 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: _____________________ DOLLARS ($________) 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY (the 

“Authority”) for value received, promises to pay, solely from the sources specifically identified 

herein to the Holder named above the Principal Amount stated above on the Maturity Date and to 

pay solely from such sources, interest on such Principal Amount on each April 1 and October 1, 

commencing October 1, 2018, at the rate per annum specified above.  This Bond shall bear 

interest from their Dated Date.  The principal and interest so payable on this Bond will be paid to 

the Holder, at the office of the Director of the Department of Finance of Fairfax County, Virginia 

as paying agent and bond registrar for this Bond (the “Bond Registrar”), in Fairfax County, 

Virginia (the “County”).  Both the principal of and the interest, calculated on the basis of a 360-

day year consisting of twelve 30-day months, on this Bond shall be payable in any coin or 

currency of the United States of America which is legal tender for the payment of public and 

private debts on the respective dates of payment thereof.  The interest so payable and punctually 

136



Attachment 6 

 

 

 2 

 

 

paid or duly provided for on any interest payment date will, be paid by wire transfer, at the 

discretion of the Bond Registrar or by check mailed to the person in whose name this Bond is 

registered at the close of business on the regular record date for such interest, which shall be the 

March 15 or September 15 (whether or not a business day) next preceding such interest payment 

date.  Any such interest not so punctually paid or duly provided for shall forthwith cease to be 

payable to the registered owner on such regular record date, and may be paid to the person in 

whose name this Bond (or any Predecessor Bond) is registered at the close of business on a 

special record date for the payment of such defaulted interest to be fixed by the Bond Registrar, 

notice whereof being given by the Bond Registrar by mail to the registered owners not less than 

10 days prior to such special record date, or may be paid at any time in any other lawful manner 

not inconsistent with the requirements of any securities exchange on which the Bonds of this 

series may be listed and upon such notice as may be required by such exchange, or as more fully 

provided in the Resolution (defined below).  Such payment of interest shall be by check mailed 

to the registered owner at such owner’s address as it appears on the bond registration books of 

the County maintained by the Bond Registrar and shall be made in any coin or currency of the 

united States of America which on the date of payment thereof is legal tender for the payment of 

public and private debts. 

 

This Bond and the bonds of the series of which it is one (the “Bonds”) are authorized and 

issued by the Authority pursuant to the Housing Authorities Law, Chapter 1, Title 36, of the 

Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, and other applicable law, and a resolution duly adopted 

by the Authority on ____ __, 2017 (the “Resolution”) to provide funds, which together with 

other funds, are sufficient to (i) refinance the outstanding portion of the Fairfax County 

Redevelopment and Housing Authority promissory note issued to Bank of America, N.A. as 

evidence of a loan (the “2015 Loan”) received by FCRHA from the Bank pursuant to the terms 

of a loan agreement by and among the Bank, FCRHA and the County to refinance the 

outstanding Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Bond Anticipation Notes 

(Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 2013A (Taxable) previously issued to refinance the 

outstanding Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Bond Anticipation Notes 

(Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 2011A (the “2011 Notes”).  The proceeds of the 2011 

Notes were applied in May 2011 to refinance  bond anticipation notes issued in February 2008 to 

pay the principal amount of a bond anticipation note issued in February 2007, which was issued 

to pay the principal amount of a bond anticipation note issued in February 2006, for purposes of 

providing a portion of the purchase price of, and enabling the County to acquire title to, the 181-

unit Crescent Apartments multi-family rental housing complex, including the approximately 16.5 

acre site thereof, located at 1527 Cameron Crescent Drive in Reston, Virginia (the “Property”) 

and (ii) pay certain costs of issuance of the Bonds. 

These Bonds are limited obligations of the Authority and payable from payments made 

under a Payment Agreement, dated as of _______ __, 2018 between the Authority and the 

County (the “Payment Agreement”) pursuant to which the County has agreed to make payments 

in amounts sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds (“County Payments”).  

The County’s obligation to make payments under the Payment Agreement in any fiscal year of 

the County is subject to and contingent upon the annual appropriation of funds by the Board of 

Supervisors of the County for such purpose but is otherwise unconditional.  In an Assignment 

Agreement, dated as of ______ __, 2018, the Authority has assigned to the Bond Registrar its 

137



Attachment 6 

 

 

 3 

 

 

rights under the Payment Agreement, including its rights to receive County Payments and its 

right to enforce the provisions of the Payment Agreement.   

THIS BOND AND THE INTEREST THEREON ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF 

THE AUTHORITY, PAYABLE SOLELY FROM REVENUES, RECEIPTS AND SECURITY 

PLEDGED THEREFOR UNDER THE PAYMENT AGREEMENT.  NEITHER THE 

COMMISSIONERS OF THE AUTHORITY NOR ANY PERSON EXECUTING THIS BOND 

SHALL BE LIABLE PERSONALLY ON THIS BOND BY REASON OF THE ISSUANCE 

THEREOF.  THIS BOND SHALL NOT BE A DEBT OF THE COUNTY, THE 

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA (THE “COMMONWEALTH”) OR ANY POLITICAL 

SUBDIVISION THEREOF (OTHER THAN THE AUTHORITY), AND NEITHER THE 

COUNTY NOR THE COMMONWEALTH OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF 

(OTHER THAN THE AUTHORITY) SHALL BE LIABLE THEREON, NOR IN ANY EVENT 

SHALL THIS BOND BE PAYABLE OUT OF ANY FUNDS OR PROPERTIES OTHER 

THAN THOSE OF THE AUTHORITY PLEDGED THEREFOR PURSUANT TO THE 

RESOLUTION AND PAYMENT AGREEMENT.  THIS BOND SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE 

AN INDEBTEDNESS WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR 

STATUTORY DEBT LIMITATION OR RESTRICTION.  THE AUTHORITY HAS NO 

TAXING POWER. 

The Bond Registrar shall keep at its office the books for the registration of transfer of the 

Bonds.  The transfer of these Bonds may be registered only upon such books and  upon the 

surrender hereof to the Bond Registrar together with an assignment duly executed by the 

registered owner hereof or his attorney or legal representative in such form as shall be 

satisfactory to the Bond Registrar.  Upon any such registration of transfer, the Bond Registrar 

shall deliver in exchange for this Bond a new Bond or Bonds, registered in the name of the 

transferee, of authorized denominations, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the 

unredeemed principal amount of this Bond, of the same series and maturity and bearing interest 

at the same rate.   

The Bonds are issuable in fully registered form in the denomination of $5,000 or any 

multiple thereof.  At the office of the Bond Registrar, in the manner and subject to the conditions 

provided in the Resolution, bonds may be exchanged for an equal aggregate principal amount of 

bonds of the same series and maturity, of authorized denominations and bearing interest at the 

same rate. 

[The Bonds which mature on or before ________ 1, 20__ are not subject to optional 

redemption before maturity.  Bonds which mature after _____ 1, 20__ may be redeemed, at the 

option of the Authority, before their respective maturities on any date not earlier than _____ 1, 

20__, in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000), upon payment of the redemption price 

of par plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

 The Bonds maturing on ________ 1, 20__ and _____ 1, 20__ are required to be 

redeemed on in accordance with the sinking fund requirements set forth below.  Such redemption 

shall be at the principal amount set forth below, plus accrued interest to the redemption date, and 

without premium: 

138



Attachment 6 

 

 

 4 

 

 

 

_______ 1  Principal Amount _________ 1 Principal Amount 

20__ $ 20__ $ 

20__  20__   

20__*  20__*   
    

* Final Maturity    

 

The Bonds are also subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption (“Extraordinary 

Mandatory Redemption”) in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000) on any date after 

_________ __, 20__, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount redeemed thereof, 

together with the interest accrued to the redemption date on the principal amount to be redeemed, 

within six months from the date of the sale by the County of all or any portion of the Property.  

Upon the sale of a portion of the Property, the Bonds to be redeemed shall be the pro rata portion 

of the Bonds (such portion to be rounded up to the next $5,000 increment) allocable to that 

portion of the Property.] 

 

If less than all of the Bonds of any one maturity shall be called for Extraordinary 

Mandatory Redemption, the particular Bonds or portions of Bonds of such maturities to be 

redeemed shall be selected pursuant to a pro-rata allocation; provided, however, that the portion 

of any Bond to be redeemed shall be in the principal amount of $5,000 or some multiple thereof 

and that, in selecting Bonds for redemption, the Bond Registrar shall treat each Bond as 

representing that number of Bonds which is obtained by dividing the principal amount of such 

Bond by $5,000.   If less than all of the Bonds of any one maturity shall be called for optional 

redemption, the particular Bonds or portions of Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed shall be 

selected by lot by the Bond Registrar in such manner as the Bond Registrar in its discretion may 

determine; provided, however, that the portion of any bond to be redeemed shall be in the 

principal amount of $5,000 or some multiple thereof and that, in selecting Bonds for redemption, 

the Bond Registrar shall treat each Bond as representing that number of bonds which is obtained 

by dividing the principal amount of such bond by $5,000. 

Not more than sixty (60) nor less than thirty (30) days before the redemption date of any 

bonds to be redeemed, whether such redemption be in whole or in part, the Authority shall cause 

a notice of such redemption to be filed with the Bond Registrar and to be mailed, postage 

prepaid, to the registered owner of each bond to be redeemed in whole or in part at his address 

appearing upon the registration books of the Bond Registrar, but failure to mail such notice or 

any defect therein shall not affect the validity of the redemption.  If a portion of this Bond shall 

be called for redemption, a new bond or bonds in principal amount equal to the unredeemed 

portion hereof will be issued to the registered owner hereof or his legal representative upon the 

surrender hereof.   

Any notice of optional redemption of the Bonds may state that it is conditioned upon 

there being available an amount of money sufficient to pay the redemption price plus interest 

139



Attachment 6 

 

 

 5 

 

 

accrued and unpaid to the redemption date, and any conditional notice so given may be rescinded 

at any time before the payment of the redemption price if any such condition so specified is not 

satisfied.  If a redemption does not occur after a conditional notice is given due to an insufficient 

amount of funds on deposit with the Bond Registrar, the corresponding notice of redemption 

shall be deemed to be revoked. 

If the Authority causes the Bond Registrar to give an unconditional notice of redemption, 

then on the redemption date the Bonds called for redemption will become due and payable.  If 

the Authority causes the Bond Registrar to give a conditional notice of redemption, and the 

amount of money to pay the redemption price of the affected Bonds shall have been set aside 

with the Trustee or a depositary (either, a “depositary”) for the purpose of paying such Bonds, 

then on the redemption date the Bonds will become due and payable.  In either case, if on the 

redemption date the Bond Registrar holds sufficient money to pay the Bonds called for 

redemption, thereafter no interest will accrue on those Bonds, and a bondholder’s only right will 

be to receive payment of the redemption price upon surrender of those Bonds. 

Modifications or alterations of the Payment Agreement may be made only to the extent 

and in the circumstances permitted therein. 

This Bonds is issued with the intent that the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia shall 

govern its construction. 

All acts, conditions and things required to happen, exist and be performed precedent to 

and in the issuance of the Bonds have happened, exist and have been performed as so required. 

The Bonds shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any 

benefit or security under the Resolution or Payment Agreement until it shall have been 

authenticated by the execution by the Bond Registrar of the certificate of authentication endorsed 

hereon. 

 

  

140



Attachment 6 

 

 

 6 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority 

has caused this Bond to be executed by the facsimile or manual signature of its Chairman, Vice-

Chairman, Executive Director or Deputy Executive Director, its seal to be affixed on this Bond 

and attested by the facsimile or manual signature of its Assistant Secretary. 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND 

HOUSING AUTHORITY 

By:   

Chairman,                      

Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority 

 

ATTEST: 

By: ________________________ 

Assistant Secretary, 

Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority 

141



Attachment 6 

 

 

 7 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This Bond is one of the Bonds issued pursuant to the within-mentioned Resolution. 

 

    Director of the Department of Finance of  

     Fairfax County, Virginia as Bond Registrar 

 

      

      By_________________________________ 

         Authorized Signature 

Date of authentication: 

 

 

 

______ 20, 2018 

142



Attachment 6 

 

8 

 

 

 

 

ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned registered owner hereby sells, assigns and 

transfers unto 

Please insert social security or 

other identifying number of assignee 

________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 

   (Please Print or Typewrite Name and Address of Transferee) 

the within bond, and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and 

appoints _______________________________ attorney to register the transfer of the within 

bond on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises. 

Dated:________________________     ________________________ 

 

NOTICE:  The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as it appears 

upon the face of the within bond in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any 

change whatever. 

Signature Guaranteed* by:                 

*Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an “eligible guarantor institution” meeting the requirements 

of the Bond Registrar which requirements will include membership or participation in 

STAMP or such other “signature guarantee program” as may be determined by the Bond 

Registrar in addition to, or in substitution for, STAMP, all in accordance with the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

143



Attachment 7 

 

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

$__________ 

FAIRFAX COUNTY (VIRGINIA) REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE BONDS (CRESCENT AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACQUISITION) 

[SERIES 2017/2018A (FEDERALLY TAXABLE)] 

_____ __, 2018 

Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority 

3700 Pender Dr. 

Fairfax, Virginia 22030 

The undersigned, Morgan Stanley & Co, LLC (the “Representative”), on its own behalf 

and on behalf of Raymond James (collectively, the “Underwriters” and each an “Underwriter”), 

hereby agrees to purchase the above-captioned bonds (the “Bonds”) from the Fairfax County 

Redevelopment and Housing Authority (the “Authority”) pursuant to the terms and conditions of 

this Bond Purchase Agreement (this “Agreement”). 

The Bonds are to be authorized and issued pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the 

Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Commonwealth”), including the Housing Authorities Law, 

Chapter 1, Title 36, of the Code of Virginia of 1950 (the “Enabling Act”), and  a resolution duly 

adopted by the Authority on ______ __, 2017 (the “Authority Resolution”).  The Board of 

Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia (the “Board of Supervisors”) requested that the 

Authority issue the Bonds pursuant to a resolution adopted on ____ _, 2017 (the “County 

Resolution”). 

This offer is made subject to (i) the acceptance hereof by the Authority and the approval 

hereof by Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”), evidenced by each party’s execution and 

delivery (manually or by facsimile or electronic (PDF) transmission) of this Agreement (or the 

signature page) to the Representative or counsel to the Underwriters, at or prior to 5:00 p.m., 

Eastern Time, today, and (ii) receipt by the Underwriters at or prior to 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, 

today, of the Letter of Representation of the County (the “Letter of Representation”) 

substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, which must be duly executed and 

delivered by an authorized official of the County, evidenced as in the case of the execution and 

delivery of this Agreement.  If not so accepted, this offer shall expire upon written notice sent by 

the Representative to the Authority or the County at any time prior to acceptance. 

Capitalized terms used in this Agreement and not otherwise defined shall have the 

meanings ascribed to them in the Preliminary Official Statement (as defined herein). 

Section 1. Offer and Sale of Bonds; Public Offering; Good Faith Deposit 

(a) On the basis of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements 

contained in this Agreement (including the Letter of Representation), and in the other agreements 

referred to herein, and subject to the terms and conditions described in this Agreement, the 

Underwriters agree, jointly and severally, to purchase all the Bonds for the sum of 

144



Attachment 7 

 

2 

$___________, representing the par amount of the Bonds ($___________), plus net original 

issue premium of $__________, less an underwriting discount of $__________.  

The Bonds shall be dated their date of issuance and shall be payable as to principal and 

interest in years and amounts and at rates as shown on Exhibit A. 

(b) The Underwriters acknowledge that neither the County nor the Authority has 

authorized or consented to any of the following: 

(i) the sale of the Bonds to any purchaser in connection with the initial public 

offering of the Bonds unless a copy of the Official Statement (as defined herein) is 

delivered to such purchaser not later than the settlement of such transaction; 

(ii) the offer or sale of Bonds in any jurisdiction where any such offer or sale 

would be in violation of such jurisdiction’s securities or “Blue Sky” laws; 

(iii) making any representations or providing any information to prospective 

purchasers of the Bonds in connection with the offering and sale of the Bonds other than 

the information set forth in the Preliminary Official Statement, the Official Statement and 

any amendment thereto approved in writing by the County and the Authority; or 

(iv) any actions in connection with the offering and sale of the Bonds in 

violation of applicable requirements of federal and state securities laws and any 

applicable requirements of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”) or the 

Financial Industry Regulatory Authority.  The Underwriters agree that in their offering of 

the Bonds they will comply with the applicable rules of the MSRB. 

(c) The Underwriters agree to make a bona fide public offering of the Bonds at the 

initial offering prices or yields set forth on the inside page (i) of the Official Statement of the 

Authority; provided, however, the Underwriters reserve the right to change such initial public 

offering prices as the Underwriters deem necessary or desirable, in their sole discretion, in 

connection with the marketing of the Bonds, and may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers, 

unit investment trusts and money market funds, certain of which may be sponsored or managed 

by one or more of the Underwriters at prices lower than the public offering prices or yields 

greater than the yields set forth therein.   

(d) On the date hereof, the sum of $_______ being payment in good faith on account 

of the purchase price of the Bonds (collectively, the “Good Faith Deposit”), shall be delivered by 

wire transfer from the Underwriters to the account identified by the County.  The Good Faith 

Deposit represents approximately 1% of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds provided in 

the Preliminary Official Statement.  If the Authority does not accept this offer, such Good Faith 

Deposit shall be immediately returned to the Underwriters by wire transfer to the account 

designated by the Underwriters.  If the Underwriters fail (other than for a reason permitted 

herein) to accept and pay for the Bonds on the Closing Date (as defined herein) as herein 

provided, the amount of such Good Faith Deposit plus any interest earned thereon shall be 

retained by the Authority as and for liquidated damages for such failure and for any defaults 

hereunder on the part of the Underwriters, and such retention shall constitute a full release and 

discharge of all claims by the Authority and the County against the Underwriters arising out of 

145



Attachment 7 

 

3 

the transactions contemplated hereby.  In the event of the Authority’s failure to tender delivery of 

the Bonds on the Closing Date, or if the Authority or the County shall be unable to satisfy the 

conditions to the obligations of the Underwriters contained herein (unless such conditions are 

waived by the Underwriters), or if the obligations of the Underwriters shall be terminated for any 

reason permitted herein, the Authority shall immediately return to the Underwriters the Good 

Faith Deposit, plus any interest earned by the Authority on said sum from the date hereof to the 

date of return of the Good Faith Deposit, by wire transfer of immediately available funds. 

Section 2. Official Statement 

The Authority hereby deems the Preliminary Official Statement, dated _____ __, 2018, 

relating to the Bonds (the “Preliminary Official Statement”), to be final as of its date within the 

meaning of Rule 15c2-12 (“Rule 15c2-12”) of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 

“SEC”), except for the omission of pricing and other information allowed to be omitted pursuant 

to Rule 15c2-12.  The Authority will take all proper steps to complete the Preliminary Official 

Statement as an Official Statement in final form, including the completion of all information 

required pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 (the “Official Statement”).  The execution of the Official 

Statement in final form by the Authority’s Chairman or Vice Chairman shall be conclusive 

evidence that the Authority has deemed it final as of its date.  The Authority shall arrange for the 

delivery within seven business days of the date hereof and, in any event not later than two 

business days before the Closing Date, the Official Statement in final form (which need not be 

manually executed) to the Underwriters for delivery to each potential investor requesting a copy 

of the Official Statement and to each purchaser to which the Underwriters initially sell the 

Bonds. 

The Underwriters agree that a copy of the Official Statement will be deposited before the 

“end of the underwriting period” (as defined herein) with the MSRB. 

The Authority shall prepare the Official Statement, including any amendments thereto, in 

word-searchable PDF format as described in MSRB Rule G-32 and shall provide the electronic 

copy of the word-searchable PDF format of the Official Statement to the Underwriters no later 

than one business day prior to the Closing Date to enable the Underwriters to comply with 

MSRB Rule G-32. 

Section 3. Authority’s Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Agreements 

The Authority hereby represents, warrants, covenants and agrees as follows: 

(a) The Authority is, and will be at the Closing Time (as defined herein), (i) a 

political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia created by the Enabling Act and (ii) 

authorized to adopt the Authority Resolution and to perform its obligations under the Bonds, the 

Payment Agreement, dated as of _______ 1, 2018, by and between the Authority and the County 

(the “Payment Agreement”) and this Agreement (collectively, the “Authority Documents”). 

(b) The Authority has complied with all provisions of the Commonwealth’s 

constitution and laws pertaining to the Authority’s issuing, adopting or entering into the 

Authority Documents and has full power and authority to consummate all transactions 

146



Attachment 7 

 

4 

contemplated by the Authority Documents and the Official Statement and any and all other 

agreements relating thereto to which the Authority is a party. 

(c) As of the date of the Preliminary Official Statement, at the time of the Authority’s 

acceptance of this Agreement and (unless an event occurs of the nature described in Section 4(h) 

below) at all subsequent times up to and including the Closing Time, the information contained 

in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement (except for the information 

contained under the headings “THE COUNTY,” [“THE SERIES 2018 BONDS – Book-Entry 

Only System”] and “TAX MATTERS” and Appendices A, B, C and D) and in any amendment 

or supplement thereto that the Authority may authorize for use with respect to the Bonds was, is 

and will be true and correct and did not contain, does not contain and will not contain any untrue 

statement of a material fact and does not omit and will not omit to state a material fact necessary 

to make the statements in such document, in the light of the circumstances under which they 

were made, not misleading.  If the Official Statement is supplemented or amended pursuant to 

Section 4(h) below, at the time of each supplement or amendment thereto and (unless 

subsequently again supplemented or amended pursuant to such Section 4(h)) at all times 

subsequent thereto up to and including the Closing Time, the Authority shall take all steps 

necessary to ensure that the Official Statement (excluding under the headings “THE 

COUNTY,” [“THE SERIES 2018 BONDS – Book-Entry Only System”] and “TAX 

MATTERS” and Appendices A, B, C and D) as so supplemented or amended does not contain 

any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 

statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 

misleading. 

(d) The Authority has duly adopted and authorized, at one or more public meetings 

duly called and held at which quorums were present and acting throughout, (i) the distribution 

and use of the Official Statement; (ii) the adoption or the execution, delivery and due 

performance of the Authority Documents and any and all such other agreements and documents 

as may be required to be executed and delivered by the Authority in order to carry out, give 

effect to and consummate the transactions contemplated by the Authority Documents and by the 

Official Statement; and (iii) the carrying out, giving effect to and consummation of the 

transactions contemplated by the Authority Documents and the Official Statement.  Upon the 

Closing Date, the Authority shall have duly adopted or authorized, executed and delivered each 

Authority Document and the Official Statement. 

(e) Except as and to the extent described in the Preliminary Official Statement and 

the Official Statement, there is no action, proceeding or investigation before or by any court or 

other public body pending or, to the Authority’s knowledge, threatened against or affecting the 

Authority or any Authority officer or employee in an official capacity (or, to the Authority’s 

knowledge, any basis therefor), wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would 

materially adversely affect (i) the transactions contemplated or described herein or in the Official 

Statement, or the validity of the Authority Documents or of any other agreement or instrument to 

which the Authority is or is expected to be a party and which is used or contemplated for use in 

the consummation of the transactions contemplated or described herein or in or by the Official 

Statement, or (ii) the condition of the Authority, financial or otherwise. 

147



Attachment 7 

 

5 

(f) The Authority’s adoption or execution and delivery of the Authority Documents 

and other agreements contemplated by the Authority Documents and by the Official Statement, 

and compliance with the provisions thereof, will not constitute on the Authority’s part a breach 

of or a default under any existing law, court or administrative regulation, decree or order or any 

contract, agreement, loan or other instrument to which the Authority is subject or by which the 

Authority is or may be bound.  No event has occurred or is continuing that, with the lapse of time 

or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute an event of default under any such agreement, 

including the Authority Documents. 

(g) The Authority will not take or omit to take any action the taking or omission of 

which will in any way cause the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to be applied in a manner 

other than as described in the Official Statement and as permitted by the Authority Resolution or 

the Authority Documents or that would cause the interest on the Bonds to be includable for 

Commonwealth income tax purposes. 

(h) If between the date of this Agreement and the date that is 25 days after the “end of 

the underwriting period,” as defined below, any event shall occur that might or would cause the 

Official Statement, as then supplemented or amended (except for the information related to 

book-entry only), to contain any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material 

fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they 

were made, not misleading, the Authority shall promptly notify the Underwriters and the County.  

If, in the opinion of the Underwriters, such event requires the preparation and publication of a 

supplement or amendment to the Official Statement, the Authority shall at its expense 

supplement or amend the Official Statement in a form and in a manner approved by the 

Underwriters. 

The “end of the underwriting period” is the time that is the later of (i) the Closing Time 

and (ii) the time the Underwriters do not retain, directly or as members of an underwriting 

syndicate, an unsold balance of the Bonds for sale to the public.  Unless the Underwriters shall 

otherwise advise the Authority in writing prior to the Closing Date, the Authority may assume 

that the end of the underwriting period is the Closing Time. 

(i) The Authority is not required to obtain any further consent, approval, 

authorization or order of any governmental or regulatory authority as a condition precedent to its 

adoption or authorization, execution and delivery of the Bonds, the Authority Documents or the 

Official Statement, or the Authority’s performance hereunder and thereunder (provided no 

representation or warranty is expressed as to any action required under federal or state securities 

or Blue Sky laws in connection with the Underwriters’ offers or sales of the Bonds). 

(j) Any certificate signed by any Authority officer and delivered to the Underwriters 

shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the Authority to the Underwriters as to the 

statements made therein. 

(k) The Authority agrees to take all reasonable steps as requested to cooperate with 

the Underwriters and their counsel in order to qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the 

securities or “Blue Sky” laws of such jurisdictions of the United States as the Underwriters may 

148



Attachment 7 

 

6 

request, provided that the Authority need not consent to jurisdiction or service of process in any 

jurisdiction other than the Commonwealth. 

(l) The Authority has never defaulted in the payment of the principal of or interest on 

any indebtedness, and has not exercised any rights of nonappropriation or similar rights.  No 

proceedings have ever been taken, are being taken, or are contemplated by the Authority under 

the United States Bankruptcy Code or under any similar law or statute of the United States or the 

Commonwealth. 

(m) Other than as described in the Official Statement, the Authority has not entered 

into any contract or arrangement of any kind that might give rise to any lien or encumbrance on 

the payments to be received by the Authority from the County pursuant to the Installment 

Purchase Contract. 

Section 4.  Delivery of the Bonds 

The Bonds shall be delivered to the order of the Underwriters through The Depository 

Trust Company in New York, New York, by 12:00 noon, Eastern Time, on ______ __, 2018, or 

such other place, time or date as shall be mutually agreed on in writing by the Authority, the 

County and the Underwriters. Simultaneously, the Underwriters shall make the payments 

required pursuant to Section 1 above, in immediately available funds, to the County or at its 

direction.  In this Agreement, the date of such delivery and payment is called the “Closing Date,” 

and the time and date of such delivery and payment is called the “Closing Time.” 

The Bonds shall be delivered in fully registered form, in the form of one Bond for each 

maturity, bearing CUSIP numbers (provided neither the inclusion of a wrong CUSIP number on 

any Bond nor the failure to include a number thereon shall constitute cause to refuse delivery of 

any Bond). 

Section 5.  Conditions to Underwriters’ Obligations 

The Underwriters’ obligation hereunder is subject to the following conditions: 

(a) The Authority Documents, the County Documents (as defined in the Letter of 

Representation) and the Official Statement shall have been duly authorized or adopted and shall 

be in full force and effect, and, if applicable, executed and delivered in the forms heretofore 

approved by the Underwriters with only such changes as are mutually agreed on by the Authority 

or the County, as applicable, and the Underwriters. 

(b) The performance by the Authority of its obligations and adherence to its 

covenants hereunder and the performance by the County of its obligations and adherence to its 

covenants under the Letter of Representation, to have been performed at or prior to the Closing 

Time. 

(c) The representations and warranties contained in this Agreement by the Authority, 

and the representations and warranties contained in the Letter of Representation by the County, 

are true, complete and correct today and as of the Closing Time as if made at the Closing Time. 

149



Attachment 7 

 

7 

(d) There is no material adverse change in the County’s or the Authority’s condition 

(financial or otherwise) between the most recent dates as to which information is given in the 

Official Statement and the Closing Time, other than as reflected in or contemplated by the 

Official Statement, and there are at the Closing Time no material transactions or obligations (not 

in the ordinary course of business) entered into by the Authority or the County after the date of 

the Official Statement, other than as reflected in or contemplated by the Official Statement. 

(e) All necessary approvals, whether legal or administrative, have been obtained from 

such federal, state and local entities or agencies as are appropriate and are required in connection 

with the financing. 

(f)  At the Closing Time, the Underwriters must receive: 

(i) Opinions dated the Closing Date of (A) Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, 

Bond Counsel, in substantially the form set forth in Appendix C to the Official Statement, 

and (B) Christian & Barton, L.L.P., counsel to the Underwriters, in form and substance 

acceptable to the Underwriters. 

(ii) An opinion of Elizabeth D. Teare, Esq., County Attorney, dated the 

Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriters, to the effect that (A) the County is a 

political subdivision of the Commonwealth, duly organized and validly existing under the 

Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth and vested with all the rights, powers and 

privileges conferred upon it by the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth, (B) the 

County Resolution was duly adopted by the Board of Supervisors and is in full force and 

effect, (C) the County has all the necessary power and authority (1) to execute and 

deliver, if applicable, the County Documents and (2) to consummate all of the actions 

contemplated by the County Documents, (D) the County Documents have been duly 

authorized and, if applicable, executed and delivered by the County and constitute valid 

and legally binding obligations of the County, enforceable (subject to customary 

exceptions) against the County in accordance with their terms, (E) no further approval, 

consent or withholding of objection on the part of any regulatory body, federal, 

Commonwealth or local, is required for the County to execute and deliver and perform its 

obligations under the County Documents, (F) the adoption by the Board of Supervisors of 

the County Resolution and the execution and delivery by the County of the other County 

Documents and the consummation by the County of the transactions contemplated by 

them are not prohibited by, and do not violate any provision of and will not result in the 

breach of any law, rule, regulation, judgment, decree, order or other requirement 

applicable to the County, any ordinance or resolution of the County, or any material 

contract, indenture or agreement to which the County is a party or by which the County is 

bound, and have not resulted, and will not result, in the creation or imposition of any lien, 

encumbrance, mortgage or other similar conflicting ownership or security interest in 

favor of any third person in or to the County’s revenues, assets, properties or funds 

except as contemplated in the County Documents, and (G) to her knowledge, there is no 

legal action or other proceeding, or any investigation or inquiry (before any court, 

agency, arbitrator or otherwise), pending or threatened against the County or any of their 

officials, in their respective capacities, (1) to restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale or 

delivery of the Bonds or the application of proceeds of the Bonds as provided in the 

150



Attachment 7 

 

8 

Official Statement or (2) that may reasonably be expected to have a material and adverse 

effect upon the due performance by the County of the transactions contemplated by the 

County Documents and the Official Statement or the validity or enforceability of the 

Bonds or the County Documents.  

(iii) An opinion of [Alan M. Weiss, Office of County Attorney], dated the 

Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriters, to the effect that (A) the Authority is a 

political subdivision of the Commonwealth, duly organized and validly existing under the 

Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth and vested with all the rights, powers and 

privileges conferred upon it by the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth, (B) the 

Authority Resolution was duly adopted by the Authority and is in full force and effect, 

(C) the Authority has all necessary power and authority (1) to execute and deliver the 

Authority Documents and (2) to consummate all of the actions contemplated by the 

Authority Documents, (D) the Authority Documents have been duly authorized and, if 

applicable, executed and delivered by the Authority and constitute valid and legally 

binding obligations of the Authority, enforceable (subject to customary exceptions) 

against the Authority in accordance with their terms, (E) no further approval, consent or 

withholding of objection on the part of any regulatory body, federal, Commonwealth or 

local, is required for the Authority to execute and deliver and perform its obligations 

under the Authority Documents, (F) the adoption by the Authority of the Authority 

Resolution and the execution and delivery by the Authority of the other Authority 

Documents and the consummation by the Authority of the transactions contemplated by 

them are not prohibited by, and do not violate any provision of and will not result in the 

breach of any law, rule, regulation, judgment, decree, order or other requirement 

applicable to the Authority, any ordinance or resolution of the Authority, or any material 

contract, indenture or agreement to which the Authority is a party or by which the 

Authority is bound, and have not resulted, and will not result, in the creation or 

imposition of any lien, encumbrance, mortgage or other similar conflicting ownership or 

security interest in favor of any third person in or to the Authority’s revenues, assets, 

properties or funds except as contemplated in the Authority Documents, and (G) to his 

knowledge, there is no legal action or other proceeding, or any investigation or inquiry 

(before any court, agency, arbitrator or otherwise), pending or threatened against the 

Authority or any of its officials, in their respective capacities, (1) to restrain or enjoin the 

issuance, sale or delivery of the Bonds or the application of proceeds of the Bonds as 

provided in the Official Statement or (2) that may reasonably be expected to have a 

material and adverse effect upon the due performance by the Authority of the transactions 

contemplated by the Authority Documents and the Official Statement or the validity or 

enforceability of the Authority Documents. 

(iv) A supplemental opinion of Bond Counsel, dated the Closing Date and in 

form and substance acceptable to the Underwriters to the effect that: 

(A) (i) the information contained in those portions of the Official 

Statement entitled “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS,” 

[“THE SERIES 2018 BONDS,”] (excluding Book-Entry Only System), 

“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE [SERIES 2018 

BONDS,”] “TAX MATTERS,” “LEGAL MATTERS” and “CONTINUING 

151



Attachment 7 

 

9 

DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING,” and Appendices C and D, insofar as such 

information summarizes provisions of the Authority Documents or the County 

Documents or is a description of opinions rendered by Bond Counsel, is a fair and 

accurate summary of the information purported to be summarized and (ii) nothing 

has come to Bond Counsel’s attention that has caused such counsel to believe that 

the Official Statement (excepting information relating to The Depository Trust 

Company and any statistical and financial data included in the Official Statement) 

contains any untrue statement of material fact or omits any statement of a material 

fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances 

under which they were made, not misleading; 

(B) the Bonds do not require registration under the Securities Act of 

1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”);  

(C) the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the “Trust Indenture 

Act”), does not require the qualification of the Authority Resolution; and 

(D) this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered 

and constitutes a valid and legal obligation of the Authority. 

(v) A certificate signed by the Authority’s Chairman or Vice Chairman, dated 

the Closing Date and in form and substance acceptable to the Underwriters, stating that 

(A) such officer has reviewed the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official 

Statement and that, as of the dates of such documents and as of the Closing Date 

(excluding the information under the headings “THE COUNTY,” [“THE SERIES 2018 

BONDS – Book-Entry Only System”] and “TAX MATTERS” and Appendices A, B, 

C and D), such documents do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit 

to state a material fact necessary to make the statements in such documents, in the light of 

the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, and (B) such officer has 

reviewed the Authority’s covenants, agreements, representations and warranties 

hereunder, and further confirming the Authority’s compliance with such covenants and 

agreements and the accuracy of such representations and warranties. 

(vi) Evidence satisfactory to the Underwriters that the Bonds have received a 

rating of “__” from Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and “__” by S&P Global Ratings, a 

division of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC, and that each such rating is in 

effect at the Closing Time. 

(vii) Certified copies of all relevant proceedings of the Board of 

Commissioners of the Authority and the Board of Supervisors.  

(viii) Original executed or certified copies of the Authority Documents and the 

County Documents. 

(ix) Evidence satisfactory to the Underwriters that the Authority’s issuance of 

the Bonds has received the County’s required approval and that such approval remains in 

effect. 

152



Attachment 7 

 

10 

(x) Signed copies of a certificate or certificates, dated the Closing Date, 

signed by the Authority’s Chairman or Vice Chairman to the effect that (1) the 

representations and warranties of the Authority contained herein are true and correct in 

all material respects on and as of the Closing Date as if made on the Closing Date; (2) to 

the best of the knowledge of such officer, the information in the Official Statement, 

(excluding the information under the headings “THE COUNTY,” [“THE SERIES 2018 

BONDS – Book-Entry Only System”] and “TAX MATTERS” and Appendices A, B, 

C and D), (the “Authority Information”) does not contain any untrue statement of 

material fact or omit any statement of a material fact necessary to make the statements 

therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; (3) 

to the knowledge of such officer, no litigation is pending against the Authority or pending 

against any other entity or person or threatened in any court in any way adversely 

affecting the legal existence of the Authority or seeking to restrain or enjoin the issuance, 

sale, execution or delivery of the Bonds, or materially and adversely affecting the right of 

the Authority to collect revenues and other moneys pledged or to pledged to pay the 

principal of and interest on the Bonds, or the pledge thereof, or in any way materially and 

adversely contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Authority 

Documents or this Agreement, or contesting the completeness or accuracy of the 

Preliminary Official Statement or the Official Statement, or contesting the power of the 

Authority or its authority with respect to the Authority Documents or this Agreement; (4) 

to the best of the knowledge of such officer, no event materially and adversely affecting 

the Authority or the transactions contemplated by the Official Statement has occurred 

since the date of the Official Statement which, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, 

is necessary to be set forth in an amendment or supplement to the Official Statement 

(whether or not the Official Statement shall have been amended or supplemented to set 

forth such event) to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under 

which they were made, not misleading; (5) the Authority has the full legal right, power 

and authority to carry out and consummate the transactions contemplated to be carried 

out by the Authority by the Official Statement; and (6) the Authority has complied with 

all the requirements and satisfied all the conditions on its part to be performed or satisfied 

at or prior to the Closing Date. 

(xi) Signed copies of a certificate or certificates, dated the Closing Date, 

signed by the Chief Financial Officer of the County to the effect that (1) the 

representations and warranties of the County contained herein are true and correct in all 

material respects on and as of the Closing Date as if made on the Closing Date; (2) to the 

best of the knowledge of such officer, the information in the Official Statement, 

(excluding the information under the headings “THE AUTHORITY,” [“THE SERIES 

2018 BONDS – Book-Entry Only System”] and “TAX MATTERS” and Appendix C) 

(the “County Information”), does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or 

omit any statement of a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the 

light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; (3) to the 

knowledge of such officer, no litigation is pending against the County or pending against 

any other entity or person or threatened in any court in any way adversely affecting the 

legal existence of the County or seeking to restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale, execution 

or delivery of the Bonds, or materially and adversely affecting the ability of the County to 

make payments under the Payment Agreement, or in any way materially and adversely 

153



Attachment 7 

 

11 

contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Bonds, the County 

Resolution), this Agreement or the Letter of Representation, or contesting the 

completeness or accuracy of the Preliminary Official Statement or the Official Statement, 

or contesting the power of the County or its authority with respect to the County 

Documents or the Letter of Representation; (4) to the knowledge of such officer, no event 

materially and adversely affecting the County or the transactions contemplated by the 

Official Statement has occurred since the date of the Official Statement which, in the 

reasonable opinion of the County, is necessary to be set forth in an amendment or 

supplement to the Official Statement (whether or not the Official Statement shall have 

been amended or supplemented to set forth such event) to make the statements therein, in 

the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; (5) the 

County has the full legal right, power and authority to carry out and consummate the 

transactions contemplated to be carried out by the County by the Official Statement; and 

(6) the County has complied with all the requirements and satisfied all the conditions on 

its part to be performed or satisfied at or prior to the Closing Date. 

(xii) Such additional certificates and other documents in such form and 

substance as the Underwriters, their counsel or Bond Counsel may request to evidence 

performance of or compliance with the provisions of the Authority Documents or the 

Official Statement and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, the truth and 

accuracy as of the Closing Time of the Authority’s and the County’s representations 

herein and in the Official Statement, and the Authority’s and the County’s due 

performance at or prior to the Closing Time of all agreements then to be performed by the 

Authority or the County, as applicable. 

The delivery of the above documents shall be made on the Closing Date, at or prior to the 

Closing Time, at Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP’s Washington, D.C. office, or at such other 

place as the Authority, the County and the Underwriters may hereafter determine. 

The Authority and the County shall exercise their reasonable best efforts to fulfill such of 

the foregoing conditions as may be under their control or direction.  In no event shall the failure 

of any such condition to be met constitute a default on the part of any party (except any party 

who had such condition under its control or direction).  The provisions of Section l(d) shall apply 

whether or not the failure of any such condition to be met constitutes a default on the part of any 

party. 

Section 6.  Underwriters’ Right to Cancel 

The Underwriters have the right to cancel their obligations hereunder by notifying the 

Authority or the County in writing of their election to do so between today and the Closing Time, 

if at any time before the Closing Time: 

(a) legislation shall have been enacted by the Congress of the United States, or a 

decision shall have been rendered by a court of the United States or the Commonwealth, or a 

ruling, resolution, regulation, or temporary regulation, release, or announcement shall have been 

made or shall have been proposed to be made by the Treasury Department of the United States or 

the Internal Revenue Service, or other federal or Commonwealth authority, with respect to 

154



Attachment 7 

 

12 

federal or Commonwealth taxation upon revenues or other income of the general character of 

that to be derived by the Authority or the County from its operations, or upon interest received 

on obligations of the general character of the Bonds that, in the Underwriters’ reasonable 

judgment, materially adversely affects the market for the Bonds, or the market price generally of 

obligations of the general character of the Bonds; or 

(b) there shall exist any event or circumstance that, in the Underwriters’ reasonable 

judgment, either makes untrue or incorrect in any material respect any statement or information 

in the Official Statement or is not reflected in the Official Statement but should be reflected 

therein in order to make any statement of material fact therein not misleading in any material 

respect; or 

(c) there shall have occurred (a) an outbreak or escalation of hostilities involving the 

United States or the declaration by the United States of a national emergency or war occurs, or 

(b) the occurrence of any other calamity or crisis or any change in the financial, political, or 

economic conditions in the United States or elsewhere, if the effect of any such event specified 

in clause (a) or (b), in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriters, materially adversely affects 

the market for the Bonds; or 

(d) there shall be in force a general suspension of trading on the New York Stock 

Exchange, or minimum or maximum prices for trading shall have been fixed and be in force, or 

maximum ranges for prices for securities shall have been required and be in force on the New 

York Stock Exchange, whether by virtue of a determination by the New York Stock Exchange or 

by an order of the SEC or any other governmental authority having jurisdiction that, in the 

Underwriters’ reasonable judgment, materially adversely affects the market for the Bonds; or 

(e) a general banking moratorium shall have been declared by federal or state 

authorities having jurisdiction and be in force that, in the Underwriters’ reasonable judgment, 

materially adversely affects the market for the Bonds; or 

(f) legislation shall be enacted or be proposed or actively considered for enactment, 

or a decision by a court of the United States shall be rendered, or a ruling, regulation, proposed 

regulation, or statement by or on behalf of the SEC or other governmental agency having 

jurisdiction of the subject matter shall be made, to the effect that the Bonds or any comparable 

securities of the Authority, or any obligations of the general character of the Bonds are not 

exempt from the registration, qualification or other requirements of the Securities Act, or 

otherwise, or would be in violation of any provision of the federal securities laws or that the 

Authority Resolution are not exempt from the qualification requirements of the Trust Indenture 

Act; or 

(g) there shall be established any new restriction on transactions in securities 

materially affecting the free market for securities (including the imposition of any limitation on 

interest rates) or the extension of credit by, or a change to the net capital requirements of, the 

Underwriters established by the New York Stock Exchange, the SEC, any other federal or state 

agency or the Congress of the United States, or by Executive Order; or 

155



Attachment 7 

 

13 

(h) a stop order, release, regulation, or no-action letter by or on behalf of the SEC or 

any other governmental agency having jurisdiction of the subject matter shall have been issued 

or made to the effect that the issuance, offering or sale of the Bonds, including all underlying 

obligations as contemplated hereby or by the Official Statement, or any Authority Documents, 

County Documents or other documents relating to the issuance, offering or sale of the Bonds, is 

or would be in violation of any provision of the federal securities laws; or 

(i) there shall have been any material adverse change in the affairs of the Authority 

or the County that, in the Underwriters’ reasonable judgment, will materially adversely affect the 

market for the Bonds; or 

(j) there shall have occurred, after the signing hereof, either a financial crisis or a 

default with respect to the debt obligations of the Authority, the County or the Commonwealth 

(which, in the case of a financial crisis or default of the Commonwealth, causes a material 

adverse change in the affairs of the Authority or the County) or proceedings under the 

bankruptcy laws of the United States or of the Commonwealth shall have been instituted by the 

Authority, the County or the Commonwealth (which, in the case of a bankruptcy proceeding with 

respect to the Commonwealth, causes a material adverse change in the affairs of the Authority or 

the County), in either case the effect of which, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriters, is 

such as to materially and adversely affect the market price or the marketability of the Bonds; or 

(k) any litigation shall be instituted or be pending as of the Closing Date to restrain or 

enjoin the issuance, sale or delivery of the Bonds, or in any way contesting or affecting any 

authority for or the validity of the proceedings authorizing and approving the Authority 

Resolution, the Authority Documents and the County Documents or the existence or powers of 

the Authority or the County with respect to its obligations under the Authority Documents and 

the County Documents; or 

(l) any downgrading, suspension or withdrawal of a rating of the Bonds by a 

nationally recognized rating service, which downgrading, suspension or withdrawal, in the 

reasonable judgment of the Underwriters, materially adversely affects the marketability of the 

Bonds. 

 Section 8. Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Agreements to Survive Delivery 

All of the Authority’s representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in this 

Agreement shall remain operative and in effect, regardless of any investigation made by the 

Underwriters on their own behalf, after delivery of and payment for any Bonds or of termination 

or cancellation of this Agreement. 

Section 9. Expenses 

The Authority acknowledges that the underwriting fee provided for in Section 1 

represents compensation and reimbursement to the Underwriters for their professional services 

and direct expenses (for such items as travel and postage); provided, however, that nothing in 

this acknowledgement shall be deemed to make the Underwriters an agent of the Authority. 

156



Attachment 7 

 

14 

The Underwriters shall pay (which may be included as an expense component of the 

Underwriters’ discount) their out-of-pocket expenses, which may include the fees and expenses 

of Underwriters’ counsel (including the cost of performing any blue sky surveys), advertising 

expenses in connection with a public offering of the Bonds, fees of the CUSIP Bureau and any 

fees of the MSRB or the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association. 

The County shall pay all expenses and costs to effect the authorization, preparation, 

execution, delivery and sale of the Bonds, including, without limitation, the County’s and 

Authority’s fees and expenses (at or prior to closing), the incidental expenses of the employees 

of the Authority and the County incurred in connection with this financing, the fees and expenses 

of Bond Counsel, rating agency fees and expenses, the fees and expenses of the bond registrar 

and paying agent, any registration or similar fees for qualifying the Bonds for sale in various 

jurisdictions chosen by the Underwriters and the expenses and costs for the preparation, printing, 

photocopying, execution and delivery of the Bonds and the Official Statement and all other 

agreements and documents contemplated by this Agreement. 

Section 10. Use of Official Statement 

The Authority hereby ratifies and confirms the use of the Preliminary Official Statement 

by the Underwriters.  The Authority authorizes the use of, and will make available, the Official 

Statement for use by the Underwriters in connection with the offer and sale of the Bonds. 

Section 11. Miscellaneous 

(a) Any notice or other communication to be given hereunder may be given by 

mailing or delivering the same in writing as follows: 

If to the Underwriters:  Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC 

    1585 Broadway, 16th Floor 

New York, NY 10036 

Attention: _________ 

 

If to the Authority: Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority 

      3700 Pender Dr. 

Fairfax, Virginia 22030 

Attention:  Director 

With a copy thereof sent to: 

[Alan M. Weiss, Esq. 

12000 Government Center Parkway 

Fairfax, Virginia 22035-0064] 

If to the County: Fairfax County 

12000 Government Center Parkway 

Fairfax, Virginia 22035-0064 

Attention:  Department of Management and Budget 

157



Attachment 7 

 

15 

(b) The Authority represents and warrants that there are no fees payable by it or on its 

behalf, other than as described in this Agreement, to any person or party for brokering or 

arranging (or providing any similar services related to) the transactions contemplated by this 

Agreement. 

(c) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, 

without regard to conflict of law principles. 

(d) This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts (including separate 

counterparts), each of which shall be regarded as an original and all of which shall constitute one 

and the same document. 

(e) This Agreement will inure to the benefit of and be binding on the Authority, the 

Underwriters and the County and their respective successors and assigns, but will not confer any 

rights on any other person, partnership, association or corporation other than persons, if any, 

controlling the Authority and the Underwriters within the meaning of the Securities Act or the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  The terms “successors” and “assigns” shall not 

include any purchaser of any Bond from the Underwriters merely because of such purchase. 

(f) No covenant, condition or agreement contained herein shall be deemed to be a 

covenant, agreement or obligation of a present or future member, officer, employee or agent of 

the Authority or the County in such person’s individual capacity, and no officer, member, 

employee or agent of the Authority or the County shall be liable personally for the performance 

of any obligation under this Agreement.  No recourse shall be had by the Underwriters for any 

claim based on this Agreement or otherwise against any officer, member, employee or agent of 

the Authority or the County in his or her individual capacity, provided such person acts in good 

faith, all such liabilities, if any, being hereby expressly waived and released by the Underwriters. 

(g) The Authority acknowledges and agrees that (i) the purchase and sale of the 

Bonds pursuant to this Agreement is an arm’s-length commercial transaction between the 

Authority and the Underwriters, consented to by the County, (ii) in connection with such 

transaction, the Underwriters are acting solely as a principal and not as an agent, municipal 

advisor, financial advisor or a fiduciary of the Authority, (iii) the Underwriters have not assumed 

(individually or collectively) any advisory or fiduciary responsibility in favor of the Authority 

with respect to the offering of the Bonds or the process leading thereto (whether or not the 

Underwriters, or any affiliate of any Underwriters, have advised or are currently advising the 

Authority on other matters) or any other obligation to the Authority except the obligations 

expressly set forth in this Agreement, (iv) the Authority has consulted with its own municipal, 

tax, accounting, legal and financial advisors to the extent it deemed appropriate in connection 

with the offering of the Bonds and (v) the Underwriters have financial and other interests that 

differ from those of the County and the Authority. 

(h) Section headings in this Agreement are a matter of convenience of reference only, 

and such section headings are not part of this Agreement and shall not be used in the 

interpretation of any provisions of this Agreement. Terms of any gender used herein shall 

include the masculine, feminine and neuter. 

158



Attachment 7 

 

16 

(i) Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the Underwriters, in their 

sole discretion, may waive the performance of any and all obligations of the Authority hereunder 

and the performance of any and all conditions contained herein for the Underwriters’ benefit, and 

the Underwriters’ approval when required hereunder or the determination of their satisfaction as 

to any document referred to herein shall be in writing signed by an appropriate officer or officers 

of the Underwriters, on the Underwriters’ behalf, and delivered to the Authority. 

(j) This Agreement is the entire agreement of the parties, superseding all prior 

agreements, and may not be modified except in writing signed by the parties hereto. 

(k) This Agreement is effective on its acceptance by the Authority and approval by 

the County. 

159



Attachment 7 

S-1 

[Counterpart Signature Page to Bond Purchase Agreement] 

_____________________________,  

as Representative of the Underwriters 

By ___________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signatures Continued on Following Pages]

160



Attachment 7 

S-2 

[Counterpart Signature Page to Bond Purchase Agreement] 

Accepted and agreed to: 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT HOUSING 

AUTHORITY 

By:____________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signatures Continued on Following Pages] 

 

161



Attachment 7 

S-3 

[Counterpart Signature Page to Bond Purchase Agreement] 

 Approved by: 

 

 FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

 By:____________________________________ 

 Joseph M. Mondoro 

 Chief Financial Officer 

162



Attachment 7 

 

 A-1 

Exhibit A 

 

SERIES [2017A/2018A] BONDS 

Maturity Date  

(_____ 1) 

 

Principal Amount 

 

Interest Rate 

 

Yield 

20__ $ % % 

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

 

 

 

 

163



Attachment 7 

 

 
 

 

EXHIBIT B 

LETTER OF REPRESENTATION

164



Attachment 7 

 

  B-1 

LETTER OF REPRESENTATION 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

I am an authorized official of Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”), and am hereby 

executing and delivering this Letter of Representation as required under the terms of that certain 

Bond Purchase Agreement of even date herewith (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”) between 

____________, as representative of the underwriters named therein (the “Underwriters”), and 

Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority (the “Authority”), and approved by the 

County.  Terms not otherwise defined in this Letter of Representation shall have the meanings 

assigned to them in the Bond Purchase Agreement.  

Section 1.   County’s Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Agreements 

The County hereby represents, warrants, covenants and agrees as follows: 

(a) The County is, and will be at the Closing Time, (i) duly organized in the urban 

county executive form of government, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia 

(the “Commonwealth”) with all power and authority granted to counties so organized under the 

Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth, and (ii) authorized to enter into and adopt and 

perform its obligations under the County Resolution, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the 

Payment Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement delivered by the County, dated the 

Closing Date (the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”), and this Letter of Representation 

(collectively, the “County Documents”) to have been performed at or prior to the Closing Time. 

(b) The County has complied with all provisions of the Commonwealth’s constitution 

and laws pertaining to the County’s adopting or entering into the County Documents and has full 

power and authority to consummate all transactions contemplated by the County Documents and 

the Official Statement and any and all other agreements relating thereto to which the County is a 

party. 

(c) As of the date of the Preliminary Official Statement, at the time of the County’s 

delivery of this Letter of Representation and (unless an event occurs of the nature described in 

Section 1(i) below) at all subsequent times up to and including the Closing Time, the County 

Information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement and in 

any amendment or supplement thereto that the County may authorize for use with respect to the 

Bonds was, is and will be true and correct and did not contain, does not contain and will not 

contain any untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit and will not omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements in such document, in the light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.  If the Official Statement is 

supplemented or amended pursuant to Section 1(i) below, at the time of each supplement or 

amendment thereto and (unless subsequently again supplemented or amended pursuant to 

Section 1(i) below) at all times subsequent thereto up to and including the Closing Time, the 

County shall take all steps necessary to ensure that the County Information in the Official 

Statement as so supplemented or amended does not contain any untrue statement of a material 

fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.  Except as otherwise described in 

165



Attachment 7 

 

  B-2 

the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement, the County has complied in all 

material respects during the last five years with its prior continuing disclosure undertakings with 

respect to Rule 15c2-12. 

(d) The County has duly adopted and authorized, at one or more public meetings duly 

called and held at which quorums were present and acting throughout, (i) the distribution and use 

of the Official Statement; (ii) the adoption, execution, delivery and due performance of the 

County Documents and any and all such other agreements and documents as may be required to 

be executed and delivered by the County in order to carry out, give effect to and consummate the 

transactions contemplated by the County Documents and by the Official Statement; and (iii) the 

carrying out, giving effect to and consummation of the transactions contemplated by the County 

Documents and the Official Statement.  Upon the Closing Date, the County shall have duly 

adopted or authorized, executed and delivered each County Document and the Official 

Statement. 

(e) To the County’s knowledge, except as and to the extent described in the 

Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement, there is no action, proceeding or 

investigation before or by any court or other public body pending or threatened against or 

affecting the County or any County officer or employee in an official capacity (or, to the 

County’s knowledge, any basis therefor), wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding 

would materially adversely affect (i) the transactions contemplated or described herein or in the 

Official Statement, or the validity of the County Documents or of any other agreement or 

instrument to which the County is or is expected to be a party and which is used or contemplated 

for use in the consummation of the transactions contemplated or described herein or in or by the 

Official Statement, (ii) the condition of the County, financial or otherwise, or (iii) the 

completeness or accuracy of the Official Statement. 

(f) The County’s adoption or execution and delivery of the County Documents and 

other agreements contemplated by the County Documents and by the Official Statement, and 

compliance with the provisions thereof, will not constitute on the County’s part a breach of or a 

default under any existing law, court or administrative regulation, decree or order or any 

contract, agreement, loan or other instrument to which the County is subject or by which the 

County is or may be bound. No event has occurred or is continuing that, with the lapse of time or 

the giving of notice, or both, would constitute an event of default under any such agreement, 

including the County Documents. 

(g) The County will not take or omit to take any action the taking or omission of 

which will in any way cause the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to be applied in a manner 

other than as described in the Official Statement and as permitted by the Authority Resolution 

and the County Resolution and which would cause the interest on the Bonds to be includable in 

the gross income of the recipients thereof for Commonwealth income tax purposes. 

(h) The County Information included in the Official Statement presents fairly the 

financial information purported to be shown as of the indicated dates. There has been no material 

adverse change in the financial condition of the County as a whole since June 30, 2017.  The 

County is not a party to any contract or agreement or subject to any statutory or other restriction 

not disclosed in the Official Statement, the performance of or compliance with which may have a 

166



Attachment 7 

 

  B-3 

material, adverse effect on the County’s or the Authority’s financial condition or operations.  The 

audited balance sheets and the related financial statements of the County contained in the 

Official Statement in Appendix B present fairly the County’s financial condition as of the dates 

indicated, and the County has no reason to believe that, except as stated in the Official 

Statement, such statements have not been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles consistently applied.  

(i) If between the date of the Bond Purchase Agreement and the date that is 25 days 

after the “end of the underwriting period,” as defined below, any event shall occur that might or 

would cause the County Information included in the Official Statement, as then supplemented or 

amended, to contain any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were 

made, not misleading, the County shall promptly notify the Underwriters.  If, in the opinion of 

the Underwriters, such event requires the preparation and publication of a supplement or 

amendment to the Official Statement, the County will cooperate with the Authority and at the 

County’s expense supplement or amend the Official Statement in a form and in a manner 

approved by the Underwriters.  

The “end of the underwriting period” is the time that is the later of (i) the Closing Time 

and (ii) the time the Underwriters do not retain, directly or as a member of an underwriting 

syndicate, an unsold balance of the Bonds for sale to the public.  Unless the Underwriters shall 

otherwise advise the County in writing prior to the Closing Date, the County may assume that 

the end of the underwriting period is the Closing Time. 

(j) The County is not required to obtain any further consent, approval, authorization 

or order of any governmental or regulatory authority as a condition precedent to its adoption or 

authorization, execution and delivery of the County Documents or the Official Statement, or the 

County’s performance hereunder and thereunder (provided no representation or warranty is 

expressed as to any action required under federal or state securities or Blue Sky laws in 

connection with the Underwriters’ offer or sale of the Bonds).  The County has obtained as of the 

date hereof all permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals required 

to have been obtained as of the date hereof for the performance and enforcement of the obliga-

tions of the County under the County Documents, the acquisition, construction, equipping, 

occupation, operation and use of the projects to be financed or refinanced with the proceeds of 

the Bonds.  The County knows of no reason why any such required permits or approvals not 

obtained as of the date hereof cannot be obtained as needed. 

(k) Any certificate signed by any County officer and delivered to the Underwriters 

shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the County to the Underwriters as to the 

statements made therein. 

(l) The County agrees to take all reasonable steps as requested to cooperate with the 

Underwriters and their counsel in order to qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the 

securities or “Blue Sky” laws of such jurisdictions of the United States as the Underwriters may 

request, provided that the County need not consent to jurisdiction or service of process in any 

state other than the Commonwealth. 

167



Attachment 7 

 

  B-4 

(m) The County has never defaulted in the payment of principal or interest on any 

indebtedness, has not exercised any rights of nonappropriation or similar rights with respect to 

such indebtedness, and has not borrowed for general fund cash-flow purposes.  No proceedings 

have ever been taken, are being taken, or are contemplated by the County under the United States 

Bankruptcy Code or under any similar law or statute of the United States or the Commonwealth. 

(n) The County will comply with the information reporting requirements adopted by 

the SEC under Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 

“Rule”) and the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board with respect to municipal securities 

such as the Bonds as provided in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  Except as described in 

the Official Statement under the caption “Continuing Disclosure Undertaking,” in the five years 

preceding the date of the Official Statement, the County has materially complied with its 

undertakings under the Rule. 

(o) The County acknowledges and agrees that (i) the purchase and sale of the Bonds 

pursuant to the Bond Purchase Agreement is an arm’s-length commercial transaction between 

the Authority and the Underwriters as consented to by the County, (ii) in connection with such 

transaction, the Underwriters are acting solely as a principal and not as an agent, municipal 

advisor, financial advisor or a fiduciary of the County, (iii) the Underwriters have not assumed 

(individually or collectively) any advisory or fiduciary responsibility in favor of the County with 

respect to the offering of the Bonds or the process leading thereto (whether or not the 

Underwriters, or any affiliate of any Underwriters, have advised or are currently advising the 

County on other matters) or any other obligation to the County except the obligations expressly 

set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, (iv) the County has consulted with its own municipal, 

tax, accounting, legal and financial advisors to the extent it deemed appropriate in connection 

with the offering of the Bonds and (v) the Underwriters have financial and other interests that 

differ from those of the County and the Authority. 

Section 2.  Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Agreements to Survive Delivery 

All of the County’s representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in this Letter 

of Representation shall remain operative and in effect, regardless of any investigation made by 

the Underwriters on their own behalf, after delivery of and payment for any Bonds or of 

termination or cancellation of the Bond Purchase Agreement or this Letter of Representation. 

Section 3.  Official Statement 

The County authorizes the use and distribution of, and will cooperate with the Authority 

to make available, the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement for the use and 

distribution by the Underwriters in connection with the sale of the Bonds. 

The County shall cooperate with the Authority to deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the 

Underwriters copies of the final Official Statement in sufficient quantity in order for the 

Underwriters to comply with Rule 15c2-12(b)(2) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act 

of 1934, as amended. 

168



Attachment 7 

 

  B-5 

Section 4.  Continuing Disclosure Undertaking 

The County will undertake, pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, to provide 

annual reports and notices to certain events. 

Section 5.  Notice 

Any notice or other communication to be given to the County under the Bond Purchase 

Agreement or this Letter of Representation may be given by mailing or delivering the same in 

writing to 12000 Government Center Parkway, Fairfax, Virginia 22035-0064, Attention: 

Department of Management and Budget. 

This Letter of Representation is delivered this __th day of __, 2018. 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

By:____________________________________ 

Joseph M. Mondoro 

Chief Financial Office 

169



Attachment 8 

28761621.3  
 

County Resolution 

 

RESOLUTION REQUESTING THE ISSUANCE BY THE FAIRFAX 

COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

(FCRHA) OF ITS REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS (WEDGEWOOD 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACQUISITION) IN AN AGGREGATE 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT UP TO $82,000,000 AND APPROVING AND 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 

PAYMENT AGREEMENT WITH FCRHA, ALL FOR THE PURPOSE 

OF REFUNDING CERTAIN BONDS ISSUED TO PROVIDE 

PERMANENT FINANCING FOR THE PAYMENT OF A PORTION 

OF THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOTES ISSUED FOR THE 

PURPOSE OF REFINANCING NOTES ISSUED FOR THE PURPOSE 

OF PAYING A PORTION OF THE PURCHASE PRICE OF A MULTI-

FAMILY RENTAL HOUSING COMPLEX LOCATED IN FAIRFAX 

COUNTY; APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION 

AND DELIVERY OF AN AMENDED AND RESTATED LEASE 

AGREEMENT WITH FCRHA FOR THE LEASE OF THE 

APARTMENT COMPLEX TO FCRHA; APPROVING THE FORM OF 

THE FCRHA BONDS; APPROVING A PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL 

STATEMENT AND A FINAL OFFICIAL STATEMENT RELATING 

TO SUCH BONDS, APPROVING THE FORM OF AND EXECUTION 

OF A BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT RELATING TO THE 

PURCHASE OF THE BONDS; APPROVING THE FORM OF AND 

EXECUTION OF AN ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT; APPROVING 

THE MAKING OF A CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING 

AND GRANTING THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE AND DELIVER 

SUCH OTHER DOCUMENTS AND AGREEMENTS RELATING TO 

SUCH TRANSACTIONS AND TO DETERMINE CERTAIN DETAILS 

OF SUCH TRANSACTION 

WHEREAS, the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority (“FCRHA”), in 

furtherance of its goal to preserve existing affordable housing in Fairfax County, requested that 

the Board of Supervisors of the County of Fairfax, Virginia (the “County”) contract for the 

purchase by the County of a multi-family rental housing complex comprised of the 424-unit 

Wedgewood West Apartments, including its site of approximately 21.9 acres, the 123-unit 

Wedgewood East Apartments, including its site of approximately 6.9 acres, and the 125-unit 

Wedgewood Manor Apartments, including its site of approximately 6.0 acres, all located in 

Annandale, Virginia (collectively, the “Apartment Complex”); and 

WHEREAS, the County, in October 2007, entered into agreements of purchase and sale 

with a seller (the “Purchase and Sale Contracts”) for the purchase of the Apartment Complex; 

and 

WHEREAS, the County, upon entering into the Purchase and Sale Contracts, requested 

that FCRHA provide interim financing for a portion of the purchase price of the Apartment 

Complex and related costs and offered to enter into a payment agreement pursuant to which the 

County agreed to make payments, to or for the account of FCRHA, in amounts sufficient, with 

the proceeds of any permanent financing and renewal notes financing (as herein provided) and 

170



Attachment 8 

 

 2 

 

any other sources of funds available for the purpose, for FCRHA to pay timely the interest on 

and the principal of notes to be issued for such interim financing; and 

WHEREAS, FCRHA, pursuant to the County’s request, issued on November 28, 2007, 

bond anticipation notes (the “Original Notes”), the proceeds of which were used to pay a portion 

of the purchase price of the Apartment Complex; and 

WHEREAS, FCRHA, pursuant to the County’s request, issued on October 6, 2008 bond 

anticipation notes (the “2008 Notes”) to pay the principal of the Original Notes; and 

WHEREAS, FCRHA, pursuant to the County’s request, issued on August 20, 2009 

revenue bonds as a source of long term financing to pay the principal of the 2008 Notes (the 

“2009 Bonds”); and 

WHEREAS, FCRHA proposes to issue its Revenue Refunding Bonds (Wedgewood 

Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series [2017[A/B]/2018B] in an aggregate principal amount of 

up to $82,000,000 (the “Bonds”) pursuant to the Housing Authorities Law, Chapter 1, Title 36, 

Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Act”), will be sufficient to refund certain 

outstanding 2009 Bonds and pay certain costs of issuance of the Bonds; and   

WHEREAS, FCRHA and the County may have the opportunity in the future to sell all or 

a portion of the Apartment Complex to third parties for purposes of effectuating low income 

housing tax credit financings and FCRHA desires to include in the terms of the Bonds and the 

related documents necessary provisions to allow for such possible sales including provisions 

relating to the extraordinary mandatory redemption of such Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the County proposes to enter into a payment agreement with FCRHA (the 

“Payment Agreement”) by the terms of which the County will agree to make payments to 

FCRHA, subject to appropriation, in sufficient amounts for FCRHA to pay timely the interest 

and the principal of the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the County proposes to enter into an amended and restated lease agreement 

with FCRHA (the “Lease”) by the terms of which the County will lease the Apartment Complex 

to FCRHA; and 

WHEREAS, there has been presented to the Board a proposed form of a Bond Purchase 

Agreement between the Authority and Morgan Stanley & Co LLC, as representative of the 

underwriters (the “Underwriters) and approved by the County relating to the purchase of the Bonds 

(the “Bond Purchase Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, there has been presented to the Board a proposed form of an Assignment 

Agreement (the “Assignment Agreement”) pursuant to which FCRHA will assign to the bond 

registrar and paying agent of the Bonds all of FCRHA’s rights under the Payment Agreement, 

including FCRHA’s rights to the County Payments under, and to enforce the terms and 

provisions of, the Payment Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, there has been presented to the Board a proposed Preliminary Official 

Statement describing the Bonds, the sources of payment and security therefore, FCRHA, the 

County and the Apartment Complex (the “Preliminary Official Statement”); and 

171



Attachment 8 

 

 3 

 

WHEREAS, the County will undertake responsibility for any annual and other reports, 

notices or disclosures that may be required under Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Securities and 

Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended 

from time to time, and make a continuing disclosure undertaking (the “Continuing Disclosure 

Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors has duly reviewed and considered the forms of the  

Payment Agreement, the Lease, the Bonds, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Assignment 

Agreement, the Preliminary Official Statement and the Continuing Disclosure Agreement and 

has determined that each is in acceptable form; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is necessary to delegate to appropriate 

County officials authority to approve the sale of the Bonds including and the details of the 

transaction but subject to the guidelines and standards established hereby; now, therefore, 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia, as follows: 

SECTION 1.  FCRHA is hereby requested to sell the Bonds to the Underwriters in a 

negotiated sale in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $82,000,000 for the purpose of 

providing funds to refund certain outstanding 2009 Bonds and pay costs and expenses associated 

with the issuance of the Bonds. 

SECTION 2.  The form of the Bonds presented to this meeting is approved. 

SECTION 3.  The form of the Payment Agreement presented to this meeting is 

approved, and the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board or the County Executive or the 

Chief Financial Officer of the County (each a “Delegate”), as appropriate, is authorized and 

directed to execute and deliver, in the name and on behalf of the County, and the Clerk or any 

Deputy Clerk is authorized and directed to impress the County’s seal upon, the Payment 

Agreement in substantially such form, with such additions and modifications as shall be 

approved by the Delegate executing the Payment Agreement, such execution being conclusive 

evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 4. The form of the Lease presented to this meeting is approved, and a 

Delegate, as appropriate, is authorized and directed to execute and deliver, in the name and on 

behalf of the County, and the Clerk or any Deputy Clerk is authorized and directed to impress the 

County’s seal upon, the Lease in substantially such form, with such additions and modifications 

as shall be approved by the Delegate executing the Lease, such execution being conclusive 

evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 5.  The form of the Bond Purchase Agreement (including the County’s Letter 

of Representations) presented to this meeting is approved, and a Delegate, as appropriate, is 

authorized and directed to execute and deliver, in the name and on behalf of the County, the 

Bond Purchase Agreement (including the Letter of Representation) in substantially such form, 

with such additions and modifications as shall be approved by the Delegate executing the Bond 

Purchase Agreement, such execution being conclusive evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 6.  The form of an Assignment Agreement presented to this meeting is 

approved, and a Delegate, as appropriate is authorized and directed to execute and deliver, in the 

172



Attachment 8 

 

 4 

 

name and on behalf of the County an acknowledgement of such Assignment Agreement, the 

Assignment Agreement in substantially such form, with such additions and modifications as 

shall be approved by the Delegate executing the Assignment Agreement, such execution being 

conclusive evidence of such approval.  

SECTION 7.  The form of the Preliminary Official Statement is hereby approved and 

deemed “final” for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended.  The distribution and use by the underwriters of a final Official Statement relating to 

the Bonds (the “Official Statement”) is hereby approved.  The Official Statement shall be 

completed with the pricing and other information in substantially the form of the Preliminary 

Official Statement approved this day with such minor changes, insertions and omissions as may 

be approved by a Delegate. 

SECTION 8.  The form of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement presented to this 

meeting is approved, and a Delegate, as appropriate, is authorized and directed to execute and 

deliver in the name and on behalf of the County, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement in such 

form and containing substantially the terms and provisions therein contained, with such additions 

and modifications as shall be approved by the person executing the Continuing Disclosure 

Agreement, such execution thereof being conclusive evidence of such approval 

 SECTION 9.  The execution and delivery by any Delegate of the Payment Agreement, 

the Lease, Bond Purchase Agreement, the Assignment Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure 

Agreement and any other agreements, documents, closing papers and certificates executed and 

delivered pursuant to this Resolution shall be conclusive evidence of the Delegate’s approval, on 

behalf of the County, of the changes, if any, in the form and content of the Payment Agreement, 

the Lease, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Assignment Agreement and the Continuing 

Disclosure Agreement. 

SECTION 10.  The Delegates and other members, officers and employees of the Board 

of Supervisors and the County are hereby authorized and directed to do all acts and things 

required of them by the provisions of the Bonds, the Lease, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the 

Assignment Agreement, the Payment Agreement and the Continuing Disclosure Agreement for 

the full, punctual and complete performance of all the terms, covenants, provisions and 

agreements of the Bonds, the Lease, the Payment Agreement, the Assignment Agreement and the 

Continuing Disclosure Agreement and also to do all acts and things required of them by the 

provisions of this Resolution and the resolution to be adopted by the FCRHA Board of 

Commissioners relating to the Bonds. 

SECTION 11.  Each of the Delegates is authorized to execute one or more certificates 

evidencing the determinations made or other actions carried out pursuant to the authority granted 

in this Resolution, and any such certificate shall be conclusive evidence of the actions or 

determinations as stated therein. 

SECTION 12.  All actions taken by any of the Delegates and other members, officers 

and employees of the County in connection with the transactions authorized and approved 

hereby are hereby ratified and confirmed. 

SECTION 13.  Any and all resolutions of the Board of Supervisors or portions thereof in 

conflict with the provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

173



Attachment 8 

 

 5 

 

SECTION 14.  This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 

 

(Seal)  A Copy Teste: 

  _____________________________ 

  Clerk to the Board of Supervisors 

174



Attachment 9 

28751610.3  
 

 

County & Authority 

PAYMENT AGREEMENT 

This Payment Agreement (this “Agreement”), dated as of _______ __, 2018, by and 

between the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority (the “Authority”) and the 

Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”). 

 

SECTION I. DEFINITIONS 

 

 For purposes of this Agreement, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, the words 

and terms defined in this Section I have the respective meanings given to them herein: 

 

 “Assignment Agreement” means the Assignment Agreement, dated as of _______ __, 

2018 by the Authority pursuant to which the Authority assigns to the bond registrar and paying 

agent of the Bonds all of the Authority’s rights under the Payment Agreement, including the 

Authority’s rights to receive County Payments under and to enforce the terms and provisions of 

this Payment Agreement.  

 

“Bonds” means the $___________ Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority Revenue Refunding Bonds (Wedgewood Affordable Housing Acquisition) [Series 

2017A/B/2018B], dated _______ __, 2018. 

 

“Bond Payment Date” means each Interest Payment Date and Principal Payment Date on 

the Bonds. 

 

“County Payments” means the payments made or to be made by the County, to or for the 

account of the Authority, in respect of scheduled interest and principal payments on the Bonds. 

 

 “County Payment Date” means a Bond Payment Date. 

 

 “Holder of the Bonds” means the registered owners and if the registered owners are a 

nominee the beneficial owners of the Bonds. 

 

“Interest Payment Date” means each April 1 and October 1, commencing October 1, 

2018, each such date being a date when interest is scheduled to be due and payable on the Bonds. 

 

“Payment Agreement” means this Payment Agreement as the same may be amended by 

written agreement of the parties with the consent of the Holder of the Bonds as provided in 

Section 4.02 hereof. 

 

“Principal Payment Date” means each October 1 upon which the principal of any Bond is 

due and payable (whether at maturity or upon sinking fund redemption). 

 

175



Attachment 9 

 

 2 

 

“Property” means the multi-family rental housing complex, including the sites thereof, 

located in Fairfax County, Virginia (the “Property”), identified in the Purchase Contracts, that 

the County acquired from the seller with proceeds of the 2007B Notes to further the  mutual goal 

of the County and the Authority of preserving existing affordable housing in the County. 

 

“Purchaser” means the underwriter or underwriters that shall have purchasesd the Bonds 

pursuant to a negotiated sale and shall receive delivery of the Bonds from the Authority on the 

date hereof. 

 

“Purchase Contracts” means the Agreements of Purchase and Sale made and entered into 

as of the 4th day of October, 2007 between the County, as purchaser, and the seller named 

therein, pursuant to which the County purchased the Property from the seller. 

 

“2007B Notes” means the $105,485,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority Bond Anticipation Notes (Affordable Housing Acquisition), Series 2007B, dated 

November 28, 2007, issued for the purpose of providing a portion of the purchase price of the 

Property. 

 

“2008B Notes” means the $104,105,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority Bond Anticipation Notes (Affordable Housing Acquisition), Series 2008B, dated 

October 6, 2008, issued for the purpose of paying the principal of the 2007B Notes. 

 

“2009 Bonds” means the $94,950,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority Revenue Bonds (Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 2009, dated August 20, 

2009, issued for the purpose of paying the principal of the 2008B Notes. 

 

 

SECTION II.  ISSUANCE OF THE  BONDS BY THE AUTHORITY 

 

Section 2.01. Issuance of the Bonds. The Authority agrees to issue the Bonds on 

or before ______ __, 2018.  The Purchaser has agreed to buy the Bonds from the Authority on 

______ __, 2018.   

 

Section 2.02. Purpose for the Issuance of the Bonds. The Authority agrees to apply 

the proceeds of the Bonds to refund certain outstanding 2009 Bonds and to pay for certain costs 

of issuance of the Bonds, all as approved by the County, and for no other purpose.    

 

SECTION III. PAYMENT UNDERTAKING BY THE COUNTY 

 

Section 3.01. County Payments and Bond Debt Service Payments.  (a) The County 

hereby agrees to make County Payments on each Bond Payment Date as set forth on Exhibit A 

hereto subject to the provisions of Sections 3.02 and 3.03 below. 

 

176



Attachment 9 

 

 3 

 

(b) the County may, at its option, prepay the County Payments in whole or in part on 

any date on or after ______ 1, 20__ on not less than forty-five (45) days’ written notice to the  

Authority accompanied by a specific direction to the Authority to apply such prepayment to the 

redemption of the Bonds in accordance with their terms.  Upon such redemption, the Authority 

shall credit the principal amount of the Bonds so redeemed against the County Payments and 

reduce the remaining County Payments otherwise payable in an amount equal to the sum of (x) 

the principal amount of the Bonds redeemed, (y) the interest on the Bonds so redeemed and (z) 

the interest that would have accrued on such Bonds so redeemed but for such prepayment 

redemption. 

 

(c) [the County will prepay the County Payments in whole or in part at any time on 

not less than forty-five (45) days’ written notice to the Authority upon the extraordinary 

mandatory redemption of Bonds (“Extraordinary Mandatory Redemption”) in whole or in part 

upon the sale by the County of all or any portion of the Property.  Upon the sale of a portion of 

the Property the Bonds to be redeemed shall be the pro rata portion of the Bonds (rounded up to 

the next $5,000 increment) allocable to that portion of the Property, all in accordance with the 

terms of the Bonds.  Upon such redemption, the Authority shall credit the principal amount of 

the Bonds so redeemed against the County Payments and reduce the remaining County Payments 

otherwise payable in an amount equal to the sum of (x) the principal amount of the Bonds 

redeemed, (y) the interest on the Bonds so redeemed and (z) the interest that would have accrued 

on such Bonds so redeemed but for such prepayment redemption.] 

 

Section 3.02. Payments Subject to Appropriation. The obligation of the County to 

make the County Payments under this Agreement is contingent upon the appropriation for the 

applicable fiscal year by the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors of funds from which such 

County Payments can be made.  The County shall not be liable for any County Payments which 

may be payable pursuant to this Payment Agreement unless and until such funds have been 

appropriated for payment and then only to the extent thereof.  This Payment Agreement shall not 

constitute a pledge of the full faith and credit of the County or a bond or debt of the County in 

violation of Section 10 of Article VII of the Constitution of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

Section 3.03. County Executive to Request Appropriations.   

The Board of Supervisors of the County covenants that it will cause the County 

Executive in preparing the County’s operating budget for each fiscal year subsequent to fiscal 

year 2018 so long as the Bonds remain outstanding under the Authority’s Bond Resolution 

passed by the Authority on ____ __, 2017 (the “Authority Bond Resolution”) to include as a 

separate line item therein the debt service on the Bonds that is scheduled to become due and 

payable during such fiscal year for which the budget is proposed.  In the alternative, the County 

Executive may include in a line item in the County’s operating budget the debt service on the 

Bonds that is scheduled to become due and payable during such fiscal year together with other 

amounts due and payable by the County during such fiscal year under similar arrangements for 

other projects. 

177



Attachment 9 

 

 4 

 

Section 3.04. Consent to Assignment.  The County hereby agrees that the Authority 

shall assign to the bond registrar and paying agent of the Bonds the Authority’s rights under this 

Payment Agreement, including the Authority’s rights to receive County Payments under and to 

enforce the terms and provisions of this Payment Agreement.  

 

SECTION IV. MISCELLANEOUS 

 

Section 4.01. Third Party Beneficiaries. This Payment Agreement shall inure to the 

benefit of the Authority, the County and the Holder of the Bonds, and no other persons shall be 

deemed third party beneficiaries of this Payment Agreement. 

 

Section 4.02. Amendments. This Agreement may be amended or any of its terms 

modified only by a written document authorized, executed and delivered by the Authority and 

the County with the prior written consent of the Holder of the Bonds. 

 

Section 4.03.  Effective Date.  This Agreement shall take effect immediately upon its 

execution and delivery.  

 

Section 4.04. Termination. This Agreement shall terminate upon the earlier of the 

retirement and the defeasance of the Bonds. 

 

Section 4.05. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more 

counterparts and when each party hereto has executed at least one counterpart, this Agreement 

shall become binding on both parties and such counterparts shall be deemed to be one and the 

same document. 

 

Section 4.06. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

 

 

[The rest of this page is left blank intentionally] 

178



Attachment 9 

 

 5 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority and the County have caused this Agreement to 

be executed by their respective duly authorized officers, all as of the date and year first written 

above. 

 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING 

AUTHORITY 

 

 

 

 

By:______________________________ 

                        

  Chairman 

 

 

[SEAL] 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

By: _________________________ 

 

Assistant Secretary 

 

 

      BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

  

  

 By:____________________________ 

                       

County Executive 

 

 

[SEAL] 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

By: ______________________________ 

 

Clerk to the Board of Supervisors

179



Attachment 9 

28751610.3  
 

 

Exhibit A 

 

    County Payments 

 
County 

Payment Date 

 

    Principal 

 

       Interest 

 

       Total 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

180



Attachment 9 

 

 7 

 

County 

Payment Date 

 

    Principal 

 

       Interest 

 

       Total 

 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

 

181



Attachment 10 

28751937.3  1 
 

ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT 

(Wedgewood Affordable Housing Acquisition) 

THIS ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT (“Assignment”) is made as of _____ __, 2018, 

from the FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY, a political 

subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, as assignor (the “Assignor”) to the Director of 

the Department of Finance of Fairfax County, as bond registrar and paying agent of the 

$____________ Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Revenue Refunding 

Bonds (Wedgewood Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series [2017A/B/2018B] (the 

“Assignee”). 

RECITALS 

Assignor and Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”) have entered into a Payment 

Agreement, dated as of _____ __, 2018 (the “Payment Agreement”), between the County and 

Assignor pursuant to the terms of which the County will agree to make payments to the Assignor 

in sufficient amounts for the Assignor to pay timely the interest and the principal of the 

$____,_____,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Revenue Refunding 

Bonds (Wedgewood Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series [2017A/B/2018B] (the “Bonds”).  

The Bonds are being issued to provide funds, together with other funds, sufficient to refund (i) 

certain outstanding Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Revenue Bonds 

(Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 2009 issued to pay the outstanding principal amount of 

the $104,105,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Bond Anticipation 

Notes (Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 2008B due on October 1, 2009, the proceeds of 

which were applied to pay the principal amount of bond anticipation notes issued in November, 

2007, the proceeds of which were used by the County to pay a portion of the purchase price of 

the 424-unit Wedgewood West Apartments multi-family rental housing complex, including the 

approximately 21.9-acre site thereof, the 123-unit Wedgewood East Apartments multi-family 

rental housing complex, including the approximately 6.9-acre site thereof and the 125-unit 

Wedgewood Manor Apartments multi-family rental housing complex, including the 

approximately 6.0-acre site thereof all located in Annandale, Virginia and (ii) certain costs of 

issuance of the Bonds.  Assignor has agreed to assign to the Assignee for the benefit of the 

owners of the Bonds all of its right, title and interest in and to the Payment Agreement including 

the Assignor’s right to receive payments and to conform and enforce the provisions of the 

Payment Agreement. 

Unless otherwise defined in this Assignment, all capitalized terms used in this 

Assignment shall have the same meanings as set forth in the Payment Agreement. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and One Dollar ($1) paid 

by Assignee, Assignor hereby conveys, transfers and assigns unto Assignee, its successors and 

assigns, for the benefit of the owners of the Bonds, all the rights, interest and privileges which 

Assignor has and may have in the Payment Agreement, including all payments or monies due 

and becoming due therefrom.   

182



Attachment 10 

28751937.3  2 
 

This Assignment is made as additional security for the payment of the principal of and 

interest on the Bonds and all other payments required by, and the performance of the County’s 

and Assignor’s obligations under, the Bonds and the Payment Agreement.  Notwithstanding 

anything contained herein to the contrary, this Assignment is intended to be an absolute 

assignment from Assignor to Assignee of County Payments and not merely a granting of a 

security interest. 

The acceptance of this Assignment and the collection of County Payments under the 

Payment Agreement hereby assigned shall not constitute a waiver of any rights of Assignee 

under the terms of the Bonds, the Payment Agreement or any other agreement or instrument 

executed in connection therewith.  Assignee shall not be obligated to perform or discharge any 

obligation or duty to be performed or discharged by Assignor under the Payment Agreement.   

Assignor covenants and represents that no other assignment of any interest in the County 

Payments assigned has been made, and that Assignor will not hereafter amend, alter, modify, 

cancel, surrender or terminate the Payment Agreement, exercise any option which might lead to 

any such amendment, alteration, modification, cancellation, surrender or termination or consent 

to the release of the County thereunder without the prior written consent of Assignee. 

Assignor hereby authorizes and directs the County to make all payments due under the 

Payment Agreement directly to the Assignee. 

The full performance of the Bonds and the Payment Agreement shall render this 

Assignment void. 

The net proceeds collected by Assignee under the terms of this instrument shall be 

applied in reduction of the entire indebtedness from time to time unpaid on the Bonds. 

This Assignment applies to and binds the parties hereto and their respective heirs, 

administrators, executors, successors and assigns. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Assignor has executed this Assignment Agreement as of the 

date first written above. 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND 

HOUSING AUTHORITY 

By:        

 

Chairman 

 

 

 

 

 

183



Attachment 10 

28751937.3  3 
 

 

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE TO ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT] 

184



Attachment 10 

28751937.3  4 
 

 

COUNTY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT: 

Fairfax County, Virginia, as obligor under the aforementioned Payment Agreement, 

hereby acknowledges and accepts the foregoing Assignment Agreement as executed and 

delivered by the Assignor. 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

By:       

 

County Executive 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
[COUNTY ACKNOWLEDGMENT PAGE TO ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT] 

185



Attachment 11 

28762692.3  
 

 

AMENDED AND RESTATED LEASE AGREEMENT 

Between 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

 

       Landlord, 

and 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

 

       Tenant. 

relating to 

WEDGEWOOD AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACQUISITION  

_______________________________ 

 

Dated as of ________ __, 2018 

 

186



Attachment 11 

 

28762692.3  
1 

 

AMENDED AND RESTATED LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED LEASE AGREEMENT dated as of 

________ __, 2018 (“Lease”), by and between the BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia 

and having its principal office at 12000 Government Center Parkway, Fairfax, Virginia (the 

“County”) and the FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING 

AUTHORITY, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia having its principal 

office at 3700 Pender Drive, Suite 300, Fairfax, Virginia (the “Authority”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this Lease, the 

Authority has issued its $___________ Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority 

Revenue Refunding Bonds (Wedgewood Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 

[2017/A/B/2018B] (the “Bonds”), which are sufficient to refund (i) certain outstanding 

maturities (the “Refunded Bonds”) of the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority Revenue Bonds (Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 2009 (the “Series 2009 

Bonds”) which were issued to pay the outstanding principal amount of the $104,105,000 Fairfax 

County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Bond Anticipation Notes due on October 1, 2009 

the proceeds of which were used to pay the principal amount of bond anticipation notes issued in 

November, 2007, the proceeds of which were used by the County to pay a portion of the 

purchase price of a multi-family rental housing complex comprised of the 424-unit Wedgewood 

West Apartments, including its site of approximately 21.9 acres, the 123-unit Wedgewood East 

Apartments, including its site of approximately 6.9 acres, and the 125-unit Wedgewood Manor 

Apartments, including its site of approximately 6.0 acres, all located in Annandale, Virginia 

(collectively, the “Property”) and (ii) certain costs of issuance of the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, certain maturities of the 2009 Bonds will remain outstanding after 

the issuance of the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, both the County and Authority desire to amend and restate the lease 

agreement dated as of August 20, 2009 by and between the County and the Authority relating to 

the Property entered into upon the issuance of the 2009 Bonds; 

WHEREAS, simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this Lease, the 

Authority has prepaid the rent due under this Lease by causing the proceeds of the Bonds, 

[together with other funds] to be applied to the refunding of the Refunded Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this Lease, the 

parties will also enter into a Payment Agreement of even date (the “Payment Agreement”) by 

the terms of which the County will agree to make payments to the Authority in amounts 

sufficient for the Authority to pay timely debt service on the Bonds and the Authority, with the 

consent of the County, will assign its rights under the Payment Agreement to the Director of 

Finance for Fairfax County, as bond registrar and paying agent for the benefit of the holders of 

the Bonds;  

187



Attachment 11 

 

28762692.3  
2 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein 

and the sum of Ten Dollars ($10) paid by the Authority to the County and receipt of which is 

hereby acknowledged by the County, the County hereby leases to the Authority the Property 

which is hereinafter identified generally and includes the parcel of land described in Exhibit A to 

this Lease and all improvements thereon, as the same may at any time exist, subject to 

encumbrances specified in Exhibit B to this lease and subject to the following terms and 

conditions: 

1. Term of Lease.  The term of this Lease commences on _____ __, 20__ 

(“Effective Date”) and expires on __________ 1, 20__.  This Lease replaces and terminates the 

Lease between the County and the Authority relating to the Property dated as of August 20, 

2009.  

2. Rent.  [The County agrees to lease the Property to the Authority for a 

rental equal to the proceeds of the Bonds, which rental shall be prepaid in a lump sum on the 

Effective Date by payment of such proceeds of the Bonds to the escrow agent for the Refunded 

Bonds.  Upon such payment the rent due hereunder shall be deemed paid in full.  [– any other 

rent?] 

3. Purposes for which Property May Be Used.  The Property which is 

subject to this Lease may be used and occupied, and shall be operated and managed by the 

Authority, solely for purposes authorized by and in accordance with the provisions of the 

Housing Authorities Law, Chapter 1, Title 36, of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the 

“Enabling Act”).  To that end, the Authority hereby covenants to implement and comply with 

the terms of the resolution adopted by the Commissioners of the Authority on November 1, 2007 

with respect to the income limits applicable to tenants of the Property and the requirement that 

the Property be operated and maintained as a “residential building” within the meaning of the 

Enabling Act. 

4. Compliance with All Laws, Rules and Regulations.  The parties hereto 

represent that each will comply with all applicable, binding laws, rules and regulations, whether 

Federal, Commonwealth of Virginia or County, relating to the use and occupancy of the 

Property. 

5. Nonassignability.  This Lease shall not be assigned by either party 

without the prior written approval of the other party. 

6. Termination.  This Lease may be terminated by the County, at its option, 

at any time prior to the expiration date after payment, or provision for payment, in full of the 

principal of and redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.  

7 Release of a Portion of the Property.  Notwithstanding any other 

provisions of this Lease, the parties hereto reserve the right at any time and from time to time to 

amend this Lease and the leasehold estate created hereby to release (i) any portion of the 

Property, including any unimproved portion of the Property, provided the Director of Public 

Works of the County or any person holding the highest rated engineering position held by the 

County or an independent engineer or engineering firm if so designated by the Board of 

188



Attachment 11 

 

28762692.3  
3 

 

Supervisors of the County provides a certificate not more than sixty (60) days prior to the date of 

the proposed release which states such release will not adversely affect the utility of the Property 

as a multi-family rental housing facility, (ii) any part of the Property with respect to which the 

County proposes to grant an easement or convey fee title to a public utility or public body in 

order that utility services or roads or other services may be provided for the Property or (iii) any 

portion of the Property pursuant to a sale of such portion of the Property, provided that the 

portion of the Bonds issued allocable to such portion of the Property sold are redeemed with the 

proceeds of such sale; provided further that, if at the time such amendment is made any portion 

of the Bonds is outstanding there shall be deposited with the bond registrar and paying agent of 

the Bonds the following: 

(a) A copy of the said amendment as executed; 

(b) A resolution of the Board of Supervisors of the County (i) stating that the 

County is not in default under any of the provisions of this Lease or the Payment Agreement and 

the Authority is not to the knowledge of the County in default under any provisions of this Lease 

or the Payment Agreement, (ii) giving an adequate legal description of that portion of the 

Property to be released, (iii) stating the purpose for which the County desires the release and (iv) 

stating approval of the amendment; and 

(c) A certificate showing that the Authority has approved such amendment 

and stating the Authority is not in default under any provisions of this Lease or the Payment 

Agreement; and 

(d) An opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the release of the Property  

will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income of interest on the Bonds for federal 

income tax purposes. 

8. Surrender  of  Property.  On the expiration date or upon earlier 

termination of this Lease, the Authority shall quietly and peaceably surrender the Property.  The 

County waives any right to recover from the Authority for any unrepaired damage to the 

Property upon such surrender.  

9. Limitation of Liability of the Authority.  The obligations of the 

Authority hereunder are not general obligations of the Authority but are limited obligations 

payable solely from the proceeds of the Bonds. 

9. Limitation of Personal Liability.  No covenant, condition or agreement 

contained herein shall be deemed to be a covenant, agreement or obligation of any present or 

future supervisor, commissioner, officer, employee or agent of the County or the Authority in his 

or her individual capacity, nor shall any supervisor, commissioner, officer, employee or agent of 

the County or the Authority incur any personal liability with respect to any other action pursuant 

to this  Lease, provided such supervisor, commissioner, officer, employee or agent acts in good 

faith. 

189



Attachment 11 

 

28762692.3  
4 

 

10. Insurance.  Insurance for the Property will be maintained by the parties 

for each year that this lease is effective in the insurance types and limits as set forth in Exhibit 

C. 

11. Governing Law.  The laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia shall 

govern the validity, interpretation, construction, and performance of this Lease. 

12. Amendments.  This Lease shall not be amended, changed or modified 

except by a written instrument duly executed by the parties hereto.   

13. Severability.  If any provision of this Lease is declared to be invalid by a 

court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

190



Attachment 11 

 

28762692.3  
5 

 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Lease under Seal as of the 

day and year first written above. 

 

 

[SEAL]     BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

      FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

___________________________  By: ________________________ 

                

  Clerk                County Executive 

       

 

 

 

 

[SEAL]     FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT 

      AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

___________________________  By: ________________________ 

                     

    Assistant Secretary             Chairman 

191



Attachment 11 

 

 

Exhibit A 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

Property To Be Leased By 

 

Board of Supervisors of 

Fairfax County, Virginia 

to 

Fairfax County Redevelopment and 

Housing Authority 

 

192



Attachment 11 

 

 

Exhibit B 

 

PERMITTED ENCUMBRANCES 

 

 “Permitted Encumbrances” shall mean, as of any particular time: 

193



Attachment 11 

 

 

Exhibit C 

 

INSURANCE 

194



Attachment 12 

 

 

1 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 

 This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the “Disclosure Agreement”) is executed and 

delivered by Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”) in connection with the issuance by the 

Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority (“FCRHA”) of its $__________ Revenue 

Refunding Bonds (Wedgewood Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series [2017A/B/2018B] (the 

“Bonds”) issued pursuant to the provisions of a resolution adopted on _______ __, 2017 by 

FCRHA.  The proceeds of the Bonds are being used to provide funds, which together with other 

funds, are sufficient to (i) refund certain outstanding maturities of the Fairfax County 

Redevelopment and Housing Authority Revenue Bonds (Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 

2009 (the “Refunded Bonds”) which were issued to pay the outstanding principal amount of the 

$104,105,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Bond Anticipation Notes 

(Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 2008B the proceeds of which were used to pay the 

principal amount of bond anticipation notes issued in November 2007, to pay a portion of the 

payment price of a multi-family rental housing facility and (ii) pay certain costs of issuance of 

the Bonds.  The County hereby covenants and agrees as follows: 

 SECTION 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement.  This Disclosure Agreement is 

being executed and delivered by the County acting on behalf of itself and the Authority, for the 

benefit of the holders of the Bonds and in order to assist the Participating Underwriters (defined 

below) in complying with the Rule (defined below).  Under the Rule, the County is an “obligated 

person.”  The County acknowledges that it is undertaking responsibility for any reports, notices 

or disclosures that may be required under this Disclosure Agreement. 

SECTION 2. Definitions.  In addition to the definitions set forth in the Resolution, 

which apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement unless otherwise defined 

in this Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 

“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the County pursuant to, and 

as described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement. 

“Dissemination Agent” shall mean the County, acting in its capacity as Dissemination 

Agent hereunder, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the County and 

which has filed with the County a written acceptance of such designation. 

“Filing Date” shall have the meaning given to such term in Section 3(a) hereof. 

“Fiscal Year” shall mean the twelve month period at the end of which financial position 

and results of operations are determined.  Currently, the County’s Fiscal Year begins July 1 and 

continues through June 30 of the next calendar year. 

“Holder” or “holder” shall mean, for purposes of this Disclosure Agreement, any person 

who is a record owner or beneficial owner of the Bonds. 

“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in subsection (b)(5)(i)(C) of the Rule, 

which are as follows: 

(1)  principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

195



Attachment 12 

 

2 

(2)  non-payment related defaults; if material; 

(3)  unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

(4)  unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

(5)  substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

(6)  adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or 

final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 570-TEB) or other 

material notices or determinations with respect to or events affecting the tax status of the Bonds; 

(7)  modifications to rights of holders, if material; 

(8)  bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

(9)  defeasances; 

(10)  release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if 

material; 

(11)  rating changes; 

(12)  bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the County; 

(13)  the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the County 

or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the County, other than in the ordinary course 

of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination 

of a definitive agreement relating any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; 

and 

(14)  appointment of a successor or additional paying agent or the change of name of a 

paying agent, if material.  

“Participating Underwriters” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the Bonds 

required to comply with the Rule in connection with the offering of such Bonds. 

“Repository” shall mean The Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system 

administered by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.  EMMA is recognized as a 

National Repository for purposes of the Rule. 

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission 

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time. 

SECTION 3. Provision of Annual Reports. 

A. The County shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, provide to the 

Repository an Annual Report which is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this 

Disclosure Agreement.  Such Annual Report shall be filed on a date (the “Filing Date”) that is 

196



Attachment 12 

 

3 

not later than March 31 after the end of any Fiscal Year (commencing with its Fiscal Year 

ending June 30, 2018).  Not later than ten (10) days prior to the Filing Date, the County shall 

provide the Annual Report to the Dissemination Agent (if applicable).  In such case, the Annual 

Report (i) may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a 

package, (ii) may cross-reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure 

Agreement, and (iii) shall include the County’s audited financial statements or, if audited 

financial statements are not available, such unaudited financial statements as may be required by 

the Rule.  In any event, audited financial statements of the County must be submitted, if and 

when available, together with or separately from the Annual Report. 

B. The annual financial statements of the County shall be prepared on the basis of 

generally accepted accounting principles and will be audited.  Copies of the audited annual 

financial statements, which may be filed separately from the Annual Report, will be filed with 

the Repository when they become publicly available. 

C. If the County fails to provide an Annual Report to the Repository by the date 

required in subsection (A) hereto or to file its audited annual financial statements with the 

Repository when they become publicly available, the County shall send a notice to the 

Repository in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

SECTION 4. Content of Annual Reports.  Except as otherwise agreed, any Annual 

Report required to be filed hereunder shall contain or incorporate by reference, at a minimum, 

annual financial information relating to the County, including operating data, updating such 

information relating to the County as described in Exhibit A, all with a view toward assisting the 

Participating Underwriters in complying with the Rule. 

Any or all of such information may be incorporated by reference from other documents, 

including official statements of securities issues with respect to which the County is an 

“obligated person” (within the meaning of the Rule), which have been filed with the Repository 

or the Securities and Exchange Commission.  If the document incorporated by reference is a final 

official statement, it must be available from the Repository.  The County shall clearly identify 

each such other document so incorporated by reference. 

SECTION 5. Reporting of Listed Events.  The County will provide within 10 business 

days to the Repository notice of any of the Listed Events. 

SECTION 6. Termination of Reporting Obligation.  The County’s obligations under this 

Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the earlier to occur of the legal defeasance and the 

final retirement of all the Bonds. 

SECTION 7. Dissemination Agent.  The County may, from time to time, appoint or 

engage a Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure 

Agreement and may discharge any such Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a 

successor Dissemination Agent.  If at any time there is not any other designated Dissemination 

Agent, the County shall be the Dissemination Agent. 

SECTION 8. Amendment.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure 

Agreement, the County may amend this Disclosure Agreement, if such amendment is supported 

197



Attachment 12 

 

4 

by an opinion of independent counsel with expertise in federal securities laws, to the effect that 

such amendment is permitted or required by the Rule. 

SECTION 9. Additional Information.  Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be 

deemed to prevent the County from disseminating any other information, using the means of 

dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, or 

including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, 

in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Agreement.  If the County chooses to 

include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in 

addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement, the County shall 

have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update such information or include it in 

any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event. 

SECTION 10. Default.  Any person referred to in Section 11 (other than the County) may 

take such action as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific 

performance by court order, to cause the County to file its Annual Report or to give notice of a 

Listed Event.  The holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds 

outstanding may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking 

mandate or specific performance by court order, to challenge the adequacy of any information 

provided pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement, or to enforce any other obligation of the County 

hereunder.  A default under this Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed an event of default 

under the Resolution, or the Bonds, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Agreement in the 

event of any failure of the County to comply herewith shall be an action to compel performance.  

Nothing in this provision shall be deemed to restrict the rights or remedies of any holder pursuant 

to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, or 

other applicable laws. 

SECTION 11.  Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit 

of the County, the Participating Underwriters, and holders from time to time of the Bonds, and 

shall create no rights in any other person or entity. 

Date:  __________ __, ___ 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

By: ______________________________ 

        Chief Financial Officer

198



Attachment 12 

 

 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

CONTENT OF ANNUAL REPORT 

Respecting Fairfax County, Virginia  

(a) Financial Information.  Updated information concerning General Fund 

revenues, expenditures, categories of expenditures, fund balances, assessed value of taxable 

property, tax rates, major taxpayers, and tax levies and collections. 

(b) Debt Information.  Updated information concerning general obligation bonds 

indebtedness, including bonds authorized and unissued, bonds outstanding, the ratios of debt to 

the market value of taxable property, debt per capita, and debt service as a percentage of General 

Fund disbursements. 

(c) Demographic Information.  Updated demographic information respecting the 

County, such as its population, public school enrollment and per pupil expenditure. 

(d) Economic Information.  Updated economic information respecting the County 

such as income, employment, unemployment, building permits and taxable sales data. 

(e) Retirement Plans.  Updated information respecting pension and retirement plans 

for County employees, including a summary of membership, revenues, expenses and actuarial 

valuation(s) of such plans. 

(f) Contingent Liabilities.  A summary of material litigation and other material 

contingent liabilities pending against the County. 

 In general, the foregoing will include information as of the end of the most recent fiscal 

year or as of the most recent practicable date.  Where information for the fiscal year just ended is 

provided, it may be preliminary and unaudited.  Where information has historically been 

provided for more than a single period, comparable information will in general be provided for 

the same number of periods where valid and available.  Where comparative demographic or 

economic information for the County and the United States as a whole is contemporaneously 

available and, in the judgment of the County, informative, such information may be included.  

Where, in the judgment of the County, an accompanying narrative is required to make data 

presented not misleading, such narrative will be provided. 

199



Attachment 12 

 

 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

NOTICE OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 

[AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS] 

Re: FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS (AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACQUISITION) 

SERIES [2017A/B 2018B] 

 

 

CUSIP NOS.   ___-___ 

Dated: _________ __, 20__ 

 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that Fairfax County, Virginia has not provided an Annual 

Report [Audited Annual Financial Statements] as required by Section 3 of the Continuing 

Disclosure Agreement, which was entered into in connection with the above-named bonds.  [The 

County anticipates that the Annual Report [Audited Annual Financial Statements] will be filed 

by ___________.] 

Dated: ________________ 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

By: _______________________________ 

Title: 

200



Attachment 13 

 

 

 

 

 

UNLESS THIS CERTIFICATE IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED 

REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY, A NEW YORK 

CORPORATION (“DTC”), TO THE FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OR ITS AGENT FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, 

EXCHANGE, OR PAYMENT, AND ANY CERTIFICATE ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN 

THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR IN SUCH OTHER NAME AS IS REQUESTED BY AN 

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC (AND ANY PAYMENT IS MADE TO 

CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN 

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR 

OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS 

WRONGFUL INASMUCH AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., 

HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN. 

R-1  $____________ 
 

United States of America 

Commonwealth of Virginia 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE REFUNDING BOND (WEDGEWOOD AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

ACQUISITION) 

SERIES [2017A/B2018B] 

 

INTEREST RATE  MATURITY DATE  DATED DATE    CUSIP  

         ______%  _______ 1, 20__  ______ __, 20__   ____ __ 

 

REGISTERED HOLDER: CEDE & CO.  

 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: _____________________ DOLLARS ($________) 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY (the 

“Authority”) for value received, promises to pay, solely from the sources specifically identified 

herein to the Holder named above the Principal Amount stated above on the Maturity Date and to 

pay solely from such sources, interest on such Principal Amount on each April 1 and October 1, 

commencing October 1, 2018, at the rate per annum specified above.  This Bond shall bear 

interest from their Dated Date.  The principal and interest so payable on this Bond will be paid to 

the Holder, at the office of the Director of the Department of Finance of Fairfax County, Virginia 

as paying agent and bond registrar for this Bond (the “Bond Registrar”), in Fairfax County, 

Virginia (the “County”).  Both the principal of and the interest, calculated on the basis of a 360-

day year consisting of twelve 30-day months, on this Bond shall be payable in any coin or 

currency of the United States of America which is legal tender for the payment of public and 

201



Attachment 13 

 

 

 2 

 

 

 

private debts on the respective dates of payment thereof.  The interest so payable and punctually 

paid or duly provided for on any interest payment date will, be paid by wire transfer, at the 

discretion of the Bond Registrar or by check mailed to the person in whose name this Bond is 

registered at the close of business on the regular record date for such interest, which shall be the 

March 15 or September 15 (whether or not a business day) next preceding such interest payment 

date.  Any such interest not so punctually paid or duly provided for shall forthwith cease to be 

payable to the registered owner on such regular record date, and may be paid to the person in 

whose name this Bond (or any Predecessor Bond) is registered at the close of business on a 

special record date for the payment of such defaulted interest to be fixed by the Bond Registrar, 

notice whereof being given by the Bond Registrar by mail to the registered owners not less than 

10 days prior to such special record date, or may be paid at any time in any other lawful manner 

not inconsistent with the requirements of any securities exchange on which the Bonds of this 

series may be listed and upon such notice as may be required by such exchange, or as more fully 

provided in the Resolution (defined below).  Such payment of interest shall be by check mailed 

to the registered owner at such owner’s address as it appears on the bond registration books of 

the County maintained by the Bond Registrar and shall be made in any coin or currency of the 

united States of America which on the date of payment thereof is legal tender for the payment of 

public and private debts. 

 

This Bond and the bonds of the series of which it is one (the “Bonds”) are authorized and 

issued by the Authority pursuant to the Housing Authorities Law, Chapter 1, Title 36, of the 

Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, and other applicable law, and a resolution duly adopted 

by the Authority on _____ __, 2017 (the “Resolution”) to provide funds are sufficient to (i) 

refund certain outstanding maturities of the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority Revenue Bonds (Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 2009 which were issued to 

pay the outstanding principal amount of the $104,105,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and 

Housing Authority Bond Anticipation Notes (Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 2008B due 

on October 1, 2009 the proceeds of which were used to pay the principal amount of bond 

anticipation notes issued in November, 2007, the proceeds of which were used by the County to 

pay a portion of the purchase price of a multi-family rental housing complex comprised of the 

424-unit Wedgewood West Apartments, including its site of approximately 21.9 acres, the 123-

unit Wedgewood East Apartments, including its site of approximately 6.9 acres, and the 125-unit 

Wedgewood Manor Apartments, including its site of approximately 6.0 acres, all located in 

Annandale, Virginia (collectively, the “Property”) and (ii) pay certain costs of issuance of the 

Bonds. 

These Bonds are limited obligations of the Authority and payable from payments made 

under a Payment Agreement, dated as of _______ __, 2018 between the Authority and the 

County (the “Payment Agreement”) pursuant to which the County has agreed to make payments 

in amounts sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds (“County Payments”).  

The County’s obligation to make payments under the Payment Agreement in any fiscal year of 

the County is subject to and contingent upon the annual appropriation of funds by the Board of 

Supervisors of the County for such purpose but is otherwise unconditional.  In an Assignment 

Agreement, dated as of ______ __, 2018, the Authority has assigned to the Bond Registrar its 

rights under the Payment Agreement, including its rights to receive County Payments and its 

right to enforce the provisions of the Payment Agreement.   

202



Attachment 13 

 

 

 3 

 

 

 

THIS BOND AND THE INTEREST THEREON ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF 

THE AUTHORITY, PAYABLE SOLELY FROM REVENUES, RECEIPTS AND SECURITY 

PLEDGED THEREFOR UNDER THE PAYMENT AGREEMENT.  NEITHER THE 

COMMISSIONERS OF THE AUTHORITY NOR ANY PERSON EXECUTING THIS BOND 

SHALL BE LIABLE PERSONALLY ON THIS BOND BY REASON OF THE ISSUANCE 

THEREOF.  THIS BOND SHALL NOT BE A DEBT OF THE COUNTY, THE 

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA (THE “COMMONWEALTH”) OR ANY POLITICAL 

SUBDIVISION THEREOF (OTHER THAN THE AUTHORITY), AND NEITHER THE 

COUNTY NOR THE COMMONWEALTH OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF 

(OTHER THAN THE AUTHORITY) SHALL BE LIABLE THEREON, NOR IN ANY EVENT 

SHALL THIS BOND BE PAYABLE OUT OF ANY FUNDS OR PROPERTIES OTHER 

THAN THOSE OF THE AUTHORITY PLEDGED THEREFOR PURSUANT TO THE 

RESOLUTION AND PAYMENT AGREEMENT.  THIS BOND SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE 

AN INDEBTEDNESS WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR 

STATUTORY DEBT LIMITATION OR RESTRICTION.  THE AUTHORITY HAS NO 

TAXING POWER. 

The Bond Registrar shall keep at its office the books for the registration of transfer of the 

Bonds.  The transfer of these Bonds may be registered only upon such books and  upon the 

surrender hereof to the Bond Registrar together with an assignment duly executed by the 

registered owner hereof or his attorney or legal representative in such form as shall be 

satisfactory to the Bond Registrar.  Upon any such registration of transfer, the Bond Registrar 

shall deliver in exchange for this Bond a new Bond or Bonds, registered in the name of the 

transferee, of authorized denominations, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the 

unredeemed principal amount of this Bond, of the same series and maturity and bearing interest 

at the same rate.   

The Bonds are issuable in fully registered form in the denomination of $5,000 or any 

multiple thereof.  At the office of the Bond Registrar, in the manner and subject to the conditions 

provided in the Resolution, bonds may be exchanged for an equal aggregate principal amount of 

bonds of the same series and maturity, of authorized denominations and bearing interest at the 

same rate. 

The Bonds which mature on or before ________ 1, 20__ are not subject to optional 

redemption before maturity.  Bonds which mature after _____ 1, 20__ may be redeemed, at the 

option of the Authority, before their respective maturities on any date not earlier than _____ 1, 

20__, in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000), upon payment of the redemption price 

of par plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

 The Bonds maturing on ________ 1, 20__ and _____ 1, 20__ are required to be 

redeemed on in accordance with the sinking fund requirements set forth below.  Such redemption 

shall be at the principal amount set forth below, plus accrued interest to the redemption date, and 

without premium: 

 

203



Attachment 13 

 

 

 4 

 

 

 

 

 

_______ 1  Principal Amount _________ 1 Principal Amount 

20__ $ 20__ $ 

20__  20__   

20__*  20__*   
    

* Final Maturity    

 

The Bonds are also subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption (“Extraordinary 

Mandatory Redemption”) in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000) on any date after 

_________ __, 20__, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount redeemed thereof, 

together with the interest accrued to the redemption date on the principal amount to be redeemed, 

within six months from the date of the sale by the County of all or any portion of the Property.  

Upon the sale of a portion of the Property, the Bonds to be redeemed shall be the pro rata portion 

of the Bonds (such portion to be rounded up to the next $5,000 increment) allocable to that 

portion of the Property. 

 

[If less than all of the Bonds of any one maturity shall be called for Extraordinary 

Mandatory Redemption, the particular Bonds or portions of Bonds of such maturities to be 

redeemed shall be selected pursuant to a pro-rata allocation; provided, however, that the portion 

of any Bond to be redeemed shall be in the principal amount of $5,000 or some multiple thereof 

and that, in selecting Bonds for redemption, the Bond Registrar shall treat each Bond as 

representing that number of Bonds which is obtained by dividing the principal amount of such 

Bond by $5,000.   If less than all of the Bonds of any one maturity shall be called for optional 

redemption, the particular Bonds or portions of Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed shall be 

selected by lot by the Bond Registrar in such manner as the Bond Registrar in its discretion may 

determine; provided, however, that the portion of any bond to be redeemed shall be in the 

principal amount of $5,000 or some multiple thereof and that, in selecting Bonds for redemption, 

the Bond Registrar shall treat each Bond as representing that number of bonds which is obtained 

by dividing the principal amount of such bond by $5,000.] 

Not more than sixty (60) nor less than thirty (30) days before the redemption date of any 

bonds to be redeemed, whether such redemption be in whole or in part, the Authority shall cause 

a notice of such redemption to be filed with the Bond Registrar and to be mailed, postage 

prepaid, to the registered owner of each bond to be redeemed in whole or in part at his address 

appearing upon the registration books of the Bond Registrar, but failure to mail such notice or 

any defect therein shall not affect the validity of the redemption.  If a portion of this Bond shall 

be called for redemption, a new bond or bonds in principal amount equal to the unredeemed 

portion hereof will be issued to the registered owner hereof or his legal representative upon the 

surrender hereof.   

204



Attachment 13 

 

 

 5 

 

 

 

Any notice of optional redemption of the Bonds may state that it is conditioned upon 

there being available an amount of money sufficient to pay the redemption price plus interest 

accrued and unpaid to the redemption date, and any conditional notice so given may be rescinded 

at any time before the payment of the redemption price if any such condition so specified is not 

satisfied.  If a redemption does not occur after a conditional notice is given due to an insufficient 

amount of funds on deposit with the Bond Registrar, the corresponding notice of redemption 

shall be deemed to be revoked. 

If the Authority causes the Bond Registrar to give an unconditional notice of redemption, 

then on the redemption date the Bonds called for redemption will become due and payable.  If 

the Authority causes the Bond Registrar to give a conditional notice of redemption, and the 

amount of money to pay the redemption price of the affected Bonds shall have been set aside 

with the Trustee or a depositary (either, a “depositary”) for the purpose of paying such Bonds, 

then on the redemption date the Bonds will become due and payable.  In either case, if on the 

redemption date the Bond Registrar holds sufficient money to pay the Bonds called for 

redemption, thereafter no interest will accrue on those Bonds, and a bondholder’s only right will 

be to receive payment of the redemption price upon surrender of those Bonds. 

Modifications or alterations of the Payment Agreement may be made only to the extent 

and in the circumstances permitted therein. 

This Bonds is issued with the intent that the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia shall 

govern its construction. 

All acts, conditions and things required to happen, exist and be performed precedent to 

and in the issuance of the Bonds have happened, exist and have been performed as so required. 

The Bonds shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any 

benefit or security under the Resolution or Payment Agreement until it shall have been 

authenticated by the execution by the Bond Registrar of the certificate of authentication endorsed 

hereon. 

 

  

205



Attachment 13 

 

 

 6 

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority 

has caused this Bond to be executed by the facsimile or manual signature of its Chairman, Vice-

Chairman, Executive Director or Deputy Executive Director, its seal to be affixed on this Bond 

and attested by the facsimile or manual signature of its Assistant Secretary. 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND 

HOUSING AUTHORITY 

By:   

Chairman,                      

Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority 

 

ATTEST: 

By: __________________________ 

Assistant Secretary, 

Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority 

206



Attachment 13 

 

 

 7 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This Bond is one of the Bonds issued pursuant to the within-mentioned Resolution. 

 

    Director of the Department of Finance of  

     Fairfax County, Virginia as Bond Registrar 

 

      

      By_________________________________ 

         Authorized Signature 

Date of authentication: 

 

 

 

______ 20, 2018 

207



Attachment 13 

 

8 

 

 

 

 
 

ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned registered owner hereby sells, assigns and 

transfers unto 

Please insert social security or 

other identifying number of assignee 

________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 

   (Please Print or Typewrite Name and Address of Transferee) 

the within bond, and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and 

appoints _______________________________ attorney to register the transfer of the within 

bond on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises. 

Dated:________________________     ________________________ 

 

NOTICE:  The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as it appears 

upon the face of the within bond in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any 

change whatever. 

Signature Guaranteed* by:                 

*Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an “eligible guarantor institution” meeting the requirements 

of the Bond Registrar which requirements will include membership or participation in 

STAMP or such other “signature guarantee program” as may be determined by the Bond 

Registrar in addition to, or in substitution for, STAMP, all in accordance with the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

208



Attachment 14 

 

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

$__________ 

FAIRFAX COUNTY (VIRGINIA) REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS (WEDGEWOOD AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

ACQUISITION) 

[SERIES 2017A/B 2018B] 

_____ __, 2018 

Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority 

3700 Pender Dr. 

Fairfax, Virginia 22030 

The undersigned, Morgan Stanley & Co, LLC (the “Representative”), on its own behalf 

and on behalf of [JP Morgan] and Raymond James (collectively, the “Underwriters” and each an 

“Underwriter”), hereby agrees to purchase the above-captioned bonds (the “Bonds”) from the 

Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority (the “Authority”) pursuant to the terms 

and conditions of this Bond Purchase Agreement (this “Agreement”). 

The Bonds are to be authorized and issued pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the 

Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Commonwealth”), including the Housing Authorities Law, 

Chapter 1, Title 36, of the Code of Virginia of 1950 (the “Enabling Act”), and  a resolution duly 

adopted by the Authority on ______ __, 2017 (the “Authority Resolution”).  The Board of 

Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia (the “Board of Supervisors”) requested that the 

Authority issue the Bonds pursuant to a resolution adopted on ____ _, 2017 (the “County 

Resolution”). 

This offer is made subject to (i) the acceptance hereof by the Authority and the approval 

hereof by Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”), evidenced by each party’s execution and 

delivery (manually or by facsimile or electronic (PDF) transmission) of this Agreement (or the 

signature page) to the Representative or counsel to the Underwriters, at or prior to 5:00 p.m., 

Eastern Time, today, and (ii) receipt by the Underwriters at or prior to 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, 

today, of the Letter of Representation of the County (the “Letter of Representation”) 

substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, which must be duly executed and 

delivered by an authorized official of the County, evidenced as in the case of the execution and 

delivery of this Agreement.  If not so accepted, this offer shall expire upon written notice sent by 

the Representative to the Authority or the County at any time prior to acceptance. 

Capitalized terms used in this Agreement and not otherwise defined shall have the 

meanings ascribed to them in the Preliminary Official Statement (as defined herein). 

Section 1. Offer and Sale of the Bonds; Public Offering; Good Faith Deposit 

(a) On the basis of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements 

contained in this Agreement (including the Letter of Representation), and in the other agreements 

referred to herein, and subject to the terms and conditions described in this Agreement, the 

209



Attachment 14 

 

2 

Underwriters agree, jointly and severally, to purchase all the Bonds for the sum of 

$___________, representing the par amount of the Bonds ($___________), plus net original 

issue premium of $__________, less an underwriting discount of $__________.  

The Bonds shall be dated their date of issuance and shall be payable as to principal and 

interest in years and amounts and at rates as shown on Exhibit A. 

(b) The Underwriters acknowledge that neither the County nor the Authority has 

authorized or consented to any of the following: 

(i) the sale of the Bonds to any purchaser in connection with the initial public 

offering of the Bonds unless a copy of the Official Statement (as defined herein) is 

delivered to such purchaser not later than the settlement of such transaction; 

(ii) the offer or sale of Bonds in any jurisdiction where any such offer or sale 

would be in violation of such jurisdiction’s securities or “Blue Sky” laws; 

(iii) making any representations or providing any information to prospective 

purchasers of the Bonds in connection with the offering and sale of the Bonds other than 

the information set forth in the Preliminary Official Statement, the Official Statement and 

any amendment thereto approved in writing by the County and the Authority; or 

(iv) any actions in connection with the offering and sale of the Bonds in 

violation of applicable requirements of federal and state securities laws and any 

applicable requirements of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”) or the 

Financial Industry Regulatory Authority.  The Underwriters agree that in their offering of 

the Bonds they will comply with the applicable rules of the MSRB. 

(c) On the date hereof, the sum of $_______ being payment in good faith on account 

of the purchase price of the Bonds (collectively, the “Good Faith Deposit”), shall be delivered by 

wire transfer from the Underwriters to the account identified by the County.  The Good Faith 

Deposit represents approximately 1% of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds provided in 

the Preliminary Official Statement.  If the Authority does not accept this offer, such Good Faith 

Deposit shall be immediately returned to the Underwriters by wire transfer to the account 

designated by the Underwriters.  If the Underwriters fail (other than for a reason permitted 

herein) to accept and pay for the Bonds on the Closing Date (as defined herein) as herein 

provided, the amount of such Good Faith Deposit plus any interest earned thereon shall be 

retained by the Authority as and for liquidated damages for such failure and for any defaults 

hereunder on the part of the Underwriters, and such retention shall constitute a full release and 

discharge of all claims by the Authority and the County against the Underwriters arising out of 

the transactions contemplated hereby.  In the event of the Authority’s failure to tender delivery of 

the Bonds on the Closing Date, or if the Authority or the County shall be unable to satisfy the 

conditions to the obligations of the Underwriters contained herein (unless such conditions are 

waived by the Underwriters), or if the obligations of the Underwriters shall be terminated for any 

reason permitted herein, the Authority shall immediately return to the Underwriters the Good 

Faith Deposit, plus any interest earned by the Authority on said sum from the date hereof to the 

date of return of the Good Faith Deposit, by wire transfer of immediately available funds. 

210



Attachment 14 

 

3 

Section 2. Establishment of Issue Price of Bonds 

(a) [The Representative, on behalf of the Underwriters, agrees to assist the Authority 

in establishing the issue price of the Bonds and shall execute and deliver to the Authority at 

Closing an “issue price” or similar certificate, together with the supporting pricing wires or 

equivalent communications, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, with such 

modifications as may be appropriate or necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the 

Representative, the Authority and Bond Counsel. 

(b) The Representative confirms that the Underwriters have offered all of the Bonds 

to the public on or before the date hereof for purchase at the offering price or prices set forth in 

Schedule I attached hereto (the “initial offering price”).   

(c) The Authority and the Representative, on behalf of the Underwriters, agree that 

the restrictions set forth in the next sentence shall apply to each maturity of the Bonds, which 

will allow the Authority to treat the initial offering price to the public of each maturity of the 

Bonds as of the date hereof as the issue price of that maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”).  

So long as the hold-the-offering-price rule remains applicable to any maturity of the Bonds, the 

Underwriters will neither offer nor sell any Bonds of that maturity to any person at a price that is 

higher than the initial offering price to the public during the period starting on the date hereof 

and ending on the earlier of the following:  

(1) the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the date hereof; and 

(2) the date on which the Underwriters have sold at least 10% of that maturity of the 

Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to the public. 

 The Representative shall promptly advise the Authority when the Underwriters 

have sold 10% of that maturity of the Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the 

initial offering price to the public, if that occurs prior to the close of the fifth (5th) business day 

after the date hereof. 

 Initial disclosure of maturities that have met the 10% test will be made after the 

signing of the Bond Purchase Agreement, at the earlier of (1) all tickets having been entered by 

the Representative, and (2) 5:00 p.m. on _____ __, 2018. 

 The Authority acknowledges that, in making the representation set forth in this 

subsection, the Representative will rely on (i) the agreement of each Underwriter to comply with 

the hold-the-offering-price rule, as set forth in an agreement among underwriters and the related 

pricing wires, (ii) in the event a selling group has been created in connection with the initial sale 

of the Bonds to the public, the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling group to 

comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, as set forth in a selling group agreement and the 

related pricing wires, and (iii) in the event that an Underwriter is a party to a retail distribution 

agreement that was employed in connection with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the 

agreement of each broker-dealer that is a party to such agreement to comply with the hold-the-

offering-price rule, as set forth in the retail distribution agreement and the related pricing wires.   

(d) The Representative confirms that:   

211



Attachment 14 

 

4 

 (i) any agreement among underwriters, any selling group agreement and each 

retail distribution agreement (to which the Representative is a party) relating to the initial sale of 

the Bonds to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language 

obligating each Underwriter, each dealer who is a member of the selling group, and each broker-

dealer that is a party to such retail distribution agreement, as applicable, to comply with the hold-

the-offering-price rule in each case if and for so long as directed by the Representative and as set 

forth in the related pricing wires, and  

 (ii) any agreement among underwriters relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to 

the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating 

each Underwriter that is a party to a retail distribution agreement to be employed in connection 

with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public to require each broker-dealer that is a party to such 

retail distribution agreement to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule if and for so long as 

directed by the Representative or the Underwriter and as set forth in the related pricing wires. 

(e) The Underwriters acknowledge that sales of any Bonds to any person that is a 

related party to an Underwriter shall not constitute sales to the public for purposes of this section.  

Further, for purposes of this section: 

 (i) “maturity” means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms; Bonds 

with different maturity dates, or with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates, are 

treated as separate maturities,  

 (ii) “public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, 

partnership, association, company, or corporation) other than an underwriter or a related party,  

 (iii) “underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written 

contract with the Authority (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to 

participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public and (B) any person that agrees pursuant to 

a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (A) to participate in the 

initial sale of the Bonds to the public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail 

distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public), and 

 (iv) a purchaser of any of the Bonds is a “related party” to an underwriter if the 

underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (i) at least 50% common 

ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if both entities are corporations 

(including direct ownership by one corporation of another), (ii) more than 50% common 

ownership of their capital interests or profits interests, if both entities are partnerships (including 

direct ownership by one partnership of another), or (iii) more than 50% common ownership of 

the value of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the capital interests or profit interests of 

the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a corporation and the other entity is a partnership 

(including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests by one entity of the other).] 

Section 3. Official Statement 

The Authority hereby deems the Preliminary Official Statement, dated _____ __, 2018, 

relating to the Bonds (the “Preliminary Official Statement”), to be final as of its date within the 

meaning of Rule 15c2-12 (“Rule 15c2-12”) of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 

212



Attachment 14 

 

5 

“SEC”), except for the omission of pricing and other information allowed to be omitted pursuant 

to Rule 15c2-12.  The Authority will take all proper steps to complete the Preliminary Official 

Statement as an Official Statement in final form, including the completion of all information 

required pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 (the “Official Statement”).  The execution of the Official 

Statement in final form by the Authority’s Chairman or Vice Chairman shall be conclusive 

evidence that the Authority has deemed it final as of its date.  The Authority shall arrange for the 

delivery within seven business days of the date hereof and, in any event not later than two 

business days before the Closing Date, the Official Statement in final form (which need not be 

manually executed) to the Underwriters for delivery to each potential investor requesting a copy 

of the Official Statement and to each purchaser to which the Underwriters initially sell the 

Bonds. 

The Underwriters agree that a copy of the Official Statement will be deposited before the 

“end of the underwriting period” (as defined herein) with the MSRB. 

The Authority shall prepare the Official Statement, including any amendments thereto, in 

word-searchable PDF format as described in MSRB Rule G-32 and shall provide the electronic 

copy of the word-searchable PDF format of the Official Statement to the Underwriters no later 

than one business day prior to the Closing Date to enable the Underwriters to comply with 

MSRB Rule G-32. 

Section 4. Authority’s Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Agreements 

The Authority hereby represents, warrants, covenants and agrees as follows: 

(a) The Authority is, and will be at the Closing Time (as defined herein), (i) a 

political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia created by the Enabling Act and (ii) 

authorized to adopt the Authority Resolution and to perform its obligations under the Bonds, the 

Payment Agreement, dated as of _______ 1, 2018, by and between the Authority and the County 

(the “Payment Agreement”) and this Agreement (collectively, the “Authority Documents”). 

(b) The Authority has complied with all provisions of the Commonwealth’s 

constitution and laws pertaining to the Authority’s issuing, adopting or entering into the 

Authority Documents and has full power and authority to consummate all transactions 

contemplated by the Authority Documents and the Official Statement and any and all other 

agreements relating thereto to which the Authority is a party. 

(c) As of the date of the Preliminary Official Statement, at the time of the Authority’s 

acceptance of this Agreement and (unless an event occurs of the nature described in Section 4(h) 

below) at all subsequent times up to and including the Closing Time, the information contained 

in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement (except for the information 

contained under the headings “THE COUNTY,” “[THE SERIES 2018 BONDS – Book-Entry 

Only System”] and “TAX MATTERS” and Appendices A, B, C and D) and in any amendment 

or supplement thereto that the Authority may authorize for use with respect to the Bonds was, is 

and will be true and correct and did not contain, does not contain and will not contain any untrue 

statement of a material fact and does not omit and will not omit to state a material fact necessary 

to make the statements in such document, in the light of the circumstances under which they 

213



Attachment 14 

 

6 

were made, not misleading.  If the Official Statement is supplemented or amended pursuant to 

Section 4(h) below, at the time of each supplement or amendment thereto and (unless 

subsequently again supplemented or amended pursuant to such Section 4(h)) at all times 

subsequent thereto up to and including the Closing Time, the Authority shall take all steps 

necessary to ensure that the Official Statement (excluding under the headings “THE 

COUNTY,” [“THE SERIES 2018 BONDS – Book-Entry Only System”] and “TAX 

MATTERS” and Appendices A, B, C and D) as so supplemented or amended does not contain 

any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 

statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 

misleading. 

(d) The Authority has duly adopted and authorized, at one or more public meetings 

duly called and held at which quorums were present and acting throughout, (i) the distribution 

and use of the Official Statement; (ii) the adoption or the execution, delivery and due 

performance of the Authority Documents and any and all such other agreements and documents 

as may be required to be executed and delivered by the Authority in order to carry out, give 

effect to and consummate the transactions contemplated by the Authority Documents and by the 

Official Statement; and (iii) the carrying out, giving effect to and consummation of the 

transactions contemplated by the Authority Documents and the Official Statement.  Upon the 

Closing Date, the Authority shall have duly adopted or authorized, executed and delivered each 

Authority Document and the Official Statement. 

(e) Except as and to the extent described in the Preliminary Official Statement and 

the Official Statement, there is no action, proceeding or investigation before or by any court or 

other public body pending or, to the Authority’s knowledge, threatened against or affecting the 

Authority or any Authority officer or employee in an official capacity (or, to the Authority’s 

knowledge, any basis therefor), wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would 

materially adversely affect (i) the transactions contemplated or described herein or in the Official 

Statement, or the validity of the Authority Documents or of any other agreement or instrument to 

which the Authority is or is expected to be a party and which is used or contemplated for use in 

the consummation of the transactions contemplated or described herein or in or by the Official 

Statement, or (ii) the condition of the Authority, financial or otherwise. 

(f) The Authority’s adoption or execution and delivery of the Authority Documents 

and other agreements contemplated by the Authority Documents and by the Official Statement, 

and compliance with the provisions thereof, will not constitute on the Authority’s part a breach 

of or a default under any existing law, court or administrative regulation, decree or order or any 

contract, agreement, loan or other instrument to which the Authority is subject or by which the 

Authority is or may be bound.  No event has occurred or is continuing that, with the lapse of time 

or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute an event of default under any such agreement, 

including the Authority Documents. 

(g) The Authority will not take or omit to take any action the taking or omission of 

which will in any way cause the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to be applied in a manner 

other than as described in the Official Statement and as permitted by the Authority Resolution or 

the Authority Documents or that would cause the interest on the Bonds to be includable in the 

214



Attachment 14 

 

7 

gross income of the recipients thereof for federal income tax purposes or for Commonwealth 

income tax purposes. 

(h) If between the date of this Agreement and the date that is 25 days after the “end of 

the underwriting period,” as defined below, any event shall occur that might or would cause the 

Official Statement, as then supplemented or amended (except for the information related to 

book-entry only), to contain any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material 

fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they 

were made, not misleading, the Authority shall promptly notify the Underwriters and the County.  

If, in the opinion of the Underwriters, such event requires the preparation and publication of a 

supplement or amendment to the Official Statement, the Authority shall at its expense 

supplement or amend the Official Statement in a form and in a manner approved by the 

Underwriters. 

The “end of the underwriting period” is the time that is the later of (i) the Closing Time 

and (ii) the time the Underwriters do not retain, directly or as members of an underwriting 

syndicate, an unsold balance of the Bonds for sale to the public.  Unless the Underwriters shall 

otherwise advise the Authority in writing prior to the Closing Date, the Authority may assume 

that the end of the underwriting period is the Closing Time. 

(i) The Authority is not required to obtain any further consent, approval, 

authorization or order of any governmental or regulatory authority as a condition precedent to its 

adoption or authorization, execution and delivery of the Bonds, the Authority Documents or the 

Official Statement, or the Authority’s performance hereunder and thereunder (provided no 

representation or warranty is expressed as to any action required under federal or state securities 

or Blue Sky laws in connection with the Underwriters’ offers or sales of the Bonds). 

(j) Any certificate signed by any Authority officer and delivered to the Underwriters 

shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the Authority to the Underwriters as to the 

statements made therein. 

(k) The Authority agrees to take all reasonable steps as requested to cooperate with 

the Underwriters and their counsel in order to qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the 

securities or “Blue Sky” laws of such jurisdictions of the United States as the Underwriters may 

request, provided that the Authority need not consent to jurisdiction or service of process in any 

jurisdiction other than the Commonwealth. 

(l) The Authority has never defaulted in the payment of the principal of or interest on 

any indebtedness, and has not exercised any rights of nonappropriation or similar rights.  No 

proceedings have ever been taken, are being taken, or are contemplated by the Authority under 

the United States Bankruptcy Code or under any similar law or statute of the United States or the 

Commonwealth. 

(m) Other than as described in the Official Statement, the Authority has not entered 

into any contract or arrangement of any kind that might give rise to any lien or encumbrance on 

the payments to be received by the Authority from the County pursuant to the Installment 

Purchase Contract. 

215



Attachment 14 

 

8 

Section 5.  Delivery of Bonds 

The Bonds shall be delivered to the order of the Underwriters through The Depository 

Trust Company in New York, New York, by 12:00 noon, Eastern Time, on ______ __, 2018, or 

such other place, time or date as shall be mutually agreed on in writing by the Authority, the 

County and the Underwriters. Simultaneously, the Underwriters shall make the payments 

required pursuant to Section 1 above, in immediately available funds, to the County or at its 

direction.  In this Agreement, the date of such delivery and payment is called the “Closing Date,” 

and the time and date of such delivery and payment is called the “Closing Time.” 

The Bonds shall be delivered in fully registered form, in the form of one Bond for each 

maturity, bearing CUSIP numbers (provided neither the inclusion of a wrong CUSIP number on 

any Bond nor the failure to include a number thereon shall constitute cause to refuse delivery of 

any Bond). 

Section 6.  Conditions to Underwriters’ Obligations 

The Underwriters’ obligation hereunder is subject to the following conditions: 

(a) The Authority Documents, the County Documents (as defined in the Letter of 

Representation) and the Official Statement shall have been duly authorized or adopted and shall 

be in full force and effect, and, if applicable, executed and delivered in the forms heretofore 

approved by the Underwriters with only such changes as are mutually agreed on by the Authority 

or the County, as applicable, and the Underwriters. 

(b) The performance by the Authority of its obligations and adherence to its 

covenants hereunder and the performance by the County of its obligations and adherence to its 

covenants under the Letter of Representation, to have been performed at or prior to the Closing 

Time. 

(c) The representations and warranties contained in this Agreement by the Authority, 

and the representations and warranties contained in the Letter of Representation by the County, 

are true, complete and correct today and as of the Closing Time as if made at the Closing Time. 

(d) There is no material adverse change in the County’s or the Authority’s condition 

(financial or otherwise) between the most recent dates as to which information is given in the 

Official Statement and the Closing Time, other than as reflected in or contemplated by the 

Official Statement, and there are at the Closing Time no material transactions or obligations (not 

in the ordinary course of business) entered into by the Authority or the County after the date of 

the Official Statement, other than as reflected in or contemplated by the Official Statement. 

(e) All necessary approvals, whether legal or administrative, have been obtained from 

such federal, state and local entities or agencies as are appropriate and are required in connection 

with the financing. 

(f)  At the Closing Time, the Underwriters must receive: 

216



Attachment 14 

 

9 

(i) Opinions dated the Closing Date of (A) Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, 

Bond Counsel, in substantially the form set forth in Appendix C to the Official Statement, 

and (B) Christian & Barton, L.L.P., counsel to the Underwriters, in form and substance 

acceptable to the Underwriters. 

(ii) An opinion of Elizabeth D. Teare, Esq., County Attorney, dated the 

Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriters, to the effect that (A) the County is a 

political subdivision of the Commonwealth, duly organized and validly existing under the 

Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth and vested with all the rights, powers and 

privileges conferred upon it by the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth, (B) the 

County Resolution was duly adopted by the Board of Supervisors and is in full force and 

effect, (C) the County has all the necessary power and authority (1) to execute and 

deliver, if applicable, the County Documents and (2) to consummate all of the actions 

contemplated by the County Documents, (D) the County Documents have been duly 

authorized and, if applicable, executed and delivered by the County and constitute valid 

and legally binding obligations of the County, enforceable (subject to customary 

exceptions) against the County in accordance with their terms, (E) no further approval, 

consent or withholding of objection on the part of any regulatory body, federal, 

Commonwealth or local, is required for the County to execute and deliver and perform its 

obligations under the County Documents, (F) the adoption by the Board of Supervisors of 

the County Resolution and the execution and delivery by the County of the other County 

Documents and the consummation by the County of the transactions contemplated by 

them are not prohibited by, and do not violate any provision of and will not result in the 

breach of any law, rule, regulation, judgment, decree, order or other requirement 

applicable to the County, any ordinance or resolution of the County, or any material 

contract, indenture or agreement to which the County is a party or by which the County is 

bound, and have not resulted, and will not result, in the creation or imposition of any lien, 

encumbrance, mortgage or other similar conflicting ownership or security interest in 

favor of any third person in or to the County’s revenues, assets, properties or funds 

except as contemplated in the County Documents, and (G) to her knowledge, there is no 

legal action or other proceeding, or any investigation or inquiry (before any court, 

agency, arbitrator or otherwise), pending or threatened against the County or any of their 

officials, in their respective capacities, (1) to restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale or 

delivery of the Bonds or the application of proceeds of the Bonds as provided in the 

Official Statement or (2) that may reasonably be expected to have a material and adverse 

effect upon the due performance by the County of the transactions contemplated by the 

County Documents and the Official Statement or the validity or enforceability of the 

Bonds or the County Documents.  

(iii) An opinion of [Alan M. Weiss, Office of County Attorney], dated the 

Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriters, to the effect that (A) the Authority is a 

political subdivision of the Commonwealth, duly organized and validly existing under the 

Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth and vested with all the rights, powers and 

privileges conferred upon it by the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth, (B) the 

Authority Resolution was duly adopted by the Authority and is in full force and effect, 

(C) the Authority has all necessary power and authority (1) to execute and deliver the 

Authority Documents and (2) to consummate all of the actions contemplated by the 

217



Attachment 14 

 

10 

Authority Documents, (D) the Authority Documents have been duly authorized and, if 

applicable, executed and delivered by the Authority and constitute valid and legally 

binding obligations of the Authority, enforceable (subject to customary exceptions) 

against the Authority in accordance with their terms, (E) no further approval, consent or 

withholding of objection on the part of any regulatory body, federal, Commonwealth or 

local, is required for the Authority to execute and deliver and perform its obligations 

under the Authority Documents, (F) the adoption by the Authority of the Authority 

Resolution and the execution and delivery by the Authority of the other Authority 

Documents and the consummation by the Authority of the transactions contemplated by 

them are not prohibited by, and do not violate any provision of and will not result in the 

breach of any law, rule, regulation, judgment, decree, order or other requirement 

applicable to the Authority, any ordinance or resolution of the Authority, or any material 

contract, indenture or agreement to which the Authority is a party or by which the 

Authority is bound, and have not resulted, and will not result, in the creation or 

imposition of any lien, encumbrance, mortgage or other similar conflicting ownership or 

security interest in favor of any third person in or to the Authority’s revenues, assets, 

properties or funds except as contemplated in the Authority Documents, and (G) to his 

knowledge, there is no legal action or other proceeding, or any investigation or inquiry 

(before any court, agency, arbitrator or otherwise), pending or threatened against the 

Authority or any of its officials, in their respective capacities, (1) to restrain or enjoin the 

issuance, sale or delivery of the Bonds or the application of proceeds of the Bonds as 

provided in the Official Statement or (2) that may reasonably be expected to have a 

material and adverse effect upon the due performance by the Authority of the transactions 

contemplated by the Authority Documents and the Official Statement or the validity or 

enforceability of the Authority Documents. 

(iv) A supplemental opinion of Bond Counsel, dated the Closing Date and in 

form and substance acceptable to the Underwriters to the effect that: 

(A) (i) the information contained in those portions of the Official 

Statement entitled “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS,” 

[“THE SERIES 2018 BONDS,” (excluding Book-Entry Only System), 

“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2018 

BONDS,”] “TAX MATTERS,” “LEGAL MATTERS” and “CONTINUING 

DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING,” and Appendices C and D, insofar as such 

information summarizes provisions of the Authority Documents or the County 

Documents or is a description of opinions rendered by Bond Counsel, is a fair and 

accurate summary of the information purported to be summarized and (ii) nothing 

has come to Bond Counsel’s attention that has caused such counsel to believe that 

the Official Statement (excepting information relating to The Depository Trust 

Company and any statistical and financial data included in the Official Statement) 

contains any untrue statement of material fact or omits any statement of a material 

fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances 

under which they were made, not misleading; 

(B) the Bonds do not require registration under the Securities Act of 

1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”);  

218



Attachment 14 

 

11 

(C) the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the “Trust Indenture 

Act”), does not require the qualification of the Authority Resolution; and 

(D) this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered 

and constitutes a valid and legal obligation of the Authority. 

(v) A certificate signed by the Authority’s Chairman or Vice Chairman, dated 

the Closing Date and in form and substance acceptable to the Underwriters, stating that 

(A) such officer has reviewed the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official 

Statement and that, as of the dates of such documents and as of the Closing Date 

(excluding the information under the headings “THE COUNTY,” [“THE SERIES 2018 

BONDS – Book-Entry Only System”] and “TAX MATTERS” and Appendices A, B, 

C and D), such documents do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit 

to state a material fact necessary to make the statements in such documents, in the light of 

the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, and (B) such officer has 

reviewed the Authority’s covenants, agreements, representations and warranties 

hereunder, and further confirming the Authority’s compliance with such covenants and 

agreements and the accuracy of such representations and warranties. 

(vi) Evidence satisfactory to the Underwriters that the Bonds have received a 

rating of “__” from Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and “__” by S&P Global Ratings, a 

division of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC, and that each such rating is in 

effect at the Closing Time. 

(vii) Certified copies of all relevant proceedings of the Board of 

Commissioners of the Authority and the Board of Supervisors.  

(viii) Original executed or certified copies of the Authority Documents and the 

County Documents. 

(ix) Evidence satisfactory to the Underwriters that the Authority’s issuance of 

the Bonds has received the County’s required approval and that such approval remains in 

effect. 

(x) Signed copies of a certificate or certificates, dated the Closing Date, 

signed by the Authority’s Chairman or Vice Chairman to the effect that (1) the 

representations and warranties of the Authority contained herein are true and correct in 

all material respects on and as of the Closing Date as if made on the Closing Date; (2) to 

the best of the knowledge of such officer, the information in the Official Statement, 

(excluding the information under the headings “THE COUNTY,” [“THE SERIES 2018 

BONDS – Book-Entry Only System”] and “TAX MATTERS” and Appendices A, B, 

C and D), (the “Authority Information”) does not contain any untrue statement of 

material fact or omit any statement of a material fact necessary to make the statements 

therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; (3) 

to the knowledge of such officer, no litigation is pending against the Authority or pending 

against any other entity or person or threatened in any court in any way adversely 

affecting the legal existence of the Authority or seeking to restrain or enjoin the issuance, 

219



Attachment 14 

 

12 

sale, execution or delivery of the Bonds, or materially and adversely affecting the right of 

the Authority to collect revenues and other moneys pledged or to pledged to pay the 

principal of and interest on the Bonds, or the pledge thereof, or in any way materially and 

adversely contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Authority 

Documents or this Agreement, or contesting the completeness or accuracy of the 

Preliminary Official Statement or the Official Statement, or contesting the power of the 

Authority or its authority with respect to the Authority Documents or this Agreement; (4) 

to the best of the knowledge of such officer, no event materially and adversely affecting 

the Authority or the transactions contemplated by the Official Statement has occurred 

since the date of the Official Statement which, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, 

is necessary to be set forth in an amendment or supplement to the Official Statement 

(whether or not the Official Statement shall have been amended or supplemented to set 

forth such event) to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under 

which they were made, not misleading; (5) the Authority has the full legal right, power 

and authority to carry out and consummate the transactions contemplated to be carried 

out by the Authority by the Official Statement; and (6) the Authority has complied with 

all the requirements and satisfied all the conditions on its part to be performed or satisfied 

at or prior to the Closing Date. 

(xi) Signed copies of a certificate or certificates, dated the Closing Date, 

signed by the Chief Financial Officer of the County to the effect that (1) the 

representations and warranties of the County contained herein are true and correct in all 

material respects on and as of the Closing Date as if made on the Closing Date; (2) to the 

best of the knowledge of such officer, the information in the Official Statement, 

(excluding the information under the headings “THE AUTHORITY,” [“THE SERIES 

2018 BONDS – Book-Entry Only System”] and “TAX MATTERS” and Appendix C) 

(the “County Information”), does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or 

omit any statement of a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the 

light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; (3) to the 

knowledge of such officer, no litigation is pending against the County or pending against 

any other entity or person or threatened in any court in any way adversely affecting the 

legal existence of the County or seeking to restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale, execution 

or delivery of the Bonds, or materially and adversely affecting the ability of the County to 

make payments under the Payment Agreement, or in any way materially and adversely 

contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Bonds, the County 

Resolution), this Agreement or the Letter of Representation, or contesting the 

completeness or accuracy of the Preliminary Official Statement or the Official Statement, 

or contesting the power of the County or its authority with respect to the County 

Documents or the Letter of Representation; (4) to the knowledge of such officer, no event 

materially and adversely affecting the County or the transactions contemplated by the 

Official Statement has occurred since the date of the Official Statement which, in the 

reasonable opinion of the County, is necessary to be set forth in an amendment or 

supplement to the Official Statement (whether or not the Official Statement shall have 

been amended or supplemented to set forth such event) to make the statements therein, in 

the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; (5) the 

County has the full legal right, power and authority to carry out and consummate the 

transactions contemplated to be carried out by the County by the Official Statement; and 

220



Attachment 14 

 

13 

(6) the County has complied with all the requirements and satisfied all the conditions on 

its part to be performed or satisfied at or prior to the Closing Date. 

(xii) An executed version of the Verification Report provided by 

____________. 

(xiii) Such additional certificates and other documents in such form and 

substance as the Underwriters, their counsel or Bond Counsel may request to evidence 

performance of or compliance with the provisions of the Authority Documents or the 

Official Statement and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, the truth and 

accuracy as of the Closing Time of the Authority’s and the County’s representations 

herein and in the Official Statement, and the Authority’s and the County’s due 

performance at or prior to the Closing Time of all agreements then to be performed by the 

Authority or the County, as applicable. 

The delivery of the above documents shall be made on the Closing Date, at or prior to the 

Closing Time, at Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP’s Washington, D.C. office, or at such other 

place as the Authority, the County and the Underwriters may hereafter determine. 

The Authority and the County shall exercise their reasonable best efforts to fulfill such of 

the foregoing conditions as may be under their control or direction.  In no event shall the failure 

of any such condition to be met constitute a default on the part of any party (except any party 

who had such condition under its control or direction).  The provisions of Section l(d) shall apply 

whether or not the failure of any such condition to be met constitutes a default on the part of any 

party. 

Section 7.  Underwriters’ Right to Cancel 

The Underwriters have the right to cancel their obligations hereunder by notifying the 

Authority or the County in writing of their election to do so between today and the Closing Time, 

if at any time before the Closing Time: 

(a) legislation shall have been enacted by the Congress of the United States, or a 

decision shall have been rendered by a court of the United States or the Commonwealth, or a 

ruling, resolution, regulation, or temporary regulation, release, or announcement shall have been 

made or shall have been proposed to be made by the Treasury Department of the United States or 

the Internal Revenue Service, or other federal or Commonwealth authority, with respect to 

federal or Commonwealth taxation upon revenues or other income of the general character of 

that to be derived by the Authority or the County from its operations, or upon interest received 

on obligations of the general character of the Bonds that, in the Underwriters’ reasonable 

judgment, materially adversely affects the market for the Bonds, or the market price generally of 

obligations of the general character of the Bonds; or 

(b) there shall exist any event or circumstance that, in the Underwriters’ reasonable 

judgment, either makes untrue or incorrect in any material respect any statement or information 

in the Official Statement or is not reflected in the Official Statement but should be reflected 

therein in order to make any statement of material fact therein not misleading in any material 

respect; or 

221



Attachment 14 

 

14 

(c) there shall have occurred (a) an outbreak or escalation of hostilities involving the 

United States or the declaration by the United States of a national emergency or war occurs, or 

(b) the occurrence of any other calamity or crisis or any change in the financial, political, or 

economic conditions in the United States or elsewhere, if the effect of any such event specified 

in clause (a) or (b), in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriters, materially adversely affects 

the market for the Bonds; or 

(d) there shall be in force a general suspension of trading on the New York Stock 

Exchange, or minimum or maximum prices for trading shall have been fixed and be in force, or 

maximum ranges for prices for securities shall have been required and be in force on the New 

York Stock Exchange, whether by virtue of a determination by the New York Stock Exchange or 

by an order of the SEC or any other governmental authority having jurisdiction that, in the 

Underwriters’ reasonable judgment, materially adversely affects the market for the Bonds; or 

(e) a general banking moratorium shall have been declared by federal or state 

authorities having jurisdiction and be in force that, in the Underwriters’ reasonable judgment, 

materially adversely affects the market for the Bonds; or 

(f) legislation shall be enacted or be proposed or actively considered for enactment, 

or a decision by a court of the United States shall be rendered, or a ruling, regulation, proposed 

regulation, or statement by or on behalf of the SEC or other governmental agency having 

jurisdiction of the subject matter shall be made, to the effect that the Bonds or any comparable 

securities of the Authority, or any obligations of the general character of the Bonds are not 

exempt from the registration, qualification or other requirements of the Securities Act, or 

otherwise, or would be in violation of any provision of the federal securities laws or that the 

Authority Resolution are not exempt from the qualification requirements of the Trust Indenture 

Act; or 

(g) there shall be established any new restriction on transactions in securities 

materially affecting the free market for securities (including the imposition of any limitation on 

interest rates) or the extension of credit by, or a change to the net capital requirements of, the 

Underwriters established by the New York Stock Exchange, the SEC, any other federal or state 

agency or the Congress of the United States, or by Executive Order; or 

(h) a stop order, release, regulation, or no-action letter by or on behalf of the SEC or 

any other governmental agency having jurisdiction of the subject matter shall have been issued 

or made to the effect that the issuance, offering or sale of the Bonds, including all underlying 

obligations as contemplated hereby or by the Official Statement, or any Authority Documents, 

County Documents or other documents relating to the issuance, offering or sale of the Bonds, is 

or would be in violation of any provision of the federal securities laws; or 

(i) there shall have been any material adverse change in the affairs of the Authority 

or the County that, in the Underwriters’ reasonable judgment, will materially adversely affect the 

market for the Bonds; or 

(j) there shall have occurred, after the signing hereof, either a financial crisis or a 

default with respect to the debt obligations of the Authority, the County or the Commonwealth 

222



Attachment 14 

 

15 

(which, in the case of a financial crisis or default of the Commonwealth, causes a material 

adverse change in the affairs of the Authority or the County) or proceedings under the 

bankruptcy laws of the United States or of the Commonwealth shall have been instituted by the 

Authority, the County or the Commonwealth (which, in the case of a bankruptcy proceeding with 

respect to the Commonwealth, causes a material adverse change in the affairs of the Authority or 

the County), in either case the effect of which, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriters, is 

such as to materially and adversely affect the market price or the marketability of the Bonds; or 

(k) any litigation shall be instituted or be pending as of the Closing Date to restrain or 

enjoin the issuance, sale or delivery of the Bonds, or in any way contesting or affecting any 

authority for or the validity of the proceedings authorizing and approving the Authority 

Resolution, the Authority Documents and the County Documents or the existence or powers of 

the Authority or the County with respect to its obligations under the Authority Documents and 

the County Documents; or 

(l) any downgrading, suspension or withdrawal of a rating of the 8B Bonds by a 

nationally recognized rating service, which downgrading, suspension or withdrawal, in the 

reasonable judgment of the Underwriters, materially adversely affects the marketability of the 

Bonds. 

 Section 8. Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Agreements to Survive Delivery 

All of the Authority’s representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in this 

Agreement shall remain operative and in effect, regardless of any investigation made by the 

Underwriters on their own behalf, after delivery of and payment for any Bonds or of termination 

or cancellation of this Agreement. 

Section 9. Expenses 

The Authority acknowledges that the underwriting fee provided for in Section 1 

represents compensation and reimbursement to the Underwriters for their professional services 

and direct expenses (for such items as travel and postage); provided, however, that nothing in 

this acknowledgement shall be deemed to make the Underwriters an agent of the Authority. 

The Underwriters shall pay (which may be included as an expense component of the 

Underwriters’ discount) their out-of-pocket expenses, which may include the fees and expenses 

of Underwriters’ counsel (including the cost of performing any blue sky surveys), advertising 

expenses in connection with a public offering of the Bonds, fees of the CUSIP Bureau and any 

fees of the MSRB or the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association. 

The County shall pay all expenses and costs to effect the authorization, preparation, 

execution, delivery and sale of the Bonds, including, without limitation, the County’s and 

Authority’s fees and expenses (at or prior to closing), the incidental expenses of the employees 

of the Authority and the County incurred in connection with this financing, the fees and expenses 

of Bond Counsel, rating agency fees and expenses, the fees and expenses of the bond registrar 

and paying agent, any registration or similar fees for qualifying the Bonds for sale in various 

jurisdictions chosen by the Underwriters and the expenses and costs for the preparation, printing, 

223



Attachment 14 

 

16 

photocopying, execution and delivery of the Bonds and the Official Statement and all other 

agreements and documents contemplated by this Agreement. 

Section 10. Use of Official Statement 

The Authority hereby ratifies and confirms the use of the Preliminary Official Statement 

by the Underwriters.  The Authority authorizes the use of, and will make available, the Official 

Statement for use by the Underwriters in connection with the offer and sale of the Bonds. 

Section 11. Miscellaneous 

(a) Any notice or other communication to be given hereunder may be given by 

mailing or delivering the same in writing as follows: 

If to the Underwriters:  Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC 

    1585 Broadway, 16th Floor 

New York, NY 10036 

Attention: _________ 

 

If to the Authority: Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority 

      3700 Pender Dr. 

Fairfax, Virginia 22030 

Attention:  Director 

With a copy thereof sent to: 

[Alan M. Weiss, Esq. 

12000 Government Center Parkway 

Fairfax, Virginia 22035-0064] 

If to the County: Fairfax County 

12000 Government Center Parkway 

Fairfax, Virginia 22035-0064 

Attention:  Department of Management and Budget 

(b) The Authority represents and warrants that there are no fees payable by it or on its 

behalf, other than as described in this Agreement, to any person or party for brokering or 

arranging (or providing any similar services related to) the transactions contemplated by this 

Agreement. 

(c) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, 

without regard to conflict of law principles. 

(d) This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts (including separate 

counterparts), each of which shall be regarded as an original and all of which shall constitute one 

and the same document. 

224



Attachment 14 

 

17 

(e) This Agreement will inure to the benefit of and be binding on the Authority, the 

Underwriters and the County and their respective successors and assigns, but will not confer any 

rights on any other person, partnership, association or corporation other than persons, if any, 

controlling the Authority and the Underwriters within the meaning of the Securities Act or the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  The terms “successors” and “assigns” shall not 

include any purchaser of any Bond from the Underwriters merely because of such purchase. 

(f) No covenant, condition or agreement contained herein shall be deemed to be a 

covenant, agreement or obligation of a present or future member, officer, employee or agent of 

the Authority or the County in such person’s individual capacity, and no officer, member, 

employee or agent of the Authority or the County shall be liable personally for the performance 

of any obligation under this Agreement.  No recourse shall be had by the Underwriters for any 

claim based on this Agreement or otherwise against any officer, member, employee or agent of 

the Authority or the County in his or her individual capacity, provided such person acts in good 

faith, all such liabilities, if any, being hereby expressly waived and released by the Underwriters. 

(g) The Authority acknowledges and agrees that (i) the purchase and sale of the 

Bonds pursuant to this Agreement is an arm’s-length commercial transaction between the 

Authority and the Underwriters, consented to by the County, (ii) in connection with such 

transaction, the Underwriters are acting solely as a principal and not as an agent, municipal 

advisor, financial advisor or a fiduciary of the Authority, (iii) the Underwriters have not assumed 

(individually or collectively) any advisory or fiduciary responsibility in favor of the Authority 

with respect to the offering of the Bonds or the process leading thereto (whether or not the 

Underwriters, or any affiliate of any Underwriters, have advised or are currently advising the 

Authority on other matters) or any other obligation to the Authority except the obligations 

expressly set forth in this Agreement, (iv) the Authority has consulted with its own municipal, 

tax, accounting, legal and financial advisors to the extent it deemed appropriate in connection 

with the offering of the Bonds and (v) the Underwriters have financial and other interests that 

differ from those of the County and the Authority. 

(h) Section headings in this Agreement are a matter of convenience of reference only, 

and such section headings are not part of this Agreement and shall not be used in the 

interpretation of any provisions of this Agreement. Terms of any gender used herein shall 

include the masculine, feminine and neuter. 

(i) Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the Underwriters, in their 

sole discretion, may waive the performance of any and all obligations of the Authority hereunder 

and the performance of any and all conditions contained herein for the Underwriters’ benefit, and 

the Underwriters’ approval when required hereunder or the determination of their satisfaction as 

to any document referred to herein shall be in writing signed by an appropriate officer or officers 

of the Underwriters, on the Underwriters’ behalf, and delivered to the Authority. 

(j) This Agreement is the entire agreement of the parties, superseding all prior 

agreements, and may not be modified except in writing signed by the parties hereto. 

(k) This Agreement is effective on its acceptance by the Authority and approval by 

the County. 

225



Attachment 14 

S-1 

[Counterpart Signature Page to Bond Purchase Agreement] 

_____________________________,  

as Representative of the Underwriters 

By ___________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signatures Continued on Following Pages]

226



Attachment 14 

S-2 

[Counterpart Signature Page to Bond Purchase Agreement] 

Accepted and agreed to: 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT HOUSING 

AUTHORITY 

By:____________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signatures Continued on Following Pages] 

 

227



Attachment 14 

S-3 

[Counterpart Signature Page to Bond Purchase Agreement] 

 Approved by: 

 

 FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

 By:____________________________________ 

 Joseph M. Mondoro 

 Chief Financial Officer 

228



Attachment 14 

 

 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SERIES [2017A/B/ 2018B BONDS] 

Maturity Date  

(_____ 1) 

 

Principal Amount 

 

nterest Rate 

 

Yield 

20__ $ % % 

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

20__    

$__________ __% Term Bond due _________ 1, 20__. 

 

 

 

229



Attachment 14 

 

 
 

 

EXHIBIT B 

LETTER OF REPRESENTATION

230



Attachment 14 

 

 B-1 

LETTER OF REPRESENTATION 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

I am an authorized official of Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”), and am hereby 

executing and delivering this Letter of Representation as required under the terms of that certain 

Bond Purchase Agreement of even date herewith (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”) between 

____________, as representative of the underwriters named therein (the “Underwriters”), and 

Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority (the “Authority”), and approved by the 

County.  Terms not otherwise defined in this Letter of Representation shall have the meanings 

assigned to them in the Bond Purchase Agreement.  

Section 1.   County’s Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Agreements 

The County hereby represents, warrants, covenants and agrees as follows: 

(a) The County is, and will be at the Closing Time, (i) duly organized in the urban 

county executive form of government, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia 

(the “Commonwealth”) with all power and authority granted to counties so organized under the 

Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth, and (ii) authorized to enter into and adopt and 

perform its obligations under the County Resolution, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the 

Payment Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement delivered by the County, dated the 

Closing Date (the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”), and this Letter of Representation 

(collectively, the “County Documents”) to have been performed at or prior to the Closing Time. 

(b) The County has complied with all provisions of the Commonwealth’s constitution 

and laws pertaining to the County’s adopting or entering into the County Documents and has full 

power and authority to consummate all transactions contemplated by the County Documents and 

the Official Statement and any and all other agreements relating thereto to which the County is a 

party. 

(c) As of the date of the Preliminary Official Statement, at the time of the County’s 

delivery of this Letter of Representation and (unless an event occurs of the nature described in 

Section 1(i) below) at all subsequent times up to and including the Closing Time, the County 

Information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement and in 

any amendment or supplement thereto that the County may authorize for use with respect to the 

Bonds was, is and will be true and correct and did not contain, does not contain and will not 

contain any untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit and will not omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements in such document, in the light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.  If the Official Statement is 

supplemented or amended pursuant to Section 1(i) below, at the time of each supplement or 

amendment thereto and (unless subsequently again supplemented or amended pursuant to 

Section 1(i) below) at all times subsequent thereto up to and including the Closing Time, the 

County shall take all steps necessary to ensure that the County Information in the Official 

Statement as so supplemented or amended does not contain any untrue statement of a material 

fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.  Except as otherwise described in 

231



Attachment 14 

 

 B-2 

the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement, the County has complied in all 

material respects during the last five years with its prior continuing disclosure undertakings with 

respect to Rule 15c2-12. 

(d) The County has duly adopted and authorized, at one or more public meetings duly 

called and held at which quorums were present and acting throughout, (i) the distribution and use 

of the Official Statement; (ii) the adoption, execution, delivery and due performance of the 

County Documents and any and all such other agreements and documents as may be required to 

be executed and delivered by the County in order to carry out, give effect to and consummate the 

transactions contemplated by the County Documents and by the Official Statement; and (iii) the 

carrying out, giving effect to and consummation of the transactions contemplated by the County 

Documents and the Official Statement.  Upon the Closing Date, the County shall have duly 

adopted or authorized, executed and delivered each County Document and the Official 

Statement. 

(e) To the County’s knowledge, except as and to the extent described in the 

Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement, there is no action, proceeding or 

investigation before or by any court or other public body pending or threatened against or 

affecting the County or any County officer or employee in an official capacity (or, to the 

County’s knowledge, any basis therefor), wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding 

would materially adversely affect (i) the transactions contemplated or described herein or in the 

Official Statement, or the validity of the County Documents or of any other agreement or 

instrument to which the County is or is expected to be a party and which is used or contemplated 

for use in the consummation of the transactions contemplated or described herein or in or by the 

Official Statement, (ii) the condition of the County, financial or otherwise, or (iii) the 

completeness or accuracy of the Official Statement. 

(f) The County’s adoption or execution and delivery of the County Documents and 

other agreements contemplated by the County Documents and by the Official Statement, and 

compliance with the provisions thereof, will not constitute on the County’s part a breach of or a 

default under any existing law, court or administrative regulation, decree or order or any 

contract, agreement, loan or other instrument to which the County is subject or by which the 

County is or may be bound. No event has occurred or is continuing that, with the lapse of time or 

the giving of notice, or both, would constitute an event of default under any such agreement, 

including the County Documents. 

(g) The County will not take or omit to take any action the taking or omission of 

which will in any way cause the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds to be applied in a manner 

other than as described in the Official Statement and as permitted by the Authority Resolution 

and the County Resolution and which would cause the interest on the Bonds to be includable in 

the gross income of the recipients thereof for federal or Commonwealth income tax purposes. 

(h) The County Information included in the Official Statement presents fairly the 

financial information purported to be shown as of the indicated dates. There has been no material 

adverse change in the financial condition of the County as a whole since June 30, 2017.  The 

County is not a party to any contract or agreement or subject to any statutory or other restriction 

not disclosed in the Official Statement, the performance of or compliance with which may have a 

232



Attachment 14 

 

 B-3 

material, adverse effect on the County’s or the Authority’s financial condition or operations.  The 

audited balance sheets and the related financial statements of the County contained in the 

Official Statement in Appendix B present fairly the County’s financial condition as of the dates 

indicated, and the County has no reason to believe that, except as stated in the Official 

Statement, such statements have not been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles consistently applied.  

(i) If between the date of the Bond Purchase Agreement and the date that is 25 days 

after the “end of the underwriting period,” as defined below, any event shall occur that might or 

would cause the County Information included in the Official Statement, as then supplemented or 

amended, to contain any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were 

made, not misleading, the County shall promptly notify the Underwriters.  If, in the opinion of 

the Underwriters, such event requires the preparation and publication of a supplement or 

amendment to the Official Statement, the County will cooperate with the Authority and at the 

County’s expense supplement or amend the Official Statement in a form and in a manner 

approved by the Underwriters.  

The “end of the underwriting period” is the time that is the later of (i) the Closing Time 

and (ii) the time the Underwriters do not retain, directly or as a member of an underwriting 

syndicate, an unsold balance of the Bonds for sale to the public.  Unless the Underwriters shall 

otherwise advise the County in writing prior to the Closing Date, the County may assume that 

the end of the underwriting period is the Closing Time. 

(j) The County is not required to obtain any further consent, approval, authorization 

or order of any governmental or regulatory authority as a condition precedent to its adoption or 

authorization, execution and delivery of the County Documents or the Official Statement, or the 

County’s performance hereunder and thereunder (provided no representation or warranty is 

expressed as to any action required under federal or state securities or Blue Sky laws in 

connection with the Underwriters’ offer or sale of the Bonds).  The County has obtained as of the 

date hereof all permits, licenses, registrations, certificates, authorizations and approvals required 

to have been obtained as of the date hereof for the performance and enforcement of the obliga-

tions of the County under the County Documents, the acquisition, construction, equipping, 

occupation, operation and use of the projects to be financed or refinanced with the proceeds of 

the Bonds.  The County knows of no reason why any such required permits or approvals not 

obtained as of the date hereof cannot be obtained as needed. 

(k) Any certificate signed by any County officer and delivered to the Underwriters 

shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the County to the Underwriters as to the 

statements made therein. 

(l) The County agrees to take all reasonable steps as requested to cooperate with the 

Underwriters and their counsel in order to qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the 

securities or “Blue Sky” laws of such jurisdictions of the United States as the Underwriters may 

request, provided that the County need not consent to jurisdiction or service of process in any 

state other than the Commonwealth. 

233



Attachment 14 

 

 B-4 

(m) The County has never defaulted in the payment of principal or interest on any 

indebtedness, has not exercised any rights of nonappropriation or similar rights with respect to 

such indebtedness, and has not borrowed for general fund cash-flow purposes.  No proceedings 

have ever been taken, are being taken, or are contemplated by the County under the United States 

Bankruptcy Code or under any similar law or statute of the United States or the Commonwealth. 

(n) The County will comply with the information reporting requirements adopted by 

the SEC under Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 

“Rule”) and the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board with respect to municipal securities 

such as the Bonds as provided in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  Except as described in 

the Official Statement under the caption “Continuing Disclosure Undertaking,” in the five years 

preceding the date of the Official Statement, the County has materially complied with its 

undertakings under the Rule. 

(o) The County acknowledges and agrees that (i) the purchase and sale of the Bonds 

pursuant to the Bond Purchase Agreement is an arm’s-length commercial transaction between 

the Authority and the Underwriters as consented to by the County, (ii) in connection with such 

transaction, the Underwriters are acting solely as a principal and not as an agent, municipal 

advisor, financial advisor or a fiduciary of the County, (iii) the Underwriters have not assumed 

(individually or collectively) any advisory or fiduciary responsibility in favor of the County with 

respect to the offering of the Bonds or the process leading thereto (whether or not the 

Underwriters, or any affiliate of any Underwriters, have advised or are currently advising the 

County on other matters) or any other obligation to the County except the obligations expressly 

set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, (iv) the County has consulted with its own municipal, 

tax, accounting, legal and financial advisors to the extent it deemed appropriate in connection 

with the offering of the Bonds and (v) the Underwriters have financial and other interests that 

differ from those of the County and the Authority. 

Section 2.  Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Agreements to Survive Delivery 

All of the County’s representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in this Letter 

of Representation shall remain operative and in effect, regardless of any investigation made by 

the Underwriters on their own behalf, after delivery of and payment for any Bonds or of 

termination or cancellation of the Bond Purchase Agreement or this Letter of Representation. 

Section 3.  Official Statement 

The County authorizes the use and distribution of, and will cooperate with the Authority 

to make available, the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement for the use and 

distribution by the Underwriters in connection with the sale of the Bonds. 

The County shall cooperate with the Authority to deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the 

Underwriters copies of the final Official Statement in sufficient quantity in order for the 

Underwriters to comply with Rule 15c2-12(b)(2) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act 

of 1934, as amended. 

234



Attachment 14 

 

 B-5 

Section 4.  Continuing Disclosure Undertaking 

The County will undertake, pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, to provide 

annual reports and notices to certain events. 

Section 5.  Notice 

Any notice or other communication to be given to the County under the Bond Purchase 

Agreement or this Letter of Representation may be given by mailing or delivering the same in 

writing to 12000 Government Center Parkway, Fairfax, Virginia 22035-0064, Attention: 

Department of Management and Budget. 

This Letter of Representation is delivered this __th day of __, 2018. 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

By:____________________________________ 

Joseph M. Mondoro 

Chief Financial Officer 

 

235



Attachment 14 

 

C-1 
 

EXHIBIT C 

 

FORM OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE

236



Attachment 14 

 

C-1 
 

Exhibit C 

$ 

FAIRFAX COUNTY (VIRGINIA) REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS (AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACQUISITION) 

[SERIES 2017A/B SERIES 2018B] 

 

SAMPLE ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

(Hold the Offering Price Rule) 

 The undersigned, on behalf of {NAME OF UNDERWRITER} (“{SHORT NAME OF 

UNDERWRITER}”) [and the other members of the underwriting syndicate (together, the 

“Underwriting Group”)], hereby certifies as set forth below with respect to the sale and issuance 

of the above-captioned obligations (the “Bonds”) of [NAME OF ISSUER] (the “Issuer”). 

 1. Initial Offering Price of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.   

 (a) [SHORT NAME OF UNDERWRITER][The Underwriting Group] offered the 

Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities to the Public for purchase at the respective initial offering 

prices listed in Schedule A (the “Initial Offering Prices”) on or before the Sale Date.  A copy of 

the pricing wire or equivalent communication for the Bonds is attached to this certificate as 

Schedule B. 

 (b) As set forth in the [Bond Purchase Agreement], dated ______________, 201_, 

[SHORT NAME OF UNDERWRITER][the members of the Underwriting Group] agreed in 

writing on or prior to the Sale Date that, (i) for each Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price 

Maturities, [it][they] would neither offer nor sell any of the Bonds of such Maturity to any 

person at a price that is higher than the Initial Offering Price for such Maturity during the 

Holding Period for such Maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”), and (ii) any selling 

group agreement shall contain the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling 

group, and any retail distribution agreement shall contain the agreement of each broker-dealer 

who is a party to the retail distribution agreement, to comply with the hold-the-offering-price 

rule.  Pursuant to such agreement, no Underwriter (as defined below) offered or sold any 

Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities at a price that is higher than the respective 

Initial Offering Price for that Maturity of the Bonds during the Holding Period. 

 2. Defined Terms.   

 (a) Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities means those Maturities of the Bonds listed in 

Schedule A hereto as the “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.” 

(b) Holding Period means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity, the 

period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the close of the fifth business day 

after the Sale Date, or (ii) the date on which [SHORT NAME OF UNDERWRITER][the 

Underwriting Group] sold at least 10% of such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity to the Public at 

prices that are no higher than the Initial Offering Price for such Hold-the-Offering-Price 

Maturity. 

237



Attachment 14 

 

C-2 
 

 (c) Maturity means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms.  Bonds with 

different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates, 

are treated as separate maturities. 

 (d) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, 

association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to an 

Underwriter.  The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally means any two or 

more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly. 

(e) Sale Date means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing for 

the sale of a Maturity of the Bonds.  The Sale Date of the Bonds is {date of execution of the 

bond purchase contract}. 

(f) Underwriter means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with 

the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the 

initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written 

contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this paragraph to participate 

in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a 

retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public). 

[Final certificate may include standard representations regarding callable premium bonds 

and computations performed by the underwriter (e.g., yield and weighted average maturity) as 

may be required by the Issuer.]  

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only.  

Nothing in this certificate represents {SHORT NAME OF UNDERWRITER}’s interpretation of 

any laws, including specifically Sections 103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 

amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.  The undersigned understands that the 

foregoing information will be relied upon by the Issuer with respect to certain of the 

representations set forth in the Tax Certificate with respect to the Bonds and with respect to 

compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Norton Rose Fulbright 

US LLP in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Bonds is excluded from 

gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue Service 

Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer from time to 

time relating to the Bonds. 

{NAME OF UNDERWRITER} 

 

By:      ________________________________ 

 

Name: ________________________________ 

 

Title:   ________________________________ 

 

Dated:  ___________________ 

238



Attachment 14 

 

28785644.2  C-3 

SCHEDULE A 

INITIAL OFFERING PRICES OF THE HOLD-THE-OFFERING-PRICE MATURITIES 

(Attached) 
 

 

239



Attachment 14 

 

28785644.2  C-4 

SCHEDULE B 

PRICING WIRE OR EQUIVALENT COMMUNICATION 

(Attached)

240



Attachment 14 

 

28785644.2  I-1 

Schedule I 

 

 

Initial Offering Prices Series [2017A/B 2018B Bonds] 

 

Maturity (____ 1) Principal Amount Initial Offering Prices 

20__ $  

20__   

20__   

20__   

20__   

20__   

20__   

20__   

20__   

20__   

20__   

20__   

20__   

 

 

 

241



Attachment 15 
DRAFT Critical Path Events  

Fairfax County, Virginia 
FCRHA Revenue Refunding Bonds (Crescent Project), Series 2018A (Taxable) 

FCRHA Revenue Refunding Bonds (Wedgewood Project), Series 2018B 

 
 

*Ratings request will be combined for the GO & Wedgewood transactions.  Also request to Fitch to receive affirmation of rating 
for the TIFIA Loan to meet USDOT requirements. 

Legend: 
FX = Fairfax County 

FCRHA = Fairfax County Redevelopment & Housing Authority 
PFM = Public Financial Management Inc., County’s Financial Advisor 

NRF = Norton Rose Fulbright, Bond Counsel 
UW = Morgan Stanley, Senior Managing Underwriter 
UWC = Christian and Barton, Underwriter’s Counsel 

 
11/6/2017 

 

 
 

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
10 11 12 13 14 15 16 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 11 12 13 14 15 16 17
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 18 19 20 21 22 23 24
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 26 27 28 29 30 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 28 29 30 31 25 26 27 28

29 30 31 31

October 2017 November 2017 December 2017September 2017 January 2018 February 2018

Week of Activity & Event Responsible Party 

October 30 Thursday, November 2nd @ 1pm – Working Group Kickoff Call 
Finalize Bond Documents for Board Package 

All 
NRF 

November 6 Monday, November 6th – Items Due to FCRHA Assistant, Items due for 
County Board Package 

Wednesday, November 8th - Credit Assessment Meeting 

Draft Ratings Presentation Distributed 

NRF, FX, FCRHA 
 
FX, PFM 
PFM 

November 13 Comments due on Ratings Presentation All 

November 20 Tuesday, November 21st – County Board Meeting 

Revised Ratings Presentation Distributed 
November 23rd and 24th– Thanksgiving Holiday 

FX 
PFM 
- 

November 27 Tuesday, November 28th - Joint County & School Board Meeting 

Thursday, November 30th – Ratings Prep & Rehearsal Mtg 

Finalize Rating Agency Presentation 
Draft documents sent to Rating Agencies 
Revised draft of POS distributed 

FX 
FX, PFM 
PFM 
PFM 
NRF 

December 4 Tuesday, December 5th – Board of Supervisors Meeting FY17 CAFR 
Published, Considers Bond Documents  

Friday, December 8th – FCHRA Finance Committee Meeting 

FX 
 
- 

December 11 Thursday, December 14th – FCRHA Board Considers Bond Documents 

Thursday, December 14th @ 12:30pm – Rating Agency Meeting with Moody’s 
FX, FCRHA 
PFM, FX 

December 18 Comments due on draft POS 
Monday, December 18th – Rating Agency Meetings with S&P @ 10:00am 
Monday, December 18th – Rating Agency Meeting with Fitch @ 1:30pm 

All 
PFM, FX 
PFM, FX 

December 25 December 25th – Christmas Holiday 

NLT Wednesday, December 27th – Ratings Received* 
- 
PFM, FX 

January 1 Monday, January 1st – New Year’s Holiday 

Revised Draft POS & BPA Distributed 
Internal review of POS 

- 
NRF, UWC 
FX, PFM, NRF 

242



Attachment 15 
DRAFT Critical Path Events  

Fairfax County, Virginia 
FCRHA Revenue Refunding Bonds (Crescent Project), Series 2018A (Taxable) 

FCRHA Revenue Refunding Bonds (Wedgewood Project), Series 2018B 

 
 

*Ratings request will be combined for the GO & Wedgewood transactions.  Also request to Fitch to receive affirmation of rating 
for the TIFIA Loan to meet USDOT requirements. 

Legend: 
FX = Fairfax County 

FCRHA = Fairfax County Redevelopment & Housing Authority 
PFM = Public Financial Management Inc., County’s Financial Advisor 

NRF = Norton Rose Fulbright, Bond Counsel 
UW = Morgan Stanley, Senior Managing Underwriter 
UWC = Christian and Barton, Underwriter’s Counsel 

 
11/6/2017 

 

 
 

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
10 11 12 13 14 15 16 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 11 12 13 14 15 16 17
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 18 19 20 21 22 23 24
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 26 27 28 29 30 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 28 29 30 31 25 26 27 28

29 30 31 31

October 2017 November 2017 December 2017September 2017 January 2018 February 2018

Week of Activity & Event Responsible Party 

January 8 Tuesday, January 9th – County G.O. Bond Sale 
Due Diligence Call 

FX, PFM 
All 

January 15 Monday, January 15th – Martin Luther King Jr. Holiday  

Final Comments due on POS & BPA 
County’s G.O. Official Statement Posted 
NLT Wednesday, January 17th – POS Distributed (follows publication of G.O. 
OS) 

- 
All 
NRF 
NRF 

January 22 Premarket Bonds 
Wednesday, January 24th – Closing of County G.O. Bond Sale 
Thursday, January 25th Negotiated Bond Pricing & Signing of BPA  
(At least 15 days after GO Pricing) 

UW 
- 
PFM, FX, UW 

January 29 Finalize OS & Closing Documents NRF, UWC 

February 5 Thursday, February 8th  – Closing & Investment of Proceeds All 

February 12 County Exec Releases FY2019 Budget Proposal 
Tuesday, February 14th – 10 Days’ Notice for Crescent Note 

- 
- 

February 26 Thursday, March 1st – Maturity Date for the Crescent Note - 

 

243



Attachment 16 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED _________ __, 2018 

NEW ISSUE  RATINGS: Moody’s ................................. “__” 

    S&P ...................................... “___” 

                         Fitch .................................... “___” 

Full Book-Entry                        (See  “RATINGS”) 

 [In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under current law, assuming compliance with the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, as described herein, 

and subject to conditions described in “TAX MATTERS” herein, interest on the Series 2018B Bonds will not be included in the gross income of the owners thereof for federal 

income tax purposes, and interest on the Series 2018B Bonds will not be a specific preference item for purposes of the federal individual or corporate alternative minimum tax, 

and not included as an adjustment in calculating federal alternative minimum taxable income for purposes of determining a corporation’s alternative minimum tax liability.  

Interest on the Series 2018A Bonds will be includable in gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes.  The interest on the Series 2018 Bonds is excluded 

from Virginia taxable income for purposes of the individual income tax and the income taxation of corporations by the Commonwealth of Virginia under Sections 58.1-322 and 

58.1-402 of the Code of Virginia (the “Virginia Code”).  See “TAX MATTERS” herein for a description of certain provisions regarding the Code and the Virginia Code that may 

affect the tax treatment of interest on the Series 2018 Bonds for certain bondholders.] 

$_________* 

FAIRFAX COUNTY (VIRGINIA) REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE BONDS (CRESCENT AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACQUISITION)  

[SERIES 2018A (FEDERALLY TAXABLE)] 

$_________* 

FAIRFAX COUNTY (VIRGINIA) REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS (WEDGEWOOD AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACQUISITION)  

[SERIES 2018B]  

Dated: Date of Delivery Due: _____ 1, as shown heerin 

Interest on the [Series 2018 Bonds] is payable on each April 1 and October 1, commencing October 1, 2018, at the rates set forth on the inside 

cover pages herein.   

[The Series 2018 Bonds are subject to optional, extraordinary optional and mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to maturity as more fully 

described herein.] 

The Series 2018 Bonds will be issued by the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority (the “Authority”) pursuant to the Housing 

Authorities Law, Chapter 1, Title 36, of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Enabling Act”), and other applicable law and resolutions duly 
adopted by the Authority on _______ __, 2017 (the “Resolutions”).  The Series 2018 Bonds will be issued as fully registered bonds registered in the name of 

Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, which will act as securities depository for the Series 2018 Bonds.   

Purchasers will not receive physical delivery of certificates representing their ownership interest in the Series 2018 Bonds purchased.  So long as DTC or its 
nominee is the registered owner of the Series 2018 Bonds, payments of the principal of and interest due on the Series 2018 Bonds will be made directly to 

DTC.  Purchasers may acquire beneficial interests in the Series 2018 Bonds in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. 

The Series 2018A Bonds are being issued by the Authority for the purpose of refinancing (i) an outstanding bank loan, the proceeds of which 
were used by Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”) to refinance bond anticipation notes previously issued to refinance a portion of the purchase price of a 

multi-family rental housing facility and (ii) paying certain costs of issuance of the Series 2018A Bonds.  The Series 2018B Bonds are being issued by the 

Authority for the purpose of refunding (i) certain outstanding Authority Revenue Bonds (Affordable Housing Acquisition) Series 2009, the proceeds of 
which were used by the County, to refinance bond anticipation notes previously issued to refinance a portion of the purchase price of a multi-family rental 

housing facility and (ii) paying certain costs of issuance of the Series 2018B Bonds.   

The Series 2018 Bonds are payable from payments received from the County pursuant to Payment Agreements between the County and the 
Authority in which the County agrees, subject to the appropriation by its Board of Supervisors, for each fiscal year the Series 2018 Bonds are outstanding, of 

funds for such purpose, to make payments in amounts sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2018 Bonds in each applicable fiscal year 

(the “Payment Agreements”).  The obligation of the County to make payments under the Payment Agreements in an applicable fiscal year of the County is 
absolute and unconditional, but subject to and contingent upon the appropriation of funds by the Board of Supervisors of the County for such purpose.   

THE SERIES 2018 BONDS AND THE INTEREST THEREON ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY, PAYABLE SOLELY 

FROM REVENUES, RECEIPTS AND SECURITY PLEDGED THEREFOR UNDER THE PAYMENT AGREEMENTS.  NEITHER THE 
COMMISSIONERS OF THE AUTHORITY NOR ANY PERSON EXECUTING THE SERIES 2018 BONDS SHALL BE LIABLE PERSONALLY ON 

THE SERIES 2018 BONDS BY REASON OF THE ISSUANCE THEREOF.  THE SERIES 2018 BONDS SHALL NOT BE A DEBT OF THE COUNTY, 
THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA (THE “COMMONWEALTH”) OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF (OTHER THAN THE 

AUTHORITY), AND NEITHER THE COUNTY NOR THE COMMONWEALTH OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF (OTHER THAN 

THE AUTHORITY) SHALL BE LIABLE THEREON, NOR IN ANY EVENT SHALL THE SERIES 2018 BONDS BE PAYABLE OUT OF ANY 
FUNDS OR PROPERTIES OTHER THAN THOSE OF THE AUTHORITY PLEDGED THEREFOR PURSUANT TO THE RESOLUTIONS (DEFINED 

HEREIN) AND THE PAYMENT AGREEMENTS.  THE SERIES 2018 BONDS SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS WITHIN THE 

MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY DEBT LIMITATION OR RESTRICTION.  THE AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING 

POWER. ______________________________________ 
The Series 2018 Bonds are being offered for delivery when, as and if executed and delivered and received by the Underwriters, subject to the 

approval of legality by Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, Washington, D.C., Bond Counsel.  Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Authority by its 

counsel, [Alan M. Weiss, Esquire, Office of the County Attorney], the County by its counsel Elizabeth D. Teare, Esquire, Fairfax County Attorney, and for 
the Underwriters by Christian & Barton, L.L.P  ,Richmond, Virginia.  The Series 2018 Bonds are expected to be available for delivery through the facilities 

of DTC in New York, New York, on or about_______ ___, 2018. 

. This cover page contains certain information for quick reference only.  It is not a summary of this issue. Investors must read the entire Official 

Statement for information essential to the making of an informed investment decision. 

MORGAN STANLEY 
JPMORGAN         RAYMOND JAMES 

Dated: ____ _, 2018 
_________________________________ 
 Preliminary, subject to change. 

T
h

is
 P

re
li

m
in

ar
y

 O
ff

ic
ia

l 
S

ta
te

m
en

t 
an

d
 t

h
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n

 c
o

n
ta

in
ed

 h
er

ei
n

 a
re

 s
u
b

je
ct

 t
o

 c
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

 o
r 

am
en

d
m

en
t.

  
T

h
e 

S
er

ie
s 

2
0

1
8

 B
o
n

d
s 

m
ay

 n
o
t 

b
e 

so
ld

 n
o

r 
m

ay
 a

n
 o

ff
er

 t
o

 b
u
y

 b
e 

ac
ce

p
te

d
 p

ri
o

r 
to

 t
h
e 

ti
m

e 
th

e 
O

ff
ic

ia
l 

S
ta

te
m

en
t 

is
 d

el
iv

er
ed

 i
n
 f

in
al

 f
o

rm
. 

 U
n

d
er

 n
o
 c

ir
cu

m
st

an
ce

s 
sh

al
l 

th
is

 P
re

li
m

in
ar

y
 O

ff
ic

ia
l 

S
ta

te
m

en
t 

co
n
st

it
u
te

 a
n

 o
ff

er
 t

o
 s

el
l 

o
r 

th
e 

so
li

ci
ta

ti
o

n
 o

f 

an
 o

ff
er

 t
o

 b
u

y
, 

n
o

r 
sh

al
l 

th
er

e 
b

e 
an

y
 s

al
e 

o
f 

th
e 

S
er

ie
s 

2
0
1

8
 B

o
n
d

s,
 i

n
 a

n
y

 j
u
ri

sd
ic

ti
o
n

 i
n

 w
h
ic

h
 s

u
ch

 o
ff

er
, 

so
li

ci
ta

ti
o
n

 o
r 

sa
le

 w
o
u

ld
 b

e 
u
n

la
w

fu
l 

p
ri

o
r 

to
 r

eg
is

tr
at

io
n

 o
r 

q
u

al
if

ic
at

io
n

 u
n
d

er
 

th
e 

se
cu

ri
ti

es
 l

aw
s 

o
f 

su
ch

 j
u

ri
sd

ic
ti

o
n

.  

 

244



Attachment 16 

 

  
 

 

$_________* 

FAIRFAX COUNTY (VIRGINIA) REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE BONDS (CRESCENT AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACQUISITION)  

SERIES 2018A (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

 

Base CUSIP†  Number ______ 

Dated: Date of Delivery                                                             Due:  ________ 1, as shown below 

MATURITY, AMOUNTS, INTEREST RATES AND PRICES/YIELDS* 

   Maturity 

 (_______ 1)  

Principal 

  Amount* 

Interest 

  Rate   

Yield or 

Price  

CUSIP† 

Suffix 

20__      $  %   %  

20__                   

20__                   

20__                   

20__                   

20__                   

20__                   

20__                   

20__                   
     

 

 

 
 

_____________________ 

 Preliminary, subject to change. 

† CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association.  The CUSIP numbers listed above are being provided 

solely for the convenience of bondholders only, and the Authority does not make any representation with respect to such numbers 

or undertake any responsibility for their accuracy.  The CUSIP numbers are subject to being changed after the issuance of the 

Series 2018A Bonds. 

245



Attachment 16 

 

  

$_________* 

FAIRFAX COUNTY (VIRGINIA) REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS (WEDGEWOOD AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACQUISITION)  

SERIES 2018B 

 

Base CUSIP†  Number _____ 

Dated: Date of Delivery                                                               Due:  _____ 1, as shown below 

MATURITY, AMOUNTS, INTEREST RATES AND PRICES/YIELDS* 

   Maturity 

 (_____ 1) 

Principal 

Amount 

Interest 

  Rate   

Yield or 

Price  

CUSIP† 

Suffix 

20__       $ % %  

20__                 

20__               

20__               

20__               

20__               

20__               

20__               

20__     

20__     

20__     

20__     

20__     
 

$_______* __% Term Bond due _______ 1, 20__*, priced to Yield ___%, CUSIP† Suffix 

 

_____________________ 

 Preliminary, subject to change. 

† CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association.  The CUSIP numbers listed above are being provided 

solely for the convenience of bondholders only, and the Authority does not make any representation with respect to such numbers 

or undertake any responsibility for their accuracy.  The CUSIP numbers are subject to being changed after the issuance of the 

Series 2018B Bonds. 

246



Attachment 16 

 

  
 

 

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT AND 

HOUSING AUTHORITY COMMISSIONERS 
Robert H. Schwaninger, Chairman 

C. Melissa Jonas, Vice-Chairman 

Matthew Bell 

Christopher T. Craig 

Kenneth Feng 

Kevin Greenlief 

Willard O. Jasper 

Richard Kennedy 

______________ 

Albert J. McAloon 

Rod Solomon 
___________________________________ 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Sharon Bulova, Chairman 

Penelope A. Gross, Vice Chairman 

John C. Cook 

John W. Foust 

Patrick S. Herrity 

Catherine M. Hudgins 

Jeffrey C. McKay 

Kathy L. Smith 

Linda Q. Smyth 

Daniel G. Storck 
___________________________________ 

COUNTY OFFICIALS 
Kirk Kincannon, Acting County Executive 

Patricia D. Harrison, Deputy County Executive  

David J. Molchany, Deputy County Executive 

David M. Rohrer, Deputy County Executive 

Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive 

Joseph M. Mondoro, Chief Financial Officer 

Christopher J. Pietsch, Director, Department of Finance 

 

COUNTY ATTORNEY 

Elizabeth D. Teare, Esquire, County Attorney 
___________________________________ 

 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

Public Financial Management, Inc. 

Arlington, Virginia 

BOND COUNSEL 

Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP 

Washington, D.C. 
 

                

PAYING AGENT 

Christopher J. Pietsch 

Director, Fairfax County Department of Finance 

247



Attachment 16 

 

 ii 

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, MORGAN STANLEY &CO LLC, AS REPRESENTATIVE OF THE UNDERWRITERS (DEFINED 

HEREIN), MAY OVER ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE SERIES 2018 BONDS 

AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE 

DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. 

No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representation 

other than those contained in this Official Statement in connection with the offering described herein, and, if given or made, such 

other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized. This Official Statement does not 

constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities other than the Series 2018 Bonds described herein, 

nor shall there be any offer or solicitation of such offer or sale of the Series 2018 Bonds in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful 

for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale. Neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor the sale of any of the 

Series 2018 Bonds implies that the information herein is correct as of any date subsequent to the date thereof. 

The electronic distribution of this Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to 

buy the Series 2018 Bonds described herein to the residents of any particular jurisdiction and is not specifically directed to the 

residents of any particular jurisdiction.  The Series 2018 Bonds will not be offered or sold in any state unless and until they are 

either registered pursuant to the laws of such jurisdiction, or qualified pursuant to an appropriate exemption from registration in 

such jurisdiction. 

THE SERIES 2018 BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED OR QUALIFIED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

BY REASON OF THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 3(a)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED AND SECTION 304(a)(4) OF THE 

TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939, AS AMENDED. THE REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION OF THE SERIES 2018 BONDS IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF SECURITIES LAW OF THE STATES IN WHICH THE SERIES 2018 BONDS HAVE BEEN REGISTERED OR 

QUALIFIED, IF ANY, AND THE EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION IN OTHER STATES, SHALL NOT BE REGARDED AS A 

RECOMMENDATION THEREOF. 

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN EXAMINATION OF THE TERMS OF THE 

OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS INVOLVED.  THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR 

STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY.  FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED 

THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT.  ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL 

OFFENSE. 

All quotations from and summaries and explanations of laws and documents herein do not purport to be complete, and 

reference is made to such laws and documents for full and complete statements of their provisions.  Any statements made in this 

Official Statement involving estimates or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended merely as estimates 

or opinions and not as representations of fact.  THE INFORMATION AND EXPRESSIONS OF OPINION HEREIN ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE 

WITHOUT NOTICE, AND NEITHER THE DELIVERY OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT NOR ANY SALE OF THE SERIES 2018 BONDS SHALL 

UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES CREATE ANY IMPLICATION THAT THERE HAS BEEN NO CHANGE IN THE AFFAIRS OF THE AUTHORITY OR 

THE COUNTY SINCE THE DATE HEREOF. 

The information set forth herein has been obtained from sources which are believed to be reliable and is in a form 

deemed final by the Authority and the County for the purpose of Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended (except for certain information permitted to be omitted under Rule 15c2-12(b)(1)). The information contained herein is 

subject to change after the date of this Official Statement, and this Official Statement speaks only as of its date. 

The Underwriters have provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. The Underwriters have 

reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, their respective responsibilities to investors 

under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriters do not 

guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information. 

The Authority has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement.  The Authority does not 

assume any responsibility as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Official Statement, other than 

that contained under the captions “THE AUTHORITY” and the first paragraph under “LITIGATION.” 

Forward looking statements.  Certain statements contained in this Official Statement that are not historical facts are 

forward looking statements, which are based on the Authority’s or the County’s beliefs, as well as assumptions made by, and 

information currently available to, them.  Because the statements are based on expectations about future events and economic 

performance and are not statements of fact, actual results may differ materially from those projected.  The words “anticipate,” 

“assume,” “estimate,” “expect,” “objective,” “projection,” “forecast,” “goal,” “budget,” or similar words are intended to identify 

forward looking statements.  The words “now,” “to date,” “currently” and the like are intended to mean as of the date of this 

Official Statement. 

248



Attachment 16 

 

 ii 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

Page 

 

INTRODUCTION ....................................................1 
THE AUTHORITY ..................................................3 
THE COUNTY .........................................................3 

General .................................................................... 3 
Affordable Housing ................................................. 4 

THE PROPERTIES ..................................................4 
Crescent Property .................................................... 4 

Wedgewood Property .............................................. 5 

REFUNDING PLAN - SERIES 2018B 

BONDS ................................................................5 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES 

OF FUNDS ..........................................................6 
THE SERIES 2018 BONDS .....................................7 

General .................................................................... 7 

Redemption .............................................................. 7 

Book-Entry Only System ....................................... 10 
SECURITY AND SOURCES OF 

PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 

2018 BONDS .....................................................12 
The Payment Agreements ...................................... 12 
Budget and Appropriation ..................................... 12 
Limited Obligations ............................................... 12 
No Reserve Fund ................................................... 13 

No Mortgage or Property Security ......................... 13 

INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS ...................13 
Non-Appropriation on the Payment Agreements... 13 

Defeasance of Series 2018A Bonds ....................    13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 

 

TAX MATTERS .................................................... 13 
Series 2018A Bonds .............................................. 13 

Series 2018B Bonds .............................................. 20 

RATINGS .............................................................. 22 
LEGAL MATTERS ............................................... 23 
LEGALITY FOR INVESTMENTS ...................... 23 
LITIGATION ......................................................... 23 
FINANCIAL ADVISOR ....................................... 23 
UNDERWRITING................................................. 23 

VERIFICATION OF CERTAIN 

FINANCIAL COMPUTATIONS ..................... 24 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

UNDERTAKING .............................................. 24 
MISCELLANEOUS .............................................. 26 
PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL 

STATEMENT DEEMED FINAL ..................... 27 

APPENDIX A - Information Relating to Fairfax County 

APPENDIX B - Financial Statements of Fairfax County  

for the Year Ended June 30, 2017, and Independent 

Auditor’s Report 

APPENDIX C - Forms of Bond Counsel Opinions 

APPENDIX D - Forms of Continuing Disclosure 

Agreements 

249



Attachment 16 

 

 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

$_________* 

FAIRFAX COUNTY (VIRGINIA) REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE BONDS (CRESCENT AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACQUISITION)  

SERIES 2018A (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

 

AND 

 

$_________* 

FAIRFAX COUNTY (VIRGINIA) REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS (WEDGEWOOD AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACQUISITION)  

SERIES 2018B  

INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this Official Statement, including the cover page and the Appendices hereto, is to 

set forth certain information regarding the $________* Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing 

Authority Revenue Bonds (Crescent Affordable Housing Acquisition) [Series 2018A] (Federally Taxable) 

(the “Series 2018A Bonds”) and the $_________* Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority 

Revenue Refunding Bonds (Wedgewood Affordable Housing Acquisition) [Series 2018B] [(the “Series 

2018B Bonds”] and together with the Series 2018A Bonds, the “Series 2018 Bonds”) each to be issued by 

the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority (the “Authority”).  The Series 2018 Bonds are 

being issued pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the 

“Commonwealth”), including the Housing Authorities Law, Chapter 1, Title 36, Code of Virginia of 

1950, as amended (the “Enabling Act”), and the provisions of resolutions duly adopted by the Authority 

on _____ _, 2017 (the “Resolutions”).  The Board of Supervisors (the “Board of Supervisors”) of Fairfax 

County, Virginia (the “County”) adopted resolutions on ________ __, 2017 by which it approved the 

issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds by the Authority. 

The Series 2018A Bonds are being issued to provide fund sufficient to refinance the outstanding 

portion of an Authority promissory note issued to Bank of America, N.A. (the “Bank”) in 2015 as 

evidence of a loan received by the Authority from the Bank pursuant to the terms of a loan agreement by 

and among the Bank, the Authority and the County (the “2015 Crescent Loan”) and to pay certain costs of 

issuance of the Series 2018A Bonds.  The 2015 Crescent Loan refinanced the outstanding Fairfax County 

Redevelopment and Housing Authority Bond Anticipation Notes (Affordable Housing Acquisition) 

Series 2013A (Taxable) (the “2013 Crescent Notes”) which were issued to refinance the outstanding 

Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Bond Anticipation Notes (Affordable Housing 

Acquisition) Series 2011A (the “2011 Crescent Notes”).  The proceeds of the 2011 Crescent Notes were 

applied in May 2011 to refinance other outstanding notes issued in February 2008 (the “2008 Crescent 

Notes”) to pay the principal amount of a bond anticipation note issued in February 2007 (the “2007 

Crescent Note”), which was issued to pay the principal amount of a bond anticipation note issued in 

February 2006 (the “Original Crescent Note”).  The Original Crescent Note was issued to provide a 

portion of the purchase price of, and to enable the County to acquire title to the [180 unit] Crescent 

Apartments multi-family rental housing complex, including the approximately 16.5 acre site thereof, 

located at 1527 Cameron Crescent Drive in Reston, Virginia (the “Crescent Property” and together with 

                                                      

* Preliminary, subject to change 

250



Attachment 16 

 

2 

the Wedgewood Property (as defined below), the “Properties”)).  See “THE PROPERTIES” and 

“ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS.” 

The Series 2018B Bonds are being issued to provide funds sufficient to refund certain outstanding 

maturities of the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Revenue Bonds (Affordable 

Housing Acquisition) Series 2009 (the “Series 2009 Bonds”) and to pay certain costs of issuance of the 

Series 2018B Bonds.  The 2009 Bonds were issued were issued to pay the outstanding principal amount 

of the $104,105,000 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority Bond Anticipation Notes 

Series 2008B due on October 1, 2009 (the “Series 2008B Wedgewood Notes”).  The proceeds of the 

Series 2008B Wedgewood Notes were applied to pay the principal amount of bond anticipation notes 

issued in November 2007 (the “Original Wedgewood Notes”) to pay a portion of the purchase price of, 

and to enable the County to acquire title to the 424-unit Wedgewood West Apartments multi-family rental 

housing complex, including the approximately 21.9-acre site thereof, the 123-unit Wedgewood East 

Apartments multi-family rental housing complex, including the  approximately 6.9-acre site thereof, and 

the 125-unit Wedgewood Manor Apartments multi-family rental housing complex, including the 

approximately 6.0-acre site thereof all located in Annandale, Virginia (collectively the “Wedgewood 

Property”).  See “THE PROPERTIES” and “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS.”  The 

Authority operates and maintains the Properties under separate lease arrangements for each such Property. 

The Authority and the County have entered into Payment Agreements (the “Payment 

Agreements”) for both the Series 2018A Bonds and the Series 2018B Bonds pursuant to which the 

County has agreed, subject to the appropriation by its Board of Supervisors for such purpose, to make 

payments to or for the account of Authority, in order for the Authority to pay timely the principal of and 

the interest on the Series 2018 Bonds (the “County Payments”).   

Under Assignment Agreements (the “Assignment Agreements”), the Authority has assigned all of 

its rights, interests and privileges (including the right to receive the County Payments) under the Payment 

Agreements to the Director of the Department of Finance of Fairfax County, as bond registrar and paying 

agent, for the benefit of the owners of the Series 2018 Bonds.  The obligation of the County to make 

County Payments and any other payments required under the Payment Agreements in any fiscal year is a 

valid and binding obligation of the County, but is subject to and contingent upon the annual appropriation 

of funds for such purpose by the Board of Supervisors.  See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF 

PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2018 BONDS - The Payment Agreements.”  There are no mortgage or 

liens on the Properties to secure the Series 2018 Bonds, nor are the leases between the County and 

Authority assigned or pledged as security for the Series 2018 Bonds. 

THE SERIES 2018 BONDS AND THE INTEREST THEREON ARE LIMITED 

OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY, PAYABLE SOLELY FROM REVENUES, RECEIPTS AND 

SECURITY PLEDGED THEREFOR UNDER THE PAYMENT AGREEMENTS.  NEITHER THE 

COMMISSIONERS OF THE AUTHORITY NOR ANY PERSON EXECUTING THE SERIES 2018 

BONDS SHALL BE LIABLE PERSONALLY ON THE SERIES 2018 BONDS BY REASON OF THE 

ISSUANCE THEREOF.  THE SERIES 2018 BONDS SHALL NOT BE A DEBT OF THE COUNTY, 

THE COMMONWEALTH OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF (OTHER THAN THE 

AUTHORITY), AND NEITHER THE COUNTY NOR THE COMMONWEALTH OR ANY 

POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF (OTHER THAN THE AUTHORITY) SHALL BE LIABLE 

THEREON, NOR IN ANY EVENT SHALL THE SERIES 2018 BONDS BE PAYABLE OUT OF ANY 

FUNDS OR PROPERTIES OTHER THAN THOSE OF THE AUTHORITY PLEDGED THEREFOR 

PURSUANT TO THE RESOLUTIONS AND THE PAYMENT AGREEMENTS.  THE SERIES 2018 

BONDS SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY 

251



Attachment 16 

 

3 

CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY DEBT LIMITATION OR RESTRICTION.  THE 

AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING POWER. 

Brief descriptions of the Authority, the County, the Properties, the Series 2018 Bonds, the 

security for the Series 2018 Bonds, the Payment Agreements, and related documents are included in this 

Official Statement.  The descriptions of the documents included in this Official Statement do not purport 

to be comprehensive or definitive and are qualified in their entirety by reference to such documents. 

THE AUTHORITY 

The Authority is a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia created pursuant to the 

Housing Authorities Law, Chapter 1, Title 36, of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the 

“Enabling Act”).  The Authority is a “public housing agency” as such term is defined in Section 3(6) of 

the U.S. Housing Act. 

The Authority was created pursuant to the Enabling Act by resolution of the Board of 

Supervisors, and approved in a referendum of voters in Fairfax County on November 2, 1965.  On 

February 23, 1966, the Board of Supervisors declared the Authority activated and it has been in operation 

since that date without interruption.  The Authority is empowered, among other things, to acquire, 

construct, improve, maintain, equip, own, lease and dispose of various types of facilities, including 

facilities for use by the County, and to finance the same by the issuance of its revenue bonds or notes.  

The Series 2018 Bonds will be limited obligations of the Authority as described in the section 

“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2018 BONDS.”  The Authority has 

no taxing power. 

The Authority’s powers are vested in eleven Commissioners.  The officers of the Authority are a 

Chairman and a Vice-Chairman, chosen from the Commissioners, and a Secretary who is also the 

Executive Director.  The County Executive of the County serves as Secretary and Executive Director for 

the Authority.  In addition, the Authority appoints such other officers, agents and employees as it may 

require. 

The Authority’s offices are located at 3700 Pender Drive, Suite 300, Fairfax, Virginia 22030-

7444, and its telephone number is (703) 246-5105. 

The Authority has acted as an issuer of bonds and notes other than the Series 2018 Bonds.  No 

such other bonds or notes are secured by the Payment Agreements or any other assets pledged to secure 

the Series 2018 Bonds under the Resolutions or the Payment Agreements, nor are the Series 2018 Bonds 

secured by any assets pledged to the payment of such other bonds or notes.  See “SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2018 BONDS.”   

THE COUNTY 

General 

The County is located in the northeastern corner of Virginia and encompasses an area of 407 

square miles.  The County is part of the Washington, D.C., metropolitan area, which includes jurisdictions 

in Maryland, the District of Columbia and Northern Virginia. 

The Fairfax County government is organized under the Urban County Executive form of 

government (as defined under Virginia law).  The governing body of the County is the Board of 

Supervisors, which makes policies for the administration of the County.  The Board of Supervisors is 

comprised of ten members: the Chairman, elected at large for a four-year term, and one member from 

252



Attachment 16 

 

4 

each of nine districts, elected for four-year terms by the voters of the district in which the member resides.  

The Board of Supervisors appoints a County Executive to act as the administrative head of the County.  

The County Executive serves at the pleasure of the Board of Supervisors, carries out the policies 

established by the Board of Supervisors, directs business and administrative procedures and recommends 

officers and personnel to be appointed by the Board of Supervisors. 

In Virginia, cities and counties are discrete units of government and do not overlap.  Fairfax 

County completely surrounds the City of Fairfax and is adjacent to the City of Falls Church and the City 

of Alexandria.  Property within these cities is not subject to taxation by the County, and the County 

generally is not required to provide governmental services to their residents.  The County, does, however, 

provide certain services to the residents of certain of these cities pursuant to agreements with such cities. 

In the County, there are located three incorporated towns, Clifton, Herndon and Vienna, which 

are underlying units of government within the County, and ordinances and regulations of the County are, 

with certain limitations prescribed by Virginia law, generally effective in them.  Property in these towns is 

subject to County taxation, and the County provides certain services to their residents.  These towns may 

incur general obligation bonded indebtedness without the prior approval of the County. 

See Appendix A for further information regarding the County. 

Affordable Housing 

 [The Board of Supervisors has made affordable housing in the County a priority.  As part of the 

effort to provide affordable housing in the County, the Board of Supervisors in fiscal year 2006 approved 

the establishment of a new fund to aid in financing affordable housing.  The Penny for Affordable 

Housing Fund (the “Affordable Housing Fund”) from FY 2006 through FY 2009, produced $85.3 million 

for the preservation and production of affordable housing in the County at a rate of $.01 per $1,000 of 

assessed value of real property in the County.  As part of the adopted budget for FY 2010 the Board 

maintained its commitment to appropriate funds, but at a lower rate of one-half of one cent per $1,000 of 

assessed value of real property in the County, which was equal to approximately $10.2 million for FY 

2010.  The Board continued this commitment in the FY 2011 through FY 2017 Adopted Budgets, 

providing a total of $____ million dedicated to the Affordable Housing Fund.  The commitment 

established in the FY 2018 budget was set in the amount of ______ million.  Discussion of use of this 

money relating to Series 2018 Bonds?]] 

THE PROPERTIES 

Crescent Property 

On February 6, 2006, the County entered into an Agreement of Purchase and Sale for the 

Crescent Property.  The Crescent Property is adjacent to the Lake Anne Revitalization District in Reston.  
A portion of the purchase price under the Purchase Contract for the Property was financed by the Original 

Crescent Note issued in February 2006.  Simultaneously with the issuance of the Original Crescent Note, 

the 2007 Crescent Note, the 2008 Crescent Notes, the 2011 Crescent Notes, the 2013 Crescent Notes and 

the 2015 Crescent Loan, the Authority and the County entered into lease agreements pursuant to which 

the Authority agreed to lease the Crescent Property from the County and operate and maintain the 

Crescent Property as a “residential building” within the meaning of the Enabling Act.  Simultaneously 

with the issuance of the Series 2018A Bonds, the Authority and the County will enter into a similar lease 

agreement. 

253



Attachment 16 

 

5 

[The Enabling Act requires 20% of the units in a residential building operated by the Authority to 

be occupied by persons of low income and the remainder of the units to be occupied by persons of 

moderate income, each as determined by the Authority in accordance with the Enabling Act.  Since the 

Crescent Property was purchased, the Authority has revised its tenant income guidelines and has reviewed 

the income of the tenants residing on the Crescent Property.  Based on such actions and on steps taken to 

relocate certain tenants, the Crescent Property now meets the requirements for the operation of property 

under the Enabling Act.  [The County is looking for a partner to replace the existing affordable housing 

units at the site to result in additional affordable and workforce housing units and assist in generating 

Lake Anne revitalization efforts through property consolidation and large scale redevelopment.  Under the 

Comprehensive Plan for the Crescent Property site, up to 935 units are allowed.  Any future development 

will involve a final contract award and approval of buildings and site plans.  -- update]   

Wedgewood Property 

On October 4, 2007, the County entered into Agreements of Purchase and Sale for a multi-family 

rental housing property comprised of the 424-unit Wedgewood West Apartments including its 

approximately 21.9-acre site, the 123-unit Wedgewood East Apartments, including its approximately 6.9-

acre site, and the 125-unit Wedgewood Manor Apartments, including its approximately 6.0-acre site, all 

located in Annandale, Virginia.  Simultaneously with the issuance of the Original Wedgewood Notes, 

Series 2008B Wedgewood Notes and Series 2009 Bonds, the Authority and the County entered into lease 

agreements pursuant to which the Authority agreed to lease the Wedgewood Property from the County 

and operate and maintain the Wedgewood Property as “residential buildings” within the meaning of the 

Enabling Act.  Simultaneously with the issuance of the Series 2018B Bonds, the Authority and the 

County will enter into a similar amended and lease agreement. 

The Enabling Act requires 20% of the units in a residential building operated by the Authority to 

be occupied by persons of low income and the remainder of the units to be occupied by persons of 

moderate income, each as determined by the Authority in accordance with the Enabling Act.  Pursuant to 

a resolution passed by the Authority on November 1, 2007 (the “Tenants Income Resolution”), the 

Authority has reviewed the income of the tenants residing on the Wedgewood Property to ensure 

compliance with the Authority’s tenant income guidelines.  Based on such review, the Authority has 

taken actions, including aiding the relocation of certain tenants, required under the Tenants Income 

Resolution in order to ensure that the requirements for the operation of Wedgewood Property under the 

Enabling Act are being met.   

Based on real estate and financial market conditions and consultation with the County and its 

Financial Advisor the Authority may in the future sell all or a portion of the Wedgewood Property and 

redeem all or a portion of the Series 2018B Bonds relating to the Wedgewood Property or portion thereof 

sold.  See “THE SERIES 2018 BONDS - Redemption - Extraordinary Mandatory Redemption.” 

REFUNDING PLAN – SERIES 2018B BONDS 

The Authority will use a portion of the proceeds of the Series 2018B Bonds to provide funds to 

refund all or a portion of the Authority’s outstanding Series 2009 Bonds that mature on October 1, 20__* 

through October  1, 20__*, inclusive, and October 1, 20__* and that are subject to redemption prior to 

maturity at the option of the Authority (the “Refunding Candidates”).  The purpose of the refunding is to 

achieve present value debt service savings.  The Authority and the County’s decision whether to refund 

                                                      

* Preliminary, subject to change. 

254



Attachment 16 

 

6 

any given maturity of the Refunding Candidates is subject to prevailing market conditions at the time of 

the sale of the Series 2018B Bonds.  The Authority and the County may refund only certain maturities of 

the Refunding Candidates if such refunding permits the County to meet certain savings targets.  The 

Refunding Candidates, if any, that are refunded with proceeds of the Series 2018B Bonds are referred to 

as the “Refunded Bonds.”  The Authority will deposit with [___________ _____, _____, as escrow 

agent], pursuant to an escrow deposit agreement, cash and non-callable, direct obligations of the United 

States of America, the maturing principal of and interest on which, together with such cash, will be 

sufficient to pay all principal, applicable redemption premium, and interest on the Refunded Bonds to 

their redemption date.  The Refunded Bonds will be called for redemption on October 1, 2019, at the 

redemption price of 100% of their principal amount.  The sufficiency of the cash and securities deposited 

with the escrow agent to pay the principal of and interest on the Refunded Bonds will be verified by 

Robert Thomas CPA LLC.  See “VERIFICATION OF CERTAIN FINANCIAL COMPUTATIONS” 

herein.  Set forth below are the Refunding Candidates and their original CUSIP numbers. 

Refunding Candidates* 

   Refunded Bonds       Maturities      Amount   Redemption  

Date    

Redemption  

  Price    

CUSIP 

Number† 

2009 Bonds October 1, 20__  $ October 1, 2019    100%  

 October 1, 20__  October 1, 2019 100  

 October 1, 20__  October 1, 2019 100  

 October 1, 20__  October 1, 2019 100  

 October 1, 20__  October 1, 2019 100  

 October 1, 20__  October 1, 2019 100  

 October 1, 20__  October 1, 2019 100  

 October 1, 20__  October 1, 2019 100  

 October 1, 20__  October 1, 2019 100  

 October 1, 20__  October 1, 2019 100  

† CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association.  The CUSIP numbers listed above are being provided 

solely for the convenience of bondholders only, and the Authority does not make any representation with respect to such numbers 

or undertake any responsibility for their accuracy.  The CUSIP numbers are subject to being changed after the issuance of the 

Series 2018B Bonds. 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

The proceeds of the Series 2018 Bonds and other available funds are expected to be applied as 

follows: 

Series 2018A Bonds 

  Sources 

                                                      

*     Preliminary, subject to change 

255



Attachment 16 

 

7 

Principal amount of the Series 2018A Bonds….…………  $  

Net Original Issue Premium……………….…….……… 

[County Equity Contribution]….…………….……………    ____________ 

 Total                               $                   

  Uses 

Payment to Bank to discharge and terminate  

        2015 Crescent Loan……………….…….……… $   

Costs of Issuance of the Series 2018A Bonds….………… 

Underwriters’ discount…………………………………..          ____________ 

 Total                                $ 

 

Series 2018B Bonds 

  Sources 

Principal amount of the Series 2018B Bonds….…………  $  

Net Original Issue Premium……………….…….……… 

[County Equity Contribution]….…………….……………    ____________ 

 Total                               $                   

  Uses 

Deposit in Escrow Account for Refunded Bonds………… $   

Costs of Issuance of the Series 2018B Bonds….………… 

Underwriters’ discount…………………………………..          ____________ 

 Total                                $ 

THE SERIES 2018 BONDS 

General 

The Series 2018 Bonds will be dated the date of their delivery, will bear interest and will mature 

as set forth on the inside cover pages hereof.  Interest on the Series 2018 Bonds will be calculated on a 

30/360 day basis.  The Series 2018 Bonds will be issued as fully registered bonds and purchasers may 

acquire beneficial interests in the Series 2018 Bonds in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple 

thereof.  The Series 2018A Bonds will be dated the date of their delivery, will bear interest from their 

dated date, payable on each April 1 1 and October 1, commencing October 1, 2018, at rates, and will 

mature in amounts on October 1 in each of the years 2018 through 2022, as set forth on the inside cover 

pages of this Official Statement.  The Series 2018B Bonds will be dated the date of their delivery, will 

bear interest from their dated date, payable on each April 1 and October 1, commencing October 1, 2018, 

at rates, and will mature in amounts on October 1 in each of the years 2020 through 2039, as set forth on 

the inside cover pages of this Official Statement.  The Series 2018 Bonds will be issued in a book-entry 

only system of registration.  So long as The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), 

or its nominee is the registered owner of the Series 2018 Bonds, payments of the principal and interest on 

the Series 2018 Bonds will be payable directly to DTC.  See “- Book-Entry Only System” below. 

Redemption 

 Optional Redemption 

 [The Series 2018A Bonds are not subject to optional redemption prior to maturity.] 

256



Attachment 16 

 

8 

 

 The Series 2018B Bonds maturing on or before _______ 1, 20__, are not subject to optional 

redemption before their maturity.  The Series 2018B Bonds maturing after _______ 1, 20__, are subject 

to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the County, from any money available for such purpose 

on any date not earlier than _______ 1, 20__, in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000) at any 

time, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, together with the interest accrued to the 

redemption date on the principal amount to be redeemed. 
 

 Extraordinary Mandatory Redemption 

 

[The Series 2018A Bonds are subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption (“Extraordinary 

Mandatory Redemption”) in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000), on any date after ______ 

__, 20__, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount redeemed thereof, together with the interest 

accrued to the redemption date on the principal amount to be redeemed, within six months from the date 

of the sale by the County of all or any portion of the Crescent Property.  Upon the sale of a portion of the 

Crescent Property, the Series 2018A Bonds to be redeemed shall be the pro rata portion of the Series 

2018A Bonds (such portion to be rounded up to the next $5,000 increment) allocable to that portion of the 

Crescent Property.   

 

 The County and Authority at this time do not know the likelihood that all or any of the portion of 

the Crescent Property will be sold.  Any such sale depends on real estate and financial market conditions 

and consultation and agreement with the County on such sale.] 

 

[The Series 2018B Bonds are subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption (“Extraordinary 

Mandatory Redemption”) in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000), on any date after ______ 

__, 20__, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount redeemed thereof, together with the interest 

accrued to the redemption date on the principal amount to be redeemed, within six months from the date 

of the sale by the County of all or any portion of the Wedgewood Property.  Upon the sale of a portion of 

the Wedgewood Property, the Series 2018B Bonds to be redeemed shall be the pro rata portion of the 

Series 2018B Bonds (such portion to be rounded up to the next $5,000 increment) allocable to that 

portion of the Wedgewood Property.]   

 

 The County and Authority at this time does not know the likelihood that all or any of the portion 

of the Wedgewood Property will be sold.  Any such sale depends on real estate and financial market 

conditions and consultation and agreement with the County on such sale. 

 

 [Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption   

The Series 2018B Bonds maturing __________ 1, 20__, are subject to mandatory sinking fund 

redemption in part at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, together with interest thereon accrued 

to the date of redemption, in accordance with the following sinking fund requirements: 

Series 2018B Bonds Maturing ________ 1, 20_ 

Year Principal Amount 

20__ $ 

20__  

20__ (final maturity) 

257



Attachment 16 

 

9 

The Series 2018B Bonds maturing ____, 20__, are also subject to mandatory sinking fund 

redemption in part at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, together with interest thereon accrued 

to the date of redemption, in accordance with the following sinking fund requirements: 

Series 2018B Bonds Maturing ________ 1, 20__ 

Year Principal Amount 

20__ $ 

20__  

20__ (final maturity) 

The Payment Agreement for the Series 2018B Bonds requires funds to be provided sufficient to 

redeem on the dates indicated above the principal amounts of such Series 2018B Bonds set forth above.] 

Selection of Series 2018 Bonds for Redemption 

[Series 2018 Bonds may be redeemed only in increments of $5,000 or whole multiples thereof.  If 

less than all the Series 2018A Bonds or Series 2018B Bonds are called for Extraordinary Mandatory 

Redemption the Series 2018A Bonds or Series 2018B Bonds or portions thereof will be redeemed in a 

pro-rata manner for each maturity of Series 2018A Bonds or Series 2018B Bonds, each $5,000 increment 

being counted as one Series 2018A Bond or Series 2018B Bonds for such purpose.  If less than all of the 

Series 2018B Bonds are called for optional redemption, the Series 2018B Bonds or portions thereof to be 

redeemed will be selected by the paying agent and bond registrar in such manner as the paying agent and 

bond registrar in its sole discretion may determine, each $5,000 increment being counted as one Series 

2018B Bonds for such purpose.  If a portion of a Series 2018 Bond is called for redemption, a new Series 

2018 Bond in a principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion thereof will be issued to the bondholder 

upon the surrender thereof.] 

 Notice of Redemption 

The paying agent and bond registrar will send notice of any call for redemption by first class 

mail, postage prepaid, not less than 30 nor more than 90 days prior to the redemption date to all holders of 

the Series 2018 Bonds to be redeemed, whether as a whole or in part.  Failure to give such notice, or any 

defect therein, shall not affect the validity of any proceedings for the redemption of any Series 2018 Bond 

with respect to which no such failure or defect has occurred.  Such notice is to identify the Series 2018 

Bond or portions thereof to be redeemed, the date fixed for redemption, the redemption price to be paid, 

and, if appropriate, the maturities and identifying numbers and letters, if any, of such Series 2018 Bond to 

be redeemed and, in the case of a Series 2018 Bond to be redeemed in part only, the portion of the 

principal amount thereof to be redeemed. 

Any notice of optional redemption of the Series 2018B Bond may state that it is conditioned upon 

there being available on the redemption date an amount of money sufficient to pay the redemption price 

plus interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date, and any conditional notice so given may be 

rescinded at any time before the payment of the redemption price if any such condition so specified is not 

satisfied.  If a redemption does not occur after a conditional notice is given due to an insufficient amount 

of funds on deposit with the bond registrar and paying agent, the corresponding notice of redemption will 

be deemed to be revoked. 

 If, on or before the date fixed for redemption, the Authority has deposited with the paying agent 

and bond registrar funds sufficient to pay the principal of and interest accrued thereon to the redemption 

258



Attachment 16 

 

10 

date on the Series 2018 Bonds called for redemption, such Series 2018 Bonds or portions thereof so 

called for redemption will cease to bear interest from and after the redemption date, will no longer be 

entitled to benefits provided by the Payment Agreements and shall not be deemed to be outstanding.  So 

long as the Series 2018 Bonds are in book-entry only form, any notice of redemption will be given to the 

securities depository or its nominee as the sole registered owner of the Series 2018 Bonds.  See “-Book-

Entry Only System” below with respect to provision of such notice to the beneficial owners of the Series 

2018 Bonds. 

 

Defeasance of Series 2018A Bonds 

 Persons considering the purchase of a Series 2018A Bond should be aware that a defeasance of a 

Series 2018A Bond by the Authority prior to maturity could result in the realization of gain or loss by the 

beneficial owner of the Series 2018A Bond for federal income tax purposes, without any corresponding 

receipts of money by the beneficial owner.  Such gain or loss generally would be subject to recognition 

for the tax year in which such realization occurs, as in the case of a sale or exchange.  Owners are advised 

to consult their own tax advisers with respect to the tax consequences resulting from such events.  See 

“INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS” and “TAX MATTERS - Series 2018A Bonds - Defeasance” 

herein. 
 

259



Attachment 16 

 

11 

Book-Entry Only System 

[The following description of the procedures and recordkeeping with respect to beneficial 

ownership interests in the Series 2018 Bonds, payments of principal of and interest on the Series 2018 

Bonds to DTC, its nominee, Direct Participants (as defined below) or Beneficial Owners (as defined 

below), confirmation and transfer of beneficial ownership interests in the Series 2018 Bonds and other 

bond-related transactions by and between DTC, the Direct Participants and Beneficial Owners is based 

solely on information furnished by DTC. 

DTC will act as securities depository for the Series 2018 Bonds.  The Series 2018 Bonds will be 

issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee), 

or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One fully-registered 

Series 2018 Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of Series 2018 Bonds, as set forth on the 

inside cover pages hereof, and will be deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New 

York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a 

member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York 

Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A 

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million 

issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market 

instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (the “Direct Participants”) deposit with 

DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other 

securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and 

pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of 

securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 

banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company 

for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which 

are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.   Access to the 

DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 

banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship 

with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (the “Indirect Participants”).  The DTC Rules 

applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  More information 

about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and dtc.org. 

Purchases of the Series 2018 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct 

Participants, which will receive a credit for the Series 2018 Bonds on DTC’s records.  The ownership 

interest of the actual purchasers of the Series 2018 Bonds (the “Beneficial Owners”) is in turn recorded on 

the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmations 

from DTC of their purchases.  Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations 

providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or 

Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owners entered into the transaction.  Transfers of 

ownership interests in the Series 2018 Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of 

Direct or Indirect Participants acting on behalf of the Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not 

receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Series 2018 Bonds, except in the event 

that use of the book-entry system for the Series 2018 Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, the Series 2018 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with 

DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may 

be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of the Series 2018 Bonds with DTC 

260



Attachment 16 

 

12 

and registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other nominee does not effect any change in beneficial 

ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the identities of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2018 

Bonds;  DTC’s records reflect only the identities the Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series 

2018 Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct or Indirect 

Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 

Participants to Indirect Participants and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 

Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory 

requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of Series 2018 Bonds may wish to 

take certain steps to augment transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the 

Series 2018 Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults and proposed amendments to the security 

documents.  For example, Beneficial Owners of the Series 2018 Bonds may wish to ascertain that the 

nominee holding the Series 2018 Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to 

Beneficial Owners.   In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses 

to the registrar and request that copies of the notices be provided directly to them. 

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Series 2018 Bonds within a 

maturity are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each 

Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 

the Series 2018 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI 

Procedures.  Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Authority as soon as 

possible after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to 

those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series 2018 Bonds are credited on the record date 

(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Redemption proceeds and payments of principal of and interest on the Series 2018 Bonds will be 

made to Cede & Co. or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  

DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding 

detail information from the bond registrar and paying agent on the payable date in accordance with their 

respective holdings shown on DTC’s records.  Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be 

governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the 

accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such 

Participant and not of DTC (or its nominee), the Authority or the bond registrar and paying agent, subject 

to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Payment of redemption 

proceeds and principal and interest to Cede & Co (or such other nominee as may be requested by an 

authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the bond registrar and paying agent, 

disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement 

of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Series 

2018 Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to the Authority and the bond registrar and paying 

agent.  Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor securities depository is not obtained, 

Series 2018 Bond certificates will be printed and delivered. 

The Authority may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC 

(or a successor securities depository).  In that event, Series 2018 Bond certificates will be printed and 

delivered. 

261



Attachment 16 

 

13 

Neither the Authority nor the bond registrar and paying agent has any responsibility or obligation 

to the Direct or Indirect Participants or the Beneficial Owners with respect to (a) the accuracy of any 

records maintained by DTC or any Direct or Indirect Participant; (b) the payment by any Direct or 

Indirect Participant of any amount due to any Beneficial Owner in respect of the principal of and interest 

on the Series 2018 Bonds; (c) the delivery or timeliness of delivery by any Direct or Indirect Participant 

of any notice to any Beneficial Owner that is required or permitted to be given to holders; or (d) any other 

action taken by DTC, or its nominee, Cede & Co., as holder, including the effectiveness of any action 

taken pursuant to an Omnibus Proxy. 

So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Series 2018 Bonds, as nominee of DTC, 

references in this Official Statement to the holders of the Series 2018 Bonds mean Cede & Co. and not the 

Beneficial Owners, and Cede & Co. will be treated as the only holder of Series 2018 Bonds.  

The Authority may enter into amendments to the agreement with DTC or successor agreements 

with a successor securities depository, relating to the book-entry system to be maintained with respect to 

the Series 2018 Bonds without the consent of Beneficial Owners or holders. 

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained 

from sources that the Authority believes to be reliable, but the Authority takes no responsibility for the 

accuracy thereof. 

The Authority may enter into amendments to the agreement with DTC, or successor 

agreements with a successor securities depository, relating to the book-entry system to be 

maintained with respect to the Series 2018 Bonds without the consent of Beneficial Owners.] 

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2018 BONDS 

The Payment Agreements 
 

The County is obligated in accordance with the terms of the Payment Agreements to make 

County Payments that are sufficient to pay the principal of (including any sinking fund requirements) and 

interest due on the Series 2018 Bonds.  Under the Payment Agreements, the obligation of the County to 

make the County Payments and any other required payments in the applicable fiscal year of the County is 

valid and binding, but subject to and contingent upon the annual appropriation by the Board of 

Supervisors of the County of funds for such purpose for such fiscal year.  The County shall not be liable 

or obligated under the Payment Agreements to pay all or any portion of the County Payments on account 

of a failure of the Board of Supervisors of the County to appropriate such sums (an “Event of 

Nonappropriation”).  See “INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS.” 

Budget and Appropriation 

The County has covenanted in the Payment Agreements that the County Executive shall include 

in an appropriate line item in the annual budget of revenues and disbursements presented to the Board of 

Supervisors for each fiscal year that the Series 2018 Bonds are outstanding, an amount not less than an 

amount sufficient to pay interest and principal (including any sinking fund requirements) on the Series 

2018 Bonds during such applicable fiscal year pursuant to the Payment Agreements.  

262



Attachment 16 

 

14 

Limited Obligations 

The Series 2018 Bonds and the interest thereon are limited obligations of the Authority, payable 

solely from revenues, receipts and security as provided in the Payment Agreements.  Neither the 

Commissioners of the Authority nor any person executing the Series 2018 Bonds shall be liable 

personally on the Series 2018 Bonds by reason of the issuance thereof.  The Series 2018 Bonds shall not 

be a debt of the County, the Commonwealth or any political subdivision thereof (other than the 

Authority), and neither the County nor the Commonwealth or any political subdivision thereof (other than 

the Authority) shall be liable thereon, nor in any event shall the Series 2018 Bonds be payable out of any 

funds or properties other than those of the Authority pledged therefor pursuant to the Resolutions and 

Payment Agreements.  The Series 2018 Bonds shall not constitute an indebtedness within the meaning of 

any constitutional or statutory debt limitation or restriction.  The Authority has no taxing power. 

No Reserve Fund 

No debt service reserve funds or other similar reserve funds have been established with respect to 

the Series 2018 Bonds. 

[No Mortgage or Property Security] 
 

 Neither the Properties nor the lease arrangements between the County and the Authority serve as 

security or collateral for the Series 2018 Bonds.] 

 

INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS 

The following is a summary of particular risk factors attendant to investment in the Series 2018 

Bonds.  In order to identify certain additional risk factors and make an informed investment decision, 

investors should review thoroughly all the information contained in this Official Statement. 

Non-Appropriation on the Payment Agreements 

The obligation of the County to make County Payments is subject to appropriation of funds for 

that purpose.  The likelihood that the Board of Supervisors will continue to appropriate funds for County 

Payments during an applicable fiscal year may depend on a number of factors, including, but not limited 

to, (a) the continuing need of the County for the Properties, (b) political, economic and other factors 

affecting County government, (c) general fund revenues and expenditures, (d) economic conditions in the 

County, (e) the usefulness or value of the Properties and (f) the availability of alternative facilities.  

Defeasance of Series 2018A Bonds 

Persons considering the purchase of a Series 2018A Bond should be aware that a defeasance of a 

Series 2018A Bond by the Authority prior to maturity could result in the realization of gain or loss by the 

beneficial owner of the Series 2018A Bond for federal income tax purposes, without any corresponding 

receipts of money by the beneficial owner.  Such gain or loss generally would be subject to recognition 

for the tax year in which such realization occurs, as in the case of a sale or exchange.  Owners are advised 

to consult their own tax advisers with respect to the tax consequences resulting from such events.  See 

“THE SERIES 2018 BONDS - Redemption” and “TAX MATTERS - Series 2018A Bonds - Defeasance” 

herein. 

263



Attachment 16 

 

15 

TAX MATTERS 

Series 2018A Bonds  

[In General 

Interest on the Series 2018A Bonds will be includable in the gross income of the owners thereof 

for purposes of federal income taxation. See “-Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations” below. 

[Under existing law, the interest on the Series 2018A Bonds is excluded from Virginia taxable 

income for purposes of the individual income tax and the income taxation of corporations by the 

Commonwealth of Virginia under Sections 58.1-322 and 58.1-402 of the Code of Virginia (the “Virginia 

Code”) to the extent that such interest is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes.] 

The Code and the Virginia Code contains other provisions (some of which are noted below) that 

could result in tax consequences, upon which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion, as a result of 

ownership of the Series 2018A Bonds or the inclusion in certain computations of interest on the Series 

2018A Bonds that is excluded from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation. 

Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations 

The following summary of certain United States federal income tax consequences of the 

purchase, ownership and disposition of the Series 2018A Bonds is based upon laws, regulations, rulings 

and decisions now in effect, all of which are subject to change (including changes in effective dates), 

which change may be retroactive, or possible differing interpretations.  No assurance can be given that 

future changes in the law will not alter the consequences described herein.  It deals only with the Series 

2018A Bonds held as capital assets and does not purport to deal with persons in special tax situations, 

including but not limited to financial institutions, insurance companies, regulated investment companies, 

dealers in securities or currencies, persons holding the Series 2018A Bonds as a hedge against currency 

risks or as a position in a “straddle” for tax purposes, or persons whose functional currency is not the U.S. 

dollar.  It also does not deal with holders other than investors who purchase Series 2018A Bonds in the 

initial offering at the first price at which a substantial amount of such substantially identical bonds are 

sold to the general public (except where otherwise specifically noted).  Persons considering the purchase 

of the Series 2018A Bonds should consult their own tax advisors concerning the application of U.S. 

federal income tax laws to their particular situations as well as any consequences of the purchase, 

ownership and disposition of the Series 2018A Bonds arising under the laws of any other taxing 

jurisdiction. 

As used herein, the term “U.S. Holder” means a beneficial owner of a Series 2018A Bond that is 

for U.S. federal income tax purposes (i) a citizen or resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation 

(including an entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized in 

or under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia, (iii) an estate, the 

income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source, or (iv) a trust if (a) a 

court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust 

and one or more United States persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust, 

or (b) the trust was in existence on August 20, 1996, and properly elected to continue to be treated as a 

United States person.  Moreover, as used herein, the term “U.S. Holder” includes any holder of a Series 

2018A Bond whose income or gain in respect of its investment in a Series 2018A Bond is effectively 

connected with the U.S. trade or business.  As used herein, the term “Non-U.S. Holder” means a 

beneficial Owner of a Series 2018A Bond (other than an entity that is classified as a partnership) that is 

not a U.S. Holder. 

264



Attachment 16 

 

16 

If a partnership (including for this purpose any entity treated as a partnership for United States 

federal income tax purposes) is the beneficial owner of any Series 2018A Bond, the treatment of a partner 

in that partnership will generally depend upon the status of such partner and the activities of such 

partnership.  A partnership and any partner in a partnership holding Series 2018A Bonds should consult 

its own tax advisor. 

Payments of Interest.  

Payments of interest on a Series 2018A Bond generally will be taxable to a U.S. Holder as 

ordinary interest income at the time such payments are accrued or are received (in accordance with the 

U.S. Holder’s regular method of tax accounting), provided such interest is “qualified stated interest,” as 

defined below. 

Original Issue Discount  

The following summary is a general discussion of the U.S. federal income tax consequences to 

U.S. Holders of the purchase, ownership and disposition of Series 2018A Bonds issued with original issue 

discount (“OID Bonds”), if any. The following summary is based upon final Treasury regulations (the 

“OID Regulations”) released by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) under the original issue discount 

provisions of the Code. 

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, original issue discount is the excess of the stated 

redemption price at maturity of a bond over its issue price, if such excess equals or exceeds a de minimis 

amount (generally 1/4 of 1% of the bond’s stated redemption price at maturity multiplied by the number of 

complete years to its maturity from its issue date or, in the case of a bond providing for the payment of 

any amount other than qualified stated interest (as defined below) prior to maturity, multiplied by the 

weighted average maturity of such bond).  The issue price of each maturity of substantially identical 

Series 2018A Bonds equals the first price at which a substantial amount of such maturity of Series 2018A 

Bonds has been sold (ignoring sales to bond houses, brokers or similar persons or organizations acting in 

the capacity of underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers), which may not be the same as the price 

shown on the cover of this official statement.  The stated redemption price at maturity of a Series 2018A 

Bond is the sum of all payments provided by the Series 2018A Bond other than “qualified stated interest” 

payments. The term “qualified stated interest” generally means stated interest that is unconditionally 

payable in cash or property (other than debt instruments of the issuer) at least annually at a single fixed 

rate.  Payments of qualified stated interest on a Series 2018A Bond are generally taxable to a U.S. Holder 

as ordinary interest income at the time such payments are accrued or are received (in accordance with the 

U.S. Holder’s regular method of tax accounting). 

A U.S. Holder of an OID Bond must include original issue discount in income as ordinary interest 

income for U.S. federal income tax purposes as it accrues under a constant yield method in advance of 

receipt of the cash payments attributable to such income, regardless of such U.S. Holder’s regular method 

of tax accounting.  In general, the amount of original issue discount included in income by the initial U.S. 

Holder of an OID Bond is the sum of the daily portions of original issue discount with respect to such 

OID Bond for each day during the taxable year (or portion of the taxable year) on which such U.S. Holder 

held such OID Bond.  The “daily portion” of original issue discount on any OID Bond is determined by 

allocating to each day in any accrual period a ratable portion of the original issue discount allocable to 

that accrual period.  An “accrual period” may be of any length and the accrual periods may vary in length 

over the term of the OID Bond, provided that each accrual period is no longer than one year and each 

scheduled payment of principal or interest occurs either on the final day of an accrual period or on the 

first day of an accrual period.  The amount of original issue discount allocable to each accrual period is 

265



Attachment 16 

 

17 

generally equal to the difference between (i) the product of the OID Bond’s adjusted issue price at the 

beginning of such accrual period and its yield to maturity (determined on the basis of compounding at the 

close of each accrual period and appropriately adjusted to take into account the length of the particular 

accrual period) and (ii) the amount of any qualified stated interest payments allocable to such accrual 

period.  The “adjusted issue price” of an OID Bond at the beginning of any accrual period is the sum of 

the issue price of the OID Bond plus the amount of original issue discount allocable to all prior accrual 

periods minus the amount of any prior payments on the OID Bond that were not qualified stated interest 

payments.  Under these rules, U.S. Holders generally will have to include in income increasingly greater 

amounts of original issue discount in successive accrual periods. 

A U.S. Holder who purchases an OID Bond for an amount that is greater than its adjusted issue 

price as of the purchase date and less than or equal to the sum of all amounts payable on the OID Bond 

after the purchase date, other than payments of qualified stated interest, will be considered to have 

purchased the OID Bond at an “acquisition premium.”  Under the acquisition premium rules, the amount 

of original issue discount which such U.S. Holder must include in its gross income with respect to such 

OID Bond for any taxable year (or portion thereof in which the U.S. Holder holds the OID Bond) will be 

reduced (but not below zero) by the portion of the acquisition premium properly allocable to the period. 

U.S. Holders may generally, upon election, include in income all interest (including stated 

interest, acquisition discount, original issue discount, de minimis original issue discount, market discount, 

de minimis market discount, and unstated interest, as adjusted by any amortizable bond premium or 

acquisition premium) that accrues on a debt instrument by using the constant yield method applicable to 

original issue discount, subject to certain limitations and exceptions.  This election will generally apply 

only to the debt instrument with respect to which it is made and may be revoked only with the consent of 

the IRS. 

Market Discount  

If a U.S. Holder purchases a Series 2018A Bond, other than an OID Bond, for an amount that is 

less than its issue price (or, in the case of a subsequent purchaser, its stated redemption price at maturity) 

or, in the case of an OID Bond, for an amount that is less than its adjusted issue price as of the purchase 

date, such U.S. Holder will be treated as having purchased such Series 2018A Bond at a “market 

discount,” unless the amount of such market discount is less than a specified de minimis amount. 

Under the market discount rules, a U.S. Holder will be required to treat any partial principal 

payment (or, in the case of an OID Bond, any payment that does not constitute qualified stated interest) 

on, or any gain realized on the sale, exchange, retirement or other disposition of, a Series 2018A Bond as 

ordinary income to the extent of the lesser of (i) the amount of such payment or realized gain or (ii) the 

market discount which has not previously been included in gross income and is treated as having accrued 

on such Series 2018A Bonds at the time of such payment or disposition.  Market discount will be 

considered to accrue ratably during the period from the date of acquisition to the maturity date of the 

Series 2018A Bonds, unless the U.S. Holder elects to accrue market discount on the basis of semiannual 

compounding. 

A U.S. Holder may be required to defer the deduction of all or a portion of the interest paid or 

accrued on any indebtedness incurred or maintained to purchase or carry a Series 2018A Bond with 

market discount until the maturity of such Series 2018A Bond or certain earlier dispositions, because a 

current deduction is only allowed to the extent the interest expense exceeds an allocable portion of market 

discount.  A U.S. Holder may elect to include market discount in income currently as it accrues (on either 

a ratable or semiannual compounding basis), in which case the rules described above regarding the 

266



Attachment 16 

 

18 

treatment as ordinary income or gain upon the disposition of the Series 2018A Bond and upon the receipt 

of certain cash payments and regarding the deferral of interest deductions will not apply.  Generally, such 

currently included market discount is treated as ordinary interest for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 

Such an election will apply to all debt instruments acquired by the U.S. Holder on or after the first day of 

the first taxable year to which such election applies and may be revoked only with the consent of the IRS. 

Premium  

If a U.S. Holder purchases a Series 2018A Bond for an amount that is greater than the sum of all 

amounts payable on the Series 2018A Bond after the purchase date, other than payments of qualified 

stated interest, such U.S. Holder will be considered to have purchased the Series 2018A Bond with 

“amortizable bond premium” equal in amount to such excess.  A U.S. Holder may elect to amortize such 

premium using a constant yield method over the remaining term of the Series 2018A Bond and may offset 

interest otherwise required to be included in respect of the Series 2018A Bond during any taxable year by 

the amortized amount of such excess for the taxable year.  Bond premium on a Series 2018A Bond held 

by a U.S. Holder that does not make such an election will decrease the amount of gain or increase the 

amount of loss otherwise recognized on the sale, exchange, redemption or retirement of a Series 2018A 

Bond.  However, if the Series 2018A Bond may be optionally redeemed after the U.S. Holder acquires it 

at a price in excess of its stated redemption price at maturity, special rules would apply which could result 

in a deferral of the amortization of some bond premium until later in the term of the Series 2018A Bond 

(as discussed in more detail below).  Any election to amortize bond premium applies to all taxable debt 

instruments held by the U.S. Holder on or after the first day of the first taxable year to which such 

election applies and may be revoked only with the consent of the IRS. 

The following rules apply to any Series 2018A Bond that may be optionally redeemed after the 

U.S. Holder acquires it at a price in excess of its stated redemption price at maturity. The amount of 

amortizable bond premium attributable to such Series 2018A Bond is equal to the lesser of (1) the 

difference between (A) such U.S. Holder’s tax basis in the Series 2018A Bond and (B) the sum of all 

amounts payable on such Series 2018A Bond after the purchase date, other than payments of qualified 

stated interest and (2) the difference between (X) such U.S. Holder’s tax basis in such Series 2018A Bond 

and (Y) the sum of all amounts payable on such Series 2018A Bond after the purchase date due on or 

before the early call date, other than payments of qualified stated interest.  If a Series 2018A Bond may be 

redeemed on more than one date prior to maturity, the early call date and amount payable on the early call 

date that produces the lowest amount of amortizable bond premium, is the early call date and amount 

payable that is initially used for purposes of calculating the amount pursuant to clause (2) of the previous 

sentence.  If an early call date is not taken into account in computing premium amortization and the early 

call is in fact exercised, a U.S. Holder will be allowed a deduction for the excess of the U.S. Holder’s tax 

basis in the Series 2018A Bond over the amount realized pursuant to the redemption.  If an early call date 

is taken into account in computing premium amortization and the early call is not exercised, the Series 

2018A Bond will be treated as “reissued” on such early call date for the call price.  Following the deemed 

reissuance, the amount of amortizable bond premium is recalculated pursuant to the rules of this section 

“Premium.”  The rules relating to Series 2018A Bonds that may be optionally redeemed are complex and, 

accordingly, prospective purchasers are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the application 

of the amortizable bond premium rules to their particular situation. 

Disposition of a Series 2018A Bond 

Except as discussed above, upon the sale, exchange or retirement of a Series 2018A Bond, a U.S. 

Holder generally will recognize taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized 

on the sale, exchange or retirement (other than amounts representing accrued and unpaid interest) and 

267



Attachment 16 

 

19 

such U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in the Series 2018A Bond.  A U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in a 

Series 2018A Bond generally will equal such U.S. Holder’s initial investment in the Series 2018A Bond 

increased by any original issue discount included in income (and accrued market discount, if any, if the 

U.S. Holder has included such market discount in income) and decreased by the amount of any payments, 

other than qualified stated interest payments, received and amortizable bond premium taken with respect 

to such Series 2018A Bond.  Such gain or loss generally will be long-term capital gain or loss if the Series 

2018A Bond has been held by the U.S. Holder at the time of disposition for more than one year.  If the 

U.S. Holder is an individual, long-term capital gain will be subject to reduced rates of taxation.  The 

deductibility of capital losses is subject to certain limitations. 

Defeasance 

Persons considering the purchase of a Series 2018A Bond should be aware that a defeasance of a 

Series 2018A Bond by the Authority prior to maturity could result in the realization of gain or loss by the 

beneficial owner of the Series 2018A Bond for federal income tax purposes, without any corresponding 

receipts of money by the beneficial owner.  Such gain or loss generally would be subject to recognition 

for the tax year in which such realization occurs, as in the case of a sale or exchange.  Owners are advised 

to consult their own tax advisers with respect to the tax consequences resulting from such events.  See 

“THE SERIES 2018 BONDS - Redemption - Defeasance of Series 2018A Bonds” and “INVESTMENT 

CONSIDERATIONS” herein. 

Medicare Tax 

For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2012, an additional 3.8% tax has been imposed 

on the net investment income (which includes interest, original issue discount and net gains from a 

disposition of a Series 2018A Bond) of certain individuals, trust and estates.  Prospective investors in the 

Series 2018A Bonds should consult their tax advisors regarding the possible applicability of this tax to an 

investment in the Series 2018A Bonds. 

Backup Withholding 

A beneficial owner of the Series 2018A Bonds who is a U.S. Holder may, under certain 

circumstances, be subject to “backup withholding” (currently at a rate of 28 percent) on current or 

accrued interest on the Series 2018A Bonds or with respect to proceeds received from a disposition of the 

Series 2018A Bonds.  This withholding applies if such beneficial owner of Series 2018A Bonds:  (i) fails 

to furnish to the payor such beneficial owner’s social security number or other taxpayer identification 

number (“TIN”); (ii) furnishes the payor an incorrect TIN; (iii) fails to report interest properly; or 

(iv) under certain circumstances, fails to provide the payor or such beneficial owner’s broker with a 

certified statement, signed under penalty of perjury, that the TIN provided to the payor or broker is 

correct and that such beneficial owner is not subject to backup withholding.  To establish status as an 

exempt person, a beneficial owner will generally be required to provide certification on IRS Form W-9 

(or substitute form). 

Backup withholding will not apply, however, if the beneficial owner is a corporation or falls 

within certain tax-exempt categories and, when required, demonstrates such fact.  BENEFICIAL 

OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2018A BONDS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR TAX ADVISORS 

REGARDING THEIR QUALIFICATION FOR EXEMPTION FROM BACKUP WITHHOLDING 

AND THE PROCEDURE FOR OBTAINING SUCH EXEMPTION, IF APPLICABLE.  The backup 

withholding tax is not an additional tax and taxpayers may use amounts withheld as a credit against their 

268



Attachment 16 

 

20 

federal income tax liability or may claim a refund as long as they timely provide certain information to 

the Service. 

Withholding on Payments to Nonresident Alien Individuals and Foreign Corporations 

Nonresident alien individuals and foreign corporations are generally subject to withholding of 

U.S. federal income tax by the payor at the rate of 30 percent on periodic income items arising from 

sources within the United States, provided such income is not effectively connected with the conduct of a 

United States trade or business.  Assuming the interest income of such a beneficial owner of the Series 

2018A Bonds is not treated as effectively connected income within the meaning of Section 864 of the 

Code, such interest will be subject to 30 percent withholding, or any lower rate specified in an income tax 

treaty, unless such income is treated as “portfolio interest.”  Interest will be treated as portfolio interest if 

(i) the beneficial owner provides a statement to the payor certifying, under penalties of perjury, that such 

beneficial owner is a Non-U.S. Holder and providing the name and address of such beneficial owner, 

(ii) such interest is treated as not effectively connected with the beneficial owner’s United States trade or 

business, (iii) interest payments are not made to a person within a foreign country which the IRS has 

included on a list of countries having provisions inadequate to prevent United States tax evasion, 

(iv) interest payable with respect to the Series 2018A Bonds is not deemed contingent interest within the 

meaning of the portfolio debt provision, (v) such beneficial owner is not a controlled foreign corporation 

within the meaning of Section 957 of the Code and (vi) such beneficial owner is not a bank receiving 

interest on the Series 2018A Bonds pursuant to a loan agreement entered into in the ordinary course of the 

bank’s trade or business. 

Assuming payments on the Series 2018A Bonds are treated as portfolio interest within the 

meaning of Sections 871 and 881 of the Code, then no withholding under Section 1441 and 1442 of the 

Code, and no backup withholding under Section 3406 of the Code is required with respect to beneficial 

owners or intermediaries who have furnished Form W-8 BEN, Form W-8 BEN-E, Form W-8 EXP, or 

Form W-8 IMY, as applicable, provided the payor has no actual knowledge or reason to know that such 

person is a U.S. Holder. 

A non-U.S. Holder whose income with respect to its investment in a Series 2018A Bond is 

effectively connected with the conduct of a U.S. trade or business would generally be taxed as if the 

holder was a U.S. person provided the holder provides to the Withholding Agent an IRS Form W-8ECI. 

Generally, a non-U.S. Holder will not be subject to United States federal income taxes on any 

amount which constitutes capital gain upon retirement or disposition of a Series 2018A Bond, unless such 

non-U.S. Holder is an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable 

year of the disposition and such gain is derived from sources within the United States. Certain other 

exceptions may be applicable, and a non-U.S. Holder should consult its tax advisor in this regard. 

The Series 2018A Bonds will not be includable in the estate of a non-U.S. Holder unless, at the 

time of such individual’s death, payments in respect of the Series 2018A Bonds would have been 

effectively connected with the conduct by such individual of a trade or business in the United States. 

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act   

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code impose a 30% withholding tax on certain types of 

payments made to a foreign financial institution, unless the foreign financial institution enters into an 

agreement with the U.S. Treasury to, among other things, undertake to identify accounts held by certain 

U.S. persons or U.S.-owned entities, annually report certain information about such accounts, and 

269



Attachment 16 

 

21 

withhold 30% on payments to account holders whose actions prevent it from complying with these and 

other reporting requirements, or unless the foreign financial institution is otherwise exempt from those 

requirements.  In addition, the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (“FATCA”) imposes a 30% 

withholding tax on the same types of payments to a non-financial foreign entity unless the entity certifies 

that it does not have any substantial U.S. owners or the entity furnishes identifying information regarding 

each substantial U.S. owner.  Failure to comply with the additional certification, information reporting 

and other specified requirements imposed under FATCA could result in the 30% withholding tax being 

imposed on payments of interest and principal under the Series 2018A Bonds and sales proceeds of Series 

2018A Bonds held by or through a foreign entity.  In general, withholding under FATCA currently 

applies to payments of U.S. source interest (including original issue discount) and will apply to (i) gross 

proceeds from the sale, exchange or retirement of debt obligations paid after December 31, 2018, and 

(ii) certain “pass-thru” payments no earlier than January 1, 2019.  Prospective investors should consult 

their own tax advisors regarding FATCA and its effect on them. 

ERISA Considerations 

The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), and section 

4975 of the Code generally prohibit certain transactions between employee benefit plans under ERISA or 

tax qualified retirement plans and individual retirement accounts under the Code (collectively, the 

“Plans”) and persons who, with respect to a Plan, are fiduciaries or other “parties in interest” within the 

meaning of ERISA or “disqualified persons” within the meaning of the Code.  In addition, each fiduciary 

of a Plan (“Plan Fiduciary”) must give appropriate consideration to the facts and circumstances that are 

relevant to an investment in the Series 2018A Bonds, including the role that such an investment in the 

Series 2018A Bonds would play in the Plan’s overall investment portfolio.  Each Plan Fiduciary, before 

deciding to invest in the Series 2018A Bonds, must be satisfied that such investment in the Series 2018A 

Bonds is a prudent investment for the Plan, that the investments of the Plan, including the investment in 

the Series 2018A Bonds, are diversified so as to minimize the risk of large losses and that an investment 

in the Series 2018A Bonds complies with the documents of the Plan and related trust, to the extent that 

such documents are consistent with ERISA.  All Plan Fiduciaries, in consultation with their advisors, 

should carefully consider the impact of ERISA and the Code on an investment in any Series 2018A  

Bonds. 

Series 2018B Bonds 

Opinion of Bond Counsel 

The Authority and, the County have covenanted to comply with applicable provisions of the 

Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), relating to the exclusion from gross income of 

the interest on the Series 2018B Bonds for purposes of federal income taxation.  In the opinion of Norton 

Rose Fulbright US LLP, Bond Counsel, under current law and assuming continuing compliance by the 

County and the Authority with such covenants and requirements of the Code regarding, among other 

matters, the use, expenditure and investment of Series 2018B Bond proceeds and the timely payment of 

certain investment earnings to the United States Treasury, interest on the Series 2018B Bonds will not be 

included in the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes.  Failure by the 

County or the Authority to comply with such covenants and requirements may cause interest on the Series 

2018B Bonds to be includable in the gross income of the owners thereof retroactive to the date of issue of 

the Series 2018B Bonds.  No opinion is rendered by Bond Counsel as to the effect on the exclusion from 

gross income of the interest on the Series 2018B Bonds for federal income tax purposes of any action 

taken or not taken without the approval of Bond Counsel or in reliance upon the advice or opinion of 

counsel other than Bond Counsel. 

270



Attachment 16 

 

22 

Interest on the Series 2018B Bonds will not be an item of tax preference for purposes of the 

federal individual or corporate alternative minimum tax under the Code.  Interest on the Series 2018B 

Bonds will, however, be included in the calculation of alternative minimum tax liability imposed on 

corporations by the Code.  The Code contains other provisions (some of which are noted below) that 

could result in tax consequences, as to which no opinion will be rendered by Bond Counsel, as a result of 

ownership of the Series 2018B Bonds or the inclusion in certain computations of interest that is excluded 

from gross income. 

Original Issue Discount 

The excess, if any, of the amount payable at maturity of any maturity of the Series 2018B Bonds 

purchased as part of the initial public offering over the issue price thereof constitutes original issue 

discount.  The amount of original issue discount that has accrued and is properly allocable to an owner of 

any maturity of the Series 2018B Bonds with original issue discount (a “Discount Bond”) will be 

excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes to the same extent as interest on the Series 

2018B Bonds.  In general, the issue price of a maturity of the Series 2018B Bonds is the first price at 

which a substantial amount of Series 2018B Bonds of that maturity was sold (excluding sales to bond 

houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement 

agents, or wholesalers), which may not be the same as the prices shown on the inside cover pages of this 

Official Statement, and the amount of original issue discount accrues in accordance with a constant yield 

method based on the compounding of interest.  A purchaser’s adjusted basis in a Discount Bond is to be 

increased by the amount of such accruing discount for purposes of determining taxable gain or loss on the 

sale or other disposition of such Discount Bonds for federal income tax purposes.  

A portion of the original issue discount that accrues in each year to an owner of a Discount Bond 

which is a corporation will be included in the calculation of the corporation’s federal alternative minimum 

tax liability.  In addition, original issue discount that accrues in each year to an owner of a Discount Bond 

is included in the calculation of the distribution requirements of certain regulated investment companies 

and may result in some of the collateral federal income tax consequences discussed herein.  

Consequently, an owner of a Discount Bond should be aware that the accrual of original issue discount in 

each year may result in an alternative minimum tax liability, additional distribution requirements or other 

collateral federal income tax consequences although the owner of such Discount Bond has not received 

cash attributable to such original issue discount in such year. 

The accrual of original issue discount and its effect on the redemption, sale, or other disposition 

of a Discount Bond that is not purchased in the initial offering at the first price at which a substantial 

amount of such Series 2018B Bonds is sold to the public may be determined according to rules that differ 

from those described above.  Owners of Discount Bonds should consult their tax advisors with respect to 

the determination for federal income tax purposes of the amount of original issue discount with respect to 

such Discount Bonds and with respect to state and local tax consequences of owning and disposing of 

such Discount Bonds. 

Bond Premium 

The excess, if any, of the tax basis of Series 2018B Bonds purchased as part of the initial public 

offering to a purchaser (other than a purchaser who holds such Series 2018B Bonds as inventory, stock in 

trade, or for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business) over the amount payable at maturity is 

“Bond Premium.”  Bond Premium is amortized over the term of such Series 2018B Bonds for federal 

income tax purposes (or, in the case of a bond with bond premium callable prior to its stated maturity, the 

amortization period and yield may be required to be determined on the basis of an earlier call date that 

results in the lowest yield on such bond).  Owners of such Series 2018B Bonds are required to decrease 

271



Attachment 16 

 

23 

their adjusted basis in such Series 2018B Bonds by the amount of amortizable Bond Premium attributable 

to each taxable year such Series 2018B Bonds are held.  The amortizable bond premium on such Series 

2018B Bonds attributable to a taxable year is not deductible for federal income tax purposes; however 

Bond Premium on such Series 2018B Bonds is treated as an offset to qualified stated interest received on 

such Series 2018B Bonds.  Owners of such Series 2018B Bonds should consult their tax advisors with 

respect to the determination for federal income tax purposes of the treatment of Bond Premium upon sale, 

redemption or other disposition of such Series 2018B Bonds and with respect to state and local income 

tax consequences of owning and disposing of such Series 2018B Bonds. 

Backup Withholding 

Interest paid on the Series 2018B Bonds is subject to information reporting in a manner similar to 

interest paid on taxable obligations.  While this reporting requirement does not by itself, affect the 

excludability of interest on the Series 2018B Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes, 

the reporting requirement causes the payment of interest on the Series 2018B Bonds to be subject to 

backup withholding if such interest is paid to beneficial owners who (i) are not “exempt recipients,” and 

(ii) either fail to provide certain identifying information (such as the beneficial owner’s taxpayer 

identification number) in the required manner or have been identified by the Internal Revenue Service as 

having failed to report all interest and dividends required to be shown on their income tax returns.  

Generally, individuals are not exempt recipients, whereas corporations and certain other entities generally 

are exempt recipients.  Amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a 

beneficial owner would be allowed as a refund or a credit against such beneficial owner’s federal income 

tax liability provided the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service. 

Other Tax Consequences 

Under existing law, the interest on the Series 2018B Bonds is excluded from Virginia taxable 

income for purposes of the individual income tax and the income taxation of corporations by the 

Commonwealth of Virginia under Sections 58.1-322 and 58.1-402 of the Virginia Code to the extent that 

such interest is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

The Code and the Virginia Code contains other provisions (some of which are noted below) that 

could result in tax consequences, upon which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion, as a result of 

ownership of the Series 2018B Bonds or the inclusion in certain computations of interest on the Series 

2018B Bonds that is excluded from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation.   

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2018B BONDS SHOULD CONSULT 

THEIR TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE APPLICABILITY AND IMPACT OF ANY SUCH 

COLLATERAL TAX CONSEQUENCES. 

Ownership of tax-exempt obligations may result in collateral federal income tax consequences to 

certain taxpayers, including, without limitation, financial institutions, property and casualty insurance 

companies, certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States, certain S Corporations with 

excess passive income, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, taxpayers 

who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt 

obligations and taxpayers who may be eligible for the earned income tax credit. 

Future Tax Developments 

Future or pending legislative proposals, if enacted, regulations, rulings or court decisions may 

cause interest on the Series 2018B Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal income taxation 

or to State or local income taxation, or may otherwise prevent beneficial owners from realizing the full 

272



Attachment 16 

 

24 

current benefit of the tax status of such interest.  Legislation or regulatory actions and future or pending 

proposals may also affect the economic value of the federal or state tax exemption or the market value of 

the Series 2018B Bonds.  Prospective purchasers of the Series 2018B Bonds should consult their tax 

advisors regarding any future, pending or proposed federal or state tax legislation, regulations, rulings or 

litigation as to which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion.] 

RATINGS 

The Series 2018 Bonds have been rated “___” by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”) 

and “__” by S&P Global Ratings, a division of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC (“S&P”).  The 

Authority and the County requested that the Series 2018 Bonds be rated and furnished certain information 

to Moody’s and S&P, including certain information that is not included in this Official Statement.  A 

rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Series 2018 Bonds.  Generally, a rating agency 

bases its rating on such materials and information, as well as investigations, studies and assumptions of 

the rating agency.  

The ratings may be changed at any time and no assurance can be given that it will not be revised 

downward, suspended or withdrawn entirely by, Moody’s or S&P, if, in the judgment of either or both, 

circumstances so warrant.  Such circumstances may include, without limitation, change in or 

unavailability of information relating to the County or the Authority.  Any such downward revision or 

withdrawal of any of the ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Series 2018 Bonds. 

LEGAL MATTERS 

Certain legal matters relating to the authorization and validity of the Series 2018 Bonds are 

subject to the approving opinions of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, Washington, D.C., Bond Counsel.  

Such opinion will be furnished without expense to the purchasers of the Series 2018 Bonds.  See 

Appendix C, “FORMS OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION” herein.  

Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Authority by [Alan M. Weiss, Esquire, Office of 

the County Attorney], and for the County by Elizabeth D. Teare, Esquire, County Attorney and for the 

Underwriters by Christian & Barton, L.L.P.  

LEGALITY FOR INVESTMENTS 

Under the Enabling Act, the Series 2018 Bonds are legal and authorized investments for banks, 

trustees, trust companies, building and loan associations, insurance companies, fiduciaries, trustees, 

guardians for all public funds of the Commonwealth of Virginia or other political subdivisions of the 

Commonwealth of Virginia, and any and all public funds of cities, towns, counties, school districts or 

other political corporations or subdivisions of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

LITIGATION 

No litigation is pending or, to the Authority’s knowledge, threatened (a) to restrain or enjoin the 

issuance, sale or delivery of any of the Series 2018 Bonds, the application of the proceeds of the Series 

2018 Bonds or the collection or application of revenues pledged under the Payment Agreements, (b) in 

any way contesting or affecting any authority for the issuance or validity of the Series 2018 Bonds or the 

validity of the Payment Agreements, (c) in any way contesting the creation, existence or powers of the 

273



Attachment 16 

 

25 

Authority or (d) that, if determined adversely against the Authority, would have a material adverse effect 

on the Authority. 

No litigation is pending or, to the County’s knowledge, threatened (a) to restrain or enjoin the 

issuance, sale or delivery of any of the Series 2018 Bonds, the application of the proceeds of the Series 

2018 Bonds or the collection or application of revenues pledged under the Payment Agreements, (b) in 

any way contesting or affecting any authority for the issuance or validity of the Series 2018 Bonds or the 

validity of the Payment Agreements, (c) in any way contesting the creation, existence or powers of the 

County or (d) that, if determined adversely against the County, would have a material adverse effect on 

the County. 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

The County has retained Public Financial Management, Inc., Arlington, Virginia, as financial 

advisor (the “Financial Advisor”) in connection with the issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds.  Although the 

Financial Advisor assisted in the preparation and review of this Official Statement, the Financial Advisor 

is not obligated to undertake, and has not undertaken to make, an independent verification or to assume 

responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or fairness of the information contained in this Official 

Statement.  The Financial Advisor is a financial advisory, investment management and consulting 

organization and is not engaged in the business of underwriting municipal securities. 

UNDERWRITING 

[The Series 2018A Bonds are being purchased for reoffering by Morgan Stanley & Co., LLC as 

representative of the underwriters for the Series 2018A Bonds (the “ 2018A Underwriters”) at a purchase 

price of $____________ (which reflects the par amount of the Series 2018A Bonds less $__________ 

underwriters’ discount and [plus/less] $__________ net original issue premium/discount).  The 2018A 

Underwriters intend to offer the Series 2018A Bonds to the public at the offering prices set forth on the  

cover page of this Official Statement.  The 2018A Underwriters may allow concessions to certain dealers 

(including dealers in a selling group and the 2018A Underwriters and other dealers depositing Series 

2018A Bonds into investments trusts), which may reallow concessions to other dealers.  After the initial 

public offering, the public offering price may be varied from time to time by the 2018A Underwriters.] 

[The Series 2018B Bonds are being purchased for reoffering by Morgan Stanley & Co., LLC as 

representative of the underwriters for the Series 2018B Bonds (the “ 2018B Underwriters” and together 

with the 2018A Underwriters, the “Underwriters”)) at a purchase price of $____________ (which reflects 

the par amount of the Series 2018B Bonds less $__________ underwriters’ discount and [plus/less] 

$__________ net original issue premium/discount).  The 2018B Underwriters intend to offer the Series 

2018B Bonds to the public at the offering prices set forth on the  cover page of this Official Statement.  

The 2018B Underwriters may allow concessions to certain dealers (including dealers in a selling group 

and the 2018B Underwriters and other dealers depositing Series 2018A Bonds into investments trusts), 

which may reallow concessions to other dealers.  After the initial public offering, the public offering price 

may be varied from time to time by the 2018B Underwriters.] 

VERIFICATION OF CERTAIN FINANCIAL COMPUTATIONS  

The accuracy of (i) the arithmetical computations of the maturing principal and interest earned on 

the federal securities in the escrow account established in the escrow agreement relating to the Refunded 

Bonds to pay when due or at their respective redemption dates, the principal of, premium, if any, and 

interest on the Refunded Bonds and (ii) the mathematical computations supporting the conclusion that the 

274



Attachment 16 

 

26 

Series 2018B Bonds are not “arbitrage bonds,” within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code, has been 

verified by Robert Thomas, CPA, LLC.  Such verification has been based upon information supplied by 

the Financial Advisor. 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING 

The Authority has determined that no financial or operating data concerning the Authority is 

material to any decision to purchase, hold or sell the Series 2018 Bonds, and the Authority will not 

provide any such information.  The County has undertaken all responsibilities for continuing disclosure 

for the benefit of the Owners, and the Authority shall have no liability to the Owners or any other person 

with respect to such disclosures. 

The Securities and Exchange Commission has adopted Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Rule”).  In general, the Rule prohibits an underwriter from 

purchasing or selling municipal securities such as the Series 2018 Bonds, unless it has determined that the 

issuer of such securities or other persons deemed to be material “obligated persons” have committed to 

provide to The Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system administered by the Municipal 

Securities Rulemaking Board (i) on an annual basis, certain financial information and operating data 

(“Annual Reports”), and, if available, audited financial statements, and (ii) notice of various events 

described in the Rule (“Event Notices”).   

The County will covenant in the Continuing Disclosure Agreements (the forms of which appears 

in Appendix D), to be dated the date of delivery of the Series 2018 Bonds, for the benefit of the holders of 

the Series 2018 Bonds, to provide Annual Reports to EMMA, annually, not later than March 31 of each 

year, commencing [March 31, 2019.]  Similarly, the County will provide Event Notices with respect to 

the Series 2018 Bonds to EMMA. 

[In accordance with continuing disclosure undertakings (the “Sewer Undertakings”) relating to 

the County’s sewer revenue bonds, the County agreed to provide and file certain annual financial and 

statistical information (“Sewer System Annual Disclosure Reports”) relating to the County’s sanitary 

sewer system (the “System”) as well as the County’s audited financial statements for the System (“Sewer 

System Annual Financial Statements”).  For the Fiscal Years ended June 30, 2009, and June 30, 2010, the 

County prepared and filed the Sewer System Annual Disclosure Reports for each year.  Such filings, 

however, inadvertently did not include the prepared Sewer System Annual Financial Statements (the 

“2009 and 2010 Sewer System Annual Financial Statements”) required to be included in such filings 

pursuant to the terms of the Continuing Disclosure Undertakings, although the 2009 and 2010 Sewer 

System Annual Financial Statements were timely posted to the County’s website.  As of June 5, 2014, the 

County filed the 2009 and 2010 Sewer System Annual Financial Statements.  In addition, as a condition 

to the issuance of various series of revenue bonds (“UOSA Bonds”) issued by the Upper Occoquan 

Service Authority for the benefit of the County and other jurisdictions, the County has agreed pursuant to 

continuing disclosure undertakings (the “UOSA Undertakings”) to provide and file the Sewer System 

Annual Disclosure Reports and Sewer System Annual Financial Statements.  The 2009 and 2010 Sewer 

System Annual Financial Statements were filed pursuant to the UOSA Undertakings but not in a timely 

manner and other filings were complete and timely but were not correctly cross-referenced to the UOSA 

Bonds.  The County has implemented procedures to ensure the inclusion of necessary information in a 

timely manner in future filings required by the Sewer Undertakings and the UOSA Undertakings.]      

Pursuant to several continuing disclosure undertakings entered into relating to the Fairfax County 

Economic Development Authority’s Transportation Contract Revenue Bonds (Route 28 Project), the 

County provided all required information, except that it inadvertently did not include in its annual 

275



Attachment 16 

 

27 

information required under such undertakings a description of the twenty largest owners of real property 

by assessed value in the State Route 28 Highway Transportation Improvement District.  The County has 

implemented procedures to ensure the inclusion of such information in future filings.   

It should be noted, however, that while the County has timely filed each annual financial report 

required by its continuing disclosure undertakings (except as described under this caption), the filings 

with respect to certain bond issues were not cross-referenced to such bonds.  Although such cross-

references are not specifically required by the undertakings, the County has implemented procedures to 

ensure such cross-references in future filings. 

In addition, pursuant to the Sewer Undertakings relating to certain sewer revenue bonds defeased 

on May 12, 2016 (the “Sewer Bonds Defeasance”), the County agreed to provide timely notice of the 

Sewer Bonds Defeasance.  Pursuant to the escrow deposit agreement, dated May 12, 2016, between 

Fairfax County and its Escrow Agent, the Escrow Agent agreed to provide notice to EMMA of the Sewer 

Bonds Defeasance within two days of the date of the agreement.  The Escrow Agent did not provide this 

notice within the two-day period.  After inquiry from the County, the Escrow Agent did provide such 

notice, but not within the time periods required by the relevant Sewer Undertakings.  The County has 

strengthened its procedures to ensure that event notices to be provided by outside entities on the County’s 

behalf are done within the required time periods. 

Except as described under this caption, in the five years preceding the date of this Official 

Statement, the County has materially complied with its undertakings under the Rule. 

Any failure by the County to perform its obligations under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement 

will not constitute an Event of Default under the Trust Agreement or the Series 2018 Bonds; rather, the 

right to enforce the provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement is limited to the right to compel 

performance.  The Underwriters’ obligations to purchase the Series 2018 Bonds shall be conditioned upon 

receipt, at or prior to the delivery of the Series 2018 Bonds, of an executed copy of the Continuing 

Disclosure Agreements. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

All information contained in this Official Statement is subject, in all respects, to the complete 

body of information contained in the original sources thereof, and no guarantee, warranty, or other 

representation is made concerning the accuracy or completeness of the information herein.  In particular, 

no opinion or representation is rendered as to whether any projection will approximate actual results, and 

all opinions, estimates and assumptions, whether or not expressly identified as such, should not be 

considered statements of fact. 

276



Attachment 16 

 

28 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DEEMED FINAL 

The distribution of this Preliminary Official Statement has been duly authorized by the Authority.  

The Board of Supervisors of the County deems this Preliminary Official Statement final as of its date 

within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except for 

the omission of certain pricing and other information permitted to be omitted by Rule 15c2-12.   

FAIRFAX COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT 

AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 

 

By: ____________________   

                Chairman 

 

 

277



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ACTION – 3

Sale of General Obligation Public Improvement Bonds and Public Improvement 
Refunding Bonds

ISSUE:
Board approval of a resolution to authorize the sale of General Obligation Public 
Improvement and Public Improvement Refunding Bonds on or about January 9, 2018.

RECOMMENDATION:
The Acting County Executive recommends approval of the sale of General Obligation 
Public Improvement Bonds that will generate $251.8 million to fund construction of 
capital facilities and infrastructure as previously approved by the Board.

The County Executive further recommends the Board take the following action:

Approve the resolution authorizing the issuance of the General Obligation Public 
Improvement Bonds and Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, which also 
authorizes the execution and delivery of a Continuing Disclosure Agreement and 
other documents necessary for sale. This resolution delegates to the County 
Executive or Chief Financial Officer authority to award the bonds, on specified 
criteria, through either a competitive or negotiated sale. Bond Counsel has 
advised that this form of authorization is acceptable and provides flexibility for 
changing market conditions.  This resolution also approves the form of the notice 
of sale and the Official Statement for the Public Improvement Bonds, and 
authorizes the Chairman, Vice Chairman, County Executive or Chief Financial 
Officer to sign the Official Statement for the Public Improvement Bonds. 

TIMING:
Board action is requested on December 5, 2017.

BACKGROUND:
The Proposed Bond Sale Schedule of Events (Attachment 2) indicates a new money 
bond sale on or about January 9, 2018.  Accompanying this Board Item are the 
necessary documents to proceed with the new money bond sale to meet FY 2018
capital funding requirements for on-going projects.  There are many potential market 
events that could affect the bond sale in the next few months and this sale date is 
therefore subject to market conditions.  The closing date for the bonds is currently 
scheduled for the week of January 22, 2018.  The County staff, along with the County’s 
Financial Advisor, however, will revisit and adjust the sale date, as needed.

278



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

The resolution also lists several outstanding series of bonds that may become future 
candidates to refund if interest rates remain favorable.  As with new money bond sales, 
the refunding candidates may be impacted by future actions taken by the Federal 
Reserve with respect to interest rates and potential actions taken by Congress as it 
pertains to proposed federal tax reform as cited later this board item.  

New Money Sale
The General Obligation Bond sale totals $251.8 million. Of that amount, the Fairfax 
County Public Schools will receive $155 million.  In addition, $27.8 million will be 
allocated to the Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA) as the 
County’s share of WMATA’s FY 2018 Adopted Capital Improvement Program, and $18
million will fund on-going Board of Supervisors’ approved transportation projects such 
as roadway, pedestrian and bike/trail improvement projects. Public Safety funding of $8
million will provide for courtroom renovations and the construction of the Jefferson and 
Lorton Volunteer Fire Stations.  Funding of $20 million will be provided for the Fairfax 
County Park Authority and the Northern Virginia Regional Park Authority will receive $3
million to cover the County’s annual capital contribution. Funding of $5 million will 
support construction and close-out costs at the Tysons Pimmit and John Marshall 
libraries.  Funding of $5 million will be provided for human services facilities. Lastly, the 
Huntington Levee project will receive $10 million.

The Schedule of Bond Purposes notes the remaining balance of voter-approved 
authorized but unissued bond funds by category and is included as Attachment 3.  The 
School Board resolution requesting the sale of bonds on behalf of the School system
was approved by the School Board at its November 20, 2017 meeting and is included 
as Attachment 4.  

Staff has structured the size of this sale to the level necessary to support the capital 
construction program for the current fiscal year without altering any of the schedules of 
the projects in progress and previously approved by the Board of Supervisors.  The 
bond sale amount was sized on project cash needs for the current fiscal year.  This sale 
of $251.8 million is within the adjusted total maximum sales allowed in the Ten 
Principles of Sound Financial Management.  The FY 2018 Adopted Budget Plan states 
that the maximum annual sale of bonds will be $275 million or $1.375 billion over a five-
year period, with a technical limit not to exceed $300 million in a single year. Consistent 
with previous bond sales, the County's resolution (Attachment 1) delegates to the 
County Executive or Chief Financial Officer the authority to award the bonds, on 
specified criteria, through either a competitive or negotiated sale. Bond Counsel has 
advised that this form of authorization is acceptable and provides flexibility for changing 
market conditions.  

The maximum true interest cost rate permitted on the bonds, as established in the Bond 
Resolution, is 5.5 percent.  In addition, for a competitive sale, staff will use the electronic 
bidding system to receive bids and participate in providing on-line public access to the 
Notice of Sale (Attachment 5) and the Preliminary Official Statement (Attachment 6).  

279



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

Attachments 2 through 6 may be subject to minor changes to satisfy final legal review 
and to provide the most current information possible for bidders.  Any material changes 
will be noted and forwarded to the Board of Supervisors.

Refunding Options – General Obligation Bonds
In January 2016, the County last conducted a General Obligation Refunding Bond Sale
(Series 2016A) that resulted in $12 million net present value savings.  There is the 
potential for the County to again refinance portions of its outstanding general obligation 
bonds, and the County’s bond resolution includes various maturities that may become
eligible for refunding when callable.  The terms of the bond resolution allow for these 
bonds to be refunded on or before December 31, 2018.  As interest rates continue to 
fluctuate, this flexibility allows the County to monitor potential refunding candidates 
specifically authorized in the resolution. County refunding bond sales do not extend the 
original maturity on any of the refunded bonds.    

On November 2, 2017, the United State House of Representatives Ways and Means 
Committee released the details of the federal tax reform plan. There are several 
components to this plan that would affect the municipal market, and one provision 
potentially affects the General Obligation refinancing deal. This federal plan as 
proposed would eliminate the County’s ability to sell Advance Refunding Bonds which 
allow the County to refinance debt for savings by issuing tax-exempt bonds.  The 
General Obligation refinancing bonds would be an Advance Refunding Bond sale and 
the potential debt service savings could be reduced or eliminated due to the elimination 
of tax-exempt status for this type of bond sale. One alternative could be to sell taxable 
bonds, at a higher interest rate, to refinance the County’s debt, however, the savings 
would likely be lower or eliminated.  The federal tax reform plan (as currently proposed)
would become effective January 1, 2018, if passed by the US Congress. Per the bond 
sale schedule of events (Attachment 15), a refunding bond sale is currently anticipated 
for the week of January 8, 2018.

As a result, County staff will monitor the ongoing events at the federal level and discuss 
with its bond counsel and its financial advisor to determine if the refunding bond sale is 
still feasible given these factors. Even if the general obligation bond refinancing could 
not proceed as currently anticipated, the tax reform proposal as introduced would still 
allow for certain types of refinancing’s in the future.  However, the time frame of such 
refinancing’s would be limited to a window of 90 days prior to the call date of the 
bonds. In the case of these general obligation refunding bonds, that window of 
opportunity would vary with the first opportunity opening in January 2019 and the latest 
occurring in January 2027. The General Obligation bonds for $251.8 million for capital 
project spending as cited in the previous section are not impacted from any of the 
provisions of the federal tax reform plan.  Updates to the Board of Supervisors will be 
provided accordingly as more information is made available.

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The estimated debt service budget requirement for the new money bond sale, based on a 
conservative 4.0 percent True Interest Cost estimate, is $13.96 million for School
purposes and $8.9 million for County purposes, beginning in FY 2019.    

280



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

The County issued General Obligation bonds as a new money bond sale in the amount 
of $228.4 million on January 24, 2017.  The bonds were sold to Morgan Stanley and 
Company LLC at a true interest cost of 2.87 percent.

The reception of Fairfax County bonds in the market continues to compare favorably 
both nationally and locally.  The County has held a Aaa rating from Moody’s since 1975, 
a AAA rating from Standard and Poor’s since 1978, and a AAA rating from Fitch Ratings 
since 1997.  As of January 2017, 12 states, 46 counties, and 33 cities have a Triple-A 
bond rating from all three major rating agencies.  As a result of the County’s excellent 
Triple-A bond rating, the County has saved an estimated $797.91 million from County 
bond and refunding sales.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1:  2018 County Public Improvement Bond Resolution
Attachment 2:  2018 Bond Sale Schedule of Events 
Attachment 3:  2018 Schedule of Bond Purposes 
Attachment 4:  School Board Resolution Requesting Sale of Bonds (School Board 
Approved on November 20, 2017) 
Attachment 5:  Notice of Sale, Series 2018
Attachment 6: Draft of the Preliminary Official Statement, Series 2018

STAFF:
Kirk Kincannon, Acting County Executive
Joseph Mondoro, Chief Financial Officer  
Joseph LaHait, Debt Coordinator, Department of Management and Budget 

ASSIGNED COUNSEL: 
Patricia Moody McCay, Assistant County Attorney

281



Attachment 1  

28894678.2  

At a regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia, held in the Board 

auditorium in the Government Center at 12000 Government Center Parkway, Fairfax, Virginia 

on December 5, 2017, at which meeting a quorum was present and voting, the following 

resolution was adopted: 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE, IN ONE 

OR MORE SERIES, OF PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT BONDS 

AND REFUNDING BONDS, OF FAIRFAX COUNTY, 

VIRGINIA, PROVIDING FOR THE SALE OF SUCH 

BONDS AND DELEGATING TO THE COUNTY 

EXECUTIVE OR THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

AUTHORITY TO DETERMINE CERTAIN DETAILS OF 

SUCH BONDS AND ACCEPT OFFERS FOR THE 

PURCHASE OF SUCH BONDS   

BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia: 

Section 1(a). Public Improvement Bonds.  The Board of Supervisors of Fairfax 

County, Virginia (the “Board of Supervisors”), has found and determined and does hereby 

declare that: 

(i) School improvements – $155,000,000.  At an election duly called and held on 

November 5, 2013, a majority of the qualified voters of Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”), 

voting on the question, approved contracting a debt, borrowing money and issuing school bonds 

of the County, in the aggregate principal amount of $250,000,000. 

The purpose of the school bonds stated in the election was to provide funds, in addition to 

funds from school bonds previously authorized and any other available funds, to finance, 

including reimbursement to the County for temporary financing for, the costs of school 

improvements, including acquiring, building, expanding and renovating properties, including 

new sites, new buildings or additions, renovations and improvements to existing buildings, and 

furnishings and equipment, for the Fairfax County public school system. 

The Circuit Court of Fairfax County, Virginia has duly entered its Final Order 

authorizing the Board of Supervisors, to proceed to carry out the wishes of the voters of the 

County as expressed at such election and to contract a debt, borrow money and issue bonds of 

the County, in the aggregate principal amount of $250,000,000 for such purpose. 

The Board of Supervisors at the request of the Fairfax County School Board has 

heretofore issued $130,589,500 of the school bonds authorized at the election duly called and 

held on November 5, 2013. 

The Board of Supervisors deems it advisable to authorize the issuance of the 

$119,410,500 balance of school bonds authorized at the November 5, 2013, election and to sell 

the bonds. 

282



Attachment 1 

 2 

 

At an election duly called and held on November 3, 2015, a majority of the qualified 

voters of the County, voting on the question, approved contracting a debt, borrowing money and 

issuing school bonds of the County, in the aggregate principal amount of $310,000,000. 

The purpose of the school bonds stated in the election was to provide funds, in addition to 

funds from school bonds previously authorized, to finance, including reimbursement to the 

County for temporary financing for, the costs of school improvements, including acquiring, 

building, expanding and renovating properties, including new sites, new buildings or additions, 

renovations and improvements to existing buildings, and furnishings and equipment, for the 

Fairfax County public school system. 

The Circuit Court of Fairfax County, Virginia has duly entered its Final Order 

authorizing the Board of Supervisors, to proceed to carry out the wishes of the voters of the 

County as expressed at such election and to contract a debt, borrow money and issue bonds of 

the County, in the aggregate principal amount of $310,000,000 for such purpose. 

The Board of Supervisors has not issued any of the $310,000,000 school bonds 

authorized at the election duly called and held on November 3, 2015. 

The Board of Supervisors deems it advisable to authorize the issuance of up to 

$35,589,500 of school bonds authorized at the November 3, 2015, election and to sell the bonds. 

The issuance of such school bonds is contingent upon the adoption by the Fairfax County 

School Board of a resolution, in a form acceptable to the County’s bond counsel, requesting the 

issuance of such school bonds. 

(ii) Transportation improvements and facilities – $45,780,000.  At an election duly 

called and held on November 4, 2014, a majority of the qualified voters of the County voting on 

the question approved contracting a debt, borrowing money and issuing bonds of the County, in 

addition to the bonds previously authorized for transportation improvements and facilities, in the 

maximum aggregate principal amount of $100,000,000 for the purpose of providing funds to 

finance the cost of constructing, reconstructing, improving and acquiring transportation facilities, 

including improvements to primary and secondary State highways, improvements related to 

transit, improvements for pedestrians and bicycles, and ancillary related improvements and 

facilities. 

The Circuit Court of Fairfax County, Virginia has duly entered its Final Order 

authorizing the Board of Supervisors, to proceed to carry out the wishes of the voters of the 

County as expressed at such election and to contract a debt, borrow money and issue bonds of 

the County, in the aggregate principal amount of $100,000,000 for such purpose. 

The Board of Supervisors has heretofore issued $1,160,500 transportation improvement 

and facilities bonds authorized at the election duly called and held on November 4, 2014. 

The Board of Supervisors deems it advisable to authorize the issuance of up to 

$18,000,000 of transportation improvement and facilities bonds authorized at the November 4, 

2014, election and to sell the bonds. 

283



Attachment 1 

 3 

 

At an election duly called and held on November 8, 2016, a majority of the qualified 

voters of the County voting on the question approved contracting a debt, borrowing money and 

issuing bonds of the County in addition to bonds previously authorized for transportation 

improvements and facilities, in the maximum aggregate principal amount of $120,000,000 to 

finance Fairfax County’s share, under the Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority 

Compact, of the cost of constructing, reconstructing, improving and acquiring transportation 

improvements and facilities, including capital costs of land, transit facilities, rolling stock and 

equipment in the Washington metropolitan area, and to finance improvements to primary and 

secondary State highways and ancillary related improvements and facilities. 

The Circuit Court of Fairfax County, Virginia has duly entered its Final Order 

authorizing the Board of Supervisors, to proceed to carry out the wishes of the voters of the 

County as expressed at such election and to contract a debt, borrow money and issue bonds of 

the County, in the aggregate principal amount of $120,000,000 for such purpose. 

The Board of Supervisors has heretofore issued $24,000,000 transportation improvement 

and facilities bonds authorized at the election duly called and held on November 8, 2016. 

The Board of Supervisors deems it advisable to authorize the issuance of up to 

$27,780,000 of transportation improvement and facilities bonds authorized at the November 8, 

2016, election and to sell the bonds. 

(iii) Parks and park facilities – $23,000,000.  At an election duly called and held on 

November 6, 2012, a majority of the qualified voters of the County voting on the question, 

approved contracting a debt, borrowing money and issuing bonds of the County, in addition to 

the parks and park facilities bonds previously authorized, in the maximum aggregate principal 

amount of $75,000,000 for the purpose of providing funds with any other available funds to 

finance the cost of providing parks and park facilities including the acquisition, construction, 

development and equipment of additional parks and park facilities, and the purchase of 

permanent easements for the preservation of open-space land and the development and 

improvement of existing parks and park facilities by the Fairfax County Park Authority, and 

including an amount not to exceed $12,000,000 allocable to the County as its share of the cost of 

parks and park facilities to be acquired, constructed, developed and equipped by the Northern 

Virginia Regional Park Authority. 

The Circuit Court of Fairfax County, Virginia has duly entered its Final Order 

authorizing the Board of Supervisors, to proceed to carry out the wishes of the voters of the 

County as expressed at such election and to contract a debt, borrow money and issue bonds of 

the County, in the aggregate principal amount of $75,000,000 for such purpose. 

The Board of Supervisors has heretofore authorized the issuance of and has issued 

$29,290,000 parks and park facilities bonds for the Fairfax County Park Authority authorized at 

the election duly called and held on November 6, 2012, and has heretofore authorized the 

issuance of and has issued $12,000,000 parks and park facilities bonds for the Northern Virginia 

Regional Park Authority authorized at the election duly called and held on November 6, 2012. 

284



Attachment 1 

 4 

 

The Board of Supervisors deems it advisable to authorize the issuance of up to 

$20,000,000 parks and park facilities bonds for the Fairfax County Park Authority authorized at 

the November 6, 2012, election and to sell the bonds. 

At an election duly called and held on November 8, 2016, a majority of the qualified 

voters of the County voting on the question approved contracting a debt, borrowing money and 

issuing bonds of the County in addition to bonds previously authorized for parks and park 

facilities, in the maximum aggregate principal amount of $107,000,000: (i) $94,700,000 

principal amount to finance the Fairfax County Park Authority’s cost to acquire, construct, 

develop and equip additional parks and park facilities, to preserve open-space land, and to 

develop and improve existing parks and park facilities; and (ii) $12,300,000 principal amount for 

Fairfax County’s contribution to the Northern Virginia Regional Park Authority to acquire, 

construct, develop and equip parks and park facilities. 

The Circuit Court of Fairfax County, Virginia has duly entered its Final Order 

authorizing the Board of Supervisors, to proceed to carry out the wishes of the voters of the 

County as expressed at such election and to contract a debt, borrow money and issue bonds of 

the County, in the aggregate principal amount of $107,000,000 for such purpose. 

The Board of Supervisors has not issued any of the $94,700,000 parks and park facilities 

bonds for the Fairfax County Park Authority authorized at the election duly called and held on 

November 8, 2016, and has heretofore authorized the issuance of and has issued $3,300,000 

parks and park facilities bonds for the Northern Virginia Regional Park Authority authorized at 

the election duly called and held on November 8, 2016. 

The Board of Supervisors deems it advisable to authorize the issuance of up to 

$3,000,000 parks and park facilities bonds for the Northern Virginia Regional Park Authority 

authorized at the November 8, 2016, election and to sell the bonds. 

(iv) Storm drainage improvements – $10,000,000.  At an election duly called and 

held on November 6, 2012, a majority of the qualified voters of the County, voting on the 

question approved contracting a debt, borrowing money and issuing bonds of the County, in the 

maximum aggregate principal amount of $30,000,000 for the purpose of providing funds, with 

any other available funds, to finance the cost of providing storm drainage improvements to 

prevent flooding and soil erosion, including the acquisition of necessary land.   

The Circuit Court of Fairfax County, Virginia has duly entered its Final Order 

authorizing the Board of Supervisors to proceed to carry out the wishes of the voters of the 

County as expressed at such election and to contract a debt, borrow money and issue bonds of 

the County, in the aggregate principal amount of $30,000,000 for such purpose. 

The Board of Supervisors has heretofore issued $14,250,000 storm drainage 

improvement bonds authorized at the election duly called and held on November 6, 2012. 

The Board of Supervisors deems it advisable to authorize the issuance of up to  

$10,000,000 of such storm drainage improvement bonds authorized at the November 6, 2012, 

election and to sell the bonds. 

285



Attachment 1 

 5 

 

(v) Public safety facilities – $8,000,000.  At an election duly called and held on 

November 6, 2012, a majority of the qualified voters of the County voting on the question 

approved contracting a debt, borrowing money and issuing bonds of the County, in addition to 

the public safety facilities bonds previously authorized, in the maximum aggregate principal 

amount of $55,000,000, for the purpose of providing funds, with any other available funds, to 

finance the cost of providing public safety facilities, including the construction, reconstruction, 

enlargement, renovation and equipment of civil and criminal justice facilities, police training 

facilities and stations, fire and rescue training facilities and stations, including fire and rescue 

stations owned by volunteer organizations, and the acquisition of necessary land. 

The Circuit Court of Fairfax County, Virginia has duly entered its Final Order 

authorizing the Board of Supervisors to proceed to carry out the wishes of the voters of the 

County as expressed at such election and to contract a debt, borrow money and issue bonds of 

the County in the aggregate principal amount of $55,000,000 for such purpose. 

The Board of Supervisors has heretofore issued $21,240,000 public safety facilities bonds 

authorized at the election duly called and held on November 6, 2012. 

The Board of Supervisors deems it advisable to authorize the issuance of up to 

$8,000,000 of public safety facilities bonds authorized at the November 6, 2012, election and to 

sell the bonds. 

(vi) Public library facilities – $5,000,000.  At an election duly called and held on 

November 6, 2012, a majority of the qualified voters of the County, voting on the question 

approved contracting a debt, borrowing money and issuing bonds of the County, in addition to 

the public safety library facilities bonds previously authorized, in the maximum aggregate 

principal amount of $25,000,000 for the purpose of providing funds, with any other available 

funds, to finance the cost of providing additional public library facilities, the reconstruction, 

enlargement, and equipment of existing library facilities, and the acquisition of necessary land.   

The Circuit Court of Fairfax County, Virginia has duly entered its Final Order 

authorizing the Board of Supervisors to proceed to carry out the wishes of the voters of the 

County as expressed at such election and to contract a debt, borrow money and issue bonds of 

the County, in the aggregate principal amount of $25,000,000 for such purpose. 

The Board of Supervisors has heretofore issued $8,985,000 public library facilities bonds 

authorized at the election duly called and held on November 6, 2012. 

The Board of Supervisors deems it advisable to authorize the issuance of up to 

$5,000,000 of public library facilities bonds authorized at the November 6, 2012, election and to 

sell the bonds. 

(vii) Human services facilities and community development facilities – $5,000,000.  

At an election duly called and held on November 8, 2016, a majority of the qualified voters of 

the County voting on the question approved contracting a debt, borrowing money and issuing 

bonds of the County in the maximum aggregate principal amount of $85,000,000 to provide 

funds to finance the cost of human services facilities and community development facilities, 

286



Attachment 1 

 6 

 

including the construction and reconstruction of community centers and shelters and the 

acquisition of land and equipment or interest therein. 

The Circuit Court of Fairfax County, Virginia has duly entered its Final Order 

authorizing the Board of Supervisors to proceed to carry out the wishes of the voters of the 

County as expressed at such election and to contract a debt, borrow money and issue bonds of 

the County, in the aggregate principal amount of $85,000,000 for such purpose. 

The Board of Supervisors has not issued any of the $85,000,000 human services facilities 

and community development facilities bonds authorized at the election duly called and held on 

November 8, 2016. 

The Board of Supervisors deems it advisable to authorize the issuance of up to 

$5,000,000 of human services facilities and community development facilities bonds authorized 

at the November 8, 2016, election and to sell the bonds. 

Section 1(b). Prior bond issues.  The Board of Supervisors has been advised that 

certain bonds of certain series of its outstanding public improvement bonds and public 

improvement and refunding bonds, in certain favorable market conditions, may be refunded to 

achieve substantial present value debt service savings.  

The Board of Supervisors deems it advisable to authorize the issuance of public 

improvement refunding bonds, pursuant to a tax-exempt or taxable bond sale, to achieve such 

savings, if available. 

The Board of Supervisors has further found and determined and does hereby declare that: 

(i) Series 2009 A Bonds.  For the purposes of providing funds, with other available 

funds, for school improvements, parks and park facilities, transportation improvements and 

facilities, human service facilities, public library facilities and public safety facilities the Board 

of Supervisors duly issued bonds of the County in the aggregate principal amount of 

$199,510,000, designated “Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2009 A” (the “Series 2009 A 

Bonds”), dated January 28, 2009. 

The Series 2009 A Bonds that mature on or before April 1, 2019, are not subject to 

optional redemption before their maturity.  The Series 2009 A Bonds that mature after April 1, 

2019, may be redeemed, at the option of the County, before their respective maturities, on not 

more than 60 nor less than 30 days’ notice mailed to the registered owners, on any date not 

earlier than April 1, 2019, in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000), upon payment of 

the redemption price of par plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

(ii) Series 2012A Bonds.  For purposes of providing funds, with other available 

funds, for school improvements, transportation improvements and facilities, parks and park 

facilities, public safety facilities, human services facilities and public library facilities the Board 

of Supervisors duly issued bonds of the County in the aggregate principal amount of 

$217,655,000, designated “Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2012A” (the “Series 2012A 

Bonds”), dated February 2, 2012.   

287



Attachment 1 

 7 

 

The Series 2012A Bonds that mature on or before April 1, 2020, are not subject to 

optional redemption before their maturity.  The Series 2012A Bonds that mature after April 1, 

2020, may be redeemed, at the option of the County, before their respective maturities, on not 

more than 60 nor less than 30 days’ notice mailed to the registered owners, on any date not 

earlier than April 1, 2020, in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000), upon payment of 

the redemption price of par plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

(iii) Series 2013A Bonds.  For purposes of providing funds, with other available 

funds, for school improvements, transportation improvements and facilities, public safety 

facilities, parks and park facilities, commercial and redevelopment area improvements and public 

library facilities the Board of Supervisors duly issued bonds of the County in the aggregate 

principal amount of $206,335,000, designated “Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2013A” (the 

“Series 2013A Bonds”), dated January 24, 2013. 

The Series 2013A Bonds that mature on or before October 1, 2021, are not subject to 

optional redemption before their maturity.  The Series 2013A Bonds that mature after October 1, 

2021, may be redeemed, at the option of the County, before their respective maturities, on not 

more than 60 nor less than 30 days’ notice mailed to the registered owners, on any date not 

earlier than October 1, 2021, in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000), upon payment 

of the redemption price of par plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

(iv) Series 2014A Bonds.  For purposes of providing funds, with other available 

funds, for school improvements, transportation improvements and facilities, public safety 

facilities, parks and park facilities and public library facilities and to refund certain Series 2004 

A, Series 2004 B and Series 2005 A outstanding bonds of the County, the Board of Supervisors 

duly issued bonds of the County in the aggregate principal amount of $316,310,000, designated 

“Public Improvement and Refunding Bonds, Series 2014A” (the “Series 2014A Bonds”), dated 

February 6, 2014. 

The Series 2014A Bonds that mature on or before October 1, 2023, are not subject to 

optional redemption before their maturity.  The Series 2014A Bonds that mature after October 1, 

2023, may be redeemed, at the option of the County, before their respective maturities, on not 

more than 60 nor less than 30 days’ notice mailed to the registered owners, on any date not 

earlier than October 1, 2023, in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000), upon payment 

of the redemption price of par plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

(v) Series 2015A Bonds.  For purposes of providing funds, with other available 

funds, for school improvements, transportation improvements and facilities, parks and park 

facilities, public safety facilities, and storm drainage improvements, the Board of Supervisors, 

duly issued bonds of the County in the aggregate principal amount of $227,340,000, designated 

“Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2015A” (the “Series 2015A Bonds”), dated March 4, 2015. 

The Series 2015A Bonds that mature on or before October 1, 2024, are not subject to 

optional redemption before their maturity.  The Series 2015A Bonds that mature after October 1, 

2024, may be redeemed, at the option of the County, before their respective maturities, on not 

more than 60 nor less than 30 days’ notice mailed to the registered owners, on any date not 

288



Attachment 1 

 8 

 

earlier than October 1, 2024, in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000), upon payment 

of the redemption price of par plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

(vi) Series 2016A Bonds.  For purposes of providing funds, with other available 

funds, for school improvements, transportation improvements and facilities, parks and park 

facilities, public safety facilities, public library facilities and storm drainage improvements and to 

refund certain Series 2008 A Bonds, Series 2009 A Bonds, Series 2011A Bonds, Series 2012A 

Bonds and Series 2013A Bonds the Board of Supervisors duly issued bonds of the County in the 

aggregate principal amount of $335,980,000, designated “Public Improvement and Refunding 

Bonds, Series 2016A” (the “Series 2016A Bonds”), dated February 9, 2016. 

The Series 2016A Bonds that mature on or before October 1, 2025, are not subject to 

optional redemption before their maturity.  The Series 2016A Bonds that mature after October 1, 

2025, may be redeemed, at the option of the County, before their respective maturities, on not 

more than 60 nor less than 30 days’ notice mailed to the registered owners, on any date not 

earlier than April 1, 2026, in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000), upon payment of 

the redemption price of par plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

(vii) Series 2017A Bonds.  For the purposes of providing funds, with other available 

funds, for school improvements, transportation improvements and facilities, parks and park 

facilities, public safety facilities, storm drainage improvements and public library facilities duly 

issued bonds of the County in the aggregate principal amount of $228,375,000, designated 

“Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2017A” (the “Series 2017A Bonds”), dated February 7, 

2017. 

The Series 2017A Bonds that mature on or before October 1, 2026, are not subject to 

optional redemption before their maturity.  The Series 2017A Bonds that mature after October 1, 

2026, may be redeemed, at the option of the County, before their respective maturities, on not 

more than 60 nor less than 30 days’ notice mailed to the registered owners, on any date not 

earlier than April 1, 2027, in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000), upon payment of 

the redemption price of par plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

(viii) The Board of Supervisors has determined to provide for the issuance of refunding 

bonds of Fairfax County, Virginia, for the purpose of providing funds, with other available 

funds, to refund all or a portion of all or any of the following outstanding bonds of Fairfax 

County, Virginia (collectively, the “Refunding Candidates”), all as hereinafter provided: 

Series 2009 A Bonds that are first subject to, and shall be called for redemption on April 

1, 2019, and 

Series 2012A Bonds that are first subject to, and shall be called for redemption on April 

1, 2020, and 

Series 2013A Bonds that are first subject to, and shall be called for redemption on 

October 1, 2021, and 

Series 2014A Bonds that are first subject to, and shall be called for redemption on 

October 1, 2023, and 

289



Attachment 1 

 9 

 

Series 2015A Bonds that are first subject to, and shall be called for redemption on 

October 1, 2024, and 

Series 2016A Bonds that are first subject to, and shall be called for redemption on April 

1, 2026, and 

Series 2017A Bonds that are first subject to, and shall be called for redemption on April 

1, 2027 

Any such refunding bonds issued to refund the Refunding Candidates shall not exceed 

the aggregate principal amount of $450,000,000. 

Section 2. Authorization of bonds.  The Board of Supervisors has determined that it 

is in the best interests of the County to consolidate for the purposes of the sale the bond 

authorizations mentioned above into one or more series of public improvement and/or refunding 

bonds of the County.  The bonds shall be designated as appropriate “Public Improvement 

[and/or] Refunding Bonds, Series 201[7/8][A], [B], [C].”  The bonds shall be dated, shall be 

stated to mature in certain amounts on such dates, subject to the right of prior redemption, and 

shall bear interest until their payment at a rate or rates and on such dates as shall hereafter be 

determined by the Board of Supervisors by resolution or by either the acting County Executive 

or County Executive (together, the “County Executive”) or Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 

the delegation to each of them contained in this Resolution.  The first interest payment date of 

such bonds shall be no later than thirteen months after the issuance of such bonds.  The bonds 

shall be issuable in fully registered form in the denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple 

thereof and shall be appropriately numbered all as hereinafter provided.   

The Board of Supervisors deems it advisable at this time to authorize the sale of such 

bonds pursuant to the terms of this Resolution.   

The bonds issued for the purpose of providing funds for school improvements, 

transportation improvements and facilities, public safety facilities, parks and park facilities, 

public library facilities, human services facilities and community facilities and storm drainage 

improvements shall have an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $251,780,000.   

The bonds issued for the purpose of providing funds, with other available funds, to refund 

all or a portion of all or any of the Refunding Candidates (the Refunding Candidates so refunded, 

the “Refunded Bonds”) shall have such principal amounts as shall hereafter be determined by the 

Board of Supervisors by resolution or by the County Executive or Chief Financial Officer 

pursuant to the delegation to each of them contained in this resolution, to produce overall present 

value debt service savings for the County.  The aggregate principal amount of such bonds issued 

to refund the Refunded Bonds shall not exceed $450,000,000 and such bonds may be sold on a 

tax-exempt or taxable basis. 

If none of the proceeds of the bonds as authorized should be used for refunding any of the 

Refunding Candidates, then the bonds shall be designated as appropriate “Public Improvement 

Bonds, Series 201[7/8], [A], [B], [C].”  If a series of bonds is issued and none of the proceeds is 

used for providing funds for public improvement purposes, then the bonds shall be designated 

“Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 201[7/8] [A], [B], [C].” 

290



Attachment 1 

 10 

 

The Board of Supervisors hereby determines that in the event that financial market 

conditions dictate, and it is determined by the County Executive or Chief Financial Officer to be 

in the best interests of the County, bond anticipation notes may be issued in anticipation of the 

issuance of the bonds.  Any such bond anticipation notes shall have a first interest payment date 

no later than July 1, 2019, and a final maturity no later than July 1, 2021.  All other provisions in 

this Resolution setting forth the terms and details of bonds as well as delegations provided shall 

apply to such bond anticipation notes if the context requires. 

Each bond shall bear interest from the interest payment date next preceding the date on 

which it is authenticated unless it is (a) authenticated upon an interest payment date in which 

case it shall bear interest from such interest payment date or (b) authenticated prior to the first 

interest payment date in which case it shall bear interest from its date; provided, however, that if 

at the time of authentication interest on any bond is in default, such bond shall bear interest from 

the date to which interest has been paid. 

The principal of and the interest and any redemption premium on the bonds shall be 

payable in any coin or currency of the United States of America which is legal tender for the 

payment of public and private debts on the respective dates of payment thereof.  The principal of 

and any redemption premium on each bond shall be payable to the registered owner thereof or 

his registered assigns or legal representative at the office of the Bond Registrar mentioned 

hereinafter upon the presentation and surrender thereof as the same shall become due and 

payable.  Payment of the interest on each bond shall be made by the Bond Registrar on each 

interest payment date to the person appearing (hereafter provided) on the registration books of 

the County as the registered owner of such bond (or the previous bond or bonds evidencing the 

same debt as that evidenced by such bond) at the close of business on the record date for such 

interest, which, unless otherwise determined pursuant to the delegation of authority contained in 

this resolution, shall be the 15th day (whether or not a business day) of the calendar month next 

preceding such interest payment date, by check mailed or by wire transfer to such person at his 

address as it appears on such registration books. 

The bonds initially issued will be in fully registered form and registered in the name of 

Cede & Co., a nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), and 

immobilized in the custody of DTC.  One fully registered bond for the original principal amount 

of each maturity will be registered to Cede & Co.  Beneficial owners will not receive physical 

delivery of bonds.  Individual purchases of bonds may be made in book-entry form only in 

original principal amounts of $5,000 and integral multiples of $5,000.  Payments of the principal 

of and premium, if any, and interest on the bonds will be made to DTC or its nominee as 

registered owner of the bonds on the applicable payment date. 

So long as Cede & Co., or its successor, as nominee of DTC, is the registered owner of 

the bonds, references in this resolution to the holders of the bonds mean Cede & Co. and do not 

mean the beneficial owners of the bonds. 

Replacement bonds (the “Replacement Bonds”) will be issued directly to beneficial 

owners of bonds rather than to DTC, or its nominee, but only in the event that: 

(1) DTC determines not to continue to act as securities depository for the bonds; 

291



Attachment 1 

 11 

 

(2) The County has advised DTC of its determination that DTC is incapable of 

discharging its duties; or 

(3) The County has determined that it is in the best interests of the beneficial owners 

of the bonds not to continue the book-entry system of transfer. 

Upon occurrence of the events described in clause (1) or (2), the County will attempt to 

locate another qualified securities depository.  If DTC makes the determination described in 

clause (1) and the County fails to select another qualified securities depository to replace DTC, 

the County will execute and the Bond Registrar will authenticate and deliver to the participants 

in DTC (“Participants”) the Replacement Bonds to which the Participants are entitled.  In the 

event the County makes the determination described in clause (2) or (3) (the County undertakes 

no obligation to make any investigation to determine the occurrence of any events that would 

permit the County to make any such determination) and, in the case of the determination under 

clause (2), the County has failed to designate another qualified securities depository and has 

made provisions to notify the beneficial owners of the bonds by mailing an appropriate notice to 

DTC, the County will execute and the Bond Registrar will authenticate and deliver to the 

Participants the appropriate Replacement Bonds to which the Participants are entitled.  The Bond 

Registrar is entitled to rely on the records provided by DTC as to the Participants entitled to 

receive Replacement Bonds. 

Section 3. Sale of Bonds.  Pursuant to the delegation set forth within this Resolution, 

bonds (which includes any bond anticipation notes) to be issued may be sold in a competitive 

sale pursuant to bids received electronically via the Bidcomp/Parity Competitive Bidding System 

or similar electronic based competitive bidding system or through a negotiated sale to one or 

more underwriters or financial institutions chosen in compliance with County guidelines and 

regulations.  Bonds sold through a negotiated sale may be sold in a public sale or in a private 

placement.  Bonds authorized to be issued under this Resolution may be sold in one or more 

series and on one or more dates on any date on or before December 31, 2018.  The authorization 

and approvals of the documents set forth in this Resolution (as long as the documents used in 

such sale are authorized herein) shall apply to each bond sale. 

Section 4. Notice of Sale; Bids.  If bonds (or bond anticipation notes) are determined 

to be sold in a competitive sale, the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors is hereby authorized, if 

recommended by the Financial Advisor of the County to be beneficial for the sale of the bonds, 

to cause one or more notices calling for bids for the purchase of the bonds, to be published.  Such 

notices shall be substantially in the form of the Notice of Sale(s) annexed to this resolution (the 

“Notice of Sale(s)”).  Alternatively, the Clerk may cause to be published a summary of the 

principal terms of the notices.  Bids shall be received electronically via the Bidcomp/Parity 

Competitive Bidding System or similar electronic based competitive bidding system. 

Section 5. Official Statement.  The draft of the Preliminary Official Statement of the 

County (the “Preliminary Official Statement(s)”) relating to the public improvement and 

refunding bonds presented at the meeting at which this resolution is adopted, and the circulation 

thereof, the completion thereof with the results of the sale and the printing and delivery to the 

winning bidder(s) in a competitive sale or the underwriter(s) in a negotiated sale of a reasonable 

number of copies thereof as so completed (the “final Official Statement(s)”) are hereby approved 

292



Attachment 1 

 12 

 

and authorized, and the Chairman, Vice Chairman of the Board of Supervisors, County 

Executive or the Chief Financial Officer is hereby authorized and directed to deem final the 

Preliminary Official Statement(s) for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Securities and 

Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and to execute 

and deliver the final Official Statement(s), both the Preliminary Official Statement(s) and the 

final Official Statement(s) to be in substantially the form of the related draft Preliminary Official 

Statement presented at this meeting with the changes contemplated hereby and such other 

changes as the Chairman, Vice Chairman of the Board of Supervisors, County Executive or the 

Chief Financial Officer may approve, his or her signature on the final Official Statement to be 

conclusive evidence of the signer’s approval thereof.  The Preliminary Official Statement(s) and 

the final Official Statement(s) may be disseminated or otherwise made available through 

electronic means. 

Section 6.  Delegation and Standard. (a)  Competitive Sale Delegation – The Board 

of Supervisors has determined that there may be unplanned occasions when it is not possible for 

some of the members of the Board of Supervisors to attend a special meeting for the purpose of 

receiving bids for the purchase of bonds of the County offered for sale at competitive bidding 

and that the accepted practice of the bond markets dictates that the lowest bid be speedily 

determined and the bonds be promptly awarded or that all bids be rejected. 

The Board of Supervisors delegates to each of the County Executive and the Chief 

Financial Officer (each a “delegate”), the authority to accept the lowest bid (determined in 

accordance with the Notice of Sale) for the bonds (or any bond anticipation notes), being offered 

for sale by the Board of Supervisors at competitive bidding on a date(s) not later than 

December 31, 2018, subject to the following conditions: (i) a delegate shall have determined that 

the bid conforms in all material respects to the requirements of the Notice of Sale, (ii) a delegate 

shall have determined that the bid to be accepted is the lowest bid conforming to the terms of the 

Notice of Sale, (iii) the Financial Advisor to Fairfax County shall have recommended that the 

lowest conforming bid be accepted, (iv) the true interest cost of such bid shall not exceed 5.50% 

for any bonds and (v) the Board of Supervisors shall not then be in special session called for the 

purpose of accepting bids (the Board not to be deemed in special session if less than a quorum is 

present and voting). 

(b)  Negotiated Sale Delegation – The Board of Supervisors delegates to each of the 

County Executive and the Chief Financial Officer, the authority to sell the bonds (or any bond 

anticipation notes) in a negotiated sale to one or more underwriters or financial institutions on a 

date not later than December 31, 2018, subject to the following conditions: (i) the Financial 

Advisor to Fairfax County shall have recommended that due to financial market conditions such 

a negotiated sale best serves the interest of the County, (ii) the true interest cost of such bonds 

shall not exceed 5.50% for any bonds and (iii) the underwriter(s) or other financial institutions(s) 

of the bonds shall have been chosen pursuant to County guidelines and regulations.   

In the event of a negotiated sale, the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board of 

Supervisors, the County Executive and the Chief Financial Officer, or such other officer or 

officers of the County as may be designated by any one of them, is hereby authorized and 

directed to execute a bond purchase agreement, setting forth the terms of the sale of the bonds.  

Such bond purchase agreement shall only be executed (i) if such agreement does not contain any 

293



Attachment 1 

 13 

 

terms contradictory to the terms of this Resolution and (ii) the Financial Advisor to the County 

shall recommend to the County the execution of such agreement. 

(c)  Additional Delegation – The Board of Supervisors hereby further delegates to each of 

the County Executive and the Chief Financial Officer, subject to the limitations contained herein, 

powers and duties to determine the following, such delegation to be effective only if the Board of 

Supervisors shall not then be in session (the Board not to be deemed in session if less than a 

quorum is present and voting): 

(1) The series designations of such bonds; 

(2) The aggregate principal amount of the bonds issued for public improvement 

purposes, such amount not to exceed the sum of the amount required to provide $251,780,000 for 

such public improvement purposes; 

(3) The aggregate principal amount of bonds issued for refunding of the Refunded 

Bonds; provided, however, that the present value of the debt service savings to be obtained from 

the refunding of the Refunded Bonds is not less than 3.0% of the principal amount of the 

Refunded Bonds; 

(4) To determine to use additional County funds, in addition to the proceeds of any 

bonds issued, to refund the Refunded Bonds; 

(5) The determination of the bonds as serial or term bonds; 

(6) The respective annual maturity dates and any mandatory redemption dates of the 

bonds, and the respective principal amounts of the bonds to mature or be redeemed on such 

dates, provided that the first maturity date of bonds for public improvement purposes shall occur 

no later than December 1, 2019, and the final maturity date shall not be later than December 1, 

2038; 

(7) The dated date of the bonds provided, however, the bonds shall be dated their date 

of issue or as of a customary date preceding their date of issue; 

(8) The interest payment dates, for the bonds and the record date for the bonds;  

(9) The redemption provisions, if any, of the bonds as further set forth in Section 8 of 

this resolution; and 

(10) If necessary, upon the refunding of the Refunded Bonds, (i) to approve and 

execute an escrow agreement, with an escrow agent or letter of instructions (such escrow 

agreement or letter of instructions to be executed only if such document does not contain any 

terms contradictory to the terms of this Resolution and only upon the recommendation of Bond 

Counsel to Fairfax County and the Financial Advisor to Fairfax County), (ii) to appoint a 

verification agent and an escrow agent and (iii) to determine the particular escrow securities and 

the form thereof and the terms of any related agreement (including a forward purchase agreement 

for the delivery of open-market escrow securities), with respect thereto that in his judgment, 

294



Attachment 1 

 14 

 

upon the recommendation of the County’s Financial Advisor, will improve the efficiency of the 

escrow securities in defeasing the Refunded Bonds. 

The Board of Supervisors hereby further delegates to each of the County Executive and 

the Chief Financial Officer authority to allocate any premium received upon the sale of the bonds 

to (i) fund interest payments on the bonds which relate to projects financed that are under 

construction through a time period no later than December 1, 2018, (ii) pay costs of issuance of 

the bonds or (iii) as to any or all of the public improvement bonds, taking into account, among 

other things, the reoffering prices for the various maturities of the bonds, reduce the principal 

amount of the bonds to which such allocation is made to produce proceeds approximately equal 

to the respective amounts authorized to be issued for such purposes by Section 1(a) and 

paragraph (c)(2) of this Section 6. 

Section 7. Forms of bonds.  The bonds shall bear the facsimile signatures of the 

Chairman or Vice Chairman and the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors and a facsimile of the 

official seal of the Board shall be imprinted on the bonds.  The certificate of authentication of the 

Bond Registrar to be endorsed on all bonds shall be executed as provided hereinafter. 

In case any officer of Fairfax County whose facsimile signature shall appear on any 

bonds shall cease to be such officer before the delivery of such bonds, such facsimile signature 

shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes the same as if she or he had remained in 

office until such delivery, and any bond may bear the facsimile signatures of such persons at the 

actual time of the execution of such bond shall be the proper officers to sign such bond although 

at the date of such bond such persons may not have been such officers. 

No bond shall be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any benefit 

or security under this resolution until it shall have been authenticated by the execution by the 

Bond Registrar of the certificate of authentication endorsed thereon. 

The bonds and the endorsement thereon shall be substantially in the following form: 

[Depository Legend] 

 

(Face of Bond) 

No. ____ $_____ 

United States of America 

Commonwealth of Virginia 

FAIRFAX COUNTY 

Public Improvement [and/or Refunding] Bond, Series 2018 [A], [B], [C] 

Maturity Date Interest Rate Dated Date CUSIP 

[_______]   ________% ______, 2018 _____ __ 

 

295



Attachment 1 

 15 

 

Fairfax County, Virginia, is justly indebted and for value received hereby promises to 

pay to 

_________________________________________ 

or registered assigns or legal representative on the date specified above (or earlier as 

hereinafter referred to), upon the presentation and surrender hereof, at the office of the Director 

of the Department of Finance of Fairfax County, Virginia (the “Bond Registrar”), in Fairfax 

County, Virginia, the principal sum of 

_____________________ DOLLARS 

and to pay interest on such principal sum from the date hereof or from the [_____ 1 or 

_____ 1] next preceding the date of authentication to which interest shall have been paid, unless 

such date of authentication is an [_____ 1 or a _____ 1] to which interest shall have been paid, in 

which case from such date, such interest to the maturity hereof being payable on the 1st days of 

________ and ________ in each year, the first interest payment date being _____, 20__, at the 

rate per annum specified above, until payment of such principal sum.  The interest so payable on 

any such interest payment date will be paid to the person in whose name this bond (or the 

previous bond or bonds evidencing the same debt as that evidenced by this bond) is registered at 

the close of business on the record date for such interest, which shall be the 15th day (whether or 

not a business day) of the calendar month next preceding such interest payment date, by wire 

transfer, at the discretion of the County, or check mailed to such person at his address as it 

appears on the bond registration books of the County.  Both the principal of and the interest on 

this bond shall be payable in any coin or currency of the United States of America which is legal 

tender for the payment of public and private debts on the respective dates of payment thereof.  

For the prompt payment hereof, both principal and interest as the same shall become due, the full 

faith and credit of the County are hereby irrevocably pledged. 

This bond and the bonds of the series of which it is one are issued under and pursuant to a 

resolution duly adopted by the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia on December 5, 

2017 (the “Resolution”), for [(i) the purpose of providing funds, with other available funds, for  

school improvements, transportation improvements and facilities, parks and park facilities, storm 

drainage improvements, public safety facilities, public library facilities and human services 

facilities and community development facilities [and/or (ii) refunding portions of [   ] outstanding 

series of bonds of Fairfax County, Virginia designated [                                     ]]]. 

The bonds of this series that mature on or before _____, 20__, are not subject to 

redemption before maturity.  Bonds that mature after _______ 1, 20__, may be redeemed, at the 

option of the County, before their respective maturities on any date not earlier than _____ 1, 

20__, in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000), upon payment of the redemption price 

of par plus accrued interest to the redemption date.]  

Term bonds of this series purchased or redeemed pursuant to a partial optional 

redemption by the County may be credited against the amortization requirements therefor as the 

County in its sole discretion may determine. 

296



Attachment 1 

 16 

 

If less than all of the bonds of any one maturity shall be called for redemption, the 

particular bonds or portions of bonds of such maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by lot by 

the County in such manner as the County in its discretion may determine; provided, however, 

that the portion of any bond to be redeemed shall be in the principal amount of $5,000 or some 

multiple thereof and that, in selecting bonds for redemption, the County shall treat each bond as 

representing that number of bonds which is obtained by dividing the principal amount of such 

bond by $5,000. 

Bonds may be redeemed only in increments of $5,000 or whole multiples thereof.  If a 

portion of a Bond is called for redemption, a new Bond in a principal amount equal to the 

unredeemed portion thereof will be issued to the bondholder upon the surrender thereof. 

Not more than sixty (60) nor less than thirty (30) days before the redemption date of any 

bonds to be redeemed, whether such redemption be in whole or in part, the County shall cause a 

notice of such redemption to be filed with the Bond Registrar and to be mailed, postage prepaid, 

to the registered owner of each bond to be redeemed in whole or in part at his address appearing 

upon the registration books of the County, but failure to mail such notice or any defect therein 

shall not affect the validity of the redemption.  If a portion of this bond shall be called for 

redemption, a new bond or bonds in principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion hereof 

will be issued to the registered owner hereof or his legal representative upon the surrender 

hereof.   

Any notice of optional redemption of the bonds may state that it is conditioned upon 

there being available an amount of money sufficient to pay the redemption price plus interest 

accrued and unpaid to the redemption date, and any conditional notice so given may be rescinded 

at any time before the payment of the redemption price of any such condition so specified is not 

satisfied.  If a redemption does not occur after a conditional notice is given due to an insufficient 

amount of funds on deposit by the County, the corresponding notice of redemption shall be 

deemed to be revoked. 

If the County gives an unconditional notice of redemption, then on the redemption date 

the Bonds called for redemption will become due and payable.  If the County gives a conditional 

notice of redemption, and the amount of money to pay the redemption price of the affected 

Bonds shall have been set aside with the Trustee or a depositary (either, a “depositary”) for the 

purpose of paying such bonds, then on the redemption date the bonds will become due and 

payable.  In either case, if on the redemption date the County holds money to pay the bonds 

called for redemption, thereafter no interest will accrue on those bonds, and a bondholder’s only 

right will be to receive payment of the redemption price upon surrender of those bonds. 

The County shall give notice as contemplated by Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

Release No. 34-23856, dated December 3, 1986, including the requirement that notice be given 

to all organizations registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as securities 

depositories, and to one or more information services of national recognition which disseminate 

redemption information with respect to municipal securities.   

The bonds are issuable in fully registered form in the denomination of $5,000 or any 

multiple thereof.  At the office of the Bond Registrar, in the manner and subject to the conditions 

297



Attachment 1 

 17 

 

provided in the Resolution, bonds may be exchanged for an equal aggregate principal amount of 

bonds of the same series and maturity, of authorized denominations and bearing interest at the 

same rate. 

The Bond Registrar shall keep at its office the books of the County for the registration of 

transfer of bonds.  The transfer of this bond may be registered only upon such books and as 

otherwise provided in the Resolution upon the surrender hereof to the Bond Registrar together 

with an assignment duly executed by the registered owner hereof or his attorney or legal 

representative in such form as shall be satisfactory to the Bond Registrar.  Upon any such 

registration of transfer, the Bond Registrar shall deliver in exchange for this bond a new bond or 

bonds, registered in the name of the transferee, of authorized denominations, in an aggregate 

principal amount equal to the unredeemed principal amount of this bond, of the same series and 

maturity and bearing interest at the same rate. 

The Bond Registrar shall not be required to exchange or register the transfer of any bond 

called for redemption in whole or in part pursuant to the Resolution. 

This bond is one of a series issued under the authority of and in full compliance with the 

Constitution and laws of Virginia, particularly the Public Finance Act of 1991, Chapter 26, Title 

15.2, Code of Virginia, 1950, as amended, and pursuant to votes of a majority of the qualified 

voters of Fairfax County, Virginia, voting at elections duly called and held under the provisions 

of the Code of Virginia, 1950, as amended, and under orders of the Circuit Court of Fairfax 

County, Virginia, authorizing the Board of Supervisors of the County to proceed to carry out the 

wishes of the voters as expressed at such elections, and pursuant to resolutions duly adopted by 

the Board of Supervisors and the School Board of the County. 

It is hereby certified and recited that all acts, conditions and things required by the 

Constitution and laws of Virginia to happen, exist and be performed precedent to and in the 

issuance of this bond have happened, exist and have been performed in due time, form and 

manner as so required, that the total indebtedness of Fairfax County, Virginia, including this 

bond, does not exceed any constitutional or statutory limitation thereon, and that provision has 

been made for the levy and collection of an annual ad valorem tax upon all taxable property in 

the County subject to local taxation sufficient in amount to provide for the payment of the 

principal of and the interest on this bond as the same shall become due which tax shall be 

without limitation as to rate or amount and shall be in addition to all other taxes authorized to be 

levied in the County to the extent other funds of the County are not lawfully available and 

appropriated for such purpose. 

This bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any 

benefit or security under the resolution mentioned hereinafter until this bond shall have been 

authenticated by the execution by the Bond Registrar of the certificate of authentication endorsed 

hereon. 

298



Attachment 1 

 18 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia, has 

caused this bond to be issued in the name of Fairfax County, Virginia, and the Board has caused 

this bond to bear the facsimile signatures of its Chairman and Clerk and a facsimile of the 

official seal of the Board to be imprinted hereon, all as of the ____ day of ________, 2018. 

(Facsimile signature)     (Facsimile signature) 

___________________________   ______________________________ 

Clerk, Board of Supervisors    Chairman, Board of Supervisors 

of Fairfax County, Virginia     of Fairfax County, Virginia 

(Facsimile seal) 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This bond is one of the bonds of the series designated herein and described in the within 

mentioned Resolution. 

Director of the Department of Finance of 

Fairfax County, Virginia as Bond Registrar 

By_________________________________ 

Authorized Signature 

Date of authentication:  ________ __, 2018 

 

 

 (Form of Assignment) 

 

ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned registered owner hereby sells, assigns and 

transfers unto 

Please insert social security or 

other identifying number of assignee 

________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 

(Please Print or Typewrite Name and Address of Transferee) 

299



Attachment 1 

 19 

 

the within bond, and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints 

_______________________________ attorney to register the transfer of the within bond on the 

books kept for registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises. 

Dated:________________________     ________________________ 

 

NOTICE:  The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as it appears 

upon the face of the within bond in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any 

change whatever. 

Signature Guaranteed* by:                 

*Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an “eligible guarantor institution” meeting the requirements 

of the Trustee which requirements will include membership or participation in STAMP or such 

other “signature guarantee program” as may be determined by the Trustee in addition to, or in 

substitution for, STAMP, all in accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended. 

Section 8(a). Optional redemption.  The Board of Supervisors hereby delegates to 

each of the County Executive and the Chief Financial Officer the authority, subject to the 

limitations contained herein, to determine the optional redemption provisions of any bonds 

pursuant to the delegation set forth in Section 6(c)(9).  The first optional call date for the bonds 

must be no earlier than 5 years and no later than 10.5 years after the date of issue of such bonds.  

The maximum redemption price for the bonds may not exceed 102% of the principal amount of 

the bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.  Bonds of a different 

series may contain different optional redemption provisions.  Such delegation shall be effective 

only if the Board of Supervisors shall not then be in session (the Board of Supervisors not to be 

deemed in session if less than a quorum is present and voting).  The bonds which are subject to 

optional redemption may be redeemed, at the option of Fairfax County, Virginia, before their 

respective maturities on any date not earlier than the optional redemption date, determined as set 

forth above, in whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000), upon payment of the 

redemption price, determined as set forth above, plus accrued interest to the redemption date.  

The County Executive or the Chief Financial Officer, upon the recommendation of the Financial 

Advisor to the County, may determine that the public improvement refunding bonds shall not be 

subject to optional redemption prior to their maturity. 

Section 8(b). Mandatory redemption.  The term bonds, if any, shall be called for 

redemption, in part, in the principal amounts equal to the respective amortization requirements 

for the term bonds of such series (less the principal amount of any term bond of such series 

retired by purchase or optional redemption) at a price of par plus accrued interest thereon to the 

date fixed for redemption on a date specified pursuant to the delegation of authority contained in 

this resolution, preceding their maturity for which there is an amortization requirement. 

In the event of a partial optional redemption or purchase of any such term bonds, the 

County will credit the principal amount of such term bonds so purchased or redeemed against the 

amortization requirements for the remaining term bonds outstanding in such amount and in such 

years as it in its sole discretion shall determine. 

300



Attachment 1 

 20 

 

Section 8(c). Redemption provisions in general.  If less than all of the bonds of any 

one maturity shall be called for redemption, the particular bonds or portions of bonds of such 

maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by lot by the County in such manner as the County in 

its discretion may determine; provided, however, that the portion of any bond to be redeemed 

shall be in the principal amount of the minimum authorized denomination or some multiple 

thereof and that, in selecting bonds for redemption, the County shall treat each bond as 

representing that number of bonds which is obtained by dividing the principal amount of such 

bond by such minimum authorized denomination. 

In the case of redemptions of bonds at the option of the County, the County will select the 

maturities of the bonds to be redeemed. 

The Board of Supervisors hereby delegates to each of the County Executive and the Chief 

Financial Officer the authority to modify the redemption provisions relating to the bonds based 

upon the recommendation of the County’s Financial Advisor of current financial market 

considerations. 

Not more than sixty (60) nor less than thirty (30) days before the redemption date of any 

bonds to be redeemed, whether such redemption be in whole or in part, the County shall cause a 

notice of such redemption to be filed with the Bond Registrar and to be mailed, postage prepaid, 

to the registered owner of each bond to be redeemed in whole or in part at his address appearing 

upon the registration books of the County, but failure to mail such notice or any defect therein 

shall not affect the validity of the redemption.  Each such notice shall set forth the date 

designated for redemption, the redemption price to be paid, the maturities of the bonds to be 

redeemed and, if less than all of the bonds of any one maturity then outstanding shall be called 

for redemption, the distinctive numbers and letters, if any, of such bonds to be redeemed and, in 

the case of any bond to be redeemed in part only, the portion of the principal amount thereof to 

be redeemed.  If any bond is to be redeemed in part only, the notice of redemption shall state also 

that on or after the redemption date, upon surrender of such bond, a new bond or bonds in 

principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of such bond will be issued. 

Any notice of optional redemption of the Bonds may state that it is conditioned upon 

there being available an amount of money sufficient to pay the redemption price plus interest 

accrued and unpaid to the redemption date, and any conditional notice so given may be rescinded 

at any time before the payment of the redemption price of any such condition so specified is not 

satisfied.  If a redemption does not occur after a conditional notice is given due to an insufficient 

amount of funds on deposit by the County, the corresponding notice of redemption shall be 

deemed to be revoked. 

If the County gives an unconditional notice of redemption, then on the redemption date 

the Bonds called for redemption will become due and payable.  If the County gives a conditional 

notice of redemption, and the amount of money to pay the redemption price of the affected 

Bonds shall have been set aside with the escrow agent or a depositary (either, a “depositary”) for 

the purpose of paying such Bonds, then on the redemption date the Bonds will become due and 

payable.  In either case, if on the redemption date the County holds money to pay the Bonds 

called for redemption, thereafter no interest will accrue on those Bonds, and a bondholder’s only 

right will be to receive payment of the redemption price upon surrender of those Bonds. 

301



Attachment 1 

 21 

 

The County shall give notice as contemplated by Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

Release No. 34-23856, dated December 3, 1986, including the requirement that notice be given 

to all organizations registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as securities 

depositories, and to one or more information services of national recognition which disseminate 

redemption information with respect to municipal securities. 

On or before the date fixed for redemption, moneys shall be deposited with the Bond 

Registrar to pay the principal of and the redemption premium, if any, on the bonds or portions 

thereof called for redemption as well as the interest accruing thereon to the redemption date 

thereof. 

If a portion of a bond shall be called for redemption, the registered owner thereof or his 

attorney or legal representative shall present and surrender such bond to the Bond Registrar for 

payment of the principal amount thereof so called for redemption and the redemption premium, 

if any, on such principal amount, and the Bond Registrar shall authenticate and deliver to or upon 

the order of such registered owner or his legal representative, without charge therefor, for the 

unredeemed portion of the principal amount of the bond so surrendered, a bond or bonds of the 

same series and maturity, of any denomination or denominations authorized by this resolution 

and bearing interest at the same rate. 

Section 9. Exchange; registration of transfer; Bond Registrar.  Bonds, upon 

surrender thereof at the office of the Bond Registrar together with an assignment duly executed 

by the registered owner or his attorney or legal representative in such form as shall be 

satisfactory to the Bond Registrar, may, at the option of the registered owner thereof, be 

exchanged for an equal aggregate principal amount of bonds of the same series and maturity, of 

any denomination or denominations authorized by this resolution and bearing interest at the same 

rate. 

The transfer of any bond may be registered only upon the registration books of the 

County upon the surrender thereof to the Bond Registrar together with an assignment duly 

executed by the registered owner or his attorney or legal representative in such form as shall be 

satisfactory to the Bond Registrar.  Upon any such registration of transfer, the Bond Registrar 

shall authenticate and deliver in exchange for such bond a new bond or bonds, registered in the 

name of the transferee, of any denomination or denominations authorized by this resolution, in 

an aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed principal amount of such bond so 

surrendered, of the same series and maturity and bearing interest at the same rate. 

In all cases in which bonds shall be exchanged or the transfer of bonds shall be registered 

hereunder, the Bond Registrar shall authenticate and deliver at the earliest practicable time bonds 

in accordance with the provisions of this resolution.  All bonds surrendered in any such exchange 

or registration of transfer shall forthwith be cancelled by the Bond Registrar.  The County or the 

Bond Registrar may make a charge for any governmental charge required to be paid with respect 

to such exchange or registration of transfer, but no other charge shall be made for exchanging or 

registering the transfer of bonds under this resolution.  The Bond Registrar shall not be required 

to exchange or register the transfer of any bond called for redemption in whole or in part 

pursuant to Section 8 of this resolution. 

302



Attachment 1 

 22 

 

As to any bond, the person in whose name the same shall be registered shall be deemed 

and regarded as the absolute owner thereof for all purposes, and payment of or on account of the 

principal or redemption price of any such bond and the interest on any such bond shall be made 

only to or upon the order of the registered owner thereof or his legal representative.  All such 

payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such bond, 

including the redemption premium, if any, and the interest thereon, to the extent of the sum or 

sums so paid. 

The County shall appoint such registrars, transfer agents, depositaries or other agents as 

may be necessary for the registration, registration of transfer and exchange of bonds within a 

reasonable time according to then current commercial standards and for the timely payment of 

principal, interest and any redemption premium with respect to the bonds.  The Director of the 

Department of Finance of Fairfax County, Virginia, is hereby appointed the registrar, transfer 

agent and paying agent for the bonds (collectively the “Bond Registrar”), subject to the right of 

the Board of Supervisors of the County to appoint another Bond Registrar, and as such shall keep 

at his office the books of the County for the registration, registration of transfer, exchange and 

payment of the bonds as provided in this resolution. 

Section 10. Full faith and credit pledged.  For the prompt payment of the principal 

of and the interest on the bonds authorized by this resolution as the same shall become due, the 

full faith and credit of Fairfax County, Virginia, are hereby irrevocably pledged, and each year 

while any of the bonds shall be outstanding, to the extent other funds of the County are not 

lawfully available and appropriated for such purpose, there shall be levied and collected in 

accordance with law an annual ad valorem tax upon all taxable property in the County subject to 

local taxation sufficient in amount to provide for the payment of the principal of and the interest 

on the bonds as such principal and interest shall become due, which tax shall be without 

limitation and in addition to all other taxes authorized to be levied in the County. 

Section 11. Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  The Chairman or Vice Chairman of 

the Board of Supervisors, the County Executive and the Chief Financial Officer, or such officer 

or officers of the County as may be designated, is hereby authorized and directed to execute a 

Continuing Disclosure Agreement, in the form contained in the draft Preliminary Official 

Statement presented at this meeting, setting forth the reports and notices to be filed by the 

County and containing such covenants as may be necessary in order to show compliance with the 

provisions of Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

Section 12. Tax covenant.  The County covenants to take all action, and to refrain 

from taking any action, necessary under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, to 

ensure that interest on any tax-exempt bonds will remain not includable in gross income for 

Federal income tax purposes to the same extent as it is not includable on the date of closing on 

such bonds.   

Section 13. Certificate concerning delegation.  The County Executive or the Chief 

Financial Officer shall execute a Certificate or Certificates evidencing determinations or other 

actions taken pursuant to the authority granted in this resolution, and any such Certificate shall 

be conclusive evidence of the action or determination of such County Executive or the Chief 

303



Attachment 1 

 23 

 

Financial Officer as stated therein.  The delegations of authority in this resolution to the County 

Executive and the Chief Financial Officer are to each of them severally, and any action taken by 

either the County Executive or the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to such delegations of 

authority is sufficient for all purposes of this resolution.  

Section 14. Authority of officers.  The officers and agents of the County are hereby 

authorized and directed to do all the acts and things required of them by the bonds and by this 

resolution for the full, punctual and complete performance of all of the terms, covenants, 

provisions and agreements contained in the bonds and in this resolution. 

Section 15. Certification and filing.  The Clerk of the Board of Supervisors is hereby 

authorized and directed to file a certified copy of this resolution and a certified copy of the 

resolution of the School Board of the County with the Circuit Court of Fairfax County, Virginia. 

 

A Copy – Teste: 

__________________________________ 

Clerk to the Board of Supervisors 

 

 

304



Attachment 2 
DRAFT Critical Path Events 

  Fairfax County, Virginia 
General Obligation Public Improvement & Refunding Bonds, Series 2018 

 

 
 

*Ratings request will be combined for the GO & Wedgewood transactions.  Also request to Fitch to receive affirmation of rating 
for the TIFIA Loan to meet USDOT requirements. 

Legend: 
FX = Fairfax County 

PFM = Public Financial Management Inc., Financial Advisor 
NRF = Norton Rose Fulbright, Bond Counsel 

 
11/9/2017 

 
 

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 10 11 12 13
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
15 16 17 18 19 20 21 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 21 22 23 24 25 26 27
22 23 24 25 26 27 28 26 27 28 29 30 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 28 29 30 31
29 30 31 31

October 2017 November 2017 December 2017 January 2018
S M T W T F S S M T W T F S

1 2 3 1 2 3
4 5 6 7 8 9 10 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 11 12 13 14 15 16 17
18 19 20 21 22 23 24 18 19 20 21 22 23 24
25 26 27 28 25 26 27 28 29 30 31

February 2018 March 2018

Week of Activity & Event Responsible Party 

Oct 30th   

First draft of County & School Board Resolution, POS, & NOS, collectively         
“Bond Documents” distributed 
Wed, Nov 1st – County Board Meeting 
Wed, Nov 1st – Board Title due 
Send draft Bond Documents to School Board 

NRF 
 

FX 
FX, NRF 

FX 

Nov 6th 

Mon, Nov 6th – Board Item due 
Comments due on Bond Documents 
Wed, Nov 8th – Credit Assessment Meeting 
Thurs, Nov 9th – Ratings Prep meeting 

FX, NRF 
All 

FX, PFM 
FX, PFM 

Nov 13th  
Revised draft of Bond Documents distributed 
Draft Ratings Presentation distributed 

NRF 
FX, PFM 

Nov 20th 
Mon, Nov 20th - School Board considers Bond Documents 

Thurs, Nov 23rd – Thanksgiving Day (Markets Closed) 

Revised Ratings Presentation distributed 

-- 

-- 

PFM 

Nov 27th 

Tuesday, Nov 28th – County/School Board Joint Meeting 
Wednesday, Nov 29th – Ratings Prep & Rehearsal Meeting 
Revised draft POS distributed 
Draft Bond Documents sent to Rating Agencies 
Finalize Rating Agency Presentation 
FX, NRF, PFM Call to Review Draft POS 

-- 
FX, PFM 

NRF 
PFM 

FX, PFM 
FX, NRF, PFM 

Dec 4th Tues, Dec 5th – Board considers Bond Documents, FY17 CAFR Published FX 

Dec 11th  
Thurs, Dec 14th Moody’s Rating Meeting 
Finalize POS 

FX, PFM  
All 

Dec 18th  
Monday, Dec 18th S&P Rating Meeting 
Monday, Dec 18th Fitch Rating Meeting 

FX, PFM 
FX, PFM 

Dec 25th  
Mon, Dec 25th – Christmas Holiday (Markets Closed) 

NLT Wednesday, Dec 27th – Ratings Received 
Thursday, December 28th – POS & NOS posted 

-- 

-- 

-- 

305



Attachment 2 
DRAFT Critical Path Events 

  Fairfax County, Virginia 
General Obligation Public Improvement & Refunding Bonds, Series 2018 

 

 
 

*Ratings request will be combined for the GO & Wedgewood transactions.  Also request to Fitch to receive affirmation of rating 
for the TIFIA Loan to meet USDOT requirements. 

Legend: 
FX = Fairfax County 

PFM = Public Financial Management Inc., Financial Advisor 
NRF = Norton Rose Fulbright, Bond Counsel 

 
11/9/2017 

 
 

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S
1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 10 11 12 13
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
15 16 17 18 19 20 21 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 21 22 23 24 25 26 27
22 23 24 25 26 27 28 26 27 28 29 30 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 28 29 30 31
29 30 31 31

October 2017 November 2017 December 2017 January 2018
S M T W T F S S M T W T F S

1 2 3 1 2 3
4 5 6 7 8 9 10 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 11 12 13 14 15 16 17
18 19 20 21 22 23 24 18 19 20 21 22 23 24
25 26 27 28 25 26 27 28 29 30 31

February 2018 March 2018

Week of Activity & Event Responsible Party 

Jan 1st  
Mon, Jan 1st – New Year’s Day (Markets Closed) 

Market the Bonds 
-- 

PFM 

Jan 8th  Tues, Jan 9th – Competitive Sale FX, PFM 

Jan 15th  
Mon, Jan 15th – Martin Luther King Jr. Day (Markets Closed) 

NLT Wednesday, January 17th – FCRHA Wedgewood POS distributed  
Finalize & Mail OS and Closing Documents 

-- 

NRF 
NRF 

Jan 22nd  Wed, January 24th – Closing All 

Jan 29th  FCRHA Wedgewood Negotiated Bond Pricing  PFM, FX, UW 

Feb 12th  Wed, February 14th – FCRHA Wedgewood Closing All 

 

306



Attachment 3 

Schedule of Bond Purposes 
FY 2018 Bond Sale - Series 2018A (New Money) 

      

Fund Category 
Referendum 

Date 

BEGIN Authorized 
But Unissued 

Balance 

FY 2018 Bond 
Sale 

Projection 

END Authorized But 
Unissued Balance 

      

County      

      

300-C30030 Library Facilities 11/6/12 
                    

$16,015,000  
         

$5,000,000  
                   

$11,015,000  

      

300-C30010 NVRPA  11/8/16 
                       

9,000,000  
         

3,000,000  
                      

6,000,000  

      

300-C30050 Road Bond Construction 11/4/14 
                    

98,839,500        18,000,000  
                   

80,839,500  

      

300-C30000 Transportation Facilities (Metro) 11/8/16 
                    

96,000,000        27,780,000  
                   

68,220,000  

      

300-C30070 Public Safety Facilities 11/6/12 
                    

33,760,000  
         

8,000,000  
                   

25,760,000  

 Public Safety Facilities 11/3/15 
                 

151,000,000  
                              

-    
                

151,000,000  

      

300-C30400 Park Authority 11/6/12 
                    

33,710,000        20,000,000  
                   

13,710,000  

 Park Authority 11/8/16 
                    

94,700,000  
                              

-    
                   

94,700,000  

      

400-C40100 Flood Control 11/6/12 
                    

15,750,000        10,000,000  
                      

5,750,000  

      

300-C30010 Human Services Facilities 11/8/16 
                    

85,000,000  
         

5,000,000  
                   

80,000,000  

         

Subtotal County     $633,774,500 $96,780,000 $536,994,500 

      

Schools      

      

390  11/5/13 
                 

$119,410,500  
   

$119,410,500  
                                          

-    

390  11/3/15 
                 

310,000,000        35,589,500  
                

274,410,500  

      

Subtotal Schools     $429,410,500 $155,000,000 $274,410,500 

      

TOTAL COUNTY & SCHOOLS     $1,063,185,000 $251,780,000 $811,405,000 

 

307



Attachment 4 

 

28865053.1  

A RESOLUTION REQUESTING THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

OF FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA, TO ISSUE AND SELL SCHOOL BONDS OF 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA, TOTALING $155,000,000 AND APPROVING THE FORM 

OF A TAX CERTIFICATE AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION THEREOF 

WHEREAS, at an election dully called and held on November 5, 2013, a majority of the 

qualified voters of Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”), voting on the question, approved 

contracting a debt, borrowing money and issuing school bonds of the County, in the aggregate 

principal amount of $250,000,000 (the “2013 Referendum”); and 

WHEREAS, the stated purpose of the school bonds authorized in the 2013 Referendum 

was to provide funds, in addition to funds from school bonds previously authorized and any other 

available funds, to finance, including reimbursement to the County for temporary financing for, 

the costs of school improvements, including acquiring, building, expanding and renovating 

properties, including new sites, new buildings or additions, renovations and improvements to 

existing buildings, and furnishings and equipment, for the Fairfax County public school system; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors has heretofore issued $130,589,500 of the bonds 

authorized by the 2013 Referendum, leaving a balance of $119,410,500 authorized but unissued 

bonds; and 

WHEREAS, at an election dully called and held on November 3, 2015, a majority of the 

qualified voters of the County, voting on the question, approved contracting a debt, borrowing 

money and issuing school bonds of the County, in the aggregate principal amount of 

$310,000,000 (the “2015 Referendum”); and 

WHEREAS, the stated purpose of the school bonds authorized in the 2015 Referendum 

was to provide funds, in addition to funds from school bonds previously authorized, to finance, 

including reimbursement to the County for temporary financing for, the costs of school 

improvements, including acquiring, building, expanding and renovating properties, including 

new sites, new buildings or additions, renovations and improvements to existing buildings, and 

furnishings and equipment, for the Fairfax County public school system; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors has heretofore issued has heretofore issued none of 

the bonds authorized by the 2015 Referendum, leaving a balance of $310,000,000 authorized but 

unissued bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the School Board of Fairfax County, Virginia (the “School Board”) deems it 

advisable for the Board of Supervisors to (i) issue school bonds authorized in the 2013 

Referendum in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $119,410,500, and issue school 

bonds authorized in the 2015 Referendum in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed 

$35,589,500 (collectively the “School Bonds”), (ii) determine certain pricing and sale details of 

the School Bonds and (iii) determine whether to refund any prior public improvement bonds of 

Fairfax County, Virginia that were issued for school improvements (the “Board of Supervisors 

Actions”); and 

308



Attachment 4 

2 

 

WHEREAS, the School Board recognizes that it will be necessary for it to make certain 

certifications regarding the use of the proceeds of the School Bonds and any refunding bonds for 

federal income tax purposes; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the School Board of Fairfax County, 

Virginia: 

Section 1. For the purpose of providing funds, in addition to funds from school bonds 

previously authorized and any other available funds, to finance, including reimbursement to the 

County for temporary financing for, the costs of school improvements, including acquiring, 

building, expanding and renovating properties, including new sites, new buildings or additions, 

renovations and improvements to existing buildings, and furnishings and equipment, for the 

Fairfax County public school system, the Board of Supervisors is hereby requested to issue the 

School Bonds, subject to the Board of Supervisors Actions, in an aggregate principal amount not 

to exceed $155,000,000 and provide for the sale of such bonds and any refunding bonds at this 

time. 

Section 2. The form of a certificate attached to this resolution as Appendix A (the 

“School Board Tax Certificate”) to be executed by the School Board in connection with the 

issuance of the School Bonds and any refunding bonds is approved in all respects and the 

Chairman, Vice Chairman or any other member or officer of the School Board designated in 

writing by the Chairman of the School Board is hereby authorized and directed to approve, by 

execution and delivery, the School Board Tax Certificate in substantially the form presented to 

this meeting together with such changes, modifications, insertions and deletions as the Chairman, 

Vice Chairman or such designated member or officer, with the advice of counsel, may deem 

necessary and appropriate; such execution and delivery shall be conclusive evidence of the 

approval and authorization thereof by the School Board. 

Section 3. The Clerk of the School Board is hereby authorized and directed to file 

two certified copies of this resolution with the Board of Supervisors.   

309



Attachment 4 

28865053.1  
A-1 

 

Appendix A 

CERTIFICATE OF THE SCHOOL BOARD 

This certificate is provided to the County of Fairfax, Virginia (the “County”) by the School 

Board of the County of Fairfax, Virginia (the “School Board”) in connection with the issuance by 

the County of its [$___,___,000 Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2018 [_] [_] and $________ 

Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2018 [__] [__] (collectively, the “Bonds”)], the 

proceeds of which will be used to finance the cost of constructing, furnishing, acquiring and equipping 

school improvements (the “[New] School Projects”) [and to refinance school projects that were 

financed with the proceeds of the County’s __________ Bonds and ______ Bonds (the “Refunded 

School Projects” and together with the New School Projects, the “School Projects”)], 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

The School Board recognizes that some of the representations made by the County in its Tax 

Certificate dated _____ __, 2018, and executed in connection with the issuance of the Bonds (the 

“Tax Certificate”) must be based on the representations and certifications of the School Board and 

that the exclusion from gross income of the interest on the Bonds for federal income tax purposes 

depends on the use of proceeds of the Bonds. 

Accordingly, the School Board certifies that it has reviewed the representations set forth in 

[Section 1 of Part B of the Tax Certificate] to which this certificate is attached regarding the use of 

proceeds of the Bonds and the School Projects and that such representations, to the extent they 

relate to the School Projects, are true and correct, except as follows: [(i) with respect to 

paragraph (d) (“Definition of Private Use”), in the second paragraph, fourth line, after (“General 

Public Use”), there shall be deemed to be inserted “or other than as is excepted as private use by 

U.S. Treasury Regulations,” and (ii) with respect to paragraph (e) (“Management and Service 

Contracts”), the references to Revenue Procedure 97-13 shall be deemed to include “or other 

applicable law.”  Furthermore, such representations are hereby incorporated by reference in this 

certificate and shall be treated as representations made by the School Board with respect to the 

School Projects as if set forth herein.  The School Board shall not take any action that is inconsistent 

with such representations.] 

The School Board further covenants that: 

(a) it shall not sell or otherwise dispose of the School Projects prior to the final maturity 

date of the Bonds of [____ 1, 20__], except as shall be permitted in the opinion of an attorney or 

firm of attorneys, acceptable to the County, nationally recognized as experienced with respect to 

matters pertaining to the exclusion of interest on obligations of states and political subdivisions 

from gross income for federal income tax purposes; and 

(b) it shall not knowingly take any action which will, or fail to take any action which 

failure will, cause the interest on the Bonds to become includable in the gross income of the owners 

of the Bonds for federal income tax purposes pursuant to the provisions of the Internal Revenue 

310



Attachment 4 

28865053.1  
A-2 

ACTIVE 210415212v.3 

Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the regulations promulgated thereunder in effect on 

the date of original issuance of the Bonds and for purposes of assuring compliance with Section 141 

of the Code. 

School Board of the County of Fairfax, Virginia 

__________________________________________ 

Name: 

Title: 

Date:  ______, 2018 

311



Attachment 4 

  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

I hereby certify the above is a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the School 

Board of Fairfax County, Virginia, at a regular meeting held on _________ _, 2017, at 

_________, _____, Virginia. 

 

 

 

___________________ _________________________ 

Date        Ilene D. Muhlberg, Clerk 

 School Board of 

 Fairfax County, Virginia 

 

 

 

 

 

312



Attachment 5 

1 

 

NOTICE OF SALE 

$__________* 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

$__________* Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2018A and 

$__________* Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2018B 

Electronic Bids, BiDCOMP/Parity Competitive Bidding System (“BiDCOMP/Parity”) 

only, will be received by the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia, until 10:45 a.m., 

Fairfax, Virginia Time, on  

January __, 2018* 

for the purchase of all, but not less than all, of the $__________* Public Improvement 

Bonds, Series 2018A (the “Series 2018A Bonds”) and $__________* Public Improvement 

Refunding Bonds (the “Series 2018B Bonds,” and together with the 2018A Bonds, the “Bonds”) 

of Fairfax County, Virginia (the “Bonds”), dated the date of their delivery and maturing, subject 

to the right of prior redemption as hereinafter set forth, on the 1st day of October in the following 

years and in the following amounts, respectively: 

Initial Maturity Schedule for the Series 2018A Bonds* 

Year of 

Maturity 

Principal 

Amount* 

Year of 

Maturity 

Principal 

Amount* 

20__ $ 20__ $ 

20__  20__  

20__  20__  

20__  20__  

20__  20__  

20__  20__  

20__  20__  

20__  20__  

20__  20__  

                                                 

* Preliminary, subject to change. 

313



Attachment 5 

 

 2 

20__  20__  

Initial Maturity Schedule for the Series 2018B Bonds * 

Year of 

Maturity 

Principal 

Amount* 

Year of 

Maturity 

Principal 

Amount* 

20__ $ 20__ $ 

20__  20__  

20__  20__  

20__  20__  

The County reserves the right to change the date for receipt of bids (the “Scheduled Bid 

Date”) in accordance with the section of this Notice of Sale entitled “Change of Bid Date and 

Closing Date; Other Changes to Notice of Sale.” 

BID PARAMETERS TABLE FOR THE SERIES 2018A BONDS* 

INTEREST PROCEDURAL 

Dated Date: Date of Delivery Sale Date and Time: 

 Bids due January __, 

2018, at ___ AM Local 

Time 

Anticipated Delivery Date: January __, 2018 Bid Submission: 
Electronic bids through 

BiDCOMP/PARITY Only 

Interest Payments Dates: April 1 and October 1 All or None? Yes 

First Interest Payment 

Date: 
October 1, 2018 Bid Award Method: Lowest TIC 

Coupon Multiples: 1/8 or 1/20 of 1% Good Faith Deposit: 

1% of the Bid Maturity 

Schedules, as more fully 

described on page 7, under 

“Good Faith Deposit” 

Zero Coupons: Not Permitted  

Split Coupons: Not Permitted  

                                                 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

314



Attachment 5 

3 

 

BID PARAMETERS TABLE FOR SERIES 2018A BONDS* 

PRINCIPAL PRICING 

Optional Redemption: 

Due on and after October 

1, 20__, callable on  

October 1, 20__ and 

thereafter at par 

Max. Aggregate Bid Price: No Limit 

Post-bid Principal 

Increases in Aggregate: 
10% Min. Aggregate Bid Price: No Limit 

Post-bid Principal 

Reductions in Aggregate: 
10% Max. Price per Maturity: No Limit 

Term Bonds: 

Any two or more 

consecutive maturities 

may be designated as term 

bonds 

Min. Price per Maturity: No Limit 

 
High Coupon per 

Maturity: 
5.0% 

 Low Coupon per Maturity: 
20__-20__: No Limit 

20__-20__: 5.0% 

 
BID PARAMETERS TABLE FOR SERIES 2018B BONDS* 

PRINCIPAL PRICING 

Optional Redemption: 

Due on and after October 

1, 20__, callable on  April 

1, 20__, and thereafter at 

par 

Max. Aggregate Bid Price: No Limit 

Post-bid Principal 

Increases in Aggregate: 
10% Min. Aggregate Bid Price: 104.0% 

Post-bid Principal 

Reductions in Aggregate: 
10% Max. Price per Maturity: No Limit 

Term Bonds: Not Permitted Min. Price per Maturity: No Limit 

 
High Coupon per 

Maturity: 

20__-20__: 3.0% 

20__-20__: 4.0% 

 Low Coupon per Maturity: No Limit 

* Subject to the detailed provisions of this Notice of Sale. 

Changes to Initial Maturity Schedule for the Series 2018A Bonds and Initial 

Maturity Schedule for the Series 2018B Bonds 

The Initial Maturity Schedule for the Series 2018A Bonds and the Initial Maturity 

Schedule for the Series 2018B Bonds (collectively, the “Initial Maturity Schedules”) set forth on 

pages 1 and 2 above represent an estimate of the principal amount of Bonds to be sold.  The 

County hereby reserves the right to change the Initial Maturity Schedules, based on market 

conditions prior to the sale, by announcing any such change not later than 30 minutes prior to the 

announced time and date for receipt of bids via TM3 (www.tm3.com).  The resulting schedule of 

maturities will become the “Bid Maturity Schedule for the Series 2018A Bonds” and the “Bid 

Maturity Schedule for the Series 2018B Bonds” (collectively, the “Bid Maturity Schedules”).  If 

315



Attachment 5 

 

 4 

no such change is announced, the Initial Maturity Schedules will become the Bid Maturity 

Schedules.   

Changes to Bid Maturity Schedule 

The County hereby further reserves the right to change the Bid Maturity Schedules after 

the determination of the winning bidder, by increasing or decreasing the aggregate principal 

amount of one or more Series of the Bonds, subject to the limitation of no more than a 10% 

increase or decrease in the aggregate principal amount of any such Series.   

THE SUCCESSFUL BIDDER MAY NOT WITHDRAW ITS BID OR CHANGE THE 

INTEREST RATES BID OR THE INITIAL REOFFERING TERMS (AS HEREAFTER 

DEFINED) AS A RESULT OF ANY CHANGES MADE TO THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS 

WITHIN THESE LIMITS.  The dollar amount bid by the successful bidder will be adjusted to 

reflect any adjustments in the final aggregate principal amount of each Series of the Bonds.  

Such adjusted bid price will reflect changes in the dollar amount of the underwriters’ discount 

and original issue discount/premium, if any, but will not change the selling compensation per 

$1,000 of par amount of each Series of Bonds (or in the event that the County rejects bids on 

either the Series 2018A Bonds or the Series 2018B Bonds, but not both, the remaining Series of 

Bonds) from the selling compensation that would have been received based on the purchase price 

in the winning bid and the Initial Reoffering Terms.  The interest rates specified by the 

successful bidder for the various maturities at the Initial Reoffering Terms will not change.  The 

County anticipates that the final annual principal amounts and the final aggregate principal 

amount of the Bonds will be communicated to the successful bidder within twenty-four hours of 

the County’s receipt of the initial public offering prices and yields of the Bonds (the “Initial 

Reoffering Terms”). 

Book-Entry System 

The Bonds will be issued by means of a book-entry system with no physical distribution 

of bond certificates made to the public.  One bond certificate for each maturity of a Series will be 

issued to The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), and immobilized in 

its custody.  The book-entry system will evidence beneficial ownership interests of the Bonds in 

the principal amount of $5,000 and any multiple thereof, with transfers of beneficial ownership 

interests effected on the records of DTC participants and, if necessary, in turn by DTC pursuant 

to rules and procedures established by DTC and its participants.  The successful bidder, as a 

condition to delivery of the Bonds, shall be required to deposit the bond certificates with DTC, 

registered in the name of Cede & Co., nominee of DTC.  Interest on the Bonds will be payable 

on each April 1 and October 1, the first interest payment date being October 1, 2018, and 

principal of and any redemption premium on the Bonds will be payable at maturity or upon prior 

redemption, to DTC or its nominee as registered owner of the Bonds.  Transfer of principal, 

interest and any redemption payments to participants of DTC will be the responsibility of DTC, 

and transfer of principal, interest and any redemption payments to beneficial owners of the 

Bonds by participants of DTC will be the responsibility of such participants and other nominees 

of beneficial owners.  The County will not be responsible or liable for such transfers of payments 

or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing the records maintained by DTC, its participants or 

persons acting through such participants. 

316



Attachment 5 

 

 5 

If (a) DTC determines not to continue to act as securities depository for the Bonds or (b) 

the County determines that continuation of the book-entry system of evidence and transfer of 

ownership of the Bonds would adversely affect the interests of the beneficial owners of the 

Bonds, the County will discontinue the book-entry system with DTC.  If the County fails to 

select another qualified securities depository to replace DTC, the County will deliver 

replacement Bonds in the form of fully registered certificates. 

The Bonds 

The Bonds will be general obligations of Fairfax County, Virginia, and all taxable 

property therein will be subject to the levy of an annual ad valorem tax sufficient in amount to 

provide for the payment of the principal of and the interest on the bonds as the same become due, 

which tax will be without limitation as to rate or amount and will be in addition to all other taxes 

authorized to be levied in the County to the extent other funds of the County are not lawfully 

available and appropriated for such purposes. 

The Series 2018A Bonds are being issued as a series of bonds authorized for the purpose 

of providing funds, with other available funds, for providing funds for School Improvements 

($155,000,000), Transportation Improvements and Facilities ($45,780,000), Parks and Park 

Facilities ($23,000,000), Public Safety Facilities ($8,000,000), Storm Drainage Improvements 

($10,000,000), Public Library Facilities ($5,000,000 and Human Services Facilities and 

Community Development Facilities ($5,000).  

The Series 2018B Bonds are being issued refund certain maturities or portions thereof of 

the County’s outstanding general obligation bonds, in order to achieve present value debt service 

savings.  If the County’s savings threshold is not met, the County reserves the right to adjust the 

principal amounts and maturities of the Series 2018B Bonds, as specified in this Notice of Sale, 

and to reject all bids relating to the Series 2018B Bonds.  

Term Bonds and Mandatory Redemption 

The successful bidder of the Series 2018A Bonds may designate two or more of the 

consecutive serial maturities to be a term bond maturity equal in aggregate principal amount, and 

with sinking fund requirements corresponding, to such designated serial maturities. 

[No term bonds are permitted on the Series 2018B Bonds.] 

Optional Redemption 

The Series 2018A Bonds maturing on or before October 1, 20__, are not subject to 

optional redemption before their maturity.  The Series 2018A Bonds maturing after October 1, 

20__, are subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the County, from any money 

available for such purpose on any date not earlier than _________ 1, 20__, in whole or in part (in 

integral multiples of $5,000) at any time, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount 

thereof, together with the interest accrued to the redemption date on the principal amount to be 

redeemed. 

317



Attachment 5 

 

 6 

The Series 2018B Bonds maturing before October 1, 20__, are not subject to optional 

redemption before their maturity.  The Series 2018B Bonds maturing on or after October 1, 

20__, are subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the County, from any money 

available for such purpose on any date not earlier than ________ 1, 20__, in whole or in part (in 

integral multiples of $5,000) at any time, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount 

thereof, together with the interest accrued to the redemption date on the principal amount to be 

redeemed. 

Electronic Bidding and Bidding Procedures 

Registration to Bid 

All prospective bidders must be contracted customers of i-Deal LLC’s BiDCOMP/Parity 

Competitive Bidding System.  If you do not have a contract with BiDCOMP/Parity, call (212) 

404-8102 to inquire about becoming a customer.  By submitting a bid for the Bonds, a 

prospective bidder represents and warrants to the County that such bidder’s bid for the purchase 

of the Bonds (if a bid is submitted in connection with the sale) is submitted for and on behalf of 

such prospective bidder by an officer or agent who is duly authorized to bind the prospective 

bidder to a legal, valid and enforceable contract for the purchase of the Bonds.  By contracting 

with BiDCOMP/Parity a prospective bidder is not obligated to submit a bid in connection with 

the sale. 

IF ANY PROVISIONS OF THIS NOTICE OF SALE SHALL CONFLICT WITH 

INFORMATION PROVIDED BY BiDCOMP/Parity AS APPROVED PROVIDER OF 

ELECTRONIC BIDDING SERVICES, THIS NOTICE OF SALE, AS IT MAY BE 

AMENDED BY THE COUNTY AS DESCRIBED WITHIN, SHALL CONTROL.  Further 

information about BiDCOMP/Parity, including any fee charged, may be obtained from 

BiDCOMP/Parity at (212) 404-8102. 

Disclaimer 

Each prospective bidder shall be solely responsible to register to bid via 

BiDCOMP/Parity.  Each qualified prospective bidder shall be solely responsible to make 

necessary arrangements to access BiDCOMP/Parity for purposes of submitting its bid in a timely 

manner and in compliance with the requirements of this Notice of Sale.  Neither the County nor 

BiDCOMP/Parity shall have any duty or obligation to undertake such registration to bid for any 

prospective bidder or to provide or assure such access to any qualified prospective bidder, and 

neither the County nor BiDCOMP/Parity shall be responsible for a bidder’s failure to register to 

bid or for proper operation of, or have any liability for any delays or interruptions of, or any 

damages caused by, BiDCOMP/Parity.  The County is using BiDCOMP/Parity as a 

communication mechanism, and not as the County’s agent, to conduct the electronic bidding for 

the Bonds.  The County is not bound by any advice and determination of BiDCOMP/Parity to 

the effect that any particular bid complies with the terms of this Notice of Sale and in particular 

the “Bid Specifications” hereinafter set forth.  All costs and expenses incurred by prospective 

bidders in connection with their registration and submission of bids via BiDCOMP/Parity are the 

sole responsibility of the bidders, and the County is not responsible, directly or indirectly, for any 

of such costs or expenses.  If a prospective bidder encounters any difficulty in registering to bid 

318



Attachment 5 

 

 7 

or submitting, modifying or withdrawing a bid for the Bonds, it should telephone 

BiDCOMP/Parity and notify Public Financial Management, Inc., the County’s financial advisor, 

by telephone at (703) 741-0175.  After receipt of bids is closed, the County through 

BiDCOMP/Parity will indicate the apparent successful bidder.  Such message is a courtesy only 

for viewers and does not constitute the award of the Bonds.  Each bid will remain subject to 

review by the County to determine its true interest cost rate and compliance with the terms of 

this Notice of Sale. 

Bidding Procedures 

[Bids must be submitted electronically for the purchase of all, but not less than all,  of the 

Bonds (both the Series 2018A Bonds and the Series 2018B Bonds) by means of the Fairfax 

County, Virginia AON (all or none) Bid Form (the “Bid Form”) via BiDCOMP/Parity.  Bids 

must be communicated electronically to BiDCOMP/Parity by ______ a.m., Fairfax, Virginia 

Time on the Scheduled Bid Date unless postponed as described herein (see “Change of Bid Date 

and Closing Date”).  Prior to that time, a prospective bidder may input and save the proposed 

terms of its bid in BiDCOMP/Parity.  Once the final bid has been saved in BiDCOMP/Parity, the 

bidder may select the final bid button in BiDCOMP/Parity to submit the bid to 

BiDCOMP/Parity.  Once the bids are released electronically via BiDCOMP/Parity to the County, 

each bid will constitute an IRREVOCABLE offer to purchase the Bonds on the terms therein 

provided.  For purposes of the electronic bidding process, the time as maintained on 

BiDCOMP/Parity shall constitute the official Fairfax, Virginia Time.  For information purposes 

only, bidders are requested to state in their bids the true interest cost to the County, as described 

under “Award of Bonds” below, represented by the rate or rates of interest and the bid price 

specified in their respective bids.] 

REVOCABLE BIDS ARE NOT PERMITTED. 

By submitting a bid for the Bonds, each underwriter certifies it has an established 

industry reputation for underwriting new issuances of municipal bonds.  The County will 

not accept bids from firms without an establish industry reputation for underwriting new 

issuances of municipal bonds.  

No bids will be accepted in written form, by facsimile transmission or in any other 

medium or on any system other than by means of the Bid Form via BiDCOMP/Parity.  No bid 

will be received after the time for receiving such bids specified above.   

The County reserves the right to accept the bid on only the Series 2018A Bonds or the 

Series 2018B Bonds as described under “Right of Rejection” below.  In the event of such 

occurrence the awarded bid for the accepted Series shall be determined as set forth in “Award of 

Bonds” below. 

Good Faith Deposit  

After receipt of bids is closed and prior to the award, the apparent successful bidder 

indicated on BidCOMP/Parity must submit a good faith deposit (the “Deposit”) for 1% of the 

Bid Maturity Schedules to the County by wire transfer.  The award to the apparent successful 

319



Attachment 5 

 

 8 

bidder is contingent upon receipt of the Deposit, and the Bonds will not be awarded to such 

bidder until the County has confirmation of receipt of the Deposit.   

Bank Name:  Bank of America VA/Rich 

ABA:  026 009 593 

Account Name:  County of Fairfax, Deposit Account 

Account Number:  0000 7902 5799 

Attention:  Tammy Kennedy-Nichols, 410-547-4320 

Reference your company, company contact, phone number or other helpful identification. 

Award or rejection of bids will be made by or on behalf of the Board of Supervisors of 

Fairfax County, Virginia, on the date above stated for the receipt of bids.  The proceeds of the 

Deposit will be held as security for the performance of the successful bidder’s bid and applied to 

the purchase price of the Bonds, but, in the event the successful bidder shall fail to comply with 

the terms of its bid, the Deposit will be retained as and for full liquidated damages.  No interest 

will be allowed thereon. 

Award of Bonds 

Award or rejection of bids will be made by the County prior to _____ p.m., Fairfax, 

Virginia Time on the date of receipt of bids.  ALL BIDS SHALL REMAIN FIRM UNTIL ____ 

P.M., FAIRFAX, VIRGINIA TIME, ON THE DATE OF RECEIPT OF BIDS.  An award of the 

Bonds, if made, will be made by the County within such six-hour period of time (____ a.m. – 

___ p.m.). 

The Bonds will be awarded to the bidder offering to purchase the Bonds at the lowest 

“True or Canadian” interest cost (“TIC”), such cost to be determined by doubling the semiannual 

interest rate (compounded semiannually) necessary to discount the aggregate price bid of the 

Bonds, the payments of the principal of and the interest on the Bonds from their payment dates to 

the dated date of the Bonds.  If two or more bidders offer to purchase the Bonds at the same 

lowest TIC, the Bonds may be apportioned between such bidders if it is agreeable to each of the 

bidders who have offered the bids producing the same lowest TIC, provided, that if 

apportionment is not acceptable to such bidders the County will have the right to award the 

Bonds to one of such bidders.  There will be no auction. 

In the event that the County rejects bids on either the Series 2018A Bonds or the Series 

2018B Bonds (but not both), the remaining series of bonds will be awarded to the bidder offering 

to purchase such remaining series of bonds at the lowest TIC.  

Right of Rejection 

The County expressly reserves the right (i) to waive any informalities, (ii) to reject all 

bids, any incomplete bid or any bid not fully complying with all of the requirements set forth 

herein, and (iii) to solicit new bids or proposals for the sale of the Bonds or otherwise provide for 

the public sale of the Bonds if all bids are rejected or the winning bidder defaults, including, 

without limitation, sale of the Bonds to one or more of the losing or rejected bidders without 

regard to their original bid or its relationship to any other bid. 

320



Attachment 5 

 

 9 

The County reserves the right to reject bids on the Series 2018A Bonds and the Series 

2018B Bonds separately, and the County may reject bids on one series but not the other.  

Change of Bid Date and Closing Date; Other Changes to Notice of Sale  

The County reserves the right to postpone, from time to time, the date and time 

established for the receipt of bids and will undertake to announce any such change via TM3 

(www.tm3.com).  

Any postponement of the bid date will be announced via TM3 not later than one hour 

prior to the announced time for receipt of the bids.  An alternative bid date and time will be 

announced via TM3 at least 18 hours prior to such alternative bid date. 

On such alternative bid date and time, the County will accept bids for the purchase of the 

Bonds, such bids to conform in all respects to the provisions of this Notice of Sale, except for the 

changes in the date and time for bidding and any other changes announced via TM3 at the time 

the bid date and time are announced. 

The County may change the scheduled delivery date for the Bonds by notice given in the 

same manner as set forth for a change in the date for the receipt of bids. 

The County reserves the right to otherwise change this Notice of Sale.  The County 

anticipates that it would communicate any such changes via TM3 by 4:00 p.m., Fairfax, Virginia 

Time on the date prior to the scheduled date for receipt of bids but no later than 30 minutes prior 

to the scheduled time and date for receipt of bids. 

Conflict Waiver 

Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP is serving as Bond Counsel in connection with the 

issuance and sale of the Bonds.  By placing a bid, each bidder represents that it understands that 

Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, in its capacity as Bond Counsel, represents the County, and the 

successful bidder waives any conflict of interest that Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP’s 

involvement in connection with the issuance and sale of the Bonds to such successful bidder 

presents. 

Establishment of Issue Price 

The successful bidder shall assist the County in establishing the issue price of the Bonds 

and shall execute and deliver to the County prior to Closing a certificate acceptable to Bond 

Counsel setting forth the reasonably expected Initial Public Offering Price, or the sales price or 

prices of the Bonds, together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent communications, 

substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, with such modifications as may be 

appropriate or necessary in the reasonable judgment of the successful bidder, the County or Bond 

Counsel.  

The County intends that the provisions of Treasury Regulation Section 1.148-1(f)(3)(i) 

(defining “competitive sale” for purposes of establishing the issue price of the Bonds) will apply 

to the initial sale of the Bonds (the “competitive sale requirements”) because: 

321

http://www.tm3.com/


Attachment 5 

 

 10 

(1) the County shall disseminate this Notice of Sale to potential underwriters 

in a manner that is reasonably designed to reach potential underwriters; 

(2) all bidders shall have an equal opportunity to bid;  

(3) the County may receive bids from at least three underwriters of municipal 

bonds who have established industry reputations for underwriting new 

issuances of municipal bonds; and 

(4) the County anticipates awarding the sale of the Bonds to the bidder who 

submits a firm offer to purchase the Bonds at the highest price (or lowest 

interest cost), as set forth in this Notice of Sale. 

In the event the County receives less than three bids that conform to the parameters 

contained herein such that the competitive sale requirements are not satisfied, the County intends 

to treat the Initial Public Offering Price of each maturity of the Bonds as the issue price of that 

maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”).  Consequently, bidders should assume for purposes 

of making its bid that for each maturity of the Bonds, the County will treat the Initial Public 

Offering Prices as of the Sale Date of the Bonds as the issue price of the Bonds.  The County will 

advise the apparent winning bidder within one hour of receipt of bids if the hold the offering 

price rule will apply.  In the event that the competitive sale requirements are not satisfied, the 

issue price certificate shall be modified as necessary in the reasonable judgment of Bond Counsel 

and the County. 

By submitting a bid, the successful bidder shall, on behalf of the underwriters 

participating in the purchase of the Bonds, (i) confirm that the underwriters have offered or will 

offer each maturity of the Bonds to the public on or before the date that the Bonds are awarded 

by the County to the successful bidder (“Sale Date”) at the Initial Public Offering Price set forth 

in the bid submitted by the winning bidder, and (ii) agree, on behalf of the underwriters 

participating in the purchase of the Bonds, that the underwriters will neither offer nor sell any 

maturity of the Bonds to any person at a price that is higher than the Initial Public Offering Price 

for such maturity during the period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of the 

following:  

(1) the close of the fifth business day after the Sale Date; and 

(2) the date on which the underwriters have sold at least 10% of that maturity 

of the Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the Initial Public 

Offering Price for such maturity. 

The winning bidder shall promptly advise the County when the underwriters have sold 

10% of that maturity of the Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the Initial Public 

Offering Price if that occurs prior to the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the Sale Date. 

The County acknowledges that, in making the representation set forth above, the 

successful bidder will rely on (i) the agreement of each underwriter to comply with the hold-the-

offering-price rule, as set forth in an agreement among underwriters and the related pricing 

wires, (ii) in the event a selling group has been created in connection with the initial sale of the 

322



Attachment 5 

 

 11 

Bonds to the public, the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling group to 

comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, as set forth in a selling group agreement and the 

related pricing wires, and (iii) in the event that an underwriter is a party to a retail distribution 

agreement that was employed in connection with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the 

agreement of each broker-dealer that is a party to such agreement to comply with the hold-the-

offering-price rule, as set forth in the retail distribution agreement and the related pricing wires.  

The County further acknowledges that each underwriter shall be solely liable for its failure to 

comply with its agreement regarding the hold-the-offering-price rule and that no underwriter 

shall be liable for the failure of any other underwriter, or of any dealer who is a member of a 

selling group, or of any broker-dealer that is a party to a retail distribution agreement to comply 

with its corresponding agreement regarding the hold-the-offering-price rule as applicable to the 

Bonds.   

By submitting a bid, each bidder confirms that:   

(i) any agreement among underwriters, any selling group agreement and each retail 

distribution agreement (to which the bidder is a party) relating to the sale of the Bonds to the 

public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each 

underwriter, each dealer who is a member of the selling group, and each broker-dealer that is a 

party to such retail distribution agreement, as applicable, to  

(A) report the prices at which it sells to the public the Bonds of each maturity 

allotted to it until it is notified by the successful bidder that either the 10% test has been 

satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity or all Bonds of that maturity have been sold to 

the public and  

(B) comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if and for so long as directed 

by the successful bidder and in the related pricing wires, and  

(ii) any agreement among underwriters relating to the sale of the Bonds to the public, 

together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each 

underwriter that is a party to a retail distribution agreement to be employed in connection with 

the initial sale of the Bonds to the public to require each broker-dealer that is a party to such 

retail distribution agreement to  

(A) report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Bonds of each 

maturity allotted to it until it is notified by the successful bidder or such underwriter that 

either the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity or all Bonds of that 

maturity have been sold to the public and  

(B) comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if and for so long as directed 

by the successful bidder or such underwriter and as set forth in the related pricing wires. 

Sales of any Bonds to any person that is a related party to an underwriter shall not 

constitute sales to the public for purposes of this Notice of Sale.  Further, for purposes of this 

Notice of Sale: 

323



Attachment 5 

 

 12 

(i) “public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, 

association, company, or corporation) other than an underwriter or a related party,  

(ii) “underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract 

with the County (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) 

to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public and (B) any person that 

agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described 

in clause (A) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public (including 

a member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement 

participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public), and 

(iii) a purchaser of any of the Bonds is a “related party” to an underwriter if the 

underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (i) at least 50% 

common ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if both 

entities are corporations (including direct ownership by one corporation of 

another), (ii) more than 50% common ownership of their capital interests or 

profits interests, if both entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by 

one partnership of another), or (iii) more than 50% common ownership of the 

value of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the capital interests or profit 

interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a corporation and the 

other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable stock or 

interests by one entity of the other). 

Undertakings of the Successful Bidder 

The successful bidder shall make a bona fide public offering of all of the Bonds to the 

general public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar persons acting in the capacity of 

underwriters or wholesalers who are not purchasing for their own account as ultimate purchasers 

without a view to resell) and will, within 30 minutes after being notified of the award of the 

Bonds, advise the County in writing [(via facsimile transmission)] of the Initial Reoffering 

Terms.  Prior to the delivery of the Bonds, the successful bidder will furnish a certificate 

acceptable to Bond Counsel as to the “issue price” of the Bonds within the meaning of Section 

1273 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  A draft of such issue price certificate is 

attached as Exhibit A to this Notice of Sale, which draft anticipates meeting the competitive sales 

requirement.  It will be the responsibility of the successful bidder to institute such syndicate 

reporting requirements, to make such investigation, or otherwise to ascertain the facts necessary 

to enable it to make such certification with reasonable certainty. 

Delivery 

The Bonds will be delivered on or about January __, 2018, in New York, New York, at 

DTC against payment of the purchase price therefor (less the amount of the Deposit) in Federal 

Reserve funds.   

The approving opinion of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, Washington, D.C., in 

substantially the form appearing in the Preliminary Official Statement, will be furnished without 

324



Attachment 5 

 

 13 

cost to the successful bidder.  There will also be furnished the usual closing papers, including 

certifications as to the Official Statement and no-litigation. 

CUSIP Numbers 

CUSIP numbers are to be applied for by the successful bidder with respect to the Bonds.  

The County will assume no obligation for the assignment of such numbers or for the correctness 

of such numbers, and no error with respect thereto shall constitute cause for failure or refusal by 

the successful bidder to accept delivery or make payment for the Bonds. 

Official Statements 

Copies of the Preliminary Official Statement may be obtained without cost via the 

Internet at www.i-dealprospectus.com.  The Preliminary Official Statement at its date is “deemed 

final” by the County for purposes of the Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12 

adopted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Rule”), but is subject to 

revision, amendment and completion. 

After the award of the Bonds, the County will prepare copies of the Official Statement 

(no more than 300) and will include therein such additional information concerning the 

reoffering of the Bonds as the successful bidder may reasonably request; provided, however, that 

the County will not include in the Official Statement a “NRO” (“not reoffered”) designation with 

respect to any maturity of the Bonds.  The successful bidder will be responsible to the County in 

all respects for the accuracy and completeness of information provided by such successful bidder 

with respect to such reoffering.  The County expects the successful bidder to deliver copies of 

such Official Statement to persons to whom such bidder initially sells the Bonds and to The 

Electronic Municipal Market Access System (“EMMA”) administered by the Municipal 

Securities Rulemaking Board.  The successful bidder will be required to acknowledge receipt of 

such Official Statement, to certify that it has made delivery of the Official Statement to EMMA 

and to acknowledge that the County expects the successful bidder to deliver copies of such 

Official Statement to persons to whom such bidder initially sells the Bonds and to certify that the 

Bonds will only be offered pursuant to such Official Statement and only in states where the offer 

is legal.  The successful bidder will be responsible to the County in all respects for the accuracy 

and completeness of information provided by such successful bidder with respect to such 

reoffering. 

In general, the Rule prohibits an underwriter from purchasing or selling municipal 

securities, such as the Bonds, unless it has determined that the issuer of such securities has 

committed to provide annually certain information, including audited financial information, and 

notice of various events described in the Rule, if material.  The County will provide to EMMA 

annual information respecting the County, including audited financial statements.  In addition, 

the County will provide to EMMA the required notice of the occurrence of any events described 

in the Rule.   

Official Statements will be provided within seven (7) business days after the date of the 

award of the Bonds in such quantities as may be necessary for the successful bidder’s regulatory 

compliance. 

325



Attachment 5 

 

 14 

Further information will be furnished upon application to Public Financial Management, 

Inc. at (703) 741-0175. 

Reservation of Rights 

The right to reject any or all bids and to waive any irregularity or informality in any bid is 

reserved. 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

By: Catherine A. Chianese, Clerk 

 

326



Attachment 5 

 

15 

 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

$[PRINCIPAL AMOUNT] 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT BONDS, SERIES 2018A 

AND  

$[PRINCIPAL AMOUNT] 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2018B 

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

(for Competitive Sales to be modified if Hold the Offering Price Rule applies) 

The undersigned, on behalf of [NAME OF UNDERWRITER] (“[SHORT NAME OF 

UNDERWRITER]”), hereby certifies as set forth below with respect to the sale of the above-

captioned obligations (the “Bonds”) of Fairfax County, Virginia (the “Issuer”).   

1. Reasonably Expected Initial Offering Price.  

(a) As of the Sale Date, the reasonably expected initial offering prices of the Bonds to 

the Public by [SHORT NAME OF UNDERWRITER] are the prices listed in Schedule A (the 

“Expected Offering Prices”).  The Expected Offering Prices are the prices for the Maturities of 

the Bonds used by [SHORT NAME OF UNDERWRITER] in formulating its bid to purchase the 

Bonds.  Attached as Schedule B is a true and correct copy of the bid provided by [SHORT 

NAME OF UNDERWRITER] to purchase the Bonds. 

(b) [SHORT NAME OF UNDERWRITER] was not given the opportunity to review 

other bids prior to submitting its bid. 

(c) The bid submitted by [SHORT NAME OF UNDERWRITER] constituted a firm 

offer to purchase the Bonds. 

2. Defined Terms.   

(a) Maturity means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms.  Bonds with 

different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates, 

are treated as separate Maturities. 

(b) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, 

association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to an 

Underwriter.  The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally means any two or 

more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly. 

(c) Sale Date means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing for 

the sale of a Maturity of the Bonds.  The Sale Date of the Bonds is [DATE]. 

(d) Underwriter means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with 

the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the 

initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written 

327



Attachment 5 

 

16 

 

contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this paragraph to participate 

in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a 

retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public). 

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only.  

Nothing in this certificate represents [SHORT NAME OF UNDERWRITER]’s interpretation of 

any laws, including specifically Sections 103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 

amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.  The undersigned understands that the 

foregoing information will be relied upon by the Issuer with respect to certain of the 

representations set forth in the Tax Certificate with respect to the Bonds and with respect to 

compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Norton Rose Fulbright 

US LLP in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Bonds is excluded from 

gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue Service 

Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer from time to 

time relating to the Bonds. 

[NAME OF UNDERWRITER] 

 

By:      ________________________________ 

 

Name: ________________________________ 

 

Title:   ________________________________ 

 

Dated:  _____________________ 

328



Attachment 5 
 

 

SCHEDULE A 

EXPECTED OFFERING PRICES 

(Attached) 

 

329



Attachment 6 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED ________ __, 2018 

 
 

T
h

is
 P

r e
li

m
in

ar
y
 O

ff
ic

ia
l 

S
ta

te
m

en
t 

an
d
 t

h
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n
 c

o
n
ta

in
ed

 h
er

ei
n
 a

re
 s

u
b

je
ct

 t
o
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 o

r 
am

en
d

m
en

t.
  

T
h

e 
B

o
n

d
s 

m
ay

 n
o

t 
b
e 

so
ld

 n
o
r 

m
ay

 a
n

 o
ff

er
 t

o
 b

u
y
 b

e 
ac

ce
p
te

d
 p

ri
o

r 
to

 

th
e 

ti
m

e 
th

e 
O

ff
ic

ia
l 

S
ta

te
m

en
t 

is
 d

el
iv

er
ed

 i
n

 f
in

al
 f

o
rm

. 
 U

n
d

er
 n

o
 c

ir
cu

m
st

an
ce

s 
sh

al
l 

th
is

 P
re

li
m

in
ar

y
 O

ff
ic

ia
l 

S
ta

te
m

en
t 

co
n
st

it
u
te

 a
n

 o
ff

er
 t

o
 s

el
l 

o
r 

th
e 

so
li

ci
ta

ti
o

n
 o

f 
an

 o
ff

er
 t

o
 b

u
y

, 
n

o
r 

sh
al

l 
th

er
e 

b
e 

an
y

 s
al

e 
o

f 
th

e 
B

o
n

d
s,

 i
n

 a
n

y
 j

u
ri

sd
ic

ti
o
n

 i
n

 w
h

ic
h

 s
u
ch

 o
ff

er
, 

so
li

ci
ta

ti
o

n
 o

r 
sa

le
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e 

u
n
la

w
fu

l 
p

ri
o
r 

t o
 r

eg
is

tr
at

io
n

 o
r 

q
u
al

if
ic

at
io

n
 u

n
d

er
 t

h
e 

se
cu

ri
ti

es
 l

aw
s 

o
f 

su
ch

 

ju
ri

sd
ic

ti
o

n
. 

  

NEW ISSUE – Full Book Entry  RATINGS:  Fitch: “___” 

  Moody’s: “___” 

  Standard & Poor’s: “___” 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing law and assuming continuing compliance with the provisions 

of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), as described herein, interest on the Bonds will not 

be includable in the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes.  Under existing law, the 

interest on the Bonds is excluded from Virginia taxable income for purposes of the individual income tax and the 

income taxation of corporations by the Commonwealth of Virginia under Sections 58.1-322 and 58.1-402 of the Code 

of Virginia of 1950, as amended, to the extent that such interest is excludable from gross income for federal income 

tax purposes.  See “TAX MATTERS” herein for certain provisions of the Code that may affect the tax treatment of 

interest on the Bonds for certain bondholders. 

$__________* 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT BONDS, SERIES 2018A 

$__________* 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2018B 

 

Dated  Date of Delivery Due October 1, as shown on the inside cover page 

Interest on the Bonds will be payable on each April 1 and October 1, commencing October 1, 2018. 

The Series 2018A Bonds are being issued for the purpose of financing various public 

improvements.  Subject to favorable market conditions, the Series 2018B Bonds are being issued to refund 

certain outstanding bonds of the County.  

The Series 2018A Bonds maturing after October 1, 20__*, are subject to redemption prior to 

maturity as a whole or in part at any time on or after October 1, 20__*, at a redemption price of par plus 

accrued interest.  The Series 2018B Bonds maturing on or after October 1, 20__*, are subject to redemption 

prior to maturity as a whole or in part at any time on or after April 1, 20__*.   

The Bonds will be general obligations of Fairfax County, Virginia, for the payment of which the 

Board of Supervisors of the County is unconditionally obligated to levy and collect an annual ad valorem 

tax, unlimited as to rate or amount, upon all property in the County subject to local taxation. 

This page and the inside cover page contain certain information for quick reference only.  They are 

not a summary of this issue.  Investors must read the entire Official Statement to obtain information 

essential to making an informed investment decision. 

The Bonds are offered for delivery when, as, and if issued, subject to the approving opinion of 

Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, Washington, D.C., Bond Counsel.  The Bonds will be available for delivery 

in New York, New York, through the facilities of DTC on or about _______ __, 2018. 

______ _, 2018 

                                                      
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

330



Attachment 6 
 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT BONDS, SERIES 2018A 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2018B 

MATURITY DATES, PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS, INTEREST RATES AND PRICES/YIELDS 

Base CUSIP† Number 

$__________* SERIES 2018A BONDS 

Maturity Date 

October 1 

Principal 

Amount* 

Interest 

Rate 

Price or 

Yield 

CUSIP† 

Suffix 

2018 $0 % %  

2019     

2020     

2021     

2022     

2023     

2024     

2025     

2026     

2027     

2028     

2029     

2030     

2031     

2032     

2033     

2034     

2035     

2036     

2037     

$__________* SERIES 2018B BONDS 

Maturity Date 

October 1 

Principal 

Amount* 

Interest 

Rate 

Price or 

Yield 

CUSIP† 

Suffix 

20__ $0 % %  

20__     

20__     

20__     

20__     

20__     

20__     

20__     

 

† CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association.  The CUSIP numbers listed above are 

being provided solely for the convenience of bondholders only, and the Authority does not make any representation 

with respect to such numbers or undertake any responsibility for their accuracy.  The CUSIP numbers are subject to 

change after the issuance of the Bonds. 

                                                      
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

331



Attachment 6 
 

 

Fairfax County, Virginia 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

Sharon Bulova, Chairman 

Penelope A. Gross, Vice Chairman 

John C. Cook 

John W. Foust 

Patrick S. Herrity 

Catherine M. Hudgins 

Jeffrey C. McKay 

Kathy L. Smith 

Linda Q. Smyth 

Daniel G. Storck 

______________ 

 

COUNTY OFFICIALS 

Kirk Kincannon, Acting County Executive 

Patricia D. Harrison, Deputy County Executive 

David J. Molchany, Deputy County Executive 

David M. Rohrer, Deputy County Executive 

Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive 

Elizabeth D. Teare, County Attorney 

Joseph M. Mondoro, Chief Financial Officer 

Christopher J. Pietsch, Director, Department of Finance 

________________ 

 

PAYING AGENT 

Fairfax County Director of Finance 

1200 Government Center Parkway, Suite 214 

Fairfax, Virginia 22035-0074 

(703) 324-3120 

________________ 

 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

Public Financial Management, Inc. 

4350 North Fairfax Drive, Suite 580 

Arlington, Virginia 22203-1547 

(703) 741-0175 

_______________ 

 

BOND COUNSEL 

Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP 

799 9th Street NW, Suite 1000 

Washington, D.C. 20001-4501 

(202) 662-4760 

________________ 

For information relating to this Official Statement please contact: 

Joseph M. Mondoro, Chief Financial Officer 

Fairfax County, Virginia 

12000 Government Center Parkway, Suite 561 

Fairfax, Virginia 22035-0074 

(703) 324-2391 

332



Attachment 6 
 

i 

No person has been authorized by Fairfax County (the “County”) to give any information or to make 

any representations with respect to the County or the Bonds other than those contained in this Official 

Statement, and, if given or made, such other information or representations may not be relied upon as 

having been authorized by the County.  This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or 

the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any person in any 

jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation, or sale.  The 

information herein is subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official 

Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that 

there has been no change in the affairs of the County since the date hereof.  This Official Statement is 

not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the County and the purchasers or owners of 

any of the Bonds.  Any electronic reproduction of this Official Statement may contain computer 

generated errors or other deviations from the printed Official Statement.  In any such case, the printed 

version controls. 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

 

INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................................ 1 
THE BONDS ................................................................................................................................................ 1 

Authorization And Purposes; Refunding Plan ....................................................................................... 1 
Description ............................................................................................................................................. 3 
Optional Redemption ............................................................................................................................. 3 
Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption ................................................................................................... 4 
Selection of Bonds for Redemption ....................................................................................................... 4 
Notice of Redemption ............................................................................................................................ 4 
Security .................................................................................................................................................. 5 
State Aid Intercept ................................................................................................................................. 5 
Remedies ................................................................................................................................................ 5 
No Litigation Respecting the Bonds ...................................................................................................... 6 

FAIRFAX COUNTY ................................................................................................................................... 6 
GENERAL DESCRIPTION ......................................................................................................................... 6 

Overview ................................................................................................................................................ 6 
Population .............................................................................................................................................. 7 
Certain County Administrative and Financial Staff Members ............................................................... 8 
County Employees ............................................................................................................................... 10 

GOVERNMENT SERVICES .................................................................................................................... 10 
General Government Administration ................................................................................................... 10 
Public Schools ...................................................................................................................................... 11 
Public Works ........................................................................................................................................ 13 
Transportation ...................................................................................................................................... 14 
Parks, Recreation and Libraries ........................................................................................................... 17 
Community Development .................................................................................................................... 18 
Health and Welfare .............................................................................................................................. 19 
Judicial Administration ........................................................................................................................ 20 
Public Safety ........................................................................................................................................ 20 
Water Supply Service ........................................................................................................................... 21 

ECONOMIC FACTORS ............................................................................................................................ 22 
Economic Development ....................................................................................................................... 22 
Employment ......................................................................................................................................... 23 
Construction Activity ........................................................................................................................... 28 

333



 

Attachment 6 
 

ii 

Housing ................................................................................................................................................ 28 
Colleges and Universities ..................................................................................................................... 29 
Cultural Amenities ............................................................................................................................... 29 

DEBT ADMINISTRATION ...................................................................................................................... 30 
Statement of Bonded Indebtedness ...................................................................................................... 30 
Limits on Indebtedness ........................................................................................................................ 30 
Bond Referenda Authorization ............................................................................................................ 31 
Other Tax Supported Debt Obligations................................................................................................ 31 
Lease Commitments and Contractual Obligations ............................................................................... 35 
Debt Service on Tax Supported Debt Obligations ............................................................................... 36 
Sewer Revenue Bonds ......................................................................................................................... 37 
Debt Ratios ........................................................................................................................................... 39 
Underlying Bonded Indebtedness ........................................................................................................ 42 

TAX BASE DATA ..................................................................................................................................... 42 
FINANCIAL INFORMATION .................................................................................................................. 46 

Five Year Summary of Revenues, Expenditures and Fund Balances for the General Fund ................ 46 
Financial Policies ................................................................................................................................. 48 
Certain Financial Procedures ............................................................................................................... 49 
Investment Management Policy ........................................................................................................... 50 
General Fund Revenues, Expenditures, Transfers and Beginning Fund Balance ................................ 50 
General Fund Summary ....................................................................................................................... 50 
Revenues .............................................................................................................................................. 51 
Expenditures and Transfers .................................................................................................................. 53 
FY 2017 Budget ................................................................................................................................... 54 
FY 2018 Budget ................................................................................................................................... 54 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM ................................................................................................ 55 
RETIREMENT SYSTEMS ........................................................................................................................ 55 

Fairfax County Employees’ Retirement System (ERS) ....................................................................... 56 
Fairfax County Police Officers Retirement Systems (PORS) .............................................................. 58 
Fairfax County Uniformed Retirement System (URS) ........................................................................ 59 
Educational Employees’ Supplementary Retirement System of Fairfax County (ERFC) ................... 61 
Virginia Retirement Systems (VRS) .................................................................................................... 63 
Fairfax County Retirement Systems – Plan Revisions from the Board of Supervisors ....................... 64 
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) ........................................................................................... 64 

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CLAIMS ......................................................................................... 65 
APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS .............................................................................................. 65 
TAX MATTERS ........................................................................................................................................ 65 

Opinion of Bond Counsel .................................................................................................................... 65 
Original Issue Discount ........................................................................................................................ 65 
Bond Premium ..................................................................................................................................... 66 
Backup Withholding ............................................................................................................................ 66 
Other Tax Consequences ..................................................................................................................... 67 
Future Tax Developments .................................................................................................................... 67 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR ............................................................................................................................ 68 
VERIFICATION OF CERTAIN MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS .............................................. 68 
RATINGS ................................................................................................................................................... 68 
SALE AT COMPETITIVE BIDDING ...................................................................................................... 68 
CERTIFICATE CONCERNING OFFICIAL STATEMENT .................................................................... 69 
MISCELLANEOUS ................................................................................................................................... 69 

334



 

Attachment 6 
 

iii 

FUTURE FINANCIAL INFORMATION ................................................................................................. 69 
PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DEEMED FINAL ............................................................... 70 
 

APPENDICES 

Organization of Fairfax County Government ............................................................................... Appendix I 

Locations of Political Jurisdictions .............................................................................................. Appendix II 

Map of Fairfax County ............................................................................................................... Appendix III 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Basic Financial Statements ................................ Appendix IV 

Book-Entry Only System............................................................................................................. Appendix V 

Proposed Form of Legal Opinion .............................................................................................. Appendix VI 

Continuing Disclosure Agreement ........................................................................................... Appendix VII 

Notice of Sale .......................................................................................................................... Appendix VIII 

 

335



Attachment 6 
 

 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

Regarding 

$__________* Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2018A 

and 

$__________* Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2018B  

INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this Official Statement, which includes the cover page, the inside cover pages and 

the appendices hereto, is to furnish information in connection with the sale by Fairfax County, Virginia 

(the “County”), of its $__________* Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2018A (the “Series 2018A 

Bonds”) and $__________* Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2018B (the “Series 2018B 

Bonds” and together with the Series 2018A Bonds, the “Bonds”).  

THE BONDS 

Authorization And Purposes; Refunding Plan 

The Bonds will be issued under a resolution (the “Resolution”) adopted by the Board of 

Supervisors of Fairfax County (the “Board of Supervisors”) on December __, 2017, pursuant to Article 

VII, Section 10(b) of the Constitution of Virginia and the Public Finance Act of 1991, Chapter 26, Title 

15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Act”).   

A portion of the Series 2018A Bonds will be issued to provide funds1 in the following amounts* 

for the following purposes (collectively, the “Public Improvements”):  

School Improvements ..................................................................   $155,000,000   

Transportation Improvements and Facilities ................................   45,780,000 

Parks and Park Facilities ..............................................................   23,000,000 

Storm Drainage Improvements ....................................................   10,000,000 

Public Safety Facilities ................................................................   8,000,000 

Public Library Facilities ...............................................................   5,000,000 

Human Services Facilities and Community Development 

Facilities .......................................................................................  

  

5,000,000 

Total  $251,780,000  

   

The Series 2018B Bonds are authorized to be issued to provide funds, with other available funds, 

to refund and to redeem prior to their respective maturities certain outstanding bonds, including all or a 

portion of the following outstanding bonds of the County referred to hereafter as the “2009 A Refunding 

Candidates,” the “2012A Refunding Candidates,” the “2013A Refunding Candidates,” the “2014A 

Refunding Candidates,” the “2015A Refunding Candidates,” the “2016A Refunding Candidates,” and the 

“2017A Refunding Candidates,” and collectively as the “Refunding Candidates:” 

                                                      
1 For purposes of this Preliminary Official Statement, it is assumed that proceeds of the Bonds will include a net bond premium in order to fund 

the purposes described above. 

 Preliminary, subject to change. 

336



Attachment 6 
 

2 

Series of 

Refunded Bonds* 

Principal 

Amount* Maturities* Redemption Date 

Redemption 

Price 

CUSIP Nos. 

303820† 

2009 A $0 20__‡ April 1, 2019 100  

2012A   April 1, 2020 100  

2013A   October 1, 2021 100  

2014A   October 1, 2023 100  

2015A   October 1, 2024 100  

2016A   April 1, 2026 100  

2017A   April 1, 2027 100  

_____________ 
†The County shall not be responsible for the accuracy of the CUSIP numbers provided above.  The CUSIP numbers are provided solely for the 
convenience of bondholders. 

‡Only portions of the outstanding maturities are expected to be refunded. 

* Preliminary, subject to change. 

The purpose of the refunding is to achieve present value debt service savings.  The County’s 

decision whether to refund any given Refunding Candidates is subject to prevailing market conditions at 

the time of the sale of the Series 2018B Bonds.  The County may refund only certain Refunding 

Candidates if refunding such Candidates permits the County to meet certain savings targets.  The 

Refunding Candidates, if any, that are refunded with proceeds of the Series 2018B Bonds are referred to 

as the “Refunded Bonds.”  The final Refunded Bonds will be described in the final Official Statement 

relating to the Series 2018B Bonds. 

Upon delivery and issuance of the Series 2018B Bonds by the County, proceeds thereof will be 

used to provide for the payment and redemption of the Refunded Bonds by depositing 

with__________________, pursuant to an escrow deposit agreement, cash and non-callable, direct 

obligations of the United States of America the maturing principal of and interest on which, together with 

such cash, will be sufficient to pay all principal, applicable redemption premiums, and interest on the 

Refunded Bonds to their respective redemption dates.  The arithmetical computations of the sufficiency of 

the cash and securities deposited with ________________-, to pay the principal of and interest on the 

Refunded Bonds will be verified by ___________________, ________________. 

The sources and uses of the proceeds of the Bonds are summarized below. 

337



Attachment 6 
 

3 

Sources   

  

Par amount of the Series 2018A Bonds ............  $ 

Par amount of the Series 2018B Bonds ............   

Net offering premium .......................................    ___________ 

Total Sources ...............................................  $___________ 

Uses 
 

  

Public Improvements ........................................  $ 

Deposit for payment of Refunded Bonds ..........   

Underwriters’ discount .....................................   

Other issuance expenses ...................................  ____________ 

Total Uses ....................................................  $___________ 

Description 

The Series 2018A Bonds will be dated the date of their delivery, will bear interest from their 

delivery date, payable on each April 1 and October 1, commencing October 1, 2018, and the Series 

2018A Bonds will mature in amounts on October 1 in each of the years 2018 through 2037, inclusive, at 

rates as set forth on the cover page of this Official Statement.  The Series 2018B Bonds will be dated the 

date of their delivery, will bear interest from their delivery date, payable on each April 1 and October 1, 

commencing October 1, 2018, and the Series 2018B Bonds will mature in amounts on October 1 in each 

of the years 20__ through 20__, inclusive, at rates as set forth on the cover page of this Official 

Statement.  Interest on the Bonds is calculated based on a 360-day year consisting of twelve thirty-day 

months.  The Bonds will be issued in denominations of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof under the 

book-entry system of the Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), and principal and interest on the Bonds 

will be payable in the manner described in Appendix V, “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.” 

Optional Redemption* 

The Series 2018A Bonds maturing on or before October 1, 20__*, are not subject to optional 

redemption before their maturity.  The Series 2018A Bonds maturing after October 1, 20__*, are subject 

to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the County, from any money available for such purpose 

on any date not earlier than __________ 1, 20__*, as a whole or in part (in integral multiples of $5,000) 

at any time, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, together with the interest accrued 

to the redemption date on the principal amount to be redeemed. 

The Series 2018B Bonds maturing before October 1, 20__*, are not subject to optional 

redemption before their maturity.  The Series 2018B Bonds maturing on or after October 1, 20__, are 

subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the County, from any money available for such 

purpose on any date not earlier than ______ 1, 20__*, as a whole or in part (in integral multiples of 

$5,000) at any time, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, together with the interest 

accrued to the redemption date on the principal amount to be redeemed. 

338



Attachment 6 
 

4 

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption 

[This caption and one or more of the following paragraphs will be included in the final Official 

Statement only if the successful bidder elects to combine, in accordance with the Notice of Sale, two or 

more consecutive serial maturities into any number of term bonds.] 

The Series 2018A Bonds maturing October 1, 20__, and October 1, 20__, are subject to 

mandatory redemption in part, on a pro rata basis, on October 1 in the years shown below, at a redemption 

price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest, if any, to the date of redemption in an 

amount equal to the sinking fund installments for such Series 2018A Bond for such date: 

Series 2018A Term Bonds Maturing October 1, 20__ 

 

Years Sinking Fund Installments 

20__ $ 

20__  

20__†  

_________ 
† Final Maturity 

 

Series 2018A Term Bonds Maturing October 1, 20__ 

 

Years Sinking Fund Installments 

20__ $ 

20__  

20__†  

_________ 
† Final Maturity 

 

Selection of Bonds for Redemption 

Bonds may be redeemed only in increments of $5,000 or whole multiples thereof.  If less than all 

of the Bonds of a maturity and series are called for redemption, the Bonds or portions thereof to be 

redeemed will be selected by the paying agent and bond registrar in such manner as the paying agent and 

bond registrar in its sole discretion may determine, each $5,000 increment being counted as one Bond for 

such purpose.  If a portion of a Bond is called for redemption, a new Bond in a principal amount equal to 

the unredeemed portion thereof will be issued to the bondholder upon the surrender thereof. 

In the case of redemptions of Bonds at the option of the County, the County will select the 

maturities of the bonds to be redeemed. 

Notice of Redemption 

Not more than sixty (60) nor less than thirty (30) days before the redemption date of any Bonds to 

be redeemed, whether such redemption be in whole or in part, the County will cause a notice of such 

redemption to be filed with the bond registrar and to be mailed, postage prepaid, to the registered owner 

of each Bond to be redeemed in whole or in part at his address appearing upon the registration books of 

                                                      

 Preliminary, subject to change. 

339



Attachment 6 
 

5 

the County, but failure to mail such notice or any defect therein will not affect the validity of the 

redemption.  Each such notice shall set forth the date designated for redemption, the redemption price to 

be paid, the maturities and series of the Bonds to be redeemed and, if less than all of the Bonds of any one 

maturity of a series then outstanding shall be called for redemption, the distinctive numbers and letters, if 

any, of such Bonds to be redeemed and, in the case of any Bond to be redeemed in part only, the portion 

of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed.  If any Bond is to be redeemed in part only, the notice of 

redemption will state also that on or after the redemption date, upon surrender of such Bond, a new Bond 

or Bonds in principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of such Bond will be issued. 

Any notice of optional redemption of the Bonds may state that it is conditioned upon there being 

available an amount of money sufficient to pay the redemption price plus interest accrued and unpaid to 

the redemption date, and any conditional notice so given may be rescinded at any time before the payment 

of the redemption price if any such condition so specified is not satisfied.  If a redemption does not occur 

after a conditional notice is given due to an insufficient amount of funds on deposit by the County, the 

corresponding notice of redemption will be deemed to be revoked. 

Security 

The Bonds are general obligations of the County for which its full faith and credit are irrevocably 

pledged.  The Act requires that the Board of Supervisors shall, in each year while any of the Bonds shall 

be outstanding, levy and collect an ad valorem tax, unlimited as to rate or amount, upon all property in the 

County subject to local taxation sufficient to pay the principal of and the interest on the Bonds as the 

same shall become due, which tax shall be in addition to all other taxes authorized to be levied in the 

County. 

State Aid Intercept 

The provisions of Section 15.2-2659 of the Act, in substance, direct the Governor of Virginia, 

upon satisfactory proof of default by the County in the payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds, 

immediately to order the Comptroller of Virginia to withhold all further payment to the County of all 

funds, or any part thereof, appropriated and payable by the Commonwealth of Virginia (the 

“Commonwealth” or “State”) to the County for any and all purposes until such default is remedied.  For 

as long as the default continues, the law directs the Governor to require the Comptroller to pay to the 

holders of such Bonds or the paying agent therefor all of the withheld funds or as much as are necessary 

to cure, or to cure insofar as possible, the default on such Bonds.  The Governor shall, as soon as 

practicable, give notice of such default and of the availability of funds with the paying agent or with the 

Comptroller by publication one time in a daily newspaper of general circulation in the City of Richmond, 

Virginia, and by mail to the registered owners of such Bonds.  Although the provisions of Section 15.2-

2659 have never been tested in a Virginia court, the Attorney General of Virginia has opined that 

appropriated funds can be withheld pursuant to its provisions. 

Remedies 

The Bonds do not specifically provide any remedies that would be available to a bondholder if the 

County defaults in the payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds, nor do they contain a provision 

for the appointment of a trustee to protect and enforce the interests of the bondholders upon the 

occurrence of such default.  If a bondholder does not receive payment of principal or interest when due, 

the holder could seek to obtain a writ of mandamus from a court of competent jurisdiction requiring the 

Board of Supervisors to levy and collect an ad valorem tax, unlimited as to rate or amount, upon all 

property in the County subject to local taxation sufficient to pay the principal of and the interest on the 

Bonds as the same shall become due.  The mandamus remedy, however, may be impracticable and 

340



Attachment 6 
 

6 

difficult to enforce.  The enforceability of rights or remedies with respect to the Bonds (but not the 

validity of the Bonds) may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, or other State or federal laws, heretofore 

or hereafter enacted, and equitable principles affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights. 

No Litigation Respecting the Bonds 

No litigation is pending or, to the best of the County’s knowledge, threatened (a) to restrain or 

enjoin the issuance, sale, or delivery of any of the Bonds, the application of the proceeds thereof, or the 

pledge of tax revenues for payment of the Bonds, (b) in any way contesting or affecting any authority for 

the issuance or validity of the Bonds, (c) in any way contesting the existence or powers of the County or 

(d) that, if determined adversely against the County, would have a material adverse effect on the County.  

See “CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CLAIMS” for a description of litigation affecting the County. 

FAIRFAX COUNTY 

GENERAL DESCRIPTION 

Overview 

The County is located in the northeastern corner of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the 

“Commonwealth”) and encompasses a net land area of 407 square miles.  Its current estimated population 

exceeds one million.  The County is part of the Washington, D.C., metropolitan area, which includes 

jurisdictions in Maryland, the District of Columbia and Northern Virginia. 

The Fairfax County government is organized under the Urban County Executive form of 

government (as defined under Virginia law).  The governing body of Fairfax County is the Board of 

Supervisors, which makes policies for the administration of the County.  The Board of Supervisors is 

comprised of ten members:  the Chairman, elected at large for a four year term, and one member from 

each of nine districts, each elected for a four year term by the voters of the district in which the member 

resides.  The Board of Supervisors appoints a County Executive to act as the administrative head of the 

County.  The County Executive serves at the pleasure of the Board of Supervisors, carries out the policies 

established by the Board of Supervisors, directs business and administrative procedures, and recommends 

officers and personnel to be appointed by the Board of Supervisors.  (See Appendix I.) 

In Virginia, cities and counties are discrete units of government and do not overlap.  Fairfax 

County completely surrounds the City of Fairfax and is adjacent to the City of Falls Church and the City 

of Alexandria.  (See Appendix II.) Property within these cities is not subject to taxation by Fairfax 

County, and the County generally is not required to provide governmental services to their residents.  The 

County does, however, provide certain services to the residents of certain of these cities pursuant to 

agreements with such cities. 

In Fairfax County there are three incorporated towns, Clifton, Herndon and Vienna, which are 

underlying units of government within the County, and the ordinances and regulations of the County are, 

with certain limitations prescribed by Virginia law, generally effective in them.  (See Appendix III.) 

Property in these towns is subject to County taxation, and the County provides certain services to their 

residents.  These towns may incur general obligation bonded indebtedness without the prior approval of 

the County (more fully discussed in “DEBT ADMINISTRATION – Underlying Bonded Indebtedness”). 

341



Attachment 6 
 

7 

Population 

Fairfax County’s estimated 2015 population is 1,142,234.  In 1980, Fairfax County was the third 

most populous jurisdiction in the Washington, D.C., primary metropolitan statistical area, as defined by 

the U.S. Bureau of the Census.  By 1990, Fairfax County, with 818,584 residents, had become the most 

populous jurisdiction in the Washington, D.C. area, having added an average of 22,168 people per year in 

the 1980s.  Population growth during the 1990s and 2000s slowed; on average, the County gained about 

11,499 people per year during 2000-2015.   

Fairfax County Population 

Calendar Year Population 

1940 40,929 

1950 98,557 

1960 248,897 

1970 454,275 

1980 596,901 

1990 818,584 

2000 969,749 

  

2001 984,366 

2002 1,004,435 

2003 1,012,090 

2004 1,022,298 

2005 1,033,646 

  

2006 1,037,311 

2007 1,041,507 

2008 1,050,315 

2009 1,074,227 

2010 1,081,726 

  

2011 1,100,692 

2012 1,118,602 

2013 1,130,924 

2014 1,137,538 

2015 1,142,234 

  

_____________________ 
Sources:  U.S. Bureau of the Census (1940-2000, 2010) and 2010 Decennial Censuses; 2011-2015 

The following table reflects the population age distribution of County residents, based on the U.S. 

Census Bureau’s 2010 Decennial Census.  The survey estimated the County’s total population in 2010 at 

1,081,726. 

342



Attachment 6 
 

8 

Household Population Age Distribution 

Fairfax County 

 2010 

Age Group Number Percent (%) 

Under 20 years 285,405 26.4 

20 – 34 218,781 20.2 

35 – 54 339,757 31.4 

55 – 64 131,493 12.2 

65 and Over   106,290   9.8 

Total 1,081,726 100.0 

_________________ 
Sources:  U.S. Bureau of the Census, 2010 Decennial Census and Virginia Employment Commission 

Based on the latest data released by the U.S. Census Bureau, Fairfax County’s median household 

income was $112,552 and median family income was $129,805 in 2015.  Approximately 34.9% of the 

County’s households and 42.3% of families had annual incomes of $150,000 or more.  The following 

table shows the 2015 household and family income distribution in the County.   

2015 Household and Family Income Distribution (by Percentage)1 

Income Level Household Family 

Under $25,000 7.2% 5.2% 

$25,000 – 49,999 10.5% 9.1% 

$50,000 – 74,999 12.9% 10.6% 

$75,000 – 99,999 12.7% 11.5% 

$100,000 – 149,999 21.8% 21.3% 

$150,000 or more 34.9% 42.3% 

   

Median Income $112,552 $129,805 

____________________________ 
Sources:  U.S. Census Bureau, 2011-2015 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates 
1 Household Income is defined as that income which is available to all residents of a housing unit, regardless of relationship. Income is from all 
sources, before taxes and deductions, and includes wages, business, retirement, SSI, alimony, child support, interest, etc.  Family Income is 

derived by including only those households containing two or more persons related by blood, marriage or adoption. Percentages [may] add to 

more than 100% due to rounding. 

Certain County Administrative and Financial Staff Members 

Kirk W. Kincannon was appointed Acting County Executive by the Board of Supervisors on 

September 16, 2017. Kincannon will serve in the position until a permanent appointment is made (former 

County Executive Edward L. Long, Jr., retired on September 15, 2017).  Prior to his appointment, Kirk 

served as the Executive Director of the Fairfax County Park Authority, overseeing a nationally accredited, 

three-time National Gold Medal award-winning agency and recognized national leader in environmental 

stewardship, historic and natural resource preservation, park and recreation facility design, innovation, 

inclusive programs and innovation.   Kirk has also served as Director of Parks and Recreation for the City 

of Boulder, Colorado and City of Alexandria, Virginia and has led agencies to multiple national and state 

awards and recognition including: the Governor of Virginia’s Environmental Excellence Award, the 

National Association of County Park and Recreation Officials Award for Environmental/Conservation, 

the National Recreation and Park Association's Barb King Environmental Stewardship Award and the 

National Recreation and Park Association's Excellence in Inclusion Award. Kirk has served on multiple 

boards and committees over the years related to economic development and tourism, Radford University 

curriculum accreditation, University of Colorado, Boulder campus master plan, the National Recreation 

and Park Association State Affiliates Board, and as past Board President of the Virginia Recreation and 

343



Attachment 6 
 

9 

Park Society. Kirk is a Fellow of the American Academy for Park and Recreation Administration and a 

Fellow of the Urban Land Institute of the Washington DC region. He holds a BA in Recreation, Leisure 

Services, and Physical Education from Virginia Wesleyan University. He is a native of Fairfax County. 

 

Patricia D. Harrison, Deputy County Executive, has worked in the field of human services since 

her graduation from Slippery Rock University, Slippery Rock, Pennsylvania in 1980 where she obtained a 

Bachelor’s Degree in Therapeutic Recreation.  She joined Fairfax County Government in 1986 and 

directed the creation of inclusive and therapeutic recreation services for people with disabilities.  Prior to 

joining the County Executive’s office, she served as Director for the Department of Community and 

Recreation Services for ten years.  Ms. Harrison also holds a Master’s Degree with a concentration in 

Therapeutic Recreation Administration from University of Maryland at College Park and obtained a 

Certificate of Public Management from George Washington University.  She maintains her credentials as 

a Certified Therapeutic Recreation Specialist. 

David J. Molchany, Deputy County Executive, joined the County in 1995.  In 2003 Mr. 

Molchany was recognized by Governing magazine as one of the top ten Public Officials of the Year.  He 

is also active in professional organizations at the international, national, state, and local levels of 

government.  Previous employers have included Sallie Mae, American Management Systems, and 

Electronic Data Systems.  Mr. Molchany is a 1983 graduate of Juniata College and holds a Bachelor of 

Science degree in Marketing and Computer Science. 

David M. Rohrer, Deputy County Executive, has worked with the Fairfax County Police 

Department for almost 32 years and was appointed chief in 2004.  In addition, Mr. Rohrer has also served 

as deputy chief for investigations and operations support; Patrol Bureau commander; Special Operations 

Division and district commander; SWAT first-line supervisor; and first-line patrol supervisor.  Mr. Rohrer 

has served two terms as chairman of the Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments Police 

Chiefs’ Committee, and he is a member of numerous organizations, including the International 

Association of Chiefs of Police; the Major Cities Chiefs’ Association; the Police Executive Research 

Forum; and the Virginia Association of Chiefs of Police. Mr. Rohrer holds a bachelor’s degree in 

administration of justice from George Mason University. 

Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive, joined Fairfax County Government on June 5, 2000.  

Mr. Stalzer previously served as Town Manager for the Town of Herndon, Virginia from 1988 until June 

2000.  He was Director of Planning and Zoning for Roanoke County, Virginia from 1983 until 1988.  Mr. 

Stalzer holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Clark University, Worcester, Massachusetts, a Master of 

Regional and City Planning degree from the University of Oklahoma, and a Master of Business 

Administration degree from Syracuse University.  Mr. Stalzer is a past president of the Virginia Local 

Government Management Association and recognized as a credentialed manager by the International 

City/County Management Association.  Mr. Stalzer has served as an adjunct professor at Virginia 

Polytechnic Institute and State University, Roanoke College, and George Mason University. 

Elizabeth D. Teare was appointed County Attorney by the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors 

effective July 1, 2016.  Prior to her appointment, Ms. Teare served as the Deputy County Attorney for the 

Land Use and Environmental Law Section of the Fairfax County Attorney’s Office from 2012 through 

2016.  From 2009 through 2012, she served as a Senior Assistant County Attorney and from 2000 to 2008 

as an Assistant County Attorney.  Prior to her tenure with the Fairfax County Attorney’s Office, Ms. 

Teare was an associate attorney with a law firm known at that time as Surovell, Jackson, Colten & Dugan, 

P.C., in Fairfax, Virginia, from 1992 to 2000.  She also worked as an Assistant Attorney General in 

Richmond, Virginia, in a temporary position from 1991 to 1992.  Ms. Teare clerked for the Honorable 

Rosemarie Annunziata, who was then a Fairfax County Circuit Court Judge, from 1990 to 1991. Ms. 

Teare has been appointed by the Supreme Court of Virginia to serve on the faculty of the Virginia State 

344



Attachment 6 
 

10 

Bar’s Harry L. Carrico Professionalism Course.  In addition, she has lectured on land use and 

environmental law related issues for the Fairfax County Bar Association and the Local Government 

Attorneys of Virginia.  Ms. Teare received a Bachelor of Arts degree from Sweet Briar College, magna 

cum laude with high honors in English, in 1986.  In 1990, Ms. Teare received her juris doctorate degree, 

cum laude, from the Washington and Lee University School of Law and was admitted to the Virginia 

State Bar later that year. 

Joseph M. Mondoro is the Chief Financial Officer/Director of the Department of Management 

and Budget of the County effective September 2015.  Prior to assuming the duties of Chief Financial 

Officer/Director of the Department of Management and Budget, Mr. Mondoro had been Acting Chief 

Financial Officer/Director of the Department of Management and Budget of the County effective April 

2015.  From February 2004 until his appointment as Chief Financial Officer/Director of the Department 

of Management and Budget of the County, Mr. Mondoro served as Deputy Director of the Department of 

Management and Budget.  Mr. Mondoro received his Bachelor’s Degree in History and Government and 

a Masters of Public Policy from the College of William and Mary.  Mr. Mondoro worked as an analyst in 

the Financial Planning Bureau of the City of Norfolk, Virginia from 1993 to 1995.  He joined the Fairfax 

County Department of Management and Budget in July 1995 as a budget analyst. 

Christopher J. Pietsch was appointed Director of Finance for Fairfax County effective December 

30, 2013.  From 2003 until his appointment as Director of Finance, Mr. Pietsch served as the Director of 

the Fairfax County Internal Audit Office.  Prior to that, Mr. Pietsch spent 16 years working in bank 

auditing as well as governmental auditing with the Commonwealth.  Mr. Pietsch is a graduate of James 

Madison University, Harrisonburg, Virginia, with a degree in Finance.  In addition, he is a Certified 

Public Finance Officer, Certified Internal Auditor and a Certified Bank Auditor. 

County Employees  

As of July 2016, the School Board supported 23,938.3 full time equivalent positions.  The County 

supported 11,059.64 full time equivalent positions in activities funded directly or supported by the 

General Fund and 1,249.18 full time equivalent positions employed in activities not supported by the 

General Fund, principally the County’s Integrated Sewer System (the “Integrated Sewer System”).  

Fairfax County employees are not represented by unions.  Fairfax County public school employees have, 

however, organized the Fairfax Education Association and the Fairfax County Federation of Teachers to 

represent the interests of its members at public hearings and meetings before the School Board and the 

Board of Supervisors.  General County employees’ interests are represented at these types of meetings by 

the Employees Advisory Council and other groups such as police, fire, and sheriff employee 

organizations.  None of these organizations is empowered to serve as negotiating agent for its members 

for collective bargaining purposes.  Collective bargaining by public employees in Virginia is prohibited 

by law, a restriction upheld by the Supreme Court of Virginia. 

GOVERNMENT SERVICES 

Reflecting its urban character, Fairfax County provides a comprehensive range of public services 

characteristic of its form of government under Virginia law and its integral position within the 

Washington metropolitan area.  The following subsections describe principal governmental services and 

services performed in conjunction with other governmental entities. 

General Government Administration  

The County government center complex is located in the Fairfax Center area and is accessible by 

U.S. Routes 50 and 29, near Interstate Highway 66.  The 675,000 square foot government center houses 

345



Attachment 6 
 

11 

core County services and agencies.  Two adjacent County office buildings provide an additional 486,000 

square feet of space and house primarily human services and community development agencies and 

departments of the County.  The County also occupies a 135,000 square foot governmental center for 

delivery of County services in the southeast part of the County, and has six remote governmental centers 

throughout the County.  The centers provide office space for members of the Board of Supervisors, 

personnel, police, and building inspectors, and provide meeting rooms for community activities.   

In July 2016, the International City/County Management Association (ICMA) announced that it 

had awarded its Certificate of Excellence to Fairfax County for the seventh consecutive year.  The County 

is among only 30 jurisdictions across the nation being recognized for their superior efforts and results in 

performance measurement and management with this award – the organization's highest level of 

recognition – from the ICMA Center for Performance Measurement™ (CPM). The Certificate of 

Excellence is the highest of CPM’s three levels of recognition, and pays special tribute to the County's 

efforts in identifying and reporting to the public key outcome measures and surveying of residents and 

employees, as well as the pervasiveness of performance measurement in the County’s culture.   

Fairfax County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 

2015, received the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting for the 39th year 

from the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA). Fairfax County has also earned GFOA’s 

Distinguished Budget Presentation Award for the past 32 years.  This award represents the highest form 

of recognition in governmental budgeting and reflects the commitment of the governing body and staff to 

meet the highest principles of public budgeting.  The Association of Public Treasurers of the United 

States and Canada (“APT”) has awarded the County certification for its investment policy every year 

since 1998, confirming that the County meets the high public investment standards set forth by the 

Association.  Written investment policies submitted to the APT received vigorous peer team review for 

conformity with principles of sound investment management, careful public stewardship, and adoption of 

the profession’s best practices. 

Public Schools 

Fairfax County Public Schools (“FCPS”) is the largest educational system in the Commonwealth 

of Virginia and the tenth largest school system nationwide, ranked by enrollment.  The system is directed 

by a twelve person School Board elected by County residents to serve four-year terms.  A student 

representative with a one-year term participates in the School Board’s discussions but does not vote.  

Because the School Board is not empowered to levy taxes or to incur indebtedness, the operating costs of 

FCPS are provided by transfers to the School Board from the General Fund of the County and the federal 

and Commonwealth governments (see the “FINANCIAL INFORMATION – General Fund Summary” 

herein).  Capital construction funding for public school facilities is provided primarily by the sale of 

general obligation bonds of the County. 

The FCPS system is a high quality system offering a variety of programs.  There is a strong 

academic program for college-bound students.  Almost 93% of FCPS class of 2015 graduates self-

reported plans to enroll in post-secondary educational programs.  In addition to the traditional academic 

curriculum, the Thomas Jefferson High School for Science and Technology provides a four-year college 

preparatory program for students who have a strong interest and high aptitude in mathematics, science, 

computer science, engineering, or related professional fields.  The school is designated as one of the 

Governor’s magnet schools for science and technology, and students from other Northern Virginia 

counties are admitted on a tuition-paying basis. 

FCPS also offers an extensive program for students pursuing opportunities in technical careers, 

with courses in business, health occupations, industrial technology, marketing, trade and industrial, and 

346



Attachment 6 
 

12 

family and consumer sciences studies.  In addition, there are special programs offered for gifted children 

and for students with disabilities spanning ages 2 through 21.  FCPS also provides an extensive adult 

education program offering basic education courses and general education, vocational, and enrichment 

programs. 

As of FY 2017, the School Board operates 191 schools and 7 special education centers: 

Fairfax County Public Schools 

Type of School 

Number of Public 

Schools 

Elementary School 141 

Middle School  23 

High School  22 

Secondary Schools1  3 

Alternative High Schools 2 

Special Education Centers    7 

Total 198 

_____________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Public Schools FY 2017 Approved Budget 
1Grades 7-12. 

The number of students attending Fairfax County Public Schools increased overall between FY 

2007 and FY 2016.  Enrollment for FY 2016 was 185,979, an increase of 21,493 students over the FY 

2007 enrollment.  FY 2017 approved enrollment is 186,842 students. 

Fairfax County Public Schools Enrollment 

Fiscal Year 

Number of 

Public 

School Students 

 

 

% Change 

2007  164,486 - 

2008  166,307 1.11 

2009  169,538 1.94 

2010 172,391 1.68 

2011 174,933 1.47 

2012 177,918 1.71 

2013 181,259 1.88 

2014 183,895 1.45 

2015 185,914 1.10 

2016 185,979 0.03 

2017 186,842 0.46 

__________________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Public Schools FY 2017 Approved Budget 

The average per pupil expenditures based on FY 2017 approved budget operating costs for 

several Washington metropolitan area jurisdictions are as follows: 

347



Attachment 6 
 

13 

Washington Metropolitan Area Per Pupil Expenditures 

Jurisdiction 

Per Pupil 

Expenditures 

Arlington County  $18,616 

Falls Church City  18,032 

Alexandria City  16,561 

Montgomery County (Md.)  15,341 

Fairfax County  13,718 

Prince George’s County (Md.) 12,992 

Manassas City  12,393 

Loudoun County 12,700 

Manassas Park 11,143 

Prince William County  10,724 

____________________ 
Source:  FY 2016 Washington Area Boards of Education Guide, FCPS FY 2017 Approved Budget 

Of the Advanced Placement (AP) tests taken by FCPS students in 2015, 70% rated a score of 3 or 

above (on a grading scale of 1 to 5).  In 2015, 37,291 AP test were given, an increase of 19.7% from 

2011.  Students who score a 3 or above on at least three AP exams are recognized by the College Board as 

AP Scholars; the total number of FCPS students recognized as AP Scholars rose from 5,176 in 2011 to 

6,155 in 2015. 

For the 2014-2015 school year, FCPS’ average SAT score was 1669, compared with the Virginia 

average of 1523 and the national average of 1462. 

Public Works  

The Department of Public Works and Environmental Services (DPWES) provides essential 

management, professional engineering, design, and construction services in support of the construction of 

roads, sidewalks, trails, storm drainage, sewers, street lights, bus shelters and public facilities (except 

schools, housing, and parks).  DPWES is also responsible for the acquisition of land for, and timely 

construction of, public facilities projects contained in bond referenda questions approved by the voters of 

Fairfax County.  See “DEBT ADMINISTRATION – Bond Referenda Authorization” herein. 

Wastewater generated in the County is treated at one County-owned treatment facility (Noman 

M. Cole, Jr. Pollution Control Plant), four inter-jurisdictional treatment facilities (District of Columbia 

Water and Sewer Authority’s Blue Plains Facility, and plants operated by the Upper Occoquan Sewage 

Authority, Arlington County, and the Alexandria Renew Enterprises), and one private treatment facility 

(Harbor View Wastewater Treatment Plant).  The County’s treatment capacity in the six facilities totals 

approximately 157 million gallons per day (“mgd”).  In addition, the County has purchased 1.0 mgd from 

the Loudoun County Sanitation Authority and 0.1 mgd of capacity from the Prince William County 

Service Authority for future flow needs in the southern portion of the County. 

DPWES manages and operates the I-95 Sanitary Landfill located on approximately 500 acres in 

the southern portion of the County.  This facility is operated on a “special fund” basis, which utilizes 

tipping fees to pay for the operation and capital expenditures of the landfill.  Since January 1, 1996, the 

landfill has been dedicated to the disposal of ash generated primarily by the incineration of municipal 

solid waste at the Arlington/Alexandria Energy-from-Waste Facility and the Fairfax County I-95 

Energy/Resource Recovery Facility (“E/RRF”).  On older portions of the landfill, the County has initiated 

closure activities which involve placing a synthetic or low permeability soil cap over the closed section of 

the landfill along with installation of landfill gas extraction wells and leachate collection systems.  

348



Attachment 6 
 

14 

Capping activity has been completed on approximately 260 acres of the site.  The closure project is a 

multi-phase construction project to continue through the remaining life of the facility.  The County has 

established reserves for this purpose and has met the financial assurance requirements established by the 

Virginia Department of Environmental Quality regarding closure and post-closure care.  Additional 

landfill requirements, whether debris or municipal solid waste, are met through separate contracts. 

The E/RRF burns solid waste delivered to the facility from the County as well as portions of the 

District of Columbia, Prince William County, and Loudoun County.  The facility has a dependable 

electric capacity rating of 63 megawatts for sale to Dominion Virginia Power, although it has the ability 

to generate over 80 megawatts.  Fairfax County and the Fairfax County Solid Waste Authority, which 

was created by the County, entered into a service contract in August 1987 with Ogden Martin Systems of 

Fairfax (now Covanta Fairfax, Inc.), under which Covanta Fairfax, Inc., was obligated to design, 

construct, operate, and maintain a 3,000 ton per day resource recovery facility at the I-95 Landfill Site. 

During FY 2016, the E/RRF processed over 772,868 tons of material towards the County’s 

delivery commitment, exceeding the guaranteed requirements by 2,868 tons and the FY 2017 projected 

tonnage is 650,000.  On April 11, 2014, the County and Covanta Fairfax, Inc. entered into a Waste 

Disposal Agreement (WDA) that became effective February 2, 2016, and has an initial five year term.  

Under the WDA, the County’s delivery commitment is 650,000 tons (as may be adjusted under the terms 

of the WDA). 

Transportation 

General 

Fairfax County is served by various highway, rail and air transportation facilities.  The Capital 

Beltway (Interstate Highways 95 and 495), Interstate Highways 395, and 66 and the Dulles Toll Road 

provide access to all parts of the Washington metropolitan area and major surface transportation corridors 

along the eastern seaboard.  The Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (“WMATA”) 

Metrorail system provides area residents with one of the largest and most modern regional transit systems 

in the world. 

Two major airports serve the County with daily national and international service.  Washington 

Dulles International Airport (“Dulles Airport”), located along the County’s western boundary, is also the 

site of a designated Foreign Trade Zone.  Ronald Reagan Washington National Airport, located a few 

miles east of the County, is accessible by Interstate Highways 66 and 395.  In 1987, control of these 

facilities was transferred by a 50-year lease from the federal government to the Metropolitan Washington 

Airports Authority (“MWAA”), a public authority created by inter-jurisdictional compact between the 

Commonwealth and the District of Columbia.  In June 2003, the lease was extended to 2067. 

Ground transportation receives significant attention from the County, primarily in an effort to 

relieve traffic congestion along the major arterials leading to Washington, D.C. and also to facilitate 

cross-County movement, connecting established and developing centers of commerce and industry.  

Recent efforts have included increased local funding for highway improvements, establishment of 

transportation improvement districts, creation of County transit systems, continued participation in 

WMATA, and other improvements which encourage increased use of Metrorail, bus services, and 

carpooling.  The County also participates in a regional commuter rail system to expand transportation 

services available to County residents. In Virginia, the Commonwealth is generally responsible for 

highway construction and maintenance.  However, highway improvement needs in Fairfax County far 

exceed the highway revenues available from the Commonwealth.  

349



Attachment 6 
 

15 

Since 1993 funding for County transportation projects has been received from Commonwealth 

bond financing, Federal Highway Reimbursement Anticipation Notes, Commonwealth general funds, fuel 

tax collections, County bond financing, Northern Virginia Transportation Authority tax collections and 

other revenue sources. A few of the many projects supported by these funding sources have included the 

Fairfax County Parkway, the County’s share of capital costs for the WMATA’s Metrorail system, the 

Dulles Toll Road, and improvements to U.S. Route 1, U.S. Route 29, I-66, I-95, I-495, the Fairfax County 

Parkway, State Route 7 and State Route 28.   

Metro Transit System 

Since 1970, Fairfax County and the other major political subdivisions in the Washington, D.C., 

metropolitan area have contracted with WMATA to finance, construct and operate a 103-mile Metrorail 

subway and surface rail transit system.  Funding for the construction of the Metrorail system has come 

from direct Congressional appropriations and by direct local contributions.  Five Interim Capital 

Contributions Agreements between WMATA and the participating political jurisdictions were executed to 

fully fund and complete the 103-mile adopted regional system.  By 2020, 23 additional miles are expected 

to be added to the system with completion of the Silver Line, with new tracks connecting downtown 

Washington, D.C., to Washington Dulles International Airport.  In July 2014, 11.7 miles of the Silver 

Line were completed and began operation.  

WMATA’s Board of Directors periodically adopts a Capital Improvement Plan (“CIP”), which 

prioritizes and maintains the existing capital plant and rolling stock of the Metrobus and Metrorail 

systems.  The regional counter-parties to WMATA periodically agree to updated funding agreements 

regarding their portion of capital priorities and infrastructure renewal projects.  The County issues bonds 

as the primary source of the County’s share of WMATA’s CIP. 

The County’s operating assistance to WMATA is funded from the General Fund, gasoline tax 

receipts, and State aid.  Fairfax County’s share of the bus and rail operating subsidies for FY 2007-FY 

2017 are shown in the following table: 

350



Attachment 6 
 

16 

Fairfax County WMATA Operating Subsidies 

(Millions of Dollars) 

Fiscal 

Year 

Bus 

Operations1,2 

Rail 

Operations1 

ADA 

Para-

transit1 

Less 

State 

Aid3 

Less Gas 

Tax 

Receipts4 

Adjustments 

and Interest 

Applied 

Net 

General 

Fund 

        

2007 $37.368 $17.496 $5.803 $19.406 $20.885 $1.990 $18.386 

2008 36.745 19.267 7.088 21.375 22.610 1.287 17.828 

2009 45.292 17.665 7.565 39.836 23.490 0.000 7.196 

2010 40.204 22.622 9.164 46.003 17.799 0.300 7.888 

2011 45.387 15.598 11.347 44.745 21.838 0.300 5.449 

        

2012 47.458 19.481 12.410 46.252 26.163 2.259 4.675 

2013 48.829 26.209 12.424 49.734 28.568 0.056 9.104 

2014 52.118 34.952 13.351 63.893 23.274 4.119 9.135 

2015 53.349 39.271 13.367 69.971 24.501 1.974 9.541 

2016 57.820 46.666 13.661 91.867 17.262 0.168 8.850 

        

2017 63.360 42.186 13.262 84.828 22.800 0.150 11.030 

__________________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Department of Transportation and Department of Management and Budget 
1 The amounts shown for operating subsidies represent actual disbursements in those years.  Adjustments based on final WMATA annual audited 

figures are incorporated in the fiscal year in which the credit for an overpayment was applied or a debited amount was paid rather than the fiscal 

year in which the credit or debit was earned. Fiscal Years 2007-2016 are actual, FY 2017 is the Revised budget amount. 
2 Includes other service enhancements. 
3 Virginia law permits the use of State aid for transportation to fund transit program operating costs in addition to transit program capital costs. 
4 A 2% retail gasoline tax is dedicated to mass transit costs in those Northern Virginia jurisdictions covered by the Northern Virginia 
Transportation Commission (“NVTC”).  The receipts from this tax are paid to NVTC which then allocates these funds to participating 

jurisdictions for payment of transit operating, capital and debt service costs. 

Tax Districts 

Transportation improvement districts provide another source of funding for transportation 

improvements in the County.  The County, together with Loudoun County, a neighboring jurisdiction, 

formed the Route 28 Highway Transportation Improvement District (the “Route 28 District”) in 1987 to 

accelerate highway improvements proposed by the Commonwealth to State Route 28.  State Route 28 

runs approximately parallel to the County’s western border and connects State Route 7 in eastern 

Loudoun County to U.S. Route 50 and Interstate Highway 66 in western Fairfax County.  The initial 

improvements, which consisted of expanding State Route 28 from two to six lanes, with additional 

turning lanes, are now complete.  State Route 28 provides access to Washington Dulles International 

Airport, as do the Dulles Access Road and the Dulles Toll Road, both of which connect the Capital 

Beltway to Dulles Airport.  Such improvements were financed from proceeds of a special improvements 

tax (the “Route 28 Special Improvements Tax”) collected from owners of real property zoned for 

commercial and industrial use in the Route 28 District and bonds issued by the Fairfax County Economic 

Development Authority (the “EDA”) secured by the Route 28 Special Improvements Tax collections.  

In 2001, the Virginia General Assembly enacted legislation permitting the creation of one or 

more special transportation taxing districts located between the West Falls Church Metrorail station and 

the Dulles Airport area to provide a means of financing an extension of rail service in the Dulles Corridor.  

The structure of any such district is modeled after the existing Route 28 District.  In February 2004, 

pursuant to a petition submitted by landowners representing a majority of the assessed value of property 

zoned for commercial or industrial use in the Tysons and Reston commercial districts, the Board of 

Supervisors formed the Phase I Dulles Rail Transportation Improvement District (the “Phase I District”) 

351



Attachment 6 
 

17 

to provide funds to support the County’s share of Phase I of a proposed expansion of the Metrorail system 

to Dulles Airport and beyond (“Phase I”).  Funds for financing the County’s $400 million share of the 

Phase I expansion of the Metrorail system are provided from a real estate tax levy on all property zoned 

for commercial and industrial use in the Phase I District (the “Phase I Special Improvements Tax”).  As of 

December, 2013 the County provided to MWAA its required $400 million share for the Phase I Project 

from the proceeds of the Phase I Special Improvements Tax and from bonds issued by the EDA secured 

by the Phase I Special Improvements Tax collections.  Metrorail service for Phase I began in July 2014.   

Phase II of the proposed expansion of the Metrorail system (“Phase II”) will complete the 23-mile 

line to Dulles Airport and beyond into Loudoun County.  In October 2009, the County received a valid 

petition to form another special tax district comprised of the Reston-Herndon-Dulles commercial districts 

to provide $330 million toward the County’s portion of the Phase II financing.  The Phase II tax district 

was approved by the Herndon Town Council on November 11, 2009, and by the Fairfax County Board of 

Supervisors on December 7, 2009.   On May 9, 2014, the United States Department of Transportation 

(“USDOT”) approved an application of the County to receive loans in the aggregate principal amount of 

up to $403,274,894 plus capitalized interest to fund County obligated Phase II project costs (the “TIFIA 

Loan”).  The TIFIA Loan closed on December 17, 2014.  As of May 31, 2017, the outstanding balance on 

the TIFIA Loan including accrued interest is $303,745,793. 

County Transit Systems 

Within the County, the Fairfax Connector System provides feeder bus service to Metrorail 

Stations.  The Fairfax Connector operates 84 routes to 13 Metrorail Stations which include the Dunn 

Loring, Franconia-Springfield, Greensboro, Huntington, McLean, Pentagon, Pentagon City, Spring Hill, 

Tysons Corner, Van Dorn Street, Vienna, West Falls Church, and Wiehle-Reston East stations.  Private 

contractors operate and maintain the service and have the responsibility to employ and supervise all 

transit personnel, while the Board of Supervisors maintains control and approves all policies for bus 

service such as routes and service levels, fare structures, and funding assistance. The Fairfax Connector 

System is supported from General Fund and fare box revenues.  The FY 2017 Revised Budget Plan also 

includes support of $15.6 million from State aid.  The Fairfax Connector carried approximately 9.8 

million passengers in FY 2015 and FY 2016 ridership is projected to be approximately 9.9 million.  

Fairfax Connector System expenditures totaled approximately $89.7 million in FY 2016, including capital 

expenditures.  The County runs three permanent maintenance and garage facilities for the Fairfax 

Connector System, with bus operations management provided by a third-party contractor. 

Commuter Rail 

Fairfax County is a member of the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission and, in 

cooperation with the Potomac and Rappahannock Transportation Commission, is a participating 

jurisdiction in the operation of the Virginia Railway Express (“VRE”) commuter rail service.  As of 

December 2015, the service consisted of seven peak period trips from south of the County in the 

Spotsylvania County to north of the County in the District of Columbia and six peak trips that run from 

west of the County in the City of Manassas to north of the County in the District of Columbia.  Under a 

Master Agreement among VRE’s participating jurisdictions, the County is to contribute to capital, 

operating, and debt service costs of the VRE on a pro rata basis according to its share of ridership.  The 

County’s share of the FY 2017 commuter rail operating and capital budget is $5.2 million. 

Parks, Recreation and Libraries 

Fairfax County provides a variety of recreational, educational, and cultural activities and services.  

In FY 2016, the Fairfax County Public Library system (the “Library System”) made more than 12.0 

352



Attachment 6 
 

18 

million loans and recorded more than 4.7 million visits to its 23 branches, and reported more than 4.6 

million user visits to its web site.  The Library System offers free events and activities, including puppet 

shows for toddlers, story time for school-aged children, book discussion groups for teens, author visits for 

adults, and English conversation classes for English for Speakers of other Languages customers (or new 

arrivals).  The Library System also makes library services available and accessible to people who have 

disabilities or are homebound. 

The Department of Community and Recreation Services provides a variety of recreational, 

community, and human services for County residents.  These services include senior adult programs and 

centers, therapeutic recreation services for individuals with disabilities, a variety of youth programs 

including recreational activities at youth centers, community-based recreational opportunities, support for 

Fairfax County’s various volunteer sports councils and leagues, and a variety of volunteer opportunities. 

Fairfax County also operates an extensive park system that provides a variety of recreational 

activities and facilities.  Under the direction of a 12-member Park Authority Board appointed by the 

Board of Supervisors, the Fairfax County Park Authority (“FCPA”) works with constituents, government 

leaders and appointees to implement Park Authority Board policies, preserve and protect natural and 

cultural resources, and facilitate the development of park and recreation programs and facilities.  FCPA 

oversees operation and management of a 23,372-acre County park system with 427 parks, nine recreation 

centers, eight golf courses, an ice skating rink, 210 playgrounds, 668 public garden plots, five nature 

centers, three equestrian facilities, 420 Park Authority athletic fields, 40 synthetic turf fields, 10 historic 

sites, two waterparks, a horticultural center, and more than 324 miles of trails.  In FY 2016, FCPA 

welcomed almost 17 million visitors to parks, groomed fields for more than 200 youth and adult sports 

organizations, improved its trail system, and worked to control non-native invasive plants, promote native 

species and preserve woodlands and green open spaces. 

FCPA charges fees for the use of certain park facilities including the recreation and fitness 

centers, classes, camps, programs and golf courses, which are operated on a cost recovery basis, and 

represent approximately 65% of FCPA’s funding.  The remaining operating funds are appropriated by the 

Board of Supervisors from the County’s combined general fund, providing the main operating funds for 

natural and cultural preservation and protection, administrative tasks, general access parks, planning and 

development, and park maintenance and operations.  User fees do not cover the cost of new development 

of facilities, land acquisition, or the major renovation of existing facilities.  These improvements are 

funded primarily through revenue bonds and general obligation bonds.  General obligation bonds are 

primarily used for the renovation of existing facilities.   

The Northern Virginia Regional Park Authority (“NVRPA”), an independent entity in which the 

County participates, operates 30 parks covering approximately 11,000 acres throughout Northern Virginia 

including the County.  NVRPA is continually in the process of completing, acquiring, developing, or 

expanding its regional park facilities. 

Community Development 

The Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority (“FCRHA”) was established in 1966 

to meet low and moderate income family housing needs.  It owns or administers housing developments in 

Fairfax County with staff and funding provided from County, federal, Commonwealth, and private 

sources.  As of January 2016, the FCRHA owns or operates 77 properties, which are comprised of over 

3,800 apartments, townhouses, senior retirement homes, and assisted living facilities.  The FCRHA also 

owns other specialized housing such as mobile home pads and beds in group homes.  The FCRHA also 

administers 3,868 federal Housing Choice Vouchers.  In FY 2015, 17,690 people were served through the 

FCRHA’s three major affordable housing programs: Public Housing, the Housing Choice Voucher 

program, and the Fairfax County Rental Program (FCRP).  In FY 2015, the average income of households 

353



Attachment 6 
 

19 

served in these three programs was approximately $24,200, or 25% of Area Median Income for a family 

of three (the average size of the households served).  This meets the U.S. Department of Housing and 

Urban Development’s (HUD) definition of “extremely low income.” 

FCRHA has provided financing with low-income housing tax credits for privately owned 

developments that reserve a total of 1,655 units for lower income tenants.  Fairfax County’s Workforce 

Housing policy, adopted by the Board of Supervisors in 2007, is a proffer-based incentive system 

designed to encourage the voluntary development of new housing affordable to a range of moderate-

income workers in Fairfax County’s high-rise/high-density areas.  The County’s Comprehensive Plan 

provides for a density bonus of up to one unit for every workforce unit provided by a developer, with the 

expectation that at least 12% of units, and up to 20% depending on location, in new developments be 

affordable or workforce housing.  

In April 2004, the Board of Supervisors adopted its Affordable Housing Preservation Initiative to 

preserve affordable housing units.  The centerpiece of the Initiative was the creation of the “Penny for 

Affordable Housing Fund.”  Beginning in FY 2006, the County’s budget each year included the 

equivalent of one penny on the County’s real estate tax rate for the preservation and production of 

affordable housing in the County.  In FY 2010, the Penny Fund was reduced to the equivalent of half of 

one penny.  In FY 2017, this funding equated to $11,700,000 for affordable housing.   

Other County services include efforts to increase local employment opportunities by encouraging 

and retaining business and industrial development through the County’s Economic Development 

Authority.  On July 1, 2007, the County established an Office of Community Revitalization and 

Reinvestment (“OCR”).  The mission of the OCR is to facilitate strategic redevelopment and investments 

within targeted commercial areas of the County that align with the community vision, and improve the 

economic viability, appearance and function of those areas.  Among other initiatives, the OCR is charged 

with working with property owners and the community to facilitate interest and participation in 

commercial development activities, and to develop public/private partnerships that further the County’s 

revitalization, redevelopment, and reinvestment efforts. 

Health and Welfare 

The County provides services designed to protect, promote, and improve the health and welfare 

of Fairfax County citizens through a decentralized human services program.  Based on individual needs, 

County human service centers define a comprehensive assistance plan that utilizes the services provided 

by all County departments.  The County operates human service centers in locations convenient to 

residents to provide financial, medical, vocational, and social services.  The Fairfax-Falls Church 

Community Services Board (“CSB”) responsible for planning, organizing, and providing services to 

individuals who have a mental illness, intellectual disability, or a substance use disorder.  The CSB 

provides state mandated services to assist, improve, and maximize the potential of individuals affected by 

these conditions and strengthen their capacity for living self-determined, productive, and valued lives.  

The CSB is part of the Fairfax County Human Services System providing its services at many sites 

throughout the County, including seven community mental health centers, several outpatient sites, a 

detoxification center, group homes, consumer-operated drop in centers, and several specialized residential 

treatment sites. 

The County also provides subsidized day care programs for older adults and children of low-

income families, two special needs centers that serve emotionally disturbed or physically challenged 

children, and group homes for youth with serious emotional disturbances.  Residential treatment services 

are also offered in the areas of substance abuse as well as substance abuse outpatient and specialized day 

354



Attachment 6 
 

20 

treatment programs.  Vocational and residential programs are also available for adults with intellectual 

disabilities and serious mental illness.   

Financial assistance and social services are available to eligible residents.  For low-income 

families and individuals, the Department of Family Services (“DFS”) administers federal, 

Commonwealth, and local programs, such as public assistance, employment and training, and subsidized 

child care, as well as programs targeted to at-risk children, such as child abuse prevention, Child 

Protective Services, Foster Care and Adoption, and services purchased under the Comprehensive Services 

Act.  For older adults, DFS also administers programs that include federal funds granted to localities, 

Commonwealth funds and additional support from the County.  The federal and state governments 

partially reimburse DFS for the cost of administering the programs based on an annual allocation to the 

County as well as program costs.  DFS operates the County’s School-Age Child Care (“SACC”) program 

in 139 centers located in 136 Fairfax County Public Schools (“FCPS”), one FCPS community building, 

one County recreation center, and one County community center.  Approximately 11,000 children 

participate in before-and-after-school SACC programs during the school year and in full-day programs in 

the summer and during school vacations.  Since FY 1986, the County has provided a comprehensive 

County transportation service, Fastran, for qualified elderly, disabled, and low-income persons.  

Transportation is provided by bus, van, or cab on a door-to-door basis to County programs, medical care, 

grocery stores, and other destinations. 

Judicial Administration  

Fairfax County’s court system is one of the most sophisticated systems in Virginia in its use of 

advanced case management techniques and rehabilitation programs.  The County uses automated systems 

to support case docketing and record retrieval, electronic filing and imaging in the land recordation 

process, juror selection, service of notices and subpoenas, and the processing of criminal and traffic 

warrants and collecting delinquent tax obligations. 

The County has undertaken rehabilitation efforts through the Juvenile and Domestic Relations 

District Court and the Office of the Sheriff.  These efforts include work training programs and counseling 

services for both adult and juvenile offenders.  Additionally, residential treatment services are provided 

for juvenile offenders, and a work release program is provided for offenders confined in the County’s 

Adult Detention Center. 

Public Safety  

A number of agencies share responsibility for public safety in Fairfax County.  The Police 

Department, which is responsible for law enforcement, had an authorized strength of 1,375 police 

officers, 31 animal control officers, and 352 civilian personnel, with 6 positions supported by grant 

funding, effective July 1, 2016.  The agency is accredited by the Virginia Law Enforcement Professional 

Standards Commission, which signifies the Department’s compliance with standards that are specific to 

Virginia law enforcement operations and administration.  The commanders of the eight police district 

stations located throughout the County have considerable latitude to tailor their operations to provide 

police services in ways most responsive to the needs of their respective communities, including 

community policing endeavors.  The department has specialized units that operate as both standing 

(staffed full time) and non-standing units (staffed as needed), including the Helicopter Division, which 

operates two helicopters to provide support to general police operations, traffic monitoring, emergency 

medical evacuation, and rescue support; the Criminal Intelligence Unit, which provides an effective 

response to organized criminal activity including terrorist-related, gang, and bias crimes; the Gang Unit, 

which provides regional leadership directed at combating gang crime through prevention and enforcement 

initiatives; and the Language Skills Support Unit, which serves to bridge the gap in the diverse cultures in 

355



Attachment 6 
 

21 

the community by providing language support for the successful resolution of major criminal 

investigations. 

Over the past 10 years, the County has maintained one of the lowest rates of serious crimes 

among jurisdictions in the Washington, D.C., metropolitan area and among comparable suburban 

jurisdictions throughout the United States.  Additionally, the Police Department has continually attained a 

clearance rate for violent crimes such as murder, rape, and robbery far above the national averages for 

such offenses.  At the same time, Fairfax County has maintained one of the lowest per capita costs for 

police services of all the local jurisdictions in the Washington metropolitan area.   

Fire and rescue services are provided by 1,405 paid uniformed personnel, 187 paid civilian 

support personnel, and approximately 300 operational volunteers as of January 1, 2017.  The County 

operates 38 fire and rescue stations.  The department operates various specialty units, including paramedic 

engine companies, a hazardous materials response unit, a technical rescue operations team, an arson 

canine unit, and a water rescue team whose members are certified in swift water rescue.  The department 

also supports regional, national, and international emergency response operations through maintaining 

and supporting the Urban Search and Rescue Team (“US&R”).  US&R operates under the auspices of the 

Department of Homeland Security for domestic responses and is sponsored by the United States Agency 

for International Development/Office of Foreign Disaster Assistance for international deployments.  In 

addition to emergency response, the department provides various non-emergency services.  

In May 2004, the Office of Emergency Management was established as a separate agency serving 

as the County’s focal point for emergency preparedness and internal and external coordination to respond 

to natural, technological, and terrorist-related emergencies.  Employees provided emergency management 

services for Fairfax County, including the Towns of Clifton, Herndon and Vienna.  The major areas of 

focus include emergency management planning and policy, the County-wide emergency training and 

exercise program, public preparedness and education, and enhancement of response and recovery 

capabilities. 

Water Supply Service  

Fairfax Water (“FW”) provides retail water service to residents of Fairfax County and the cities 

of Fairfax and Falls Church.  In addition, FW supplies water for resale, principally in the City of 

Alexandria, Loudoun County, Prince William County, Fort Belvoir, and the Towns of Vienna and 

Herndon.  The average total retail and wholesale population served by FW is estimated at 2,000,000 

persons.  FW, which operates the largest water system in the Commonwealth of Virginia, was established 

by the Board of Supervisors in 1957 to develop a comprehensive, County-wide water supply system 

through the acquisition of existing systems and the construction of new facilities.  FW is an independent 

body administered by a ten-member board appointed by the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors.  FW 

finances its capital improvements through the issuance of revenue bonds that are not backed by the full 

faith and credit of the County but principally repaid by revenues derived from charges for services 

rendered.  Effective April 1, 2017, FW’s basic retail water charge was set at $2.81 per 1,000 gallons, plus 

a quarterly service charge (currently $12.20 for most single-family homes and townhouses).  To pay for 

treatment and pumping capacity which is used only during periods of high demand, FW also levies a peak 

use charge of an additional $3.80 per 1,000 gallons on customers who exceed their winter quarter 

consumption by 6,000 gallons or 33%, whichever is greater.  There also are fees for initial connection to 

the system and for opening, closing, or transferring an account. 

FW uses three sources of water supply (Occoquan and Potomac Rivers and the Washington 

Aqueduct), operates associated treatment, transmission, storage, and distribution facilities, and provides 

service to approximately 280,000 retail accounts in Fairfax County, with an average daily consumption of 

356



Attachment 6 
 

22 

about 171 million gallons per day (“mgd”).  The combined maximum daily capacity of the supply and 

treatment facilities is 376 mgd, which is sufficient to meet current demand. 

Under an agreement with the Board of Supervisors, FW annually submits a 10-year capital 

improvement program which is reviewed and approved by the Board of Supervisors as part of the 

County’s total capital improvement program.  FW’s 10-year Capital Improvement Program for FY 2017-

2026 includes projects totaling $752,822,000. 

ECONOMIC FACTORS 

Economic Development  

Economic development activities of the County are carried out through the Fairfax County 

Economic Development Authority (“EDA”), whose seven commissioners are appointed by the Board of 

Supervisors.  EDA promotes Fairfax County as a premier location for business start-up, relocation and 

expansion, and capital investment.  It works with new and existing businesses to help identify their 

facility and site needs, and assist in resolving County-related issues and provide other business assistance.  

Pursuant to its enabling legislation, EDA encourages investment in the County with tax-exempt conduit 

revenue bond financing. 

The total inventory of office space in the County was estimated at 116.7 million square feet as of 

year-end 2016.  At that time, construction activity totaled nearly 3.1 million square feet.  Nearly 85 

percent of the space under construction has been pre-leased.  The direct vacancy rate for the office market 

was 15.8 percent as of year-end 2016.  Including sublet space, the office vacancy rate was 16.8 percent. 

The base of technology-oriented companies, particularly in computer software development, 

computer systems integration, telecommunications, and Internet-related services, has served as a magnet 

for the expansion and attraction of business and professional services.  Government contractors, as well as 

diversified business and financial services, have added to the demand for prime office space in a number 

of key employment centers throughout the County. 

Federal civilian employment in the County makes up 4.0 percent of the total jobs in the County.  

Federal jobs increased in 2015 but by mid-2016, the number of federal civilian jobs had decreased 

slightly.   Overall employment rose 1.3 percent in 2015 after falling 0.6 percent in 2013 and another 1.2 

percent in 2014.  The positive trend continued during 2016. In the second quarter of 2016, total non-farm 

employment in the County was 598,572, an increase of 1.4 percent compared to the second quarter of 

2015.  Employment in the Professional and Business Services sector also increased by 0.8 percent during 

this time.  After increasing in FY 2014, federal procurement spending in the County decreased 2.8 percent 

to $22.9 billion in FY 2015.  County General Fund revenue rose 3.0 percent in FY 2016, in part due to an 

increase of 3.5 percent in current year real estate tax receipts. Current personal property tax receipts rose 

2.0 percent in FY 2016, while Business Professional and Occupational License (BPOL) revenue increased 

a modest 0.7 percent. The combined Consultant and Business Service Occupations categories, which 

represent 42.1 percent of total BPOL receipts and include federal contractors decreased 1.0 percent from 

the FY 2015 level.  The remaining categories rose a combined 1.9 percent.  Sales Tax receipts rose 1.4 

percent in FY 2016. 

There are over 100 hotels in the County, totaling over 18,500 hotel rooms.  A 160-room hotel 

opened in 2016 in the Seven Corners area of the County, and another was delivered in the Tysons area.  

Hotel development parallels commercial construction in terms of diversity of concept and design with a 

variety of product and service mixes (all-suites, business meeting facilities, and leisure facilities) in the 

marketplace.   

357



Attachment 6 
 

23 

Improvements to the County’s transportation system, including increased service levels at 

Washington Dulles International Airport, helped increase corporate activities dependent on immediate 

access to travel throughout the region, country, and world.  The Metrorail service extension (the Silver 

Line) from the East Falls Church station, through Tysons through Dulles Airport, to Route 772 in 

Loudoun County will continue to help foster economic growth.   

The Board of Supervisors and the County actively support revitalization and redevelopment 

throughout the County, particularly in its more mature business areas.  Many enhancements have been 

made to the residential and commercial neighborhoods in Annandale, Bailey Crossroads/Seven Corners, 

the Lake Anne section of Reston, the Springfield and McLean central business districts, Merrifield, and 

the Richmond Highway corridor in the southeastern portion of the County.  A number of capital 

improvement projects and other construction in process or already completed have improved the 

appearance and quality of life of these communities. 

The most notable area of redevelopment in the County, Tysons—Fairfax County’s 

“downtown”—is undergoing a transformative land-use replanning effort.  Spurred by the Metrorail 

expansion project, the County is working to set the stage for Tysons’s evolution into a more urban-scale, 

pedestrian-friendly environment, with more housing, recreation and open space in addition to more-dense 

office and retail development.  Tysons currently has over 36.6 million square feet of office, retail, and 

other commercial space and is behind only downtown Washington’s Central Business District and the 

East End submarkets in the entire Washington D.C. metropolitan area in total office inventory, and has 

13.9 million square feet of residential space.  Now that Phase I of the Metrorail expansion has been 

completed, it is expected that Tysons will continue to have significant growth in population, employment 

and commercial, retail and residential space over the next several decades.  County staff continues to 

evaluate potential arrangements for financing the public share of Tysons infrastructure improvements and 

to facilitate co-operative funding agreements with the private sector.  County staff, in cooperation with 

private participants, created a new 501(c)(6) membership organization known as the Tysons Partnership 

in January 2011.  The Tysons Partnership provides a comprehensive approach to tasks that include 

marketing and branding, transportation, urban design/planning, public facilities and community amenities 

and finance.  On January 8, 2013, the Board of Supervisors established, by ordinance, the Tysons 

Transportation Service District No. 1 (the “Tysons Service District”) to provide transportation 

infrastructure and transit services within Tysons.  As the governing board of the Tysons Service District, 

the Board of Supervisors is empowered to levy and collect a tax on any property within Tysons Service 

District’s boundaries to finance the transportation infrastructure and transit services projects.  The tax rate 

of $0.04 per $100 of assessed value was adopted by the Board of Supervisors as part of the FY 2014 

Adopted Budget Plan, and this rate remained unchanged as part of the FY 2015 Adopted Budget.  

However, in the FY 2016 Adopted Budget, the tax rate increased one cent from $0.04 to $0.05 per $100 

of assessed value. The tax rate remained unchanged at $0.05 per $100 of assessed value in the FY 2017 

and FY 2018 Adopted Budgets. 

Employment  

As of the fourth quarter of 2016, there were more than 37,000 payroll business establishments 

(units) including global, corporate and regional headquarters, technology firms, sales and marketing 

offices, and business services located in Fairfax County, employing over 602,000.  Local businesses 

create employment in diversified areas like computer software development and systems integration, 

technical services, management consulting, government contracting, Internet-related services, wholesale 

and retail trade, and financial services.  The following table presents data on the average number of 

payroll establishments and employment by major industry classification in Fairfax County as of the fourth 

quarter of 2016. 

358



Attachment 6 
 

24 

Businesses and Employment by Industry 

Fairfax County, Virginia1 

Industrial Classification 

Number of 

Establishments 

Average Payroll 

Employment for Quarter 

   

Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Hunting 19 109 

Mining, quarrying, and oil and gas extraction 13 192 

Utilities 21 1,148 

Construction 2,361 23,432 

Manufacturing 475 5,702 

Wholesale Trade 1,225 14,097 

Retail Trade 2,768 56,112 

Transportation and Warehousing 396 7,030 

Information 916 20,353 

Finance and Insurance 1,700 26,910 

Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 1,581 9,510 

Professional and Technical Services2 10,624 154,964 

Management of Companies and Enterprises 363 17,743 

Administrative and Waste Services 2,093 40,395 

Educational Services 671 11,047 

Health Care and Social Assistance 3,961 55,283 

Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation 371 7,301 

Accommodation and Food Services 2,196 45,013 

Other Services except Public Administration 5,188 21,286 

Unclassified 579 1,185 

Federal Government, all industries  143 24,239 

State Government, all industries 31 9,309 

Local Government, all industries 92 50,394 

 Total 37,787 602,754 

____________________ 
Source:  U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages, Fairfax County, fourth quarter 2016 
1Excludes self-employed business owners. 
2The Services category includes professional and technical services, health care and social assistance, management services, educational services, 
accommodation and food services, arts, entertainment and recreation, administrative and waste services, and membership organizations and 

trade associations.   

The following is a list of the largest private, base sector (non-retail) employers as of April, 2016.  

Companies are alphabetized in their size category. 

Largest Private Employers in Fairfax County 

4,000-7,000+ Employees  

Company Name Type of Business       

Booz Allen Hamilton* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp. (Freddie Mac)* Finance and Insurance 

General Dynamics* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Inova Health System*  Health Care and Social Assistance 

359



Attachment 6 
 

25 

1,000-3,999 Employees  

Company Name Type of Business       

Accenture  Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

AECOM Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Amazon Web Services Information 

AT&T Information (Telecommunications) 

BAE Systems Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Boeing Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

CACI International  Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Capital One* Finance and Insurance 

Catholic Diocese of Arlington Educational Services/Other Services 

CGI Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

CSC Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Deloitte Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Engility* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services  

Erickson Living (Greenspring) Health Care and Social Assistance 

EY (Ernst & Young) Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Harris Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

HCA Virginia Health Care and Social Assistance 

HP Professional, Scientific and Technical Services/Information 

IBM Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

ICF International* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Kaiser Foundation Health (Kaiser Permanente) Health Care and Social Assistance 

KPMG Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

L-3 Communications Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Leidos* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Lockheed Martin Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

ManTech International Corp.* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

The MITRE Corporation* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Navy Federal Credit Union* Finance and Insurance 

Northrop Grumman* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Oracle Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Quest Diagnostics Health Care and Social Assistance 

Raytheon Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

SAIC* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Sprint Information 

Time Warner Cable Information 

Triple Canopy Administrative and Support Services 

United Parcel Service Transportation and Warehousing 

US Fitness Holdings* Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation 

Vencore* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Verizon Information 

Wells Fargo Bank Finance and Insurance 

360



Attachment 6 
 

26 

500-999 Employees  

Company Name Type of Business       

The Aerospace Corporation Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

AMERICAN SYSTEMS CORP.* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Bechtel Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Bright Horizons Children’s Centers Health Care and Social Assistance 

Cavalier Maintenance Services* Administrative and Support Services 

CF Management –VA Administrative and Support Services 

Cisco Systems Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

College Entrance Exam Board* Educational Services 

Crothall Services Administrative and Support Services 

Cvent* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Deltek* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Diversified Maintenance Administrative and Support 

ECS Limited Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

EMC Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Fairfax Radiological Consultants* Health Care and Social Assistance 

Frontpoint Security Solutions* Administrative and Support Services 

Gannett* Information 

Golden Gate Service* Administrative and Support Services 

Hilton Worldwide* Accommodation and Food Services 

HITT Contracting* Construction 

Hyatt Corporation* Accommodation and Food Services 

K12* Educational Services 

Knowledge Universe Education Educational Services 

Laboratory Corporation of America Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

LMI* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Marriott Accommodation and Food Services 

MAXIMUS* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Microsoft Corporation Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

MicroStrategy* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Middle East Broadcasting* Information 

Mount Vernon Other Services 

MV Contract Transportation Health Care and Social Assistance 

NJVC* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Omniplex World Services* Administrative and Support Services 

SallientCRGT* Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Securitas Security Services Administrative and Support Services 

Serco Inc. Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Sodexho USA Accommodation and Food Services 

Sunrise Senior Living Health Care and Social Assistance 

Unisys Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Washington Post Information 

WGL Utilities 

William A. Hazel* Construction 

Wipro Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 

Volkswagen of America Management of Companies and Enterprises 

____________________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Economic Development Authority, List of Largest Employers April 2016. Excludes public-sector and retail entities. 

Employment figures are for company facilities in Fairfax County only. Additionally, these numbers include employees, not independent contractors. 
Type of Business description for each firm is based on two-digit North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) codes. Companies may have 

business activities in other two-digit NAICS sectors.  

*Company with headquarters in Fairfax County. 

A list of the top ten new or expanded office projects within the County announced in the first 

quarter of 2017 is shown below:  

361



Attachment 6 
 

27 

New or Expanded Commercial Projects 

Name of Company Type of Business 

Projected 

New/Additional 

Employment 

IOMAXIS Information technology 555 

Helix Electric, Inc. Information technology 416 

CACI International, Inc. Information technology 401 

Carahsoft Technology Corporation Information technology 300 

Aerotek Information technology 200 

All Traffic Solutions Transportation and logistics 85 

DPR Construction Construction 49 

Vignet Corporation Software 35 

AnaVation, LLC Big data and analytics 30 

Riza Cloud Solutions Cloud/virtualization 25 

________________________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Economic Development Authority 

Unemployment in the County has historically been, and continues to be, well below the national 

average, even in challenging economic times.  The average unemployment rate in Fairfax County in 2017 

through April was 2.9%.  The average Virginia and U.S. unemployment rates during the same period 

were 3.6% and 4.1%, respectively.  Reflecting the global recession that began in late 2007 and escalated a 

year later, Fairfax County’s average annual unemployment rate rose to a high of 5.1% in 2010 but has 

since declined, reflecting an overall leveling out of the economic downturn.  The following table shows 

the average annual unemployment rate in Fairfax County as compared to Virginia and national averages 

in the past decade. 

Average Annual Unemployment Rates 

Calendar 

Year 

Fairfax 

County 

 

Virginia 

 

United States 

2007 2.2% 3.0% 4.6% 

2008 2.8 3.9 5.8 

2009 4.8 6.7 9.3 

2010 5.1 7.2 9.6 

2011 4.8 6.6 9.0 

    

2012 4.5 6.0 8.1 

2013 4.4 5.7 7.4 

2014 4.2 5.2 6.2 

2015 3.6 4.4 5.3 

2016 3.2 4.0 4.9 

20171 2.9 3.6 4.1 

__________________________________ 
Source:  U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics; data are not seasonally adjusted. Virginia Employment Commission 
1 Through April 2017. 

According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics, the average total number of jobs in the County was 

598,570 in the second quarter of 2016.  Self-employed persons are not included in these counts.  The 

following table presents total covered employment in recent years: 

362



Attachment 6 
 

28 

Covered Employment1 

Second Quarter 

Covered 

Employment in 

Fairfax County % Change 

2012 597,533 - 

2013 595,638 (0.32%) 

2014 588,507 (1.20) 

2015 596,878 1.42 

2016 603,738 1.15 

________________________________________ 
Source:  U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, Quarterly Census of Employment Wages 
1 Covered employment means employees covered by state and federal unemployment laws. 

Construction Activity 

The following table includes data for residential and commercial construction activity in the 

County: 

 Building Permits Estimated 

Housing Units 

Started  Residential Properties 

Industrial and 

Commercial Properties 

Fiscal 

Year Number 

Estimated 

Value (000s) Number 

Estimated 

Value (000s) Number 

2007 11,4191 $757,848 4,9741 $1,297,296 1,599 

2008 10,7191 548,759 5,0461 619,613 2,238 

2009   8,7801 327,454 4,3611 413,719 1,361 

2010   8,977 428,941 3,946 375,126 1,150 

2011   9,371 480,268 4,595 397,435 1,797 

      

2012   9,454 538,307 4,308 602,444 3,023 

2013 10,610 509,957 3,907 710,488 1,930 

2014 10,469 895,638 5,054 660,063 4,154 

2015 10,320 529,104 4,714 475,241 2,580 

2016 10,268 616,151 4,844 496,006 2,961 

_____________________ 
Sources:  Building permits provided by Fairfax County Department of Public Works and Environmental Services, and estimated housing units 

started provided by the Weldon Cooper Center for Public Service, University of Virginia. 
1 Includes new and alteration/repair permits issued.  Does not include trade permits issued. 

Housing 

As reported in December 2016, single-family detached housing units represented 47.2% of the 

total housing units within Fairfax County.  Single-family attached housing accounted for 24.3%, and 

multi-family housing made up the remaining 28.5%.  In 2016, the median market value of all owned 

housing units, including condominiums, in Fairfax County was estimated by the Department of 

Neighborhood and Community Services to be $498,341. 

363



Attachment 6 
 

29 

Housing Units by Type of Structure 

 1980 1990 2000 2016 

 No. % No. % No. % No. % 

Single-Family: 

 Detached1 

 

125,580 

 

59.3 

 

163,029 

 

53.9 

 

181,591 

 

50.6 

 

195,273 

 

47.2 

         

 Attached2 30,833 14.6 67,306 22.3 87,171 24.3 100,354 24.3 

         

Multi-Family3 55,333 26.1 72,129 23.8 90,198 25.1 118,119 28.5 

         

Total 211,746 100.0 302,464 100.0 358,960 100.0 413,746 100.0 

____________________ 
Sources:  U.S. Bureau of the Census, U.S. Census of Housing (1980-2000) and 2016 data form Fairfax County Department of Neighborhood and 

Community Services 
1 Single-Family detached includes all single-family homes and mobile homes   
2 Single-Family attached includes duplexes, townhouses, and multiplex units 
3 Multi-Family includes condominiums, apartments and other units in structures with a common entryway 

The average sale price of housing units within the County comparing March 2017 to March 2016 

is listed below: 

Average Sale Price Housing Units 

Type of Structure March 2017 March 2016 % change 

All Homes $563,377    $530,553 6.20% 

Detached Homes   744,526 720,907 3.30 

Attached Homes   379,320 373,643 1.50 

____________________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Department of Management and Budget Economic Indicators – April 2017 

Colleges and Universities  

Sixteen institutions of higher education are located in Fairfax County:  George Mason University, 

ITT Technical Institute, Marymount University, Missouri State University (Department of Defense 

Studies), Northern Virginia Community College, Potomac College, Stratford University, Strayer 

University, University of Fairfax, University of North America, University of Phoenix, University of 

Virginia-Northern Virginia Center, Virginia International University, Virginia Polytechnic Institute, 

Washington Bible College – Capital Bible Seminary, and Westwood College.  Two campuses of the 

University of Virginia (both Virginia Tech and the Falls Church campus) are located in the Northern 

Virginia Graduate Center in Fairfax County.  George Mason University, with an enrollment of more than 

33,000 students, offers over 200 degree and certificate programs.  The Northern Virginia Community 

College serves more than 76,000 students in credit courses and non-credit workforce and professional 

development programs at six campuses and two centers throughout Northern Virginia.  American 

University, George Washington University, Catholic University, and Virginia Commonwealth University 

also operate programs in the County’s secondary schools and on military installations within the County. 

Cultural Amenities 

Wolf Trap Farm Park for the Performing Arts, a cultural facility internationally renowned for its 

ballet, symphony, concert, and opera offerings, and the only national park for the performing arts in the 

U.S., is located in north-central Fairfax County.  Nearly 300 cultural organizations – theater and opera 

companies, music and dance groups, community arts centers, festivals, and other activities – are based in 

and around the County.  The County also assists in supporting the Fairfax Symphony, an internationally 

364



Attachment 6 
 

30 

recognized orchestra that provides a variety of musical programs and outreach services to County 

residents.  Other well-known attractions in the County include Mount Vernon, the home of George 

Washington; Woodlawn Plantation, George Washington’s wedding gift to his nephew; and Gunston Hall, 

home of George Mason, author of the U.S. Bill of Rights and the first Constitution of Virginia.  The 

region also boasts professional baseball, basketball, football, ice hockey and soccer. 

DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Statement of Bonded Indebtedness 

Pursuant to the Constitution of Virginia and the Act, a county in Virginia is authorized to issue 

general obligation bonds secured by a pledge of its full faith and credit.  For the payment of such bonds, 

the Board of Supervisors of the County is required to levy, if necessary, an annual ad valorem tax on all 

property in the County subject to local taxation. 

As of June 30, 2016, the County had outstanding the following amounts of general obligation 

bonds: 

Purpose 

Total General 

Obligation Bonds 

School  $1,367,061,700 

General Government    806,088,300 

Total General Obligation Bonded Indebtedness1  $2,173,150,000 

_______________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Comprehensive Annual Financial Report FY 2016 
1See “Debt Administration -- Debt Service on Tax Supported Debt Obligations” herein for outstanding debt service as of July 1, 2017.   

The County does not rely upon short-term borrowings to fund operating requirements.  The 

County has never defaulted in the payment of either principal or interest on any general obligation 

indebtedness. 

Limits on Indebtedness 

There is no legal limit on the amount of general obligation bonded indebtedness that Fairfax 

County can at any time incur or have outstanding.  However, all such indebtedness must be approved by 

voter referendum prior to issuance.  Since 1975, the Board of Supervisors has established as a financial 

guideline a self-imposed limit on the average annual amount of bond sales.  In May 2006, the Board of 

Supervisors increased the bond sale target to $1.375 billion over a 5-year period, or an average of $275 

million annually, with the flexibility to expand to a maximum of $300 million based on market conditions 

and/or priority needs in any given year.  The actual amount of bond sales will be determined by 

construction funding requirements and municipal bond market conditions. 

The Board of Supervisors also has imposed limits which provide that the County’s long-term debt 

should not exceed 3% of the total market value of taxable real and personal property in the County.  The 

limits also provide that annual debt service should not exceed 10% of annual General Fund 

disbursements.  These limits may be changed by the Board of Supervisors, and they are not binding on 

future Boards of Supervisors of the County. 

365



Attachment 6 
 

31 

Bond Referenda Authorization 

[to be updated] The following chart presents by purpose Fairfax County’s authorized but unissued 

general obligation bond indebtedness as of February 7, 2017: 

Authorized Purpose 

Principal Amount 

Authorized 

but Unissued as of  

February 7, 2017 

 

School Improvements $429,410,500  

Transportation Improvements and Facilities 194,839,500  

Public Safety Facilities 184,760,000 

Parks and Park Facilities 137,410,000 

Human Services Facilities 85,000,000 

Library Facilities 16,015,000 

Flood Control 15,750,000  

Total  $1,063,185,000  

_____________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Department of Management and Budget  

Other Tax Supported Debt Obligations 

The Board of Supervisors of the County directly or indirectly appoints all or a portion of the 

governing body of several legally independent local and regional authorities that provide services to the 

County and its constituents.  Such authorities include those that issue revenue bonds that are not general 

obligations of the County and issue debt supported directly or contingently by appropriations of tax 

revenues by the County.  The full faith and credit of the County are not pledged to secure such bonds. 

In March 1994, the Fairfax County Economic Development Authority (“EDA”) issued 

$116,965,000 of lease revenue bonds to finance the County’s acquisition of two office buildings occupied 

by County agencies and departments.  In October 2003, EDA issued $85,650,000 of lease revenue 

refunding bonds to refund $88,405,000 of the 1994 lease revenue bonds.  The County is obligated by the 

terms of a lease agreement with EDA to pay amounts equal to debt service on EDA’s bonds.  The 

County’s obligation to make such payments is subject to the annual appropriation by the Board of 

Supervisors of sufficient funds for such purpose.  The coincidental terms of the bonds and the lease 

agreement extend to November 15, 2018. 

Beginning in 1996, the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority (“FCRHA”) has 

issued $42,460,000 of revenue bonds in seven series to finance the construction or renovation of five 

community center buildings, two adult day health care centers, one Head Start facility and one senior 

center.  The County was obligated by the terms of triple net lease agreements or payment agreements with 

FCRHA to pay amounts equal to debt service on FCRHA’s bonds.  The County’s obligation to make such 

payments is subject to the annual appropriation by the Board of Supervisors of funds for such purpose.  

The coincidental terms of the various bonds, lease agreements and payment agreements extend to May 1, 

2029.  On March 10, 2010, EDA issued $43,390,000 revenue bonds (Six Public Facilities Projects) (the 

“2010 Bonds”) and provided a portion of the proceeds of the 2010 Bonds to the County to enable the 

County pursuant to its lease agreements with FCRHA to purchase five facilities financed from FCRHA 

bond issuances in 1996, 1998, 1999 and 2004.  FCRHA used the funds provided by the County to redeem 

or defease the four series of bonds that financed the applicable facilities.  The original series issued by 

FCRHA in 2003 financing a head start facility remains outstanding.   

366



Attachment 6 
 

32 

In July 2000, the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors entered into a Master Development 

Agreement with a private developer to finance and construct a 135,000 square foot government center in 

the southeastern region of the County.  In November 2000, $29,000,000 of Certificates of Participation 

(“Certificates” or “COPs”) were issued, secured by a triple net lease on the property between the 

developer and the County.  The County was obligated by the terms of the lease agreement to pay an 

amount equal to the debt service on the Certificates.  The County accepted the government center as 

substantially complete in February 2002.  A portion of the proceeds of EDA’s 2010 Bonds were provided 

to the County to enable the County to exercise an option to purchase the government center (the “South 

County Government Center Purchase”).  The purchase price provided by the County was used to defease 

the COPs.  The County is obligated by the terms of a contract with the EDA to pay amounts equal to debt 

service on the EDA’s 2010 Bonds.  The County’s obligation to make such payments is subject to the 

annual appropriation by the Board of Supervisors of sufficient funds for such purpose.  The coincidental 

terms of EDA’s 2010 Bonds and the contract extend to April 2032. 

In June 2003, EDA issued $70,830,000 of revenue bonds (Laurel Hill Public Facilities Project), 

backed by a contract with the County.  Approximately $55,300,000 of the bonds were allocable to the 

financing of a new public secondary school in the southern part of the County and $15,530,000 of the 

bonds were allocable to the financing of a new 18 hole public golf course in the southern part of the 

County.  The County is obligated by the terms of a contract with EDA to pay amounts equal to debt 

service on EDA’s bonds.  The County’s obligation to make such payments is subject to the annual 

appropriation by the Board of Supervisors of sufficient funds for such purpose.  The coincidental terms of 

the bonds and the contract extend to June 2033.  In April 2012, EDA issued its $47,745,000 Revenue 

Refunding Bonds (Laurel Hill Public Facilities Projects) to refund a portion of the bonds issued in 2003.   

On January 27, 2005, EDA issued $60,690,000 of revenue bonds (School Board Central 

Administration Building Project Phase I) (the “School Board Building Bonds”), backed by a contract with 

the County.  The bonds were issued to finance the purchase of certain property, including an existing 

office building thereon, the purchase of certain land adjacent thereto and the improvement of the existing 

building for use by the School Board as an administration building.  The County is obligated by a contract 

with EDA to pay amounts equal to debt service on the School Board Building Bonds.  The County’s 

obligation to make such payments is subject to the annual appropriation by the Board of Supervisors of 

sufficient funds for such purpose.  The coincidental terms of the School Board Building Bonds and the 

contract extend to April 2035.  In June, 2014, EDA issued $170,690,000 Fairfax County Facilities 

Revenue and Refunding Bonds Series 2014 A (County Facilities Projects) to refund a portion of the 

School Board Building Bonds.   

On December 27, 2005, the Fairfax County Park Authority (“FCPA”) issued two promissory 

notes in the aggregate amount of $12,900,000 for the purpose of providing a portion of the purchase price 

of a conservation easement for preservation purposes on an approximately 41 acre parcel of land, and 

options to purchase certain land.  This land is known as “Salona,” an historic site within the County.  The 

County is obligated by the terms of a contract with FCPA to pay amounts sufficient to pay the principal 

and interest installments on the promissory notes when due.  The County’s obligation to make such 

payments is subject to the annual appropriation by the Board of Supervisors of sufficient funds for such 

purpose.  The coincidental terms of the promissory notes and contract extend to December 2025. 

On February 16, 2006, FCRHA issued a $40,600,000 Bond Anticipation Note (Affordable 

Housing Acquisition) Series 2006 (the “Series 2006 Note”).  The Series 2006 Note was issued for the 

purpose of providing a portion of the funds required for the purchase of a multi-family rental housing 

complex, known as Crescent Apartments, to further FCRHA’s goal of preserving existing affordable 

housing in Fairfax County.  In 2007, 2008, 2011 and 2013 FCRHA issued bond anticipation notes, each 

time to refinance previous bond anticipation notes issued for the financing or refinancing of the Crescent 

367



Attachment 6 
 

33 

Apartments project that were not paid from County money set aside to promote affordable housing.  In 

February, 2015 the County and FCRHA entered into a direct loan agreement with Bank of America, N.A. 

(the “Crescent Apartments Loan Agreement”), in a principal amount of $18,260,000, which together with 

other County funds refinanced the 2013A Notes.  The County is obligated by a contract with FCRHA to 

make payments equal to the debt service on the Crescent Apartments Loan Agreement.  The County’s 

obligation to make such payments is subject to annual appropriation.   

On November 28, 2007, FCRHA issued $105,485,000 Bond Anticipation Notes (Affordable 

Housing Acquisition) Series 2007B (the “Series 2007B Notes”).  The Series 2007B Notes were issued for 

the purpose of providing a portion of the funds required for the purchase of a multi-family rental housing 

complex located in Annandale, Virginia.  In 2008, FCRHA issued bond anticipation notes to refinance the 

Series 2007B Notes.  On August 20, 2009, FCRHA issued its Revenue Bonds (Affordable Housing 

Acquisition) Series 2009 in the aggregate amount of $94,950,000 (the “Series 2009 Bonds”) to pay a 

portion of the principal amount of the 2008 outstanding bond anticipation notes.  A portion of the 

principal amount of the 2008 bond anticipation notes, and the interest due on such notes, was paid from 

money set aside to promote affordable housing.  The County is obligated by the terms of a payment 

agreement with FCRHA, subject to the appropriation of funds for the purpose, to pay amounts equal to 

the interest on and the principal of the Series 2009 Bonds.  The coincidental terms of the Series 2009 

Bonds and the related payment agreement extend to October 2039.   

In July 2011, EDA issued $99,430,000 of Revenue Bonds (Wiehle Avenue Metrorail Station 

Parking Project).  The bonds were issued to finance a portion of the costs of construction of a public 

parking facility to serve the Wiehle Avenue Metrorail Station that was constructed as part of the extension 

of Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority’s Metrorail System in the Dulles Corridor.  The 

County is obligated by contract with EDA to pay amounts equal to debt service on EDA’s bonds.  The 

County’s obligation to make such payments is subject to the annual appropriation by the Board of 

Supervisors of sufficient funds for such purpose.  The coincidental terms of the bonds and the contract 

extend to August 2034.   

In May 2012, EDA issued $65,965,000 of Revenue Bonds (Community Services Facilities 

Projects) (the “2012 EDA Bonds”) backed by a contract between the County and EDA.  The bonds were 

issued to finance the improvement of certain properties to be used by the County as a mental health 

facility and as a neighborhood community center.  The County is obligated by a contract with EDA to pay 

amounts equal to debt service on such bonds.  The County’s obligation to make such payments is subject 

to the annual appropriation by the Board of Supervisors of sufficient funds for such purpose.  The 

coincidental terms of the bonds and the contract extend to March 2042.  Please see the front part of this 

Official Statement for information concerning the refunding of certain outstanding 2012 EDA Bonds. 

In November 2013, the County issued an $11,085,000 special subfund revenue bond (the “2013 

VRA Bond”) to Virginia Resources Authority (“VRA”).  In return for issuing the 2013 VRA Bond, VRA 

provided the County with a portion of the proceeds realized from its autumn 2013 pooled financing bond 

transaction.  The 2013 VRA Bond was issued to finance renovations to a complex that serves as a senior 

housing and assisted living facility, a senior center and an adult day health care center in the County.  The 

County is obligated by a contract with VRA to pay amounts equal to the debt service on the 2013 VRA 

Bond.  The County’s obligation to make such payments is subject to the annual appropriation by the 

Board of Supervisors of sufficient funds for such purpose.  The coincidental terms of the 2013 VRA Bond 

and the contract extend to October 2033.   

[In December 2013, EDA and the County entered into a master credit agreement with Bank of 

America, N.A., pursuant to which a revolving line of credit in an amount of up to $100,000,000 is made 

available to the County to provide interim financing for projects within the County’s Capital 

368



Attachment 6 
 

34 

Improvement Program or other similar projects.  In December 2016, the termination of date of the 

revolving line of credit was extended for a one-year period until December 2017.]  

In December 2013, EDA and the County entered into a loan agreement with T.D. Bank, N.A. (the 

“T.D. Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which the proceeds of the loan in the amount of $25,000,000 are 

made available to the County to provide financing for the costs of the planned replacement of County-

owned building subsystems such as roofs, electrical systems, HVAC, plumbing systems, carpet 

replacement, parking lot and garage repairs, fire alarm replacement and emergency generator replacement 

that have reached the end of their useful life (collectively, “County Building Improvements”).  The 

County is obligated by a contract with EDA to pay amounts equal to the debt service on the loan.  The 

County’s obligation to make such payments is subject to the annual appropriation by the Board of 

Supervisors of sufficient funds for such purpose.  In March 2015, the County obtained an additional 

$10,000,000 pursuant to the T.D. Loan Agreement to finance additional County Building Improvements. 

In June 2014, EDA issued $170,690,000 of Fairfax County Facilities Revenue and Refunding 

Bonds Series 2014 A (County Facilities Projects) (the “2014A County Facilities Projects Bonds”).  The 

2014A County Facilities Projects Bonds were issued to provide funds to finance the costs of the 

construction of a building to serve as a public safety facility for the County and the construction of a 

related parking garage, to refund and redeem prior to their respective maturities certain outstanding 

School Board Building Bonds and to capitalize interest on a portion of the Series 2014A County Facilities 

Projects Bonds up to and including the October 1, 2016, interest payment date.  The County is obligated 

by a contract with EDA to pay amounts equal to debt service on such bonds.  The County’s obligation to 

make such payments is subject to the annual appropriation by the Board of Supervisors of sufficient funds 

for such purpose.  The coincidental terms of the Series 2014A County Facilities Projects Bonds and the 

contract extend to October, 2034.   

In June 2014, EDA issued $30,175,000 of Fairfax County Facilities Revenue Bonds Series 2014 

B (Federally Taxable) (County Facilities Projects) (the “2014B County Facilities Projects Bonds, and 

together with the 2014A County Facilities Projects Bonds, the “2014 County Facilities Projects Bonds”) 

to provide funds to permanently finance the leasehold acquisition from LAF, LLC, of the Workhouse Arts 

Center located in the southeastern corner of the County, for a price sufficient to enable the lessee to retire 

all of its indebtedness relating to the Workhouse Arts Center.  The County leased the 55-acre site and 

existing historic structures of the Lorton Correctional Complex to the lessee in 2006, and the lessee 

incurred over $50 million in debt through EDA to finance improvements to convert the Complex into a 

center for visual and performing arts.  The County plans to provide for the continuation of the existing 

educational and cultural programs at the Center, while the County conducts a study of the optimum uses 

of and develops plans for further improvements to the Center.  The County is obligated by a contract with 

EDA to pay amounts equal to debt service on such bonds.  The County’s obligation to make such 

payments is subject to the annual appropriation by the Board of Supervisors of sufficient funds for such 

purpose.  The coincidental terms of the 2014B County Facilities Projects Bonds and the contract extend to 

October, 2033.   

On December 17, 2014, EDA entered into a loan agreement with the United States Department of 

Transportation and obtained a Transportation Infrastructure Financing and Innovation Act (TIFIA) loan in 

the principal amount up to $403,274,894 (plus capitalized interest).  Proceeds from the TIFIA loan are 

being used to finance the County’s share of Phase II of the Silver Line Metrorail expansion.  The County 

is obligated by a contract with the EDA to pay amounts equal to debt service on the TIFIA loan.  The 

County’s obligation to make such payments is subject to the annual appropriation by the Board of 

Supervisors of sufficient funds for such purpose.  The terms of the TIFIA loan provide for repayment to 

begin October 1, 2023, and end April 1, 2046.  As of May 31, 2017, the outstanding balance on the TIFIA 

Loan including accrued interest is $303,745,793. 

369



Attachment 6 
 

35 

[need to add paragraph concerning Lewinsville transaction] 

Lease Commitments and Contractual Obligations 

The County leases certain real estate, equipment, and sewer facilities under various long-term 

lease agreements.  In addition, pursuant to contracts with Arlington County, the Alexandria Sanitation 

Authority, the District of Columbia, and the Upper Occoquan Sewage Authority, the County is obligated 

to share the capital costs and associated debt service of certain facilities. 

In February 1990, the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission (“NVTC”) issued $79.4 

million of bonds to finance certain costs associated with the establishment of commuter rail services (the 

Virginia Railway Express) in the area of Northern Virginia bordering Washington, D.C.  Fairfax County 

has joined with other jurisdictions through a Master Agreement to bear certain costs associated with 

operating and insuring the rail service as well as servicing the debt issued by NVTC.  The Master 

Agreement requires that the County’s governmental officers charged with preparing its annual budget 

include an amount equal to its share of the costs of the Virginia Railway Express.  Each jurisdiction’s 

share is determined by a formula set out in the Master Agreement.  Fairfax County’s share of this cost 

was $4.9 million in FY 2015.  An additional $23 million in NVTC commuter rail revenue bonds were 

issued in early 1997 to purchase new rail coaches.  Debt service on these bonds is being funded 

predominantly by Commonwealth and federal funds and VRE revenues. 

On October 29, 2003, EDA issued $33,375,000 transportation contract revenue bonds to provide 

$30,000,000 to the Commonwealth Transportation Board (CTB) for construction of certain interchanges 

on Route 28 in the Route 28 Highway Transportation District, which is partly in Fairfax County and 

partly in Loudoun County.  On August 26, 2004, EDA issued $57,410,000 transportation contract revenue 

bonds to provide an additional $60 million for construction of additional interchanges.  The bonds issued 

in 2003 and 2004 financed the construction of six interchanges.  In March 2007, EDA issued $41,505,000 

transportation contract revenue bonds to finance a portion of the costs of constructing an additional four 

interchanges in the Route 28 Highway Transportation District.  In July 2008, EDA issued $51,505,000 

transportation contract revenue bonds to finance additional costs of constructing the additional four 

interchanges on Route 28.  See also the discussion of taxes levied by the County in the Route 28 Highway 

Transportation Improvement District, located partly in the County, to pay debt service on CTB and EDA 

bonds in “GOVERNMENT SERVICES – Transportation – Tax Districts” herein.  In May, 2012, EDA 

issued bonds to refund a portion of the bonds issued in 2003 and 2004 and in August 2016 EDA issued 

bonds to refund all of the outstanding bonds issued in March 2007 and a portion of the outstanding bonds 

issued in July 2008. 

On May 26, 2011, EDA issued $205,705,000 Transportation District Improvement Revenue 

Bonds (Silver Line Phase I Project) Series 2011 which provided $220 million to provide a portion of the 

financing for the expansion of Metrorail of approximately 11.5 miles of rail line through the County’s 

primary urban center, Tysons to Reston.  On October 10, 2012, EDA issued an additional $42,390,000 

Transportation District Improvement Revenue Bonds (Silver Line Phase I Project) Series 2012 to provide 

$48,400,000 for this purpose.  Debt service on the bonds is paid from a special improvements tax levied 

by the County on commercial and industrial use property located in the Phase I Dulles Rail Transportation 

Improvement District within the County.  On March 16, 2016, EDA issued $173,960,000 Transportation 

District Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds (Silver Line Phase I Project) Series 2016 which 

refunded certain of the outstanding bonds issued in 2011 and 2012. 

On June 9, 2011, the Mosaic District Community Development Authority (the “CDA”) issued 

$46,980,000 Revenue Bonds, Series 2011A, and the CDA issued in July, 2011 an additional $18,670,000 

Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 2011A-T (collectively, the “CDA Bonds”).  Proceeds from the CDA 

370



Attachment 6 
 

36 

Bonds were used to finance certain public infrastructure improvements within the Mosaic District 

Community Development Authority District (the “Mosaic District”) to support a mixed-use development 

to be constructed within the Mosaic District.  The CDA Bonds are payable primarily from certain 

incremental real estate tax revenues collected by the County in the District and certain special 

assessments imposed and collected within the by the County within the Mosaic District.  The payment of 

incremental real estate tax revenues and special assessments, as applicable, by the County to the CDA to 

be used for debt service payments on the CDA Bonds is subject to appropriation by the County. 

On March 8, 2017, EDA issued $69,645,000 Fairfax County Metrorail Parking System Project 

Revenue Bonds Series 2017 (“Parking System Revenue Bonds”) to provide funds to finance the 

construction of parking facilities to be owned and operated by the County, that will be located adjacent to 

WMATA’s Herndon and Innovation Center Metrorail Stations to be constructed as part of Phase II of the 

Silver Line extension of Metrorail.  Debt service on the Parking System Revenue Bonds is payable from 

the proceeds of net parking revenues collected from customers of parking facilities controlled by the 

County at certain WMATA Metrorail stations in the County and from certain surcharge revenues 

collected from customers of certain parking facilities controlled by WMATA. 

Debt Service on Tax Supported Debt Obligations  

Total principal and interest payments on the County’s outstanding tax supported debt obligations, 

including general obligation bonds and other tax supported debt obligations are presented in the following 

table as of _______________: 

371



Attachment 6 
 

37 

 General Obligation Bonds1 

Other Tax 

Supported Debt Obligations  

Fiscal Year 

Ending June 30 Principal Interest2  Principal Interest Total3 

2018 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

2019       

2020       

2021       

2022       

2023       

2024       

2025       

2026       

2027       

2028       

2029       

2030       

2031       

2032       

2033       

2034       

2035       

2036       

2037       

2038-2048                   0                   0                    0                   0                   0 

Total $0 $0  $0 $0 $0 
______________________________________________ 

Source:  Fairfax County Department of Management and Budget 
1Includes debt service on the Bonds. 
2 Does not reflect anticipated payments by the United States Treasury with respect to the County’s Public Improvement Bonds Series 2009E 

(Federally Taxable - Build America Bonds). 
3 Totals may not add due to rounding. 
4 Includes the debt service on the Crescent Apartments Loan Agreement, including the $13,260,000 principal installment of the Crescent 

Apartments Loan Agreement due on March 1, 2018, which is expected to be refinanced. 

Sewer Revenue Bonds 

Beginning in 1986, the County has issued several series of bonds under the General Bond 

Resolution for the benefit of the County’s sewage collection, treatment and disposal systems (the 

“System”), including $104,000,000 Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 1996 (the “1996 Bonds”) issued to 

provide funds for (i) paying a portion of the costs of certain additions, extensions and improvements to 

the System.  The County also issued $94,005,000 Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2004 (the 

“2004 Bonds”) on October 14, 2004, to provide funds, with other available funds, to refund the 

$91,430,000 of the County’s outstanding 1996 Bonds that were scheduled to mature on and after July 15, 

2007.  On June 17, 2009, the County issued $152,255,000 Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2009 (the “2009 

Bonds”) to provide funds to finance capital improvements for the benefit of the System as well as for the 

purchase of additional wastewater capacity for the benefit of the County.  On August 8, 2012, the County 

issued $90,710,000 Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2012 (the “2012 Bonds”) to provide funds to pay a 

portion of capital improvement costs allocable to the County at certain wastewater treatment facilities that 

are owned by, or that provide service to, the County which were required by the Commonwealth’s 

Department of Environmental Quality to reduce the total nitrogen discharge to newly required limits, the 

purchase of additional capacity at certain wastewater treatment facilities for the benefit of the County and 

the costs of certain additions, extensions and improvements to the County’s sewage collection, treatment 

372



Attachment 6 
 

38 

and disposal systems.  On April 16, 2014, the County issued $61,755,000 Sewer Revenue Refunding 

Bonds, Series 2014 to refund the outstanding 2004 Bonds.  In addition, on May 16, 2016, the County 

issued $164,450,000 Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016A to refund the outstanding 2009 

Bonds that were scheduled to mature on and after July 15, 2019, and the outstanding 2012 Bonds that 

were scheduled to mature on and after July 15, 2021.  On June 28, 2017, the County issued $85,785,000 

Sewer Revenue Bonds to provide funds to pay the costs of certain additions, extensions and 

improvements to the County’s sewage collection, treatment and disposal systems, paying capital 

improvement costs allocable to the County at certain wastewater treatment facilities that provide service 

to the County and, if necessary purchasing additional capacity at certain wastewater treatment facilities 

for the benefit of the County. 

Wastewater treatment capacity and services are also provided to the Integrated Sewer System 

pursuant to contracts with Arlington County, the Alexandria Renew Enterprises (“ARE”), the District of 

Columbia, and the Upper Occoquan Sewage Authority (“UOSA”), whereby the County is obligated to 

share the capital costs and associated debt service of certain facilities.  The County’s obligations to such 

entities are payable solely from the revenues of the Integrated Sewer System on a basis, under the General 

Bond Resolution, subordinate to its sewer revenue bonds, and are not general obligations of the County.   

The County has entered into a service agreement with ARE that obligates the County for 60% of 

the cost of capacity of the ARE wastewater treatment plant and a joint use system, including debt service 

on ARE bonds issued for ARE system improvements where the County does not otherwise provide for its 

share of the capital cost of such improvements.  The County’s share of previous upgrades was $200 

million. The County’s share of additional upgrades, as estimated by ARE, is approximately $80 million.  

The County obtained permanent funding from the Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund in FY 2001 

and again in FY 2002 for a portion of its share of the initial costs from the proceeds of two loans 

aggregating $90 million.  The County issued to the Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund the 

County’s $40 million subordinated sewer revenue bonds which now bear interest at the rate of 0.95% per 

annum and $50 million subordinated sewer revenue bonds which now bear interest at the rate of 0.95% 

per annum, in evidence of its obligation to repay the loans.  The County expects to provide the balance of 

its share of the costs of ARE’s improvement project from other borrowings and available Integrated 

Sewer System funds. 

In January 1996, UOSA issued $330.86 million of bonds:  $288.60 million to finance the cost of 

expanding its advanced wastewater treatment plant from 32 mgd to 54 mgd and $42.26 million to 

refinance certain of its outstanding bonds.  In January 2004, UOSA refunded a portion of this debt for 

debt service savings and accordingly revised the participating member jurisdictions’ debt service 

schedules.  In November 2004 and July 2005 UOSA refunded additional portions of its outstanding debt.  

In February of 2007, UOSA issued $90.315 million of Regional Sewer System Revenue Refunding 

Bonds to advance refund another portion of the outstanding bonds issued in 1996.  In December 2007, 

UOSA issued $119.715 million in bonds to finance the expansion and replacement of certain systems 

within its wastewater treatment plant.  In December 2010, UOSA issued $85.18 million in bonds to 

finance UOSA capital improvements including interceptor and pump delivery systems, nutrient reduction 

projects and miscellaneous plant and hydraulic improvements.  See the table below for the County’s debt 

service obligations on outstanding UOSA bonds.  In 2013 UOSA issued two series of refunding bonds for 

debt service savings and accordingly reduced the participating member jurisdictions’ debt service 

payment requirements.  In 2014 UOSA issued another series of refunding bonds for debt service savings 

and reduced the participating member jurisdictions’ debt service payment requirements.  In 2016 UOSA 

issued another series of refunding bonds for debt service savings and again reduced participating member 

jurisdictions’ debt service payment requirements.  Also in 2016 UOSA issued $20.915 million in bonds to 

finance improvements to its regional advanced wastewater treatment system. 

373



Attachment 6 
 

39 

The debt service on the County’s outstanding sewer revenue bonds, its subordinated sewer 

revenue bonds payable to the Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund evidencing loans for a portion of 

the County’s costs associated with the ARE improvement project, and its subordinated obligations 

payable for capacity under its contract with UOSA, as of _______, 2017, is reflected in the following 

table: 

 Sewer Revenue Bonds 

Other Sewer Debt Service 

Obligations  

Fiscal Year 

Ending June 30 Principal Interest SRF/VRA1 UOSA2 Total3 

2018 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

2019      

2020      

2021      

2022      

      

2023      

2024      

2025      

2026      

2027      

      

2028      

2029      

2030      

2031      

2032      

      

2033-2048 0 0 - 0 0 

            

Total $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

___________________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Department of  Public Works and Environmental Services 
1 Debt service on the County’s subordinated sewer revenue bonds issued to the Virginia Water Facilities Revolving Fund evidencing the County’s 

obligation to repay $90 million in loans made to the County by Virginia Resources Authority from the Fund. 
2 Based on the County’s share of scheduled UOSA debt service.  Does not reflect any anticipated payments by the United States Treasury on 

outstanding UOSA Build America Bonds. 
3 Totals may not add due to rounding. 

Debt Ratios  

The following data show trends in the relationship of the general obligation bond indebtedness of 

the County to the estimated market value of taxable property in the County and to its estimated population 

and the trend of general obligation debt service requirements as a percentage of General Fund 

disbursements. 

374



Attachment 6 
 

40 

Trend of Debt as a Percentage of 

Estimated Market Value of Taxable Property (in 000s) 

Fiscal Year 

Ended June 30 Bonded Indebtedness1 

Estimated 

Market Value2 Percentage 

2008 $2,109,908 $245,338,140 0.86% 

2009 2,131,273 244,973,908 0.87 

2010 2,318,699 222,951,827 1.04 

2011 2,554,051 204,324,080 1.25 

2012 2,734,135 210,318,077 1.30 

2013 2,514,452 211,298,487 1.19 

2014 2,766,717 224,369,644 1.23 

2015 2,770,822 236,403,666 1.17 

2016 2,750,573 244,397,085 1.13 

20173 2,929,242 248,403,291 1.18 

20183 3,002,833 252,978,261 1.19 

___________________ 
Sources:  Fairfax County Comprehensive Annual Financial Report FY 2008-2016 and Department of Finance; FY 2017 Adopted Budget Plan. 
1 Bonded Indebtedness beginning with Fiscal Year 2013 included herein differs from the data shown in Tables 3.1, 3.2 and 3.4 of the Statistical 

Section of the County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report based on the treatment of bond premium and discounts.  In the Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report, beginning with Fiscal Year 2013, Bonded Indebtedness represents principal outstanding plus unamortized premium 

(minus unamortized discount).  In the table above, Bonded Indebtedness is based on outstanding principal without adjustment for unamortized 
premium or discount. The total includes General Obligation Bonds and other tax supported debt payable from the General Fund including the 

County’s obligation to make payments with respect to “Other Tax Supported Debt Obligations.” 
2 Estimated market value is based on recorded values as of January 1 of the prior fiscal year, and reflects the original book value and does not 
reflect any adjustments made during the fiscal year. 

3 Estimates per the FY 2017 Revised Budget Plan and FY 2018 Advertised Budget Plan per the Fairfax County Department of Management and 

Budget. 

375



Attachment 6 
 

41 

Debt Per Capita 

Fiscal Year 

Ended 

June 30 

Bonded 

Indebtedness  

(in 000s)1 

Estimated 

Population  

(in 000s)2 

Bonded 

Indebtedness 

Per Capita 

Fairfax County 

Per Capita 

Income3 

Debt Per Capita 

as Percentage of 

Per Capita 

Income 

      

2008 $2,109,908 1,050 $2,009 $70,822 2.84% 

2009 2,131,273 1,074 1,984 69,241 2.87 

2010 2,318,699 1,082 2,143 67,094 3.19 

2011 2,554,051 1,101 2,320 64,637 3.59 

2012 2,734,135 1,119 2,443 68,847 3.55 

2013 2,514,452 1,131 2,223 71,607 3.10 

2014 2,766,717 1,138 2,431 71,752 3.39 

2015 2,770,822 1,142 2,426 75,007 3.25 

2016 2,750,573 1,142 2,409 75,007 3.21 

20174 2,929,242 1,142 2,526 75,007 3.42 

20184 3,002,833 1,142 2,629 75,007 3.51 

____________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Comprehensive Annual Financial Report FY 2016 
1 Bonded Indebtedness beginning with Fiscal Year 2013 included herein differs from the data shown in Tables 3.1, 3.2 and 3.4 of the Statistical 
Section of the County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report based on the treatment of bond premium and discounts.  In the Comprehensive 

Annual Financial Report, beginning with Fiscal Year 2013, Bonded Indebtedness represents principal outstanding plus unamortized premium 

(minus unamortized discount).  In the table above, Bonded Indebtedness is based on outstanding principal without adjustment for unamortized 
premium or discount.  The total includes General Obligation Bonds and other tax supported debt payable from the General Fund including the 

County’s obligation to make payments with respect to “Other Tax Supported Debt Obligations.” 
2 U.S. Census Bureau, 2010 Decennial Censuses,  U. S. Census Bureau Annual Estimates of the Resident Population: April 1, 2010, to July 1, 
2015.)  2016 and 2017 estimates not yet available. 

3 Source:  Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA), U.S. Department of Commerce, 2008-2014 and Fairfax County Department of Management and 

Budget 2015-2018. 
4 Estimates per the FY 2017 Revised Budget Plan and FY 2018 Advertised Budget Plan per the Fairfax County Department of Management and 

Budget. 

Debt Service Requirements as a 

Percentage of General Fund Disbursements (in 000s) 

Fiscal Year 

Ended 

June 30 

Debt Service 

Requirements1 

General Fund 

Disbursements Percentage 

    

2008 $267,624 $3,320,397 8.06% 

2009 276,105 3,354,860 8.23 

2010 277,370 3,309,905 8.38 

2011 285,551 3,343,689 8.54 

2012 288,302 3,419,953 8.43 

2013 289,714 3,533,098 8.20 

2014 295,451 3,637,841 8.12 

2015 313,969 3,729,625 8.42 

2016 323,859 3,860,655 8.39 

20172 333,904 4,076,019 8.19 

20182 354,177 4,103,205 8.63 

_______________________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Comprehensive Annual Financial Report FY 2016 
1 The Debt Service Requirements include total principal and interest payments on the County’s outstanding tax supported debt obligations, 
including all debt listed under the heading - “Other Tax Supported Debt Obligations.” 

2 Estimates per the FY 2017 Revised Budget Plan and FY 2018 Advertised Budget Plan per Fairfax County Department of Management and 

Budget.  Fiscal year property taxes are levied on prior year assessments. 

376



Attachment 6 
 

42 

Underlying Bonded Indebtedness 

The following table shows the underlying bonded indebtedness of towns within the boundaries of 

Fairfax County as of June 30, 2016: 

Town of Vienna1 General Obligation Bonds and Capital 

Leases 

 

$26,187,000 

   

Town of Herndon1 General Obligation and Public Improvement 

Notes 

 

11,344,570 

   

Total Underlying Indebtedness  $37,531,570 
_______________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Comprehensive Annual Financial Report FY 2016 
1  Underlying  Bonded Indebtedness for Fiscal Year 2016 included herein differs from the data shown in Tables 3.1, 3.2 and 3.4 of the Statistical 

Section of the County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report based on the treatment of bond premium and discounts.  In the Comprehensive 

Annual Financial Report, beginning with FY 2013, Bonded Indebtedness represents principal outstanding plus unamortized premium (minus 

unamortized discount).  In the table above, Bonded Indebtedness is based on outstanding principal without adjustment for unamortized premium 

or discount. 

This underlying bonded indebtedness are obligations of the respective towns only and are not 

obligations of Fairfax County. 

The bonds, notes and other obligations of Fairfax Water, the Fairfax County Park Authority, the 

Fairfax County Industrial Development Authority, the Fairfax County Economic Development Authority, 

the Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority, the Northern Virginia Health Center 

Commission, the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission, and the Mosaic District Community 

Development Authority are not obligations of the County. 

TAX BASE DATA 

Fairfax County annually reassesses over 350,000 parcels of real property employing a computer 

assisted mass reassessment program for both residential and non-residential properties.  The County uses 

a statistic called the coefficient of dispersion (the “Coefficient of Dispersion”) which measures the 

uniformity of assessment to sale ratios among properties.  The lower the coefficient of dispersion, the 

more uniform the assessment.  The overall Coefficient of Dispersion in Fairfax County for tax year 2015 

(FY 2016) was 3.5%, and the assessment to sales price ratio was 0.948.  A Coefficient of Dispersion of 

15% is considered good by professional assessing standards.  The County falls into the excellent category, 

indicating a high degree of assessment uniformity and equity. 

The assessed value for FY 2018 of the real estate tax base, as reported for calendar year 2017 

assessments in the main tax book for Fairfax County, increased by 1.8% in value from the prior year. 

The data in the following five tables are presented to illustrate trends and characteristics of the 

assessed value of real and personal property which are major sources of County-derived revenue: 

377



Attachment 6 
 

43 

Assessed Value of All Taxable Property1 

Fiscal Year Real Property   Personal Property Total 

2009 $226,983,531,614  $15,516,080,309  $242,499,611,923  

2010 204,047,166,164  14,502,191,112  218,549,357,276  

2011 185,755,271,151  14,767,968,334  200,523,239,485  

2012 192,062,068,734  15,265,499,862  207,327,568,596  

2013 198,178,754,789  16,053,881,534  214,232,636,323  

2014 205,045,008,994 16,420,356,751 221,465,365,745  

2015 216,832,912,747 16,518,808,610 233,351,721,357  

2016 224,411,716,328 16,895,179,834 241,306,896,162 

20172 231,053,798,265 17,349,492,361 248,403,290,626 

20182 235,375,468,249 17,602,793,390 252,978,261,639 

________________________________________________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Department of Tax Administration and Department of Management and Budget.  All years included 

figures for the Public Service Corporation. All Public Service Corporation real property assessments are required under Virginia 

law to be made at 100% of estimated market value annually by the State Corporation Commission. 
1 Figures are net of exonerated assessments and tax relief for the elderly and disabled. 
2 Estimates per the FY 2017 Revised Budget Plan and FY 2018 Advertised Budget Plan per Fairfax County Department of 

Management and Budget.  Fiscal year property taxes are levied on prior year assessments. 

Tax Rates per $100 Assessed Value 

(Fiscal Year) 

Tax Category 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

           

Real Estate – Regular and Public Service $0.92  $1.04  $1.09  $1.07  $1.075  $1.085  $1.09  $1.09  $1.13 $1.13  

Personal Property – Regular  4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 

Personal Property – Public Service 0.92 1.04 1.09 1.07 1.075 1.085 1.09 1.09 1.13 1.13 

Personal Property – Machinery and Tools  4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 

Personal Property – Development 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 4.57 

Personal Property – Mobile Homes 0.92 1.04 1.09 1.07 1.075 1.085 1.09 1.09 1.13 1.13 

Personal Property – Special1  0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Adopted Budgets, FY 2009-FY 2017 and FY 2018 Advertised Budget Plan 
1 Includes vehicles specially equipped for the handicapped, privately owned vans used for van pools, vehicles belonging to volunteer fire and 

rescue squad members, vehicles owned by auxiliary police and reserve deputy sheriffs, certain property of homeowners associations, antique 

cars, aircraft, including flight simulators, and motor vehicles owned by qualified elderly or disabled individuals, and boats. 

378



Attachment 6 
 

44 

Commercial-Industrial Percentage of the 

Total Assessed Value of Real Property1 

Fiscal Year2 Percent (%)3 

2009 21.06 

2010 22.67 

2011 19.70 

2012 19.64 

2013 20.77 

2014 19.96 

2015 19.01 

2016 18.67 

2017  18.89 

2018 19.12 

____________________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Department of Tax Administration  
1 Assessed values are reported by State of Virginia Land Use Codes.  Vacant land is defined according to zoning classification. 
2 Fiscal year property taxes are levied on prior year assessments. 
3 Includes the Towns of Vienna, Herndon and Clifton. 

The following data show the assessed value of real property of the 25 largest holders of real 

property in the County as of January 1, 2017. 

379



Attachment 6 
 

45 

Top 25 

Holders of Real Property in Fairfax County 

As of January 1, 2017 

Rank Property Owner Property Type Total Assessment1 

1 Tysons Corner Property Holdings LLC Tysons Corner Regional Shopping Mall $1,376,257,960  

2 Pr Springfield Town Center LLC Springfield Town Center               597,030,680  

3 Capital One Bank Office               524,313,260  

4 US Bank National Association Office               515,886,820  

5 Fairfax Company Of Virginia LLC Fair Oaks Mall               466,683,300  

6 Camden Summit Partnership LP Apartments                351,573,180  

7 Washington Gas Light Company Public Utility               321,508,844  

8 Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Office               311,075,800  

9 Homart Newco One Inc Commercial & Industrial               301,531,350  

10 Reston Town Center Property LLC Commercial & Retail               300,421,890  

11 South Office Market LLC Office               285,527,090  

12 Ps Business Parks LP Industrial Parks               251,879,350  

13 Hyundai Able Patriots Park LLC Commercial & Industrial               247,021,180  

14 Tysons Corner Office I LLC Office               235,501,060  

15 Home Properties Mount Vernon LLC Apartments and Office               225,090,580  

16 Rbdw Avant LLC Office               224,357,820  

17 WashReit Riverside Apartments LLC Apartments               224,198,140  

18 Tamares 7950 Owner LLC Office               217,515,490  

19 Writ LP Commercial & Industrial               215,955,830  

20 Dunn Loring Development Company LLC Commercial & Retail               191,162,520  

21 Mitre Corporation Office               190,082,460  

22 Tysons Corner Residential Apartments and Office               187,237,670  

23 Eqr-Skyline Towers LLC Apartments and Office               184,781,180  

24 Gba Associates Limited Partnership Office               183,616,340  

25 Two Freedom Square LLC  Office               176,918,140  

Total $8,307,127,934 

___________________ 
Source:  Fairfax County Department of Tax Administration, January 1, 2017, tax rolls 
1 As of January 1, 2017, the assessed value of the real property of the 25 largest holders of real property in the County represented 3.53% of the 
total assessed value of all real property in Fairfax County, excluding tax-exempt properties.  January 1, 2017, assessments generate tax revenue 

in FY 2018. 

380



Attachment 6 
 

46 

Real and Personal Property 

Tax Levies and Tax Collections 

Fiscal 

Year Total Levy1 

Current 

Collections2 

% of  

Total Levy 

Collected3 

Collection of 

Delinquent 

Taxes 

Total Current & 

Delinquent 

Taxes4 

% of Total 

Levy & 

Delinquent 

Taxes 

2009 $2,616,413,372 $2,597,768,048 99.29 $23,406,200  $2,621,174,248 100.18 

2010 2,617,630,834 2,611,825,961 99.78 21,900,682  2,633,726,643 100.61 

2011 2,529,322,489 2,519,767,097 99.62 22,696,208  2,542,463,305 100.52 

2012 2,578,579,112 2,563,131,721 99.40  22,034,282  2,585,166,003 100.26 

2013 2,685,186,192 2,679,668,935 99.79 18,659,978  2,698,328,913 100.49 

2014 2,789,010,004 2,776,199,493 99.54 21,735,390  2,797,934,883 100.32 

2015 2,932,029,373 2,926,228,317 99.80 23,425,378 2,949,653,695 100.60 

2016 3,027,718,274 3,019,636,276 99.73 21,161,598 3,040,797,874 100.43 

2017 3,210,450,869 3,189,385,196 99.34 22,014,102 3,211,399,298 100.03 

2018 3,264,983,544 3,249,807,986 99.54 22,714,102 3,272,522,088 100.23 

__________________ 
Sources:  Fairfax County Department of Management and Budget and Department of Tax Administration 
1 The total levy is the levy for General Fund real and personal property taxes and does not include the property tax levy for Special Revenue 

Funds, e.g. for refuse collection and community centers. 
2 Current collections do not include tax collections for the Special Revenue Funds or payments in lieu of taxes.  As a result of revised accounting 

procedures, the collection of penalty and interest payments for late payments of current taxes is included in the collection of current taxes rather 

than under the collection of back taxes. 
3 The percentage of levy is not the collection rate since current collections also include penalty and interest payments for late payments of current 

taxes. 
4 FY 2008 through FY 2016 from Fairfax County Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports; FY 2017 and FY 2018 are estimates per the FY 2017 
Revised Budget Plan and FY 2018 Advertised Budget Plan per Fairfax County Department of Management and Budget and Department of Tax 

Administration. 

Section 58.1-3916 of the Code of Virginia authorizes Fairfax County, pursuant to Section 4-10-1 

of the County Code, to impose a penalty of 10% for failure to pay taxes when due, with interest to be due 

on such taxes and penalty following the day such taxes are due at the rate of 10% per annum the first year 

and at the greater of 10% per annum and the rate established pursuant to Section 6621 of the Internal 

Revenue Code for the second and subsequent years of delinquency. 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Five Year Summary of Revenues, Expenditures and Fund Balances for the General Fund 

The financial data shown in the following table represent a summary for the five fiscal years 

ended June 30, 2016, of the revenues, expenditures, and fund balances accounted for in the County’s 

General Fund. 

381



Attachment 6 
 

47 

Source:  Fairfax County Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2012-2016, Exhibit A-3 - Statement of 

Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances for Governmental Funds. 

Fiscal Years Ended June 30 

 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

REVENUES      

Taxes $2,881,577,799  $3,008,000,381   $3,091,497,604   $3,233,977,029   $3,327,545,952  

Permits, fees, and licenses 36,843,892  38,201,352  39,351,756  45,545,990  48,443,054  

Intergovernmental 347,750,676  339,758,071  345,208,093  344,894,850  352,320,212  

Charges for services 66,804,146  68,546,107  69,207,776  71,273,201  79,086,734  

Fines and forfeitures 17,147,019  16,792,348  16,669,844  16,298,999  14,566,333  

Developers' contributions   -  10,473  14,906          5,757      225,101  

Use of money and property 19,624,211  18,554,603  15,033,510  15,701,691  22,679,412  

Recovered costs 12,351,649   7,695,967   9,426,879  11,655,234   9,423,456  

Gifts, donations, and contributions  1,145,815   1,294,507      771,379      916,287      969,583  

Total revenues $3,383,245,207  $3,498,853,809  $3,587,181,747  $3,740,269,038  $3,855,259,837  

EXPENDITURES      

Current:      

General government admin.      134,174,444       165,846,296       163,828,478       162,063,387       159,574,082  

Judicial administration 48,614,484  44,865,364  49,302,583  52,120,422  54,237,643  

Public safety 540,295,384  581,786,118  620,073,326  634,174,750  646,258,835  

Public works 83,525,370  79,745,099  86,012,739  84,038,207  88,201,178  

Health and welfare 362,790,788  349,735,140  352,430,786  362,016,707  381,760,426  

Community development 54,506,493  49,760,626  55,705,696  57,331,723  60,981,469  

Parks, recreation, and cultural 34,383,659  37,985,735  35,409,661  34,297,699  36,311,287  

Intergovernmental:      

Community development  9,828,749   9,989,987  10,382,091  10,492,636  10,746,095  

Parks, recreation, and cultural 31,890,125  29,591,048  31,427,759  31,114,997  31,502,197  

Education - for Public Schools  1,610,974,578  1,683,462,921  1,717,128,761  1,768,588,028  1,838,341,763  

Capital outlay:      

General government admin. 38,902,298   9,623,346   9,073,520  11,071,093  13,020,325  

Judicial administration     120,744      167,696        54,113      225,921        40,493  

Public safety     496,518      297,806      675,118   1,388,288   7,726,916  

Public works     336,125      614,691      106,271      128,823      265,695  

Health and welfare     525,254      628,993      213,352      319,412      136,984  

Community development         8,943        19,684        27,670          7,318        44,570  

Parks, recreation, and cultural  2,959,225   3,564,993   3,919,566   4,275,727   4,878,597  

Debt service:      

Principal retirement     431,927      347,692      362,258      314,660      228,213  

Interest and other charges       71,724        52,732        38,166        22,987          9,767  

Total expenditures $2,954,836,832  $3,048,085,967  $3,136,171,914   $ 3,213,992,785   $3,334,266,535  

Revenues over (under) 

expenditures 

   428,408,375     450,767,842     451,009,833     526,276,253     520,993,302  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)     

Transfers in 12,571,043  10,030,457  24,195,595  12,473,516  14,363,192  

Transfers out (463,707,216) (485,201,216)  (501,669,578) (515,632,051) (526,388,805) 

Capital Leases   -    -    -    -   6,502,955  

Total other financing sources (uses)  (451,136,173)  (475,170,759)  (477,473,983)  (503,158,535)  (505,522,658) 

Net change in fund balances (22,727,798) (24,402,917)     (26,464,150)        23,117,718         15,470,644  

Beginning Fund Balance      376,398,964       353,671,166       329,268,249       302,804,099       325,921,817  

Ending Fund Balance      $353,671,166       $329,268,249       $302,804,099       $325,921,817       $341,392,461  

382



Attachment 6 
 

48 

Financial Policies 

The Board of Supervisors has been guided by long-standing financial policies and guidelines in 

the conduct of financial management.  The governing statement of financial policy is contained within the 

Ten Principles of Sound Financial Management (“Ten Principles”).  Adopted by the Board of Supervisors 

in 1975 and amended as needed to address changing economic conditions and management practices, the 

Ten Principles have been reaffirmed and have guided each succeeding Board of Supervisors to establish 

strong fiscal management tools and practices.  The Ten Principles provide for the integration of land use 

planning with capital and operating budgets; establish guidelines for the development of annual balanced 

budgets; stress the importance of maintaining positive cash balances; establish firm not to exceed limits to 

debt ratios; provide guidance on cash management, internal controls, and performance measurement; 

provide guidelines restricting the proliferation of underlying debt and use of moral obligation financing; 

and encourage the development of a diversified economy within the County. 

In 1982, the Board of Supervisors adopted a financial policy requiring maintenance of a 

“managed reserve” in the General Fund beginning on July 1, 1982, at a level not less than 2% of General 

Fund disbursements.  This reserve has been incorporated in the budget each fiscal year.  This reserve was 

implemented to provide for temporary financing of unforeseen needs of an emergency nature and to 

permit orderly adjustment to changes resulting from termination of revenue sources through actions of 

other governmental bodies.  In 1985, the Board of Supervisors adopted a policy on appropriations during 

quarterly budget reviews, which provides that non-recurring revenues should be used for either capital 

expenditures or other non-recurring expenditures and that quarterly review adjustments are not to exceed 

2% of the General Fund disbursements.  In addition, on September 13, 1999, the Board of Supervisors 

established a Revenue Stabilization Fund with a goal of reaching 3% of General Fund disbursements.  As 

of the FY 2006 Third Quarter Review, the Revenue Stabilization Fund was fully funded at 3% of General 

Fund disbursements.  This reserve is designed to address ongoing requirements in years of significant 

economic downturn.  Criteria for withdrawals from the Revenue Stabilization Fund include (1) projected 

revenues must reflect a decrease of greater than 1.5% from the current fiscal year estimate, (2) 

withdrawals must not exceed one-half of the fund balance in any fiscal year, and (3) withdrawals must be 

used in combination with spending cuts or other measures.   

From time to time the Board of Supervisors has amended the Ten Principles in order to address 

changing economic conditions and management practices.  Changes adopted on April 21, 2015, reflect 

the Board’s commitment to increasing the County’s reserve policies and to continue to strengthen the 

County’s financial position.  The Managed Reserve target was increased from 2% to 4% of General Fund 

disbursements and the Revenue Stabilization Fund target was increased from 3% to 5% of General Fund 

Receipts.  In addition, an Economic Opportunity Reserve was established to stimulate economic growth 

and will provide for strategic investment opportunities that are identified as priorities by the Board of 

Supervisors.  When fully funded, this reserve will equal 1% of total General Fund disbursements in any 

given fiscal year.  Funding for this reserve would only occur after the Managed Reserve and the Revenue 

Stabilization Fund are fully funded at their new levels of 4% and 5%, respectively.  Funding of this 

increase will begin immediately; however, it will take several years to fully fund the new target level.  As 

of June 30, 2016, the Managed Reserve and Revenue Stabilization Fund were funded at $97.2 million and 

$141.6 million, respectively. 

Other policies and tools that have been designed to enhance the impact of the Ten Principles 

include annual adoption of budgetary guidelines, formal establishment of various expenditure, revenue, 

and special purpose reserves, capital improvement planning guidelines, policies for risk management, 

guidelines for acceptance of grant awards, and planning for information technology.  Various tools in 

active use by the County include the annual budget, the Capital Improvement Program, revenue and 

383



Attachment 6 
 

49 

financial forecasts, and management initiatives such as a performance measurement program, a pay-for-

performance management system, workforce planning, and various information technology initiatives. 

Certain Financial Procedures 

Description of Funds 

The County’s annual audited financial statements include the funds administered by the Board of 

Supervisors and the School Board.  The accounts of the County are organized on the basis of funds, each 

of which is considered to be a separate accounting entity.  The transactions in each fund are accounted for 

by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts which comprise its assets, liabilities, fund balance, 

revenues, and expenditures. 

Annual Financial Statements 

The County has no legal authority to borrow in anticipation of future years’ revenues, except by 

the issuance of bonds or bond anticipation notes. 

Prior to the beginning of each fiscal year, the Board of Supervisors adopts a budget plan 

consisting of contemplated expenditures and estimated revenues for such fiscal year.  On the basis of the 

adopted budget plan, the Board of Supervisors appropriates funds for the expenditures, and establishes tax 

rates sufficient to produce the revenues, contemplated in the budget plan. 

The annual budgeting process for a fiscal year begins in the first quarter of the previous fiscal 

year with the submission by agency directors of budget requests to the Department of Management and 

Budget.  During the second quarter, budget requests are reviewed and meetings between the County 

Executive, Deputy County Executives, and agency directors are held to discuss agency requests.  Upon 

receipt of the preliminary budget of the School Board in the third quarter, the County Executive prepares 

an initial budget for submission to the Board of Supervisors and proposes tax rates sufficient to produce 

revenues needed to meet expenditures contemplated in the initial budget.  After work sessions with the 

Board of Supervisors and public hearings on the proposed budget, changes are made and the final budget 

is adopted.  Tax rates are established prior to the beginning of the fiscal year for which the budget is 

prepared. 

During the fiscal year, quarterly reviews of revenue and expenditures are undertaken by the 

County Department of Management and Budget.  On the basis of these reviews, the Board of Supervisors 

revises appropriations as needed or desired. 

In 1982, the Board of Supervisors adopted a financial policy requiring maintenance of a 

“managed reserve” in the General Fund beginning on July 1, 1982, at a level not less than 2% of General 

Fund disbursements.  This reserve has been incorporated in the budget each fiscal year.  This reserve was 

implemented to provide for temporary financing of unforeseen needs of an emergency nature and to 

permit orderly adjustment to changes resulting from termination of revenue sources through actions of 

other governmental bodies.  In 1985, the Board of Supervisors adopted a policy on appropriations during 

quarterly budget reviews, which provides that non-recurring revenues should be used for either capital 

expenditures or other non-recurring expenditures and that quarterly review adjustments are not to exceed 

2% of the General Fund disbursements.  In addition, on September 13, 1999, the Board of Supervisors 

established a Revenue Stabilization Fund with a goal of reaching 3% of General Fund disbursements.  As 

of the FY 2006 Third Quarter Review, the Revenue Stabilization Fund was fully funded at 3% of General 

Fund disbursements.  This reserve continues to be fully funded and currently totals $102.8 million.  This 

reserve is designed to address ongoing requirements in years of significant economic downturn.  Criteria 

384



Attachment 6 
 

50 

for withdrawals from the Revenue Stabilization Fund include (1) projected revenues must reflect a 

decrease of greater than 1.5% from the current fiscal year estimate, (2) withdrawals must not exceed one-

half of the fund balance in any fiscal year, and (3) withdrawals must be used in combination with 

spending cuts or other measures. 

Investment Management Policy 

The County’s Division of Investments and Cash Management operates under the direction of the 

Investment Committee comprised of the Chief Financial Officer/Director of the Department of 

Management and Budget, the Director of the Department of Finance, the Director of the Department of 

Tax Administration, and the Deputy Director of the Department of Finance.  Guided by a formal 

investment policy, the Committee continually reviews the County’s investment policies and strategies and 

monitors daily investment activity. 

During FY 2016, the County’s average portfolio size (which includes investments in the General 

Fund, Special Revenue Funds, and Enterprise Funds) was approximately $2.96 billion.  The funds are 

invested in U.S. Treasury obligations, obligations of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, 

Federal Home Loan Banks, Federal Farm Credit Bank, and Fannie Mae, bankers’ acceptances, 

commercial paper (rated A1/P1 or higher), negotiable and non-negotiable and insured certificates of 

deposit, money market mutual funds limited to government obligations, corporate notes, bank notes, and 

other investments permitted under Virginia law for these purposes. 

The County’s investment policy, which governs the pooled cash, and general obligation bond 

proceeds, portfolios prohibits investment in instruments generally referred to as derivatives, and the 

County does not employ leverage in its investments. 

The Association of Public Treasurers of the United States and Canada has awarded the County a 

certification for its investment policy each year since 1998.  To achieve certification, an investment policy 

must establish standards recognized in the profession as fostering prudent management of public funds. 

General Fund Revenues, Expenditures, Transfers and Beginning Fund Balance 

The General Fund is maintained by the County to account for revenue derived from Countywide 

ad valorem taxes, other local taxes, licenses, fees, permits, charges for services, certain revenue from 

federal and State governments, and interest earned on invested cash balances of the General Fund and 

Capital Project Funds.  General Fund expenditures and transfers include the costs of general County 

government, transfers to the School Operating Fund to pay the local share of operating Fairfax County 

public schools, and transfers to the Debt Service and Capital Projects Funds to pay debt service on 

County general obligation bonds and for certain capital improvement projects. 

General Fund Summary 

Shown below are the County’s revenues, expenditures, transfers, and beginning fund balance of 

the General Fund for FY 2012 through FY 2016.  

385



Attachment 6 
 

51 

General Fund Revenues, Transfers, and Beginning Fund Balance 

 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

General Property Taxes $ 2,364,202,058  $ 2,477,039,967  $ 2,576,653,463  $ 2,727,409,751  $ 2,818,183,929  

Other Local Taxes 517,375,741  530,960,414  514,844,141  506,567,278  509,362,021  

Permits, fees, and licenses 36,843,892  38,201,352  39,351,756  45,545,990  48,443,054  

Intergovernmental 347,750,676  339,758,071  345,208,093  344,894,850  352,320,212  

Charges for Services and 

Recovered Costs 79,155,795  76,242,074  78,634,655  82,928,435  88,510,190  

Fines and Forfeitures 17,147,019  16,792,348  16,669,844  16,298,999  14,566,333  

Use of money and property 19,624,211  18,554,603  15,033,510  15,701,691  22,679,412  

Miscellaneous 1,145,815  1,304,980  786,285  922,044  1,194,684  

Transfers In  12,571,043  10,030,457  24,195,595  12,473,516  14,363,192  

Beginning Fund Balance 376,398,964  353,671,166  329,268,249  302,804,099  325,921,817  

Total  $ 3,772,215,214  $ 3,862,555,432  $ 3,940,645,591  $ 4,055,546,653  $ 4,195,544,844  
_____________ 

Source:  Fairfax County Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for FY 2012-2016 

General Fund Expenditures and Transfers Out 

 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

Transfer to School 

Operating Fund  $ 1,610,974,578   $ 1,683,462,921   $ 1,717,128,761   $ 1,768,588,028   $ 1,838,341,763  

Costs of General 

County Government     1,444,358,636      1,474,233,561      1,529,124,187      1,557,590,972      1,612,168,270  

Transfer to Debt 

Service Funds       276,519,825        281,610,137        291,165,641        310,883,333        314,950,773  

Transfer to Capital 

Project Funds         19,626,964          17,054,569          27,636,497          37,682,606          42,315,124  

Transfer to Metro 

Construction and 

Operations Fund         11,298,296          11,298,296          11,298,296          11,298,296          11,298,296  

Other Transfers         55,765,749          65,627,699          61,488,110          43,581,601          41,581,114  

Total   $ 3,418,544,048   $ 3,533,287,183   $ 3,637,841,492   $ 3,729,624,836   $ 3,860,655,340  
_____________ 

Source:  Fairfax County Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for FY 2012-2016 

Revenues 

The following is a discussion of the General Fund revenue structure. 

General Property Taxes – An annual ad valorem tax is levied by the County on the assessed 

value of real and tangible personal property located within the County as of January 1 preceding the fiscal 

year in which such tax is due.  The personal property tax on motor vehicles that acquire situs within the 

County or have title transferred on or after January 2 is prorated on a monthly basis.  Real property and 

personal property are assessed at 100% of fair market value.  Real property taxes are due on July 28 and 

December 5 of the fiscal year in which they are levied.  The payment date for personal property taxes is 

October 5.  The penalty for late payment is 10% of the amount due, and interest on delinquent taxes and 

penalties accrues at a rate of 1% per annum for real estate taxes and 5% per annum for personal property 

taxes.  In cases of property on which delinquent taxes are not paid within three years, the County may sell 

the property at public auction to pay the amounts due.  There is no legal limit at the present time on the 

property tax rates that may be established by the County.  Property taxes (including delinquent payments, 

386



Attachment 6 
 

52 

penalties, and interest) accounted for 73.1% of total General Fund revenues in FY 2016.  However, this 

percentage does not include the reimbursement from the Commonwealth of Virginia for a portion of the 

personal property tax.  Including the reimbursement reflected in Intergovernmental revenue, the 

percentage of revenue from property taxes in FY 2016 was 78.6%.  A description of the Commonwealth’s 

plan to reduce personal property taxes follows. 

During its 1998 Special Session, the General Assembly of Virginia enacted legislation to reduce 

personal property taxes applicable to individually owned motor vehicles.  The reduction, which applies to 

the first $20,000 in assessed value, was scheduled to be phased in over a five year period.  The legislation 

states that the Commonwealth will reimburse local governments for the revenue lost from the reduction in 

personal property tax collections.  In fiscal years subsequent to the legislation personal property taxes 

paid by citizens steadily reduced until such reduction equaled 70% in 2002.  Due to Commonwealth 

budget constraints, the 2003 Virginia General Assembly temporarily froze the tax reduction at 70%.  The 

2005 General Assembly revised this measure further to limit its tax relief payments to all localities to a 

total of $950 million per tax year beginning with 2006 (fiscal year 2007).  The County’s fixed share of the 

$950 million is $211,313,944, as determined by its share of the total payments made to all localities by 

the Commonwealth during calendar years 2004 and 2005 for tax year 2004 (fiscal year 2005).  The 

County’s total personal property tax collections for FY 2016 were $592.3 million, comprised of $381.0 

million paid by taxpayers and $211.3 million reimbursed by the Commonwealth of Virginia as 

Intergovernmental Revenue.   

Other Local Taxes – The County levies various other local taxes, including a 1% local sales tax 

(collected by the Commonwealth and remitted to the County), a tax on consumer utility bills based on 

consumption for gas and electric services and a 5% communications sales tax which is imposed on the 

charge for or sale of communications services.  Also included in this category are a cigarette tax of $0.30 

per pack, property recordation taxes, an automobile license tax, and various businesses, professional, and 

occupational licenses taxes.  These taxes accounted for 13.2% of total General Fund revenues in FY 2016. 

Permits, Privilege Fees, and Licenses – The County requires that licenses or permits be obtained 

in order to perform certain activities in the County and that fees be paid for services provided by certain 

County departments.  These revenues represented 1.3% of total General Fund revenues for FY 2016. 

Fines and Forfeitures – The sources of revenue in this category include court fines and penalties 

from the Circuit Court and the General District Court and court fines, costs from the Juvenile and 

Domestic Relations District Court and fines for traffic violations, misdemeanors, and felonies.  In 

addition, the County receives revenues from parking violations as authorized under the County Code.  

Revenues in this category represented 0.4% of General Fund revenues in FY 2016. 

Use of Money and Property – The principal sources of revenue to the General Fund from the use 

of money and property are interest on General Fund and Capital Project Fund investments and minor 

amounts of revenue from the sale and lease of County equipment and property.  These revenues 

represented 0.6% of General Fund revenues in FY 2016. 

Charges for Services and Recovered Costs – The principal sources of revenue to the General 

Fund from charges for services are County Clerk fees, school age child care fees, recreation fees, 

publication sales and various other services for which the County charges a fee.  Revenues in this 

category represented 2.3% of General Fund revenues in FY 2016. 

Intergovernmental Revenue – Intergovernmental revenue is comprised of revenue from the 

Commonwealth and revenue from the federal government.  Revenues in this category represented 9.1% of 

General Fund revenues in FY 2016.  This percentage includes the revenue that the County receives from 

387



Attachment 6 
 

53 

the Commonwealth as reimbursement for the County’s personal property tax.  Each revenue source 

within intergovernmental revenue is described below. 

Revenue from the Commonwealth – The County is reimbursed by the Commonwealth of 

Virginia for a portion of shared expenses, including certain expenditures for social services, the 

sheriff’s office, courts, the Office of the Commonwealth Attorney, and other constitutional 

offices.  Additionally, the County receives a share of the net profits from the State Alcoholic 

Beverage Control Board’s liquor sales and state contributions to assist in meeting law 

enforcement expenditures.  As mentioned in the section concerning General Property Taxes, the 

Commonwealth also reimburses the County for a portion of its personal property tax on vehicles.  

Including the reimbursement for the County’s personal property tax, revenues from this category 

represented 8.2% of total General Fund revenues in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016.  

Excluding this reimbursement, revenue from this category represented 2.7% of General Fund 

revenue in FY 2016.  The County receives a significant amount of additional State aid in support 

of public school operations.  These revenues are credited directly to the School Operating and 

School Lunch Funds, however, and are not reflected in the General Fund. 

Revenue from the Federal Government – The principal sources of categorical federal aid 

to the General Fund are federal grant money supporting human service programs such as 

supplemental nutrition, temporary assistance for needy families, foster care, adoption assistance, 

and medical assistance for clients of the Department of Family Services.  This revenue category 

represented 1.0% of General Fund revenues in FY 2016. 

Miscellaneous Revenues – The sources of revenue in this category include the sale of land and 

buildings, contract rebates, and other miscellaneous sources.  These revenue sources accounted for 0.03% 

of General Fund revenue in FY 2016. 

Expenditures and Transfers 

The following is a discussion of the major classifications of General Fund expenditures and 

transfers. 

Transfer to School Operating Fund – The County transfers money from the General Fund to the 

School Operating Fund to pay the County’s share of the costs of operating public schools in Fairfax 

County.  This transfer represented approximately 47.3% of total disbursements from the General Fund in 

the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016.  The transfer to the School Operating Fund was approximately 72.4% 

of total receipts of the School Operating Fund.  Other revenues credited directly to the School Operating 

and School Lunch Funds include revenue from the Federal Government, the Commonwealth of Virginia, 

the City of Fairfax (representing tuition of students residing in the City of Fairfax who attend Fairfax 

County schools), and other revenue derived locally from sale of textbooks, school lunches, etc. 

Costs of General County Government – The County pays the costs of general County government 

from the General Fund.  These costs include expenditures for general government administration, judicial 

administration, public safety, public works, health and welfare, parks, recreational and cultural programs, 

and community development.  This classification was approximately 42.1% of total General Fund 

disbursements in FY 2016. 

Transfer to Debt Service Fund – The County transfers from the General Fund to the Debt Service 

Fund amounts sufficient to pay principal and interest on outstanding County and School debt including 

general obligation bonds and EDA and FCRHA revenue bonds.  Transfers to the Debt Service Fund 

represented 8.2% of total General Fund disbursements in FY 2016.  Effective FY 2006, Fairfax County 

388



Attachment 6 
 

54 

Public Schools (FCPS) transfers from its operating fund to the County’s Debt Service Fund an amount 

sufficient to pay principal and interest on the outstanding School Board Building Bonds and the 

applicable portion of the 2014A County Facilities Projects Bonds. 

Transfer to Capital Project Funds – The County transfers money from the General Fund to the 

Capital Project Funds to pay the cost of certain capital improvements.  The General Fund transfer to the 

Capital Project Funds (except for the General Fund transfer for Fairfax County’s obligations to WMATA, 

which is discussed below) represented 1.1% of total General Fund disbursements in FY 2016. 

Transfer to Metro Construction and Operations Fund – The County is a member jurisdiction of 

WMATA and as such has agreed to make certain capital contributions in support of the construction by 

WMATA of a rail transit system to serve the Washington metropolitan area (which includes the County) 

and to pay a portion of the deficit incurred by WMATA in the operation of its bus system and rail system.  

The County generally has used bond proceeds to fund its capital contributions to WMATA and has 

transferred money from the General Fund to pay its share of the bus and rail operating subsidies.  The 

General Fund transfer to the Metro Construction and Operations Fund to pay the County’s share of the 

system’s operating subsidies represented 0.3% of total General Fund disbursements in FY 2016.  See the 

subsection herein entitled “GOVERNMENT SERVICES – Transportation” for a more complete 

discussion of the County’s obligations with respect to WMATA. 

Other Transfers – The County transfers money from the General Fund to other funds for a variety 

of purposes.  The General Fund transfer to other funds includes transfers to the County Transit Systems, 

Information Technology, Aging Grants and Programs, Community-Based Funding Pool, Housing 

Programs for the Elderly, Health Benefits Trust, and Equipment Management and Transportation Agency.  

Transfers to other funds were 1.1% of total General Fund disbursements in FY 2016. 

Transfer to Revenue Stabilization Fund – Beginning in FY 2000, the County began setting aside 

money in the General Fund for a Revenue Stabilization Fund to address significant revenue reductions 

during severe, prolonged economic downturns.  The Revenue Stabilization Fund represented 41.5% of the 

total fund balance in the General Fund as of June 30, 2016. 

[FY 2017 Budget 

On April 26, 2016, the Board of Supervisors adopted the Fiscal Year 2017 Budget.  The real 

estate tax rate of $1.13 per $100 of assessed value reflects an increase of $0.04 over the FY 2016 Adopted 

Budget Plan real estate tax rate of $1.09 per $100 of assessed value.  General fund disbursements total 

$4.01 billion, an increase of $192.99 million or 5.05% over the FY 2016 Adopted Budget Plan.  The total 

County transfer to support the Fairfax County Public Schools operations and debt service is $2.10 billion 

or 52.4% of total County disbursements.  In addition, funding is provided for employee compensation, 

and an increase in the amortization level from 95% to 97% of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability for 

all retirement systems.  Updated budget projections through May 2017 are consistent with the FY 2017 

Adopted Budget Plan. 

FY 2018 Budget 

On May 2, 2017, the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors voted to approve the FY 2018 Adopted 

Budget Plan.  This budget is based on General Fund revenue increasing 1.94% over the FY 2017 Revised 

Budget Plan.  The real estate tax rate of $1.13 per $100 of assessed value remains level over the FY 2017 

Adopted Budget Plan.  General Fund disbursements total $4.11 billion, which is an increase of 0.35% or 

$14.21 million from the FY 2017 Revised Budget Plan.  The County transfer to support the operations 

and debt service requirements for the Fairfax County Public Schools is $2.2 billion, or 52.82% of total 

389



Attachment 6 
 

55 

County disbursements.  Additionally, funding is provided for employee compensation as well as 

additional funding toward the County retirement plans.] 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM 

In connection with the County’s adopted comprehensive land use plan, the Fairfax County 

Planning Commission annually prepares and submits to the Board of Supervisors a capital improvement 

program (“CIP”) for the ensuing five-year period.  The CIP is designed to balance the need for public 

facilities as expressed by the County’s land use plan with the fiscal capability of the County to provide for 

those needs. 

The CIP is an integral element of the County’s budgeting process.  The five-year document serves 

as a general planning guide for the construction of general purpose, school and public utility projects in 

the County.  The CIP is updated and approved by the Board of Supervisors each year.  This annual review 

process prompts careful attention to the development of reliable capital expenditure and revenue estimates 

and the timely scheduling of bond referenda. 

In connection with the CIP process, the Board of Supervisors has adopted certain policy 

guidelines for the development and financing of the CIP.  These guidelines include self-imposed 

restrictions on the issuance of general obligation bonds designed to keep General Fund supported debt 

service expenditures less than 10% of total Combined General Fund disbursements, and to maintain the 

ratio of bonded indebtedness to the market value of taxable property in the County at a level less than 

3.0%. 

The Board of Supervisors continues to review the County’s debt program in light of current fiscal 

conditions and capital needs.  Currently, general obligation bond sales for new money projects are limited 

to an average of $275 million per year with a maximum limit of $300 million in a single year.  The CIP 

for fiscal years 2018-2022 (along with estimates for fiscal years 2023 to 2027) was approved by the 

Board of Supervisors on April 25, 2017.  The County program includes new construction, renovation and 

renewal of school facilities, parks, housing development, revitalization, storm water management, public 

safety and courts, libraries, human services, solid waste, sewers, and transportation.  Significant capital 

construction activity from FY 2018-2027 totaling $9.1 billion is anticipated for the County, in addition to 

$0.9 billion in regional parks and water supply projects that are undertaken within the County to benefit 

County residents, but is not managed or funded directly by the County.  The total capital construction 

activity to be financed by the County totals $10 billion from FY 2018-2027. 

RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 

Fairfax County administers four separate public employee retirement systems that provide 

pension benefits for various classes of County employees: Fairfax County Employees’ Retirement System 

(ERS), Fairfax County Police Officers Retirement System (PORS), Fairfax County Uniformed 

Retirement System (URS), and the Educational Employees’ Supplemental Retirement System of Fairfax 

County (ERFC).  In addition, professional employees of the Fairfax County Public Schools participate in 

a plan sponsored and administered by the Virginia Retirement System (VRS). 

The Fairfax County retirement systems investments are managed by independent professional 

investment managers.  Investments in derivatives are not made for speculative purposes but may be used 

by investment managers to gain access to markets, to reduce risk, or to reduce transaction costs. 

In fiscal year 2015, the County implemented GASB No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting 

for Pensions – an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27.  GASB Statement No. 68 establishes the 

390



Attachment 6 
 

56 

standards for accounting and reporting employee pension plans including the recognition and 

measurement of liabilities, deferred inflows and outflows, expenses and expenditures.  The tables below 

are presented in conformity with GASB Statement No. 68.  

Membership in the reporting entity’s plans consisted of the following as of the July 1, 2014 

valuation date: 

Description Primary Government 

 

Component Unit – 

Public Schools 

  ERS PORS URS 

 
ERFC 

Retirees and beneficiaries 

receiving benefits 7,626 966 1,194 

 
10,524 

Terminated employees entitled to, 

but not yet receiving, benefits 1,677 36 50 

 
3,761 

Deferred Retirement Option Plan 

participants 705 80 125 

 
N/A 

Active employees 13,862 1,226 1,817 

 
21,352 

Total number of plan members 23,870 2,308 3,186 

 
35,637 

Source:  Fairfax County Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for FY 2016 

Fairfax County Employees’ Retirement System (ERS) 

Plan Description 

The Fairfax County Employees’ Retirement System (ERS) is a legally separate single-employer 

defined benefit pension plan established under the Code of Virginia which covers only employees of the 

reporting entity. The plan covers full-time and certain part-time employees of the reporting entity who are 

not covered by other plans of the reporting entity or the VRS. This is the only plan that provides pension 

benefits to both the primary government and component units. The balances have been allocated in the 

financial statements as follows: County 66.4 percent including business type activities, FCPS 28.0 

percent, EDA 0.5 percent, FCRHA 1.6 percent, FCPA 3.5 percent of all totals. 

Benefit provisions are established and may be amended by County ordinances.  All benefits vest 

at five years of creditable service.  To be eligible for normal retirement, an individual must meet the 

following criteria: (a) attain the age of 65 with five years of creditable service, or (b) attain the age of 50 

with age plus years of creditable service being greater than or equal to 80. The normal retirement benefit 

is calculated using average final compensation (i.e., the highest 78 consecutive two week pay periods or 

the highest 36 consecutive monthly pay periods) and years (or partial years) of creditable service at date 

of termination.  In addition, if normal retirement occurs before Social Security benefits are scheduled to 

begin, an additional monthly benefit is paid to retirees.  The plan provides that unused sick leave credit 

may be used in the calculation of average final compensation by projecting the final salary during the 

unused sick leave period. The benefit for early retirement is actuarially reduced and payable at early 

termination. 

Funding Policy 

All contribution requirements for ERS are established and may be amended by County 

ordinances, including member contribution rates. Plan A and Plan C require member contributions of 4.0 

percent of compensation up to the maximum Social Security wage base and 5.33 percent of compensation 

391



Attachment 6 
 

57 

in excess of the wage base. Plan B and Plan D require member contributions of 5.33 percent of 

compensation.  

The County is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate; the rate for the year ended 

June 30, 2016, was 21.99 percent. Since the ERS’s adjusted funded ratio (the ratio of the sum of the 

actuarial value of assets and commitments already made to fund changes to the actuarial accrued liability) 

fell below 90 percent, the contribution rate includes a margin to amortize this shortfall back to the 90 

percent level. For fiscal year 2016 the amortization target was increased to 95 percent, and for fiscal year 

2017, it will be increased to a 97 percent level. Per the County’s pension funding policy as approved by 

the Board of Supervisors as part of the FY 2016 Adopted Budget Plan and incorporated in the Fairfax 

County Code, the County will continue increasing the amortization target so that, at or before fiscal year 

2020, 100 percent of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability is amortized and included in the contribution 

rate. The employer contribution made during the measurement period of the liability was $138,493,099. 

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios (Dollar amounts in thousands) 

CAFR Reporting Year 

Measurement Date June 30 of prior year  2016 

 

Total Pension Liability 

Service cost $  84,154  
Interest 
Changes in benefit terms 

Differences between expected and  actual experience 

Changes of assumptions 

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions 

353,622 
1,463 

(8,617) 

- 

 (258,835) 

Net change in total pension liability 171,787 

Total pension liability – beginning 4,807,873 

Total pension liability – ending $  4,979,660 

 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Contributions – employer 

 

 

$  138,493 

Contributions – member 33,194 

Net investment income 16,342 

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (258,835) 

Administrative expense (1,897) 

Net change in plan fiduciary net position (72,703) 

Plan fiduciary net position – beginning 3,766,060 

Plan fiduciary net  position – ending $  3,693,357 
 

Net pension liability – ending 
$  1,286,303 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 74.17 % 

Covered employee payroll $     686,289  
Net pension liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll 187.43 % 

Source:  Fairfax County Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for FY 2016 

Administration 

There are ten members of the ERS Board of Trustees.  Four members are appointed by the Board 

of Supervisors.  Three members are elected representing the following groups:  County employees, 

Schools employees, and retired employees.  The Fairfax County Director of Human Resources and the 

Director of Finance serve as ex-officio members of the board, along with an appointee from the Schools. 

Professional Services  

An independent auditor and actuary are hired to provide service to the fund.  

392



Attachment 6 
 

58 

Fairfax County Police Officers Retirement Systems (PORS) 

Plan Description 

The Fairfax County Police Officers Retirement System (PORS) is a legally separate single-

employer defined benefit pension plan established under the Code of Virginia. The plan covers County 

police officers who are not covered by other plans of the reporting entity or the VRS and former Park 

Police officers who elected to transfer to the PORS from the Uniformed Retirement System effective 

January 22, 1983. 

Benefit provisions are established and may be amended by County ordinances. All benefits vest 

at five years of creditable service. To be eligible for normal retirement, an individual must meet the 

following criteria: (a) if employed before July 1, 1981, attain the age of 55 or have completed 20 years of 

creditable service, or (b) if employed on or after July 1, 1981, attain the age of 55 or have completed 25 

years of creditable service. The normal retirement benefit is calculated using average final compensation 

and years (or partial years) of creditable service at date of termination. The plan provides that unused sick 

leave credit may be used in the calculation of average final compensation by projecting the final salary 

during the unused sick leave period. To be eligible for early retirement, the employee must have 20 years 

of creditable service (does not apply if hired before July 1, 1981).  The benefit for early retirement is 

actuarially reduced and payable at early termination. 

Funding Policy  

All contribution requirements for PORS are established and may be amended by County 

ordinances, including member contribution rates. Member contributions were based on 8.65 percent of 

compensation at June 30, 2016.  

The County is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate; the rate for the year ended 

June 30, 2016, was 31.37 percent of annual covered payroll. The decision was made to commit additional 

funding and a rate of 37.98 percent was adopted for fiscal year 2016. Since the PORS’s adjusted funded 

ratio (the ratio of the sum of the actuarial value of assets and commitments already made to fund changes 

to the actuarial accrued liability) fell below 90 percent, the contribution rate includes a margin to amortize 

this shortfall back to the 90 percent level. For fiscal year 2016, the amortization target was set to a 95 

percent level. Per the County’s pension funding policy as approved by the Board of Supervisors as part of 

the FY 2016 Adopted Budget Plan and incorporated in the Fairfax County Code, the County will continue 

increasing the amortization target so that, at or before fiscal year 2020, 100 percent of the unfunded 

actuarial accrued liability is amortized and included in the contribution rate. The employer contribution 

made for the measurement period of the liability was $37,867,181. 

393



Attachment 6 
 

59 

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios (Dollar amounts in thousands) 

CAFR Reporting Year 

Measurement Date June 30 of prior year  2016 

 
Total Pension Liability  

Service cost $      30,390 

Interest 

Differences between expected and actual  experience 

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions 

106,740 

(11,516) 

 (67,757) 

Net change in total pension liability 57,857 

Total pension liability – beginning 1,453,060 

Total pension liability – ending $ 1,510,917 

 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Contributions – employer 

 

 

$        37,867 

Contributions – member 8,890 

Net investment income 41,601 

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (67,757) 

Administrative expense (443) 

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 20,158 

Plan fiduciary net position – beginning 1,260,757 

Plan fiduciary net position – ending $ 1,280,915 

Net pension liability – ending $    230,002 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 84.78 % 

Covered employee payroll $ 102,844 

Net pension liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll 223.64 % 

Source:  Fairfax County Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for FY 2016 

Administration 

There are seven members of the PORS Board of Trustees.  Three members are appointed by the 

Board of Supervisors.  Two members are active employee elected representatives, and one member is a 

retiree elected representative.  The Fairfax County Director of Finance serves as an ex-officio member of 

the board. 

Professional Services  

Independent auditor, actuary and investment consultants are hired to provide service to the fund.  

Fairfax County Uniformed Retirement System (URS) 

Plan Description 

The Fairfax County Uniformed Retirement System (URS) is a legally separate single-employer 

defined benefit pension plan.  The plan covers uniformed employees including non-clerical employees of 

the Fire and Rescue Department and Office of Sheriff, Park Police, Helicopter Pilots, Animal Wardens 

and Game Wardens who are not covered by other plans of the reporting entity or the VRS. 

Benefit provisions are established and may be amended by County ordinances. All benefits vest 

at five years of creditable service. To be eligible for normal retirement an individual must meet the 

following criteria: (a) attain the age of 55 with six years of creditable service, or (b) complete 25 years of 

creditable service.  The normal retirement benefit is calculated using average final compensation and 

394



Attachment 6 
 

60 

years (or partial years) of creditable service at date of termination. Annual cost of-living adjustments are 

provided to retirees and beneficiaries equal to the lesser of 4.0 percent and the percentage increase in the 

Consumer Price Index for the Washington Consolidated Metropolitan Statistical Area.  The plan provides 

that unused sick leave credit may be used in the calculation of average final compensation by projecting 

the final salary during the unused sick leave period. Those who commenced employment on or after 

January 1, 2013, may not use more than 2,080 hours of accrued sick leave toward service credit for 

retirement or DROP entry.  To be eligible for early retirement, employees must have 20 years of 

creditable service. The benefit for early retirement is actuarially reduced and payable at early termination. 

Funding Policy  

All contribution requirements for URS are established and may be amended by County 

ordinances, including member contribution rates.  Employees hired before July 1, 1981, were enrolled in 

Plan A. Plan A members were given the opportunity to enroll in Plan B as of July 1, 1981, and to enroll in 

Plan C as of April 1, 1997.  From July 1, 1981, through March 31, 1997, all new hires were enrolled in 

Plan B. Plan B members were given the opportunity to enroll in Plan D as of April 1, 1997.  From April 

1, 1997, through December 31, 2012, all new hires were enrolled in Plan D.  From January 1, 2013, 

forward all new hires are enrolled in Plan E.  Plan A requires member contributions of 4.0 percent of 

compensation up to the Social Security wage base and 5.75 percent of compensation in excess of the 

wage base.  Plan B requires member contributions of 7.08 percent of compensation up to the Social 

Security wage base and 8.83 percent of compensation in excess of the wage base.  Plan C requires 

member contributions of 4.0 percent of compensation.  Plan D and Plan E require contributions of 7.08 

percent of compensation. 

The County is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate; the rate for the year ended 

June 30, 2016, was 37.98 percent of annual covered payroll. Since the URS’s adjusted funded ratio (the 

ratio of the sum of the actuarial value of assets and commitments already made to fund changes to the 

actuarial accrued liability) fell below 90 percent, the contribution rate includes a margin to amortize this 

shortfall back to the 90 percent level. For fiscal year 2016, the amortization target was increased to a 95 

percent level, and for fiscal year 2017, it will be increased to a 97 percent level. Per the County’s pension 

funding policy as approved by the Board of Supervisors as part of the FY 2016 Adopted Budget Plan and 

incorporated in the Fairfax County Code, the County will continue increasing the amortization target so 

that, at or before fiscal year 2020, 100 percent of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability is amortized and 

included in the contribution rate. The employer contribution made for the measurement period of the 

liability was $60,928,766. 

395



Attachment 6 
 

61 

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios (Dollar amounts in thousands) 

CAFR Reporting Year 

Measurement Date June 30 of prior year  2016 

 
Total Pension Liability 

Service cost $     41,721 

Interest 

Changes in benefit terms 

Differences between expected and actual experience 

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions  

132,951 

1,702 

11,019 

                              (84,849) 

Net change in total pension liability 102,544 

Total pension liability – beginning 1,781,131 

Total pension liability – ending $     1,883,675 

 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Contributions – employer 

 

 

$    60,928 

Contributions – member 11,473 

Net investment income 21,800 

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (84,849) 

Administrative expense (455) 

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 8,897 

Plan fiduciary net position – beginning 1,516,720 

Plan fiduciary net position – ending $     1,525,617 

 

Net pension liability – ending 
 

$   358,058 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 80.99 % 

Covered employee payroll $  160,762 

Net pension liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll 222.73 % 

Source:  Fairfax County Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for FY 2016 

Administration 

There are eight members of the URS Board of Trustees.  Three members are appointed by the 

Board of Supervisors.  Three members are employee elected representatives comprised of two members 

from the Fire and Rescue Department, and one member from the Sheriff’s Department.  The Fairfax 

County Director of Finance and Director of Human Resources serve as ex-officio members of the board. 

Professional Services  

An independent auditor and actuary are hired to provide service to the fund.  

Educational Employees’ Supplementary Retirement System of Fairfax County (ERFC) 

Plan Description 

Benefit provisions for ERFC and ERFC 2001 are established and may be amended by ERFC’s 

Board of Trustees (ERFC Board) subject to approval by the School Board.  All members are vested for 

benefits after five years of service.  The ERFC benefit formula was revised effective July 1, 1988, 

following changes to VRS, which ERFC has historically supplemented.  The benefit structure is designed 

to supplement VRS and Social Security benefits to provide a level retirement benefit throughout 

retirement.  

396



Attachment 6 
 

62 

ERFC 2001 has a stand-alone structure.  Member contributions for ERFC and ERFC 2001 are 

made through an arrangement that results in a deferral of taxes on the contributions.  Further details of 

member contributions may be found in Article III of the ERFC and ERFC 2001 Plan Documents.  

ERFC and ERFC 2001 provide for a variety of benefit payment types. ERFC’s payment types 

include Service Retirement, Reduced Service, Disability, Death-in-Service, and Deferred Retirement. 

ERFC 2001’s payment types include Service Retirement, Death-in-Service, and Deferred Retirement. 

ERFC’s minimum eligibility requirements for receipt of full benefits range from members attaining the 

age of 55 with 25 years of service to completing five years of service prior to age 65.  The minimum 

eligibility requirements for full benefits for ERFC 2001 members are age 60 with five years of service or 

any age with 30 years of service.  Annual post-retirement cost-of-living increases of 3 percent are 

effective each March 31.  Participants in their first full year of retirement receive a 1.49 percent increase. 

Participants who retire on or after January 1 receive no cost-of-living increase that first March.  

Additional details regarding benefit payment types can be found in the actuarial valuation and the Plan 

Documents. 

Funding Policy 

All contribution requirements for ERFC plans are established and may be amended by the ERFC 

Board with the approval of the School Board. The requirements are based upon a fundamental financial 

objective of having rates of contribution that remain relatively level from generation to generation of 

employees. To determine the appropriate employer contribution rates and to assess the extent to which the 

fundamental financial objective is being achieved, ERFC has actuarial valuations prepared annually.  The 

contribution requirements of members and the employer are established and may be amended by the 

ERFC Board, subject to School Board approval. Members are required to contribute 3 percent of annual 

salary.  The employer is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate which presently is 5.6 

percent. Employer contributions to the pension plan were $76,587,309 and $74,324,396 for the years 

ended June 30, 2016, and June 30, 2015, respectively. 

The actuarial valuations are used to set the employer contribution rate for the two-year period 

beginning 18 months after the valuation date. As such, the December 31, 2013, valuation recommended 

that the contribution rate for the two-year period beginning July 1, 2015, to June 30, 2017, remain at 5.6 

percent. 

397



Attachment 6 
 

63 

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios (Dollar amounts in thousands) 

CAFR Reporting Year 

Measurement Date June 30 of prior year  2016 

 

Total Pension Liability 
Service cost $       77,494 

Interest 

Differences between expected and actual experience 

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions 

198,939 

                             (17,051) 

(167,843) 

 

Net change in total pension liability 91,539 

Total pension liability – beginning 2,697,689 

Total pension liability – ending $  2,789,228 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Contributions – employer 

 

$       74,324 

Contributions – member 39,983 

Net investment income 32,085 

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (167,843) 

Administrative expense (3,752) 

Net change in plan fiduciary net position (25,203) 

Plan fiduciary net position – beginning 2,204,927 

Plan fiduciary net position – ending $  2,179,724 

 

Net pension liability – ending 

 

$     609,504 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 78.15  % 

Covered employee payroll $  1,366,030 

Net pension liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll 44.62   % 

Source:  Fairfax County Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for FY 2016 

Administration 

The Board is composed of seven members: three are appointed by the School Board, and three 

are elected by active ERFC members. The six combined Board members recommend someone who is not 

affiliated with FCPS for the seventh position, which is subject to approval by the School Board. 

Professional Services 

An independent auditor and actuary are hired to provide service to the fund. 

Virginia Retirement Systems (VRS) 

Plan Description 

FCPS contributes to VRS on behalf of its covered professional employees. VRS is a cost-sharing, 

multiple-employer retirement system, which administers two defined benefit plans and a hybrid plan that 

combines the features of a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan.  These plans are 

administered by the State and provide coverage for State employees, public school board employees, 

employees of participating political subdivisions, and other qualifying employees.  All full-time, salaried, 

permanent employees of VRS-participating employers are automatically covered under VRS.  All 

employees hired after January 1, 2014, are automatically enrolled in the Hybrid Plan.  Contributions made 

by members and participating VRS employers are invested to provide future retirement and disability 

benefits, annual cost of living adjustments, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. 

398



Attachment 6 
 

64 

Funding Policy 

The contribution requirement for active employees is governed by Section 51.1-145 of the Code, 

as amended, but may be impacted as a result of funding provided to school divisions by the Virginia 

General Assembly. Employees are required to contribute 5.0 percent of their compensation toward their 

retirement. Prior to July 1, 2012, all or part of the 5.0 percent member contribution may have been 

assumed by the employer. Beginning July 1, 2012, new employees were required to pay the 5.0 percent 

member contribution. In addition, for existing employees, employers were required to begin making the 

employee pay the 5.0 percent member contribution. This could be phased in over a period of up to 5 years 

and the employer is required to provide a salary increase equal to the amount of the increase in the 

employee-paid member contribution. Each school division’s contractually required contribution rate for 

the year ended June 30, 2016, was 14.06 percent of covered employee compensation. This rate was based 

on an actuarially determined rate from an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2013. The actuarial rate for 

the Teacher Retirement Plan was 18.20 percent. The actuarially determined rate, when combined with 

employee contributions, was expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employee during the 

year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Based on the provisions of 

Section 51.1-145 of the Code, as amended, the contributions were funded at 79.69 percent of the actuarial 

rate for the year ended June 30, 2016.  Employer contributions to the pension plan were $192,421,257 and 

$192,934,971 for the years ended June 30, 2016, and June 30, 2015, respectively. 

Fairfax County Retirement Systems – Plan Revisions from the Board of Supervisors 

As directed by the Board of Supervisors, the Fairfax County Department of Human Resources 

contracted with a benefits consultant to conduct a comprehensive retirement study. Based on the results of 

this study, the Board of Supervisors, as part of their mark‐up of the FY 2013 Adopted Budget Plan on 

April 24, 2012, reaffirmed the County’s commitment to a defined benefit plan model for current 

employees and for new hires.  The Board also directed staff to prepare revisions to the Fairfax County 

Code to incorporate several modifications to the retirement systems, to apply only to new employees who 

are hired after January 1, 2013.  These changes included increasing the minimum retirement age from 50 

to 55 in the Employees’ system, increasing the rule of 80 to the rule of 85 in the Employees’ system, 

removing the pre‐Social Security Supplement from DROP accounts in the Employees’ system and the 

Uniformed system, and placing a cap on the use of sick leave for retirement purposes at 2,080 hours for 

all three retirement systems. 

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) 

In fiscal year 2008, the County and FCPS implemented the Governmental Accounting Standards 

Board Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Benefits 

Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions.  The County provides health care and life insurance 

benefits to eligible retirees and their spouses.  Fairfax County is one of the founding participants in the 

Virginia Pooled OPEB Trust Fund sponsored by the Virginia Municipal League and the Virginia 

Association of Counties (VML/VACo).  The Virginia Pooled OPEB Trust Fund was established as an 

investment vehicle for participating employers to accumulate assets to fund Other Public Employment 

Benefits (OPEB).   

At June 30, 2016, the County had actuarial plan assets of $222.49 million and reported a net 

OPEB asset of $40.02 million, representing that the annual required contributions (ARC) were in excess 

of actual contributions.  As of the July 1, 2015, actuarial valuation, the County had an actuarial accrued 

liability of $317.62 million and an ARC of $13.34 million.  

399



Attachment 6 
 

65 

FCPS also provides health insurance benefits to eligible retirees and their spouses and is a 

participant in the Virginia Pooled OPEB Trust Fund.  At June 30, 2016, FCPS had actuarial plan assets of 

$95.9 million in the pooled trust fund and reported a net OPEB asset of $30.06 million.  As of the July 1, 

2015, actuarial valuation, FCPS had an actuarial accrued liability of $377.3 million and an ARC of 

$23.38 million. 

For further information regarding the County’s retirement systems, see “Basic Financial 

Statements – Notes to Financial Statements – Notes G and H” in Appendix IV. 

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CLAIMS 

The County is contingently liable with respect to lawsuits and other claims that arise in the 

ordinary course of its operations.  [See Note L in the County’s Financial Statements in Appendix IV to 

this Official Statement for details as of the end of fiscal year 2017.] 

APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

Legal matters incident to the authorization and issuance of the Bonds are subject to the approval 

of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, Washington, D.C., Bond Counsel, the proposed form of whose 

opinion is included herein as Appendix VI.   

[Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the County by Elizabeth D. Teare, Esquire, County 

Attorney.] 

TAX MATTERS 

Opinion of Bond Counsel  

[to be updated] In the opinion of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, Bond Counsel, under existing 

law, and subject to the provisions of this section, interest on the Bonds is not includable in gross income 

of the owners of the Bonds for federal income tax purposes.  Interest on the Bonds will be includable in 

the gross income of the owners thereof retroactive to the date of issue of the Bonds in the event of a 

failure by the County or the School Board of the County to comply with applicable requirements of the 

Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and their respective covenants regarding use, 

expenditure, and investment of the proceeds of the Bonds and timely payment of certain investment 

earnings to the United States Treasury. No opinion is rendered by Bond Counsel as to the effect on the 

exclusion from gross income of the interest on the Bonds for federal income tax purposes of any action 

taken or not taken without the approval of Bond Counsel or upon the advice or approval of counsel other 

than Bond Counsel. 

Interest on the Bonds will not be a specific preference item for purposes of the federal individual 

or corporate alternative minimum tax under the Code.  Interest on the Bonds will, however, be included in 

the calculation of alternative minimum tax liability imposed on corporations under the Code.  The Code 

contains other provisions (some of which are noted below) that could result in tax consequences, as to 

which no opinion will be rendered by Bond Counsel, as a result of (i) ownership of the Bonds or (ii) 

inclusion in certain computations of interest that is excluded from gross income.   

Original Issue Discount 

The excess, if any, of the amount payable at maturity of any maturity of the Bonds purchased as 

part of the initial public offering over the issue price thereof constitutes original issue discount.  The 

400



Attachment 6 
 

66 

amount of original issue discount that has accrued and is properly allocable to an owner of any maturity 

of the Bonds with original issue discount (a “Discount Bond”) will be excluded from gross income for 

federal income tax purposes to the same extent as interest on the Bonds.  In general, the issue price of a 

maturity of the Bonds is the first price at which a substantial amount of Bonds of that maturity was sold 

(excluding sales to bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of 

underwriters, placement agents, or wholesalers) and the amount of original issue discount accrues in 

accordance with a constant yield method based on the compounding of interest.  A purchaser’s adjusted 

basis in a Discount Bond is to be increased by the amount of such accruing discount for purposes of 

determining taxable gain or loss on the sale or other disposition of such Discount Bonds for federal 

income tax purposes.   

A portion of the original issue discount that accrues in each year to an owner of a Discount Bond 

which is a corporation will be included in the calculation of the corporation’s federal alternative minimum 

tax liability.  In addition, original issue discount that accrues in each year to an owner of a Discount Bond 

is included in the calculation of the distribution requirements of certain regulated investment companies 

and may result in some of the collateral federal income tax consequences discussed herein.  

Consequently, an owner of a Discount Bond should be aware that the accrual of original issue discount in 

each year may result in an alternative minimum tax liability, additional distribution requirements or other 

collateral federal income tax consequences although the owner of such Discount Bond has not received 

cash attributable to such original issue discount in such year. 

The accrual of original issue discount and its effect on the redemption, sale, or other disposition 

of a Discount Bond that is not purchased in the initial offering at the first price at which a substantial 

amount of such Bonds is sold to the public may be determined according to rules that differ from those 

described above.  An owners of a Discount Bond should consult his tax advisors with respect to the 

determination for federal income tax purposes of the amount of original issue discount with respect to 

such Discount Bond and with respect to state and local tax consequences of owning and disposing of such 

Discount Bond. 

Bond Premium 

The excess, if any, of the tax basis of Bonds purchased as part of the initial public offering to a 

purchaser (other than a purchaser who holds such Bonds as inventory, stock in trade, or for sale to 

customers in the ordinary course of business) over the amount payable at maturity is “Bond Premium.”  

Bond Premium is amortized over the term of such Bonds for federal income tax purposes (or, in the case 

of a bond with bond premium callable prior to its stated maturity, the amortization period and yield may 

be required to be determined on the basis of an earlier call date that results in the lowest yield on such 

bond).  No deduction is allowed for such amortization of Bond Premium; however, Bond Premium is 

treated as an offset to qualified stated interest received on the Bonds.  An owner of such Bonds is required 

to decrease his adjusted basis in such Bonds by the amount of amortizable Bond Premium attributable to 

each taxable year such Bonds are held.  An owner of such Bonds should consult his tax advisors with 

respect to the precise determination for federal income tax purposes of the treatment of Bond Premium 

upon sale, redemption or other disposition of such Bonds and with respect to state and local income tax 

consequences of owning and disposing of such Bonds. 

Backup Withholding 

Interest paid on the Bonds is subject to information reporting in a manner similar to interest paid 

on taxable obligations.  While this reporting requirement does not by itself, affect the excludability of 

interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the reporting requirement 

causes the payment of interest on the Bonds to be subject to backup withholding if such interest is paid to 

401



Attachment 6 
 

67 

beneficial owners who (i) are not “exempt recipients,” and (ii) either fail to provide certain identifying 

information (such as the beneficial owner’s taxpayer identification number) in the required manner or 

have been identified by the Internal Revenue Service as having failed to report all interest and dividends 

required to be shown on their income tax returns.  Generally, individuals are not exempt recipients, 

whereas corporations and certain other entities generally are exempt recipients.  Amounts withheld under 

the backup withholding rules from a payment to a beneficial owner would be allowed as a refund or a 

credit against such beneficial owner’s federal income tax liability provided the required information is 

furnished to the Internal Revenue Service. 

Other Tax Consequences 

Under existing law, the interest on the Bonds is excluded from Virginia taxable income for 

purposes of the individual income tax and the income taxation of corporations by the Commonwealth of 

Virginia under Sections 58.1-322 and 58.1-402 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the 

“Virginia Code”), to the extent that such interest is excludable from gross income for federal income tax 

purposes. 

The Code and the Virginia Code contain other provisions (some of which are noted below) that 

could result in tax consequences, upon which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion, as a result of 

ownership of the Bonds or the inclusion in certain computations of interest on the Bonds that is excluded 

from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation.   

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE BONDS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR TAX 

ADVISORS AS TO THE APPLICABILITY AND IMPACT OF ANY SUCH COLLATERAL TAX 

CONSEQUENCES. 

Ownership of tax-exempt obligations may result in collateral federal income tax consequences to 

certain taxpayers, including, without limitation, financial institutions, property and casualty insurance 

companies, certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States, certain S Corporations with 

excess passive income, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, taxpayers 

who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt 

obligations and taxpayers who may be eligible for the earned income tax credit.   

Future Tax Developments 

Future or pending legislative proposals, if enacted, regulations, rulings or court decisions may 

cause interest on the Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal income taxation or to State or 

local income taxation, or may otherwise prevent beneficial owners from realizing the full current benefit 

of the tax status of such interest.  Legislation or regulatory actions and future or pending proposals may 

also affect the economic value of the federal or state tax exemption or the market value of the Bonds.  

Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their tax advisors regarding any future, pending or 

proposed federal or State tax legislation, regulations, rulings or litigation as to which Bond Counsel 

expresses no opinion. 

For example, various proposals have been made in Congress and by the President (the “Proposed 

Legislation”), which, if enacted, would subject interest on bonds that is otherwise excludable from gross 

income for federal income tax purposes, including interest on the Bonds, to a tax payable by certain 

bondholders that are individuals, estates or trusts with adjusted gross income in excess of thresholds 

specified in the Proposed Legislation.  It is unclear if the Proposed Legislation will be enacted, whether in 

its current or an amended form, or if other legislation that would subject interest on the Bonds to a tax or 

cause interest on the Bonds to be included in the computation of a tax, will be introduced or enacted.  

402



Attachment 6 
 

68 

Prospective purchasers should consult their tax advisors as to the effect of the Proposed Legislation, if 

enacted, in its current form or as it may be amended, or such other legislation on their individual 

situations. 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

The County has retained Public Financial Management, Inc., Arlington, Virginia, as financial 

advisor (the “Financial Advisor”) in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.  Although the Financial 

Advisor assisted in the preparation and review of this Official Statement, the Financial Advisor is not 

obligated to undertake, and has not undertaken to make, an independent verification or to assume 

responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or fairness of the information contained in this Official 

Statement.  The Financial Advisor is a financial advisory, investment management, and consulting 

organization and is not engaged in the business of underwriting municipal securities. 

VERIFICATION OF CERTAIN MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS  

The accuracy of (i) the arithmetical computations of the maturing principal and interest earned on 

the federal securities in the escrow account established in the escrow agreement relating to the Refunded 

Bonds to pay when due or at their respective redemption dates, the principal of, premium, if any, and 

interest on the Refunded Bonds and (ii) the mathematical computations supporting the conclusion that the 

Bonds are not “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code, have been verified by 

_____________, _______.  Such verification has been based upon information supplied by the Financial 

Advisor. 

RATINGS 

The Bonds have been rated “___” by Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”), “___” by Moody’s Investors 

Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”), and “___” by S&P Global Ratings, a division of Standard & Poor’s Financial 

Services LLC (“Standard & Poor’s”).  The County requested that the Bonds be rated and furnished certain 

information to Fitch, Moody’s, and Standard & Poor’s, including certain information that is not included 

in this Official Statement. 

These ratings are not a recommendation to buy, sell, or hold the Bonds.  Generally, rating 

agencies base their ratings on such materials and information provided by the County, as well as 

investigations, studies, and assumptions of the rating agencies.  Such ratings may be changed at any time 

and no assurance can be given that they will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by any or all 

of such rating agencies, if, in the judgment of any or all, circumstances so warrant.  Such circumstances 

may include, without limitation, change in or unavailability of information relating to the County.  Any 

such downward revision or withdrawal of any of such ratings may have an adverse effect on the market 

price of the Bonds. 

SALE AT COMPETITIVE BIDDING 

The Bonds will be offered for sale at competitive bidding on a date determined pursuant to the 

provisions of the Notice of Sale relating to the Bonds (See Appendix VIII).  After the Bonds have been 

awarded, the County will issue an Official Statement in final form to be dated the date of the award.  The 

County will deem the Official Statement in final form as of its date, and the Official Statement in final 

form will be a “Final Official Statement” within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  The Official Statement in final form will include, among other 

matters, the identity of the winning bidder (the “Underwriters”), the expected selling compensation to the 

403



Attachment 6 
 

69 

Underwriters and other information on the interest rates and offering prices or yields of the Bonds, all as 

supplied by the Underwriters.   

CERTIFICATE CONCERNING OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

Concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds, the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors and the 

County Executive of the County will certify that, to the best of their knowledge, the Official Statement 

did not as of its date, and does not as of the date of delivery of the Bonds, contain any untrue statement of 

a material fact or omit to state a material fact that should be included therein for the purpose for which the 

Official Statement is to be used, or that is necessary in order to make the statements contained therein, in 

the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.  Such certificate will also 

state, however, that the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors and the County Executive of the County 

did not independently verify the information indicated in this Official Statement as having been obtained 

or derived from sources other than the County and its officers but that they have no reason to believe that 

such information is not accurate. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Any statements in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or estimates, whether or 

not expressly so stated, are intended as such and not as representations of fact.  No representation is made 

that any of the estimates will be realized. 

FUTURE FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

The Securities and Exchange Commission has adopted Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Rule”).  In general, the Rule prohibits an underwriter from 

purchasing or selling municipal securities such as the Bonds, unless it has determined that the issuer of 

such securities and/or other persons deemed to be material “obligated persons” have committed to provide 

to The Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system administered by the Municipal Securities 

Rulemaking Board (i) on an annual basis, certain financial information and operating data (“Annual 

Reports”), and, if available, audited financial statements, and (ii) notice of various events described in the 

Rule, if material (“Event Notices”).   

The County will covenant in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the form of which appears in 

Appendix VII), to be dated the date of delivery of the Bonds, for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds, 

to provide to EMMA, annually, not later than March 31 of each year, commencing March 31, 2018, 

Annual Reports with respect to itself, as issuer.  Similarly, the County will provide Event Notices with 

respect to the Bonds to EMMA. 

In accordance with continuing disclosure undertakings (the “Sewer Undertakings”) relating to the 

County’s sewer revenue bonds, the County agreed to provide and file certain annual financial and 

statistical information (“Sewer System Annual Disclosure Reports”) relating to the County’s sanitary 

sewer system (the “System”) as well as the County’s audited financial statements for the System (“Sewer 

System Annual Financial Statements”).  For the Fiscal Years ended June 30, 2009, and June 30, 2010, the 

County prepared and filed the Sewer System Annual Disclosure Reports for each year.  Such filings, 

however, inadvertently did not include the prepared Sewer System Annual Financial Statements (the 

“2009 and 2010 Sewer System Annual Financial Statements”) required to be included in such filings 

pursuant to the terms of the Continuing Disclosure Undertakings, although the 2009 and 2010 Sewer 

System Annual Financial Statements were timely posted to the County’s website.  As of June 5, 2014, the 

County filed the 2009 and 2010 Sewer System Annual Financial Statements.  In addition, as a condition 

to the issuance of various series of revenue bonds (“UOSA Bonds”) issued by the Upper Occoquan 

404



Attachment 6 
 

70 

Service Authority for the benefit of the County and other jurisdictions, the County has agreed pursuant to 

continuing disclosure undertakings (the “UOSA Undertakings”) to provide and file the Sewer System 

Annual Disclosure Reports and Sewer System Annual Financial Statements.  The 2009 and 2010 Sewer 

System Annual Financial Statements were filed pursuant to the UOSA Undertakings but not in a timely 

manner and other filings were complete and timely but were not correctly cross-referenced to the UOSA 

Bonds.  The County has implemented procedures to ensure the inclusion of necessary information in a 

timely manner in future filings required by the Sewer Undertakings and the UOSA Undertakings.  

Pursuant to several continuing disclosure undertakings entered into relating to the Fairfax County 

Economic Development Authority’s Transportation Contract Revenue Bonds (Route 28 Project), the 

County provided all required information, except that it inadvertently did not include in its annual 

information required under such undertakings a description of the twenty largest owners of real property 

by assessed value in the State Route 28 Highway Transportation Improvement District.  The County has 

implemented procedures to ensure the inclusion of such information in future filings.   

In addition, pursuant to the Sewer Undertakings relating to certain sewer revenue bonds defeased 

on May 12, 2016 (the “Sewer Bonds Defeasance”), the County agreed to provide timely notice of the 

Sewer Bonds Defeasance.  Pursuant to the escrow deposit agreement, dated May 12, 2016, between 

Fairfax County and its Escrow Agent, the Escrow Agent agreed to provide notice to EMMA of the Sewer 

Bonds Defeasance within two days of the date of the agreement.  The Escrow Agent did not provide this 

notice within the two-day period.  After inquiry from the County, the Escrow Agent did provide such 

notice, but not within the time periods required by the relevant Sewer Undertakings.  the County has 

strengthened its procedures to ensure that event notices to be provided by outside entities on the County’s 

behalf are done within the required time periods. 

Except as described under this caption, in the five years preceding the date of this Official 

Statement, the County has materially complied with its undertakings under the Rule. 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DEEMED FINAL 

The distribution of this Preliminary Official Statement has been duly authorized by the Board of 

Supervisors of the County.  The County deems this Preliminary Official Statement final as of its date 

within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission except for the omission 

of certain pricing and other information permitted to be omitted by Rule 15c2-12. 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF FAIRFAX 

COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

By:                  , Chairman 

405



Attachment 6 
 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

406



Attachment 6 
 

I-1 

Appendix I 

[Insert Organization Chart here]

407



Attachment 6 
 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

408



Attachment 6 
 

II-1 

Appendix II 

[Insert Regional map here] 

409



Attachment 6 
 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

410



Attachment 6 
 

III-1 

Appendix III 

[Insert County Map here] 

411



Attachment 6 
 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

412



Attachment 6 
 

IV-1 

Appendix IV 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017) 

 

413



Attachment 6 
 

 

Appendix V 

BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM 

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities depository 

for the Bonds.  The Bonds will be issued as fully registered securities registered in the name of Cede & 

Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative 

of DTC.  One fully registered Bond certificate will be issued for each principal amount of Bonds of a 

Series bearing interest at a specified interest rate, each in the aggregate principal amount of such quantity 

of Bonds, and will be deposited with DTC.  

DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited purpose trust company organized under the New 

York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a 

member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York 

Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A 

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million 

issues of U.S. and non U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market 

instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC.  

DTC also facilitates the post trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities 

transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book entry transfers and pledges 

between Direct Participants’ accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities 

certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust 

companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly owned subsidiary of 

The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company for DTC, 

National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are 

registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the 

DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 

banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship 

with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”).  The DTC Rules applicable 

to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  More information about 

DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and www.dtc.org. 

Purchases of the Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, 

which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of each actual 

purchaser of the Bonds (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect 

Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their 

purchase.  Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of 

the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant 

through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interest in the 

Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on 

behalf of Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive bond certificates representing their 

ownership interests in the Bonds, except in the event that use of the book entry system for the  Bonds is 

discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 

registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be 

requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of the Bonds with DTC and their 

registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not affect any change in beneficial 

ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect 

only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may 

414



Attachment 6 
 

V-2 

not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping 

account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 

Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 

Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory 

requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take certain 

steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, such 

as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Bond documents.  For example, 

Beneficial Owners of the Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the  Bonds for their 

benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, Beneficial 

Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices 

be provided directly to them.  

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 

the Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures.  Under its 

usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the County as soon as possible after the record date.  

The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to 

whose accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus 

Proxy). 

Principal, premium, if any, and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or 

such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s practice is to 

credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detailed information 

from the County, on a payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records.  

Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary 

practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in 

“street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC or the County, subject to 

any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Payment of redemption 

proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be 

requested by an authorized representative of DTC is the responsibility of the County, disbursement of 

such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such 

payments to the Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time 

by giving reasonable notice to the County.  Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor 

depository is not obtained, certificates for the Bonds are required to be printed and delivered. 

The County may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or 

a successor securities depository).  In that event, certificates for the Bonds will be printed and delivered. 

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained 

from sources that the County believes to be reliable, but the County takes no responsibility for the 

accuracy thereof. 

 

415



Attachment 6 
 

VI-1 

Appendix VI 

________ _, 2018 

Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia 

Fairfax, Virginia 

As bond counsel to Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”), we have examined certified copies 

of the legal proceedings, including the election proceedings and other proofs submitted, relative to the 

issuance and sale of 

$____________ 

Fairfax County, Virginia 

Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2018A (the “Series 2018A Bonds”) 

and 

$____________ 

Fairfax County, Virginia 

Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2018B (the “Series 2018B Bonds” and together with the 

Series 2018A Bonds, the “Bonds”) 

The Series 2018A Bonds are dated the date of their delivery, mature in annual installments on 

October 1 in each of the years 2017 to 2036, inclusive, and bear interest, payable on the 1st days of April 

and October in each year, commencing October 1, 2018.  The Series 2018A Bonds are dated the date of 

their delivery, mature in annual installments on October 1 in each of the years 20__ to 20__, inclusive, 

and bear interest, payable on the 1st days of April and October in each year, commencing October 1, 

2018.  The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to their respective maturities in the manner and upon the 

terms and conditions set forth in the resolution authorizing the issuance of the Bonds adopted by the 

Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County on December __, 2017. 

From such examination, we are of the opinion that: 

(1) Such proceedings and proofs show lawful authority for the issuance and sale of the Bonds 

pursuant to the Constitution and laws of Virginia, and the Bonds constitute valid and binding general 

obligations of the County, for the payment of which the full faith and credit of the County are pledged, 

and all taxable property in the County is subject to the levy of an ad valorem tax, without limitation as to 

rate or amount, for the payment of the Bonds and the interest thereon, which tax shall be in addition to all 

other taxes authorized to be levied in the County to the extent other funds of the County are not lawfully 

available and appropriated for such purpose. 

(2) Except as provided in the following sentence, interest on the Bonds is not includable in 

the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes under existing law.  Interest on 

the Bonds will be includable in the gross income of the owners thereof retroactive to the date of issue of 

the Bonds in the event of a failure by the County or the school board of the County to comply with 

applicable requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and their 

respective covenants regarding use, expenditure, and investment of the proceeds of the Bonds and the 

timely payment of certain investment earnings to the United States Treasury, and we render no opinion as 

to the effect on the exclusion from gross income of the interest on the Bonds for federal income tax 

purposes of any action taken or not taken without our approval or upon the advice or approval of counsel 

other than us. 

416



Attachment 6 
 

VI-2 

(3) Interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal 

individual or corporate alternative minimum tax.   

The Code contains other provisions that could result in tax consequences, as to which we render 

no opinion, as a result of ownership of the Bonds or the inclusion in certain computations (including 

without limitation those related to the corporate alternative minimum tax) of interest that is excluded from 

gross income. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

417



Attachment 6 
 

VII-1 

Appendix VII 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 

This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the “Disclosure Agreement”) is executed and delivered 

by Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”), in connection with the issuance by the County of 

$___________ aggregate principal amount of its Public Improvement Bonds, Series 2018A and Public 

Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2018B (collectively, the “Bonds”) pursuant to the provisions of a 

resolution (the “Resolution”) adopted on December __, 2017, by the Board of Supervisors of the County.  

The proceeds of the Bonds are being used by the County to finance and refinance various public 

improvements in the County.  The County hereby covenants and agrees as follows: 

SECTION 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement.  This Disclosure Agreement is being 

executed and delivered by the County for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds and in order to assist the 

Participating Underwriters (defined below) in complying with the Rule (defined below).  The County 

acknowledges that it is undertaking primary responsibility for any reports, notices, or disclosures that may 

be required under this Agreement. 

SECTION 2. Definitions.  In addition to the definitions set forth in the Resolution, which apply 

to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement unless otherwise defined in this Section, the 

following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 

“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the County pursuant to, and as 

described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement. 

“Dissemination Agent” shall mean the County, acting in its capacity as Dissemination Agent 

hereunder, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the County and which has filed 

with the County a written acceptance of such designation. 

“Filing Date” shall have the meaning given to such term in Section 3(a) hereof. 

“Fiscal Year” shall mean the twelve month period at the end of which financial position and 

results of operations are determined.  Currently, the County’s Fiscal Year begins July 1 and continues 

through June 30 of the next calendar year. 

“Holder” or “holder” shall mean, for purposes of this Disclosure Agreement, any person who is a 

record owner or beneficial owner of a Bond. 

“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in subsection (b)(5)(i)(C) of the Rule, which 

are as follows: 

principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

non-payment related defaults; if material; 

unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

418



Attachment 6 
 

VII-2 

adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final 

determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 570-TEB) or other material notices or 

determinations with respect to  or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the Bonds; 

modifications to rights of holders, if material; 

bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

defeasances; 

release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material; 

rating changes; 

bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the County; which event is considered to 

occur when any of the following occur:  the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for 

the County in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or 

federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of 

the assets of business of the County, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing 

governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court 

of governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or 

liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all 

of the assets or business of the County; 

the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the County or the sale of 

all or substantially all of the assets of the County, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry 

into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement 

relating any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and 

appointment of a successor or additional paying agent or the change of name of a paying agent, if 

material.  

“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the County’s Bonds 

required to comply with the Rule in connection with the offering of such Bonds. 

“Repository” shall mean The Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system 

administered by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.  EMMA is recognized as a National 

Repository for purposes of the Rule. 

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time. 

SECTION 3. Provision of Annual Reports. 

A. The County shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, provide to each Repository 

an Annual Report which is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement.  

Such Annual Report shall be filed on a date (the “Filing Date”) that is not later than March 31 after the 

end of any Fiscal Year (commencing with its Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2018).  Not later than ten (10) 

days prior to the Filing Date, the County shall provide the Annual Report to the Dissemination Agent (if 

applicable).  In such case, the Annual Report (i) may be submitted as a single document or as separate 

documents comprising a package, (ii) may cross-reference other information as provided in Section 4 of 

419



Attachment 6 
 

VII-3 

this Disclosure Agreement, and (iii) shall include the County’s audited financial statements or, if audited 

financial statements are not available, such unaudited financial statements as may be required by the Rule.  

In any event, audited financial statements of the County must be submitted, if and when available, 

together with or separately from the Annual Report. 

B. The annual financial statements of the County shall be prepared on the basis of generally 

accepted accounting principles and will be audited.  Copies of the audited annual financial statements, 

which may be filed separately from the Annual Report, will be filed with the Repositories when they 

become publicly available. 

C. If the County fails to provide an Annual Report to the Repository by the date required in 

subsection (A) hereto or to file its audited annual financial statements with the Repository when they 

become publicly available, the County shall send a notice to the Repository in substantially the form 

attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

SECTION 4. Content of Annual Reports.  Except as otherwise agreed, any Annual Report 

required to be filed hereunder shall contain or incorporate by reference, at a minimum, annual financial 

information relating to the County, including operating data, updating such information relating to the 

County as described in Exhibit A, all with a view toward assisting Participating Underwriters in 

complying with the Rule. 

Any or all of such information may be incorporated by reference from other documents, including 

official statements of securities issues with respect to which the County is an “obligated person” (within 

the meaning of the Rule), which have been filed with the Repository or the Securities and Exchange 

Commission.  If the document incorporated by reference is a final official statement, it must be available 

from the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.  The County shall clearly identify each such other 

document so incorporated by reference. 

SECTION 5. Reporting of Listed Events.  The County will provide within 10 business days to 

the Repository notice of any of the Listed Events. 

SECTION 6. Termination of Reporting Obligation.  The County’s obligations under this 

Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the earlier to occur of the legal defeasance or final retirement 

of all the Bonds. 

SECTION 7. Dissemination Agent.  The County may, from time to time, appoint or engage a 

Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement and may 

discharge any such Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent.  If at any time 

there is not any other designated Dissemination Agent, the County shall be the Dissemination Agent. 

SECTION 8. Amendment.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure Agreement, 

the County may amend this Disclosure Agreement, if such amendment is supported by an opinion of 

independent counsel with expertise in federal securities laws, to the effect that such amendment is 

permitted or required by the Rule. 

SECTION 9. Additional Information.  Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed 

to prevent the County from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set 

forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, or including any other 

information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is 

required by this Disclosure Agreement.  If the County chooses to include any information in any Annual 

Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is specifically required by this 

420



Attachment 6 
 

VII-4 

Disclosure Agreement, the County shall have no obligation under this Agreement to update such 

information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event. 

SECTION 10. Default.  Any person referred to in Section 11 (other than the County) may take 

such action as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by 

court order, to cause the County to file its Annual Report or to give notice of a Listed Event.  The holders 

of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds outstanding may take such actions as 

may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to 

challenge the adequacy of any information provided pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement, or to enforce 

any other obligation of the County hereunder.  A default under this Disclosure Agreement shall not be 

deemed an event of default under the Resolution or the Bonds of the County, and the sole remedy under 

this Disclosure Agreement in the event of any failure of the County to comply herewith shall be an action 

to compel performance.  Nothing in this provision shall be deemed to restrict the rights or remedies of any 

holder pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, 

or other applicable laws. 

SECTION 11. Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the 

County, the Participating Underwriters, and holders from time to time of the County’s Bonds, and shall 

create no rights in any other person or entity. 

Date:  _______ __, 2018 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

By: 

 _________________________________ 

Joseph M. Mondoro 

Chief Financial Officer 

421



Attachment 6 
 

VII-5 

EXHIBIT A 

CONTENT OF ANNUAL REPORT 

(a) Financial Information.  Updated information concerning General Fund revenues, 

expenditures, categories of expenditures, fund balances, assessed value of taxable property, tax rates, 

major taxpayers, and tax levies and collections. 

(b) Debt Information.  Updated information concerning general obligation bonds 

indebtedness, including bonds authorized and unissued, bonds outstanding, the ratios of debt to the 

market value of taxable property, debt per capita, and debt service as a percentage of General Fund 

disbursements. 

(c) Demographic Information.  Updated demographic information respecting the County 

such as its population, public school enrollment, and per pupil expenditure. 

(d) Economic Information.  Updated economic information respecting the County such as 

income, employment, unemployment, building permits, and taxable sales data. 

(e) Retirement Plans.  Updated information respecting pension and retirement plans for 

County employees, including a summary of membership, revenues, expenses, and actuarial valuation(s) 

of such plans. 

(f) Contingent Liabilities.  A summary of material litigation and other material contingent 

liabilities pending against the County. 

In general, the foregoing will include information as of the end of the most recent fiscal year or as 

of the most recent practicable date.  Where information for the fiscal year just ended is provided, it may 

be preliminary and unaudited.  Where information has historically been provided for more than a single 

period, comparable information will in general be provided for the same number of periods where valid 

and available.  Where comparative demographic or economic information for the County and the United 

States as a whole is contemporaneously available and, in the judgment of the County, informative, such 

information may be included.  Where, in the judgment of the County, an accompanying narrative is 

required to make data presented not misleading, such narrative will be provided. 

 

422



Attachment 6 
 

VII-6 

EXHIBIT B 

NOTICE OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 

[AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS] 

Re:  FAIRFAX COUNTY VIRGINIA 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT BONDS, 

SERIES 2018A 

and 

FAIRFAX COUNTY VIRGINIA 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT REFUNDING BONDS, 

SERIES 2018B 

  

CUSIP NOS.:   

Dated:  _____________ __, 20__ 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that Fairfax County, Virginia has not provided an Annual Report 

[Audited Annual Financial Statements] as required by Section 3 of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, 

which was entered into in connection with the above-named bonds issued pursuant to that certain 

Resolution adopted on December __, 2017, by the Board of Supervisors of the County, the proceeds of 

which were used to finance and refinance various public improvements in the County.  [The County 

anticipates that the Annual Report [Audited Annual Financial Statements] will be filed by ___________.] 

Dated:  ________________ 

FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

 

 

 

By       

 

423



Attachment 6 
 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

424



Attachment 6 
 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

425



Attachment 6 
 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

 

426



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ACTION - 4

Authorization of Economic Development Support Funding for Annandale Pilot Projects

ISSUE:
Board of Supervisors’ authorization of $125,000 from the Economic Development 
Support Fund (EDSF) for implementation of the Annandale Pilot Projects.

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board use the EDSF funds for this 
purpose.

TIMING:
Board action is requested on December 5, 2017, in order to proceed with the planning 
necessary for the implementation of the projects to occur starting in the spring of 2018.

BACKGROUND:
In July 2016, the Urban Land Institute performed a Technical Assistance Panel to 
develop short - and medium - term strategies for revitalizing Annandale, with a focus on 
the “downtown” core along Columbia Pike. Since that time, staff from the Office of 
Community Revitalization (OCR) in coordination with staff from the Department of 
Transportation (DOT) has explored the suggested strategies to determine which have 
the greatest chance of contributing to the larger revitalization goals for Annandale in the 
near - term. Two proposed actions were identified: a pilot “Open Streets” event including 
a “complete street” demonstration component, and a pilot “pop-up civic plaza” on a 
County-owned property, including the development of programming for the site. 

At the September 26, 2017, meeting of the Board of Supervisors, the Board authorized 
the evaluation of the use of the EDSF to support the Annandale Pilot Projects.  On 
October 17, 2017, the project was presented to the Board at its Budget Committee 
discussion (Attachment 1).

It is estimated an Open Street event in Annandale could attract approximately 5,000 
participants. Surveys conducted at Open Street events in other communities have 
reported that more than 80% of survey respondents spent money at the event. In 
addition, qualitative surveys will be administered to participants to gauge the success of 
the initiative in achieving its placemaking, transportation, health, and economic vitality 
goals. The surveys would capture metrics such as the number, age, and diversity of 

427



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

participants, which street activities or programming people engaged in, feedback on the 
complete street demonstration project and on the overall experience, as well as insights 
on sales activity from nearby businesses.  

The establishment of a low-cost pop-up plaza at the County-owned property in 
downtown Annandale could generate new revenue for the Park Authority through 
expanded programming offerings. In addition, qualitative surveys would be conducted in 
order to gauge the success of the initiative in achieving its placemaking and economic 
vitality goals. 

The EDSF is an opportunity to fund these activities that will assist in bringing vibrancy to 
downtown Annandale and in enhancing the community and commercial vitality of this 
important place. Funding these pilot projects will provide the opportunity to model a 
community-based approach to the implementation of temporary and interim uses as 
placemaking strategies and revitalization tools. Lessons learned will be documented 
and will provide the framework upon which to replicate similar events in other portions of 
the county. 

FISCAL IMPACT:
This item will result in the expenditure of $125,000 from the Economic Development 
Support Fund.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1 – Presentation of Annandale Pilot Projects

STAFF:
Barbara Byron, Director, Office of Community Revitalization (OCR)
Tom Biesiadny, Director, Department of Transportation (DOT)
Laura Baker, Revitalization Program Manager, OCR

428



Annandale Pilot Projects
EDSF Nomination

Laura Baker, Revitalization Program Manager
Office of Community Revitalization

10/17/2017

429



Proposal

• $125,000 to implement 
strategies from ULI TAP report

Such as:
• Pilot Open Street Event

• Pilot Pop-Up Plaza

2

430



Pilot Open Street Event

3

• Open Street events temporarily close 
streets to traffic, and open them to 
people, encouraging the community 
to experience the street in a new way!

Complete Street Demonstration
Livingston, CA | Credit:  Village 14 
Blog

Business Activity
New York, NY | Credit: Staff

Summer Streets 
New York, NY | Credit: Staff

Examples of Open Street Activities

Community Connection & Health
Atlanta, GA| Credit: Timothy J.

431



Location? • Utilize Columbia 
Pike in downtown

• Weekend day 
temporary event

• 0.5-mile 
proposed route

• Programmed 
activity nodes

• Police-controlled 
intersections

• Major area roads 
open

• Alternative 
property access 
available 4

432



Pilot Pop-Up Plaza
• Pop-up plazas/parks can provide 

temporary or interim civic gathering 
spaces in places which lack 
permanent infrastructure
• Programmable 

5

Credit: LADOT/Jim Simmons

Example of Pop-up Plaza & 
Programming |Sunset Triangle 
Plaza – Los Angeles, CA

Example of Pop-up Plaza & Programming | 
Pop-Up Park at The Boro, Tysons

Credit: Staff Credit: Staff

433



Location? • Utilize County 
property to 
establish a pop-
up plaza/park in 
heart of 
downtown

• Design and build 
flexible concept 
with temporary, 
moveable 
materials

• Test 
programming

6

434



Illustrative Concept

7

435



Benefits to County
• Pilots = Opportunity to:
• Test temporary and interim uses as placemaking strategies 

and revitalization tools
• Facilitate collaboration among county agencies, state 

agencies, and community
• Refine process for use in other areas
• Document outcomes and community benefits, develop 

guidance for replication, potential process improvements

• Advance Comprehensive Plan vision for Annandale, Strategic 
Plan to Facilitate Fairfax County’s Economic Success, and ULI’s 
Revitalization Strategies for Annandale study

8

436



Questions?

9

Open Street Activities
Minneapolis, MN| Credit: Bradley Johnson

Pop-Up Park | Norway
Credit: World Landscape Architecture

Plaza Pop-Up Park | Camden, NJ
Credit: Staff

Pop-Up Stage | United Kingdom
Credit: ISOSpaces 

Open Street Activities
Atlanta, GA | Credit: 
Sharon Roerty, Active Living Research

437



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ACTION - 5

Approval of a Memorandum of Understanding between the Metropolitan Washington 
Council of Governments and the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors Regarding 
Participation in a Coastal Storm Risk Management Study

ISSUE:
The Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments (COG) is coordinating a Coastal 
Storm Risk Management Study for the Metropolitan Washington, D.C. area with the 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE).  The study will assess the region’s 
vulnerability to flooding in tidal areas, assess ongoing actions relating to these 
vulnerabilities, identify gaps in these actions, and develop additional actions that could 
be taken to address these gaps. Fairfax County was identified as a non-federal cost-
share partner for the study.

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends approval of the attached Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) between COG and the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors 
regarding participation in a Coastal Storm Risk Management Study. The MOU defines
the roles and responsibilities for the County and COG for the study, and includes 
estimated costs for each study partner.

TIMING:
Board action is requested no later than December 5, 2017. Approval of the MOU by 
this date will allow County staff to participate in the development of the COG/U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers (USACE) study Project Management Plan which will result in a 
detailed scope of work for the proposed three year study.

BACKGROUND:
COG is coordinating a Coastal Storm Risk Management Study for the Metropolitan 
Washington region with USACE. The study will investigate flood risks in the vicinity of 
the region’s tidal areas, including Fairfax County, and identify potential solutions to 
protect any critical infrastructure as well as any communities in these areas. This effort 
will build upon existing studies for the region and collaborate with a wide range of 
stakeholders to leverage ongoing efforts and avoid duplication.

The study will develop a plan for Fairfax County to mitigate tidal flooding impacts and 
support community resilience. The study will also analyze regional climate information 

438



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

and data generated by the study to assess current and future, non-tidal, localized 
flooding impacts from major storm events.

The USACE will complete the study in three years.

FISCAL IMPACT:
The estimated maximum contribution of the County as a Tier 1 cost-share partner for 
the study is $350,000. The final contribution will depend on the detailed scope of study 
as well as mutually agreed credits for in-kind services. Funding is currently available in 
Project SD-000032, Emergency and Flood Response Projects, Fund 400-40100, 
Stormwater Services, for the County’s obligation for the proposed study.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1 - Memorandum of Understanding between the Metropolitan Washington 
Council of Governments and the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors.

STAFF:
James W. Patteson, Director, Department of Public Works and Environmental Services 
(DPWES)
Randolph W. Bartlett, Deputy Director, Stormwater & Wastewater Management 
Divisions, DPWES
Joseph Montoro, Chief Financial Officer, Department of Management and Budget

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
Marc Gori, Assistant County Attorney, Office of the County Attorney

439



1 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING  
between 

THE METROPOLITAN WASHINGTON COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS (COG) 
and the  

FAIRFAX COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, VIRGINIA 

This MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (“MOU”) is made this ______ of 
__________, 2017, between the METROPOLITAN WASHINGTON COUNCIL OF 
GOVERNMENTS (“COG”), 777 North Capitol Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20002 and 
the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors (the “County”), 12000 Government Center 
Parkway, Fairfax, VA 22035. 

WHEREAS, the United States Army Corps of Engineers (“USACE”) has been authorized to 
conduct an investigation titled “Metropolitan Washington, District of Columbia Coastal Storm 
Risk Management Study (CSR Management Study), to investigate coastal flood risk management 
problems and solutions for the National Capital Region (“NCR”) to reduce damages from flooding 
in tidally-influenced areas affecting population, critical infrastructure, critical facilities, property, 
and ecosystems; and 

WHEREAS, under the Water Resources Development Act of 1986, the USACE is 
authorized to expend up to $3.0 million over three years to conduct the full study, contingent 
upon reaching agreement on a Project Management Plan for the study and development of a 
fifty percent cost-share funding plan with its non-federal partners (including in-kind 
contributions); and 

WHEREAS, the COG Board has identified infrastructure resiliency as crucial for the 
protection of public health, the environment and the region’s economy; and 

WHEREAS, COG has been working with the USACE and the National Capital Planning 
Commission to identify potential federal and non-federal partners in the region to participate in 
the study, as well as potential non-federal cost-share to leverage the USACE funding for this 
study; and 

WHEREAS, COG has signed a Federal Cost-Share Agreement (“FCSA”) with the USACE and 
provided initial funding to support development of the scope of work for the Study’s Project 
Management Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the County desires to participate in this CSR Management Study as a non-
federal cost-share partner, which would include participating in the development of the Project 
Management Plan that will define the scope of the study and the associated Cost-Share Plan, 
and be an active participant in the CSR Management Study; and 

ATTACHMENT 1

440



2  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual obligations set forth herein and 
other considerations, the parties agree as follows: 

 
I. Term 

 
The Term of this MOU shall be from execution by the parties until the completion/termination 

of the CSR Management Study (“Study”), and all matters related to the Study and this MOU.  The 
Study will be conducted over a three (3) year period. Therefore, the term of this MOU will be up to 
four (4) years to allow for completion of the Study and follow up unless extended by the parties. 

 
II. Source and Level of Funding 

A. The County shall pay 100% of its agreed upon cost allocation and consistent with the 
payment schedule as defined in the Cost-Share Plan (Attachment A), up to a 
maximum total of $350,000.  The County certifies that it will appropriate said 
funding upon approval of the Project Management Plan (”PMP”).  

 
B. The Cost-Share Plan and cost allocations will reflect any “in-kind” funding that has 

been deemed eligible under the terms of the USACE’s funding requirements and 
agreed upon by all the Cost-Share Partners. 

 
C. COG will receive the appropriated funds for the Study from the County and pay 

those funds to the USACE.  Accordingly, COG has no responsibility to make 
payment to the USACE, or any other entity, other than from the funds provided by 
the Parties (“Parties”/”Cost-Share Partners”). 

 
III. Scope of Work 

 
A. A detailed scope of work for the Study will be developed by and agreed to by the 

USACE, COG, and all Cost-Share Partners.  That scope of work and the associated 
budget will be part of the PMP. 

 
B. COG, the USACE and all the Cost-Share Partners shall jointly agree, in writing to any 

amendments to the PMP and associated adjustments to the Cost-Share Plan. 
 

IV. Responsibilities 
 

A. COG shall: 
 

1. Serve as the non-federal sponsor for the Study, handle coordination and 
communication with the Cost-Share Partners, and submit required progress 
reports outlining the work completed by the USACE. 
 

2. Coordinate submission of invoices from the USACE and transmit those invoices to 
the Cost-Share Partners consistent with the Cost-Share Plan, and provide updates 
on the Study budget and funding on a quarterly basis. 

441



3  

B. The County shall: 
 

1. Designate staff to actively participate in these activities, working with COG and the 
USACE for the period of the Study. 

 
2. Upon receipt of invoices, make payment to COG as soon as practicable (but not 

later than 30 days after receipt of a valid invoice) so that COG may make 
timely payment to the USACE.  All payments by the County under this MOU 
shall be by check, drawn to the order of: Metropolitan Washington Council of 
Governments or, if approved by COG, by electronic funds transfer. 

 
3. Acknowledge that any additional or refined work to address specific issues and 

needs of the County, and the additional associated cost changes, must be agreed 
upon in writing as an amendment to this MOU.  

 
V. Waiver of Liability 

 
The County and COG mutually release each other from any claims against each 

other, their employees and agents, and from any and all liability, claims, demands, losses 
which may result from the implementation of this MOU and work performed pursuant 
thereto, including but not limited to that due to any work completed in whole or in part by the 
USACE or any other third party, pursuant to this MOU. 
 

Each of the parties will be responsible for the actions of its own employees and agents 
and any liabi l i ty resulting therefrom which may occur as a result of this MOU or work 
performed by COG or the USACE. 
 
VI. Disputes 

 
Both parties shall use their best efforts to resolve any dispute.  Any disputes which 

cannot be resolved may be subject to litigation, or mutually agreed to mediation or 
arbitration. 
 
VII. Termination 
 

The performance of work under this MOU may be terminated by either party by giving 
the other party 30 calendar days written notice.  If the County has provided funds to COG 
for which no claim will be made by the USACE, COG shall return the funds to the County 
within 30 days of the effective date of the termination.   Should the USACE make any claims 
to such funds, t h e  C o u n t y  and COG shall mutually determine t h e  C o u n t y ’ s  financial 
obligation for that claim. 

 
 

VIII. Amendments 
 

This MOU may be amended only by mutual consent to a written amendment signed 

442



4  

by both parties. 
 
IX. Anti-Deficiency Act and Related Laws 

 
Pursuant to the Anti-Deficiency Act, 31 U.S.C. § 1341(a)(l), nothing contained in this 

MOU shall be construed as binding on the County to expend in any one fiscal year any sum 
in excess of the appropriations made by Congress for the purposes of this MOU for that fiscal 
year, or as involving t h e  C o u n t y  in any contract or other obligation for the further 
expenditure of money in excess of such appropriations.   

 
Similarly, COG and the County acknowledge that the County shall be subject to any anti-

deficiency, non-appropriation, or subject to appropriation requirement under the law controlling 
on the County. 
 
X. Applicable Law 
 

Except as stated in Section IX of this MOU regarding anti-deficiency, non-appropriation 
or subject to appropriation requirements, this MOU shall be governed by the laws of the 
District of Columbia, and the courts of the District of Columbia shall have exclusive 
jurisdiction to decide any question arising hereunder. 
 

XI. Severability 
 

If any of the provisions of this MOU contravene or are held to be invalid under any 
applicable law, such provisions shall not invalidate this MOU in its entirety but the MOU 
shall be construed as if not containing the particular provisions which have been so 
construed and all remaining obligations of the parties shall remain in effect to the maximum 
extent possible. 
 
XII. MOU Contacts 

 
The Contacts for any questions regarding work pursuant to this MOU are:  
 
COG:   Tanya T. Spano, Chief, Regional Water Quality Management 

 DEP/Water Resources Program 
  777 North Capitol Street, N.E. 
  Washington, D.C. 20002 

 (202) 962-3776 
 Email: tspano@mwcog.org 

 
  

443

mailto:tspano@mwcog.org


5  

Fairfax County:  Dipmani Kumar, Chief 
Watershed Planning and Evaluation Branch 
Stormwater Planning Division 
12000 Government Center Parkway, Suite 449 
Fairfax, VA 22035 
(703)324-4612 
E-mail: dkumar@fairfaxcounty.gov 
 

The Contacts for any questions regarding the Terms of this MOU or for Official Notices 
are: 

 
COG:     Stuart Freudberg, 

Deputy Executive Director 
777 North Capitol Street, N.E. 
Washington, D.C. 20002 
(202) 962-3200 
Email: sfreudberg@mwcog.org 

 
Fairfax County:  Kirk Kincannon 

Acting County Executive 
12000 Government Center Parkway, Suite 552                                       
Fairfax, VA 22035                                     
Email: kkinca@fairfaxcounty.gov  

 
 
This MOU represents the full agreement of the parties hereto as evidenced by their 
respective signatures below: 
 
METROPOLITAN WASHINGTON COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
 
 
By:  ______________________________  Date:  ____________________________ 
 Chuck Bean, Executive Director 
 
 
FAIRFAX COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
 
 
By:  ______________________________  Date:  ____________________________ 
 Kirk Kincannon,  
 Acting County Executive 
 

444

mailto:dkumar@fairfaxcounty.gov
mailto:sfreudberg@mwcog.org


445

dkumar
Image

dkumar
Text Box
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING betweenTHE METROPOLITAN WASHINGTON COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS (COG) and the FAIRFAX COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, VIRGINIAAttachment A

dkumar
Text Box
133,334



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ACTION – 6

Adoption of a Resolution Approving the Issuance by the Fairfax County Economic 
Development Authority of its Refunding Revenue Bonds or Notes for the Benefit of 
GMUF Potomac Heights, LLC

ISSUE:
Requesting that the Fairfax County Economic Development Authority issue up to 
$18,500,000 Revenue bonds to issue its revenue bonds at one time, or from time to 
time in one or more series for, among other purposes to assist the Borrower in 
refunding the Authority’s outstanding Student Housing Refunding Revenue Bonds 
(George Mason University Foundation, Inc. Project), Series 2013 (the “2013 Bonds”).

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board adopt the attached resolution.

TIMING:
Board action is requested on December 5, 2017.

BACKGROUND:
The Fairfax County Economic Development Authority has received a request from 
George Mason University Foundation Potomac Heights, LLC, to issue its revenue 
notes, at one time or from time to time in one or more  series, to assist the Borrower in 
(a) refunding the Authority’s outstanding Student Housing Refunding Revenue Bonds 
(George Mason University Foundation, Inc. Project), Series 2013 (the “2013 Bonds”) 
which were issued for the purpose of refunding certain prior bonds issued by the 
Authority to finance or refinance the cost of certain capital improvements owned by the 
consisting of approximately 183,000 square feet located at 10350 York River road, in 
the county of Fairfax, Virginia, and (ii) an approximately 36,000 square foot residential 
and office facility known as University Park and located at 4260 Chain Bridge Road, 
4262 Chain Bridge Road, 4264 chain Bridge Road and 4266 Chain Bridge Road, in the 
City of Fairfax, Virginia; (b) funding swap breakage costs in connection with the 2013 
Bonds; and (c) funding certain costs of the issuance of proposed notes (collectively, the 
(“Refunding Project”).

446



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

FISCAL IMPACT:
None

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1 - Resolution of the Board of Supervisors
Attachment 2 - Certificate of Public Hearing with Supporting Documents
Attachment 3 - Fiscal Impact Statement

STAFF:
Gerald l. Gordon, Director, Fairfax County Economic Development Authority
Thomas O. Lawson, Counsel to Fairfax County Economic Development Authority

447



448



449



450



451



452



453



454



455



456



457



458



459



460



Board Agenda Item 
December 5, 2017

ACTION - 7

Approval of Project Agreements Between the Virginia Department of Rail and Public 
Transportation (DRPT) and Fairfax County for Fiscal Year (FY) 2018 Transit Assistance 
Grant Funds 

ISSUE: 
Approval for the Director of the Department of Transportation to sign eight Project 
Agreements with DRPT to enable the County’s receipt of FY 2018 transit operating and 
capital assistance. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
The County Executive recommends that the Board authorize the Director of the 
Department of Transportation to sign eight Project Agreements between DRPT and 
Fairfax County, in substantial form as those attached, for FY 2018 transit operating and 
capital assistance (Attachments 1 through 8). 

TIMING: 
The Board of Supervisors should act on this item on December 5, 2017, so that DRPT 
can release FY 2018 transit funding to Fairfax County. 

BACKGROUND: 
For more than 30 years, the state disbursed state transit assistance to the Northern 
Virginia jurisdictions through the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission (NVTC). 
Pursuant to the Code of Virginia, NVTC uses a Subsidy Allocation Model (SAM) to 
distribute regional transit funding among the jurisdictions. The Northern Virginia 
jurisdictions were, and continue to be, satisfied with the current SAM which has been in 
place for more than ten years. 

Prior to 2013, NVTC processed three main funding agreements between Fairfax County 
and DRPT: two for Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA) regional 
projects and one for Fairfax County local projects. In 2012, Fairfax County and DRPT 
entered into a Master Agreement for the Use of Commonwealth Transportation Funds 
(the Master Agreement), which provides the basis for which the County receives 
numerous transportation project grant funds. Beginning with FY 2013, DRPT required 
each NVTC jurisdiction to contract directly with the State for transit assistance. As a 
result of this requirement, Fairfax County needed to process as many as 48 separate 
agreements to receive transit funding in FY 2013, 2014, and 2015.  

461



Board Agenda Item 
December 5, 2017

In FY2016, NVTC was again able to act as Fairfax County’s agent for WMATA regional 
agreements, reducing the number of project agreements that Fairfax County was 
required to process. Though the process has improved, FCDOT staff continues to work 
with DRPT to streamline this annual process. In FY 2017, staff processed 13 
agreements. As mentioned above, in FY 2018, Fairfax County will process eight
agreements. There is one remaining capital project agreement that is still being 
negotiated. Staff will bring that agreement to the Board at a later date.

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The FY 2018 funding in the Six-Year Improvement Program provides the County with 
$17,770,950 for approved Fairfax County Transit Capital Projects and $15,430,305 for 
operating assistance. Capital funding from the Commonwealth is provided on a 
reimbursement basis after the purchase and/or project is complete. There is no General 
Fund impact. 

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS: 
Attachment 1 – Project Grant # 72018-26: Operating Assistance
Attachment 2 – Project Grant # 73018-60: Construction of the Innovation Center 
Metrorail Parking Garage
Attachment 3 – Project Grant # 73018-61: Construction of Herndon Metrorail Parking
Garage 
Attachment 4 – Project Grant # 73018-62: Purchase of Four Replacement Support 
Vehicles 
Attachment 5 – Project Grant # 73013-63: Purchase of Replacement Major Bus 
Components Including Engines, Transmissions and Differentials
Attachment 6 – Project Grant # 73018-64: Rehabilitation/Rebuilding Buses
Attachment 7 – Project Grant # 73018-65: Purchase of Fare Collection Equipment
Attachment 8 – Project Grant # 73018-66: Preliminary Engineering and Environmental 
Work Associated with the Richmond Highway Bus Rapid Transit Project

STAFF: 
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive 
Tom Biesiadny, Director, Fairfax County Department of Transportation (FCDOT) 
Todd Wigglesworth, Chief, Coordination and Funding Division, FCDOT 
Malcolm Watson, Transportation Planner, FCDOT

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
Joanna Faust, Assistant County Attorney

462



 

 

  Project Agreement for Use of  

 Commonwealth Transportation Funds 

 Fiscal Year 2018 

 Six Year Improvement Program Approved Project 

Grant Number 72018-26 

 

 

 This Project Agreement (“Agreement”), effective July 1, 2017, by and between the 

Commonwealth of Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (“Department”) and 

Fairfax County (“Grantee”) (collectively the “Parties”), is for the provision of funding for Fiscal 

Year 2018 operating assistance for the Grantee’s transit operations (“Project”).  

 

WHEREAS, on February 1, 2017, the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission, on 

behalf of the Grantee, submitted an application to the Department for funding in the Fiscal Year 

2018 Six Year Improvement Program (“SYIP”) from the State Aid Operating Assistance 

Program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department has approved funding for the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 20, 2017, the Commonwealth Transportation Board (“CTB”) 

allocated funding for the Project; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to define the extent of the Project, the responsibilities of 

each Party, the manner of performing the necessary Work, the method and time of payment, and 

to set out additional conditions associated with the Project. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth, and 

other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the Parties 

agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 1.  SCOPE OF WORK, TERM AND BUDGET 

 

1.  The Work to be performed by the Grantee under the terms of this Agreement is as 

follows:   

            

a. Provide Fiscal Year 2018 transit operations.  

 

2.  The Department agrees to provide funding as detailed below:   

            

a. State grant funding in the amount of $15,430,305 for the Project approved in the 

Fiscal Year 2018 SYIP. Details concerning this funding are contained in Appendix 1, 

which is attached and made a part of this Agreement. 

 

3.  The Grantee acknowledges that state grant funding for this grant is subject to 

appropriation by the General Assembly of Virginia and allocation by the CTB. 

463

jwats6
Typewriter
Attachment 1



 

 

ARTICLE 2.  INCORPORATION OF MASTER AGREEMENT  

FOR USE OF COMMONWEALTH FUNDS 

 

The Parties agree to incorporate the Master Agreement for Use of Commonwealth 

Transportation Funds, dated May 30, 2012, as if set out in full herein.   

 

 

 

This space intentionally left blank 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

464



465



 

 

 
Appendix 1 

 

   

 
Grantee: Fairfax County 

 

   

 

Project:  Fiscal Year 2018 Operating Assistance for the 

Grantee’s Transit Operations 

 

   

 
State Project Agreement 

 

   

 
Project Number: 72018-26 

 

 
Project Start Date:  July 1, 2017 

 

 

Project Expiration Date:  June 30, 2018 

 

 

   Operating Assistance Payment Schedule 

     

  

Estimated 

  Payment 

 

Payment 

 

Payment 

No. 

 

Date 

 

Amount 

     1 

 

  August 15, 2017 $  3,857,576 

2  November 15, 2017  $  3,857,576 

3  February 15, 2018  $  3,857,576 

4  May 15, 2018  $  3,857,577 

     TOTAL GRANT AMOUNT 

 
$15,430,305 

     

     In no event shall this grant exceed $15,430,305. 

   

   

   

    

466



 

 

  Project Agreement for Use of  

 Commonwealth Transportation Funds 

 Fiscal Year 2018 

 Six Year Improvement Program Approved Project 

Grant Number 73018-60 

 

 

 This Project Agreement (“Agreement”), effective July 1, 2017, by and between the 

Commonwealth of Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (“Department”) and  

Fairfax County (“Grantee”) (collectively, the “Parties”), is for the provision of funding the 

construction of the Innovation Center Metrorail parking garage (“Project”).  

 

WHEREAS, on February 1, 2017, the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission, on 

behalf of the Grantee, submitted an application to the Department for funding for the Project in 

the Fiscal Year 2018 Six Year Improvement Program (“SYIP”) from the Capital Assistance 

Program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department has approved funding for the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 20, 2017, the Commonwealth Transportation Board (“CTB”) 

allocated funding for the Project; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to define the extent of the Project, the responsibilities of 

each Party, the manner of performing the necessary Work, the method and time of payment, and 

to set out additional conditions associated with the Project. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth, and 

other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the Parties 

agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 1.  SCOPE OF WORK, TERM AND BUDGET 

 

1.  The Work to be performed by the Grantee under the terms of this Agreement is as 

follows:   

            

a. Construction of the Innovation Center Metrorail parking garage. 

 

2.  The Department agrees to provide funding as detailed below:   

            

a. State grant funding in the amount of $8,500,000 for the Project approved in the Fiscal 

Year 2018 SYIP. Details concerning this funding are contained in Appendix 1, which 

is attached and made a part of this Agreement. 

 

3.  The Grantee acknowledges that state grant funding for this grant is subject to 

appropriation by the General Assembly of Virginia and allocation by the CTB. 

467

jwats6
Typewriter
Attachment 2



 

 

ARTICLE 2.  INCORPORATION OF MASTER AGREEMENT  

FOR USE OF COMMONWEALTH FUNDS 

 

The Parties agree to incorporate the Master Agreement for Use of Commonwealth 

Transportation Funds, dated May 30, 2012, as if set out in full herein.   

 

 

 

This space intentionally left blank 

 

 

  

468



469



 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Grantee:  Fairfax County 

 

Project:  Construction of the Innovation Center Metrorail Parking Garage 

 

 Capital Project Agreement 

   

   

 
Project Number: 73018-60 

 

 
Project Start Date:  July 1, 2017 

 

 
Project Expiration Date:  September 30, 2019  

 

   

   

   Fund 

 

Item 

Code 

 

Amount 

   477 Grant Amount (State share of Project cost - 34%)  $  8,500,000 

1400 Local expense (share of Project cost - 66%)  $16,500,000 

    Total Project Expense  $25,000,000 

      

 

In no event shall this grant exceed $8,500,000.  

 

 

 

    

 

470



 

 

  Project Agreement for Use of  

 Commonwealth Transportation Funds 

 Fiscal Year 2018 

 Six Year Improvement Program Approved Project 

Grant Number 73018-61 

 

 

 This Project Agreement (“Agreement”), effective July 1, 2017, by and between the 

Commonwealth of Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (“Department”) and  

Fairfax County (“Grantee”) (collectively, the “Parties”), is for the provision of funding the 

construction of the Herndon Metrorail parking garage (“Project”).  

 

WHEREAS, on February 1, 2017, the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission, on 

behalf of the Grantee, submitted an application to the Department for funding for the Project in 

the Fiscal Year 2018 Six Year Improvement Program (“SYIP”) from the Capital Assistance 

Program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department has approved funding for the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 20, 2017, the Commonwealth Transportation Board (“CTB”) 

allocated funding for the Project; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to define the extent of the Project, the responsibilities of 

each Party, the manner of performing the necessary Work, the method and time of payment, and 

to set out additional conditions associated with the Project. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth, and 

other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the Parties 

agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 1.  SCOPE OF WORK, TERM AND BUDGET 

 

1.  The Work to be performed by the Grantee under the terms of this Agreement is as 

follows:   

            

a. Construction of the Herndon Metrorail parking garage. 

 

2.  The Department agrees to provide funding as detailed below:   

            

a. State grant funding in the amount of $4,760,000 for the Project approved in the Fiscal 

Year 2018 SYIP. Details concerning this funding are contained in Appendix 1, which 

is attached and made a part of this Agreement. 

 

3.  The Grantee acknowledges that state grant funding for this grant is subject to 

appropriation by the General Assembly of Virginia and allocation by the CTB. 

471

jwats6
Typewriter
Attachment 3



 

 

ARTICLE 2.  INCORPORATION OF MASTER AGREEMENT  

FOR USE OF COMMONWEALTH FUNDS 

 

The Parties agree to incorporate the Master Agreement for Use of Commonwealth 

Transportation Funds, dated May 30, 2012, as if set out in full herein.   

 

 

 

This space intentionally left blank 

 

 

  

472



473



 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Grantee:  Fairfax County 

 

Project:  Construction of the Herndon Metrorail Parking Garage 

 

 Capital Project Agreement 

   

   

 
Project Number: 73018-61 

 

 
Project Start Date:  July 1, 2017 

 

 
Project Expiration Date:  December 31, 2019  

 

   

   

   Fund 

 

Item 

Code 

 

Amount 

   477 Grant Amount (State share of Project cost - 34%)  $  4,760,000 

1400 Local expense (share of Project cost - 66%)  $  9,240,000 

    Total Project Expense  $14,000,000 

      

 

In no event shall this grant exceed $4,760,000  

 

 

 

    

 

474



  Project Agreement for Use of  

 Commonwealth Transportation Funds 

 Fiscal Year 2018 

 Six Year Improvement Program Approved Project 

Grant Number 73018-62 

 

 

 This Project Agreement (“Agreement”), effective July 1, 2017, by and between the 

Commonwealth of Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (“Department”) and  

Fairfax County (“Grantee”) (collectively, the “Parties”), is for the provision of funding the 

purchase of four replacement support vehicles (“Project”).  

 

WHEREAS, on February 1, 2017, the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission, on 

behalf of the Grantee, submitted an application to the Department for funding for the Project in 

the Fiscal Year 2018 Six Year Improvement Program (“SYIP”) from the Capital Assistance 

Program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department has approved funding for the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 20, 2017, the Commonwealth Transportation Board (“CTB”) 

allocated funding for the Project; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to define the extent of the Project, the responsibilities of 

each Party, the manner of performing the necessary Work, the method and time of payment, and 

to set out additional conditions associated with the Project. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth, and 

other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the Parties 

agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 1.  SCOPE OF WORK, TERM AND BUDGET 

 

1.  The Work to be performed by the Grantee under the terms of this Agreement is as 

follows:   

            

a. Purchase of four replacement support vehicles. 

 

2.  The Department agrees to provide funding as detailed below:   

            

a. State grant funding in the amount of $21,250 for the Project approved in the Fiscal 

Year 2018 SYIP. Details concerning this funding are contained in Appendix 1, which 

is attached and made a part of this Agreement. 

 

3.  The Grantee acknowledges that state grant funding for this grant is subject to 

appropriation by the General Assembly of Virginia and allocation by the CTB. 

 

475

jwats6
Typewriter
Attachment 4



ARTICLE 2.  INCORPORATION OF MASTER AGREEMENT  

FOR USE OF COMMONWEALTH FUNDS 

 

The Parties agree to incorporate the Master Agreement for Use of Commonwealth 

Transportation Funds, dated May 30, 2012, as if set out in full herein.   

 

 

 

This space intentionally left blank 

 

 

  

476



477



Appendix 1 

 

Grantee:  Fairfax County 

 

Project:  Purchase of Four Replacement Support Vehicles 

 

 Capital Project Agreement 

   

   

 
Project Number: 73018-62 

 

 
Project Start Date:  July 1, 2017 

 

 
Project Expiration Date:  June 30, 2019  

 

   

   
   Fund 

 

Item 

Code 

 

Amount 

   478 Grant Amount (State share of Project cost - 17%)  $  21,250 

1400 Local expense (share of Project cost - 83%)  $103,750 

    Total Project Expense  $125,000 

      

 

In no event shall this grant exceed $21,250.  

 

 

 

    

 

478



  Project Agreement for Use of  

 Commonwealth Transportation Funds 

 Fiscal Year 2018 

 Six Year Improvement Program Approved Project 

Grant Number 73018-63 

 

 

 This Project Agreement (“Agreement”), effective July 1, 2017, by and between the 

Commonwealth of Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (“Department”) and  

Fairfax County (“Grantee”) (collectively, the “Parties”), is for the provision of funding the 

purchase of replacement major bus components including engines, transmissions and 

differentials (“Project”).  

 

WHEREAS, on February 1, 2017, the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission 

(“NVTC”), on behalf of the Grantee, submitted an application to the Department for funding for 

the Project in the Fiscal Year 2018 Six Year Improvement Program (“SYIP”) from the Capital 

Assistance Program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department has approved funding for the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 20, 2017, the Commonwealth Transportation Board (“CTB”) 

allocated funding for the Project; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to define the extent of the Project, the responsibilities of 

each Party, the manner of performing the necessary Work, the method and time of payment, and 

to set out additional conditions associated with the Project. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth, and 

other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the Parties 

agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 1.  SCOPE OF WORK, TERM AND BUDGET 

 

1.  The Work to be performed by the Grantee under the terms of this Agreement is as 

follows:   

            

a. Purchase of replacement major bus components including engines, transmissions and 

differentials. 

 

2.  The Department agrees to provide funding as detailed below:   

            

a. State grant funding in the amount of $76,500 for the Project approved in the Fiscal 

Year 2018 SYIP. Details concerning this funding are contained in Appendix 1, which 

is attached and made a part of this Agreement. 

 

3.  The Grantee acknowledges that state grant funding for this grant is subject to 

479

jwats6
Typewriter
Attachment 5



appropriation by the General Assembly of Virginia and allocation by the CTB. 

 

ARTICLE 2.  INCORPORATION OF MASTER AGREEMENT  

FOR USE OF COMMONWEALTH FUNDS 

 

The Parties agree to incorporate the Master Agreement for Use of Commonwealth 

Transportation Funds, dated May 30, 2012, as if set out in full herein.   

 

 

 

This space intentionally left blank 

 

 

  

480



481



Appendix 1 

 

Grantee:  Fairfax County 

 

Project:  Purchase of Replacement Major Bus Components Including Engines, 

Transmissions and Differentials 

 

 Capital Project Agreement 

   

   

 
Project Number: 73018-63 

 

 
Project Start Date:  July 1, 2017 

 

 
Project Expiration Date:  June 30, 2019  

 

   

   
   Fund 

 

Item 

Code 

 

Amount 

   478 Grant Amount (State share of Project cost - 17%)  $  76,500 

1400 Local expense (share of Project cost - 83%)  $373,500 

    Total Project Expense  $450,000 

      

 

In no event shall this grant exceed $76,500.  

 

 

 

    

 

482



 

 

  Project Agreement for Use of  

 Commonwealth Transportation Funds 

 Fiscal Year 2018 

 Six Year Improvement Program Approved Project 

Grant Number 73018-64 

 

 

 This Project Agreement (“Agreement”), effective July 1, 2017, by and between the 

Commonwealth of Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (“Department”) and  

Fairfax County (“Grantee”) (collectively, the “Parties”), is for the provision of funding the 

rehabilitation/rebuilding of buses (“Project”).  

 

WHEREAS, on February 1, 2017, the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission, on 

behalf of the Grantee, submitted an application to the Department for funding for the Project in 

the Fiscal Year 2018 Six Year Improvement Program (“SYIP”) from the Capital Assistance 

Program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department has approved funding for the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 20, 2017, the Commonwealth Transportation Board (“CTB”) 

allocated funding for the Project; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to define the extent of the Project, the responsibilities of 

each Party, the manner of performing the necessary Work, the method and time of payment, and 

to set out additional conditions associated with the Project. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth, and 

other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the Parties 

agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 1.  SCOPE OF WORK, TERM AND BUDGET 

 

1.  The Work to be performed by the Grantee under the terms of this Agreement is as 

follows:   

            

a. Rehabilitate/rebuild buses. 

 

2.  The Department agrees to provide funding as detailed below:   

            

a. State grant funding in the amount of $2,305,200 for the Project approved in the Fiscal 

Year 2018 SYIP. Details concerning this funding are contained in Appendix 1, which 

is attached and made a part of this Agreement. 

 

3.  The Grantee acknowledges that state grant funding for this grant is subject to 

appropriation by the General Assembly of Virginia and allocation by the CTB. 

483

jwats6
Typewriter
Attachment 6



 

 

 

ARTICLE 2.  INCORPORATION OF MASTER AGREEMENT  

FOR USE OF COMMONWEALTH FUNDS 

 

The Parties agree to incorporate the Master Agreement for Use of Commonwealth 

Transportation Funds, dated May 30, 2012, as if set out in full herein.   

 

 

 

This space intentionally left blank 

 

 

  

484



485



 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Grantee:  Fairfax County 

 

Project:  Rehabilitation/Rebuilding Buses 

 

 Capital Project Agreement 

   

   

 
Project Number: 73018-64 

 

 
Project Start Date:  July 1, 2017 

 

 
Project Expiration Date:  June 30, 2019  

 

   

   
   Fund 

 

Item 

Code 

 

Amount 

   478 Grant Amount (State share of Project cost - 68%)  $2,305,200 

1400 Local expense (share of Project cost - 32%)  $1,084,800 

    Total Project Expense  $3,390,000 

      

 

In no event shall this grant exceed $2,305,200.  

 

 

 

    

 

486



  Project Agreement for Use of  

 Commonwealth Transportation Funds 

 Fiscal Year 2018 

 Six Year Improvement Program Approved Project 

Grant Number 73018-65 

 

 

 This Project Agreement (“Agreement”), effective July 1, 2017, by and between the 

Commonwealth of Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (“Department”) and  

Fairfax County (“Grantee”) (collectively, the “Parties”), is for the provision of funding the 

purchase of fare collection equipment (“Project”).  

 

WHEREAS, on February 1, 2017, the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission, on 

behalf of the Grantee, submitted an application to the Department for funding for the Project in 

the Fiscal Year 2018 Six Year Improvement Program (“SYIP”) from the Capital Assistance 

Program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department has approved funding for the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 20, 2017, the Commonwealth Transportation Board (“CTB”) 

allocated funding for the Project; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to define the extent of the Project, the responsibilities of 

each Party, the manner of performing the necessary Work, the method and time of payment, and 

to set out additional conditions associated with the Project. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth, and 

other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the Parties 

agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 1.  SCOPE OF WORK, TERM AND BUDGET 

 

1.  The Work to be performed by the Grantee under the terms of this Agreement is as 

follows:   

            

a. Purchase of fare collection equipment. 

 

2.  The Department agrees to provide funding as detailed below:   

            

a. State grant funding in the amount of $748,000 for the Project approved in the Fiscal 

Year 2018 SYIP. Details concerning this funding are contained in Appendix 1, which 

is attached and made a part of this Agreement. 

 

3.  The Grantee acknowledges that state grant funding for this grant is subject to 

appropriation by the General Assembly of Virginia and allocation by the CTB. 

 

487

jwats6
Typewriter
Attachment 7



ARTICLE 2.  INCORPORATION OF MASTER AGREEMENT  

FOR USE OF COMMONWEALTH FUNDS 

 

The Parties agree to incorporate the Master Agreement for Use of Commonwealth 

Transportation Funds, dated May 30, 2012, as if set out in full herein.   

 

 

 

This space intentionally left blank 

 

 

  

488



489



Appendix 1 

 

Grantee:  Fairfax County 

 

Project:  Purchase of Fare Collection Equipment 

 

 Capital Project Agreement 

   

   

 
Project Number: 73018-65 

 

 
Project Start Date:  July 1, 2017 

 

 
Project Expiration Date:  June 30, 2019  

 

   

   
   Fund 

 

Item 

Code 

 

Amount 

   478 Grant Amount (State share of Project cost - 68%)  $   748,000 

1400 Local expense (share of Project cost - 32%)  $   352,000 

    Total Project Expense  $1,100,000 

      

 

In no event shall this grant exceed $748,000.  

 

 

 

    

 

490



 

 

  Project Agreement for Use of  

 Commonwealth Transportation Funds 

 Fiscal Year 2018 

 Six Year Improvement Program Approved Project 

Grant Number 73018-66 

 

 

 This Project Agreement (“Agreement”), effective July 1, 2017, by and between the 

Commonwealth of Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (“Department”) and  

Fairfax County (“Grantee”) (collectively, the “Parties”), is for the provision of funding for 

preliminary engineering and environmental work associated with the Richmond Highway Bus 

Rapid Transit project (“Project”).  

 

WHEREAS, on February 1, 2017, the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission, on 

behalf of the Grantee, submitted an application to the Department for funding for the Project in 

the Fiscal Year 2018 Six Year Improvement Program (“SYIP”) from the Capital Assistance 

Program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department has approved funding for the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 20, 2017, the Commonwealth Transportation Board (“CTB”) 

allocated funding for the Project; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to define the extent of the Project, the responsibilities of 

each Party, the manner of performing the necessary Work, the method and time of payment, and 

to set out additional conditions associated with the Project. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth, and 

other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the Parties 

agree as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 1.  SCOPE OF WORK, TERM AND BUDGET 

 

1.  The Work to be performed by the Grantee under the terms of this Agreement is as 

follows:   

            

a. Preliminary engineering and environmental work associated with the Richmond 

Highway Bus Rapid Transit project. 

 

2.  The Department agrees to provide funding as detailed below:   

            

a. State grant funding in the amount of $1,360,000 for the Project approved in the Fiscal 

Year 2018 SYIP. Details concerning this funding are contained in Appendix 1, which 

is attached and made a part of this Agreement. 

 

491

jwats6
Typewriter
Attachment 8



 

 

 

3.  The Grantee acknowledges that state grant funding for this grant is subject to 

appropriation by the General Assembly of Virginia and allocation by the CTB. 

 

 

ARTICLE 2.  INCORPORATION OF MASTER AGREEMENT  

FOR USE OF COMMONWEALTH FUNDS 

 

The Parties agree to incorporate the Master Agreement for Use of Commonwealth 

Transportation Funds, dated May 30, 2012, as if set out in full herein.   

 

 

 

This space intentionally left blank 

 

 

  

492



493



 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Grantee:  Fairfax County 

 

Project:  Preliminary Engineering and Environmental Work Associated with the 

Richmond Highway Bus Rapid Transit Project 

 

 Capital Project Agreement 

   

   

 
Project Number: 73018-66 

 

 
Project Start Date:  July 1, 2017 

 

 
Project Expiration Date:  December 31, 2019  

 

   

   
   Fund 

 

Item 

Code 

 

Amount 

   477 Grant Amount (State share of Project cost - 34%)  $1,360,000 

1400 Local expense (share of Project cost - 66%)  $2,640,000 

    Total Project Expense  $4,000,000 

      

 

In no event shall this grant exceed $1,360,000.  

 

 

 

    

 

494



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ACTION - 8

Endorsement of the Chief Administrative Officer’s Task Force Recommendation
Regarding the Preliminary FY 2019 Virginia Railway Express Capital and Operating 
Budget

ISSUE:
Board endorsement of the Chief Administrative Officer’s (CAO) Task Force initial 
recommendation regarding the proposed FY 2019 Virginia Railway Express (VRE) 
budget.

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board endorse the CAO Task Force’s
primary recommendation on the FY 2019 VRE budget. The recommendation is to 
concur with the VRE Operations Board’s recommendation to help balance the FY 2019
budget with a jurisdictional subsidy increase of three percent, as part of their six-year 
financial plan.

It is anticipated that additional recommendations will be presented to help balance the 
budget before the VRE Operations Board considers adoption of the FY 2019 budget on 
December 15, 2017.  Some of the major strategies include, updating contractual costs 
with actual cost-driver indices when they become available (November – Consumer 
Price Index for Keolis and Association of American Railroads for Norfolk Southern),
ongoing review and reduction of VRE departmental operational costs, various 
marketing strategies to improve ridership, identify qualifying one-time items for use of 
the previous fiscal year surplus, and continue to evaluate projected ridership and 
revenue trends. County staff concurs with evaluating these strategies to balance the 
FY 2019 VRE budget.

TIMING:
The Board should act on this item on December 5, 2017, because this is the last Board 
meeting before the VRE Operations Board considers adoption of the FY 2019 VRE 
budget on December 15, 2017.

DISCUSSION:
The VRE Chief Executive Officer presented the preliminary FY 2019 budget to the VRE 
Operations Board on September 14, 2017. The FY 2019 budget included an unfunded 

495



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

amount of approximately $1.6 million.  The shortfall was primarily attributed to lower 
than budgeted federal and state operating and capital revenue to VRE and contractual 
increases.

During the FY 2019 budget year, VRE will operate 32 daily revenue trains and continue 
its safety and customer service outreach programs.  The capital budget for FY 2019 will 
focus on state of good repair of equipment and facilities and replacement of the mid-
day storage facility. 

The budget was referred to the local jurisdictions for review and comment.  Beginning 
July 18, 2017, a staff task force, organized by CAOs of the VRE jurisdictions, has 
reviewed the preliminary budget and continues to meet with VRE staff to discuss it in 
detail.

The CAO Task Force is preparing a final report summarizing its review of the FY 2019
budget and offering any further recommendations that may be developed.  The Task 
Force and VRE staff met on September 12, October 17, and November 14, 2017, to
discuss recommendations. The CAOs will meet in mid-December 2017, before the 
December VRE Operations Board meeting, to officially review the Task Force’s 
recommendation(s) and receive the VRE staff response. After the multiple meetings, 
phone conversations and on-line discussions between the Task Force and VRE staff, it 
is anticipated that VRE staff will deliver a balanced budget to the VRE Operations 
Board by December 15, 2017. Although the Task Force’s report is not finalized, it is 
expected to contain the following primary recommendation for the budget. The
recommendation is as follows:

1) Help Balance the FY 2019 Budget With a Three Percent Jurisdictional 
Subsidy Increase

The VRE service currently must be supported within the confines of jurisdictional 
budget constraints and a competitive and equitable fare structure. Although additional 
ongoing dedicated funding sources to support both the operating and capital needs of 
the commuter rail service are needed, fare and subsidy levels must also be routinely 
increased to at least partially accommodate ongoing contractual increases.  VRE’s
Financial Plan forecast was the first step in quantifying the need for additional ongoing 
dedicated funding sources to support both the operating and capital needs of the 
commuter rail service. The FY 2018 six-year financial forecast projected a subsidy 
increase of three percent for FY 2019.  The jurisdictional subsidy amount was last 
increased by five percent in FY 2017 to approximately the total subsidy amount paid in 
FY 2009.  VRE has had four fare increases in the last six fiscal years (FY 2013, FY 
2014, FY 2016 and FY 2018) to maintain the current level of service at a reasonable 
cost to the rider.  The FY 2018 six-year financial forecast projected no fare increase in 

496



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

FY 2019. For the various reasons stated above, VRE staff calculated a projected 
shortfall for the FY 2019 budget of $1.6 million.  One of their main proposals for 
reducing this amount is the three percent subsidy increase which will yield 
approximately $500,000.  Other potential proposals for reducing the remainder of the
shortfall include continuing to review Departmental expenses on a line item basis for 
potential cost savings, continuing to review for potential one-time qualifying expenses, 
adjusting for impact of changes in cost-driving indices, reviewing contingency 
calculation for appropriateness, implementing various marketing strategies to improve 
ridership, and reviewing and integrating the Capital/CIP Program and its affect on the 
overall budget.

FISCAL IMPACT:
The preliminary FY 2019 VRE budget includes an estimated total jurisdictional subsidy 
of $17,770,000.  Based on the most recent information received, Fairfax County’s 
portion of the total FY 2019 local subsidy is not expected to exceed $6,100,000.
Fairfax County’s FY 2019 subsidy level should be available in mid-December 2017
upon completion of the jurisdictional subsidy calculations based on the VRE Passenger 
Survey held on October 4, 2017.

When the final amount of Fairfax County’s share is known, the local subsidy will be 
updated in Fund 40000, County Transit Systems, and included in the FY 2019 Adopted 
Budget Plan approved by the Board of Supervisors.  The Board is not being asked to 
approve Fairfax County’s FY 2019 VRE subsidy at this time.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
None

STAFF:
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive
Joe Mondoro, Chief Financial Officer, Department of Management and Budget
Tom Biesiadny, Director, Department of Transportation, FCDOT
Todd Wigglesworth, Division Chief, Coordination and Funding Division, FCDOT
Mike Lake, Senior Transportation Planner, Coordination and Funding Division, FCDOT

497



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ACTION – 9

Approval of a Resolution Endorsing Projects For Submission to the Northern Virginia 
Transportation Commission for the Fiscal Year 2018 I-66 Inside the Beltway Commuter 
Choice Program (Providence, Mason, and Dranesville Districts)

ISSUE:
Board approval of a resolution authorizing the County to apply for regional funding for 
Fiscal Year (FY) 2018 through the Northern Virginia Transportation Commission 
(NVTC) to fund two projects that will increase travel options for commuters on I-66 
Inside the Beltway. 

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board of Supervisors approve the 
resolution (Attachment 1) endorsing two Fairfax County transportation projects for 
submission for NVTC’s I-66 Inside the Beltway Commuter Choice Program funding for 
FY 2018 and authorizing the Director of the Department of Transportation to sign and 
submit the applications.

TIMING:
Board of Supervisors’ approval is requested on December 5, 2017, to meet the NVTC 
application deadline of December 22, 2017.

BACKGROUND:
At its meeting on September 7, 2017, NVTC approved the issuance of the FY 2018 
Commuter Choice Program Call for Projects. Funding is provided by toll revenues from 
I-66 Inside the Beltway to fund multimodal transportation projects. Project applications 
are due to NVTC by close of business on December 22, 2017, with a resolution of 
endorsement from each locality’s governing body. 

NVTC staff will prepare a list of eligible candidate projects for consideration by the 
Commission at its meeting in May 2018, with a recommendation that these projects be 
submitted to the Commonwealth Transportation Board for approval in June 2018. 

The FY 2018 I-66 Commuter Choice Program will follow the selection process 
prescribed in the Memorandum of Agreement between the Commonwealth
Transportation Board (CTB), the Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT), and 
NVTC (January 5, 2017), whereby eligible projects are evaluated, prioritized, selected 
and then submitted by NVTC to the CTB for approval. Available revenues for FY 2018 
are approximately $10 million. It is anticipated that NVTC will receive an update on the 

498



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

exact amount of available revenues from VDOT in January 2018, from which the 
FY2018 program will be funded.

Projects recommended for NVTC consideration for FY 2018 funding have been included 
as Attachment 1. Fairfax County’s total request for funding from NVTC is $5,231,500 
million. 

County staff recommends the following projects for submission to NVTC: 

∑ Express bus service operating from the Vienna Metrorail Station to the Pentagon 
Transit Center ($4,760,000).

∑ Installation, and operation of at least ten new Capital Bikeshare stations in the 
Providence District, specifically in the Merrifield and Vienna areas ($471,500).

These projects are described in further detail in Attachment 2. Following action by the 
Board of Supervisors, staff will pursue NVTC FY 2018 I-66 Commuter Choice Inside the 
Beltway funding.

FISCAL IMPACT:
If selected and approved, annual estimated costs of $5,231,500 for the aforementioned 
projects will be reimbursed by NVTC as part of the I-66 Commuter Choice Program 
through toll revenue contributions to Fund 40000, County Transit Systems. Future 
funding for multimodal transportation projects in the I-66 corridor will come from toll 
revenues generated by the I-66 Inside and Outside the Beltway High Occupancy Toll
express lanes and will be included in subsequent budget processes. There is no 
General Fund impact. 

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1 - Resolution of Endorsement of Projects Being Submitted for FY 2018, I-
66 Commuter Choice Inside the Beltway funding 
Attachment 2 – List of Projects with Descriptions

STAFF:
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive
Tom Biesiadny, Director, Fairfax County Department of Transportation, FCDOT
Todd Wigglesworth, Chief, Coordination and Funding Division, FCDOT
Dwayne Pelfrey, Chief, Transit Services Division, FCDOT
Karyn Moreland, Section Chief, Capital Projects and Operations Division, FCDOT
Malcolm Watson, Transportation Planner, FCDOT

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
Assistant County Attorney Emily Harwood Smith

499



  Attachment 1 

RESOLUTION 
 
 

At a regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia, 
held in the Board Auditorium in the Fairfax County Government Center of Fairfax, 
Virginia on Tuesday, December 5, 2017, at which a quorum was present and voting, the 
following resolution was adopted. 
 

WHEREAS, at its meeting on September 7, 2017, the Northern Virginia 
Transportation Commission (NVTC) approved the issuance of the FY 2018 I-66 Inside 
the Beltway Commuter Choice Program Call for Projects.  
 

WHEREAS, the FY 2018 I-66 Commuter Choice Program will follow the 
selection process prescribed in the Memorandum of Agreement between the 
Commonwealth Transportation Board (CTB), Virginia Department of Transportation, 
and NVTC (January 5, 2017), whereby eligible projects are evaluated, prioritized, 
selected and then submitted by NVTC to the CTB for approval, with funding provided by 
toll revenues from I-66 Inside the Beltway. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Supervisors of 
Fairfax County, Virginia, hereby authorizes the Director of the Fairfax County 
Department of Transportation to submit to the Northern Virginia Transportation 
Commission a request for funding from the I-66 Commuter Choice Program for FY2018 
for the following projects: 
 

• Express bus service operating from the Vienna Metrorail Station to the Pentagon 
Transit Center. 

• Installation, and operations of at least ten new Capital Bikeshare stations in the 
Providence District, specifically in the Merrifield and Vienna areas. 

 
This Resolution shall take effect immediately. 
 

 
     A Copy Teste: 
 
 
 

___________________________ 
Catherine A. Chianese  
Clerk to the Board of Supervisors 

 
 

500



  Attachment 2 

List of Projects for I-66 Commuter Choice Program 

 

Project: Express Bus Service from Vienna Metrorail Station to Pentagon Transit Center 

Project Description: Express bus service operating in the morning from the Vienna 
Metrorail Station to the Pentagon Transit Center. The route will feature ten morning 
inbound trips to the Pentagon Transit Center and ten afternoon outbound trips to the 
Vienna Metrorail Station. The Fairfax Connector provided a similar service during 2016 
when Metro service was decreased due to the SafeTrack maintenance activities. The 
service was very popular and averaged 33 passengers per trip.   

The requested funds will fund the operation of the route and the purchase of five buses 
to operate the service. 

 

Project: Capital Bikeshare stations in the Providence District, specifically in the 
Merrifield and Vienna areas. 

Project Description: TheFairfax County Department of Transportation is proposing to 
expand its Capital Bikeshare program to the I-66 corridor, including Route 29 and Route 
50, between Route 123 in Oakton near Vienna and I-495, primarily connecting residents 
along the I-66 corridor to the Vienna and Dunn-Loring Metrorail stations, the I-66 trail 
and the Washington & Old Dominion trail. These new stations will also improve the 
connectivity between Tysons and Merrifield and the future Capital Bikeshare system in 
Falls Church via the W&OD Trail.  

The requested funding will be used towards the purchase, installation, and operations of 
at least ten new Capital Bikeshare stations in the I-66 corridor between Route 123 and 
I-495, in the Merrifield area. The County is planning a combination of private, local, 
state, and federal funds to build out the Capital Bikeshare network in this area. The goal 
of the project is to connect residents along the I-66 corridor to the Vienna and Dunn-
Loring Metro rail stations, the I-66 trail and the W&OD regional trail. 

501



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ACTION - 10

Approval of a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) Between the Northern Virginia 
Transportation Commission and the County of Fairfax Regarding Coordination of 
Technical Analysis, Testing and Funding for Phase III of the Envision Route 7 Project
(Dranesville, Hunter Mill, Mason and Providence Districts)

ISSUE: 
Board of Supervisors’ approval of and authorization for the Director of the Department 
of Transportation to execute a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with the Northern 
Virginia Transportation Commission (NVTC).  The agreement documents the parties’ 
understanding regarding funding for Phase III of the Envision Route 7 Project. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
The County Executive recommends that the Board approve the MOA in substantially 
the form of Attachment 1 and authorize the Director of the Department of Transportation 
to execute it. 

TIMING: 
The Board of Supervisors should act on this item on December 5, 2017, so that NVTC 
can proceed with Phase III of the Envision Route 7 study. 

BACKGROUND: 
The Route 7 corridor is an important arterial roadway linking many Northern Virginia 
communities.  These communities include the highly dense and developing center at 
Tysons, the neighborhoods of eastern Fairfax County, the City of Falls Church, the 
areas of Seven Corners, Bailey’s Crossroads, and Skyline, and the City of Alexandria.
The corridor has a diversity of land uses, such as urban areas, suburban/strip centers, a
downtown area, mixed use centers, commercial centers, and residential neighborhoods. 
It is a corridor that has grown organically over an extended period of time, with the 
roadway being adjusted as various developments were built.

The Route 7 Corridor Transit Study Final Report identified bus rapid transit (BRT) as a 
viable transit solution along the corridor.  Based on the analysis and evaluation by the 
Route 7 Corridor Transit Study Team, a 12.5 mile BRT system linking Tysons with the 
Mark Center, providing a connection to the East Falls Church Metrorail Station, was 
selected as the recommended alternative to advance the study for environmental 

502



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

review, engineering, and design. This recommendation was endorsed by the NVTC on 
July 7, 2016.

As a result, the parties to the MOA have agreed to undertake a conceptual engineering 
study that will refine the project cost, develop a possible implementation strategy, and 
provide guidance on preserving the required right-of-way.  This study also includes 
several of technical analyses to develop data that can be used to make two primary 
decisions associated with this project – alignment and termini. Under the MOA, NVTC
will coordinate and administer all of the parties’ participation and implementation 
required for the Envision Route 7 Phase III Planning Level Conceptual Engineering 
Study.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 
NVTC was awarded a FY 2018 Department of Rail and Public Transportation grant in 
the amount of $300,000 ($150,000 state share with a $150,000 required local match) for 
the Envision Route 7 Phase III Planning Level Conceptual Engineering Study. The 
required share for Fairfax County is $75,000, which will be paid with state aid held in 
trust for Fairfax County at NVTC. There will be no fiscal impact to the General Fund, if 
this item is approved.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS: 
Attachment 1 – Memorandum of Agreement Regarding Coordination of Technical 
Analysis, Testing, Funding and Administration for Phase III of the Envision Route 7 
Study

STAFF: 
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive 
Tom Biesiadny, Director, Fairfax County Department of Transportation (FCDOT)
Todd Wigglesworth, Chief, Coordination and Funding Division, FCDOT 
Malcolm Watson, Transportation Planner, FCDOT

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
Patricia McCay, Assistant County Attorney

503



Envision Route 7 Phase III Planning Level Conceptual Engineering Study

Memorandum of Agreement

October 20, 2017

Page 1

Attachment 1

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

REGARDING COORDINATION OF TECHNICAL ANALYSIS, TESTING, FUNDING AND

ADMINISTRATION FOR PHASE III OF THE ENVISION ROUTE 7 PROJECT

This Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) is entered into between and among the Northern

Virginia Transportation Commission (NVTC) and the below identified participating jurisdictions

and transportation agencies (collectively, the Entities and individually, an Entity) as a means of

demonstrating their joint commitment to the funding of Phase III of the Envision Route 7 project,

as is fully described below.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, this MOA addresses an immediate need to fund a planning level conceptual

engineering study to continue progress on the Envision Route 7 project and identify right-of-way

concerns and other high-level engineering concerns along the proposed project corridor that

need to be integrated into future subarea and sector planning activities;

WHEREAS, this MOA sets forth the principles agreed upon by NVTC and the Entities which will be used in continuing 

the Envision Route 7 project for a Phase III study and for Entity participation.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals, each of which are incorporated in

this MOA, and other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency and receipt of which is

hereby acknowledged, NVTC and the Entities agree as follows:

1.0 PURPOSE

NVTC and the Entities mutually desire, and with the assistance of grant funding agencies including

the Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (DRPT), to provide additional study and

analysis for the continuation of the Envision Route 7 project. Accordingly, in accordance with the

terms of this MOA, NVTC is authorized to act on behalf of the following Entities as the contracting

and coordinating entity for the Phase III planning level conceptual engineering study:

■ City of Alexandria

■ Arlington County

■ Fairfax County

■ City of Falls Church

504



Envision Route 7 Phase III Planning Level Conceptual Engineering Study

Memorandum of Agreement

October 20, 2017

Page 2

2.0 BACKGROUND AND GOALS

The Envision Route 7 project, which is generally described in the Route 7 Corridor Transit Study

Final Report (January 2017), incorporated herein by reference the "Envision Route 7 Project",

recently completed the Envision Route 7 Phase II Study. The key findings from Phase II were that

a Bus Rapid Transit ("BRT") along Route 7 from Mark Center to Tysons, via the East Falls Church

Metro Station is a viable transit solution for the corridor, generally described as the "Corridor",

providing added connectivity and multimodal choices. The key activities in the Phase II work were

to estimate the potential demand and forecast the ridership, compare possible alternative

modes, determine possible funding mechanisms and strategies, and provide a high-level cost

estimate for both capital and operating cost. The BRT showed high demand across all trip

purposes. The service would benefit not only commuters with key connections to Mark Center,

Tysons, and Metro; but serve other trip purposes including shopping and recreational trips. The

travel demand forecast showed approximately two-thirds of the new riders traveling for non-

work purposes. The Phase II Study focused on determining which mode best serves the Corridor,

and if and where the BRT should deviate from Route 7.

The next step for the Envision Route 7 Project effort, Phase III, is to conduct a conceptual

engineering study (the "Envision Route 7 Phase III Planning Level Conceptual Engineering Study").

The conceptual engineering study will help to refine the project cost, identify potential areas of

concern, develop a potential staging strategy, and provide guidance on preserving the required

right-of-way. This study will identify right-of-way that could be utilized by the BRT and serve as a

point of reference for jurisdictions in their subarea and sector planning. The conceptual

engineering study is a logical next step in the process.

The conceptual engineering study will involve the development of planning level drawings of the

BRT alignment, right-of-way requirements, and roadway geometry (e.g., typical sections and

critical vertical clearance) along the Corridor. The development of a concept level design will help

identify and allow for mitigation strategies of possible fatal flaws or locations of concerns,

including issues related to right-of-way and/or structural limitations that would (or would not)

accommodate the proposed BRT (e.g., exclusive lane). This conceptual planning level design will

be based on an approximately 10 percent level of design detail.

The Entities concur with the following goals for the Envision Route 7 Phase III Planning Level

Conceptual Engineering Study:

■ To fully clarify and quantify the transportation needs and deficiencies identified during

the planning and programming phase;

■ To develop a general course of proposed action, and identify and evaluate with

engineering analyses the feasible and reasonable solutions (alternatives) to these needs

and deficiencies; and

■ To document the engineering analyses, preliminary design, and the project delivery plan,

to guide implementation of the BRT project.

505



Envision Route 7 Phase III Planning Level Conceptual Engineering Study

Memorandum of Agreement

October 20, 2017

Page 3

NVTC will involve the jurisdictional Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) when working with the

consultant. The TAC is expected to participate in all substantive sessions with NVTC and the

consultant.

There may also be procedural issues that will require a coordinated response, which can best be

addressed by NVTC, through its coordination with the Entities, as a whole, or with a standing

committee of the Entities, as may be agreed.

3.0 TECHNICAL SUPPORT

Each Entity authorizes NVTC to enter into a contract, subject to availability of funds, to provide

technical support for executing the Envision Route 7 Phase III Planning Level Conceptual

Engineering Study scope of work, and to work with the Entities in identifying sources of funding

to achieve the goals set forth in this MOA. NVTC will provide management and technical support

on behalf of the Entities. Support work in this task will include but not be limited to:

■ Reviewing and responding to requests for technical information or resources from the

hired consultant team;

■ Program management for the Phase III study; and

■ Coordinating with the Envision Route 7 Technical Advisory Committee (TAC).

The scope of work for the Envision Route 7 Phase III Planning Level Conceptual Engineering Study

includes but is not limited to the following:

1. Base Map Development and Data Compilation

2. Compile Relevant Development and Highway Design Plans

3. Station Location Recommendations

4. Develop Conceptual Level Drawings for the Corridor

5. Determine Right-of-Way Needs

6. Capital Costs Estimates

7. Report and Documentation

8. Project Management

The scope of work is an attachment to this Memorandum of Agreement as Attachment I.

4.0 FUNDING AND FINANCING

NVTC was awarded a FY 2018 DRPT grant in the amount of $300,000 ($150,000 State share with

a $150,000 required local match) for the Envision Route 7 Phase III Planning Level Conceptual

Engineering Study. The scope of technical assistance needed by the Entities has been estimated

based on the Phase II travel demand forecast modeling and ridership projections. The required

local share for each Entity was calculated using the boardings, trip end productions, and trip end

attractions by jurisdiction.

506



Envision Route 7 Phase III Planning Level Conceptual Engineering Study

Memorandum of Agreement

October 20, 2017

Page 4

5.0 COORDINATION AND ADMINISTRATION

NVTC will coordinate and administer the Entities' participation in development and

implementation of the Envision Route 7 Phase III Planning Level Conceptual Engineering Study.

NVTC will convene regular meetings among the Entities and other regional stakeholders to

demonstrate progress and discuss and seek agreement on all issues concerning the progress of

the study. The required local match to be provided by Entity is as follows:

Jurisdiction Required Match

City of Alexandria $30,000

Arlington County $22,000

Fairfax County $75,000

City of Falls Church $23,000

Total $150,000

6.0 PARTICIPANT ROLES AND RESPONSBILITIES

Entities executing this MOA agree to:

■ Work to consensus insofar as possible in resolution of all matters;

■ Confirmation of the designate lead and appropriate additional representatives to

participate in TAC; and

■ Identify appropriate funding sources of local match.

■ NVTC will invoice the jurisdictions for the local match within 30 days of the execution of

the contract with the selected consultant.

■ Jurisdictional payment is expected within 45 days of invoicing.

7.0 AMENDMENTS

Any signatory to this MOA may propose an amendment at any time. Any such amendment shall

become effective upon the approval of the amendment by all participating Entities and execution of

a written amendment by each.

8.0 DURATION OF MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

This MOA shall be effective upon the signature of the NVTC and each of the Entities, and shall

last for the duration of the Phase III study.

This MOA also may be terminated in whole or in part by the Entities in accordance with this clause

whenever the majority of Entities determines that such a termination is in their best interest. Any

such termination shall be effected by delivering to NVTC a written notice of termination signed

by the majority of the Entities specifying the extent to which performance shall be terminated

and the date upon which termination becomes effective, which date shall be not less than ninety

(90) days from the date of the notice. If this MOA is terminated in whole or in part, the Entities

507



Envision Route 7 Phase III Planning Level Conceptual Engineering Study

Memorandum of Agreement

October 20, 2017

Page 5

shall use the ninety (90) calendar day period prior to the expiration of the MOA for the orderly

termination of their further participation in those aspects of the study.

9.0 APPROPRIATIONS REQUIREMENTS

All requirements for funding by any signatory party to this Agreement are subject to annual or other

appropriations by their respective governing body or the Virginia General Assembly, as may be

applicable.

10.0 ASSIGNMENTS

No Entity shall have the power to assign either their rights or obligations under this MOA,

provided however, that any reorganization of an Entity shall automatically transfer the former

Entity's rights and obligations to its successor.

11.0 NO PERSONAL LIABILITY

Nothing herein shall be deemed or construed to impose upon or give rise to any personal liability on

behalf of any official, employee or individual who was acting in his or her authorized official

capacity in the execution and/or implementation of the terms or conditions of this Agreement.

12.0 NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY RIGHTS CREATED

Nothing herein shall be deemed or construed to create or vest any rights in any party which is not a

signatory to this Agreement.

13. NO WAIVER OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY

Nothing herein shall be deemed a waiver of the sovereign immunity of any signatory party to this

Agreement.

508



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this 

Memorandum of Agreement by

their duly authorized representative;

509



Page 7

City of Alexandria

By: ________________________________________

510



___________________________________________

Name: Mark B. Jinks (Date)

Title: City Manager

511



Page 9

Arlington County

By: ________________________________________

512



___________________________________________

Name: Mark Schwartz (Date)

Title: County Manager

513



Page 11

Fairfax County

By: ________________________________________

514



___________________________________________

Name: Tom Biesiadny (Date)

Title: Director of Transportation

515



Page 13

City of Falls Church

By: ________________________________________

516



___________________________________________

Name: Wyatt Shields (Date)

Title: City Manager

517



Page 15

AGENCY: Northern Virginia Transportation Commission (NVTC)

By: ________________________________________

518



___________________________________________

Name: Katherine A. Mattice (Date)

Title: Executive Director, NVTCEnvision Route 7 Phase III Planning Level 

519



Page 17

Conceptual Engineering Study

Memorandum of Agreement

October 20, 2017

520



NVTC
NORTHERN VIRGINIA TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

Envision Route 7 Conceptual Engineering

Scope of Work

Introduction

The Envision Route 7 project recently completed the Envision Route 7 Phase II Study. The key
findings from Phase II were that a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) along Route 7 from Mark Center to
Tysons, via the East Falls Church Metro Station is a viable transit solution for the corridor providing
added connectivity and multimodal choices. The key activities in the Phase II work were to estimate
the potential demand and forecast the ridership, compare possible alternative modes, determine
possible funding mechanisms and strategies, and provide a high-level cost estimate for both capital
and operating cost. The BRT showed high demand across all trip purposes. The service would
benefit not only commuters with key connections to Mark Center, Tysons, and Metro; but serve other
trip purposes including shopping and recreational trips. The travel demand forecast showed
approximately two-thirds of the new riders traveling for non-work purposes. The Phase II Study
focused on determining which mode best serves the corridor, where and if the BRT should deviate
from Route 7.

The next step for the Envision Route 7 effort, is to conduct a conceptual engineering study. The
conceptual engineering study will help to refine the project cost, identify potential areas of concern,
develop a potential staging strategy, and provide guidance on preserving the required right-of-way.
This study will be identifying right-of-way that could be utilized by the BRT and guide jurisdictions in
their subarea and sector planning. This conceptual engineering study is a logical next step in the
process. This study is estimated to cost approximately $300,000 and is to take one year to complete.

This conceptual engineering study will involve the development of planning level drawings of the
BRT alignment, right-of-way requirements, and roadway geometry (e.g., typical sections and critical
vertical clearance) along the corridor. The development of a concept level design will help identify
and allow for mitigation strategies of possible fatal flaws or locations of concerns, including issues
related to right-of-way and/or structural limitations that would (or would not) accommodate the
proposed BRT (e.g., exclusive lane). This conceptual planning level design will be based around the
idea of an approximately 10 percent level of design detail.

The purpose of this effort is limited in scope. There will need to be additional studies after this phase
that focus on traffic impacts, operational concerns (e.g., median or curb running, etc.), as well as
legislative required environmental work. As the project nears the final design stages a service
planning study will be needed to determine station configurations and locations and other related
details. The Envision Route 7 Phase III Conceptual Engineering Study covers a critical step by
identifying right of way concerns for advancing a BRT along Route 7. The Envision Route 7 project
will provide additional high quality transit for Tysons and key centers along the Route 7 corridor.

2300 Wilson Boulevard • Suite 620 • Arlington, VA 22201

Phone: 703-524-3322 • Fax: 703-524-1756

www.NoVaTransit.org • nvtc@nvtdc.org

Attachment I

521

http://www.novatransit.org/


522



2
The overall objectives of this study are:

• To continue the planning for high quality transit mode along Route 7 from Tysons to Mark
Center;

• To identify right-of-way needs and develop a conceptual foot print for the proposed BRT
along Route 7 as outlined in the Envision Route 7 Phase II report; and

• To provide a guidance for the local jurisdictions as they pursue redevelopment along the
corridor.

Tasks

Task 1: Base Map Development and Data Compilation

Activity

The consultant will compile a list of available GIS data required for mapping and conceptual planning
level of design. An electronic base map will be developed by obtaining and utilizing current base
map and right of way information. The base mapping background should consist of aerial imagery
of the corridor. The consultant will be responsible for compiling the data. The consultant will need to
coordinate with the jurisdictional staff and the Virginia Department of Transportation Northern
Virginia District to obtain the GIS data and aerial imagery. NVTC will help assist with facilitating this
coordination.

Product

GIS incorporating the required base map and data for the conceptual engineering work. A technical
memorandum outlining the data in the GIS, the architecture of the GIS, and the source of the
information.

Task 2: Compile Relevant Development and Highway Design Plans

Activity

The consultant will compile the relevant development and future highway plans that would impact
the BRT corridor. This will include but is not limited to redevelopment of Route 7 in Tysons, the Falls
Church's high school site redevelopment, East Falls Church Metro Station, Seven Corners, Bailey's
Crossroads, Skyline, West End Transitway, and any other similar redevelopment sites or projects
along the corridor. The consultant will also review any plans pertaining to highway improvements
and expansion along the corridor. This data will be incorporated into the project GIS.

Product

A technical memorandum listing all additional future plan data that is incorporated into the GIS as
well as sources documentation for the information.

523



3
Task 3: Station Location Recommendations

Activity

In addition to the alignment, the conceptual planning level design will identify potential
locations for stations and possible type of stations (e.g., a bus stop or a larger transfer
center), but further development of station concepts will not be part of this scope. Under the
conceptual planning level design, a relative station footprint for each station type will be
assumed based on other similar BRT projects (for cost estimating purposes). This study will
not produce site-specific locations and layout plans will not be developed for the assumed
sites. The study will identify key locations within the guidelines for station spacing. The travel
demand forecasting and ridership presented in the Phase II report will be used as an input
to this task.

Product

A technical memorandum identifying station stop location, cost information, and guidelines
for station design.

Task 4: Develop Concept Level Drawings

Activity

Planning level design drawings for the BRT along the corridor will be developed to a planning
level. The drawings should provide enough detail to review and identify potential engineering
issues or concerns related to right-of-way. This conceptual level drawings will be developed
to show the alignment of the BRT on the current right-of-way and roadway. The goal of the
drawings will be to help provide context and identify right-of-way needs. This will include
developing typical cross sections (e.g., exclusive right-of-way, in-street, at-grade, etc.) to
show new construction as well as associated modifications to existing roadways and
structures.

This task will also include conceptual level evaluation of key structures (e.g., bridges,
overpasses, etc.) along the corridor. The suitability of each structure type to accommodate
the needs of the BRT will be evaluated. The task will also utilize information from other
jurisdictional planning and engineering efforts along Route 7 including work completed for
Route 7 in Tysons as well as engineering work completed for the West End Transitway at
the southern terminus.

Product

Design drawings of the corridor. The CAD drawings shall show the following features:

• BRT runningway lane configuration alignments with options for curb and/or median running

• Typical sections

• Proposed channelization of all lanes - dimensions clearly labeled.

• Vehicle and pedestrian crossings and related protections

• Identification of locations for potential stations

524



4

• Right of way limits obtained from GIS data

• Identification of parking impacts

• Identification of utilities, and storm water management requirements

• Identification of structure footprints for roadways that could involve reconstruction or
replacement of roadway due to the transit project.

Task 5: Determine Right-of-Way Needs

Activity

Under this task, the preliminary limits of rights-of-way will be estimated using available
Geographic Information System (GIS) and Task 1 and 2 mapping data. Using the available
right-of-way information, a concept level evaluation of the alternative will be performed for
potential impacts on existing buildings, infrastructure, businesses, residents and community
activities, and additional right-of-way needs. A concept level analysis of possible impacts on
utilities will be conducted based on readily available information. This task will include
identifying areas where right-of-way could be set aside for the BRT as future development or
redevelopments happen.

Product

A technical memorandum outlining corridor needs and areas where there are right-of-way issues or
other design issues.

Task 6: Capital Costs Estimates

Activity

Capital costs estimates will be developed using the most current version of FTA's Standard Cost
Categories for Capital Projects (SCC) worksheet format. The summed costs will be factored by an
accepted contingency rate, accepted program design and management rate and the anticipated
construction year of expenditure (YOE).

Product

A technical memorandum presenting the cost worksheets and all assumptions.

Task 7: Report

A final report will be written. It should be a narrative and visual description of major elements such
as stations, track location, key structures and locations, traffic analysis, and cost estimation. The
consultant shall take all the technical memorandum and create a final document based on these
memoranda. The final report will need to include 10 hard copies and electronic files associated

525



5
with the report and the project. The consultant will develop a draft report and the project technical
team will review the document and provide comments. The comments will be incorporated into the
final document.

Task 8: Project Management

The consultant will provide bi-weekly meetings via telephone with the project manager and if
warranted the project management team. The project management team includes the jurisdictional
members of the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC). These meeting will include a project update
and identify any up-coming deliverables or activities. Progress reports will be required monthly.
The progress reports should outline on-going activities and the current budget. The report should
identify any issue or concerns and present the project budget burn rate.

The consultant should also plan on meetings with the project management team after completion of
each task. The purpose of these meetings will be to allow the project management team oversight
and input on the technical memoranda as well as upcoming activities.

526



REVISED

Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ACTION - 11

Approval of a Resolution Endorsing Projects Being Submitted for FY 2018 to FY 2023 
Regional Funding, and FY 2024 Regional Surface Transportation Program and 
Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Federal Funding through the Northern Virginia 
Transportation Authority

ISSUE
Board approval of a resolution (Attachment 1) authorizing the Fairfax County 
Department of Transportation (FCDOT) to apply for regional transportation funding, 
federal Congestion Mitigation Air Quality (CMAQ), and Regional Surface Transportation 
Program (RSTP) funding for FY 2018 – FY 2023, and FY 2024, respectively. 
Applications for both regional and federal funding will be submitted through the Northern 
Virginia Transportation Authority (NVTA). These projects are either included in the 
Transportation Priorities Plan (TPP) adopted by the Board of Supervisors on January 
28, 2014, or have been otherwise previously approved by the Board.

RECOMMENDATION
The County Executive recommends that the Board of Supervisors approve Attachment 
1 endorsing Fairfax County projects for submission for NVTA’s regional and federal 
CMAQ/RSTP funding programs.

TIMING
Board of Supervisors’ approval is requested on December 5, 2017, to meet the NVTA 
submission deadline of December 15, 2017. The Commonwealth Transportation Board 
(CTB) will subsequently consider the NVTA-approved list of projects for CMAQ and 
RSTP funding in June 2018, as part of its Six-Year Improvement Program (SYIP).
NVTA is also expected to approve projects for its regional transportation funding in June 
2018.

BACKGROUND
NVTA Regional Projects
At its meeting on October 12, 2017, NVTA approved issuance of the FY 2018 – FY

527



REVISED

Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

2023 Program Call for Projects. Funding for these capital projects is provided by 
NVTA’s 70 percent share of regional revenues that NVTA retains. Project applications 
are due to NVTA on December 15, 2017, with a resolution of endorsement from each 
locality’s governing body. 

NVTA staff will prepare a list of eligible candidate projects for consideration by the 
NVTA Board at a meeting in early calendar year 2018, with a recommendation that 
these projects be submitted to VDOT/DRPT for the evaluation of congestion relief 
benefits required by HB 599 (2012). The HB 599 analysis is being conducted by VDOT.

Projects recommended for NVTA consideration for FY 2018 – FY 2023 funding are 
included in Attachment 2. These projects are a subset of, and consistent with, the 
Board’s TPP. The total amount of NVTA regional funding expected to be available 
during this time period is approximately $1.46 billion. Fairfax County’s total request for 
funding from NVTA is over $1 billion. Many of these projects will require funding beyond 
FY 2023, and staff will actively seek funding for projects in need of additional funding 
through NVTA and other sources.

County staff recommend the following projects for submission to NVTA for regional 
funding consideration in an amount not to exceed the “Proposed Funding Request”.
Each project is scored and ranked based on several criteria, including congestion 
reduction relative to cost. However, NVTA has requested that each applicant prioritize 
their requests. Staff’s suggested priority is indicated to the right of each project. 

Table 1 – List of Proposed Projects for NVTA Regional Funding

Project Title/TransAction ID

Current 
Cost 

Estimate
In 

Millions

Proposed 
Funding 
Request

In 
Millions

Priority

Corridor 1: Route 7/Dulles Toll Road/Silver Line

Rock Hill Road Extension (DTR Overpass) / 19 $170.0 $170.0 12 of 15

Soapstone Drive Extension (Dulles Toll Road 
(DTR) Overpass) / 7

$170.0 $157.0 3 of 15

Town Center Parkway Extension (DTR 
Underpass) / 17

$170.0 $17.0 13 of 15

528



REVISED

Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

Corridor 3: Route 28

Route 28 Widening (Northbound, Route 50 to 
McLearen Road) / 26

$19.0 $19.0 14 of 15

Route 28 Widening (Prince William County Line 
to Old Centreville Road) / 30

$91.11 $39.3 5 of 15

Corridor 5: Fairfax County Parkway

Fairfax County Parkway Widening (Ox Road to 
~2,000 Feet North of Lee Highway), and 
Fairfax County Parkway/Popes Head Road 
Interchange Improvement / 57 

$147.0 $67.0 11 of 15

Shirley Gate Road Extension / 58 $45.0 $42.0 15 of 15

Corridor 6: I-66/US 29/US 50/Orange-Silver Line/VRE Manassas

Route 29 Widening Phase II (Union Mill Road 
to Buckleys Gate Drive) / 217

$67.0 $7.6 10 of 15

Seven Corners Ring Road (Phase 1A/Segment 
1A) / 18

$72.0 $12.4 8 of 15

Corridor 8: I-95/I-395/US 1/VRE Fredericksburg/Blue-Yellow Line

Frontier Drive Extension / 84 $89.5 $79.5 4 of 15

Richmond Highway Bus Rapid Transit (BRT, 
Huntington Metrorail Station to Fort Belvoir) / 
39

$605.0 $250.0 2 of 15

Richmond Highway CSX Underpass/282 $56.0 $12.0 7 of 15

Richmond Highway Widening (Mt Vernon 
Memorial Highway to Napper Road) /214

$215.0 $127.0 1 of 15

Corridor 10: Columbia Pike/Braddock Road/VRE Manassas

Braddock Road Improvements (Burke Lake to 
I-495) / 336

$60.4 $52.4 6 of 15

1. The total project estimate for the Route 28 Widening project has increased from $68.8 million to $91.1 
million. This increase is due to a change in project scope. The initial scope was based on widening from 4 
to 6 lanes. Initial traffic analyses indicated that a 6-lane section may not be sufficient to address the 
volume of traffic. This new estimate supports an expanded project scope.

529



REVISED

Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

Rolling Road Widening (Old Keene Mill Road to 
Fairfax County Parkway) / 54

$51.22 $17.0 9 of 15

Total Request ~$1,069.2

Other projects of local interest requiring Fairfax County endorsement for submission 
that benefit Fairfax County include:

∑ Town of Herndon - Metrorail Multi-Modal ImprovementsHerndon Bikesharing 
Services

o Introduce and expand bikesharing services in Herndon in coordination 
with County regional system.Implement roadway, bicycle, and pedestrian 
projects to improve access to the Herndon Metrorail Station.

∑ Town of Vienna - Metrorail Access Improvements
o Improve access to Metrorail and encourage mass transit use by 

completing all sidewalks within a half-mile of Vienna Fairfax-GMU and 
Tysons Corner Metrorail Stations, and provide a commuter park-and-ride 
lot to enhance access to the stations.

∑ Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority – To Be Determined

Project of local interest that will assist Fairfax County residents. Staff recommends the 
Board supports advancing without endorsing a specific alternative:

∑ Prince William County - Route 28 Improvements primarily south of Bull Run that 
are the subject of a current alternatives analysis to identify ways to ease 
congestion and improve traffic conditions. 

These projects have also been included in the resolution for Board endorsement.

CMAQ and RSTP Projects
The CMAQ Program provides federal funds for regions that are determined to be in 
non-attainment for air quality to assist them in complying with Clean Air Act 
requirements. The RSTP Program provides federal formula funds to the region to assist 
with the implementation of transportation capital projects. 

The Board last endorsed CMAQ and RSTP applications for FY 2023 funds in December 
2016. The Commonwealth’s current SYIP, adopted by the CTB in June 2017, included 
CMAQ and RSTP funding through FY 2023.

2. The total project estimate for the Rolling Road project has increased from approximately $35 million to 
over $51 million. This increase is due primarily to significant increases in utility and construction 
estimates.

530



REVISED

Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

For the purposes of preparing its recommended project lists, NVTA currently estimates 
that in Northern Virginia, $52.6 million will be available for distribution in the RSTP 
Program, and $29.6 million will be available in the CMAQ Program. Staff recommends 
submitting the following projects for funding consideration (Attachment 2). The project 
requests for FY 2024 funding are a continuation of funding for projects included in the 
TPP, for FY 2015 to FY 2020. No new projects are being recommended. 

Table 2 – List of Proposed Projects for CMAQ/RSTP Funding

Project Title
Proposed 

Funding 
Request

Priority

Countywide Transit Stores $0.65 6

Fairfax County Parkway (Route 286) Widening
(Route 123 to Route 29)/Popes Head Interchange 

$5.0 5

Richmond Highway Bus Rapid Transit $10.0 1

Richmond Highway Widening (Mt Vernon Memorial 
Highway to Napper Road) 

$9.0 2

Seven Corners Ring Road (Phase 1A/Segment 1A) $9.0 7

Soapstone Drive Extension (Dulles Toll Road (DTR) 
Overpass)

$18.0 4

Tysons Roadway Improvements $9.0 3

Total CMAQ/RSTP Requested $60.65

FISCAL IMPACT
Requests for regional and federal (CMAQ and RSTP) funding are shown by project in 
the table above. There is no local cash match associated with any of these revenues, 
and no impact to the General Fund.

CREATION OF POSITIONS
No positions will be created through this action.

531



REVISED

Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS
Attachment 1 – Resolution of Endorsement of Projects Being Submitted for Regional 
and Federal Funding through the Northern Virginia Transportation Authority
Attachment 2 – List of Projects with Brief Descriptions

STAFF
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive
Tom Biesiadny, Director, Fairfax County Department of Transportation (FCDOT) 
Todd Wigglesworth, Chief, Coordination and Funding Division, FCDOT
Eric Teitelman, Chief, Capital Projects and Operations Division, FCDOT
Todd Minnix, Chief, Transportation Design Division, FCDOT
Karyn Moreland, Section Chief, Capital Projects and Operations Division, FCDOT
Ray Johnson, Senior Transportation Planner, Coordination and Funding, FCDOT
Noelle Dominguez, Senior Transportation Planner, Coordination and Funding, FCDOT
Brent Riddle, Senior Transportation Planner, Coordination and Funding, FCDOT

532



Attachment 1 
 

Fairfax County Board of Supervisors Resolution 
 
 
At a regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia, held 
in the Board Auditorium in the Fairfax County Government Center of Fairfax, 
Virginia, on Tuesday, December 5, 2017, at which meeting a quorum was 
present and voting, the following resolution was adopted. 
 
 

RESOLUTION 
 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Supervisors of 
Fairfax County, Virginia, hereby approves the submission to the Northern Virginia 
Transportation Authority (NVTA) requests for regional funding for FY 2018 – FY 
2023 for the following projects in amounts not to exceed: 
 

• Richmond Highway Widening (Mount Vernon Memorial Highway to 
Napper Road) - $127,000,000: TransAction ID 214 (Route 1 Widening: 
Route 235 North to Route 235 South) 

• Route 28 Widening (Prince William County Line to Route 29) - 
$39,300,000: TransAction ID 30 (Route 28 Widening: Route 29 to 

• Prince William County Line) 
• Fairfax County Parkway Widening (Ox Road to Route 29) and Popes 

Head Road Interchange Improvements - $67,000,000: TransAction ID 57 
(Fairfax County Parkway Widening: Ox Road (Route 123) to Lee Highway 
(Route 29)) 

• Seven Corners Ring Road (Phase 1A/Segment 1A) - $12,400,000: 
TransAction ID 18 (Seven Corners Ring Road Improvements) 

• Frontier Drive Extension - $79,500,000: TransAction ID 84 (Frontier Drive 
Extension and Intersection Improvements) 

• Braddock Road Improvements (Burke Lake to I-495) - $52,400,000: 
TransAction ID 336 (Braddock Road Intersection Improvements: Guinea 
Road to Ravensworth Road) 

• Rolling Road Widening (Old Keene Mill Road to Fairfax County Parkway) - 
$17,000,000: TransAction ID 54 (Rolling Road Widening: Hunter Village 
Drive to Old Keene Mill Road) 

• Route 29 Widening Phase II (Union Mill Road to Buckleys Gate Drive) - 
$7,600,000: TransAction ID 217 (Route 29 Widening: Waples Mill Road 
(Route 665) to Pickwick Road) 

• Shirley Gate Road Extension - $42,000,000: TransAction ID 58 (Shirley 
Gate Road Extension: Braddock Road to Fairfax County Parkway) 

533



• Richmond Highway Bus Rapid Transit (Huntington Metrorail Station to 
Fort Belvoir) - $250,000,000: TransAction ID 39 (Route 1 BRT) 

• Soapstone Drive Extension (Dulles Toll Road (DTR) Overpass) - 
$157,000,000: TransAction ID 7 (Soapstone Drive Extension) 

• Town Center Parkway Extension (DTR Underpass) - $17,000,000: 
TransAction ID 17 (Dulles Toll Road - Town Center Parkway Underpass) 

• Richmond Highway CSX Underpass - $12,000,000: TransAction ID 282 
(Route 1 Widening: Occoquan River Bridge to Telegraph Road (Route 235 
North)) 

• Route 28 Widening (Northbound, McLearen Road to Route 50) - 
$19,000,000: TransAction ID 26 (Route 28 Widening: I-66 to Loudoun 
County line) 

• Rock Hill Road Extension (DTR Overpass) - $170,000,000: TransAction 
ID 19 (Davis Drive Extension and Dulles Toll Road: Rock Hill Overpass) 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax 

County, Virginia, hereby approves the submission to the NVTA requests for 
funding from the federal Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality and Regional 
Surface Transportation Programs for FY 2024 for the following projects: 
 

• Countywide Transit Stores 
• Fairfax County Parkway Widening (Ox Road to Lee Highway), and Fairfax 

County Parkway/Popes Head Road Interchange Improvement  
• Richmond Highway Bus Rapid Transit 
• Richmond Highway Widening (Mount Vernon Highway to Napper Road) 
• Seven Corners Ring Road (Phase 1A/Segment 1A) 
• Soapstone Drive Extension (Dulles Toll Road (DTR) Overpass) 
• Tysons Roadway Improvements 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax 

County, Virginia, hereby also endorses the efforts of the Town of Herndon, the 
Town of Vienna, Prince William County, and WMATA in submitting applications 
to the NVTA requests for regional funding for FY 2018 – FY 2023, for the 
following projects located in or near Fairfax County that are submitted by regional 
entities:  
 

• Town of Herndon - Herndon Bikesharing ServicesMetrorail Multi-Modal 
Improvements 

• Town of Vienna - Metrorail Access Improvements 
• Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority – To Be Determined 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax 

County, Virginia, hereby supports advancing the following project without 
endorsing a specific alternative:  

 

534



• Prince William County - Route 28 Improvements south of Bull Run that are 
the subject of a current alternatives analysis to identify ways to ease 
congestion and improve traffic conditions 

 
 
 
Adopted this 5th day of December 2017, Fairfax, Virginia 
 
 
 
 

ATTEST ______________________ 
Catherine A. Chianese  

   Clerk to the Board of Supervisors 
 

535



 ATTACHMENT 2 
 
 

List of Recommended Projects for Northern Virginia Transportation Authority (NVTA) 70% 
Regional Consideration (FY2018-2023) 

 
 

Project Project Description 
Current 

Cost 
Estimate in 

Millions 

Requested 
Funding in 

Millions 

Richmond 
Highway 
Widening (Mt 
Vernon Memorial 
Highway to 
Napper Road) 

The Richmond Highway widening project 
is 2.9 miles in length and is located 
between Mt. Vernon Memorial Highway 
(south) and Napper Road. This project 
will provide a six-lane facility 
complementing the Richmond Highway 
project recently completed from 
Telegraph Road to Mt. Vernon Memorial 
Highway. This project includes both 
pedestrian and bicycle facilities and 
provision for future bus rapid transit in the 
median. 

$215.0 $127.0 

Route 28 
Widening (Prince 
William County 
Line to Old 
Centreville Road)  

The project consists of widening the 
existing four lanes (divided) to six lanes 
(divided) for approximately 2.3 miles, 
from north of the existing bridge over Bull 
Run to the intersection with Old 
Centreville Road/Upperridge Drive. This 
project includes both pedestrian and 
bicycle facilities. 

$91.1 $39.3 

Fairfax County 
Parkway 
Widening (Ox 
Road to 2,000 
feet north of Lee 
Highway), and 
Fairfax County 
Parkway/Popes 
Head Road 
Interchange 
Improvement 

The project provides for the widening of 
Fairfax County Parkway (Route 286) from 
Route 123 to 2,000 feet north of Route 29 
from four lanes (divided) to six lanes 
(divided). This improvement will provide 
or upgrade pedestrian and bicycle 
amenities. 
The project provides for an interchange at 
the intersection of Fairfax County 
Parkway, Popes Head Road and Shirley 
Gate Extension, including pedestrian and 
bicycle accomodations, and future 
connection to Shirley Gate Road to the 
east. 

$147.0 $67.0 

536



Seven Corners 
Ring Road 
(Phase 
1A/Segment 1A) 

This project will design the first phase of 
the new interchange. This phase consists 
of a new road connecting Route 7, on the 
western side of the existing Seven 
Corners Interchange, with a bridge over 
Route 50, around the interchange to 
Sleepy Hollow Road, back to Route 7 on 
the eastern side of the interchange and 
terminating with a bridge that goes over 
Route 50. Project will also include new 
signalized crosswalks with VDOT Wilson 
Boulevard replacement bridge. The entire 
project includes bicycle and pedestrian 
accommodations. 

$72.0 $12.4 

Frontier Drive 
Extension 

Extend Frontier Drive from Franconia-
Springfield Parkway to Loisdale Road, 
including access to Franconia-Springfield 
Metrorail Station and braided ramps to 
and from the Parkway.  Provide 
pedestrian and bicycle facilities along the 
proposed Frontier Drive extension and 
support relocation of the Transportation 
Security Administration Headquarters to 
Springfield. 

$89.5 $79.5 

Braddock Road 
Improvements 
(Guinea Road to 
Ravensworth 
Road) 

The project would include intersection, 
signalization, access management, 
pedestrian, and bicycle improvements. 

$60.4 $52.4 

Rolling Road 
Widening (Old 
Keene Mill Road 
to Fairfax County 
Parkway) 

Widen Rolling Road from two to four 
lanes from Old Keene Mill Road to 
Franconia Springfield Parkway and 
Fairfax County Parkway. The project will 
add or upgrade pedestrian and bicycle 
facilities. 

$51.6 $17.0 

Route 29 
Widening Phase 
II (Union Mill 
Road to Buckleys 
Gate Drive) 

Phase II will widen Lee Highway (Route 
29) from Union Mill Road to Buckleys 
Gate Drive for a total of approximately 
1.49 miles. The segment currently has 
four lanes (divided), and the project will 
widen it to six lanes (divided). This project 
includes both pedestrian and bicycle 
facilities. 

$67.0 $7.6 

537



Shirley Gate 
Road Extension 

Extension of four-lane divided Shirley 
Gate Road from Braddock Road to the 
Fairfax County Parkway, north of Popes 
Head Road. The project would include a 
raised median and pedestrian and bicycle 
facilities. 

$45.0 $45.0 

Richmond 
Highway Bus 
Rapid Transit 
(BRT, Huntington 
Metrorail Station 
to Fort Belvoir) 

The BRT project includes median running 
BRT from the Huntington Metrorail 
Station to Fort Belvoir. The project will 
include: new transit stations, facilities for 
bicycle, pedestrian and vehicle travel 
modes. 

$605.0 $250.0 

Soapstone Drive 
Extension (Dulles 
Toll Road (DTR) 
Overpass) 

The Soapstone Drive Extension is a new 
roadway, approximately one-half mile 
long between Sunrise Valley Drive and 
Sunset Hills Road. The project will 
include a new bridge crossing over the 
Dulles Toll Road. This project includes 
both pedestrian and bicycle facilities. 

$170.0 $157.0 

Town Center 
Parkway 
Extension (DTR 
Underpass)  

The Town Center Parkway Extension will 
provide a four-lane divided connection 
from Sunrise Valley Drive to Sunset Hills 
Road, with an underpass at the Dulles 
Corridor, which includes the Dulles Toll 
Road (DTR), the Dulles International 
Airport Access Highway (DIAAH), and the 
Silver Line of the Metrorail system.  The 
roadway will include bicycle and 
pedestrian facilities. 

$170.0 $17.0 

538



Richmond 
Highway CSX 
Underpass 

The Richmond Highway CSX Underpass 
project makes intermodal and safety 
improvements to existing facilities at the 
intersection of Richmond Highway and 
the CSX railroad tracks. The 
improvements include a railroad bridge 
replacement to support the addition of a 
third railroad track.  In conjunction with 
the new bridge, this project also will lower 
the roadway and widen it to 
accommodate six lanes of traffic.  The 
roadway improvements will provide 
improved clearance, enhance safety, 
enable more efficient movement of 
goods, facilitate the proposed BRT 
system, and allow for the addition of 
pedestrian facilities. 

$56.0 $12.0 

Route 28 
Widening 
(Northbound, 
McLearen Road 
to Route 50)  

This project will widen the northbound 
segment of Route 28 from Route 50 to 
McLearen Road from three to four lanes. 

$19.0 $19.0 

Rock Hill Road 
Extension (DTR 
Overpass) 

Extend Davis Drive (Route 868) from 
Glenn Drive (Route 864) to Fairfax 
County line at the future bridge over 
Dulles Toll Road (Route 267). Realign 
Rock Hill Road with Davis Drive. 
Construct a four-lane roadway over the 
Dulles Toll Road from Sunrise Valley 
Drive on the south side to Davis Drive 
extension in Loudoun County on the north 
side. The project would include 
pedestrian and bicycle facilities. 

$170.0 $170.0 

 
  

539



List of Recommended Projects for Congestion Mitigation Air Quality/Regional Surface 
Transportation Program (CMAQ/RSTP) Consideration (FY2024) 

 
Project Project Description Funding 

Request 
in Millions 

Priority 

Countywide 
Transit Stores 

Six transit stores provide transit information, trip 
planning, fare media, and ridesharing information to 
area residents and visitors seeking alternatives to 
driving alone. From FY 2002 through FY 2023, 
CMAQ funding has been allocated to the operation 
of the countywide transit stores.   

$0.65 6 

Fairfax County 
Parkway 
Widening (Ox 
Road to 2,000 
feet north of Lee 
Highway), and 
Fairfax County 
Parkway/Popes 
Head Road 
Interchange 
Improvement 

The project provides for the widening of Fairfax 
County Parkway (Route 286) from Route 123 to 
2,000 feet north of Route 29 from four lanes 
(divided) to six lanes (divided). This improvement 
will provide or upgrade pedestrian and bicycle 
amenities.   
The project provides for an interchange at the 
intersection of Fairfax County Parkway, Popes 
Head Road and Shirley Gate Extension, including 
pedestrian and bicycle accomodations, and future 
connection to Shirley Gate Road to the east. 

$5.0 5 

Richmond 
Highway Bus 
Rapid Transit 
(BRT, Huntington 
Metrorail Station 
to Fort Belvoir) 

The BRT project includes median running BRT from 
the Huntington Metrorail Station to Fort Belvoir. The 
project will include: new transit stations, facilities for 
bicycle, pedestrian and vehicle travel modes.  

$10.0 1 

Richmond 
Highway 
Widening (Mt 
Vernon Memorial 
Highway to 
Napper Road) 

The Richmond Highway widening project is 2.9 
miles in length and is located between Mt. Vernon 
Memorial Highway (south) and Napper Road. This 
project will provide a six-lane facility complementing 
the existing Richmond Highway project currently 
under construction from Telegraph Road to Mt. 
Vernon Memorial Highway. This project includes 
both pedestrian and bicycle facilities and provision 
for future bus rapid transit. 

$9.0 2 

Seven Corners 
Ring Road 
(Phase 
1A/Segment 1A) 

This project will design the first phase of the new 
interchange. This phase consists of a new road 
connecting Route 7, on the western side of the 
existing Seven Corners Interchange, with a bridge 
over Route 50, around the interchange to Sleepy 
Hollow Road, back to Route 7 on the eastern side 
of the interchange and terminating with a bridge that 
goes over Route 50. Project will also include new 

$9.0 7 

540



signalized crosswalks with VDOT Wilson Boulevard 
replacement bridge. The entire project includes 
bicycle and pedestrian accommodations. 

Soapstone Drive 
Extension (Dulles 
Toll Road (DTR) 
Overpass) 

The Soapstone Drive Extension is a new roadway, 
approximately one-half mile long between Sunrise 
Valley Drive and Sunset Hills Road. The project will 
include a new bridge crossing over the Dulles Toll 
Road. This project includes both pedestrian and 
bicycle facilities. 

$18.0 4 

Tysons Roadway 
Improvements 

Roadway, bicycle, and pedestrian improvements 
planned for Tysons that will enhance access to 
future developments, particularly around the new 
Silver Line stations. These improvements, and this 
request, are consistent with the Tysons 
Transportation Funding Plan adopted by the Board 
of Supervisors in January 2013.  

$9.0 3 

 
 

541



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ACTION - 12

Approval of the Fairfax County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Policy and Goal 
Update for the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) for Federal Fiscal Years 2018-2020

ISSUE:
Fairfax County is the recipient of federal transit funds authorized by Titles I, III, V, and VI 
of Intermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency Act (ISTEA), Pub. L. 102-240 or by 
Federal transit laws in Title 49, U.S. Code, or Titles I, II, and V of the Transportation 
Equity Act for the 21st Century (TEA-21), Pub. L. 105-178, as such the County must 
maintain a valid Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Policy and Goal for the Federal 
Transit Administration for Federal Fiscal Years 2018-2020.  

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board of Supervisors approve the County’s 
Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Policy and Goal Update for Federal Fiscal Years 
2018-2020, in substantial form.

TIMING:
The Board of Supervisors is requested to act on this item on December 5, 2017, so that 
Fairfax County will remain in compliance with USDOT regulations and be eligible to 
receive additional FTA funds in the future.

BACKGROUND:
In accordance with 49 CFR Part 26, Fairfax County is proposing a new overall goal of 
16.4 percent for Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) participation in contracts 
supported by FTA program funds. The previous DBE goal for FY 2015 – 2017 was 17.7 
percent.  The County will attempt to achieve the 16.4 percent goal through race-neutral 
means.

The proposed DBE policy document has been updated for FY2018 – FY2020. Changes 
in the policy document pertain to how the goal was calculated and the description of 
public outreach efforts to inform the goal setting.  The policy ensures that DBEs, as 
defined in 49 CFR Part 26, have an equal opportunity to receive and participate in 
USDOT–assisted contracts. The policy also seeks to achieve the following:

542



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

1. Ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of FTA-assisted 
contracts; 

2. Create a level playing field on which DBEs can compete fairly for FTA-assisted 
contracts; 

3. Ensure that the DBE Program is narrowly tailored in accordance with applicable 
law; 

4. Ensure that only firms that fully meet 49 CFR Part 26 eligibility standards are 
permitted to participate as DBEs; 

5. Help remove barriers to the participation of DBEs in FTA-assisted contracts; and 
6. Assist the development of firms that can compete successfully in the market 

place outside the DBE Program.  

As required by 49 CFR 26.45(g)(2), the Fairfax County Department of Transportation 
(FCDOT), on behalf of the County, consulted with minority, women's and general 
contractor groups, and community organizations which are knowledgeable about the 
availability of disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged businesses and the effects of 
discrimination on opportunities for DBEs.  

During the development of the Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Policy and Goal for 
FTA for Federal FY 2018-20, FCDOT sought input from the following County 
departments: Finance, Office of County Attorney, Public Works and Environmental 
Services, and Procurement and Materials Management. 

FCDOT published the goal in the Washington Post and El Tiempo Newspapers, and on 
the County’s website on September 18, 2017.  In accordance with the public 
participation regulation requirements, the proposed goal also was available for public 
inspection and comment during normal business hours at FCDOT offices for a period of 
30 days.  FCDOT also accepted public comments until November 6, 2017, a period of
45 days.  No comments have been received and no changes have been made to the 
DBE Policy and Goal for FY 2018-2020 as a result of these public outreach efforts.

FISCAL IMPACT:
With an approved DBE program, Fairfax County will remain eligible to receive future 
FTA grant funding and receive reimbursements from current grants. The General Fund 
will not be impacted, if this item is approved. 

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment I: Fairfax County Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Policy, Program, and 
Goal for FTA

543



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

STAFF:
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive
Tom Biesiadny, Director, FCDOT
Todd Wigglesworth, Chief, Coordination and Funding Division, FCDOT
James Patteson, Department of Public Works and Environmental Services
Cathy Muse, Department of Procurement and Materials Management
Deidre Finneran, Department of Finance
Brent Riddle, Coordination and Funding Division, FCDOT
Benjamin Atsem, Coordination and Funding Division, FCDOT

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
Patricia McCay, Assistant County Attorney

544



1 

 

Fairfax County  
Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Policy, Program, and Goal for FY 2018-FY2020 

for the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) 
 
Section 26.1, 26.23 Objectives and Policy Statement  
 
Program Objectives 
 
The County of Fairfax, Virginia (Fairfax County) has established a Disadvantaged Business Enterprise 
(DBE) program in accordance with regulations of the U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT), 49 
CFR Part 26. Fairfax County has received Federal financial assistance in excess of $250,000 from 
USDOT (i.e. FTA) for capital projects, and as a condition of receiving this assistance, Fairfax County 
has signed an assurance that it will comply with 49 CFR Part 26.  
 
It is the policy of Fairfax County to ensure that DBEs, as defined in 49 CFR Part 26, have an equal 
opportunity to receive and participate in FTA assisted contracts. It is also the county’s policy to: 
 

1. Ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of FTA assisted contracts;  
2. Create a level playing field on which DBEs can compete fairly for FTA assisted contracts;  
3. Ensure that the DBE Program is narrowly tailored in accordance with applicable law;  
4. Ensure that only firms that fully meet 49 CFR Part 26 eligibility standards are permitted to 

participate as DBEs;  
5. Help remove barriers to the participation of DBEs in FTA assisted contracts; and  
6. Assist the development of firms that can compete successfully in the market place outside the 

DBE Program; 
7. To promote the use of DBEs in all types of federally-assisted contracts and procurement 

activities conducted by recipients; 
8.  Provide appropriate flexibility to recipients of Federal financial assistance in establishing and 

providing opportunities for DBEs. 
 

Policy Statement 
 
Brent Riddle is designated by Fairfax County Department of Transportation (FCDOT) as DBE Liaison 
Officer (DBELO). In that capacity, Mr. Riddle is responsible for implementing all aspects of the DBE 
program. Implementation of the DBE program is accorded the same priority as compliance with all 
other legal obligations incurred by Fairfax County in its financial assistance agreements with the U.S. 
Department of Transportation.  
 
Fairfax County Department of Transportation staff will submit this policy statement to the County’s 
Board of Supervisors and all relevant departments and agencies within the County. Fairfax County also 
distributes this statement to DBE and non-DBE business communities that perform work on FTA 
assisted contracts.  The information will be available on the County’s website, to ensure accessibility to 
any interested parties.   
 
  

Attachment 1 

545



2 
 

Director’s Commitment to the Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Program 

I, Tom Biesiadny, Director of the Fairfax County Department of Transportation, will take Affirmative 
Action to ensure that DBEs shall have maximum practical opportunity to participate in the performance 
of the contracts financed in whole or in part with funds derived from FTA. 
 
I will direct the appropriate Fairfax County Department of Transportation staff to provide for the 
utilization of DBEs including financial institutions, and to use all practical means to ensure that DBEs 
have the maximum practical opportunity to complete for contract and subcontract work let by Fairfax 
County and supported by FTA funding. 
 
In keeping with this commitment it is my pledge to work toward achieving the following DBE goals for 
the award of FTA assisted contracts. The goal for utilization of the DBE’s shall be 16.4 % of the value 
of construction, supply and consultant contract dollar amounts for FTA funded construction contracts 
during FY2018-2020.   
   

Tom Biesiadny, Director 
Fairfax County Department of Transportation 

 Date 

 
Section 26.1, 26.23 Objectives  
 
The objectives are found in the policy statement on the first page of this program. 

Section 26.3 Applicability 

Fairfax County is the recipient of federal transit funds authorized by Titles I, III, V, and VI of ISTEA, 
Pub. L. 102-240 or by Federal transit laws in Title 49, U.S. Code, or Titles I, II, and V of the TEA-21, 
Pub. L. 105-178.  

Section 26.5 Definitions 

Fairfax County adopts the definitions contained in Section 26.5 of Part 26 for this program. 

Section 26.7 Non-discrimination Requirements  

Fairfax County will not exclude any person from participation in, deny any person the benefits of, or 
otherwise discriminate against anyone in connection with the award and performance of any contract 
covered by 49 CFR Part 26 on the basis of race, color, sex, gender, national origin or ethnicity. 

In administering its DBE program, Fairfax County will not, directly or through contractual or other 
arrangements, use criteria or methods of administration that have the effect of defeating or substantially 
impairing accomplishment of the objectives of the DBE program with respect to individuals of a 
particular race, color, sex, gender, national origin or ethnicity. 

Section 26.11 Record Keeping Requirements 

  

546



3 
 

Uniform Report of DBE Awards or Commitments and Payments: 26.11(a) 
 
Fairfax County will report DBE participation to the relevant federal operating administrations using the 
Uniform Report of DBE Awards or Commitments and Payments, found in Appendix B to the DBE 
regulation.  

Bidders List: 26.11(c)  
Fairfax County compiles and maintain a bidders list in accordance with 49 CFR Section 26.11(C).  To 
verify bidders, Fairfax County utilizes the Virginia Department of Small Business and Supplier 
Diversity (SBSD) and the Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority’s (MWAA) pre-qualified 
bidders lists which contain information about all DBE and non-DBE firms that bid or quote on FTA 
assisted contracts in Virginia.  The directories determine which firms may be counted as DBEs.  The 
bidder list will include the name, address, DBE/non-DBE status, age of firm, and annual gross receipts. 

These directories are revised periodically. Due to the size of the directories, copies are not appended; 
however, these directories are available together online at the following 
URL: http://www.dmbe.virginia.gov/ 
 
Section 26.13 Assurances 

Fairfax County has signed the following assurance, applicable to all FTA assisted contracts and their 
administration: 
 
Federal Financial Assistance Agreement Assurance: 26.13(a) 
 

Fairfax County shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, sex, gender, national origin or 
ethnicity in the award and performance of any FTA assisted contract or in the administration of 
its DBE Program or the requirements of 49 CFR Part 26. Fairfax County shall take all 
necessary and reasonable steps under 49 CFR Part 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the award 
and administration of FTA assisted contracts.  The Fairfax County DBE Program, as required 
by 49 CFR Part 26 and as approved by USDOT, is incorporated by reference in this agreement. 
Implementation of this program is a legal obligation and failure to carry out its terms shall be 
treated as a violation of this agreement. Upon notification to Fairfax County of their failure to 
carry out its approved program, the Department may impose sanctions as provided for under 
§26.101 and may, in appropriate cases, refer the matter for enforcement under 18 U.S.C. 1001 
and/or the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986 (31 U.S.C. 3801 et seq.). 

 
This language will appear in financial assistance agreements with sub-recipients. 
 
Contract Assurance: 26.13b  
 
Fairfax County will ensure that the following clause is placed in every FTA assisted contract and 
subcontract: 
 

The contractor or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, sex, gender, 
national origin or ethnicity in the performance of this contract. The contractor shall carry out 
applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award and administration of FTA assisted 
contracts. Failure by the contractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this 

547

http://www.dmbe.virginia.gov/


4 
 

contract, which may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy as Fairfax 
County deems appropriate. 

Section 26.21 DBE Program Updates 

Since Fairfax County has received grants of more than $250,000 in FTA capital assistance in FY 2007 
(VA-03-0111), FY 2010 (VA-04-0031-01), and FY 2005 (VA-37-X012), the County will continue to 
carry out this program until all funds from FTA financial assistance have been expended.  Fairfax 
County will provide to USDOT updates representing significant changes in the program. 
 
Section 26.25 DBE Liaison Officer  

FCDOT has designated the following individual as DBE Liaison Officer (DBELO): 
 

Brent Riddle 
Fairfax County Department of Transportation 
4050 Legato Road, Suite 400 
Fairfax, Virginia 22033 
703-877-5659 
michael.riddle@fairfaxcounty.gov 

 
In his capacity as DBELO, Mr. Riddle is responsible for implementing all aspects of the DBE program 
and ensuring that Fairfax County comply with all provisions of 49 CFR Part 26.  As DBELO, Mr. 
Riddle has direct, independent access to the Director of the Department of Transportation concerning 
DBE program matters. 
 
The DBELO is responsible for developing, implementing and monitoring the DBE program, in 
coordination other appropriate officials. Duties and responsibilities include the following: 
 

1. Gathers and reports statistical data and other information as required by DOT. 
2. Reviews third party contracts and purchase requisitions for compliance with this program. 
3. Coordinates with other County departments (as applicable) to determine overall annual goals. 
4. Ensures that bid notices and requests for proposals are available to DBE's in a timely manner. 
5. Identifies contracts and procurements so that DBE goals are included in solicitations (both race-

neutral methods and contract specific goals) and monitors results. 
6. Analyzes Fairfax County’s progress toward goal attainment and identifies ways to improve 

progress. 
7. Participates in pre-bid meetings as needed. 
8. Advises the Director on DBE matters and achievement. 
9. Participates with the legal counsel and project managers to determine contractor compliance 

with good faith efforts. 
10. Provides DBE's with information and assistance in this process. 
11. Plans and participates in DBE training seminars. 
12. Checks DBE certification according to criteria set by SBSD on the Uniform Certification 

Process in Virginia 
13. Provides outreach to DBE's and community organizations to advise them of opportunities. 
14. Coordinates with SBSD on the Uniform Certification Process in Virginia 

 

548



5 
 

To assist Mr. Riddle in his role as DBELO, Fairfax County hired a Transportation Planner II who will 
help coordinate with other County departments, organize Title VI training, and generally assist with 
FCDOT’s Civil Rights (i.e., DBE and Title VI) compliance efforts. 
 
Reconsideration Official 
 
Fairfax County’s reconsideration official will be the Deputy Director of the Department of Public 
Works and Environmental Services, who will work in tandem with the Director of Fairfax County’s 
Department of Transportation.  They will abide by the requirements for reconsideration as stated in 
§26.53(d). 
 
Section 26.27 DBE Financial Institutions 
 
Fairfax County is authorized to utilize the services of any public depository in the Commonwealth of 
Virginia that is deemed qualified by the State Treasury Board to maintain checking, time deposit and 
warrant accounts and for the purposes of wiring funds, processing tax and license payments and 
maintaining custodial accounts for the County’s investments. The Director of Finance is responsible for 
the procurement of banking services and is authorized by statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia and 
by County resolution to acquire these services by contract.  As outlined in the most recent request for 
proposal for banking and financial services, financial institutions eligible for consideration to provide 
such services to Fairfax County must be: 
 

• Designated as a qualified public depository under the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act. 
• A member of the Federal Reserve System and the National Automated Clearing House 

Association (NACHA) 
• Be able to accommodate local deposits within their business operations 
• Sufficiently capitalized to accommodate the County’s cash management needs with bank assets 

exceeding $100 billion and bank deposits exceeding $100 billion at the end of its most recent 
reporting period. 

 
Fairfax County’s most recent competitive procurement for banking services resulted in a three-year 
contract with four one year renewal options.  In January 2015, the County entered into the second year 
of the initial three year term of the contract.  The current contract will expire in December 2021, 
assuming the County exercises all remaining renewal options.  During the County’s most recent 
procurement, it did not receive any offers from qualified DBE financial institutions.  Currently, there 
are two DBE vendors registered for banking services in the database maintained by the Commonwealth 
of Virginia.  
 
In preparation for future requirements for this type of service the County will work with the Virginia 
Department of Small Business and Supplier Diversity, which administers the Federal Disadvantaged 
Business Enterprise Program certification for the Commonwealth of Virginia, and the Fairfax County 
Economic Development Authority to identify financial institutions that may meet the County’s 
requirements.  The County will reach out to financial institutions to advise them of how they can 
register to receive notices of solicitation and participate in workshops on how to respond to County 
solicitations.  At the time of the re-solicitation process, the County will invite all qualified DBE 
financial institutions to participate in the competitive procurement.  The County will re-evaluate the 
availability of DBE financial institutions that meet the County’s requirements every three years.   
 

549



6 
 

Section 26.29 Prompt Payment Mechanisms 

Fairfax County will include the following clauses in each FTA assisted prime contract:  
 

Prompt Payment: 26.29(a) 
The prime contractor agrees to pay each subcontractor under this prime contract for satisfactory 
performance of its contract no later than 30 days from the receipt of each payment the prime 
contractor receives from Fairfax County.  Any delay or postponement of payment from the 
above referenced time frame may occur only for good cause following written approval of 
Fairfax County.  This clause applies to both DBE and non-DBE subcontracts. 
 
Retainage: 26.29(b) 
The prime contractor agrees further to return retainage payments to each subcontractor within 
30 days after retainage is paid to the prime contractor. Any delay or postponement of payment 
from the above referenced time frame may occur only for good cause following written 
approval from Fairfax County. This clause applies to both DBE and non-DBE subcontractors. 
Work may be credited toward goals only when payments are actually made to DBE’s. 

 
Monitoring and Enforcement: 26.29(d) 
Fairfax County monitors and enforces the prompt payment of DBE and non-DBE sub-contractors and 
suppliers by inserting into every contract Articles of General Conditions that require prime contractors 
to pay sub-contractors and suppliers within seven days.  By the terms of General Conditions Articles 
9.4 and 9.5, the prime contractor turns over a pay request to the Engineer of Record.  Furthermore, 
prime contractors must sign an affidavit with every pay application to ensure prime contractors are 
meeting the terms of the General Conditions.  The Engineer has seven calendar days to review and 
provide a recommendation for payment.  The County is then obligated to make payment within 
seventeen calendar days.  The contractor, upon receipt of that payment, has an additional seven 
calendar days to pay all subs and suppliers.  Allowing for a day or two for payment from the County to 
hit the prime contractor’s bank account, all subs and suppliers should receive payment within 31 to 32 
days after submission of the prime contractor’s application for payment.   
 
Fairfax County will bring to the attention of USDOT any fraudulent or dishonest conduct in connection 
with the DBE program, so that USDOT can take the steps provided in §26.107. Fairfax County also 
will consider similar action under its own legal authorities, including responsibility determinations in 
future contracts.  Fairfax County has implemented appropriate mechanisms to ensure compliance by all 
program participants (e.g., applying legal and contract remedies available under Federal, state and local 
law). 
 
Section 26.31 Directory 

Fairfax County does not certify firms as DBEs but utilizes SBSD’s and MWAA’s Certified DBE 
Vendor lists to verify if firms may be counted as DBEs. The directories list the firm's name, address, 
and phone number and the type of work the firm has been certified to perform as a DBE. 
 
The directories utilized by FCDOT are revised periodically. The SBSD revises their directory in real-
time as vendors are added or subtracted and MWAA revises monthly.  Because of the size of these 
files, copies are not appended; however, the directories are available online at the following 
URLs: http://www.sbsd.virginia.gov/ 

550

http://www.sbsd.virginia.gov/


7 
 

Section 26.33 Overconcentration 
 
Fairfax County has not identified that overconcentration exists in the types of work that DBEs perform.  
The DBELO will work with relevant County agencies to re-evaluate for overconcentration triennially. 
 
Section 26.35 Business Development Programs 
 
Fairfax County does not operate a business development program.  The DBELO will work with the 
County’s Department of Procurement and Material Management to re-evaluate the need for such a 
program triennially, in advance of the County’s DBE program renewal.  As part of that effort, the 
County also will develop criteria to determine the need for such a program.   In addition, Fairfax 
County will continue to refer to its small and minority business program that is advertised to firms that 
do business with County agencies.  Fairfax County will support small and minority businesses through 
our sustained relationships with regional business development groups.   
 
Section 26.37 Monitoring and Enforcement Mechanisms 

Fairfax County will implement the following monitoring and enforcement mechanisms to ensure 
compliance with 49 CFR Part 26:  
 

1. Fairfax County will bring to the attention of FTA any false, fraudulent, or dishonest conduct in 
connection with the program, of which Fairfax County has knowledge, so that FTA can take the 
steps (e.g., referral to the Department of Justice for criminal prosecution, referral to the 
USDOT Inspector General, action under suspension and debarment or Program Fraud and Civil 
Penalties rules) provided in 26.109.  

2. Fairfax County will consider appropriate action under our own legal authorities as may be 
authorized under applicable Virginia law, including responsibility determinations in future 
contracts.  

3. Fairfax County also will provide a monitoring and enforcement mechanism to verify that work 
committed to DBEs at contract award is actually performed by the DBEs. This will be 
accomplished by monitoring and reviews performed throughout the contract segments by staff 
members of the Fairfax County Department of Transportation and will occur for all 
contracts/projects on which DBEs are participating.  

4. Fairfax County will require a running tally of actual payments from prime contractors to DBE 
firms for work committed to them at the time of contract award.  
 

For more information regarding this section, please see Appendix 3: Monitoring and Enforcement 
Mechanisms/Legal Remedies for Ensuring Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Inclusion in Contracts. 

 
Section 26.39 Small Business Participation 

Fairfax County has incorporated a non-discriminatory element in its DBE program, in order to facilitate 
competition on FTA assisted public works projects by small business concerns (both DBEs and non-
DBE small businesses): For more details regarding the County’s efforts to engage minority suppliers 
and vendors, please see the County’s Supplier Diversity Program information at the following link:  
 
https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpmm/supplierdiversity/ 
 

551

https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpmm/supplierdiversity/


8 
 

The Fairfax County Board of Supervisors voted to establish a Small and Minority Business Enterprise 
Program on April 6, 1981.  Through this program, Fairfax County undertakes every effort to increase 
opportunity for utilization of small or minority businesses in all aspects of procurement to the 
maximum extent feasible. 
 
Where it is practicable for any portion of the awarded contract to be subcontracted to other suppliers, 
the contractor is encouraged to offer such subcontracting opportunities to small, women and minority 
businesses. 
 
Where Federal grants or monies are involved, it is the policy of Fairfax County, through its agents and 
employees, to comply with the requirements set forth in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget 
Circular No. A-102, uniform administrative requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements with 
State and Local Governments, as they pertain to small and minority business utilization. 

Fairfax County does not certify businesses; however, Fairfax County does recognize business 
classifications of Small, Minority, Woman, Veteran and Service-Disabled Veteran Owned business 
enterprises that are certified by other agencies. Certification documentation can be submitted to the 
Vendor Relations Coordinator as an email attachment to VendorHelpSelfService@fairfaxcounty.gov or 
by fax to 703-324-3587.     
 
Business classifications are defined on Fairfax County’s business classification website under the 
Department of Procurement and Material Management’s website, which is located at the following 
URL: (http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpsm/osb/busclass.htm). 

Small Business Enterprise - An independently owned and operated business which, together 
with affiliates, has 250 or fewer employees or average annual gross receipts of $10 million or 
less averaged over the previous three years.  Nothing in the provision prevents a program, 
agency, institution or subdivision from complying with the qualification criteria of a specific 
state program or a federal guideline to be in compliance with a federal grant or program.  

Minority-Owned Business Enterprise - A business concern with at least 51% ownership by 
one or more minorities who are United States citizens or legal resident aliens or, in the case of a 
corporation, partnership or limited liability company or other entity, at least 51% ownership 
interest by one or more minorities and whose management and daily business operations are 
controlled by one or more of such individuals.  

Woman-Owned Business Enterprise - A business concern which is at least 51% owned by 
one or more women who are United States citizens or legal resident aliens or, in the case of a 
corporation, partnership or limited liability company or other entity, at least 51% ownership 
interest by one or more women and whose management and daily business operations are 
controlled by one or more of such individuals.  

All business representatives are welcome to the Selling to Fairfax County workshop held six times per 
year. Businesses, including small businesses, have an opportunity to meet staff from the county's 
Procurement department and become familiar with the county's process. Workshops outline the 
county's process, upcoming contracting opportunities, and address any questions or concerns that 
businesses may have about doing business with the county.  

552

http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpsm/osb/busclass.htm


9 
 

All workshops are free of charge.  The workshop schedule is available under the Vendor Relations 
Website at: (http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpsm/osb/workshop.htm).   

Section 26.43 Set-asides or Quotas 

Fairfax County does not use quotas in any way in the administration of this DBE program. 

Section 26.45 Overall Goals 

In accordance with Section 26.45, Fairfax County submitted its FY 2018 – 2020 overall DBE goal to 
the FTA on December 5, 2017, upon approval by the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors. 

Overall Goal 
 
Fairfax County utilized familiar programs and resources to help determine and promote DBE 
participation.  These programs include county and private-sector resources.  Among the county 
resources, FCDOT consulted with the Supplier Diversity Program within the Department of 
Procurement and Materials Management (DPMM), which ensures that small businesses, minority-
owned businesses and women-owned businesses are treated fairly and have an opportunity to compete 
for the county's contract dollars.  The office also engages in a variety of outreach efforts, including 
counseling and assistance, which are intended to maximize prime and subcontract opportunities for 
small, minority-owned businesses and women-owned businesses.  In October 2017, FCDOT 
participated in an all-day job fair sponsored by DPMM to help gauge interest in DBE opportunities, as 
well as promote contracting opportunities.  FCDOT also met with representatives of Fairfax County’s 
Office of Public Private Partnerships, which serves as a clearing house for public agencies, non-profit 
organizations, and businesses interested in working collaboratively.  Additionally, FCDOT consulted 
the Fairfax County Economic Development Authority, which works with small, minority, and women-
owned businesses to provide services and opportunities to start and expand their business operations 
(http://www.fairfaxcountyeda.org/services-small-minority-and-woman-owned-firms).  
 
Outside of the County resources, FCDOT reached out to representatives of the Capital Region Minority 
Supplier Development Council, the Virginia Hispanic Chamber of Commerce, the Asian Chamber of 
Commerce, and the Hispanic Business Council to gain a sense of the number of types of DBE firms that 
their organizations represent and to begin to develop strategies for ensuring DBE participation in 
bidding for FTA-supported contracts.  Via email, FCDOT attempted to solicit direct feedback from 
each of these groups on the proposed DBE goal.  FCDOT utilized these resources in addition to the 
resources listed subsequently in this document to determine and promote DBE participation.  See 
Appendix 5: Documentation of Consultation and Outreach and Appendix 6: Proof of Publication.  
 
Methodology 
 
STEP ONE 
 
The first step in establishing an overall DBE Goal is to determine the relative availability of DBE 
vendors within Fairfax County and the Washington Metropolitan Area to perform the types of FTA 
assisted contracts that Fairfax County intends to let during the federal fiscal year cycle.  For FY 2018-
2020, Fairfax County is expected to initiate only a few contracts for the construction of sidewalks and 
bus shelters and one contract to support a Transit Oriented Development (TOD) planning project. 
 

553

http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpsm/osb/workshop.htm
http://www.fairfaxcountyeda.org/services-small-minority-and-woman-owned-firms


10 
 

After reviewing the current projects Fairfax County is completing with the use of applicable FTA grant 
funds, FCDOT has determined that an estimate of FTA funding for FY 2018-2020 is $3,823,371 out of 
approximately $4,779,213 in total project costs.  The approximately $3.8 million in FTA funds for FY 
2018-2020 will be spent on Construction services (NAICS Codes 236220, 237110, 237130, 237310, 
and 238990) and planning services (NAICS Code 541330).  Fairfax County does not anticipate any new 
large scale or additional projects that require FTA grants arising in the next three years that would 
increase the estimated total project costs and FTA Grant amounts for FY 2018-2020.   
 
The following table delineates projects that are projected to be completed during FY 2018-2020.   
 

Project Number Total Project Amount Federal Amount 
1400079-2012 $483,347 $386,678  
1400080-2012 $900,000 $720,000  
1400082-2012 $435,666 $348,533  
1400012-2006 (Frye Road – Phase II) $145,600 $116,480  
1400012-2006 (Lukens Lane) $560,000 $448,000  
1400012-2006 (Ladson Lane) $317,500 $254,000  
1400017-2006 (Mohawk) $450,000 $360,000  
1400017-2006 (Belford) $463,100 $370,480  
Transit Shelter Projects $1,024,000 $819,200 

TOTAL $4,779,213  $3,823,371 
 

According to proposed project timelines for initiating the above projects, the average annual fiscal year 
estimate for using FTA Grant funding is provided below. 
 

 NAICS Codes 237110, 237130, 237310, and 
238990 

Fiscal Year 2018 $3.15 million 
Fiscal Year 2019 $1.63 million 
Fiscal Year 2020 $0 

TOTAL $4.78 million 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

554



11 
 

Base Figure 
 
FCDOT has used the following formula to determine the base figure percentage of ready, willing, and 
able DBE firms for USDOT-Assisted projects: 
 
 
Base Figure = 

 
Numerator: Ready, Willing and Able DBE Firms (by category) 
Denominator: All Ready, Willing and Able Firms (by the same numerator 
category) 

 
Fairfax County does not certify firms as DBE's but utilizes databases maintained by the Commonwealth 
of Virginia Department of Small Business and Supplier Diversity (SBSD), and the Metropolitan 
Washington Airport Authority (MWAA), to determine which firms may be counted as DBEs.  The 
directories list the firm's name, address, and phone number and the type of work the firm has been 
certified to perform as a DBE. 
 
A substantial majority of the contracting dollars are spent in the local marketing area known as the 
Washington Metropolitan Area that is comprised of Washington D.C. and the larger counties and 
municipalities in Northern Virginia.  The table below identifies the NAICS codes that will be utilized 
by FCDOT over the next three years.  
 

 
The following table summarizes the total number of all contractors and subcontractors located in 
Fairfax County’s local market area who would be available for FTA-assisted projects.  This information 
was extracted from the 2017 County Business Patterns (i.e., NAICS) database hosted by the census. 
  

NAICS Code 541330

NAICS CODE MEANING
Commercial and Institutional Building Construction

Water and Sewer Line and Related Structures Construction
Power and Communication Line and Related Structures Construction

Highway, Street, and Bridge Construction
All Other Specialty Trade Contractors

Engineering Services

NAICS Code 236220
NAICS Code  237110
NAICS Code 237130
NAICS Code 237310 
NAICS Code 238990

555



12 
 

Jurisdictions NAICS Codes 
 Construction Planning 

237110 237130 237310 238990 236220 541330 
Alexandria City, VA 29 11 17 15 19 7 
Arlington, VA 40 8 9 8 4 4 
District of Columbia 37 47 68 41 36 24 
Fairfax City, VA 0 1 1 1 2 2 
Fairfax, VA 28 27 34 24 30 36 
Falls Church, VA 13 7 1 26 33 23 
Fredericksburg, VA 18 2 4 12 17 19 
Loudoun, VA 34 38 36 33 35 41 
Manassas City, VA 13 5 29 3 11 43 
Manassas Park, VA 18 6 8 5 9 6 
Prince William, VA 47 33 36 62 45 50 
Stafford, VA 3 5 5 3 4 41 
Sub-Total 280 190 248 233 245 296 
Total 1196 296 
 

The table below lists the number of certified DBE Firms with offices in the Washington Metropolitan 
Area.  FCDOT cross-referenced each directory to prevent double counting a particular DBE firm who is 
certified and registered by more than one agency. 
 

Jurisdictions NAICS Codes 

 
Construction Planning 

237110 237130 237310 238990 236220 541330 
Alexandria City, VA 2 2 3 3 6 3 
Arlington, VA 1 2 1 2 4 2 
District of Columbia 7 3 6 9 11 8 
Fairfax City, VA 1 2 1 0 1 1 
Fairfax, VA 27 31 26 25 34 39 
Falls Church, VA 3 1 1 2 1 2 
Fredericksburg, VA 4 3 2 5 2 2 
Loudoun, VA 11 9 8 13 11 10 
Manassas City, VA 2 1 0 3 2 5 
Manassas Park, VA 1 1 4 0 1 1 
Prince William, VA 11 12 14 17 15 10 
Stafford, VA 3 2 2 3 2 3 
Sub-Total 73 69 68 82 90 86 
Total 382 86 

 

556



13 
 

Step 1 – Base Goal Calculation 
 
To establish the DBE base goal, FCDOT consulted FTA guidance and the Virginia Department of 
Transportation (VDOT).  For FY 2015-2017, VDOT utilized a two-step approach to setting the DBE 
base goal.  FCDOT replicated this approach, the extent practicable, as follows: 
 
Pre-Qualification 

 
468 Ready, Willing, and able DBEs in the aforementioned NAICS codes   

 
 
= 31. 4% 
 

1492 Total Firms Ready, Willing, and Able in the aforementioned NAICS codes 
 

 
As a proxy for VDOT’s Work Capacity Value measure, which measures the total amount of 
outstanding work a contractor desires to have under construction at one time, FCDOT determined what 
percentage of current FCDOT work could be performed by certified DBE firms (i.e., FTA contracts) as 
a percentage of the work available.  The resulting percentage reflects maximum contracting 
opportunities of DBE firms.   
 
Value of Available DBE Work  

 
Current DBE Contracts = $9,000,000 

 
 
= 0.30% 
 

6-Year Budget Obligation = $3,000,000,000 
 

 
Step 1 Base Goal Results  
 
As a final step to determine the DBE base goal, FCDOT gives equal weight to each of the preceding 
measures to help identify the relative availability of and opportunities for DBEs with Fairfax County.  
 

Pre-Qualification (31.4%) X Work Capacity Value (.30%) / 2 = 15.8% 
 
Weighting 
 
To improve the accuracy of the DBE goal, FTA recommends a weighting strategy for each NAICS 
category.  The table below delineates calculations for weighting of the DBE firms and non-DBE firms 
in the Washington Metropolitan Area that FCDOT anticipates will be utilized over the next three years. 

557



14 

 

 
Weighting Calculations 
 

 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
236220 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
237110 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
237130 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
237310 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
541330 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
238990 

TOTAL 

DBE  

Firms 

0.30% 90 0.30% 73 0.30% 69 0.30% 68 0.30% 86 0.30% 82 382 

All Firms 
 

245 
 

280 
 

190 
 

248 
 

296 
 

233 1196 

DBEs/ 

All Firms 

 
0.37 

 
0.26 

 
0.36 

 
0.27 

 
0.29 

 
0.35 

 

 

             

 

 
0.11% 

 
0.08% 

 
0.11% 

 
0.08% 

 
0.09% 

 
0.11% 0.57% 

   Step 1 Weighted Base Figure  0.57% 

 
 

Step 1 DBE Base Goal Results  
 
The final step for determining the base goal involves combining together the Step 1 Base Figure Results and the Weighted Base Figure.   
 
Step 1 Base Figure Results (15.8%) + Step 1 Weighted Base Figure (0.57%) = 16.4% 
 
 

 

558



 

15 
 

STEP TWO 
 
Additional factors were considered for adjusting the base DBE goal figure.  Two of the factors not 
utilized are discussed below:  
 

1 Disparity Studies:  No local disparity studies exist that provide any further insight into the 
number of ready, willing, and able DBEs or their use in transportation projects.  

2 Potential Capacity Increases: The data do not show any significant increase on an annual basis of 
DBEs or total firms in either the Construction or Engineering NAICS categories.   
 

Fairfax County did, however, consider past participation in FTA-assisted contracts to adjust further the 
base DBE goal figure.  After reviewing participation data since 2015, Fairfax County determined that it 
had achieved an unusually high level of DBE firm participation on FTA-supported contracts, due in large 
part to the small number of contracts bid and the fact that a certified DBE firm was selected as the prime 
contractor on one of those contracts.  Over the past three years, Fairfax County averaged 39.33% DBE 
participation, higher than the proposed 16.4% goal.  Accordingly, Fairfax County determined that the 
results from the past three years were not representative of the relative availability of DBE firms in the 
local market area.   
 
Fairfax County posted notices of the proposed DBE goal, informing the public that the proposed goal and 
its rationale were available for public inspection for 30 days during normal business hours at FCDOT 
headquarters:  
 

Fairfax County Department of Transportation 
4050 Legato Road, Suite 400  
Fairfax, Virginia 22033   

 
Fairfax County also reached out to the external organizations described above, seeking input on the 
proposed goal.  The County accepted public comment on the proposed goals for 45 days after the notices 
were published.  To reach a diverse public audience, the goal was published in El Tiempo Latino, the 
Spanish-language newspaper, the Washington Post, and posted on the Department of Transportation’s 
website.  Copies of the advertised notices are included in Appendix 6: Proof of Publication.  Despite these 
efforts, no comments were received.  

Fairfax County expects to meet this goal for upcoming projects receiving FTA funds by verifying DBE 
certifications and furnishing prime contractors information about DBE firms in the greater Washington, 
D.C. and Northern Virginia region.  This overall goal of 16.4% will be reviewed triennially, with the next 
review taking place in FY 2021, based on program updates.   
 
Should contracting opportunities significantly change during the three-year period such that the submitted 
goal is rendered inconclusive, Fairfax County will appropriately review both the goal and DBE 
contracting practices to ensure the goal and program as a whole accurately reflects the actual contracting 
opportunities available during the specified time period.  If necessary, Fairfax County then will submit 
adjustments to its DBE goal to the FTA for review and approval.  Otherwise, the County will submit its 
goal to FTA every three years. 
 
Race Conscious / Race Neutral Breakout 
 
Fairfax County’s goal is to facilitate a high level of participation of DBE firms in FCDOT projects that 
are funded by FTA.  By examining the last three years of Race Neutral vs. Race Conscious participation, 
the County notes that it has achieved over 50 percent DBE participation using only race-neutral strategies.  

559



 

16 
 

Therefore, the County believes that it should be able to achieve more than half (8.4%) of its overall goal 
through race-neutral means over the next three years.  The remaining 8.0% (16.4% - 8.4% = 8.0%) may 
be met by race-conscious project procurement opportunities, if necessary. 
 
Fairfax County intends to meet the maximum feasible portion of its overall DBE goal by using a race-
neutral means of facilitating DBE participation.  Race-neutral efforts to include the minority business 
community in procurement opportunities will include identification and recruitment of minority firms to 
advertised procurement opportunities, teaming and networking events allowing minority firms to interact 
with potential project partners, and participation in association and trade organization events where 
Fairfax County projects can be highlighted.  DBE contractors will be encouraged to apply on all 
solicitations.  Fairfax County will coordinate with appropriate leadership of DBE firms to inform them 
when contract opportunities arise, and all solicitations and contracts will include a good-faith effort DBE 
goal as a race-neutral means to increase DBE participation. 
 
If these race neutral strategies do not prove effective in reaching the County’s 16.4% DBE goal, the 
County will implement race conscious contract goals.  Fairfax County will review the estimated breakout 
of race-neutral and race-conscious DBE participation as needed to reflect actual DBE usage and will track 
the outcome of our efforts.  Race-conscious language regarding project procurement opportunities will be 
implemented on FTA-assisted contracts with subcontracting opportunities where appropriate.  If the race-
neutral percentage is larger than estimated, the number of projects with race-conscious contract language 
regarding project procurement opportunities will be adjusted. 
 
For a more detailed methodology used to calculate Fairfax County’s overall DBE goal see Appendix 5: 
Fairfax County Disadvantage Business Enterprise Goal and Methodology FY 18-20. 
 
Section 26.47 Goal Setting and Accountability 

If the awards and commitments shown on Fairfax County’s Uniform Report of Awards or Commitments 
and Payments at the end of any fiscal year are less than the overall applicable to that fiscal year, Fairfax 
County will:  
 

1. Analyze in detail the reason for the difference between the overall goal and the actual 
awards/commitments;  

2. Establish specific steps and milestones to address the issues identified in the analysis.  
 
Section 26.49 Transit Vehicle Manufacturers Goals 
 
Fairfax County requires transit vehicle manufacturers, as a condition of being authorized to bid or propose 
on FTA assisted transit vehicle procurements, to certify that they have complied with the requirements of 
this section.  Alternatively, Fairfax County may, at its discretion and with FTA approval, establish 
project-specific goals for DBE participation in the procurement of transit vehicles in lieu of the transit 
vehicle manufacturer complying with this element of the program. 
 
Section 26.51 Meeting Overall Goals/Contract Goals 

Fairfax County anticipates being able to meet its overall DBE goal of 16.4% through race-neutral means.  
Race-neutral DBE participation occurs when a DBE wins a contract or subcontract that did not have 
contract specific goals, or when the DBE status was not considered in making the award.  Race-neutral 
strategies will include regular consultation and notification of bidding opportunities with the internal and 
external agencies and offices that actively help promote DBEs, as described in Section 26.45 above.  

560



 

17 
 

Regular consultation may include presentations and/or informational events, as well as email 
notifications. 
 
Fairfax County will use contract goals to meet any portion of the overall goal it does not project being 
able to meet using race-neutral means.  Contract goals are established so that, over the period to which the 
overall goal applies, they will cumulatively result in meeting any portion of Fairfax County’s overall goal 
that is not projected to be met through the use of race-neutral means. 
 
Fairfax County will establish contract goals only on those FTA assisted contracts that have subcontracting 
possibilities.  
 
Fairfax County will express its contract goals as a percentage of the federal share of a FTA assisted 
contract. 
 
Section 26.53 Good Faith Efforts Procedures 
 
Award of Contracts with a DBE Contract Goal: 26.53(a) 
 
In those instances where a contract-specific DBE goal is included in a procurement/solicitation, Fairfax 
County will not award the contract to a bidder who does not either: (1) meet the contract goal with 
verified, countable DBE participation; or (2) documents it has made adequate good faith efforts to meet 
the DBE contract goal, even though it was unable to do so. It is the obligation of the bidder to 
demonstrate it has made sufficient good faith efforts prior to submission of its bid. 
 
Information to be Submitted: 26.53(b) 
 
In addition to other considerations, Fairfax County may consider bidders/offerors’ compliance with good 
faith efforts requirements as a matter of responsiveness. If bidders/offerors do not submit required 
documents, bids or proposals from such bidders/offerors are subject to rejection by the County Purchasing 
Agent as “non-responsive.”  
 
Fairfax County may consider bidders/offerors who are determined to have failed to establish compliance 
with good faith efforts requirements as a matter of responsibility.  In determining the responsibility of a 
bidder/offeror, the Purchasing Agent may consider compliance by the bidder/offeror with good faith 
requirements and such other information as may be secured by the County Purchasing Agent having a 
bearing on the decision to award the contract.  A bidder/offeror who determined by the Purchasing Agent 
to have submitted, inaccurate, or fraudulent documents would be subject to a determination that it is not a 
responsible bidder, which may lead to rejection of its bid or proposal, and may affect the ability of the 
bidder/offeror to participate in future solicitations.  
 
Each solicitation will require bidders/offerors to submit the following information:  

1. The names and addresses of DBE firms that will participate in the contract;  
2. A description of the work that each DBE will perform;  
3. The dollar amount of the participation of each DBE firm participating;  
4. Written and signed documentation of commitment to use a DBE subcontractor whose 

participation it submits to meet a contract goal;  
5. Written and signed confirmation from the DBE that it is participating in the contract as provided 

in the prime contractor’s commitment and  
6. If a DBE firm is not participating in the contract or the contract goal is not met, evidence of good 

faith efforts is required.  

561



 

18 
 

Evaluation of Good Faith Efforts: 26.53(a) & (c) 
Fairfax County may regard compliance with good faith effort requirements as either a matter of 
responsiveness or responsibility as appropriate, as determined by the Purchasing Agent.  Fairfax County 
will determine whether a bidder/offeror who has not met the DBE contract goal has documented 
sufficient good faith efforts to be regarded as responsive or responsible. 
 
The process used to determine whether good faith efforts have been made by a bidder/offeror are as 
follows:  
 

1. Review of required documentation of evidence of good faith effort by bidder/offerer [See 
26.53(b)] 

2. Consult with Virginia’s state DBE list to verify if bid contained qualified DBE firms 
 
Fairfax County will ensure that all information is complete and accurate and adequately documents the 
offeror’s good faith efforts before it commits to the performance of the contract by the bidder/offeror. 
 
Administrative Reconsideration: 26.53(d) 

Any bidder/offeror whose bid/offer has been determined to be non-responsive to the requirements of the 
solicitation may protest the decision to award a contract by submitting a protest in writing to the County 
Purchasing Agent, or an official designated by the County of Fairfax, no later than 10 days after the award 
or the announcement of the decision to award, whichever comes first.   
 
Any bidder/offeror who the County determines is not responsible bidder shall be notified in writing by the 
County Purchasing Agent.  Such notice shall state the basis for the determination.  Within 10 days of 
being informed by Fairfax County that a bidder is not responsible, because it has not documented 
sufficient good faith efforts to meet the DBE goal, a bidder/offeror may seek administrative 
reconsideration. Bidders/offerors should submit this request for reconsideration in writing to the 
reconsideration official, Ronald N. Kirkpatrick, at the address provided below. 
 

Ronald N. Kirkpatrick 
Deputy Director 
Fairfax County Department of Public Works and Environment Services 
12000 Government Center Parkway, Suite 449 
Fairfax, Virginia  22035 
703-324-3206 
 
With copy mailed to  
Tom Biesiadny 
Director 
Fairfax County Department of Transportation 
4050 Legato Road, Suite 400  
Fairfax, Virginia 22033-2867  
703-877-5600 

 
As part of the reconsideration of whether the bidder/offer is or is not responsible with regard to the DBE 
goal, the bidder/offeror will have the opportunity to provide written documentation concerning the issue 
of whether it met the goal or made adequate good faith efforts to do so.  The bidder/offeror will have the 
opportunity to meet in person with Fairfax County’s reconsideration official to discuss the issue of 
whether it met the goal or made adequate good faith efforts to do.  Fairfax County will send the 
bidder/offeror a written decision on reconsideration, explaining the basis for finding that the bidder did or 

562



 

19 
 

did not meet the goal or make adequate good faith efforts to do so.  The written decision on 
reconsideration shall be final, unless the bidder/offeror appeals the decision within 10 days of receipt of 
the notice by instituting legal action as provided in the Code of Virginia.  The bidder/offeror may not 
institute legal action until all statutory requirements have been met.   
 
If, upon appeal, it is determined that the decision of the County Purchasing Agent was arbitrary or 
capricious and the award for the particular County contract in question has not been made, the sole relief 
available to the bidder shall be a finding that the bidder is a responsible bidder for the County contract in 
question.  Where the award has been made, the County may declare the contract void upon a finding that 
this action is in the best interest of the public.  Where a contract is declared void, the performing 
contractor shall be compensated for the cost of performance up to the time of such declaration.  In no 
event shall the performing contractor be entitled to lost profits. 
 
For more information regarding Fairfax County’s procurement policies, the bidder/offeror should consult 
the Fairfax County Purchasing Resolution, which can be found at the following URL: 
(https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpmm/pdf/purchres17.pdf) 
 
Good Faith Efforts when a DBE is Terminated/Replaced on a Contract with Contract Goals: 26.53(f) 

Fairfax County will require the prime contractor to obtain Fairfax County’s prior written approval to 
terminate or substitute a DBE and to provide copies of new or amended subcontracts, or documentation of 
good faith efforts.  Moreover, the DBE firm has the right to respond in writing to a notice of intent to 
terminate.   
  
Fairfax County will require a contractor to make good faith efforts to replace a DBE that is terminated or 
has otherwise failed to complete its work on a contract with another certified DBE, to the extent needed to 
meet the contract goal. Fairfax County will require the prime contractor to notify the DBELO 
immediately of the DBE's inability or unwillingness to perform and provide reasonable documentation.   
 
In addition to remedies available under the contract and under applicable law, if the prime contractor fails 
to provide written notification to the DBELO immediately of the DBE’s inability or unwillingness to 
perform and make a good faith effort to hire another certified DBE, Fairfax County may, at its option: (i) 
upon at least five (5) days written notice to the prime contractor, issue a work stoppage until these 
conditions are met and (ii) if the prime contractor still does not meet these demands within ten (10) days, 
Fairfax County may terminate the contract upon written notice to the prime contractor. The prime 
contractor agrees that it is solely responsible for any costs or damages related to its failure to replace a 
DBE or secure satisfactory performance and completion of Work or any contractual obligations by a 
DBE.   
 
Sample Bid Specification 

The sample specification language is intended for use in both construction and non-construction contracts 
for which a contract goal has been established.  It can be utilized in invitations for bid for construction, in 
requests for proposals for architectural/engineering and other professional services, and in other covered 
solicitation documents. A bid specification is required only when a contract goal is established.  The 
sample specification language is as follows: 
 

The requirements of 49 CFR Part 26, Regulations of the U.S. Department of Transportation, 
apply to this contract. It is the policy of the Fairfax County to practice nondiscrimination based 
on race, color, sex, or national origin in the award or performance of this contract. All firms 
qualifying under this solicitation are encouraged to submit bids/proposals. Award of this contract 

563



 

20 
 

will be conditioned upon satisfying the requirements of this bid specification. These requirements 
apply to all bidders/offerors, including those who qualify as a DBE. A DBE contract goal of ____ 
percent has been established for this contract. The bidder/offeror shall make good faith efforts, as 
defined in Appendix A, 49 CFR Part 26 (Attachment 1), to meet the contract goal for DBE 
participation in the performance of this contract.  
 
The bidder/offeror will be required to submit the following information: (1) the names and 
addresses of DBE firms that will participate in the contract; (2) a description of the work that 
each DBE firm will perform; (3) the dollar amount of the participation of each DBE firm 
participating; (4) Written documentation of the bidder/offeror’s commitment to use a DBE 
subcontractor whose participation it submits to meet the contract goal; (5) Written confirmation 
from the DBE that it is participating in the contract as provided in the commitment made under 
(4); and (5) if the contract goal is not met, evidence of good faith efforts. 

 
Section 26.55 Counting DBE Participation 

Fairfax County will count DBE participation toward overall and contract goals as provided in 49 CFR 
26.55. 

Section 26.61-26.73 Certification Process 

Fairfax County does not certify.  As such, this section does not apply. 

26.81 Unified Certification Programs/Section  

Fairfax County is a member of a Unified Certification Program (UCP) administered by the 
Commonwealth of Virginia.  The UCP meets all of the requirements of this section.  Fairfax County will 
use and count for DBE credit only those DBE firms certified by the Commonwealth of Virginia, through 
SBSD.  Accordingly, Fairfax County does not certify DBE's; however, the County does recognize 
certification by SBSD and MWAA for projects that include funding allocated by the Commonwealth of 
Virginia, as required by state law.  For projects that do not include Commonwealth of Virginia funding, 
Fairfax County may also recognize certification by the District of Columbia Department of 
Transportation (DDOT), Washington Metropolitan Transit Authority (WMATA), or any other 
transportation or transit agency in Northern Virginia receiving USDOT funds.   
 
26.83-26.91 Procedures for Certification Decisions  
The Commonwealth of Virginia uses the certification standards of Subpart D of Part 26 and the 
certification procedures of Subpart E of Part 26 to determine the eligibility of firms to participate as DBEs 
in DOT-assisted contracts. 
 
  

564



 

21 
 

Process 
Virginia certification application forms and documentation requirements can be found 
at www.sbsd.virginia.gov. For information about the certification process or to apply for certification, 
firms should contact:  
 

Virginia Department of Small Business and Supplier Diversity 
James Monroe Building 
101 N 14th St #300 
Richmond, VA 23219 
www.sbsd.virginia.gov/ 

 
Any firm or complainant may appeal Virginia’s UCP decision in a certification matter to USDOT.  Such 
appeals may be sent to:  
 

U.S. Department of Transportation  
Office of Civil Rights Certification Appeals Branch 
1200 New Jersey Ave. SE 
West Building, 7th Floor 
Washington, D.C. 20590 

 
Section 26.109 Information, Confidentiality, Cooperation 
Information submitted by a bidder/offeror shall be subject to disclosure requirements under the Virginia 
Freedom of Information Act and all applicable Federal, state, and local law.  See Va. Code §58.1-3; 
Virginia Freedom of Information Act (VFOIA).   
 
Trade secrets or propriety information submitted by a bidder/offeror in connection with a procurement 
transaction or prequalification application submitted pursuant to Article 2, Section 4 D.3 shall not be 
subject to disclosure under the Virginia Freedom of Information Act; however, the bidder/offeror shall 1) 
invoke the protections of this section prior to or upon submission of the data or other materials, 2) identify 
the data or other materials to be protected, and 3) state the reasons why protection is necessary.   

Monitoring Payments to DBEs 

Fairfax County will require prime contractors to maintain records and documents of payments to DBEs 
for three years following the performance of the contract. These records will be made available for 
inspection upon request by any authorized representative of Fairfax County or USDOT. This reporting 
requirement also extends to any certified DBE subcontractor. 

Fairfax County may perform interim audits of contract payments to DBEs. The audit will review 
payments to DBE subcontractors to ensure that the actual amount paid to DBE subcontractors equals or 
exceeds the dollar amounts states in the schedule of DBE participation.

565

http://www.sbsd.virginia.gov/
http://www.sbsd.virginia.gov/


 

 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1:  Fairfax County Government Organizational Chart  

566



 

 
 

 

 
  

567



 

 
 

 

568



 

 
 

Appendix 2:  Links to DBE Regulations (49 CFR Part 26), DBE Directory, Certification 
Forms, Fairfax County Department of Procurement and Material 
Management  

 

Federal Government Links 
Federal Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Regulations (49 CFR Part 26) 
http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title49/49cfr26_main_02.tpl 
 
 
Commonwealth of Virginia Links 
Virginia Department of Small Business & Supplier Diversity (SBSD) – DBE Directory 
http://www.sbsd.virginia.gov/ 
 
Virginia SBSD Certification Forms 
https://www.sbsd.virginia.gov/important-forms/ 
 
VDOT DBE Certification 
http://www.virginiadot.org/business/civil_rights_disadvantaged_business_enterprise_dbe_progra
m.asp 
 
Virginia Public Procurement Act 
https://dgs.virginia.gov/globalassets/business-units/dps/documents/vppa/virginia-public-
procurement-act.pdf 
 
Virginia Freedom of Information Act (VFOIA) VA Code §58.13 
http://foiacouncil.dls.virginia.gov/2011Law.pdf) 
 
 
County Links 
Fairfax County Department of Procurement and Material Management  
http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpmm/ 
 
Fairfax County Purchasing Statutes and Policies 
https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpmm/regs.htm 
 
Fairfax County Purchasing Resolution 
https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpmm/purchres.pdf 
 
Fairfax County Department of Procurement and Material Management’s Supplier Diversity 
Program 
https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpmm/supplierdiversity/ 
 
 

 

569

http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title49/49cfr26_main_02.tpl
http://www.sbsd.virginia.gov/
https://www.sbsd.virginia.gov/important-forms/
http://www.virginiadot.org/business/civil_rights_disadvantaged_business_enterprise_dbe_program.asp
http://www.virginiadot.org/business/civil_rights_disadvantaged_business_enterprise_dbe_program.asp
https://dgs.virginia.gov/globalassets/business-units/dps/documents/vppa/virginia-public-procurement-act.pdf
https://dgs.virginia.gov/globalassets/business-units/dps/documents/vppa/virginia-public-procurement-act.pdf
http://foiacouncil.dls.virginia.gov/2011Law.pdf
http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpmm/
https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpmm/regs.htm
https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpmm/purchres.pdf
https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpmm/supplierdiversity/


 

26 

 

Appendix 3:  Monitoring and Enforcement Mechanisms/Legal Remedies for Ensuring 
Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Inclusion in Contracts 

 
Fairfax County has available several remedies to enforce the DBE requirements contained in its 
contracts, including, but not limited to, the following:  
 

1. Breach of contract action, pursuant to the terms of the contract;  
2. Breach of contract action, pursuant as may be available through all of Virginia’s common law 

civil remedies, including but not limited to, actions for breach of contract damages, to obtain 
restitution, and specific enforcement of the contract. 

3. If applicable and appropriate, consideration of vendor disbarment from any similar future 
solicitations pursuant to Fairfax County Procedural Memorandum 12-11 (dated August 21, 
2003).  

 
In addition, the federal government has available several enforcement mechanisms that it may apply to 
firms participating in the DBE problem, including, but not limited to, the following:  
 

1. Suspension or debarment proceedings pursuant to 49 CFR part 26  
2. Enforcement action pursuant to 49 CFR part 31  
3. Prosecution pursuant to 18 USC 1001.  

  

570



 

27 
 

Appendix 4:  Fairfax County Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Goal and Methodology  
   FY 2018-2020 
 
Summary 
 
Fairfax County has established requirements for seeing an overall goal for Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise (DBE) participation in federally funded contracts in accordance with regulations of the 
United States Department of Transportation, 49 CFR Part 26.  This rule requires recipients of federal 
funds to use a methodology based on demonstrable data of relevant market conditions and is designed 
to reach a goal the recipient would expect DBEs to achieve in the absence of discrimination. 
 
Proposed Goal for FY 2018-2020 
 
Fairfax County has established an overall goal of 16.4% DBE participation for FY 2018-2020 on 
Federal Transit Administration assisted contracts.   
 
Fairfax County posted a notice of the proposed overall DBE goal, informing the public that the 
proposed goal and its rationale were available for public inspection during normal business hours at the 
Fairfax County Department of Transportation.  The goal was published on the Fairfax County 
Department of Transportation website; the Spanish-language newspaper, El Tiempo Latino; and in the 
Washington Post. 
 
Fairfax County expects to meet this goal for upcoming projects receiving FTA funds by verifying DBE 
certifications and furnishing prime contractors information about DBE firms in the greater Washington, 
D.C. and Northern Virginia region.  This overall goal will be reviewed triennially based on program 
updates. 
 
Race Conscious/Race Neutral Breakout Summary 
 
Fairfax County’s goal is to facilitate a high level of participation of DBE firms in Fairfax County 
Department of Transportation (FCDOT) projects that are funded by FTA.  By examining the last three 
years of Race Neutral vs. Race Conscious participation, the County has calculated that it should be able 
to achieve 8.4% of the overall goal through race-neutral means for the County’s goal over the next three 
years.  The remaining 8.0% (16.4% - 8.4% = 8.0%) may be met by race-conscious project procurement 
opportunities, as further described herein.  Race-conscious language regarding such project 
procurement opportunities will be implemented on FTA-assisted contracts with subcontracting 
opportunities where appropriate. 
 
Fairfax County intends to meet the maximum feasible portion of its overall DBE goal by using a race-
neutral means of facilitating DBE participation.  If the race-neutral percentage is larger than estimated, 
the number of projects with race-conscious contract language will be adjusted.  
 

571



 

28 
 

Public Participation 
 
Fairfax County utilized familiar programs and resources to help determine and promote DBE 
participation.  These programs include county and private-sector resources.  Among the county 
resources, FCDOT consulted with the Supplier Diversity Program within the Department of Purchasing 
and Materials Management (DPMM), which ensures that small businesses, minority-owned businesses 
and women-owned businesses are treated fairly and have an opportunity to compete for the county's 
contract dollars.  The office also engages in a variety of outreach efforts, including counseling and 
assistance, which are intended to maximize prime and subcontract opportunities for small, minority-
owned businesses and women-owned businesses.  In October 2017, FCDOT participated in an all-day 
job fair sponsored by DPMM to help gauge interest in DBE opportunities, as well as promote 
contracting opportunities.  FCDOT also met with representatives of Fairfax County’s Office of Public 
Private Partnerships, which serves as a clearing house for public agencies, non-profit organizations, and 
businesses interested in working collaboratively.  Additionally, FCDOT consulted the Fairfax County 
Economic Development Authority, which works with small, minority, and women-owned businesses to 
provide services and opportunities to start and expand their business operations 
(http://www.fairfaxcountyeda.org/services-small-minority-and-woman-owned-firms).  
 
Outside of the County resources, FCDOT reached out to representatives of the Capital Region Minority 
Supplier Development Council, the Virginia Hispanic Chamber of Commerce, the Asian Chamber of 
Commerce, and the Hispanic Business Council to gain a sense of the number of types of DBE firms that 
their organizations represent and to begin to develop strategies for ensuring DBE participation in 
bidding for FTA-supported contracts.  Via email, FCDOT attempted to solicit direct feedback from 
each of these groups on the proposed DBE goal.  FCDOT utilized these resources in addition to the 
resources listed subsequently in this document to determine and promote DBE participation.   
 
Methodology 
 
STEP ONE 
 
The first step in establishing an overall DBE Goal is to determine the relative availability of DBE 
vendors within Fairfax County and the Washington Metropolitan Area to perform the types of FTA 
assisted contracts that Fairfax County intends to let during the federal fiscal year cycle.  For FY 2018-
2020, Fairfax County is expected to initiate only a few contracts for the construction of sidewalks and 
bus shelters and one contract to support a Transit Oriented Development (TOD) planning project. 
 
After reviewing the current projects Fairfax County is completing with the use of applicable FTA grant 
funds, FCDOT has determined that an estimate of FTA funding for FY 2018-2020 is $3,823,371 out of 
approximately $4,779,213 in total project costs.  The approximately $3.8 million in FTA funds for FY 
2018-2020 will be spent on Construction services (NAICS Codes 236220, 237110, 237130, 237310, 
and 238990) and planning services (NAICS Code 541330).  Fairfax County does not anticipate any new 
large scale or additional projects that require FTA grants arising in the next three years that would 
increase the estimated total project costs and FTA Grant amounts for FY 2018-2020.   
 

572

http://www.fairfaxcountyeda.org/services-small-minority-and-woman-owned-firms


 

29 
 

The following table delineates projects that are projected to be completed during FY 2018-2020.   
 

Project Number Total Project Amount Federal Amount 
1400079-2012 $483,347 $386,678  
1400080-2012 $900,000 $720,000  
1400082-2012 $435,666 $348,533  
1400012-2006 (Frye Road – Phase II) $145,600 $116,480  
1400012-2006 (Lukens Lane) $560,000 $448,000  
1400012-2006 (Ladson Lane) $317,500 $254,000  
1400017-2006 (Mohawk) $450,000 $360,000  
1400017-2006 (Belford) $463,100 $370,480  
Transit Shelter Projects $1,024,000 $819,200 

TOTAL $4,779,213  $3,823,371 
 

According to proposed project timelines for initiating the above projects, the average annual fiscal year 
estimate for using FTA Grant funding is provided below. 
 

 NAICS Codes 237110, 237130, 237310, and 
238990 

Fiscal Year 2018 $3.15 million 
Fiscal Year 2019 $1.63 million 
Fiscal Year 2020 $0 

TOTAL $4.78 million 
 

Base Figure 
 
FCDOT has used the following formula to determine the base figure percentage of ready, willing, and 
able DBE firms for USDOT-Assisted projects: 
 
 
Base Figure = 

 
Numerator: Ready, Willing and Able DBE Firms (by category) 
Denominator: All Ready, Willing and Able Firms (by the same numerator 
category) 

 
Fairfax County does not certify firms as DBE's but utilizes databases maintained by the Commonwealth 
of Virginia Department of Small Business and Supplier Diversity (SBSD), and the Metropolitan 
Washington Airport Authority (MWAA), to determine which firms may be counted as DBEs.  The 
directories list the firm's name, address, and phone number and the type of work the firm has been 
certified to perform as a DBE. 

573



 

30 
 

 
A substantial majority of the contracting dollars are spent in the local marketing area known as the 
Washington Metropolitan Area that is comprised of Washington D.C. and the larger counties and 
municipalities in Northern Virginia.  The table below identifies the NAICS codes that will be utilized 
by FCDOT over the next three years.  
 

 
The following table summarizes the total number of all contractors and subcontractors located in 
Fairfax County’s local market area who would be available for FTA-assisted projects.  This information 
was extracted from the 2017 County Business Patterns (i.e., NAICS) database hosted by the census. 
 

Jurisdictions NAICS Codes 
 Construction Planning 

237110 237130 237310 238990 236220 541330 
Alexandria City, VA 29 11 17 15 19 7 
Arlington, VA 40 8 9 8 4 4 
District of Columbia 37 47 68 41 36 24 
Fairfax City, VA 0 1 1 1 2 2 
Fairfax, VA 28 27 34 24 30 36 
Falls Church, VA 13 7 1 26 33 23 
Fredericksburg, VA 18 2 4 12 17 19 
Loudoun, VA 34 38 36 33 35 41 
Manassas City, VA 13 5 29 3 11 43 
Manassas Park, VA 18 6 8 5 9 6 
Prince William, VA 47 33 36 62 45 50 
Stafford, VA 3 5 5 3 4 41 
Sub-Total 280 190 248 233 245 296 
Total 1196 296 
 
The table below lists the number of certified DBE Firms with offices in the Washington Metropolitan 
Area.  FCDOT cross-referenced each directory to prevent double counting a particular DBE firm who is 
certified and registered by more than one agency. 
 
  

NAICS Code 541330

NAICS CODE MEANING
Commercial and Institutional Building Construction

Water and Sewer Line and Related Structures Construction
Power and Communication Line and Related Structures Construction

Highway, Street, and Bridge Construction
All Other Specialty Trade Contractors

Engineering Services

NAICS Code 236220
NAICS Code  237110
NAICS Code 237130
NAICS Code 237310 
NAICS Code 238990

574



 

31 
 

Jurisdictions NAICS Codes 

 
Construction Planning 

237110 237130 237310 238990 236220 541330 
Alexandria City, VA 2 2 3 3 6 3 
Arlington, VA 1 2 1 2 4 2 
District of Columbia 7 3 6 9 11 8 
Fairfax City, VA 1 2 1 0 1 1 
Fairfax, VA 27 31 26 25 34 39 
Falls Church, VA 3 1 1 2 1 2 
Fredericksburg, VA 4 3 2 5 2 2 
Loudoun, VA 11 9 8 13 11 10 
Manassas City, VA 2 1 0 3 2 5 
Manassas Park, VA 1 1 4 0 1 1 
Prince William, VA 11 12 14 17 15 10 
Stafford, VA 3 2 2 3 2 3 
Sub-Total 73 69 68 82 90 86 
Total 382 86 

 

Step 1 – Base Goal Calculation 
 
To establish the DBE base goal, FCDOT consulted FTA guidance and the Virginia Department of 
Transportation (VDOT).  For FY 2015-2017, VDOT utilized a two-step approach to setting the DBE 
base goal.  FCDOT replicated this approach, the extent practicable, as follows: 
 
Pre-Qualification 

 
468 Ready, Willing, and able DBEs in the aforementioned NAICS codes   

 
 
= 31. 4% 
 

1492 Total Firms Ready, Willing, and Able in the aforementioned NAICS codes 
 

 
As a proxy for VDOT’s Work Capacity Value measure, which measures the total amount of 
outstanding work a contractor desires to have under construction at one time, FCDOT determined what 
percentage of current FCDOT work could be performed by certified DBE firms (i.e., FTA contracts) as 
a percentage of the work available.  The resulting percentage reflects maximum contracting 
opportunities of DBE firms.   
 
Value of Available DBE Work  

 
Current DBE Contracts = $9,000,000 

 
 
= 0.30% 
 

6-Year Budget Obligation = $3,000,000,000 
 

 
  

575



 

32 
 

Step 1 Base Goal Results  
 
As a final step to determine the DBE base goal, FCDOT gives equal weight to each of the preceding 
measures to help identify the relative availability of and opportunities for DBEs with Fairfax County.  
 

Pre-Qualification (31.4%) X Work Capacity Value (.30%) / 2 = 15.8% 
 
Weighting 
 
To improve the accuracy of the DBE goal, FTA recommends a weighting strategy for each NAICS 
category.  The table below delineates calculations for weighting of the DBE firms and non-DBE firms 
in the Washington Metropolitan Area that FCDOT anticipates will be utilized over the next three years. 

576



 

33 

 

Weighting Calculations 
 

 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
236220 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
237110 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
237130 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
237310 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
541330 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
238990 

TOTAL 

DBE  

Firms 

0.30% 90 0.30% 73 0.30% 69 0.30% 68 0.30% 86 0.30% 82 382 

All Firms 
 

245 
 

280 
 

190 
 

248 
 

296 
 

233 1196 

DBEs/ 

All Firms 

 
0.37 

 
0.26 

 
0.36 

 
0.27 

 
0.29 

 
0.35 

 

 

             

 

 
0.11% 

 
0.08% 

 
0.11% 

 
0.08% 

 
0.09% 

 
0.11% 0.57% 

   Step 1 Weighted Base Figure  0.57% 

 
 

Step 1 DBE Base Goal Results  
 
The final step for determining the base goal involves combining together the Step 1 Base Figure Results and the Weighted Base Figure.   
 
Step 1 Base Figure Results (15.8%) + Step 1 Weighted Base Figure (0.57%) = 16.4% 
 
 

 

577



 

34 
 

STEP TWO 
 
Additional factors were considered for adjusting the base DBE goal figure.  Two of the factors not 
utilized are discussed below:  
 

1 Disparity Studies:  No local disparity studies exist that provide any further insight into the 
number of ready, willing, and able DBEs or their use in transportation projects.  

2 Potential Capacity Increases: The data do not show any significant increase on an annual basis of 
DBEs or total firms in either the Construction or Engineering NAICS categories.   

 

Fairfax County did, however, consider past participation in FTA-assisted contracts to adjust further the 
base DBE goal figure.  After reviewing participation data since 2015, Fairfax County determined that it 
had achieved an unusually high level of DBE firm participation on FTA-supported contracts, due in large 
part to the small number of contracts bid and the fact that a certified DBE firm was selected as the prime 
contractor on one of those contracts.  Over the past three years, Fairfax County averaged 52.4% DBE 
participation, higher than the proposed 16.4% goal.  Accordingly, Fairfax County determined that the 
results from the past three years were not representative of the relative availability of DBE firms in the 
local market.   
 
Should contracting opportunities significantly change during the three-year period such that the submitted 
goal is rendered inconclusive, Fairfax County will appropriately review both the goal and DBE 
contracting practices to ensure the goal and program as a whole accurately reflects the actual contracting 
opportunities available during the specified time period. If necessary, Fairfax County then will submit 
adjustments to its DBE goal to the FTA for review and approval.  Otherwise, the County will submit its 
goal to FTA every three years. 
 
Race Conscious / Race Neutral Breakout 
 
Fairfax County’s goal is to facilitate a high level of participation of DBE firms in Fairfax County 
Department of Transportation (FCDOT) projects that are funded by FTA.  By examining the last three 
years of Race Neutral vs. Race Conscious participation, the County has calculated that it should be able to 
achieve 8.4% of the overall goal through race-neutral means for the County’s goal over the next three 
years.  The remaining 8.0% (16.4% - 8.4% = 8.0%) may be met by race-conscious project procurement 
opportunities. 
 
Fairfax County intends to meet the maximum feasible portion of its overall DBE goal by using a race-
neutral means of facilitating DBE participation.  Race-neutral efforts to include the minority business 
community in procurement opportunities will include identification and recruitment of minority firms to 
advertised procurement opportunities, teaming and networking events allowing minority firms to interact 
with potential project partners, and participation in association and trade organization events where 
Fairfax County projects can be highlighted.  DBE contractors will be encouraged to apply on all 
solicitations.  Fairfax County will coordinate with appropriate leadership of DBE firms to inform them 
when contract opportunities arise, and all solicitations and contracts will include a good-faith effort DBE 
goal as a race-neutral means to increase DBE participation. 
 
If these race neutral strategies do not prove effective in reaching the County’s 16.4% DBE goal, the 
County will implement race conscious contract goals.  Fairfax County will review the estimated breakout 
of race-neutral and race-conscious DBE participation as needed to reflect actual DBE usage and will track 
the outcome of our efforts.  Race-conscious language regarding project procurement opportunities will be 
implemented on FTA-assisted contracts with subcontracting opportunities where appropriate.  If the race-

578



 

35 
 

neutral percentage is larger than estimated, the number of projects with race-conscious contract language 
regarding project procurement opportunities will be adjusted. 
 

579



 

 

Appendix 5:  Documentation of Consultation and Outreach 
 
Fairfax County Department of Procurement and Material Management, Supplier Diversity – Vendor 
Forum 
 

 
 

580



 

 

Northern Virginia Black Chamber of Commerce 
 

 
 
 
 

581



 

 

Greater Washington Hispanic Chamber of Commerce & Virginia Hispanic Chamber of Commerce 
 

 
 
  

582



 

 

Asian American Chamber of Commerce 
 

 
 

583



 

 

Appendix 6:  Proof of Publication 
 

 
 
  

584



 

 

 

585



 

 

Appendix 7:  Good Faith Effort Forms 

586



 

 

FAIRFAX COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
DBE GOOD FAITH EFFORTS DOCUMENTATION  

 

 
 

 
THIS INFORMATION MUST BE SUBMITTED 

WITHIN 2 DAYS AFTER BID OPENING IF YOUR BID DOES 
NOT MEET THE PROJECT DBE REQUIREMENTS, OR 

WHEN REQUESTED BY FCDOT 
 
 
 
 

 
CONTRACT I.D. NUMBER  
 
PROJECT NUMBER 
 
FTA PROJECT NUMBER   
 
FAIRFAX COUNTY DISTRICT   
 
DATE BID SUBMITTED   
 
BIDDER’S NAME 
 
SIGNATURE   
 
TITLE 
 
DATE 
 
VENDOR NUMBER  
 

DBE GOAL FROM BID PROPOSAL 

587



 

 

FAIRFAX COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
DBE GOOD FAITH EFFORTS DOCUMENTATION 

 
CONTRACT I.D. NO.________________________________DATE SUBMITTED______________  
IF THE DBE GOAL ESTABLISHED FOR THIS CONTRACT HAS NOT BEEN MET OR FCDOT 
REQUESTS THE SUBMITTAL THEREOF, THE BIDDER IS REQUIRED TO SUBMIT GOOD FAITH 
EFFORTS AS OUTLINED IN THIS DOCUMENT.  
 
THE BIDDER ACKNOWLEDGES AND CERTIFIES THAT THIS FORM ACCURATELY 
REPRESENTS THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.  
 
BIDDER SIGNATURE   
 
 
TITLE  
 
NAMES OF CERTIFIED DBEs AND THE DATES ON WHICH THEY WERE SOLICITED TO BID ON 
THIS PROJECT  
 

INCLUDE THE ITEMS OF WORK OFFERED AND THE DATES AND METHODS USED FOR FOLLOWING UP INITIAL 
SOLICITATIONS TO DETERMINE WHETHER OR NOT DBEs WERE INTERESTED. 

 

NAMES AND VENDOR 
NUMBERS OF DBEs 

SOLICITED 

DATE OF INITIAL 
SOLICITATION  

 

ITEM(S) OF WORK  
 

FOLLOW-UP METHODS 
AND DATES  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

   

 

NOTE: ATTACH ADDITIONAL PAGES IF NECESSARY 
 
ATTACH COPIES OF SOLICITATIONS, TELEPHONE RECORDS, FAX CONFIRMATIONS, ELECTRONIC INFORMATION, 
ETC 

588



 

 

FAIRFAX COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
DBE GOOD FAITH EFFORTS DOCUMENTATION 

 
 
CONTRACT I.D. NO._________________DATE SUBMITTED___________________________  
 
IF THE DBE GOAL ESTABLISHED FOR THIS CONTRACT HAS NOT BEEN MET OR FCDOT 
REQUESTS THE SUBMITTAL THEREOF, THE BIDDER IS REQUIRED TO SUBMIT GOOD FAITH 
EFFORTS AS OUTLINED IN THIS DOCUMENT.  
 
THE BIDDER ACKNOWLEDGES AND CERTIFIES THAT THIS FORM ACCURATELY 
REPRESENTS THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.  
 
 
BIDDER_____________________________________SIGNATURE______________________________________  
 
 
TITLE________________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 

TELEPHONE LOG 
 
 

DBE(s) CALLED  
 

TELEPHONE NUMBER  
 

DATE CALLED  
 

TIME CALLED  
 

CONTACT PERSON 
OR  

VOICE MAIL STATUS  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    

 

NOTE: ATTACH ADDITIONAL PAGES IF NECESSARY 
 

589



 

 

FAIRFAX COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
DBE GOOD FAITH EFFORTS DOCUMENTATION 

 
 
CONTRACT I.D. NO._________________DATE SUBMITTED___________________________  
 
IF THE DBE GOAL ESTABLISHED FOR THIS CONTRACT HAS NOT BEEN MET OR FCDOT 
REQUESTS THE SUBMITTAL THEREOF, THE BIDDER IS REQUIRED TO SUBMIT GOOD FAITH 
EFFORTS AS OUTLINED IN THIS DOCUMENT.  
 
THE BIDDER ACKNOWLEDGES AND CERTIFIES THAT THIS FORM ACCURATELY 
REPRESENTS THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.  
 
 
BIDDER_____________________________________SIGNATURE______________________________________  
 
 
TITLE________________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
ITEM(S) OF WORK THAT THE BIDDER MADE AVAILABLE TO DBE FIRMS  
 
IDENTIFY THOSE ITEM(S) OF WORK THAT THE BIDDER MADE AVAILABLE TO DBE FIRMS OR THOSE ITEM(S) THE 
BIDDER IDENTIFIED AND DETERMINED TO SUBDIVIDE INTO ECONOMICALLY FEASIBLE UNITS TO FACILITATE 
DBE PARTICIPATION. FOR EACH ITEM LISTED, SHOW THE DOLLAR VALUE AND PERCENTAGE OF THE TOTAL 
CONTRACT AMOUNT. IT IS THE BIDDER’S RESPONSIBILITY TO DEMONSTRATE THAT SUFFICIENT WORK TO 
MEET THE GOAL WAS MADE AVAILABLE TO DBE FIRMS. 
 

ITEM(S) OF WORK 
MADE AVAILABLE  

 

BIDDER NORMALLY 
PERFORMS ITEM(S) 

(Y/N)  
 

ITEM(S) BROKEN 
DOWN TO 

FACILITATE 
PARTICIPATION  

(Y/N)  

AMOUNT IN 
DOLLARS  

 

PERCENTAGE  
OF  

CONTRACT  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

NOTE: INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR THIS SECTION CONTINUED ON SHEET 5 
ATTACH ADDITIONAL PAGES IF NECESSARY 

590



 

 

 FAIRFAX COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
DBE GOOD FAITH EFFORTS DOCUMENTATION 

 
 
CONTRACT I.D. NO._________________DATE SUBMITTED___________________________  
 
IF THE DBE GOAL ESTABLISHED FOR THIS CONTRACT HAS NOT BEEN MET OR FCDOT 
REQUESTS THE SUBMITTAL THEREOF, THE BIDDER IS REQUIRED TO SUBMIT GOOD FAITH 
EFFORTS AS OUTLINED IN THIS DOCUMENT.  
 
THE BIDDER ACKNOWLEDGES AND CERTIFIES THAT THIS FORM ACCURATELY 
REPRESENTS THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.  
 
 
BIDDER_____________________________________SIGNATURE______________________________________  
 
 
TITLE________________________________________________________________________________________  
 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING ITEM(S) OF WORK THAT THE BIDDER 
MADE AVAILABLE TO DBE FIRMS (Continued From Sheet 4) 

 
ITEM(S) OF WORK MADE AVAILABLE, NAMES OF SELECTED FIRMS AND DBE STATUS, DBEs THAT PROVIDED 

QUOTES, PRICE QUOTE FOR EACH FIRM, AND THE PRICE DIFFERENCE FOR EACH DBE IF THE SELECTED FIRM IS 
NOT A DBE. 

 
 

ITEM(S) OF WORK 
MADE 

AVAILABLE  
 

NAME OF 
SELECTED FIRM 

AND VENDOR 
NUMBER  

 

DBE OR NON-
DBE  

 

NAME OF 
REJECTED 

FIRM(S)  
 

QUOTE IN 
DOLLARS  

 

PRICE 
DIFFERENCE 
IN DOLLARS  

 

   
 
 
 
 

   

 

NOTE: ATTACH ADDITIONAL PAGES IF NECESSARY. 
 

IF THE FIRM SELECTED FOR THE ITEM IS NOT A DBE, PROVIDE THE REASON(S) FOR THE 
SELECTION ON A SEPARATE PAGE AND ATTACH. 

 

PROVIDE NAMES, ADDRESSES, AND TELEPHONE NUMBERS FOR THE FIRMS LISTED ABOVE. 

 
 

591



 

 

FAIRFAX COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
DBE GOOD FAITH EFFORTS DOCUMENTATION 

 
 
CONTRACT I.D. NO._________________DATE SUBMITTED___________________________  
 
IF THE DBE GOAL ESTABLISHED FOR THIS CONTRACT HAS NOT BEEN MET OR FCDOT 
REQUESTS THE SUBMITTAL THEREOF, THE BIDDER IS REQUIRED TO SUBMIT GOOD FAITH 
EFFORTS AS OUTLINED IN THIS DOCUMENT.  
 
THE BIDDER ACKNOWLEDGES AND CERTIFIES THAT THIS FORM ACCURATELY 
REPRESENTS THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.  
 
 
BIDDER_____________________________________SIGNATURE______________________________________  
 
 
TITLE________________________________________________________________________________________  
 

ADVERTISEMENTS OR PROOFS OF PUBLICATION. 
 
NAMES AND DATES OF EACH PUBLICATION IN WHCH A REQUEST FOR DBE PARTICIPATION FOR THE PROJECT 
WAS PLACED BY THE BIDDER. ATTACH COPIES OF PUBLISHED ADVERTISEMENTS OR PROOFS OF PUBLICATION. 
 
 

PUBLICATIONS 
 

DATES OF ADVERTISEMENT  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

NOTE: ATTACH ADDITIONAL PAGES IF NECESSARY 

592



 

 

FAIRFAX COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
DBE GOOD FAITH EFFORTS DOCUMENTATION 

 
 
CONTRACT I.D. NO._________________DATE SUBMITTED___________________________  
 
IF THE DBE GOAL ESTABLISHED FOR THIS CONTRACT HAS NOT BEEN MET OR FCDOT 
REQUESTS THE SUBMITTAL THEREOF, THE BIDDER IS REQUIRED TO SUBMIT GOOD FAITH 
EFFORTS AS OUTLINED IN THIS DOCUMENT.  
 
THE BIDDER ACKNOWLEDGES AND CERTIFIES THAT THIS FORM ACCURATELY 
REPRESENTS THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.  
 
 
BIDDER_____________________________________SIGNATURE______________________________________  
 
 
TITLE________________________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
 

NAME OF AGENCY 
 

METHOD AND DATE OF CONTACT 
 

RESULTS 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

NOTE: ATTACH ADDITIONAL PAGES IF NECESSARY 

 

593



 

 

FAIRFAX COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
DBE GOOD FAITH EFFORTS DOCUMENTATION 

 
 
CONTRACT I.D. NO._________________DATE SUBMITTED___________________________  
 
IF THE DBE GOAL ESTABLISHED FOR THIS CONTRACT HAS NOT BEEN MET OR FCDOT 
REQUESTS THE SUBMITTAL THEREOF, THE BIDDER IS REQUIRED TO SUBMIT GOOD FAITH 
EFFORTS AS OUTLINED IN THIS DOCUMENT.  
 
THE BIDDER ACKNOWLEDGES AND CERTIFIES THAT THIS FORM ACCURATELY 
REPRESENTS THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.  
 
 
BIDDER_____________________________________SIGNATURE______________________________________  
 
 
TITLE________________________________________________________________________________________  
 

 
TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE AND INFORMATION PROVIDED TO DBEs 

 
EFFORTS MADE TO PROVIDE INTERESTED DBEs WITH ADEQUATE INFORMATION ABOUT  
THE PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, AND REQUIREMENTS OF THE BID DOCUMENTS TO ASSIST 
THE DBEs IN RESPONDING TO A SOLICITATION.  
 
IDENTIFY THE DBEs ASSISTED, THE INFORMATION PROVIDED, AND THE DATE OF CONTACT. ATTACH COPIES OF 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS. 
 
 

DBEs ASSISTED   
 

INFORMATION PROVIDED DATE OF CONTACT 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

NOTE: ATTACH ADDITIONAL PAGES IF NECESSARY 

594



 

 

FAIRFAX COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
DBE GOOD FAITH EFFORTS DOCUMENTATION 

 
 
CONTRACT I.D. NO._________________DATE SUBMITTED___________________________  
 
IF THE DBE GOAL ESTABLISHED FOR THIS CONTRACT HAS NOT BEEN MET OR FCDOT 
REQUESTS THE SUBMITTAL THEREOF, THE BIDDER IS REQUIRED TO SUBMIT GOOD FAITH 
EFFORTS AS OUTLINED IN THIS DOCUMENT.  
 
THE BIDDER ACKNOWLEDGES AND CERTIFIES THAT THIS FORM ACCURATELY 
REPRESENTS THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.  
 
 
BIDDER_____________________________________SIGNATURE______________________________________  
 
 
TITLE________________________________________________________________________________________  
 

EFFORTS MADE TO ASSIST DBEs OBTAIN BONDING, LINES OF CREDIT, 
INSURANCE, ETC. 

 
 
EFFORTS MADE TO PROVIDE INTERESTED DBEs IN OBTAINING BONDING, LINES OF CREDIT, 
INSURANCE, NECESSARY EQUIPMENT, SUPPLIES, MATERIALS, OR RELATED ASSISTANCE 
OR SERVICES, EXCLUDING SUPPLIES AND EQUIPMENT THE SUBCONTRACTOR PURCHASES 
OR LEASES FROM THE PRIME CONTRACTOR OR ITS AFFILIATES.  
 
 
IDENTIFY THE DBEs ASSISTED, THE ASSISTANCE OFFERED, AND THE DATES OF SERVICES OFFERED AND 
PROVIDED. ATTACH COPIES OF SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS. 
 

DBEs ASSISTED  
 

ASSISTANCE OFFERED DATES SERVICES OFFERED 
AND/OR PROVIDED 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

NOTE: ATTACH ADDITIONAL PAGES IF NECESSARY 

595



 

 

 

FAIRFAX COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
DBE GOOD FAITH EFFORTS DOCUMENTATION 

 
 
CONTRACT I.D. NO._________________DATE SUBMITTED___________________________  
 
IF THE DBE GOAL ESTABLISHED FOR THIS CONTRACT HAS NOT BEEN MET OR FCDOT 
REQUESTS THE SUBMITTAL THEREOF, THE BIDDER IS REQUIRED TO SUBMIT GOOD FAITH 
EFFORTS AS OUTLINED IN THIS DOCUMENT.  
 
THE BIDDER ACKNOWLEDGES AND CERTIFIES THAT THIS FORM ACCURATELY 
REPRESENTS THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.  
 
 
BIDDER_____________________________________SIGNATURE______________________________________  
 
 
TITLE________________________________________________________________________________________  
 

ADDITIONAL DATA TO SUPPORT DEMONSTRATION OF GOOD FAITH EFFORTS 
 
 

ADDITIONAL DATA TO SUPPORT DEMONSTRATION OF GOOD FAITH EFFORTS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

NOTE: ATTACH ADDITIONAL PAGES, IF NECESSARY 

596



 

1 

 

C o u n t y  o f  F a i r f a x ,  V i r g i n i a  
 
To protect and enrich the quality of life for the people, neighborhoods and diverse communities of Fairfax County 
 

 
 
December 5, 2017 
 
Ms. Lynn Bailey, Civil Rights Officer 
Federal Transit Administration, Region III 
U.S. Department of Transportation 
1760 Market Street 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103 
 
Reference:  Fairfax County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Goal and 

Methodology for FY 2018-2020 
 
Dear Ms. Bailey:  
 
Attached is Fairfax County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Goal and 
Methodology for FY 2018-2020 which was approved by the Fairfax County Board of 
Supervisors on December 5, 2017.  This document has been uploaded into FTA’s TrAMS 
grant management database.  The overall DBE goal for FTA-funded projects for Fairfax 
County is 16.4 percent.  The County’s race-neutral goal is 8.4 percent, leaving 8 percent to be 
achieved through race-conscious means, if necessary.  The County is hopeful that it can 
achieve the overall goal through race-neutral strategies, but recognizes that race-conscious 
strategies may need to be employed.   
 
Market Area 
The local market area from which the County’s DBE goal was established is the Washington 
D.C. Metropolitan Area, which generally includes the District of Columbia and the larger 
counties and municipalities in Northern Virginia.  This includes the following jurisdictions: 
City of Alexandria, Arlington County, District of Columbia, City of Fairfax, Fairfax County, 
Falls Church, Fredericksburg, Loudoun County, City of Manassas, Manassas Park, Prince 
William, and Stafford County.   
 
Goal Calculation Methodology 
The FTA-funded projects that will be initiated during FY 2018-2020 support the construction 
of transit access improvements (including sidewalks, intersection improvements, and bus 
shelters) and Transit-Oriented Development planning for a proposed Bus Rapid Transit system 
are the basis for calculating the DBE goal.  The applicable North American Industry 
Classification System (NAICS) codes for these projects include: 236220, 237110, 237130, 
237310, 238990, and 541330.  The County has compared the number of registered DBE firms 
under each of these NAICS codes, versus the number of overall registered firms under the 
same codes to determine the DBE goal for the next three years.  Additional weighting of 0.57%  

597



Ms. Lynn Bailey 
December 5, 2017 
Page 2 of 2 
 
 
was calculated, based on the construction NAICS codes which constitute the majority of the 
contracting opportunities, and combined with a Base Figure of 15.8%, for an Overall DBE 
Goal of 16.4%.  The FTA calculation worksheets are attached.  Documentation of consultation 
and outreach to community groups regarding the development of the DBE goal also is 
provided in Appendix 2: Documentation of Consultation and Outreach.  Copies of the 
published public notices advertising the County’s proposed DBE policy are included in 
Appendix 3: Proof of Publication.   
 
If you have questions or require further information regarding the County’s DBE policy, please 
contact me.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Brent Riddle 
Disadvantaged Business Liaison Officer 
 
cc Tom Biesiadny, Director, Fairfax County Department of Transportation (FCDOT) 

Todd Wigglesworth, Division Chief, FCDOT 
 Benjamin Atsem, Transportation Planner, FCDOT 
 
Attachments:  Fairfax County Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Goal and Methodology  

FY 2018-2020 
 

598



 

3 

 

Fairfax County Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Goal and Methodology 
FY 2018-2020 

 
Summary 
 
Fairfax County has established requirements for seeing an overall goal for Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise (DBE) participation in federally funded contracts in accordance with regulations of the 
United States Department of Transportation, 49 CFR Part 26.  This rule requires recipients of federal 
funds to use a methodology based on demonstrable data of relevant market conditions and is designed 
to reach a goal the recipient would expect DBEs to achieve in the absence of discrimination. 
 
Proposed Goal for FY 2018-2020 
 
Fairfax County has established an overall goal of 16.4% DBE participation for FY 2018-2020 on 
Federal Transit Administration assisted contracts.   
 
Fairfax County posted a notice of the proposed overall DBE goal, informing the public that the 
proposed goal and its rationale were available for public inspection during normal business hours at the 
Fairfax County Department of Transportation.  The goal was published on the Fairfax County 
Department of Transportation website; the Spanish-language newspaper, El Tiempo Latino; and in the 
Washington Post. 
 
Fairfax County expects to meet this goal for upcoming projects receiving FTA funds by verifying DBE 
certifications and furnishing prime contractors information about DBE firms in the greater Washington, 
D.C. and Northern Virginia region.  This overall goal will be reviewed triennially based on program 
updates. 
 
Race Conscious/Race Neutral Breakout Summary 
 
Fairfax County’s goal is to facilitate a high level of participation of DBE firms in Fairfax County 
Department of Transportation (FCDOT) projects that are funded by FTA.  By examining the last three 
years of Race Neutral vs. Race Conscious participation, the County has calculated that it should be able 
to achieve 8.4% of the overall goal through race-neutral means for the County’s goal over the next three 
years.  The remaining 8.0% (16.4% - 8.4% = 8.0%) may be met by race-conscious project procurement 
opportunities, as further described herein.  Race-conscious language regarding such project 
procurement opportunities will be implemented on FTA-assisted contracts with subcontracting 
opportunities where appropriate. 
 
Fairfax County intends to meet the maximum feasible portion of its overall DBE goal by using a race-
neutral means of facilitating DBE participation.  If the race-neutral percentage is larger than estimated, 
the number of projects with race-conscious contract language will be adjusted.  
 

599



 

4 
 

Public Participation 
 
Fairfax County utilized familiar programs and resources to help determine and promote DBE 
participation.  These programs include county and private-sector resources.  Among the county 
resources, FCDOT consulted with the Supplier Diversity Program within the Department of Purchasing 
and Materials Management (DPMM), which ensures that small businesses, minority-owned businesses 
and women-owned businesses are treated fairly and have an opportunity to compete for the county's 
contract dollars.  The office also engages in a variety of outreach efforts, including counseling and 
assistance, which are intended to maximize prime and subcontract opportunities for small, minority-
owned businesses and women-owned businesses.  In October 2017, FCDOT participated in an all-day 
job fair sponsored by DPMM to help gauge interest in DBE opportunities, as well as promote 
contracting opportunities.  FCDOT also met with representatives of Fairfax County’s Office of Public 
Private Partnerships, which serves as a clearing house for public agencies, non-profit organizations, and 
businesses interested in working collaboratively.  Additionally, FCDOT consulted the Fairfax County 
Economic Development Authority, which works with small, minority, and women-owned businesses to 
provide services and opportunities to start and expand their business operations 
(http://www.fairfaxcountyeda.org/services-small-minority-and-woman-owned-firms).  
 
Outside of the County resources, FCDOT reached out to representatives of the Capital Region Minority 
Supplier Development Council, the Virginia Hispanic Chamber of Commerce, the Asian Chamber of 
Commerce, and the Hispanic Business Council to gain a sense of the number of types of DBE firms that 
their organizations represent and to begin to develop strategies for ensuring DBE participation in 
bidding for FTA-supported contracts.  Via email, FCDOT attempted to solicit direct feedback from 
each of these groups on the proposed DBE goal.  FCDOT utilized these resources in addition to the 
resources listed subsequently in this document to determine and promote DBE participation.  See 
Appendix 2: Documentation of Consultation and Outreach and Appendix 3: Proof of Publication.  
 
Methodology 
 
STEP ONE 
 
The first step in establishing an overall DBE Goal is to determine the relative availability of DBE 
vendors within Fairfax County and the Washington Metropolitan Area to perform the types of FTA 
assisted contracts that Fairfax County intends to let during the federal fiscal year cycle.  For FY 2018-
2020, Fairfax County is expected to initiate only a few contracts for the construction of sidewalks and 
bus shelters and one contract to support a Transit Oriented Development (TOD) planning project. 
 
After reviewing the current projects Fairfax County is completing with the use of applicable FTA grant 
funds, FCDOT has determined that an estimate of FTA funding for FY 2018-2020 is $3,823,371 out of 
approximately $4,779,213 in total project costs.  The approximately $3.8 million in FTA funds for FY 
2018-2020 will be spent on Construction services (NAICS Codes 236220, 237110, 237130, 237310, 
and 238990) and planning services (NAICS Code 541330).  Fairfax County does not anticipate any new 
large scale or additional projects that require FTA grants arising in the next three years that would 
increase the estimated total project costs and FTA Grant amounts for FY 2018-2020.   
 

600

http://www.fairfaxcountyeda.org/services-small-minority-and-woman-owned-firms


 

5 
 

The following table delineates projects that are projected to be completed during FY 2018-2020.   
 

Project Number Total Project 
A t 

Federal Amount 
1400079-2012 $483,347 $386,678  
1400080-2012 $900,000 $720,000  
1400082-2012 $435,666 $348,533  
1400012-2006 (Frye Road – Phase II) $145,600 $116,480  
1400012-2006 (Lukens Lane) $560,000 $448,000  
1400012-2006 (Ladson Lane) $317,500 $254,000  
1400017-2006 (Mohawk) $450,000 $360,000  
1400017-2006 (Belford) $463,100 $370,480  
Transit Shelter Projects $1,024,000 $819,200 

TOTAL $4,779,213  $3,823,371 

 
According to proposed project timelines for initiating the above projects, the average annual fiscal year 
estimate for using FTA Grant funding is provided below. 
 

 NAICS Codes 237110, 237130, 237310, 
and 238990 

Fiscal Year 2018 $3.15 million 
Fiscal Year 2019 $1.63 million 
Fiscal Year 2020 $0 

TOTAL $4.78 million 
 

601



 

6 
 

 
Base Figure 
 
FCDOT has used the following formula to determine the base figure percentage of ready, willing, and 
able DBE firms for USDOT-Assisted projects: 
 
 
Base Figure = 

 
Numerator: Ready, Willing and Able DBE Firms (by category) 
Denominator: All Ready, Willing and Able Firms (by the same numerator 
category) 

 
Fairfax County does not certify firms as DBE's but utilizes databases maintained by the Commonwealth 
of Virginia Department of Small Business and Supplier Diversity (SBSD), and the Metropolitan 
Washington Airport Authority (MWAA), to determine which firms may be counted as DBEs.  The 
directories list the firm's name, address, and phone number and the type of work the firm has been 
certified to perform as a DBE. 
 
A substantial majority of the contracting dollars are spent in the local marketing area known as the 
Washington Metropolitan Area that is comprised of Washington D.C. and the larger counties and 
municipalities in Northern Virginia.  The table below identifies the NAICS codes that will be utilized 
by FCDOT over the next three years.  
 

NAICS Code 541330

NAICS CODE MEANING
Commercial and Institutional Building Construction

Water and Sewer Line and Related Structures Construction
Power and Communication Line and Related Structures Construction

Highway, Street, and Bridge Construction
All Other Specialty Trade Contractors

Engineering Services

NAICS Code 236220
NAICS Code  237110
NAICS Code 237130
NAICS Code 237310 
NAICS Code 238990

 
 
The following table summarizes the total number of all contractors and subcontractors located in 
Fairfax County’s local market area who would be available for FTA-assisted projects.  This information 
was extracted from the 2017 County Business Patterns (i.e., NAICS) database hosted by the census. 

602



 

7 
 

 
Jurisdictions NAICS Codes 

 Construction Planning 
237110 237130 237310 238990 236220 541330 

Alexandria City, VA 29 11 17 15 19 7 
Arlington, VA 40 8 9 8 4 4 
District of Columbia 37 47 68 41 36 24 
Fairfax City, VA 0 1 1 1 2 2 
Fairfax, VA 28 27 34 24 30 36 
Falls Church, VA 13 7 1 26 33 23 
Fredericksburg, VA 18 2 4 12 17 19 
Loudoun, VA 34 38 36 33 35 41 
Manassas City, VA 13 5 29 3 11 43 
Manassas Park, VA 18 6 8 5 9 6 
Prince William, VA 47 33 36 62 45 50 
Stafford, VA 3 5 5 3 4 41 
Sub-Total 280 190 248 233 245 296 
Total 1196 296 
 
The table below lists the number of certified DBE Firms with offices in the Washington Metropolitan 
Area.  FCDOT cross-referenced each directory to prevent double counting a particular DBE firm who is 
certified and registered by more than one agency. 
 

Jurisdictions NAICS Codes 

 
Construction Planning 

237110 237130 237310 238990 236220 541330 
Alexandria City, VA 2 2 3 3 6 3 
Arlington, VA 1 2 1 2 4 2 
District of Columbia 7 3 6 9 11 8 
Fairfax City, VA 1 2 1 0 1 1 
Fairfax, VA 27 31 26 25 34 39 
Falls Church, VA 3 1 1 2 1 2 
Fredericksburg, VA 4 3 2 5 2 2 
Loudoun, VA 11 9 8 13 11 10 
Manassas City, VA 2 1 0 3 2 5 
Manassas Park, VA 1 1 4 0 1 1 
Prince William, VA 11 12 14 17 15 10 
Stafford, VA 3 2 2 3 2 3 
Sub-Total 73 69 68 82 90 86 
Total 382 86 
 

603



 

8 
 

Step 1 – Base Goal Calculation 
 
To establish the DBE base goal, FCDOT consulted FTA guidance and the Virginia Department of 
Transportation (VDOT).  For FY 2015-2017, VDOT utilized a two-step approach to setting the DBE 
base goal.  FCDOT replicated this approach, the extent practicable, as follows: 
 
Pre-Qualification 

 
468 Ready, Willing, and able DBEs in the aforementioned NAICS codes   

 
 
= 31. 4% 
 

1492 Total Firms Ready, Willing, and Able in the aforementioned NAICS codes 
 

 
As a proxy for VDOT’s Work Capacity Value measure, which measures the total amount of 
outstanding work a contractor desires to have under construction at one time, FCDOT determined what 
percentage of current FCDOT work could be performed by certified DBE firms (i.e., FTA contracts) as 
a percentage of the work available.  The resulting percentage reflects maximum contracting 
opportunities of DBE firms.   
 
Value of Available DBE Work  

 
Current DBE Contracts = $9,000,000 

 
 
= 0.30% 
 

6-Year Budget Obligation = $3,000,000,000 
 

 
Step 1 Base Goal Results  
 
As a final step to determine the DBE base goal, FCDOT gives equal weight to each of the preceding 
measures to help identify the relative availability of and opportunities for DBEs with Fairfax County.  
 

Pre-Qualification (31.4%) X Work Capacity Value (.30%) / 2 = 15.8% 
 
Weighting 
 
To improve the accuracy of the DBE goal, FTA recommends a weighting strategy for each NAICS 
category.  The table below delineates calculations for weighting of the DBE firms and non-DBE firms 
in the Washington Metropolitan Area that FCDOT anticipates will be utilized over the next three years. 

604



 

9 

 

 
Weighting Calculations 
 

 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
236220 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
237110 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
237130 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
237310 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
541330 

% of 
Federal 
Funding 

NAICS 
Code 
238990 

TOTAL 

DBE  
Firms 

0.30% 90 0.30% 73 0.30% 69 0.30% 68 0.30% 86 0.30% 82 382 

All Firms  245  280  190  248  296  233 1196 

DBEs/ 
All Firms 

 0.37  0.26  0.36  0.27  0.29  0.35  

 
             

 
 0.11%  0.08%  0.11%  0.08%  0.09%  0.11% 0.57% 

   Step 1 Weighted Base Figure  0.57% 
 
 

Step 1 DBE Base Goal Results  
 
The final step for determining the base goal involves combining together the Step 1 Base Figure Results and the Weighted Base Figure.   
 
Step 1 Base Figure Results (15.8%) + Step 1 Weighted Base Figure (0.57%) = 16.4% 
 
 

 

605



 

10 

 

STEP TWO 
 
Additional factors were considered for adjusting the base DBE goal figure.  Two of the factors not 
utilized are discussed below:  
 

1 Disparity Studies:  No local disparity studies exist that provide any further insight into the 
number of ready, willing, and able DBEs or their use in transportation projects.  

2 Potential Capacity Increases: The data do not show any significant increase on an annual basis 
of DBEs or total firms in either the Construction or Engineering NAICS categories.   

 
Fairfax County did, however, consider past participation in FTA-assisted contracts to determine if 
further adjustment to the base DBE goal figure was necessary.  After reviewing participation data since 
2015, Fairfax County determined that it had achieved an unusually high level of DBE firm participation 
on FTA-supported contracts, due in large part to the small number of contracts bid and the fact that a 
certified DBE firm was selected as the prime contractor on one of those contracts.  Over the past three 
years, Fairfax County averaged 52.4% DBE participation, significantly higher than the 16.4% base 
goal.  Accordingly, Fairfax County determined that the results from the past three years were not 
representative of the relative availability of DBE firms in the local market.  See Appendix 1: Goal 
Calculation Worksheets  
 
Should contracting opportunities significantly change during the three-year period such that the 
submitted goal is rendered inconclusive, Fairfax County will appropriately review both the goal and 
DBE contracting practices to ensure the goal and program as a whole accurately reflects the actual 
contracting opportunities available during the specified time period. If necessary, Fairfax County then 
will submit adjustments to its DBE goal to the FTA for review and approval.  Otherwise, the County 
will submit its goal to FTA every three years. 
 
Race Conscious / Race Neutral Breakout 
 
Fairfax County’s goal is to facilitate a high level of participation of DBE firms in Fairfax County 
Department of Transportation (FCDOT) projects that are funded by FTA.  By examining the last three 
years of Race Neutral vs. Race Conscious participation, the County has calculated that it should be able 
to achieve 8.4% of the overall goal through race-neutral means for the County’s goal over the next three 
years.  The remaining 8.0% (16.4% - 8.4% = 8.0%) may be met by race-conscious project procurement 
opportunities. 
 
Fairfax County intends to meet the maximum feasible portion of its overall DBE goal by using a race-
neutral means of facilitating DBE participation.  Race-neutral efforts to include the minority business 
community in procurement opportunities will include identification and recruitment of minority firms 
to advertised procurement opportunities, teaming and networking events allowing minority firms to 
interact with potential project partners, and participation in association and trade organization events 
where Fairfax County projects can be highlighted.  DBE contractors will be encouraged to apply on all 
solicitations.  Fairfax County will coordinate with appropriate leadership of DBE firms to inform them 
when contract opportunities arise, and all solicitations and contracts will include a good-faith effort 
DBE goal as a race-neutral means to increase DBE participation. 
 
If these race neutral strategies do not prove effective in reaching the County’s 16.4% DBE goal, the 
County will implement race conscious contract goals.  Fairfax County will review the estimated 

606



 

11 
 

breakout of race-neutral and race-conscious DBE participation as needed to reflect actual DBE usage 
and will track the outcome of our efforts.  Race-conscious language regarding project procurement 
opportunities will be implemented on FTA-assisted contracts with subcontracting opportunities where 
appropriate.  If the race-neutral percentage is larger than estimated, the number of projects with race-
conscious contract language regarding project procurement opportunities will be adjusted. 

607



 

 

Appendix 1:  Goal Calculation Worksheets 
 
Step 1 - Determine the weight of each 
type of work by NAICS Code: 

    

  

NAICS 
Code 

Project 

Amount of 
DOT funds 
on project: 

% of total 
DOT 
funds 

(weight) 
  

1) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400079-2012 $561,200.00 0.1340 

  

2) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400080-2012 $785,840.00 0.1876 

  

3) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400082-2012 $308,000.00 0.0735 

  

4) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236223 

1400012-2006 (Frye 
Road – Phase II) $88,800.00 0.0212 

  

5) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236224 

1400012-2006 (Lukens 
Lane) $448,000.00 0.1069 

  

6) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236225 

1400012-2006 (Ladson 
Lane) $254,000.00 0.0606 

  

608



 

 

7) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236226 

1400017-2006 (Mohawk) $360,000.00 0.0859 

  

8) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400017-2006 (Belford) $392,000.00 0.0936 

  

9) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400039-2011 (Shelters) $591,200.00 0.1411 

  

18) 
541330 Engineering Services for 

Transportation Planning $400,000.00 0.0955 

  

  
Total FTA-Assisted Contract 
Funds $4,189,040.00 1.000 

  

 
    

  Step 2 - Determine the relative 
availability of DBE's by NAICS Code: 

  

    NAICS 
Code 

Project Number of 
DBEs 

available to 
perform this 

work 

Number of 
all firms 
available 
(including 

DBEs) 

Relative 
Availability 

 

1) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400079-2012 

382 1196 0.3194 

 

2) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400080-2012 

382 1196 0.3194 

 

609



 

 

3) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400082-2012 

382 1196 0.3194 

 

4) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236223 

1400012-2006 (Frye 
Road – Phase II) 

382 1196 0.3194 

 

5) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236224 

1400012-2006 (Lukens 
Lane) 

382 1196 0.3194 

 

6) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236225 

1400012-2006 (Ladson 
Lane) 

382 1196 0.3194 

 

7) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236226 

1400017-2006 (Mohawk) 

382 1196 0.3194 

 

8) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400017-2006 (Belford) 

382 1196 0.3194 

 

9) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400039-2011 (Shelters) 

382 1196 0.3194 

 

18) 
541330 Engineering Services for 

Transportation Planning 86 296 0.2905  

  Combined Totals 3524 11060 0.3186 
Overall 

availability of 
DBEs 

610



 

 

       
       Step 3 - (Weight) x (Availability) = 
Weighted Base Figure 

    

  
NAICS 
Code Project Weight x Availability 

Weighted 
Base Figure 

1)  

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400079-2012 

0.13397 x 0.31940 0.0428 

2) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400080-2012 

0.18759 x 0.31940 0.0599 

3) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400082-2012 

0.07353 x 0.31940 0.0235 

4) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236223 

1400012-2006 (Frye 
Road – Phase II) 

0.02120 x 0.31940 0.0068 

5) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236224 

1400012-2006 (Lukens 
Lane) 

0.10695 x 0.31940 0.0342 

6) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236225 

1400012-2006 (Ladson 
Lane) 

0.06063 x 0.31940 0.0194 

611



 

 

7) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236226 

1400017-2006 (Mohawk) 

0.08594 x 0.31940 0.0274 

8) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400017-2006 (Belford) 

0.09358 x 0.31940 0.0299 

9) 

237110, 
237130, 
237310, 
238990, 
236220 

1400039-2011 (Shelters) 

0.14113 x 0.31940 0.0451 

18) 
541330 Engineering Services for 

Transportation Planning 0.09549 x 0.29054 0.0277 

     
Total 0.3166 

     

Expressed 
as a % 
(*100) 15.83% 

     
    

     

Rounded, 
Weighted 
Base 
Figure: 16% 

 
 

612



 

 

Appendix 2:  Documentation of Consultation and Outreach 
 
Fairfax County Department of Procurement and Material Management, Supplier Diversity 
– Vendor Forum 
 

 
 

613



 

 

Northern Virginia Black Chamber of Commerce 
 

 
 
 
 

614



 

 

Greater Washington Hispanic Chamber of Commerce & Virginia Hispanic Chamber of 
Commerce 
 

 
 

615



 

 

 
Asian American Chamber of Commerce 
 

 
 

616



 

 

Appendix 3:  Proof of Publication 
 

 

617



 

 

 

618



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

CONSIDERATION - 1

Approval of the Proposed Amended Bylaws for the Fairfax County Architectural Review 
Board 

ISSUE:
Approval of amendments to the Bylaws for the Fairfax County Architectural Review 
Board (ARB).

TIMING:
Board consideration is requested on December 5, 2017 so the Bylaws can become 
effective, as amended. 

BACKGROUND:
The ARB approved proposed amendments to the ARB Bylaws at its October 12, 2017 
meeting. The ARB revised these Bylaws to bring them up-to-date with the Zoning 
Ordinance, to align them with county standards regarding the content of bylaws, and to 
reflect changes in current operations.

The principal amendments to the Bylaws are:
∑ revisions to the membership and term of office to reflect amended Zoning 

Ordinance requirements and standard ongoing practice; 
∑ clarification of duties of officers; 
∑ incorporation of Virginia Freedom of Information Act requirements; and
∑ requirement to prepare an Annual Report to the Board of Supervisors. 

The ARB Bylaws were originally adopted in April 2008 and approved by the Board in 
June 2008. 

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

619



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1: Fairfax County Architectural Review Board (ARB) Bylaws

STAFF:
Fred R. Selden, Director, Department of Planning and Zoning (DPZ) 
Marianne R. Gardner, Director, Planning Division (PD), DPZ 
Leanna H. O’Donnell, Branch Chief, Planning Division (PD), DPZ
Linda Cornish Blank, Planner IV, Policy and Plan Development Branch, PD, DPZ

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
Martin R. Desjardins, Assistant County Attorney, Office of the County Attorney

620



Attachment 1

FAIRFAX COUNTY 
ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD

BYLAWS

Date of Original Adoption: June 2008
Date of Revisions Adoption: XXX 2017

The Fairfax County Architectural Review Board adopts these Bylaws for its rules and 
procedures for the transaction of its business for the benefit and convenience of the citizens of 
Fairfax County ("County").

ARTICLE I.
NAME

The official name of this board is the Fairfax County Architectural Review Board 
hereinafter referred to as “ARB.”

ARTICLE II.
ORIGIN, AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE FOR THE ARB

2.1. Origin and Authority.  The ARB was authorized by vote of the Board of 
Supervisors of Fairfax County (“Board of Supervisors”) on November 22, 1967, to oversee and 
administer Fairfax County regulations concerning certain physical changes and uses within 
Historic Overlay Districts in Fairfax County as designated by the Board of Supervisors, and to 
assist the Board of Supervisors in its efforts to preserve and protect historic places and areas in 
the County, pursuant to Section 15.1-503.2 of the Code of Virginia (the current citation is Va. 
Code § 15.2-2306 (2012)), which authorized local governments to establish such historic districts 
and review boards.  The ARB was established as Part 3 of Article 19 of the Fairfax County 
Zoning Ordinance (the “Zoning Ordinance”); the Zoning Ordinance itself is Chapter 112 of the 
1976 Code of the County of Fairfax.  

2.2. Purpose of the Architectural Review Board Pursuant to Section 19-301 of the 
Zoning Ordinance, the purpose of the ARB is to administer the regulations of Historic Overlay 
Districts under Part 2 of Article 7 (Overlay District Regulations) of the Zoning Ordinance, and to 
advise and assist the Board of Supervisors in its efforts to preserve and protect historic, 
architectural, and archaeological resources in Fairfax County.  To carry out those purposes, the 
ARB has the following duties and powers pursuant to Section 19-307 of the Zoning Ordinance:

(a) In a Historic Overlay District, to hear and decide applications for building 
permits and sign or small cell facility permits as provided for in Section 7-
204 of the Zoning Ordinance.

621



2

(b) To review and make recommendations on all applications for rezoning, 
special permit, special exception and variance, and any site plan, 
subdivision plat, and grading plan in Historic Overlay Districts.

(c) To propose, as deemed appropriate, the establishment of additional 
Historic Overlay Districts and revisions to existing Historic Overlay 
Districts.

(d) To assist and advise the Board of Supervisors, the Fairfax County 
Planning Commission, and other County departments and agencies in 
matters involving historically, architecturally, culturally, or 
archaeologically significant sites and buildings such as appropriate land 
usage, parking facilities, and signs.

(e) To advise owners of historic buildings or structures on problems of 
preservation.

(f) To formulate recommendations concerning the establishment of an 
appropriate system of markers for Historic Overlay Districts and selected 
historic sites and buildings, including proposals for the installation and 
care of such markers.

(g) To cooperate with and enlist assistance from the Fairfax County History 
Commission, the Virginia Department of Historic Resources, the National 
Trust for Historic Preservation, and other interested parties, both public 
and private, in its efforts to preserve, restore, and conserve historic, 
cultural or archaeological buildings, sites, or areas in the County.

(h) To make available to the Fairfax County Library, on request, copies of 
reports, maps, drawings, and other documents bearing on the historical 
significance and architectural history of landmarks considered by or 
brought to the attention of the ARB, and permit copies thereof to be made 
for permanent keeping in the library’s historical collection. 

(i) To employ secretarial assistance and pay salaries, wages, and other 
incurred necessary expenses, pursuant to appropriations by the Board of 
Supervisors.

2.3. Purpose of Historic Overlay Districts.  At the time of adoption of these Bylaws, 
Fairfax County has thirteen (13) Historic Overlay Districts.  In addition, pursuant to a 
Memorandum of Agreement regarding the disposal of the Lorton Correctional Complex finalized 
June 28, 2001, the area identified as the National Register-eligible Historic District is subject to 
the jurisdiction of the ARB as if it were a Fairfax County designated historic overlay district.

622



3

As provided in Section 7-201 of the Zoning Ordinance, Historic Overlay Districts are 
specifically delineated general areas or individual structures and premises of the County that 
have been officially designated by the Board of Supervisors as having historical, cultural, 
architectural, or archaeological significance and which are created for the purpose of promoting
the general welfare, education, economic prosperity, and recreational pleasure of the public, 
through the identification, preservation, and enhancement of those buildings, structures, 
neighborhoods, landscapes, places, and areas.

Regulations within historic districts are intended to protect against destruction of or 
encroachment upon such areas, structures, and premises; to encourage uses which will lead to 
their continuance, conservation, and improvement in a manner appropriate to the preservation of 
the cultural, social, economic, political, architectural, or archaeological heritage of the County; to 
prevent creation of environmental influences adverse to such purposes; and to assure that new 
structures and uses within such districts will be in keeping with the character to be preserved and 
enhanced.  The historic overlay district regulations are intended to encourage uses that will lead 
to the continuance, conservation, and improvement of such significant areas, structures, and 
premises within the districts in accordance with the following purposes specified in Section 7-
201 of the Zoning Ordinance:

(a) To preserve and improve the quality of life for residents of the County by 
protecting and preserving familiar visual elements in the district.

(b) To promote tourism by protecting heritage resources attractive to visitors 
to the County and thereby supporting local business and industry.

(c) To promote the upkeep and rehabilitation of significant older structures 
and encourage appropriate land use planning and development that will 
enhance both the economic viability and historic character of the district.

(d) To educate residents of the County about the heritage resources within the 
district and to foster a sense of pride in this heritage.

(e) To foster local heritage resource identification and preservation efforts and 
to encourage the nomination by their owners of qualified properties for 
listing on the National Register of Historic Places and the Virginia 
Landmarks Register.

(f) To prevent, within the district, the encroachment of new buildings or 
structures, and additions or attachments, which are architecturally 
incongruous with the visual and historic character of the district.

(g) To ensure that new development within the district is appropriate and that 
new structures are well designed.

623



4

ARTICLE III.
MEMBERSHIP AND TERM OF OFFICE

3.1. Appointment of Members. Members of the ARB are appointed by vote of the 
Board of Supervisors in accordance with Section 19-303 of the Zoning Ordinance. The ARB 
shall be composed of eleven (11) voting Members who shall be residents of the County. Ten (10) 
of the Members shall be appointed by the Board of Supervisors as follows:

A. Two (2) licensed architects, at least one of whom must meet the Secretary of the 
Interior’s Professional Qualification Standards for Historic Architecture as published 
in 36 CFR Part 61.

B. One (1) licensed landscape architect.

C. One (1) lawyer who is an active member in good standing with the Virginia State Bar.

D. One (1) archaeologist who meets the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional 
Qualification Standards for Archaeology as published in 36 CFR Part 61.

E. One (1) historian who meets the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional Qualification 
Standards for History as published in 36 CFR Part 61 or one (1) architectural 
historian who meets the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional Qualification 
Standards for Architectural History as published in 36 CFR Part 61.

F. The other Members appointed by the Board of Supervisors shall be drawn from the 
ranks of related professional groups such as historians, architectural historians, 
architects, landscape architects, archaeologists, engineers, land-use planners, lawyers, 
and real estate brokers.

The eleventh Member shall be an ex officio Member from, and shall be chosen by, the 
Fairfax County History Commission, who shall be drawn from the ranks of related professional 
groups or who meets the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional Qualification Standards for one 
of the disciplines cited in A, D, or E.

3.2. Term of Office. Members shall serve for such term or terms as established by the 
Board of Supervisors. Members other than the Member from the History Commission, who is 
chosen by the History Commission, shall be appointed to serve for a term of three (3) years or 
until their successor has been appointed. Terms shall be staggered with three (3) Members
appointed every year except that four (4) Members shall be appointed every third year. An 
appointment to fill a vacancy shall be only for the unexpired portion of the term. Members may 
be reappointed to succeed themselves.  

3.3. Vacancies.  In the event a Member cannot serve or resigns from office, then the 
Chairperson, the Recording Secretary, or the County staff Administrator to the ARB shall advise 
the Clerk to the Board of Supervisors of the vacancy in writing. If a Member completes his or
her term of office, remains qualified to serve as a Member, and the Board of Supervisors has not 
reappointed that Member to another term or appointed a successor Member, then that person 

624



5

may continue to serve as a Member until such time as the Member is reappointed or a successor 
Member is appointed. 

ARTICLE IV.
OFFICERS AND DUTIES

4.1. Officers.  The ARB shall elect a Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, and Recording 
Secretary, and may elect a Treasurer.  Officers shall be elected by a majority vote of all voting 
Members.  Each term of office will be one-year, and officers may be elected to successive terms 
except as stated in Section 4.2.  A vacancy occurring during an officer’s term shall be filled in 
the same manner, but the replacement shall be elected only to serve the unexpired balance of the 
term. Prior to the election of any replacement officer, the Fairfax County Staff Administrator to 
the ARB will provide all Members with notice of the proposed election before the meeting at 
which the replacement is to be elected. The officers’ duties are as follows:

(a) Chairperson. The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings and decide all 
points of order and procedure, subject to these Bylaws, unless directed 
otherwise by a majority vote of the ARB Members properly in session at 
the time. As and to the extent stated in Article VIII below, the Chairperson
shall appoint all committees.

(b) Vice-Chairperson. The Vice-Chairperson shall serve as acting Chairperson
in the absence of the Chairperson, and at such times the Vice-Chairperson
shall have the same powers and duties as the Chairperson.

(c) Recording Secretary.  The Recording Secretary shall take minutes of the 
ARB meetings. The Recording Secretary shall record accurately all 
motions made and voted upon, and have the minutes distributed through 
the Fairfax County ARB Staff Administrator to Members of the ARB no 
later than one week prior to the next meeting. The Recording Secretary 
need not be a Member of the ARB.  

(d) Treasurer.  If the ARB chooses to elect a Treasurer, the Treasurer shall 
advise membership and County staff, as required, on the ARB budget and 
expenditure of funds. 

4.2.      Term Limitations. No Member shall serve as Chairperson for more than four (4) 
consecutive one-year terms.  

4.3. Terms and Elections.  Terms for officers shall begin in January of each calendar 
year.  Election of officers for the succeeding calendar year shall take place no later than the 
regular December meeting of the ARB.

625



6

ARTICLE V.
MEETINGS AND VOTING

5.1. Meetings.  The ARB shall have regular monthly meetings on the second Thursday 
of each month at 6:30 p.m. at the Fairfax County Government Center or at such other time and/or 
place designated by the ARB, and shall have such other special meetings from time to time at the 
times and places designated by the Chairperson of the ARB. The ARB may change the time and 
place of regular monthly meetings as it deems appropriate. The Fairfax County ARB Staff 
Administrator shall notify all Members of the ARB of the time and place of any special meetings 
at least five (5) days in advance of the meeting. All meetings shall be conducted in accordance 
with the Virginia Freedom of Information Act, Virginia Code §§ 2.2-3700 through -3714, as 
amended (“VFOIA”), and except for closed sessions, all meetings shall be open to the public. 
Pursuant to Virginia Code § 2.2-3701, “meeting” or “meetings” means the meetings including 
work sessions, when sitting physically, or through telephonic or video equipment pursuant to 
§ 2.2-3708 or § 2.2-3708.1, as a body or entity, or as an informal assemblage of as many as three 
members of the constituent membership, wherever held, with or without minutes being taken, 
whether or not votes are cast, of any public body.

The Fairfax County ARB Staff Administrator shall give at least three (3) working days’ 
prior public notice of the date, time, and location of its meetings in accordance with Virginia 
Code § 2.2-3707. Notice, reasonable under the circumstances of special or emergency meetings, 
shall be given by the Fairfax County ARB Staff Administrator contemporaneously with the 
notice provided to Members of the ARB. Notice of all meetings shall be provided to the Office 
of Public Affairs for posting at the Government Center and on the County Internet site. Also, 
notices for all meetings shall be placed at a prominent public location by the Fairfax County 
ARB Staff Administrator. All meetings shall be conducted in places that are accessible to 
persons with disabilities, and all meetings shall be conducted in public buildings whenever 
practical. 

At any meeting, at least one copy of the agenda and, unless exempt under the VFOIA, all 
materials furnished to Members of the ARB shall be made available for public inspection at the 
same time such documents are furnished to the Members. Any person may photograph, film, 
record, or otherwise reproduce any portion of a meeting required to be open, but no person 
broadcasting, photographing, filming or recording any open meeting may interfere with any of 
the proceedings. 

Minutes of all regular and special meetings of the ARB shall be approved by majority 
vote of the voting Members present. The minutes shall include: (1) the date, time, and location of 
each meeting; (2) the Members present and absent; (3) a summary of the discussion on matters 
proposed, deliberated, or decided; and (4) a record of any votes taken. Such minutes are public 
records and subject to inspection and copying by citizens of the Commonwealth or by members 
of the news media.  

5.2. Quorum.  A quorum of six (6) voting Members present is required for 
consideration of any matter.

626



7

5.3. Voting.  Any action taken shall require the affirmative vote of a majority of the 
voting Members present during consideration of a properly called matter. All votes of Members 
shall be taken during a public meeting, and no vote shall be taken by secret or written ballot or 
proxy. All voting Members who are present at the meeting, including the Chairperson, may vote 
at any meeting. 

5.4. Expenditures. All expenditures shall be in furtherance of the purposes of the 
ARB, and shall include costs of training and education of the Members as approved by the ARB.  
No expenditure shall inure to the private interest of any Member. No expenditure of ARB funds 
shall be made without prior approval of the ARB. 

5.5. Conflicts of Interest. A Member shall exempt himself or herself from taking part 
in the hearing, consideration, or determination of any matter before the ARB in which the 
Member has a personal interest such that he or she is disqualified from participation under the 
Virginia Conflicts of Interest Act (“COIA”), including but not limited to § 2.2-3112 of the COIA 
addressing prohibited conduct, or that would qualify as a conflict of interest as defined in any 
rule, regulation, or guideline of the Virginia Department of Historic Resources or of the National 
Park Service.  

5.6. Attendance at Meetings.  Members are expected to attend all regular and special 
meetings of the ARB unless excused.  The determination of an excused absence for valid reason 
shall be made by the Chairperson, subject to review by the full ARB for an appeal of a 
determination by the Chairperson that a Member’s absence is not excused. 

5.7. Conduct of Meetings.  

(a) Order of Meeting:  The order of business at regular meetings shall be as 
follows:

1. Determination of quorum
2. Declaration of purpose of the ARB
3. Approval of agenda
4. Consent Agenda items requiring board action
5. Application or other Agenda items requiring ARB action
6. Workshop sessions with prospective applicants
7. Other items, such as:

∑ Treasurer’s Report
∑ Staff Report
∑ Other

8. Adjourn

(b) Consideration of Applications:  Applicants or other interested persons may 
appear in person or by agent at the meeting.  The order of business for 
consideration of applications for action by the ARB shall be as follows:
1. The Chairperson, or such person as she or he shall direct, shall give 

a preliminary statement concerning the application;

627



8

2. The applicant may present statements in support of his or her 
application;

3. Members of the public other than the applicant either in favor or
opposed to granting the application may present statements 
concerning the application;

4. Statements or arguments submitted by any official, commission, or 
department of the County of Fairfax, any state agency, or any local 
historical, preservation or neighborhood association shall be 
presented as directed by the Chairperson;

5. ARB Members, including the Chairperson, may discuss the 
application;

6. An ARB Member, other than the Chairperson, may introduce a 
motion.  The names of the ARB Members making and seconding 
motions shall be recorded.

7. The ARB may, in its discretion, view the premises and obtain 
additional facts concerning any application before arriving at a 
decision.  

8. In the event that facts other than those presented at a meeting at 
which an application has been considered are relied upon to 
support a decision, such facts shall be stated for the record.

9. Decisions of the ARB may be accompanied by such conditions 
and/or recommendations as may be reasonable under the 
circumstances to effectuate the purposes of the Zoning Ordinance.

10. Procedures may be modified by the ARB. 

ARTICLE VI.
RULES GOVERNING ACTIONS OF THE BOARD

The ARB is governed by the following:

6.1. Ordinances/Regulations.  The ARB shall be governed by the Zoning Ordinance, 
specifically as applicable to Historic Overlay Districts and generally by Historic District 
Guidelines adopted from time to time for each historic overlay district pursuant to the Zoning 
Ordinance, by other applicable provisions of the 1976 Code of the County of Fairfax, Virginia,
and by the Code of Virginia.

628



9

6.2. Rules of Procedure. Procedural matters of the ARB, including the rules for 
conducting public meetings of the ARB, which are not otherwise governed by these By-Laws, 
ordinance, regulation, or statute, shall be carried out in accordance with Roberts Rules of Order, 
Newly Revised. Except as specifically authorized by the VFOIA, no meeting shall be conducted 
through telephonic, video, electronic, or other communication means where the Members are not 
all physically assembled to discuss or transact public business. 

ARTICLE VII.
GENERAL PRINCIPLES GOVERNING DECISIONS

Subject to the terms of Article VI, in making its decisions the ARB will consider all 
standards, criteria, and considerations required under Section 7-204 of the Fairfax Zoning 
Ordinance, guidelines established for specific historic overlay districts, and the following factors 
and general principles as applicable to particular applications:

7.1. Factors Considered:  

(a) The historical or architectural value and significance of a building or 
structure and its relationship to or congruity with the historic value of the 
land, place, or area in the historic area upon which it is proposed to be 
located, constructed, reconstructed, altered, or repaired.

(b) The appropriateness of the exterior architectural features of such building 
or structure to such land, place, or area and its relationship to or congruity 
with the exterior architectural features of other land, places, areas, 
buildings, or structures in the historic area and environs.

(c) The general exterior design, arrangement, textures, materials, planting,
and color proposed to be used in the location, construction, alteration, or 
repair of the building, structure, or improvement, and the types of 
windows, exterior doors, lights, landscaping, and parking viewed from a 
public street, public way, or other public place and their relationship to or 
congruity with the other factors to be considered by the ARB.

7.2. Principles:  Keeping in mind the purposes and objectives of the Historic Overlay 
Districts and the above-stated factors, decisions of the ARB are governed by the following 
general principles:

(a) Architectural Variety: The beauty of a district depends upon contrast, 
complexity, and variety, rather than upon uniformity.

(b) Architectural Integrity: Because buildings vary widely, what is 
appropriate for one building may be inappropriate for another. The ARB 
treats each building as having its own integrity and, thus, gives each 
building individual consideration.

629



10

(c) Preservation: Preservation of historically significant features within an 
historic overly district is a goal of the ARB, under the following 
guidelines:

1. Every reasonable effort shall be made to provide a compatible use 
for a property which requires minimal alteration of the building, 
structure, or site and its environment, or to use a property for its 
originally intended purpose.

2. The distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, 
structure, or site and its environment shall not be destroyed. The 
removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive 
architectural features should be avoided when possible.

3. All buildings, structures, and sites shall be recognized as products 
of their own time. Alterations that have no historical basis and 
which seek to create an earlier appearance shall be discouraged.

4. Changes which may have taken place over the course of time are 
evidence of the history and development of a building, structure, or 
site and its environment. These changes may have acquired 
significance in their own right, and this significance shall be 
recognized and respected.

5. Distinctive stylistic features or examples of skilled craftsmanship 
which characterize a building, structure, or site shall be treated 
with sensitivity.

6. Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than 
replaced, wherever possible. In the event replacement is 
necessary, the new material should match the material being 
replaced in composition, design, color, texture, and other visual 
qualities. Repair or replacement of missing architectural features 
should be based on accurate duplications of features, substantiated 
by historic, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on 
conjectural designs or the availability of different architectural 
elements from other buildings or structures.

7. The surface cleaning of structures shall be undertaken with the 
gentlest means possible. Sandblasting and other cleaning methods 
that will damage the historic building materials shall not be 
undertaken.

8. Every reasonable effort shall be made to protect and preserve 
archaeological resources affected by, or adjacent, to any project.

630



11

9. Contemporary design for alterations and additions to existing 
properties shall not be discouraged when such alterations and 
additions do not destroy significant historical, architectural, or 
cultural material, and such design is compatible with the size, 
scale, color, material, and character of the property, neighborhood,
or environment.

10. Wherever possible, new additions or alterations to structures shall 
be done in such a manner that if such additions or alterations were 
to be removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the 
structure would be unimpaired.

(d) Improvement: The goal of the ARB is to approve design, materials, and 
construction techniques that improve a property, rather than diminishing 
its character or value.

(e) Architectural Congruity: The ARB oversees districts rather than simply 
individual structures and therefore seeks to preserve, improve, and 
encourage harmonious visual relationships among the buildings within 
each district. The ARB stresses the role that design elements play in 
making buildings within a given area harmonize, including but not limited 
to consideration of the following design elements:

Scale 
Fenestration (window size, number, style, and arrangement) 
Roof pitch 
Proportions of building 
Placement and shape of entrance 
Detailing 
Color 
Materials 
Set backs

ARTICLE VIII.
COMMITTEES

All Committees shall be appointed by the Chairperson, except the Nominating 
Committee which shall be appointed by majority vote of the Members. The ARB may establish 
as many committees as may be required to perform its function. All meetings of any committees 
shall comply with the notice and other requirements of the VFOIA, as per paragraph 5.1 above. 
To the extent practicable, any such committees shall be composed of at least four Members. 

8.1. Purposes and Establishment of Committees.  Committees may be established to 
investigate any matters before the ARB, as determined by a majority vote of the ARB.

8.2. Nominating Committee.  The Nominating Committee shall meet in November of 

631



12

each year to nominate a slate of officers in preparation of the December election.

8.3. Bylaws Committee.  The Bylaws Committee shall ensure that the Bylaws are 
current and shall recommend amendments when changes are appropriate.

ARTICLE IX.
ANNUAL REPORT

The ARB shall prepare an annual written report to the Board of Supervisors that 
describes the actions and activities conducted in the previous year and any plans and/or 
recommendations for future action and activities. The Chairperson shall provide the report to the 
Clerk to the Board of Supervisors for distribution to the members of the Board of Supervisors 
and to the County Executive. 

ARTICLE X.
COMPLIANCE WITH LAW AND COUNTY POLICY 

The ARB and its Members shall comply with all Virginia laws, including, but not limited 
to, the VFOIA and COIA, with all County ordinances, and with all County policies concerning 
the activities of its boards, authorities, and commissions. 

ARTICLE XI.
AMENDMENTS TO BYLAWS

These Bylaws may be amended at any regular meeting of the ARB by a two-thirds 
majority vote by those Members present and voting, provided notice of the proposed amendment 
has been given to Members at the previous regular meeting or has been mailed to Members at 
least ten days prior to the meeting. Upon approval of any bylaws amendments by the ARB, the 
bylaws shall be submitted to the Board of Supervisors for its approval. 

ARTICLE XII.
DISSOLUTION

In the event of dissolution of the ARB, all remaining assets derived from County funding 
after payment of all obligations shall be returned to Fairfax County Government. No funds shall 
inure to the benefit of any individual Member of the ARB. 

632



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

CONSIDERATION – 2

Proffer Interpretation Appeal Associated with The Reserve at Tysons Corner Related to 
Proffers Accepted for RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008

ISSUE:
Board consideration of an appeal of a proffer interpretation that determined Proffer 49 of 
RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008 remains in effect, but is not enforceable against a property not 
included in the subject rezoning.

TIMING:
Board deferred decision only at the October 24, 2017 Board meeting until November 21, 
2017; at which time it was deferred until December 5, 2018.  

BACKGROUND:
On December 22, 2016, the Department of Planning and Zoning (DPZ) received a 
request for an interpretation of the proffers associated with RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008, a 
land use application that permitted the development of a residential community now 
referred to as “The Reserve at Tysons Corner” (hereinafter the “Reserve Property”). In 
this request, The Reserve at Tysons Corner Association, Inc., as the owners 
association, requested an interpretation regarding whether the proffers accepted in 
RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008 created a continuing obligation to provide offsite parking on an 
adjacent property (the “Meridian Property”), which was not subject to the proffers 
accepted with RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008. (See Zoning Determination in Attachment 1). 

The Reserve Property and the Meridian Property were originally part of a single,
33.74-acre parcel zoned to the I-P District (now I-3) under RZ 75-7-004. In 2003, two 
concurrent applications were submitted to develop a portion of the property with 
residential development. One application, PCA 75-7-004-02, was submitted and 
approved to delete 19.04 acres from RZ 75-7-004. The other application, 
RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008, proposed to rezone the same 19.04 acres of land to the PDH-30 
District. On March 15, 2004, the Board approved PCA 75-7-004-02 first, thereby 
deleting the 19.04-acre parcel, now the Reserve Property, from the original proffered 
conditions. On the same day, the Board then approved RZ 2008-PR-003. See Clerk’s 
March 15, 2004, Board summary, Attachment 2 (describing the approval as an 
“[a]mendment of the Zoning Ordinance, as it applies to the property which is the subject 

633



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

of Rezoning Application RZ 2003-PR-008, from the I-3 and HC Districts to the PDH-30 
and HC Districts, subject to the proffers dated March 14, 2004”).

The Reserve Property consists of 570 homes – 478 apartments owned by Simpson 
Property Group, LP and 92 townhomes which are owned individually and governed by
the Townhouse at the Reserve Homeowners Association, Inc. It is located on the east 
side of Kidwell Drive, south of Leesburg Pike, west of Interstate 495 and south of 
Science Applications Court. Although it still shared the same tax map number as the 
Meridian Property at the time of the Reserve Property rezoning (RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008), 
it was separated, for zoning purposes, upon the Board’s approval of PCA 75-7-004-02. 
It is now identified as Tax Map Nos. 39-2((56)) A1, B3, 1-92, 39-2((1)) 13A5 and A6. 

The Meridian Property (Tax Map Nos. 39-2((1)) 13D and 13E), is currently owned by 
Tysons Enterprise West, LLC, and Tysons Enterprise East, LLC, and is developed with 
two existing office/data center buildings and a surface parking lot.

Proffer 49, the proffer at issue in this appeal, was approved in connection with the 
Reserve Property rezoning (RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008). It envisioned the provision of 
150 overflow parking spaces on the Meridian Property. Proffer 49 states:

Prior to the approval of the final site plan on the Application Property, the 
Applicant shall provide evidence that a parking agreement is in place with 
the owners of the adjacent I-3 parcel identified as Tax Map 39-2 ((1)) part 
13, permitting overflow parking from the Application Property to utilize 
parking facilities on the I-3 parcel. A minimum of 150 overflow parking 
spaces shall be available to all residents of the Application Property during 
non-business hours on weekdays (after 6:00 pm) and on weekends. This 
parking agreement shall be recorded in the land records of Fairfax County. 

The “adjacent I-3 parcel” referenced in this proffer is the Meridian Property, which 
was not included in RZ 2003-PR-008. In fact, by referring to it as “the adjacent I-3 
parcel,” the proffer language makes clear that the Meridian Property was not part 
of the Application property subject to Proffer 49.

Zoning Determination

The Meridian Property recently obtained approval of PCA 75-7-003-3 and 
SE 2015-PR-021, which allow for redevelopment of the property, in part, with a full-size 
athletic field and parking garage. Because of the proposed redevelopment, the prior
owner of the Meridian Property notified the Appellant in December of 2016 of its intent 
to terminate the parking agreement under the terms of a Declaration of Covenants 

634



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

recorded in 2005. The Appellant submitted its proffer interpretation request to ask 
whether the Meridian Property is entitled to terminate the 150 offsite parking spaces in 
light of Proffer 49.

On May 30, 2017, the Zoning Evaluation Division (ZED) issued a determination letter in 
response to the Appellant’s proffer interpretation request. Staff determined that, at the 
time of site plan approval, the Reserve Property demonstrated compliance with Proffer 
49 by providing a copy of the Declaration of Covenants, Restrictions and Easements 
recorded on January 28, 2005 in Deed Book 16927 at Page 2195, which provided that 
the Meridian Property owner would provide to the Reserve Property owner the right to 
use 150 overflow parking spaces. The determination letter stated that the accepted 
proffers become part of the Zoning map for the property subject to the rezoning only, in 
this case the Reserve Property, and are not enforceable against an off-site property, in 
this case the Meridian Property. In addition, while the Meridian Property was included in 
a concurrent, but separate application (PCA 75-7-004-02), a proffer requiring provision 
of this parking was not included in proffers pertaining to that land area. Staff determined 
that Proffer 49 remains in effect for the Reserve Property and can be removed only 
through a Proffered Condition Amendment (PCA) approved by the Board of 
Supervisors.  

The subject appeal was filed with the Board of Supervisors on June 29, 2017, by Lucia 
Anna Trigiani, agent for the Reserve, in the name of The Reserve at Tysons Corner 
Association, Inc. (“Association” and “Appellant”) (See Attachment 3). The justification for 
the filing of the appeal alleges the following:

The Appellant is an aggrieved party and thus entitled to appeal the Zoning 
Determination regarding the proffers relating to RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008, because:

1. The Zoning Determination renders the Reserve Property in non-compliance with 
Proffer 49 through no fault of the Association or any of the members or residents 
who reside at the Reserve Property, and with no means of recourse or redress.1

2. Members of the Association and residents of the Reserve Property bear 
significant hardship without access to the overflow parking.

3. The resulting non-compliance and lack of adequate parking have negative 
impacts on property values and the ability to sell property in the Reserve 
Property.

1 Emphasis added by appellant.

635



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

For the reasons that follow, these allegations do not establish that the Appellant is 
aggrieved by the Zoning Determination.

Discussion

The Board’s authority to accept proffered conditions arises from Virginia Code
§§ 15.2-2296 and 15.2-2303, under the development scheme known as conditional 
zoning. The Virginia Code defines “conditional zoning,” when part of classifying land
within a locality into areas and districts by legislative action, as “the allowing of 
reasonable conditions governing the use of such property.” Va. Code § 15. 2-2201 
(emphasis added). Once the Board approves a rezoning subject to proffered conditions, 
the proffers become a part of the zoning regulations applicable to the property in 
question. Zoning Ordinance § 18-204(3). Any development of the property in question
must then be in substantial conformance with the proffered conditions. Zoning 
Ordinance § 18-204(4). Once proffered and accepted as part of an amendment, such 
conditions shall continue in effect until a subsequent amendment changes the zoning on 
the property covered by the conditions. Va. Code § 15.2-2303(A). The only way to 
impose (or enforce) proffered conditions on a property not subject to the original 
rezoning is by applying for an amendment. Zoning Ordinance § 18-204(6). The Meridian 
Property was not part of RZ 2003-PR-008, nor has the Board approved a proffered 
condition amendment to include the Meridian Property.

An applicant attempting to appeal a proffer determination to the Board must 
demonstrate that it is “aggrieved” by that determination.  Va. Code § 15.2-2301; see
Zoning Ordinance § 18-204 (10). For the reasons discussed below, the Appellant has 
not demonstrated that it is aggrieved by the Zoning Determination.

The Appellant has available means of redress.

For the reasons discussed above, Proffer 49 only applies to the Reserve Property. It 
required the demonstration of the provision of at least 150 overflow off-site parking 
spaces on the Meridian Property, which was to be secured via a parking agreement to 
be recorded in the land records prior to site plan approval. This private agreement was 
recorded in Deed Book 16927 at Page 2195, as required, and the proffer was noted as 
met for the purposes of site plan approval. The County has no legal authority to enforce 
Proffer 49 against the Meridian Property owner, and it also cannot enforce the 
provisions of a private agreement to which it was not a party. 

The Zoning Determination does not render the property in noncompliance with Proffer 
49 “with no means of recourse or redress,” however. To the contrary, it plainly states 
that the Appellant may seek to amend the proffered conditions to delete the overflow 
parking requirement (notably, no enforcement action has been taken or even threatened 

636



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

against the Appellant due to its noncompliance). Alternatively, the Appellant could also 
take private legal action against the Meridian Property owner to restore the offsite 
parking spaces, if necessary, or it could seek to, renegotiate a parking agreement with 
the Meridian Property owner.

The Reserve Property has Adequate Parking

The Appellant asserts in its second claim that it’s left with inadequate parking. The Staff 
Report and Addendum prepared in conjunction with RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008, however,
make no reference to the need for overflow parking. Rather, those documents state that 
“parking will be provided via structured parking within and/or adjacent to each of the 
multi-family buildings as well as on each single-family attached lot with additional visitor 
parking on the streets. Single-family attached units which are front-loaded will have 
driveways a minimum of 18 feet long2.” Additionally, Sheet 2 of 13 of the approved 
CDP/FDP for RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008 demonstrates how adequate parking will be 
provided in accordance with Article 11 of the Zoning Ordinance in effect at the time of 
approval and in fact, the approved site as built for both The Reserve at Tysons Corner 
Townhomes (2481-SAB-002-1) and Multi-Family (2481-SAB-005-2) demonstrate that 
an excess of parking was provided on-site (total of 1,088 provided versus 997 spaces 
required). This excess parking does not include the 150 off-site overflow spaces. Based 
on this documentation, it appears that excess parking is already provided on the 
Reserve Property.

Impact on Property Values is Irrelevant to Zoning Determination

Finally, the Appellant contends that its non-compliance and lack of adequate parking 
have negative impacts on property values and the ability to sell property in the Reserve.
Fiscal impacts are not taken into consideration during the staff’s review of proffer 
language in response to a request for a determination. For the reasons described 
above, the Appellant may exercise various means of recourse to come into compliance 
with Proffer 49. It also has excess parking spaces onsite and could seek to renegotiate 
a new parking agreement with the Meridian Property for additional off-site parking.

Summary

The Zoning Determination properly concluded that accepted proffers become part of the 
Zoning map for the property subject to the rezoning only and are not enforceable 

2 See Page 18 of Staff Report Applications RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008 (concurrent with application PCA 75-7-004-2) dated 
September 4, 2003 in Attachment 4.

637



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

against an offsite property. Proffer 49 is therefore unenforceable against the Meridian 
Property. Accordingly, and for the reasons stated above, staff requests that the Board of 
Supervisors uphold staff’s determinations in the May 30, 2017, letter.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1: Zoning Determination, dated May 30, 2017
Attachment 2:  March 15, 2004, Clerk’s Board Summary 
Attachment 3:  Letter dated June 28, 2017, to Clerk of the Fairfax County; Notice of 

Appeal of Zoning Determination for RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008 The Reserve 
at Tysons Corner

STAFF:
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive
Fred R. Selden, Director, Department of Planning and Zoning (DPZ)
Leslie Johnson, Zoning Administrator, DPZ
Tracy Strunk, Director, Zoning Evaluation Division (ZED), DPZ   
Suzanne Wright, Chief, Special Projects/Applications/Management Branch, ZED, DPZ
Kelly M. Atkinson, Sr. Staff Coordinator, ZED, DPZ

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
Laura S. Gori, Senior Assistant County Attorney

638



County of Fairfax, Virginia
To protect and enrich the quality of life for the people, neighborhoods and diverse communities of Fairfax County

JUN 23 2017

MercerTrigiani LLP

Re: Interpretation for RZIFDP 2003-PR-008; The Reserve at Tysons Corner; Tax Map Numbers
39-2 ((56)) Al, 83, l-92,39-2 (1)) 13A5 and A6: Parking Obligation

Dear Ms. Trigiani:

This determination is in response to your letter of December 22,2016, requesting an interpretation
of the proffers, as well as the approved development conditions and Conceptual/Final
Development Plan (C/FDP), accepted and approved in conjunction with the above-referenced
application. As I understand it, you are requesting an interpretation of proffer language relating to
parking on an adjacent offsite parcel. Specifically, your request concerns whether the proffers
accepted in RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008 create a continuing obligation to provide offsite parking on an
adjacent property (aka the "Meridian Property"). This determination is based upon your letter
dated December 22,2016, and Exhibit 1, entitled "Proffers R22003-PR-008" dated
March 14,2004. Copies of this letter and exhibits are attached.

The subject property is located on the east side of Kidwell Drive, south of Leesburg Pike, west of
Interstate 495 and south of Science Applications Court. The property is zoned PDH-30 pursuant to
the approval of RZ 2003-PR-008 by the Board of Supervisors on March 15,2004, with the
Planning Commission approving FDP 2003-PR-008 on April 7, 2004, subject to proffers and
development conditions. These applications permitted development of the property with 92 single-
family attached and 478 multi-family dwelling units.

Prior to the approval of RZIFDP 2003-PR-008, the subject property was part of a larger 33.74-acre
property identified as Tax Map Number 39-2 ((1)) Parcel 13. This larger property was originally
zoned to the I-P District (now I-3) pursuant to the approval of RZ 75-7-004 by the Board of
Supervisors on October 29,1975, subject to proffers. In 2003, two concurrent applications were
submitted by Lincoln Property Company Southwest, Inc., in order to develop a portion of this
overall property with the residential development described above. PCA75-7-004-02 was
submitted and approved on the entire 33 .7 4 acres in order to delete 19 .04 acres from RZ 7 5-7 -004.
RZIFDP 2003-PR-008 was then approved, subject to proffers, to rezone that same 19.04 acres of
land to the PDH-30 District. As the property included in all these applications was under single
ownership, the proffers for both applications were signed by the same owner, Campus Point Realty
Corporation II. The profler at issue, however, was approved only in connection with the rezoning

30,2017

Lucia Anna Trigiani, Esq.
MercerTrigiani
112 South Alfred Street
Alexandria,YA22314

Excellence * Innovation * Stewardship
Integrity * Teamwork* Public Service

Department of Planning and Zoning
Zoning Evaluation Divis ion

12055 Government Center Parkway, Suite 801
Fairfax, Virginia 22035-5 509

Phone 703 324-1290
FAX 703 324-3924

www. fairfaxcounty. gov/dpzl

al'!E!.ttrtPrlxmrq
lzollrxo

Attachment 1

639



Lucia Anna Trigiani
Page2

of the 19.04-acre parcel. Subsequent to the approval of RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008, the property subject
to RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008 was subdivided from the larger property via approved site plans and
record plats.

The proffer at issue with your current request is Proffer 49 of RZ 2003-PR-008, which envisioned
the provision of 150 overflow parking spaces on the Meridian Property. Proffer 49 states:

Prior to the approval of the final site plan on the Application Propertyt, the Applicant
shall provide evidence that a parking agreement is in place with the owners of the
adjacent I-3 parcel identified as Tax Map 39-2 ((l)) part 13, permitting overflow parking
from the Application Property to utilize parkingfacilities on the I-3 parcel. A minimum of
150 overflow parking spaces shall be available to all residents of the Application
Property during non-business hours on weekdays (after 6:00 pm) and on weekends. This
parking agreement shall be recorded in the land records of Fairfax County.

It appears, through submitted plans for the subject property, that compliance with Proffer 49 was
demonstrated to Fairfax County through the recordation of a parking agreement in the land records
of Fairfax County. You state that you believe the Declaration of Covenants, Restrictions and
Easements recorded on January 28,2005 in Deed Book 16927 at Page 2195 inthe Fairfax County
land records is the document meant to satisff Proffer 49-specifically, Section 12.17 of the
Declaration of Covenants, Restrictions and Easements as it relates to Overflow Parking Spaces.

The 150 overflow parking spaces were to be located offsite from the 19.04 acres zoned PDH-30,
on the portion which retained its I-3 zoning - the Meridian Property (Tax Map Numbers 39-2 ((1))
13D and 13E), which is currently owned by Tysons Enterprise West LLC and Tyson Enterprise
East LLC, and is developed with two existing offrce/data center buildings and surface parking. In
accordance with PCA 75-7-003-3 and SE 2015-PR-02l,the Meridian Property will be
redeveloped, in part, with a full-size athletic field and parking garage. You now state that the
Reserve at Tysons Comer Association Board has been notified that the prior owner of the
Meridian Property seeks to terminate the parking agreement with the Association.

In accordance with Section 18-201 of the Zoning Ordinance ("Ordinance"), Board of Supervisors
approval of a rezoning application constitutes a pennanent (unless further amended) amendment to
the Zoning Map. Further, per Section 18-204, any proffered conditions submitted as part of the
rezoning application and accepted by the Board of Supervisors become "part of the zoning
regulations applicable to the subject property in question, unless subsequently changed by an
amendment to the Zorung Map." Therefore, an approved rezoning and accepted proffers become a
part of the Zoningmap only for the subject property included in the application, in this case the
19.04 acres described in the application for RZlf'DP 2003-PR-008. Proffer 49 was a commitment

1 Proffer #1 associated with RZ 2003-PR-008 states that "Development of the Applicotion Property shalt be in
substantial conformonce with the Conceptual/Finol Development Plqn (CDP/FDP) prepared by VIKA lncorporated,
consisting of thirteen (1j) sheets doted Jonuary 77, 2003 os revised through Morch 71, 2004..." As shown on Sheet 2

ofthe CDP/FDP, the portion ofthe property rezoned to the PDH-30 District per RZ 2003-PR-008 contains 19.04 acres,
which is the Application Property referenced in Proffer 49. Please refer to Appendix 1 depicting the 19.04 acres
subject to Rz 2003-PR-008, which is from the staff Report published as part of this rezoning application.

Attachment 1

640



Lucia Anna Trigianr
Page 3

that required the demonstration of the provision of at least 150 overflow parking spaces on the
offsite Meridian Property, which was to be secured via a parking agreement to be recorded in the
land records. As noted above, this agreement was recorded in Deed Book 16927 at Page 2195 prior
to the approval of the site plan, as required.

Proffer 49 specifically required that the overflow parking spaces on an offsite parcel were to be
implemented by a private agreement. As noted above, accepted proffers become part of the Zoning
map for the property subject to the rezoning only and are not enforceable against an offsite
property. By referring to the Meridian Property as the "adjacent I-3 parcel," the proffer language
makes clear that that property was not part of the Application property subject to the proffer.

Based on the foregoing, it is my determination that Proffer 49 remains in effect for the 19.04 acres
included in RZ 2003-PR-008. Although Proffer 49 remains in effect, a proffer violation cannot be

enforced on Meridian because the proffer does not apply to them. The proffer can be removed only
through a Proffered Condition Amendment (PCA) application approved by the Board of
Supervisors. Information on how to apply for a PCA can be found on our website at:
http : //www. tairfaxcounty. gov/dpilzoning/applications/.

The determination has been made in my capacity as duly authorized agent of the Zoning
Administrator and address only those issues discussed herein and not any separately recorded
private agreements. If you have any questions regarding this interpretation, please feel free to
contact Kelly M. Atkinson at (703) 324-1290.

Sincerely,

tLt'*^1-
Zoning Evaluation Division, DPZ

N:\Interpretations\Reserve At Tysons Comer RZ 2003-PR-008U0 l7-02 -22 Proffer Interpretation Response - Reserve
At Tysons Comer RZ 2003-PR-008.Doc

Auachments: A/S

Cc: Linda Smyth, Supervisor, Providence District
Phillip Niedzielski-Eichner, Planning Commissioner, Providence District
Laura Gori, Esq., Assistant County Attomey, Office of the County Attorney
Diane Johnson-Quinn, Deputy ZoningAdministrator, Permit Review Branch, ZAD,DPZ
Ellie Codding, Acting Director, Code Development and Compliance Division, LDS
Ken Williams, Manager, Site and Technical Services, LDS
Michael Davis, Section Chief for Site Analysis, DOT
Suzanne Wright, Chief, Special Projects/Applications Management Branch, ZED,DPZ
Tysons Enterprise West, LLC, Owner, Tax il./lap39-2 ((l)) 13D
Tyson Enterprise East, LLC, Owner, Tax Map 39-2 (l)) 13E
File: RZ 2003-PR-008, PCA 75-7-004-03 and SE 2015-PR-021, PI 17 01 001, Imaging

Attachment 1

641



MERCERTRIGIANI
Lucia Anna Trigiani
Pia.Trigiani@MercerTrigiani.com Direcl Dial: 703-837-5008

Direct Fax: 703-837-5018

December 22,2016

OVERNIGHT MAIL

Barbara C. Berlin
Director of the ZoningEvaluation
Division Department of planning and Zoning
12055 Government Center parkway, Suite g01

Fairfax, Virginia 22035

RE: Proffer RZ 2003-PR-008 dated March t4,2OO4

Dear Ms. Berlin:

This firm represents The Reserve at Tysons Corner Association, Inc. ("Association").
The Association Board of Directors ("Association Board") has requested our assistance in
submitting this interpretation request to you for consideraiion and response.

Background

The Association is a Virginia nonstock corporation responsible for the operation and
administration of property located in Fairfax Counly, Virginia known as The RJserve at Tysons
Corner ("Reserve Property',).

The Reserve Property is subject to a Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions
and Reservations of Easements recorded on March 24,2}06in Deed Book 1g3i 1 at page 1041
among the Fairfax County land records ("Land Records") and amended by the First Amendment
to Declaration of Covenants, Restrictions and Reservation of Easements recorded on August 27,
2008 in Deed Book 20085 at Page 425 amongthe Land Records (as arnended, the,.Master
Declaration"). A copy of the Declaration is enclosed behind Exhibit l.

The Reserve Property is also subject to Declaration of Covenants, Restrictions and
Easements ("SAIC Declaration") which was recorded on January 28,ZOO5 in Deed Book 16927
at Page 2195 by Campus Point Realty Corporation ("Campus"), which presumably owned the
Reserve Property at that time - prior to creation of the asiociaiion. Thi Reserve Froperty is
referred to as Parcel l in the SAIC Declaration. A copy of the SAiC Declaration is enclosed
behind Exhibit 2.

The SAIC Declaration also encumbers property located imrnediately north of the Reserve
Property (on the north side of Science Applicaiions Court) - referred to as parcel2 in the SAIC
Declaration ("Meridian Property''), which is owned o. *u, recently owned by the Meridian

112 South Alfred Street . Alexandria,yirginia2ZsL4
telephone: (703) 837-5000 . fax: (703) 837-5001 EXHIBIT

f1www. MercerTrigiani.com

Attachment 1

642



M ERCERTR]GIANI
Barbara C. Berlin
December 22,2016
Page2

Group or its affiliates. The Meridian Property is in the process of being redeveloped into a
project we believe is referred to as Tysons Technologlt Center. the Merldian property, or a
portion thereof, is currently under contract or has sold to another party as of the date of this
letter. To our knowledge, the Meridian Property, as subdivided, consists of property identified as
Tax Map Numbers 039-01-0013D and 039-2-01-0013E.

We also believe that the Meridian Property is subject to development conditions imposed
by Fairfax County pursuant to Proffers RZ 2003-PR-008 dated March 1q, ZOO| (..Conditions,,) -referred to as the Application Property therein. A copy of the Conditions is enclosed behind
Exhibit 3. Number 49 of the Conditions provides:

Prior to approval of the final site plan on the Application Property, the Applicant
shall provide evidence that a parking arrangement is in placi with the owiers of
the adjacent I-3 parcel identified as Tax Map 39-2 ((l)) part 13, permitting
overflow parking from the Application Property to utilize parking facilitiei on the
I -3 parcel. A minimum of 1 50 overflow parking spaces shall be available to all
residents of the Application Property during non-business hours on weekdays
(after 6:00 p.m.) and on weekends. This parking agreement shalt be recoriled in
the land records of Fairfax County.

The foregoing condition requires the owner of the Meridian Property to make available to
residents of the Reserve Property a minirnum of 150 "overflow'i purking spaces on the Meridian
Property. We are unaware of this condition being subsequently amendcd. The condition is
unqualiJied in terms of its pennanency.

Section 12.17 of the SAIC Declaration contemplates the overflow parking requirement,
presumably in response to Number 49 of the Conditions. Section 12.17 provides:

The Parcel 2 Owner shall provide to the Parcel I Owner, for the benefit of the
residents of Parcel l, the right to use a minimum of t 50 parking spaces on Parcel
2 during non-business hours on weekdays (i.e. after 6:00 p.m.)-oid on weekends
("overflow Parking"). Prior to the sale or rentar of thefirst housing units on
Parcel l, the Parcel I Owner or the Master Association shall establish, subject to
the reasonable approval of the Parcel 2 Owner, reasonable rules and reguiations
for the use of the Overflow Parking. The Master Association (or, beforithere is a
Master Association, the parcel I owner) shail enforce such rules aid
regulations. If the Parcel I Owner of the Master Association, as applicabte,faits
to establish and/or enforce sttch rules and regulations, in addition to dny oth-er
remedies that may be available to it, the Parcel 2 Owner shall have the rtght to
terminate the Parcel I Owner's right to ttse the Overjlow Parking by sending a
notice to the Parcel I Owner and, if the Parcel 2 Owner so elects, r,ecordin[ the
same in the land records.

Attachment 1

643



MESEERTRIGTANT
Barbara C. Berlin
December 22,2076
Page 3

However, unlike Condition 49, the language in Section 12.17 is quatified in that it provides that
the Parcel 2 owner (the owner of the Meridian Property) 

"un 
unilot"iolly terminate the overflow

parking alrangement if rules and regulations are not promulgated within a certain time frame.t

Less than two weeks ago, in conjunction with the sale of the Meridian property, Meridian
presented the Association Board with a copy of a Parking Agreement for execution
conternplating reduced parking (under the 150 required parklg spaces) during construction on
the Meridian Property, as well as a right of the owner of the rtairiiian propert! to unilateraily
terminate the Parking Agreement (and the right of the Association to park on ihe Meridian
Property) with 30 days' prior written notice.

Because the Association will not execute the Parking Agreement in substantially the fonn
presented to the Association Board, counsel for Meridia., yot"rduy advised that Meridian will
now terminate the right of the Association residents to use the oveiflow parking on the Meridian
Property pursuant to the termination language contained in 12.17 of the SAIC Declaration. The
Board anticipates this letter will be receivedshortly.

We believe that termination of the right of Res"*" rrop".ty residents to overflow
parking on the Meridian Property is in direct contravention of the requirement that Meridian
1ak9 at least 150 parking spaces available to ruch ."sid"nts pursuant to Number 49 of the

9^:_:9tt]:.rt, 
which although establishes limitations on such parking, does not contemplate

tennlnatlon.

Incluirv

With the foregoing context, the Association Board respectfully requests the following
question be answered:

Is the owner of the Meridian Property entitled to terminate the right of individuals
residing on the Reserve Property to 150 over/low parking spaces on the Meridian
Property under Number 49 of the Conditions?

In conjunction with this question, thc Association Board requests, pursuant to the
Freedom of Infonnation Act, copies of all documents in Fairfax County's possession pertinent to
these inquiries which are not included with this corrcspondence. please advise whether therc is a
cost associated with providing copies of these documents.

I Tht Mu't", Declaration also makes reference to this overflow parking, although it is not so qualihed. Specifically,Article XIV, Section 8 provides: The Property is benefiued by t'he rigii to the ise of the ,,oviry/low parking,, asdescribed in Section I 2. l7 of the SAIC Dictaiarion. It is expressly igreed thar the )ssociation is empowered to acton behalf of all Lot Owners with respect to the rtse and maiirenai"e-oyttrc overJlow parking and any dealings inconnection therewith the owner of the land on which such overJlow iarking is located. The Association shall havethe right to promulSale fi'om time to time antl enforce reasonable, non-disc-riminalory rules and regulations witltrespect to rhe use of such over/low parking by tlze Lot owners and Resiclents.

Attachment 1

644



,t

MEEMETEitrimi
Barbara C. Seriin
December 22,2016
Page4

.Should you have any questiong please contact r4e directly- Your consideration of this
matter is greatly appreciated.

LAT/jlr
Enolosures . Exhibits L,2,3 and 4 and Application Feecc: Supervisor Linda Smyth

The Reserve at Tysons corner Asssciation,Inc. Board ofDirectors
#131072

Sineerely,

%
Lucia Anna Trigiani

Attachment 1

645



LINCOIN PROPERTY COMPAI\TY SOI'TITWEST INC.

PROtr'FER.S

R22003-PR-008

Merch 14,2004

Pursuant to Section 15.2-2303(a), Code of Virginia 1950 as amcndd and zubject to the
Board of Supervisors approving a rezoning to the PDH-30 District for property idelrtified as Tax
Map 39-2 ((1)) pa* 13 ftereinaftsr refLrred to as the "Application Proped/), Lineoln Property
Company Southwest" Inc., the Applicant in RZ 2003-PR-008 proffels for &e olvnef,E,
themselves, and their successors and assigns the following conditions. In the cvc,nt that this
Application is approved, any previous proffers for the Application Property are hercby deemed
null and void and hereafter shall have no effect on the Application Property.

Development Plan

l. Developmgat of thc Application Propcrty shall bc iu zubstantial conformancc with the
Concepttral PlrylFinal Dwelopment Plao (CDPIFDP) prepared by MKA Incorporatd
consisting of thirteeo (13) sheets dated January 17, 2003 as rsvised through March t t,
2004, which CDP/FDP proposes a maxirnum of 570 dwelling mits (including aOUg,
with a maximun of 92 singtg famity attached dwellingp and 4Zg multi-family dwelling
r.rnits. With the developme,rt of 570 dwelling rrnits, there will bc a minimgm of 30
affordable dwelling units provide4 based on compliance with Section 2-800 of the
Zoning Ordinance. If fewer numbef of market ratc units are builq a proportionately
fewer nunber of ADUs will be provided. The Generalized Devclop-mc,nt plan for
companion application PCA 75-7-004-2 is showu on Sheets 4 and 5.

Secondary uses shall be limited to unmanned bank teller machincs, swimmiqg pool and
associatei facilities, fitness cent€trs, basketball half-court/racquetball court/sports cotut,
businesJtelecomnruting cent€rs, video/entertainmelrt ceoters, leasing offices,
recreationaUcommrnity roouts, outdoor recreational uses, and other accessory uscs

2. Notrritbstanding that the CDP/FDP is presented on thirtecn (13) sheca and said
CDPIFDP is the subject of Proffer I above, it shnll be understood thrt the CDP sball be
the cntire plan shown on Sheets 2 and 3, relative to the points of acccss, the maximrrm
number and type of dwelling units, the amouat of open space, the general location and
arrangernent of b-uildings and parking, and the peripheral setbacks. Thc Applicant or
successoN have the option to request a FDPA for elements other than the CDP elements
from the planning Qsmmississ for all of or a portion of the CDP/FDP iu accordance with
the provisions set'forth itr Sestion 16402 of the Taning Ordinancc, if in conformance
with the approved CDP and pro rs.

3. Pursuant to Paragraph 4 of Section 1G403 of the Zoning Ordinance, minor modifications
from the CDPIFDP may be p€lmitt€d as determined by 1fog Zoning Adminisftatorr. Thc

EXHIBIT
!nt,A o(\

vtrntano{6n

Attachment 1

646



PROFFEItS
RZ 2003-PR-008
Page? .

Applicant or successors shall have the flexibility to modi$ the layouts showu on Sheets 2
and 3 of the CDP/FDP without requiring ap,proval of an ameirded CDp/fiDp providcd
zuch changes are in subskntial conformance with the CDPIEDP as determined by thc
Deparhe,lrt of Planning and Zoning (DPZ:) and do not incease the numbcr of dwelli4g
units, decrease the amount of ope,n space, oi decrease the setback fr,om the peripberies.

4. Advanced d*ly credit shall be reserved a{i may be permittcd by thc provisions of
Paragraph 5 of Section 2-3Og of th9 Fairfax Couuty Zo*eOraio-* fir Af etgible
dedications de.scriH herein, iucluding road dedications, park dedications auA school
dedications, or .aTay be required by Fairfax County or Virginia Departue,nt of
Transportation ('\IDOT") at the time of site plan approvat.

Owner Associations

5. Prior to the iszuance of the first Residelrtial Use Perrmit ('RIJP) on the Applicatiou
Propcrty, the.Applicaat shall establish an Umbrella Oumcrs Association CtIbA) in
accordance with Virginia law. Indivialual homeowner associations and/or condomini,m
owners associations (TIOA/COAs') shall be formed for various arcas of thc Application
Property in accordanc: *ith Virginia law. Each HOA/COA aod rental component shall
be a me,nrbcr of the UOA with voting rights based on the numbcr of dwelling rmits within
eacb- Thc respective UOA aud HOA/COA docume,nts shall qpecify thc-mainteirance
obligations as may be ouflined iu these proffers and as may bc 

"gt""d,rpoo 
betrween the

IIOA/COAs aad rental compolrmts.

Transoortation

6. At the timc of sitc plan 4proval or upon demand by Fairfa:r ft*ty, whichsvcr sball
occur first, thc Applicaut shalt dedicate aad convey in fec simplj to tb€ Board of
Supervisors right-of-way along the Applicatiou Property's Galio*s Road frontage
measuring a mliTtrm of seve,nty-four (7a) feet from &e existing centcrline as shown on
shest 3 0fthe cDP/rDP.

Townhouse units fronting on Gallows Road shall be set back a minimum of 15 fect from
the dedicated right-of way. Initial purchasers of the tonmhousce along Gallows Road
shall be advised in writing prior to eirtering into a contract of salc that Galbws Road is
planned to bc wide,ned in the future.

7. At the t'me of site plan approval, th,e Annlicant shall escrow thc cost of constnrcting a
future right-tum deceleration lane aloug the Gallows Road frontage of thc Appucati-on
Ptoperty, in an amotmt to b€ determined by Deparhent of public Wortrs anrl
Environmental Servicos ('DPWES'). The escrow sha[ include thc cost of relocating if
detemnined n@es_s€ry, the underground utilities oristing at the time of rezoning ,ppri".f
which include a fiber optic line and water easement This new turn lane is aud'Apatca to

VFNIANN{AO

Attachment 1

647



U
PROFFERS
RZ 2003-PR-008
Page 3

be needed at nrch time as the erdsting right-tunx deceleration lane becomes a futurc
throug! lane ou Gallows Road.

The Applicant shall constnrct exteirsions of the ocisting left turn lanes on northbound
Gallows Road at the Merry Oaks Lane intersection aod southbouod Gallows Road at
Scie,lrce Applications Court within the existing right-of-way as may bc approved by
DPWES and VDOT. Such Entensions, if permittd shall be complaed fror to the
issuance of the l00th Residential Use Permit (RIJP) for the Application prceqty.

Science Applications e,ourt shall re,urain a private sheet. Comme,nsuratc with
development of the Application Prope,rty, the Applicaot shall construct improve,me,nts to
Science Applications Court on a new alignment as showu on the CDP/FDP. Thc Scie,lrce
Applications Court approach to Gallows Road shall accommodate two laoes entcring and
threc lancs exiting thc Application Property

Prior 
1o 

site plan approval" the Applicant shall perform a warrant analysis to det€,rtrlitrc if
a trafrc sipal is warranted at the intersection of Gallows Rqad and MaAriUon Road- If
the study shows a signal is warranted now or will be warrauted with the build-out of the
Application Property, the Applicant shall escrow the sum of $25,000 with DPWES at the
time of first site plan aprproval towards the design and installation of said trafEc signal at
the intersection of Gallows Road and Madrillon Road. .If the signal hns uot teen instaUa
within five (5) years of the date of the rezoning approval, the esstowed amormt shall be
redirected to the Providence District Trails Fund.

The Applicant shall providc one (1) bus shelter along its Gallows road frontagc with
specific locatiou determined by WIvIATA. The bus shelter shall be the gpical opeo t1/pc
and thc installation shall be limited to the concrete pa( the shelter its€lf and 

" 
t rsh 

"m"No bus tum outs or qpecial lanes shall be provided by the Applicmt If, by the time of
final bond releasg WMATA has not determined the oract location of thc bus sbelter, the
Applicant shall escrow the amount of $20,000 with DPWES for thc installation of a bus
sheltcr by others in the future. Ouce installe4 the bus sheltcr and trash can shall bc
maintained by the Ap'plication Property's uoa Initial prrchasers shell bc advised in
,witing prior to eatering into a con&act of sale that the UOA shall be responsible for the
maintenance of the bus shelter. The UOA/IIOA/COA documents shall specify that thc
UOA is responsible for the maint66sncc of the bus shelts.

At the time of final site plan approva! the Applicant shall escrou, the amount of $2O000
with DPWES for the installation of a bus sheltcr by others along the southbountl fr,ontaga
of Gallows Road in the vicinity of the Merry Oaks kne intersection, with thc specific
location det€rmined by WMATA I{, by the time of final bond releasc, WUete has not
dctermined the exact location of the bus shelter, the $20,000 escrow shall bc redirectcd to
DPWES for ftmding of another shelter elsewhere in the Dunn loring/Tysons C,omer area

At the time of site plan approval, the Applicant shall dedicatc in fec simple to the Board
of Supervisors rig[t-of-way along the Applicatiou Propert/s I*495 frontagc measgring 25

vFntano{7n

8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

Attachment 1

648



PROFFEF'S
RZ 2003-PR-008
Page 4'

feet from the existing right-of-way as shown on Sheet 3 of the CDp/FDp. The Aprplicant
shall provide 

_ancillary utility and grading easemeirts to a width det€rminod UV fmOf
provided VDOT reconstnrcts any permanent irnproveme,lrts and landscapmg iirtur*a
with use of the ease,ment Subject to approval of a licorsing agreement *itn f"irfax
CounEt, the Applicant shall maintain and have &e usage of the dedicated area for open
spase until such time as constnrction of thc I49S improve,me,lrts coElmcncc.

13. The use ofmass harlsit, ride-sharing and other tansportatiou s6ategies shall be utitized to
reduce single occupancy vehicrrlar (SOV) taffic from the ApptiJation property druing
peak hours by a minimum of 20 percent ofth" tips generatea Goming to the Institutc of
Transportation Engineers GIE) Trip Generation Manual, 66 Edition The hansportation
deinand management CmM") plan shall consist of at least two Irvel 3 fpU if.r"*t"
as ouflined in Attachm€Nil A and- as lefined by Fairfan Couuty D€parh€ot of
Transportation ('FCDOT") for residqrtial commrmities, in orde; to achisve thc
equivale'tt IogI4 @latinum) prograln status. Te,nants aod pgrchasers shall be advised of
this transportation statery developme,lrt proffer.

The Applicant shall designate an individual(t) to.{ as the Transportation Coordinator(s)
whose responsibility shdl be to impleme,nt the TDh,Is iu coordiriation with the FCDOT.
The transportation strategies management position may bc a part of other duties assigned
to thc in0ivi{uals).^p:_ryTortation manage,ment srategi"r shall be implerre,ntedifter
issuance of the 200' RUP for the Application Proecrry: Strategies ,h"[ io"lrd" th"
following:

A. Providing amenities for biclrle storage;
B. Providiry a telecommuting centcr'for all reside,lrts'usc with the potc,ntial for

upgnding to T-l or similar secure lincs;
C. Providing internet connections in all dwelling units to facilitate working at home;D. Providing a concierge service/ceirtal uca where residerrts can rrarrge .-t"in

se,nrices such as dry cleening/pharmacyt groctry deliveries;
E. Sidewalksystemr designed to encourage/facilitate pedestrian circulation; andF- Participation in a shuttle ser'ice as outlincd in pnoffer 14.

Strategies may include the following:

A. Participation in the Fairfar( Couty Ride Share program;
B. Dissemination of Ridesharing informatioo in rkiaential leasc

packages;
and purchase

C. Making rideshariug diqplay mrys and forms available to in each multi-farnily
building;
Providing Metro checks with reirtal contracts;
Instituting a '?referred Employed' program for sAIc otreriug reduced
application fees, reduccd deposits, and other ince,ntives to encotrr4ge sArc
e,mployees to live on the Application propatlt

D.
E.

vFnlann{7.1

Attachment 1

649



(,

PROFFER*S
R.z2003-PR-008
Page 5

F. Impleme,nting a comprehe,lrsive Ozone Action Days program;
G. Developing a web pagc for residsnts of the Application Propcrty describing and

updating information oa TDM strategies and services; and
H. Any other strategies fouod to be effective in reducing the numbcr sf single-

occupancy vehicle tips, mutually agreed upon by the Applicant aod FCDOT.

The Tranqportatioa Coordinator may work with adjacent homeowner associatious to
develop aud share carpool, vanpool and other ride shariog informatiou

The Applicant shall notiff FCDOT of the date that the TDM stategies are implemented.
One year after the TDM strategies a6 imple,me,rated the Applicant shall conduct s survey
of residents, visitors and e,mployees to determine thq traosportation characteristics of
building tenants and employees. This survey will form thc basis of the on-going
tansportation maDageme,lrt program

Annually thereafter, the Transportation Coordinator shall conduct a multi-modal
traosPortation qplit survey of the residents to demonstrate whethcr the goal of reducing
SOV trips by 20 perce,nt has bee,lr met during peak ho1rs. The Transportation
Coordinator shall pre,pare an annual repofi, in coordination with,.and for rcview aDd
approval of the FCDOT, which shall iaclude the results of the sufl/ey and asscss the

. success of the TDM strategies in reaching the stated gqal and recomme,nd adjusments in
TDM strategics.

If the annual multi-modal transpoilation split surve),s indicate that a reduction of SOV
trips by 20 perce, t has not occurrd $40.00 per occupied dwelling unit shall be
conbibuted annually to a TDM firnd for thc Apptcation Property until $rch timc as thc
reduction has occrrred The TDM fund shall be used by the Traosportation Coordinator
to imple'rnent existing or new strategies to reduce SOV trips during peak hours. Thc
tenns of this proffer with regard to contributing to a TDM ftmd shatl expire fiftee,n (lS)
years after the last RUP is issued.

14. The Applicaut shall provide a shuttle budvan service from the Application Property to
the Dunn Lo.ing Metro Station and other offi.cc campuscs within T)rsons Corncr: Thc
Applicant may provide this shuttle service in concert with an odsting shuttle scrvicc
provided Qy the adjacent I-3 properfy and may sbare ia the cost of operation The shuttle
service shall be provided to meet peak hour dernand aud shall, at s minimmu, operate ou
weekdays (orcept for federal holidap) for tbree hours during the moraing peak and three
horus duiag the evening peak. The shuttle ssryice shall commc,lrce prior to thc
occupancy of &e 200th RUP on the Applicatiou Property and shall operate for at l'east
three years following thc issuance of thc last RUP. Cost of thc shuttlo servica shall be
borne by the UOA. Initisl purchascrs shall be advised in writing prior to entering into a
contract of sale tbat the UOA wilt firnd the cost of operatiag thc shuttle. The
UOA/IIOA/COA documents shall expressly state that the Ube snaU U responsible for
operation of the shuttle. If it is determined by the Applicaot that de,mand for the shuttlc
senrice does not warraut continuation, the Applicant may elect to cease operation.

vtrr)laon{72

Attachment 1

650



PROFFER,S
RZ 2003-PR-008
Page 6.

15.

However, the Applicant shall provide ninety (90) days advance writte,o notification to
resideirts of the Application Pr,operfy and FCDOT of the planned cessatiou of shuttle
se,lrrice. In addition, if FCDOT detsrmines that the shuttle serrrice iut€rf€rcs with the
public bus sernice and notifies Applicant of sa-e, the Applicant shall cease operation of
thc shuttle serrrice upon ninety (90) dap advance writte,lr notification to reside,lrts,

All private streets shall be consEucted with materials and depth of pave,ment consistc,rt
with public street standards in accordsrce with the Public Facilitics Manlal, as
iletermined by DPWES. The Aprplicant and subsequenrt UOA/IIOA/COAs shall bc
responsible for the mainteirancc of all private streets. Initial purchasers shall bc advised
in writing prior to entering into a contact of sale that the UOA/IIOA/COAs wiu be
responsible for the mainte,nance of the private steets. The UOA/IIOA/COA docum€,nts
shell sr(plessly state that the iodividual HOA/COA. or re,ntal componeirt shall be
responsible for the maintenance of the private streeG serning that entity,s dwelopmc,nt
area

The Applicant shall make a cash contibutution to a firnd administered by the FCDOT to
be used toward rlaons Comer Area tansportatiou implovemeirts. Thc emount of the
contibutiou shall be in keeping with the policy and formula adopted by the Board of
Supervisors at thc time of ttre approval gf the rezoning (anticipaicd to bc $23a.00 pe"
dws[ling). Using the rezoning approval date as the base date, this cash conEibution shall
be adjusted accordingly to thc constmction cost indor as published in the Engineertng
Nev's Record. The contribution shall bc paid in trr,o 

"q,r"t 
(2) instaltnelrts;-trc n"rt

installme' t to be paid at thc issuance of the first RUp; 1tr61sm"iiiqg instalm; shall be
paid trnelve (12) months later, but no later than finnl bond release.

Thc Ap'plicat shall install appropriate warning signagc and/or marke,ls on thc cast side of
Gallows Road as determined byYDOT, advising motorists of the qrrvc in Gallows Road
irnmediately north of Scie,nce Applications Court. If by the time of final bond release for
thc Application Property, \IDOT has not determined what signcrs or markers would bc
appropriate, the Applicant's obligation under this proffcr stall be null and void.

To increase pedestriau safety crossrng Gallows Road at Scie,lrce Applications Cour! the
Applicant shall make the following improve,ments zubject to \rDor qproval:

A. Wide,n the existing concrete median locatcd on the northcm Gallows Road
approach to a width of six (O feet to provide for a pedestriau refugc; This shall
bc accomplished by shifting the Gallows Road curbing along tUi apptcation
Froperty's frontage.

B. Re-paint the pedestian crossralk.

C. Install a new pedestrian signal that cormts down the time available to cross the
road.

D. Work with rfDOT to e,lrsure adequate crossing rims.

16.

t7.

18.

:iai -*:..lru.r"s

vFnlann{7?

Attachment 1

651



PROTFERS
RZ 2003+R-008
PaeeT

,0

Install 'bo tunr on red while pedestians are present" signage on the Gallows
Road northein approach and on Merry Oak Lane's eastbound ap,p,roach to the
intersection.

19. The Applicant shall constntct a secondary exuergency only access point onto Gallows
Road as showa on the CDP/TDP, commensurate with developme,lrt of thc toumhouse
section. This access shall be coustnrcted of grasscete, ritter rings or other similu
materials and shall be chained at the property line so tbat it is used only in emergency
situations.

Archit ectuaylandscapine D gtails

20. The architectural design of the multi-family buildings and townhomes shall be in
substantial conformance with the ge,neral character of the elevations shou on Shest 13.
The Applicant reserves &e right to refine the elevations as a result of final architectural
design, so long as the character and quality of desigu re,marns consistenrt with those
shown. The tonmhouses shall be a ma:rimum of threc stories above grade with au
additional op.-tig"d loft incorporated into the roof stnrcture (maximum building height of
45 fect). Building matcrials may include one or more of the following: brick, *o"", p*
cast concrete, sirlin& stucco (excluding dryvit or othcr similar qathetic stucco material)
and glass. Building facades will be predominantly masonry. The fagade of the pa*ing
stnrcture associated with Building 2 shall be predominantly either masonry or pre-cast
c,oncrete.

A copy of the arshilectural plans shall be submitted to the Providc,uce Disfict ptanning
Commissioner for review aud commeot prior to final site plan app'roval. At the ti-e oi
each submission of the final site plan to &e Cotmgr, a copy of the zubmission shall be
provided to the Providense District plnnning Commissioner for review and comment.

21. A landscape plan shall be submitted as part of the first and all subsequent submissions of
the site plan and shall be coordiuated with and approved by the Urtan Forestcr. This
plan shall be in substantial conformance with the laadscape conce,pts plau as to quantity
and quality of plantiugs, and in geueial 'conformancc with thc location of plautingn as
shown ou Sheets 6. The Applicant shall work with the Urban Forestc,r to select plant
specics that in addition to mecting other landscaping requiremcnts such as durability,
availability and aesthetics, also aid in the maintenaacc of air quality. I"ocation of
plantrngs may be modified based on utility location, sight distancc ease,meots, and final
e,Bgiueering details as apptoved by the Urtan Forestcr, but shall be consistent in the
number aad tpe of plantingp

22, The design details showu on Sheets 6, 8, 9 and l0 submitted with the CDp/IiDp illustratc
the design inteot and overall community organization of the proposed developmcat.
Landscaping and ou-site ame,oities shall be substautially consistc,nt in terms of character
and quantity with the illushations and details presented on these sheets. Specific featues

vtrntann{7,

Attachment 1

652



PROEFER"S
Rz 2003-PR-008
Page 8.

such as exact locations of plantings, pedestian lig[ting sidewalks to individual uni6, etc.
are subject to modification with final engineering and architectual design Landscaping
and on-site ame,uities shall include

a- A landscaped enbry feafur€ to be provided on site to inolude an entrance
monument and/or signagq omamental tecs aad shrubs;

b. Installation of steetscape elem€,uts and plantings along the Application
Propertt's Gallows Road frontage as shown on Sheets 6 and 10 of thc
CDP/FDP. A planting strip a rninimum of six (O fect in width *h"ll be
provided betweeir the future curb of Gallows Road anticip*ed with
constmction of an additional lane and the prorposcd asphalt trail. Strect
trces on the east side of the trail shall be planted at twice the deirsity as
street treqs in the planting strip west of the tail, as shown on Shest l0 of
the CDP/FDP. strea trees shall be a minimum of three-inch caliper at the
time of plauting. Trees located within vDor rigfuts+f-way axc subject
to \I/DOT ap,prroval.

c. Installatiotr of streetscape eleme,nts aad plantings along the south side of
Scie,nce Application Court as shown ou Shest 9 of the CDplEDp.

i'ffi fiHH%ff F"Tilffiffi ,il*:#HHgtr;HH
pedestrian pathways, speciatized laudscaping, seatiqg areas, md
pedestrian ughting and shau be available for usc by all residents of the
ApplicationProperfy.

e. Landscaped courtyards withh the multi family guildings 2 and 3 as
shown ou sheet 6 and detailed on sheet 8 of thc cDp/ItDp. These
courtyards shall incorporate a courgrard walk, special paving areas with
seating or picaic ,rnga!i, a mixture of deciduous, evergrcen and omamc,ntal
plantings, and a lawn panel. Each courtlnrd m&y vary in design detail and
a"nenities.

SidewalUTrails

23. The Applicant shall provide sidcwalks on both sides of Scie,nce Applications Court and
throughout the Application Property linking $uildings as shourn on Shest 6 of the
CDP/FDP. Such construction shall occur comme,nsuratc with the darelopmc,lrt of each
section of the Application Property. In addition, the Applicaot strall construct a minimunr
five (5) foot wide aqphalt trail around the stormwater manage,melrt pond and betrrecn thc
I-495 frontage and the proposed parking garage as shorm on thc CDP/FDP. Trail
construction shall occlu concurreotly with the consEuction of the stormwater
managememtponds.

vtrr.ttann{75

Attachment 1

653



PROFFERS
RZ 2003-PR-008
Page 9

24. The Applicaot shall constuct an eight (8) foot wide asphalt tail urithitr the dedicated
rig[t-of way aloug the Gallows Road frontage as shown on Shects 6 and l0 of the
CDP/T|DP.

Environme,lrt

25. All outdoor Ughting fixtures shall be in accordancc wi& the Pe,rformance Standards
contained in Part 9 (Outdoor Lighting Standards) of Articlc 14 of the Zoning ffiinance.
Fixtures used to illucrinate residential streets, parking areas aod walkrrays shall not
orceed twenty (20) feet in height, shall be of low intensity desig and shall utilize full
cut-off fixtures which shall focus directty on the Application moperty. All upper lwel
parking deck lighting fixtures shall not exceed the heigfut of the parapca wa[. tighting on
the lower level of parking decks shall be iDstalled between the ceiling beams io ruao""
glare.

To prevent parking deck lighting imfacts on T1reons Executive Village, the southern
fagade of the parking deck located adjace,nt to 1495 shall be solid inciuaing a solid
guage door or panel door which will not allow light to pass thro'gh.

26- Signage on the Application Property shall be provided in accordmce with Article 12 of
thc Zoning Ordinance. If lighteq signage shall be intemrally lighted or directed
downward.

27. Unless modified by DPWES, the Applicant shall provide stormwater detention and Bsst' Managerne,nt Practices as required by the Public Facilities Manual (pFlrf; and as de,picted
on the CDP/trDP in pp to tbree emhanced extended dete,ntion facilities. Plailingp sfiatt te
provided within these ponds to lle ente,at permitted by the PFM. The design of the
southern poud will require a modifi.catioo of the PFM to allow the installation of a dam
cut-offwall. The poods shall be maintained by the UOA in association with the olyners
of the commercid stuctures goveinedbypCA 75-7-0M-2.

28- Within 90 dala of the Board's approval of the rezoning of the Applicatiou properfy, the .

Applicant shall submit a writte,n comparative analysis to the Tysons Executivt Vittage
("TEV") Homeowners Association Board of Directors [Tan Map 39-2 (48))], DpWES,
and the Providc,lrce Disnict Supervisor amlyzitg thc effocts of oristing 

"na 
nrtw

developme,nt on the existing wet pond io the TEV subdivision for the entirc watershed of
the pond ,''d comparing the advantages and disadvaatages of convcrting it to a dry pond
or maintaining it as a wet pond. The TEV HOA sball be Fven the opportunity to iwiew
thc analysis and providc a writte,n deternnination to the Applicart and Provideircc District
Supernisor as to its decisiou to maintain or convert ide ponrl As a r€sult of that
determination and after review of that aualysis by DPIYES, the Agplicant shall undertake
the following actions:

a- If TEV elects to maintain their stormwater managemeut facility as a wet pond, the
Applicant shall re,move accumulated sedime,nt from the pond alrd restore the pond

VEr.lIANN{7R

Attachment 1

654



PROFFER"S
RZ 2003-PR-008
Page fo

it to its originally designed storagc capacity at no cost to TEV. Such
improverre,lrt shall be made concurre, t with initiation of clearing and grading on
the Application Property zubject to TEV provirting ,oy n.""irary te"-isiion
and/or ease,melrts at uo cost to the Applicant The- epptcant sball perform a
bathometic survey of the TEV pond following roo,ptaiou of the pond
imProve,me,lrts and shall perform a second bathometic suney fo[owing
completion of consEuction on the Application Property. Should tt"r" r,rrrqfi
show an unacceptablc level of sedimentation has-durrc4 as dacrmined by
DPWEq, the Applicaot shall restorethepond to its approved storage volume prioi
to final bond release on thc Application property.

The Applicant shall then e,nter into an agre€,ment \rrith TEV agreeing to pay its
p.roportionate share of dl future pond maintcnancc costs (; defined in said
agreeme,ut). Said agreeme,lrt shall be recorded in the land recorde.

b. If TEV elects to convert their wet pond to a dry pon4 the Applicant shall rwisc
the TEV site plan accordingly and shall make thi neccssary'frprove,marts at no
cost to TEV subject to TEVs writteu authority to do so a"a s,itioct to DpWBS
approv3l. landscapin8 [!c3:{ shatl be provided by Applicant as permitted. by the Urban Forester and DPWES. In ordcr to convertiUe pona it is wrderstood
that it may be necessary to provide Best Mmagemeirt Pracfi-ces (BMps) for TEV
on &e Application Property. Conversion of the pond shatl o""* concurrent with
clearing and grading activities on the Applicatiou Property provided l) thc TEV
site plan rwision has bee,n approved; md 2) fgv drides any necessary
permission and/or ease'ments at no cost to the Ap,plicalt. If thc feV sitc ptan
revision is not aprproved and/or necessary ease,ments not providcd prior to clcaring
and grading activities on the Application Propcrty, tU" AppU"'r"t shall dela]
conversion of thc pond until necesstry approvals and ease,mcnts are obtairicd but
shall.be.allorved to proceed with clearing grading and constrnction on thc
Applica{o_n Property. Once the pond has becn convertcd to a dry pond, TEV
shall petition Fairfor Comty to accept maintenance of the pond. fti eppUcant
shall be responsible for any additional impr,ove,ments ood"a to ensux€-Cougty
acceptance.

c. Thc Applicant shall bond these public improvements in keeping with stsrdard
County polici'es.

If TEV does not provide a written determination to the Applicant and provide,ncc District
Supervisor within 60 days of its receip of the Ap,plicanis written comparative .nallais,
the Applicant shall imple,ment improveme,nts specified in Paragraph uC'abovc.

29. [a an effort to mitigate existing drainage problc, rs within the adjaceirt Co.rts of Tysons
C'COT) community, the Applicaut shall:

IiirT,allJa;5?ffi89a.@*e-*-- ____-

vtrntann.r77

Attachment 1

655



.o
PROFFERS
RZ 2003+R-008
Page 1 I

& Design aod install a storm drain syste,m to intercept stormwatcr from Gallows
Road currently being piped along the COT northern boundry line. Thc usw
syst€m shall redirect this storm drainage tbnough the Applioatiou Property as
generally shown on the CDPIHDP.

b. Frovide ao undergrormd TV inipection of the condition of thc aristiqg storm drain
from Gallows Road to the proposed intercepts aod corrpct any brea&s,
malfunctions, or sedimentation found, as determined nccessary and ap,proved by
DP\ryES. TmJrle,me,ntation of this proffer is depende,nt on the COf granting any
necessary easements or letters of pe,rurission atno cost to the Applicant.

c. The Applicant shall bond these public improve,mc,nts in keeping with standard
County policies.

30. A tree presenration plan shall be submitted as part of the site plan in conformance with
the tree save areas shown on the CDP/FDP. The prese,lration plan shall be prepared by a
professional with experie,lrce in the preparation of tree presernation plms, snrch as a
certified arborist or landscape architect, and reviewed aud rypmovcd by the Urtan
Foresry Division. The tree preservation plan shall consist of a uee survey that includes
the location, species, size, ctou'n spread and condition rating percentage of all trecs
twclve (12) inches in diaureter and greater$.ithin fifteeir (15) fect of either sidc of the
limits of clearing and grnrling. The condition analysis ratings shall be prepared using
methods outlined in the latest edition of the Guidefor Plant Appraisal publishcd bV thc
International Society of Arboriculture.

All tees shown to be preserned on the tree preserrration plan shnll be protected by tnee
protection feirce. Tree protection fe,ncing using four foot higb, fourtccn (l ) gaugc
welded wirc attached to six (Q foot steel posts driven eightee,a (18) inchcs into thc
ground and placed no firther than ten (10) feet 4pffi, shall bc €rected at the timits of
clearing and grading as shown on tbe CDPfiDP. All trcc protcction feircing shall bc
installed prior to aay clearing and grading activities, including thc de,molition of any
existing sbuctures. ftree (3) days prior to the commencement of.any clearing Sadin&
or demolition activities, the Urban Forestry Divisioa shall be notified and give,n the
opportunity to inspect the site to assure that all tee protectiou devices have bee,lr
correctly instslled

The Applicant shall stictly conform to the limits of clearing and grading as shown ou
sheet 3 0f the CDP/FDP.

The limits of clearing and grading shall be marked with a continuoru linc of flagging
prior to the pre-constuction meeting. Before or during the pre-constructiou meetinf,tbl
Iimits of clearing and grading shall be walked with aa Urbau Forestry Diirision
represe,ntative to determine where minor adjustments to the clearing limits can bc made
to increase the survivability of trees at the edge of the limits .of clearing and grading.
Represe,ntatives of the COT and TEV HOAs shall be invited to participato ia ryoru"g the

\/FrttAnn{7n

Attachment 1

656



,@
PROFFER.S
RZ 2003-PR-008
Page12'

31.

limits of clering and grading gdjacent to their communities with the Applicaut and the
Uftan Forester. Trees that are not likely to survive coustnrstion duelo their specias
and/or their proximity to disturbance will also be identified at this time and re,uoved as
part of the clearing operation.

Any trees identified to be preserved adjacent to the COT, Courthouse Station and TEV
Properry lines, which fail to survive withh two years following constnrction activity shall
be neplaced by the fnnlicant with species as determined appropriate by the Urban
Forester, in consultation with designated represeatatives of tni COf HO.{, Courthousc
Station HOA and TEV HOA and the UOA for the Ap'plication Properfy. To zupplement
the normal conservation escrow requirc{ the Applicant shall post ,n 

"aOtiooai 
}1O,OO9

in the conservation essrow at the l''ne of site plan approval to e,nsure replace,me,nt of
construction dnmaged hees.

A feirce 4 minimutn of six feet in height shall be provided bsttyec,r thc southernmost
stormwater lnanageme,lrt pond on the Applicatio" frop."ty and thc adjaccut TEV,
Courthouse Statiorg aod COT subdivisions as de,picted on the CDp/FDp. T'fe fencc shati
be consktrcted with masoury piels and woode,n ins€rts. The fence shall be field located,
with review by the Ulban Forester, to ensure minimal disturbance to existiug vegetation-
Deciduous and evergrear tees shall be installed between the walVfqce ioO idjacc,nt
subdivisions to supplement existing vegetation to be preservcd, as determined by the
Urbm'Forester. Any tees ide,ntified to be preserved which fail to survive a two ycar
P€dod following constnrction shall be replaced by the Aprplicant with species determiued
appropriate by the urban Forester, in consultation with designated rep,ncscntatves of the
COT HOA Courthouse Station HOA and TEV HOA and the UOA for the Application
Pro'perty.

Instalting the above-referenced fence will resutt in a double set of f€rncing along thc COT
eastern boundry. If, in the future, both the COT HOA aod the UOA foitUe application
ProPerfy jointly decide to eliminatc &e second fe,nce located inside the Applic*ion
Property, nothing in this proffer should preve,nt reinoval of that fence. In the-eveil the
re,moval of snrch sepond fence is jointly decide{ a shared femc€ maintcnancc agrecme,ut
for thg eastcnr bouudary of cor shall be executed pnor to any rcrnoval

Wittrin the tec save area shoum on thc Application propsty immsdidtsly north of thccor and arormd the south end of the Kidwell Drive cul-de-sac, thc Applicant shqtt
providg supplemental evergreen and deciduous tees as determined by thi tir[." Forcstcr
in consultation with thc COT HOA and Heritagc Point HOA iD aD effort to creatc e
effective year round scre€,!I. Care shall be takelr to retain healthy quality vegetation to thc
maximum orteirt possible, while augme,nfrng the scree,ning oppornrnities.

All udts constnrcted on the Application Properfy shall meet th€ ttrcrmal standards of thc
CABO Model Energy-Program for energy efEcieirt homes, or its equivalc,o! as
dete,nnined by DPWES for either electric or gas e,nergyhom6, d applicable.

32.

33.

vtrnlann{7q

Attachment 1

657



,,9
PROFFERS
RZ 2003-PR-008
Page 13

34. Polysonics CorP.has prepared aTraffic Noise Analpis of the Ap,plication Prop€rty dated
August 2003. This report provides an analysis of noise impacts associated with I-495 and
Gallows Road. Based on the findings of that r€porq the Applicaut shall provide the
following noise atte,nuation measures:

iL In order to reduce interior noise associated with Interstatc 495 to a level of
approximately 45 dBA Lda the garuge associated withBuilding 3 shall be
utilized as a noise atte,lruationbarrier as shown on the CDp/IiDp.

b. In order to reduce ioterior uoise to a level of approximately 4s dBA I,dD,
for units which are projected to be itnpacted by highway noisc fiom 1495
having lwels projected to be greater thau z0 dBA I"dn after the garagc is
in place, located on tbe eastern fagade of Building z arrd, thc northemand' 
southenr facades of Building 3, these units sha[ be consrtnrcted with the
following acoustical measuries :

Exterior wells shall have a laboratory sound transmission class (STC)
r*ing of at least a-5. Dogrs and gla"ing shall havc a laboratory src rating
of at least 37 unless gla.jng constitutes morc tban zv/o of any fagad-
orposed to noise lwels of I.dn 65 dBA or above. If glazing constitutes
more than 20Yo of an exposed fagadc, then the gl"-i'rg shall have a src
rating of at le8st 45. AII surfaces shall be sealed and caulked in
accordmce with methods approvcd by the American Society for Testing.
and Materials (ASTM) ls minimiz.e sound transmission.

c. In order to reduce interior noise to a lwel of approximately 45 dBA I-dD
for units which are projectod to be imFactod by roadway noise from
Gallows Road having levels projccted to be betrreen 65 and 70 dBA I^dn,
located oa the western fagadc of Building I and the townhouse rmits
facing Gallows Roa4 these rmits shall be constnrcted with the following
acoustical measurcs:

Exterior walls should have a laboratory sound tansmissiou class (STC)
rating of at least 39.Doors and gla-ing shall have a laboratory STC rating
of at least 28 unless gle-ing constitutcs more than 2v/o of any fagadc
exposed to noise levels of Ldo 65 dBA or above. If glaziug constitutes
more rhaq 20% of an acposed fagade, thc,lr the glq-ing shall havo a STC
rating of at least 39. All surfaces should be sealcd and caulkcd in
accordance with methods 4proved by the American Socicty for Testing
and Materials (ASTM to miqimizc sound transmission"

d. Prior to the issuance of building permits, alternative interior noisc
atte,uuation measurcs may be provided subject to the imptementation bf a
refined noise study as rwiewed and approved by DpwES after
consultation with the Departrre,lrt ef plmning and Zoning.

vFntann{ nn

Attachment 1

658



PROEFERS
RZ 2003-PR-008
Page 14

e. Due to the placuueirt of stnrctures on the site, additional exterior noisc
mitigation is not necessary for most of the outdoor recreational uses on the
site. The jogghg trail with exercise stations located adjaccnt to I-495 will
be impacted by noise but mitigation is not provideil.

35. If required by DPWES, a geotechnical engineering study shall be submitted to DPWES
for review and approval prior to final site plan approval,'and recommeirdations ge,nerated
by this study shall be imple,me,nted as required by DPWES.

36. Prior to the issuance of a de,rrolition permit or land disturbance permi! a rodsrt
abate,lnent plan shall be submitted to Fairfa:r County Health Dcparheirt that will outline
the steps that wil be take,n to prcv€,Ixt the spread of rode,nts from the construction site to
the nurounding and sew€rs. Thc Applicant shall imple,ment the rodc,lrt
abate,me,ut plan.

Miscellaneous

37. The Applicant shall contribute the amount of $150,000 to Kitmer Intermediate School for
the prrchase of wireless computers or other tecbnology based progrms at thc discretion
of the principal. The Applicant shall provide docume,ntation that this contribution has
becn madc. Such contibution shall occur prior to the issuancc of thc first RUP for the
Applicatioa Plop€rty

38. The Applicant shall contibute the amormt of $465,000 to the Board of Supernisors for
the constructiou of capital improve,ments to schools in the vicinity of the Aprplicatim
Prop€rty. The contribution shall be paid in two (2) installme,nts; thc first installme,at of
$232,500 to be paid prior to issuancc of the 1006 RUP and thc second installment of
$232,5N shalt bc paid prior to the issuance of the 3000' RUp.

39. The Applicant shall comply with the Affordablc psystling Unit (ADU) Program as set
forth in Section 2-801 of the Zofue Ordinance unless modified by the ADU Advisory
Board. Thc Applicaut reserves the rigbt to provide ADUs for ail of the Application
Prope(y within the multi-family buildings. Two of the required ADUs louc ono
bedroom mit and one two-bedroom unit) shall be designed and constructcd to bc fully
handicapped accessiblc. Three of the required ADUs shall bc designed and constuctcd
as handicapped adaptable units and shall be made firlty handicapped accessiblc if demand
dictatcs.

40. No temporary signs (including '?opsicle" style papsr or cardbord sims) which are
prohibited by Anicle 12 of the 7-oning ffiinace, and no signs which are prohibited by
Chaptcr 7 of Title 33.1 of Chapter 8 of Title 46.2 of the Code of Virginia shall be placcd
on- or off-site by the Applicant or at the Applicant'direction to assist in the initial sale or
reirtal of resideirtial tmits on the Application kop€rty. Furtherrmore, thc Applicaot shall
direct its age,nts and employees involved in marketing aud sale aod/or rental of reside,atial
units on the Application Property to adhere to this proffer.

';iiE&;,:iiai(i,f *€tu4*r'*,ffi6- . -*,._*

vtrnlann{R.t

Attachment 1

659



,@
PROEFERS
RZ 2003-PR-008
Page 15

41. The Applicant shall comply with Paragraph 2 of Section 6-110 of the f,oning Ordinaoce
by contibuting $955 per dwelling unit for developcd recreational facif,tics. The
Applicant shall receive credit for the on-site recreational facilities which shall include,
but not be limited to a srimming pool; a community c€ot€r with exercise facilities; a toi
lot; an indoor basketball half-courUracquetball court/qport court (either within one of the
reside,ntial buildings or in a s€parate stmcture as shown on the CDp/FDp); and a jogging
trail with exercise stations. fuiy additional money reimaining which is not spcnrimi-on-
site facilities shall be contributed to the FairIiD( cormty pa* Authority.

Prior to the issuance of the first RUP on the Application Property, thc Applicat shall
contibute the amount of $150,000.00 to the Fairfa:r County goard of Srprr.riroo for the
acquisition of park land or improve,meirt of park facilities in the Duntr Ioring/Tysons
Corner area

A cove,nant shall be.-recorded wtich provides that toumhousc garages shall only bc used
for a pulpose rhat will not'interfere with the-intended purpose ofg"rages (e.g., parking of
vehicles) and that parking shall not be permitted in driveways tnat rJtess Oan-f S fca in
length. This cove,lrant shall be recorded amotrg the land records of Fairfor Coluty in a
form approved by the County Attorney prior to the sale of aoy lots and shall ruo to the
benefit of the uoA/HoA/coA and the Fairfa.x county Board of supervisors. Ldtial
purchasers shall be advised in vrriting of the use restictions prior to eirtering into a
contract of sale and said restrictions shall be contained in the HOA/COA documents.

All front lbaded townhouse driveways on the Applicatiou koperty shall be s miniynum ef
eigbteen (18) fect in tength from thc garage door to the sidewalk. 

-

A joint maintenance agree,me,nt between the UOA and the ownerE of thc commercial
stnrctures governed by PCA 75-7-OO+2 shall be provided for the maintc,nance of Scie,nce .

Application Courq pedestian trails, and the stormwatcr manageanent facilities scrning the
Applicatiou Property and the ppperty subject to PCA 75-7-W+2. hrrchascrs shatt be
advised in writins prior to entering into a contract of sale that the UOA wiU share in the
cost of zuch maintenance. The UOA docume,nts shrll expressly state that thc UOA shall
be responsible for shared maintenauce of these facilities.

Prope,lty ownem of nvo.adjacent lots in TEV identified as Tax Map 39-2 (4g)) 9 and l0
have beeir utilizing portions of the Application Property as extensions of ticir-rear yads.
In order to allow this use to continug the Applicant shall convey in fee simplc the Outlot
A-I shown on the CDPIIDP to the o]lmetr of Intl0 and Ouflot A-2 as rho*o ou the
CDPffDP to the owrer of Lot 9. Conveyance shall occurprior to Uooai"t 

"ithq 
site plao

for the Application Property. The Deeds of Conveymce shall iniuac rcstictivc
cove,lrauts which provide, among other things, that (1) d.nsrty from thc out lots shall be
reserved in perpetuity for the benefit of the remaind€r of the Applicatiou properbr; (2) no ,

stnrctures shall be constructed on thc out lots, rather the out lots siralt be left as open
space-with existing trees preserved to the maximum extent feasible; and (3) any nri6c
rezoning proffcred condition amendmenl final developme,nt ptau amendmcoi or sitc

42.

43.

M.

45_

46.

Vtrr)IANN{R2

Attachment 1

660



PROFFER,S
RZ 2003-PR-008
Page 16

plan approvals for the re'mainder of the Application Properly shall not require thc
inclusion of the out lots or the joinder or conse,nt of the owners of the out lots so long as

. the rezoning proffoed condition amendmen! final dwelopme,nt plau aureodmeut oriite
plan does not includc the area of the out lots.

In order to provide a tot lot for the COT Homeowners Association [Tu Mq l9-Z((22))],
thc fuplicant shall convey in fe€ simple Outlot A-3 as showa ou the Cppm>p to the
COT. Prior to the conveyance, the Applicant shall:

& Install a tot lot on the outlot based on a determination as to the tlpe of equipmcnt
COT desires. Such equipment cost shatl uot orceed $20,000. Care *hettle taten
to minimi2e disturbance to existing quality vegetation. The final location of the
tot lot shall be determined by the Urban Forestcr;

b. Consbilct a pedesEian connection betv{een the existing COT property and thc tot
lot as generally shown on the CDP/EDp; md

c. hstall a fe,nce arormd the perimaer of Outlot A-3 and remove sections of the
existing feirce betwe€n COT and Outlot A-3 to allow the pedestian cormection.

d. Bond these improveme,nts in keeping with standrd countypoticies.

Such improve,me,nts shall be made subject to COT providing any necessary pe,r:nission
and/or easements at- no cost to the Applicant, and COT providing timely iopot ioto tn"
tlpe of tot lo! equipmeirt and fencing desired- In the event COT t"s oit prrovided
information with regard-to equipnle,nt selection and fe,lrcing in a timely manns; pnor to
the Applicant agplytng for its 100- RUP, the Agplicant may glect to contribute iZO,OOO
to thc COT along with the fenced outlot conveyanoe and thereby be reliwed of any
firrther obligation to install the tot lot and pedestiau connection.

Conveyancc of otrtlot A-3 shall occur prior to issuance of the 1006 RtJp fir. thc
Application Property. The Deed of Conveyauce shnll ins1u6. resEictive covcnants which
provide, among qth6 things, that (1) density from thc outlot shall bc reserved in
PerPetuity for thc be,nefit of the re,mainder of the Application Proe€rtJ/; (2) no stnrctures
other than the tot lot shall be constmctod on the outlo! (3) e:dsing 

-t 
r"s shall be

preseired to the modmum exteirt feasible; and ($ any future rezoniug; proffercd
condition ame'ndment final developme,nt plan amendment, or sitc plan 

"pp-"4" 
for the

reuraindcr of the Application Property shall not require thc inclusion of ihc outlot or thc
joinder or consclrt of the own€r of the outlot so long as the rezoning proffcred condition
amendme,nt final developme,lrt plau ame,ndmeirt or site plan does rofinclude the area of
thc outlot.

Prior to the issuance of the first RIJP on the Application Properfy, the Aprplicant shall
eithe,r

47.

-L{fi2;i;ltl}&tiEjitsi;*},ij.aaial@, -.j-Birr"rq,{4. --, u:

VtrNIANN{R"

Attachment 1

661



PROFFERS
Rz 2003-PR-OO8
Page 17

a- Contribute the sum of $25,000 to &e COT Homeowners Associatioa for the
mainte,lrance and future replace,me,nt of the feirce installed by thc COT along its
courmon bourdary with the Application Property. The Applicaut shal proviae
documeirtation to DPWES that this coutribution has been maie; *

b. Enter into a feuce maintenancc agree,ment with the COT Homeonrners
Association Said agreement shall speciry that the COT aad the Applicant, its
successoF or assigns shall share equally in tbe cost of future maintenancc and/or
replacenoelrt of the existing woode,n fence along the Courts of [rsons northern
boundry. The COT fence along its eastern boundary and thc ftttue fencc arolnd
the tot lot described in Proffter 45 shall be thc resporuibility of the COT
Homeowners Association. This agree,me,nt shall be recorded amotrg the land
records of Fairfa:r County. In the we,nt an agree,ment to the satisfaction of both
the parties has not bee,lr reached by the time thc Applicant has ap'plied fsr its first
RUP, the Applicant shall contibute the sum of $25,000 to thc C-Ot Homeowners
Association for the maintenance and futrue replace,me,nt of the fe,ncc and shall 6"
released of its obligation to ent€r into a joint fe,nce agreement.

The COT Homeowuers Association shalt be grven the opportuuity to infonn the
Applicant in vtriting of which of the two alte,rnativcs thcy prefer. If COT fails to provide
a written determination to the AppUcaut withiq 60 days of its receipt of the Applicant,s
request for a det€nnination, tbe Applisant shall implement the.alternative in i-aragrapU
"a-t above.

Prior to approval of the final site plan ou the Apptisation property, thc Ap,plicmt shall
provide evide,nce that a parking agree,ment is in placc with thc oumers of thi adjaccnt I-3
parcel identified as Ta:r Map 39-2 ((t)) naa li, permitting overflow partingitom ttre
Applicatiou koperty to utilize parking facilities on the I-3 parcil. A;inimum of 150
overflow parking qpaces shall be available to atl reside,nts 

-of 
tn" Application property

during non-business hours on weekdays (after 6:00 pan) and on weekeads. This p"i6"!
agree,ment shall be recorded in the land records ofFairfor county.

Constnrction activity shall be permitted Mondays through Fridap fr,om 7:00 d-m. to
7:00 p.m., Saturdays from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p-m. No constmCtion activity shall be
permitted on Sundays, Thanlsgiving Day, Christmas Day and Ncw yea13 Day. Thcsc
constnrction hours shall be posted on the Application Property prior to auy land
disturbing activities. The Applicant shall include a construction Lour notice h its
oonfact u.ith its general coustnrctioo contractor.

These proffers may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which whe,lr so
executed and delivered shall be deemed an original documenrt and all of which taken
together shall constitute but oue in the sarne instnrment

These proffers wiu bind and inure to the benefit of the Applicant and his/her successonr
and assiBns.

49.

51.

52.

vEr[aon{9,

Attachment 1

662



. PROT'FERS
Rz,2003-PR-008
Page 18'

53. The individual s*tions within the Application Property may be snrbject to p,qff€rcd
Condition Ameirdments sud Final Dcvelopment Plan ameirdmeirts without joindcr and/or

' corssot oftne othcr property ourncr oftho other secdonsrbuildings.

J:\LINCOIJ{\?0.23 SAlClpootrcn\PmfE , tS CLEAN. Adoc

lsrcNIATtrREs BEC}TN ON NEXI pAcEl

vtrntano{n4

Attachment 1

663



,.-,.@

PROFFERS
RZ 2003-PR{08

APPLICAI{T/CONTRACT PURCIIA.SER
oF TA)( ![AP 39-2 (1) 13 pt.

LINCOLN PROPERTY COMPAI{Y
SOUTIIWEST,INC.

By
Its: Vice Presidcnt

[SIGNATURES CONTINUED ONNB)ff PAGEJ

VtrrlIANN{RA

Attachment 1

664



PROFFERS
RZ 2003-PR{0E c

TITLE OWNER OF TAX !vIAP.39-2 ((tD t3

CAT,IzuS POINT REALTY CORPORAfiO-N tr

ISIG}IATURES END]

\rFntaon{n7

Attachment 1

665



BK 16927 2196

I oSS -tor P.l'.o*1 a D rtb, ofi -eol -oO t3

ANpp4lsEw\rTs-

THrs DE.LAMTI.NoF coNDmIoNs, n,struciroNs, AND EA'EMENTS

(bereinafter'DE!grAEq['), is made thi€&\ay of January, 200j (the.Effective_Dale,), by

.AMPUS P.INT REALT, coRpoRATIoN, a california corporatiou (heroincftu

"Deol.EIAEt").

WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, Declarant owns fee simple title to thosc certain traors of laod located ia

, Fairfax county, virgini 4 dascribed on (i) Exhibit. A- I attcched herdo aud maite a part haeof
('?ereet-L') aod (ii) Brhibit A:2 attached hereto aud madc a part heroof (,pu,cer 2i); and

WHEREAS, Declarunt lntends to convoy parcel 1 to a thfud party; and

m*rcns, Declarsrt desires to .,eqte and establish (i) certsin conditions ard

reshictions retatiug to construction on Parccl l, (ii) certain easerueots for lhe bc,nefit ofparcels t
and 2 for (a) access, ingtess, egress and rcgress,.and ft) stono watermanagfiicnt ard (iii) rights

withrcspect to sipage.

Now THEREF'RE, in consideration of Ten Dollars $10.00), the covenan* and

agrcsments set forth in this Agreement' urd othcr goil and valuable considcretion, the reccipt

and sufficiency ofs'hich are hcreby acknowledgod, Decrarant agrrcs, covenaDts, md decru€s as

follows:

EXHIBIT

IQ! \-/

Attachment 1

666



BR 16927 2197

ARTICLEI

GENERAL

Seution 1'l Definitions, Tho following words, when used in thia Decluatjon,shall have the fotlouring rieanini$ . -

nAccess 
Easqmentn shal have the meaning set forth in se,ction 3,I(a).

",Agcess Ea-sement Arean shall mean those cefiain portious of parcel 2 that aremore parricularry described in Exhibit B. attached hueto and made affi h;f
"Acoas Expenses" shall mean the reasonable coets and gxpeoscs of maintaining,repairing, gnd operating the curreat Aocess Area and/or Access u.*'rrrr"r,t e."a. AccessExpenses shall not include any amounts which would^othenrise b"i;"iJJ io'Access Expcnseswhictr are paid to pnv Affiriaie (as defined u*ro*iort i i,;-grii ffi-*?#jr** berow) tothe extent rhe costs of such scrvices excced the'amount which woutd t urre teeo pai6 in tbeabsence of such rerationship for simil* r"*i.o or *o'p*tr, i*"i *J,r, *u fiequeocyrendered bypersons of similar skill, *.p"t*aa *d experier,"r,

"A-ccess t,orovg$rents" sharl rnean Bsphalt o1 concrete pavoneni, curbs,landscaping, directiomr rrgD- ug., ming, lighi-in; utirities and other sirnil'ar improvernentsconstructed or instarled in the Accesa E*"urent Ar;fror time to ti-e.-' 
--"-'

nA?cese Moogrnent sim" shafl have the meaning sst fsrth in futicle yI.

"Affi!ig!'' shail mean aDy persoD or e,ntity controlliag, oonholred by, or undcrcommon contror with, another prgn or c,tity. t'conroli 
as used n;il *;; the possossion,direct or indirwt, of the pover io direct or 

"u*" 
tffairection_of the managemeflt and po)icies ofsuch controiled pv.sonor eatity (the owne,rship, air.ctty o, ioar."ly,;il"1"#fifty_one percent(51%) of the voting aecurities of, ot po.r.rrioi oittuieht to ,rte, in the ord.inary direction of irsaffairs, at least fifty-one 

ryrcfmt rsixl 
"r 

trri 
"otirg 

intercet in, any person or eatity slral bepresumed to constitute such conkol),

'B,siness Days' s$l 3T Mondays_through Fridays other thaa those days ouwhich national banh aro not-open ror business in th'"-corr.oo.,rearth of virginia-
"Currenusc€ss AIga" shali mean the area on Parccl I and parcel 2 identified onExhibit E hereto which, ar of tae er."tire iiut", r."uo, and until such tiEe as. the AccessImprovements are complgted will servq * tt"-u".*tt to and from cattowi noaa for pucels I

t'currart Ac""ss ICIE overnents" shir,.meao the pavunen! cwbs, landsceping,directional sigrrage, srid"g, uffig umE *Ilu,"t sirrilar'ior;;;#. orrting io tt"curreat Access Area as ofthe dite hJieof ;;;.G;"d or inst8led to' time to rime.

Attachment 1

667



BK 16927 2198

- "Eirst Class Stsldardsn sball meatr a quality that ie equal to or in exi:ess of thoqqify of similar facilities, :Telces or impiovenrati providg to o. r* G t-"nt of class Aoffice and/or luxury residential projeots rocated ia Fairfsx couoty, vtdri;. --

nGovernmentat 
Authoritio.s" shalt mean the United Stateq the state, county, oityand political zubdivision iu which the Pscels (as detued brfii *" il"t.d or *ti.r, exersisejurisdiction over the parcels or the knproveurents (as uenned .b"fit;d';; ;ffi;9qq9:c commissioo, board, bwezu or instrumentaritr.i i;;t#"-"u"r, exercisesjurisdiction over the Parcels or Improvements, inbluding wittdui rimit rlor, the virginiaDc,partncnt of Tninsportation.

. nlmproveme*t" 
.or 

nlmprove*eotsn, ,h4r. mean- rhe buildings, itnrcfi:res,driveways. sidewalla aod ott o imptoGilGE,ffia on ai rar.i, tor" ,ii.? ti-..
- 

t@ 
shall mean ths Ac-cess Lnprovcurorts to boconstructed in the Access Easemeot Area in acc,ordancs wift the Initial owltopme,rt plao andScotion 3.2 hereof.

Initid DeveloPmont' shall mcan the initial consbuction on parcel I ofImprovonents that do not cxision parcel l as of the Effective Date.
nlnterest RJrtqr shall mean the lesser of (l) the ratc psr anflrgr oqual to thc Interestrate published from time to timo as thc prime rate in the Monuv nut." *r**-of tt. Wrtt St"*Joumal 

Pastsm edition) Gaid rgte ro changc on.the first ctay ot cach catenau montu) prus 300basis points, or (ii) the thcn applicabtr .ixi*,r- intoest iate pennittcd to be charg'd by thelaws of the Cornfi oilwEslth of\fiIEiiilE:-
"Loeal Beq.ir€mglq' sbar] mean any applicable law, statute, ontinaaco, order,rule' regulation, decrcc or requirornent of a Goveromcntal Authority and any other applidablepublic or private covcaan! coadition, resbiction or other tiu. ,utt*:.a."tind the parcels as ofthe Effective Dats. .

_ 540d&ge" shall mean a lien, mortgage, rteed of tus! deed to sccure debt orother similar insrumEnts securing tre rcprlm;r oriieut to u uon, fid;;ilp*,y (which is ootan Affiliate of the borrow"p pq encrmrbering all or any portion of a paroel or any intere*r(incloding aoy ground lenseho.l.at iotercst) trto&; pro*aea;hoq.cvi,,r,"t *.i terrtr ghsll notinclude judgmcol or mechanic liens.

@ggg." shalr mean tb€ mortgagoe orbeneficiary of a first lien Mortgage.
'belEusinesg-HorEsn shalr mean 7i00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m, on Business Days.

- "Os&grn suf.Sep the person (os defined below) which is fiom timo to time rhcrecord own-cr of fee simple.tile to any parcel or any portiot tlereo[ of the record lessco urdsrany ground lease; provided, howcver, that such term shal oot iorru[ *v-tustee unde,r anyMortgage or a3y Mortgagec w.ho 11i hora a uen upins-GG#;;"IJrl"easetrotd interestunder a ground leasc prrsuant 
19 

a. llirtsage unlsss ind .ntil ilh larty shail acq,nrc record foosimplc title or record leasehold title to*aiy sucl-parcet tl"""8h'fili**i'u""0 ia tieu offoreclosure, or otherwise. A rcfersrce herein to;qgg*, ,hil ;; ui-d;;
nPitqgtgn shall mes!, €dllectively, parccl I and parcel 2,

Attachment 1

668



BK 16927 2199

nParcer r owueE" shal meuo the owner or ownere of parcel I or any portionthereof, from timeto time and as applicable. . 
-.l'

"parcel 2 owncrtr sha, mem the owner or owners of parcel I or my portionthereo{, tomtii't'ffiilIas.ppticaul- -- -'
?.@qi!te& shalr mean any owoer, and its tcnants, liccosces, invitces, sub_tenants or aut}orized occupants of any portionr of a parc€l *d7of ih" I*p;vernsnts locatedthereon and the respective.omcerri ii.u"t*r,-.*tptoy.o, ,!*t, ffi*, contactors,

;;bconracton' 
sustomers, visitors, invitees, go."L, rid*r-u". .ro"*rLIi*uir". of auy such

"Eersgoo or 'bsus' shall meao individuals, parhoships, associatioos,corporations and any other fomrs of organization, or onc or morc oi th",n, 
"r'ur. *otort *iy

'Substantial_- Qoqpleti:ol gf th=c htprqverpEntg:' shall moan the mmpletion of thcapplicable Imptovcrncot 
"*..pt i@ *,*nu.i.r adjustrentthat, in the aggreSste, are mioor in 

"rrur"cter "no 
l-o noq citner by their Datwe or bccausc of therepair or completiorr wor* nccessary, materinlly interferl wrth ml inteadg.G; or enjo nart ofthc appliceble knprovanent, 

_su9tr 
rirut ii;;A; ti'iasonatte under the sircumehnc€s frr sucbImproveme'nt to be made availablc ror its ini*aJuse ga complctiou of any such dctails wouldnot rmreasorubly interfere witr such use in duc course afte,r sucr sot"t.rurr-cil'ptuti;il;;

I:rffiru"-@ sbarr mean to lring trre wprt."bililpr#il, ,o suuu*tirr

"L*bg" shalr mean any taking or condenDation for public or quasi_pubric use

Hf#'ff.3:Jffi;Jitfo'ilirH}d"' o"?g"t*io"' o' bv;sil Jf #i"i"ia".'q - iv
Section 1.2 pronertv Subject to.this._Degllratio.n. Essh parcel 9r porfionthcreof and any right, ttlu o, 

uO" 

-*f 
i *Ol* conveyedby the existing owners, and any *tr"d;torner of alr or ary part thereof, subject to thisDeclaration and the covegui, conditioas, rot'iJio*, T-"rqtc .h*grs *o ti.* (except assst foilh in Sestion E.4 bclow) set fortlr fr*"i"; .frg*aed, howwer, that aflq SubstantialcompJetion of the Improvcmenti conte,mpiateo ln-o.- l"itiur Dwelopment plal (as he,reinafterdEfi8ed)' the followiog ptwisisns of this il.i*"ti", rtall no Ionger be applicable and no parcelor my O,rx,ner thc,reof shalt pu -]bjr$ ro_such p,"rtrionr, (g ry{t 6il.6iili"o 3.2(a); and(c) soction 1l '5' Notwithstaraing.the foregot'i*'* to c.ch of the outlot parcels described inExhibilEattachodhcreo(ea*.an-ggftfi ffi :"il;.iddi*a]i"it*ovsyudtorh.owno of thc property adiacent to saia outtot pilJi purzuant to &c ,.Lincorn propoty corupanysoutrweet Inc. proffers (R2 2003-pR-00c);;1-- ' * r 

1, 
zrn+ rppricriiii" prr*r r (an4 in,#HTf#frT,;:d** y *,4 +1i, h* Jdo,rro pra,i'"ii"t"-Jicauybe 

rereascd

section l'3 
fpprjr.g!,ilitv to ,*€, ,, No*ing in this Declaration shail beconstnred to reeuirc ,rry d.-"rida;iffi constructioi o. ,"ron"tuotion of anyImprovernent, anv Iandscaping * Fd;e;; ;;-ulg whatsow* * rr;ri'itccpt tho workto be donc by the parcer I ow,i p"#;i f-erd-"I" III hcreof or to e,urpower the parcet I

Attachment 1

669



BK 16927 2200

ownel or. any other iety to require pny such dcrnoritioa, alteratior, construction or
reoonstruction" or to restrict or prohibit thc Parcel 2 Orrner or,the olrner of anytnprovsment oDParcel 2 tom dcrnolishing, altcring rebr:ilding resloritr& repairing o;,;#ilil;;;
lmRrgv^ane1t 

fotlowing auy ca_suarty (whaherpaiial or totaij o.ho"a a-oioe aot"rd thfig;;
Parcel 2 or the Improvemonts thcreon-

ARTICLEII

CONSTRUCI]ON CONDMIONS A].{D RESTRJCTIONS

section 2.1 
- 

corirjtiot-u . and R.estrctions on con*tructio$. Any aud allcoastruction activitics on Paroel 1 and in tnffic rubject to thefollowing coaditions and rcstictions:

(a) Diligeot gor,nprptionpt-constusupu. subject to the last sEntence of thisSec'tion 2'l(a), once commenc€d, ae,ooTitio, urtffion or construclion of any Improverneots onParccl I or in the Access Easemcr* erea, iniluding without limitation, amJtitio4 alteratiou orconsEuction connecred with the trri!{ urydopmenq shallbe airigentripruzuJ toil;i;;;;;
:r-,:yJ^^^':_T,fl":3J, reasonable, nfije&oforce majeureiso Oui it i, nor Icft in a partty

*1,::,T"_:"j:,]t:L-fl1 longcr, than is requhed by pnrdont consrruction prdid.
Norwrthstsrlding arylhing to Oto-cont'ary herern, the Initial Development may bc constsucted inphases, provided that otrca h phase is-connnenced, the parcer r'o"r, lrurc phaso underconstuction sha[, subjcct r,o r2ry rrat"y1 pursuc the corsmcdont of any Improve,rrcnta
?*T3.ed. in such phase to firrar cornpletion in ac"o,raanco ;ith tir-prdpus .s.ileocc ordemolislt said partially conskucted improvenents and promptly r"t* [o"*" rubstantially tothe coudition it war in prior to 

"omm€ncan€nt 
of construction oi**U pfr*". ---

(b) Thoughout auy periodof construction on parccl t, tfr. foncot t Oumiliilii

o - 
subjert to scctiou 3.3(o), uot pcrmii obsructron of the parcer 2owner's use of the Acsess Easement or the current icc€ss Area as applicabrg aod

(i1) d*ring hours of constsudiou activity, post a traffic guard or guardson and/or in tire vicinitv of the cr:rrcat Accsss Area a"d/* eo.ol; !;ooL-tArea as epplicablein order to ensure the safctyof aII those uring th";Lss Easeorcnt and, in all evcntq st 1east onesuclr guard shatl bc posted- during NorrtraG'urinor iro*r, when necessary or as.deterrnined bythe Parcel 2 owuer, at the interseitiou of the Access uasemerrt'Aroe or the'ctnt Acccss Areqas applicable, and Gallows Road.

- (c) vehicular Tra.ffic. To the extent pennitted by *gar Requircment& a,vehicqlat baffic relatccl to construcdon activities r.aot t* on parcel I sbgll be i[verted fromtheAcccss EasemeotArsa ortle curretrtA;;** * appricablq orto rn rrt".nat parrg roador other route ou Paroel I as slose to the Gailo;s no"a -i ottrr" er"o, p'ar*r*t Area or 0recunent Access Area. as applicable, as commercially reasonable ,o * to .lrtle thc portion ofthe Access Easernent Area and the ctrrrent ecccss ;;e4 as applicable, tnat sugl vehicutar traffic

Attachment 1

670



8K16927 2201

utilizes' The Parccl I owner shall implerncnt reasonable speed limits for such ychicular baficso 6s to minimize the disturtance of dust and/o1 .otler airtoroi ;rrd;t" and to prctedindividuals aod property from harm related to such vehicular traffio.

. (d) ConsEu$o4-P-arkine. All,vehicles ifilized for or otherwise telarod roconstntction activiti€s (including *iurou:t limitation, constuction machinry and vchiclcsutilized by conra.to^, subcontractors and their *,rpl"y"*-il-r;H;;:,il be parked in adesigrrated area o,n a portion ofparccl t, and as far;oved as feasible from parcer 2,

(e) Minimizatiqn of-|loxious'substqnces. Dur'g co,nstrudion, ths parcel 
1Owner, shall minimize noiru, od Hi, o, my otherthing, tlrat poteotially may matorially uoversefy-atrect parccl 2, the parcel 2 owner or itePcrsrittecs.

(0 utilities, The parcer r omer shalt use alt reasonabro ofh,rts not tointerfere wltlr the service of ,ny uulity, terecommrmi*ti"nr-r*ri.o ii-*o*, or sto[nmanagernetrt systoru that b-enefits Parcel 2 an( in all werrtg shall comply with'tieprovisions ofArticle tV if any srich iuterferen." is *urUauite, -
(S) 

The parcel I Owncr at nocost or expense to tbe Parcel z o*".*@on.u" 
"ro.t 

to mitigate tothe extcnt possible and coruncrciatty tl..oootiu Jl]-a a[ potentially materis] advcrse effeitson Parcel ! the parcrr 2 owner oiit* po.*itte.. irisi"g d* ";;;.;; tttr consruuionactivitie' on Parcel I aad shafl promptly .-a/*y -uterial urr.^o-irr*, on parcel 2, thoPrcel 2 ownsr or irg pormittc,ss, * ipptoaur.,iisor6"s fi.; ;;;;;;;r" with suchactivities.

Section 2.2 Dc.liv:ry of plq$ prior to._CqEsbu$tion. On. or bcfore rixty (60)days prior to tltt *t *""tffivities on its parce! thc pmcer l ownershall suhmit lo tho Parcsl 2 owner rir itstreviJentl approral a art"illa *""r"ction plaaidentiffing how such fu: g**-r ..-prvta rhe restistioDs set fixth rn sec.tion 2.1during such construction activities ctr,n1---T[.'i,,r"r z owner shall approve or disapprovesuoh PIaa within tco (10) business'da;-"n*r*"pt theroof. In rhe ovcni that the parcel 2owncr disapproves tho Plan,.which diiapp*vi *,a'r * fqnh In reasonablc d€teil the reasoDstherefor, the other owner shall rcvise the sam" *-r1 ten (10) days aaer receipt of tLe parcel 2ownen's disapprovar of theprao wirlitr r@ii0)il;*;;i";;;;;1;itorevised plan,the Parcel 2 owner shall approve. or- disappdvJur. r*o". tn aa*tiol tJit, otliguti*s rurdersirtion 2'l' thc parcer l omer sha[ *"ipry *itt'ir* pra-r ae approvcd by the parcel 2 owq."whcn conducti'ug its ciurstnrctio" activitl_L 
'on 

i*""r I and shall not commeoce srrchconstruction uatil the parcer.2.q^.oo tu.-"pprovJ &e pran- p;;;o;;rrg any msterialchaoge to the plau, tbe parcel r o*oo rt"u'.irl-Jtrzu"r, prcposed changes to parcel 2 ownerfor its review and approval.. rr tte iar.erJ oil# *ortors ary Improvementg in phases, itshall submit its pran fqr each phase ro ft" parcci] br*o r* rT;; Jilpprora, u,t"r,zuch Plrr has bcca prcviousf a]proved by O"i_J ] Oqm€r. 
- - -- ' *- -l

Sectistr 2.3 . priorto execution orthit p""toutiffitted 
to parcer 2 ovmec, an6 parccr 2

Attachment 1

671



BK 16527 2202

owner has approved, the conceptuaurinar Dwelopment plan dated March 11, 2004 (the,,!d!ic!qcvelgnlde1. Priorto -*he any inataial changc to rhe Inirial o*iroe**t plan, theParccl I owncr shall submit such prcpoied changes to tbe Parcel 2 ownerr for its rwiew andapproval' The Parcel 2 ovmer shalr rpprove o. &rappror" any matcriar dranges to the IoitialDwelopmcnr plan wi8rin ten (I 0) days 
-a-fta 

reccipt ft;;f IrrtF;;A;ile r"rc*t z own€rdisapproves any material changes to the Initial Development H*, *tirr, iisapgroval shall setforth in reasonable detait he riaron. theretor, G p.rii r d*o'rhrX;;; the same within
I, (-tol business days .aler receipt of the parsel z owner's-ai*pgrovar of tho InitialDevplopment plan. rilithin^teo (to; rrriorrr days aier ,"*ipt ;i';; reviscd Irritial
lgyeloprnent Plan, the Parcel 2 Owner hAf upp** or aisapp,rovc Ui" .r_* 

'lo 
addition to itsobligations under section 2.1, the palcel r ti*rr* .rru *rit 

"r 
th; L,i t.l ffiilil# fiaccordancc with tlre Initiar Development plan as epproved by tho paroer 2-o"^o,

t

ARTICLEIII

ACCtsSSEASEMENT

Scction 3.1_, (a) D*!a:r?tign of4ccess nag!ry,t. Subject to *re provisions ofthis Declararion, Dccraranr tt.r"uy *tqbiffiilr'?cates f*T;bn.Iit;irrr; parcel I ownerand ths Parcol 2 Owner urd ss,an awurts,n*r" to ?mcel I *a i"r.oi i a noo-exclusiuepsrpetual cassmcrt ove'r' rrpon, yogs *ro ttrough the ecees-r*€Er;t Lea 10re 
.,agsEg

Easernent') (i) for thc purpoies ofpeaest ian a"o ietri",rr*lo-g.r"--ilil*rtorr* 6gllowsRoad and orc applicable lurot, anj (it) f"i ,i;;r.pr* of ionrroctio; op*ting, rc,pairing

(b) Decr-ar=rtp,- of Temgorsry. Access. Unt, rhc parcer I owuer hascompletcd and opened t,'r" rrifiur;""..;ffi;.nt for vehic,G *f,-foerni"o use inaccordance berewith' tbe Declarmt ho.ty urt itirr,o and creatcs for.thc benefit of the parcel Iosmer slld the Parcar 2 owne,r,lnd * *upport*** to each of their parcels, a non-ea.crusiveeasgrEent ovcr' qpon' across and through the current Access ArEa for the-pffisc of pedeshianand vehisutar ingreso and egress bctw-een til;;;ffii; il;-# &ir'#t"*r*. upon thctennination of said temoorry easement in accordEncc lqowith, ttre ternporary accecs easer,entcstablished bv that ccrtain ptit recoroea aio"Ji-*t qsoo, rrgi, iilrrli Jri[ u. autom'ti€arytermina|$' If nocessary, the pvmTs of tt" .p*r*rr Parcels sharl record rucrr documeils as arereasoneblv nec€ssarv to coo5rm trre termin'afroo;;;;; 
"i;"j;iilli"; eas€rncnt rheParcel 1 owner shall reoarr and mairtail fl;-a;ent Acc€ss Inprovauents mtil the Access

3r,:=l-u-*: *Tpi"trd but shan oot -oairy ti" c\rr€ot Access Irrprovcursnts or instarlnsw rmpnovemenrs within tlrc c\,rent Access Area witt"* tr,iprioi 
-go;;; 

of thc parcel 2owner, provided that zuch_.ynseat sh{l ;itg fi;,.d;a;il; #irt moaffication ofthe current Acccss Lnprovemeots or the insrallatioo of any new Improvemeats in the curreEtAccess Area is contemplate.d in the Initial O*.irpmtt ff*.
Section 3.2

Lrurovelne,lts,

Attachment 1

672



BK 16927 2203

(a) Construction of &e Initial Access Improvem€nts will result in a loss ofparking spacB ott Parcel 2, Therefore, in conneotion wittr the constuetion of thc Initial AccessImprovements, the parcer I owner sta[, at it6 sole;J il ;-p"; *iir, . good andworkmanlike manner and in_ accorilance wiitr se.tlo* 2,1,'constn:ct ior ml u-rnr of ths parcel2 owncr a cuf'cicnt nulbtr of parking spacEs iu the locations iae"iitJ'on Exhibit D.-rfMss&dJa*ing')'hdrdo to cause the-nunber of parking spaces available on paroel 2 to be
lhe sPc fquo*iog constnrctioo of thc Inifiel Access Improvernemts as existcd onparcel 2 nn thedate bEreof ("Etislipslodcinc), The parcel I owner shalt construst a," n"r"L.o parftiug inaccordanco with praas and specifications to be reasonaLly approrro uitn. p**iz ownsr whichplans and specification shall, at-a minimux, conform with thc-Fairfax countypublic FacilityManual except that tho Relocated Parking *rrarr ui const'Jct$ with a l li4 inch suface co,rso, 3inch basc course and 8 iach compacteO Zin sutuase stone. In the event tbat thb parcel I .owner
does not complete construction of the Relocated parking.befo* ;t-rf thor*ir,iog parking
becones unuseabrp, the par.csl l -9*p* rtar: pr*io" lhe parcer i o*r* *it tsmpordryparqry spaccs so that at all tirnos the Parcel 2 oivner shall have sccess to and usc of Ero esoe
Sumfer ofparking spaces il tas as of thc date hdor, soou t*rp""rry-rp.*s shail b€ in thelocatioos idenrified or Bxlribit D, t 

"r.to, 
o, i, s.,lii otho ro*[;;;t it;r.etabre to thcParcel 2 Owner and parcel 1 Orvoer.

(b) In connection with thc constructiotr of the Initial Developmenl the parcclI owner shall, st its sole qost and srp€lse, I ig"J *a worrsnanlikc manner (i) constuct theInitiat Access Improvememts rn_acco.o3nce *tt i-i *,r r.q-#*iJ"rildiJ p.earrnent ofTranaportation and the Fairfax county Public Faririties t"tanuat Bs if su;h;?; a public roadprovidcd that if thcre ae rryinconsiitsrci.r tetweear the two, tiru-rir'u'tiig*, ,t oooa ,nutepply and (y) plans ana solifca$ons 
"pproved 

by tnr rur"a 2 owacr in accordance with thlssection 3'2ft) and (ii) initall lanascryioi; th" i;o, Esseru€ot Area and in that portion ofcrrnent Access Area that is not rit.ir trrr e."eos Easemcot A*., ;*J on plans airdspeciications reasonably acceptable to the rucei I osmer *ni.rr-r*arl"pir,g},art be ireemedan Accers Inrproverneut.- T.L to uudertaking the consbucti"r-Li tfr-rritiar AcccssImprovcrnents in sccordstrcc wit} tbe p.wio* r-tLce, the paroel t owno srral submit to thcParcel 2 owner, for its approvar, thi prans ara spccitcations for zuoh work aod shEII notcommcrtce such work until.the Parcel 2 owner has approved thc sarnc in accoi.dance with theschedule set forth in section 2'2. rt" i*""i-i'G.ner srrau su*;rially conrplete theinstattation of the Initiar Access lrnprovem*s *iu,rn.i*ii8i;;rh.";;"ril'**r,reocerne.r
of construction of such improverrrents; lrovide4 however, the pscer I ownor sha, not beobligated to lav the topcoat 

',ortr'l 
tw".r+?il iz;j months it* *ro.*r"incui or consructionof said improverneue:-and provided n rtrr"r t 

"i 
tiut time periods sst forth in firis scntcoco sballbe exterdod day for day foi p6 

-duy "r 
o"i.vi.r"rring frourforce maJeure..If, at my time sftsrconsbuction activities relatod to ths kritial Dweloor_nent cornm€ncq sllch construction activitiescoase for a period ofrnore pT ry"p.qO) dr;H;irdi"g, wirhout limitation, ag a regult of thecompletion oj alv nhase of 0re Initial DJu.rJpir*i *d a delay in thc cournmccrnsot of rbenext phasg the Parcel t owner sharl repair *ia i..t".., at the parsd r owncr,s sole cost andfipens€, the.Access Eassmcnt erea, i'ctuaing, *thoot limitatioq any Access ImFovemcntsthermn, within thirtv (30) days tlr#;;;d';rh;* ir acmrdaocc wi0r this section 3.2.Thereafter when construction of the Irriur oevciopinart resu-o, ,pon subs-taniial completionof any such wort or any firther int*.rpti"ioi *,i* thau ninety (96) days, rhe pacer I owner,

Attachment 1

673



BK 16927 2204

at its sole cost Imd trP.lsll shall 
-again 

repave lhe Access Easement Area and, to the extent
l":}:uty'replacc or repair the landscaping'ihereoq all subjecr.to tt. p.ovisiols ofthis Secion3.2(b).

(s) The Parcel I owncr shall be obiigated, for so long as the easement crcatedpursuart to Section 3.1 exists, to repair and maintain the Crrrerrt AcccrJE^;*t and/or AcerssEasement tu91 S annlcar9 in iafe, cleaa, attractive and weu-maini*Jtnoition ano inaccordance with First class standards, such mainteoance to be oo". pffiuy ,"d ;gri*.ly *dto i4cludg but not be limited io, the following:

(i) 
,Maintenance, repair and repraccoront of arl paved surfaccs, in aIevel, smootlr, wenly covered and vizually consi"t*i"oodition

(ii). 
. 
Maiutenance, rqrair and replacement of alr' crrb6, curb guts,guftsn, walkways and retaining wallsl

(iil) Mainteaancc, repair and,replacemeot of all directional signs,markers (including; without.limitatjon,_ any iccess vton'umeot srgnsj una *rtitri"r lighthgfacilities (including, without limitatiort ihe r.iryfu.r-*t otfi;tu;; ;il;brj; -

(lv) Regrtlar removal of all litter, trasb, d$ris, waste, filth ald rcfixe,including, without limitation, thorough swe€ping oith, A."o, ir*r*t ar"" in order to ke€p'the samc in a clean and grdcrly conAiti* urrif tii""*;

(v) Maintenance of all landsuping in a hearthy, we,-watered, we,-prured, mowed and athactive condition; and

(yi) Compliaace with all Legal Requiranents, including, withoutlimitation, those rcrated tolreattfr *o *rrty, *ra Ji r"qourts by Governmental Authorities madein accordance with regar t.slor*!, iriruoirj *th:l!limitation, the vtrginia Departnentof Transportation, providcd ihat te rarcci t ffircr shall notiff the p,,*iZ owncr of anyrequcst by a Govemmenter Autbodty prior to unoeotuuoJ-2.L- 
-*rpri-* 

(except inernergencies).

(d) The percel l owncr shalr have ttre righq from time to time, to makechanges in the Access Improvements and io the desigr ftut not the location) thereof, subject tothe prior written consent of the Parwl 2 owner in ol'*rt*". with the timc'periods set fortb insection 2.2, provided, bowevo, (i) no suoh *rr,,,t ,nuri [* ,.rr#;; *i""ffi** required byLegal Requirernearts or a Govemmental Authoriry (untesr-ffi;;p##;u'iil1uoru, and tlerronly as to which option is se]-1oe.d)_, 0i) any ru.r'"i"oeo-u"t-compry with kgar Requirementsand bc ccjnsistent wirh First class Staniards, *o iil tn" p.*"1 l od; rhJff e commercialryreasonable efforts to qruurc that througbout trre ti"1e such changcs are beiug made all partiesentitle'd to use the Access Easernent er& shail havr *ntro** u"t ou*;br;unfettered accessto the Access Easern€nt Ar-ea and that such 
"-r"rr"trr" rrrar #;;;ffifril;,"i,i}.jffii

tho provisions of Section 2.1, vv w''PrErE{r r, E

Attachment 1

674



BR 169?7 22A5

(e) Notwitlutandinc sDything to the contary oontained hcrein, each owner
slall have tlre rigbt lo constnrct, at its sole cosiand o(perse, accoss poinh mrd cub cuts on tho
Ascess Easefifit Area and/or to connect drivewryu, sidewalks, parking ueas and other
Improvemants on suclt Ownr,r'B Parcel to the Access Easem€nt Area wiftouitnc other Owners,
consent but with priornotice, io long as the orilerty flow of ,"fi;il-fi-esGan traffic is not
materially and adverielj'rffected-thqeby, an'work is rlone io u"coro-"" with all Le€J
Requirecrents and the Owue,ts continuc to have contiouous and rcasonably unfetterett asr€ss to
the Access Ease,rrent while such work is being conductcd

(0 The cost of the activities in subsecHon (c) sball bc an Access Expease
subjecr b Sections 3.5 and 3.6 bclow; lrpviiled, howevec, tire oost of any capital improveincnts
(other tharr costs incuied qutryTt to Sccdon s,z1c;1ii) to the exreirt .ri *,fr-*rt, ;; il-"d
to be capital improvoncnts),, shall be solely the rfflnsibility of rhe parcel t own.r anil not an
A.scess F.xpsnse wiless (x) (i) suc]r cost is reqliredto coropiy witf, u GgBt neq;rcment or the ,

request of a Governmeirtal Authority and (ii) is not insuicd as a rcsult oio.iotorr."tion withconstruction_or any othcr activity on porccl I or (y) zuch cost is pre-approved uy rue rarcetiowner and thc Parcer 2 owner agees whe,n it proviaer su"l pro'.pp.6iJ i" ,t * tho cost ofsuch work. In all events and notw,ithsturding the forcgi"g tti, rr*l I o;; shall be so1elyresporuiblc for the costs snd cxpensos oitr,. rriti-a 6.o, Lpiou;;d including tbcRelocatod Parking,

.S-caion 3.3

(") No buildings, wars, frnoes or barrien of ury sort or kind sha[ beconstructcd or erected on any parcer br *y orncr which woutd proniuii or iaterialy hpairthe uoc or exerciso of thc Access Easernerrt or, until tf,. opini"i oithu loitiA l..uu,Improvernents for vehicular and pedcsrian ingress aud egross, ortire cuient acc.., .c"o.

o) Th9 Access erg"Tt or a portion thereof may be dodicated to thc public,provided that the Pucel r owner and/or parcel'2 o** * uppri"ubrc, shall obtain tre priorwritten consent of ttre other-owuer prior to penodtting my sugh d-edi"atiqn -J fffiher providedthat the Parcel 2 owner sha[.notbear any cost' o, oi*"'." *r*i"G-*iii *!l o.oi"uit"- i"the.extflt that all ot any portion of the Aicess nasement'is so dedicated, then tl," p*.": 1 Owaershall be reliwed of its obligations to maintain the poition of tho Access Easemeot that has besndedicated.

(c) The psrcel l and/or parcel 2 owner rha[ havc ths right to tcrrporarilyclose a portion of ths Access Easgmeot erea oittre currEnr Access Area fot sucb rcasonabloperiods of timc as may be:,easonably neccssary for creaning rapfi-;;;;, irrgroveroent ormaintenance or as required for emergenciee. llotwithstaodlng i,. f";A;i"e'i;j rcro* crosingoff any part of the Access Eassment Lrca or currsnt Acc*. .{; ;;;ilfi a*iovc lexcept foremergencics), tlre applicable owner shall give. at least tcn (10) o"yoiprio.r*itteo notico to thcother owner of its intcntioa to do so ano-stat oooroinate its olo,iing'widr td activities of tueothcr owncr so that no unrsasonable interference with the 
"gl..u", 

irtir. frricaure ease,€ntoccurs' (ii) any such closure shall bc limited to the minimum perioa ani rffirun mrount of

10

Attachment 1

675



BK 't6927 2206

closurc reasonably necessary to ichieve thp applicablo-g,pos€ alq to the extent reasonablyfeaslble (exccpt during emer-gencies), one atve tare ,1arf u" tept 
"pL rll*i."ru, baffic, (iii)a safcty guard or guards shall be placeil on the Access Easement Arsa or cG*t e"cos Areo, erapplicable in order to facilitatc the safe flow of traffic auring anv silt ti"r*. *a iirit""ttextent reasonably feasibie ("xcept for emergencies) any ,uih .io"*" 

"t,ui 
not occ,x durirgNormal Business Hours

scction 3,4 , .F'ins of spratior. subject to section 33(c), the current AccessAiea and, once constructo4.te ec""rs ffiGn*o .:ry, F op* twenty-four (24) hours perday' swen (7) days per week, three.huoarei d*ty-n"" (36, days p; l"ri,'p.*rora, that parcel
2 Owuer or Parcel 1 Owrrer, as.applicablo, sball ierrioruily.close of ti,o,q.c"s, ial'#; 

^[;or current Access Area" as appliiibre, or a portion ri**iia; ;.h-il;;;t; ;;ds of time asmey be legally uecessary to preveot the acguisition o

;l*xft *_H*"q$$[rr"t##ri"n]ffi "]Trirrffi ttr.H*';#iwritten notice to thc othcr owner of its intention to ao ,o po shail coordiuate-its closing with tleactivitjcs of the othq owner so that no u*"uro*iiu interference 
"itilti, opr*uon of the

1f: I"r"**l o:"yo, (ii) auy +rcn dos,re-shar-l b" lirtrited;; U, *,ii;", puiod aodminimum amount of closurc reasonflv 
Lecess.ary to prlilrsDt tho acqui$iti;n or greation of ariyprcscriptivc right by any Person and, tL &c o<idt ,easonabiy feasible, one drive larie shall bekept open for vehiculr raffig and 1ii4 to rt" art"oir"ur*rbry i;"ibi.;y;ch closure sh.ltnot ocsur dr:ringNormal Business Hor:rs

Section 3,5 
.. 

Sla*ine,o_f 
4c.coss Expens€s, Each Ownsr shall share in theAcccss Expenses based oo tt e folGffilEffii I owner shall pay 5g.4% oud the parcel 2Owner shall pay 41,6% of ouc,h acccss n-xpensar. 

'--

Section 3.6

(a) *" aT3 
I .On* shall keep accurate and complcte books and recordsof aJl receipts aud disbursornents-related to th, 

"p*iu"n, 
improvemen! repair and maintenanceof rhe Access Easement Arca- suctr uror.. *d Lras snfu t. .ruir"ui, ir, inspection andcopyrng by *re other ovnnos drrring Notmar g"rltrTr.Hgr, and upon not io. ilr"n five (5)daln' prior written notice tjo thl p;cr l G;-ft-rlrlj bu subjest ro any t'ird party auditand/ot inspection required by the other owner,ffiio"o trat no more iffi'il (1) such auditand/or irnpection shail te conduoea d-ri;t ffi ;rendar year. Tho parcel 2 onrngr etral1continue to bo obrigated ro make puy-ents"of i6 prrp",1i-di";;;iffi*"* Expensesrequired hereunder without offset oi d.a*tioo "ffir,*d,e thr;g"i"gldd".t of any suchaudit or inspecrion' The cosr of any such urt d-;r-, rydit ; iurpr&oririJi be paid by tbeowner requesting said audit; provided G.ili;;'""dtt ;#ffit.:;sresate AcccssExpenses ia a calendar vear have t"* o.t oJui"a tv,o-" than thrce pacenr (3yo), the parcer lowner sLall pay the cosi 

"t"o"t uuJii. 
- I '^Yrsrw ur

(b) The pscel 2 oo'er shar r€imb*so the parcer I owucr for its share ofany Access Expcnses pu*uart to section l j, *u,o thirfy (30) days uitai *-Jp, of an invoicefor the subjcct exp"nsi, provided trat the P;i i-6iner shdr provide sgtrcienidocumeotatisn

1l

Attachment 1

676



BK 16927 2207

regarding any such fiperue to allow confirmation that such oxponse is an Acccss Expense and
was incwred in aocordance 

lvith the provisions of 0rc Declaradou. AEy invoica not pai6 when
due shall bear inrerest at the Intc(cst Rate from the duo date until paid,

section 3.2 ilamq of Access jasemept fues. until such time as ueither
scienee Applications intia:national affiiuto o*r* oovof theparcels
or a portion thereo(, the aame of the strect located on tho cunent er"o, Lea or Accegs

Ir::yEf_t,3.1p-4*PJ": srrqll be_'scisrce Aprplicalions cout." Declaranr exprcssly stateslnat rt rs-not assigning to the Parcel I- Owner or any other party any legal rights that Declaraat orits Affiliates may have to the use of the trade name ,.sAic"'o, ;s"iil". -epplt,,;ilil;il;
terms or phrases incorporating the foregoing except to use the tam scierrceip;tcatjons corrt
Bs part of its address. Notwithstanding 

""yutiri ro thtj conbary h;.ir, iliil went that the
Parcel 2 owner dcsires that the name of the sLeet ihange fiom .$td6;ltJti'ons 

co.rrt,,, trre
Parcsl I owner shall cooperate in such same chang rt-ro cost or expensoiS t[ p**f I owner.

. ARTICI,Ery

NON -INTERFERENCE WTTTI UTILMIES

Each Owner shall use atl reasonable efforts not to interfero in any way with theservice of any utility, terecommunication senrice 
"r 

rr;tr, (6rd";';;r** or other) orstorm v{atsr drainage or detention systvn (includiog, witt out jir*iutioq CIr'tffihone and datacables idenfited on Exhibit g hereto) thurbenefqi"arqy otherParcsl without the prior writtenconsent of the owner of the affectod Parccl. If such-jnterfereorr r*n"i i. *oitted, (i) the
lwner w-h9 is responsible for zuch irtederence sball deliver prlor writtcn ioti., to the otherowner of thc lftelihood of sucb inte,rfereocs as long in advarcd u p"rriUi" *0" i1 all events, at
]east-ftirty (30) days prior to- such wor* (except driing emergen"i."l, *a-oajcoorclinate suchinterference with tlre eclivities of thc o'wua of tho-affectfr farcet so ttat no uurcasouaut"interference ocaxs, (ii) any intcrference shall bc limited to the;j;; p-*J ,rra mhimumextffit rea'sonatly possible, 8rd (iii) to the extent reasonably feasrbf., a"y 

"i"f, 
irterference shallnot occur during Normai Business Horus (ecrcqt du.iog emerg.ucj*r: Ai th. *quest of anyowner, each owner shail excsute and record. easemeils to attow tre use of the telcphone, rlataaod other telccommunication cables rcferenced in this. Article rV all in accoratance with rhisArticle fV,

ARTICLEV

STOR-TVi WATER EASEMENI; NEW STORM V/ATER FACILITIES

section 5.i storm watrr Epsemqnt For the Berrefi-t of parcer 2, Thers ishercby reserved in" over *d 
""-rs 

For"JlEE;T;efit of para€I 2:

(a) A non-excrusivc, perpctuar easemenl for storm wate! detention anddrainage asross that portion of parcer r de;#il i, nrrritit cr 
"ttuot 

JrreJo ar made a part

12

Attachment 1

677



BK 16927 2208

hereof ("Storm water Easement Arca"), including, wittrout limitatioq t1e r(ght to install andlepair unde'tground pipec md tie ilto and utrlize.url'sanitary grra ,tirr.i.io rTo.ros in oi 6n fte .storru water Easeurent Area and downstream th*.o{, rri."ra*.. ,ritr, d; Requiremarts,provided that the parccl 2 oylvr oh$t promptry repaii and restore the l;;;;r"g and ury otherImprovonents on the srorrn water Eas'em€ol ad'or ar.wi,o, on p*.a-i-iii ., damaged iuconnectioa q'ith the Parcel 2 owuer's use of the oasemerrt granted herein Tho parcel I ou.nershall be obligatcd to maintain tlrc stofEtr weter Easemcnt Area and any improvementg for stormwater dgcntion md drainage located on parcor t in compliuce;t( 
"ilG; Requirerne,rts.The.Parcel I owner shan have &g rigtt, at it soro;t and cxpensc, to rcrocate thc stoflr wsterEasernent Area if such rerocation is aisirabre in comt{g" r^ih;, il;;; thc <tevelopmcntof Parcel 1 so rong as such rerocation does not *utrriutty advosel'y utr;;to; drainage ft.mparcel 2, 

,;___rJ _r!y-vy.J e.rwr Ervrr.

(b) A non'excrusive, perpetual eascmert to *o,p*rltory storsr ryatermanqgement capacirv and Bcst Managemeni haaices (B-h{ps) reprtdill;'Fairfax cormty,virginia as of the Effecrive Date suffici-ert t" *pp".t p*."r z *itili tir" riprovcmonrc rocatedon Pucet 2 as of the Effsctive Datq (ii) any ua&iona pa*ing.ilfiA;-tf,;* Eecc*Sey toacrommodate the parking.requiremonts imioreo uy rrga n{oiro"*i, io.'ii. t p*u",o*olocated on parcel 2 as of rh' nmocdve Dati aoa riiil s:-ni!{ Acrcess Iruprwernents, oE, over,acmss and under parcer 
l3u ,9 t!e. O.elgntign e"'"1 p*tinJ ";-itidite2 heiero, at noexpensc to the parcel z owne{, piovided tt'"t p*ot 2 orae*ut pififfiiupair uod restorcttre landscaping and any orn.r i.proyeraenis r, ** area or crsewhero on parcet r thrt aredamaged in connccrion wit' the rarcei z o*no;r *" ,t*!.qpqrrl e*i.aio.er, exc.?t tothe extert resultiag fiom the Initial eccess tmprovJmts which nafl dshared by tne pardes asan Access Expense,

systerns p*ria$ ,* Pt fotu' 1 owner shall maintaiu the storm wpter detcotion and drainagc.

yi,*u.*f ,o,-to."; ;;*ffi :1)*H:8,Xfi Xffi H1:$l*fi.l#ilffi '-}tf
eompliance with a Legal Rcguiremcnt,_i" prop"aon to the draiuage flow inb such detontionsystem from each prcel (excruding ttre oow tom ttre Ar"*; i;;;'L* ,, any) asdotermined by vIKa or aolther *;";; rt 

"ily 
rg*o upon by the parccr r and parcer 2owners, excepr that (i) the parccr z 6*"* rrr.ii 

"oi 
u.,"+du t" Jnu,, i"iv fee, fine or 1eryresulting from the parcel l owner's r"ilur. to ti*eiy 
1omryiy ryitrr -y i"e"r Rhrrirement or snycosts resultiug from or arising in mnnectionwitir tne oeuffi*t 

"ip*&Ti,]o tiil theparcelI Owner shall not bo rcspoasible for, or ,.arirJ t iy" * ",y.fri **i* t g fine or levyresr:rring from or arising io connecrion wita tn" a*airrl,t'gr r1i*iiiJi Ly zub=oguentchanges thereto) or any chqng€s in Legar nequiremeob effectiug p*r.i i *a not similarryaffecting Parcer r (ec(c.pr to tt r otent,"Tatin!1i, tiu a"o, B*rf"r,t;;;b: 
*'

Sectiorr 5-2

In connection yitn.u; Initiar Developuent or any uulseque.nt deveropment onParcel l, the Parccl 1 ovrncr, at its sole *rt *i expq'c ,ia in udooriance wfth Lqat
[?'rT,rh;lfl:l*Tffi m,rux**xraws"m:Idil;l#ffi Hffi

13

Attachment 1

678



BK 16927 2209

will continue to be sufficient to, support pucet 2 as required pursuart to section 5,r. However, ifary changes to Parcel 2 or the Imfrvaneot* tocat"a urereon require thc installation of additionalfacitities or the oodificarion oi *:r-"1*"*-rrirtio, u"i ar-p-diT o*ro shalr beresponsible for the cost and experlje thoefoa pioviJed,-howwer, nrt ir, 
". 

**t shau the }arccl1 owner be obtigated to.expand o, otr,oure ,r,;tfy th, !;;;il.# iii**, Area in amarmer that wourd roducb tui anount ;ip;;;i i'i..t .* uu deveroped in accordarco witlr rheInitial DevelopmeDt plan.

ARTICLE VT

.. MONIIMENT SICNA'GB

Eech owner sha, have the righ!-but not the obrigation,.to insta, one (1) monumetrt sigr

Wmrit'j,**t'.*r.nl,,t#rr,m.mthe o'rvners shalr apee in advancc oo tn*iir. oi*i 4r..., Mouument sign and the narure andsize of thc lettering aad gaphics n"r*r. r.ronur*,J?rair,.g the provious rirrtuoc", thc parcel 2owuer,s sign may include the,,sergitoio ;,ilh;ffi;'.filf 
a pr eyru us senror

. MAINTENA}.{CEAND OPEF.ATION oF PARCELS

Subject t. thc parccr I and parccr 2 owncr's obrigations punuant to section 3.2and in addition to all other-requjrements ra r"r0ri*r* each of tle parcel I and parcel 2Owners shall uec reasonable ;trods to;*"t.f, ,r, i"r*f 
"r"fitir""*, il"irffii*"*limitarion during construction activities-,r,Jl,'t ;l*tanco with n.rt ctu*ist oa_ar,

il:tfli:: 
*"out limitation uv t..pi"e it' i;Li.i.* -a * ru 

"ra"Lirl" i reasonarry

ARTICT,E VIII

REMEDIES

section g,r t.grt ar.a rqurtatts n"rr* - The covenants, conditioos,restrictions, reservations. easemenb *a;gd;hffi cootained sharr run with thc land and sharl
l,i.tllflif;J?"*fj,T}f ': 

tt" 91'"ni-3r'.'ii'-#,* its respective su;;o,, and assigns,
tho eveor *i o;; [p;ff To?}H..jffif,l1 S,,S,[ Hiff :i"f#iffir:]"f; J:event of anv violutioo'oiffifriJt"i'ritr'i pecraration ty o neruottrng parry or suchDefautrine parfy's permi*e* *e ;*-;;;;srr;r"*, ti,,u t" ..i., *J-J"t"r, or stop such

I4

Attachment 1

679



BR 16927 2210

violation or tllreatened violation within thirty (30) days after written aoflcc ftom another owna
(thc "4treetd Pryty'), or lf such dcfault is not capabli of being cured' within such thirty (30)-day
period, sucb Defaulting Party has not commenced the qre wi6in such thirty (30).dayP*oi *i
diligvtlly pursued the completion of such cure, the^Affectod Party shall'have tf,e;grt to 19tT_qy: tesa..a1to.n reainst thc Defryltiru pafiy for specific p*fo-*"u, injunctiie reliii
oecrararory rcrre! damages, u ily gther roreil! providod by law; provided, bowoyer, neither
party shall bc liable for consequeartial or prmitive-damagc.; (il; rdro d*rgo for any such
violation or defaul! analol iiii) tak€ s6l'f-belp actiou toihs'eattent *d oniy to tlre'extcnt
permitted undo Section 8.2 below, Atl rernidies under this Decluatiou * i,t f.* rf,"U t,
curnulative and not inchuive, As used hereln, any refersnce to rights - r*J.rlJut il" ;;
"under applicable lawn shall also includo any rights or remedies "in frUty',

section 8.2 Rigtrt tq cure, h the cvenr any owner defaults undor &eprovisions of this Declaration and such Owner fails to ome sodr Oefau:t within ttre timo paiodprovided ia Scctio'n 8.1 abovq the Affccted Party which sent the O"i.oft ,"t* shall havs the ,

right, but 1ot tho obligation, upon tlrc orpiration of such period, to ;u ;;i, default for the
account of a:rd at'the orpenso of the_gefa:ttlng parry, nrior to taking *t ,*h actloo, suohAI:*d Parg shall dotivu thirry (so) oa)5, [Jo, *itt*'notice lwiich notice shall be in
fj,{:L?]T-rytlf^,'.qrir"d *oe. s"ction e.r nermgto tn"D;f;rilG-ifrrpeci}ingwith
det{uls the nature of thc actions that such Afected Party gving suclr nof,ce proporo io take,in
order to cure the claimed !!Id! 'The Dcfautting rarty itatt idtuuune thc'Affected party fo;
e:Penses incurred by tbe Affected Puty in connection with its exercisc of its righte purruarrt tothis section 8'2 wirhix rT (tol days aftti an invoice thcrefor .*;;;; by appropriaro
supporting docusreltatiorfor sudl-iDEts; -

section E'3 - Intcrllt If imy Atrccted parry,,so perforrrs any of the DcfaultingParty's obligations hcreurdcr or if-a oefaulting party fails ti rtrr, , r,'.yment under thisDeclaratiou to an Affected parry, the fufl amofot of thc cost ;d;rp;; ir""J t th;Affected Party or thc damagc so zustained ti1 tire pa_4n9nt not madc uy iie nefErIG p;,ylo
the Affected P_arty, ae.the case may be, shau imrn'aiiatety br d; ;J;vri"g-iy the dof".,rl"tirg
l"q ]g the Affected pgtrand the Defayrtle party sbalt foy to m erectea:prrtv upon dernudthe tult amount thereof with interest at the In]sesiRate to; the date 

"tp"p,*ir"l t" G';[!. of a monetary default, the dqte such sutn was due) until such paym;i i, ;"ri;it,rccived by theAfuedPart),,

Scction 8'4 . Lign. The Affected party is hereby granted a lien qron the prcel
of $e Defaulting-party i: tjre.amorgt of any such pqmo,t madc by ue aricteri.tv 

"iplnount not-paid by the Defauhing party, pursuant to seotions g.l, g, or a.l, tog"tto withinterest at the Interest Rate tbereoq whith amourt is not paid wi'u,fu tt ty (30) days aftec
9quro is made, and said rien may be enforccd uy3rticia 6.ecr; d;dings against thcDefaulting Parry's parcer ina.ccordance with thcn applicable virginia i;. iil Affccted party
shall lavo the right to filc with thc approrpriatc governrnental ofEce or ofEces a mernorandum oflierl lis+endcng or.othcr no-tice or ,roioo a, may be rcquirc.d by raw 1, eivi ioticc of s,ch rien' and thc 

1ryoun1therco4 said notice or noticcs to'ue tteo atcr tfrc.ipilf,oo oi*ia rrrirty tsol-day period' Thc lien herein granted shall be pnor to ano sup#or;;;y oiher riens orcrr'rnbrances m the Defaulting pErrys parcei, includint *ir*i *r.g #attadring bsforo,

15

Attachment 1

680



8K16927 2211

on and/or after the dato on which notioe of such lien and the amorrnt thereof is liloil with thaappropriarc governneflrar office or officos, but excruding rh.ld h;illt;ilrird partv horde,t ofa bona fide finr lien Mortgsgc u-fl9"tioe t u orrrJtirig-p*ryt ir*.iril;; prior to fte dareon which notice of zuch lio and rhe dount tr,*.otii fird;fth o'; ffiffi.i;;ffj}fioffice or offices (howwer, notwithst&dhg the f;r%oing, such rien 
"*ilJ"uvtr,i, Articre vIrIshall expressly survive any foreclosrre ,r'o*,o *rffir-r,-r"ti."#*"#er any rue;h firstIie'n Mortgage)' additionally,norurithitandinttil" ro*goiog in no went shall &c foreclosure orany othe,r enforcement of such lien created iv Uris artictJW .rrofii" u t"rmination of anyleasE of anyportion of aparcbl or any tmp,rov#*t, tn"r*rr" -- - -r

Thc horde'rof a Mortgage on al1 or a4y portion df a pucer shall havo thc right tobe subrogated to tho ooaitioa of thiioldcr-oi*y [", arising pursuant to Eris Artiqle vItraffecting the prop"rtv J".,rraly ttft;;;;pol'puy.*t ofrhe snount ryrurd by such rien.

section 8'5 No Termination. A breach of this Declaation shalt aot entitle aryparty or psrson to cancer, ."..id or oth.nrriil terrriuato its obrigatione hereunder,

ARTICLE D(

MORTGACEEPROTECTION

' Each Affected Party giving a totice of default undcr lhis Deolaration shall surd,in accordance with seaion, tz.z'hieof,a ."ry; *"u ooGloG-rraont.gr" under anyMortsase on the parcel and/or rmprov;il;i'th;b-ril,;i;f*-;#;;X 
such Morlgageeor Defaulring partv shar have previousry r;;iil; Atr;t.d;rrtt'riiru* i,rr.ring it of tleexistcnce of such Mortgage urO tir" name of ,tu ,*o" or officer and thc address to whiehcopics of tho noticcs of defaults ur". to t" L"i La ,u"t Mortgagee as ricipient of noticspursuant to sectioo l2'7 below shall be permitted to cur' any such default not later than sixty(60) days after a copy of the noticc of de,i;ilrhril have bee,rr.sc,ut to such tut*g"go, providedthat in the case of a defautl:_H* 

"r*"t y,*r-oGJnce bc rmqtiuo *iurr, *o, sixry (60)-dayperiod, if zuch Mortgagce has coruncnced within"auch ,iHyJ;ifr;t oi"rj'r"o is proccedingwith diligeoce to rsmedv strch defaulr th* ;;M;g"g".,riar u-e'rr,rt, uoaiu*a pcriod asmay be reasonabry trqc€ssary to re,redy *"r, a"auri y* aqrrr""" *J*Ji",rity, antr truriagany such 
".no 

period ftr *p"t$ larry srran riit*1.n"g erercising its remedy ,o enforce itslien against the parcel of ttre. Defa'ltiE i""r;rrr r*gro"orrfrt, tt;; Iniriation offoreclosure pmceedings uc"Tl r u.rrJfi"ei;rr;rh.u ;";iilt;'"CiiirliJ o, a Mortgageehereirnda so Iong as such fore cro.*e pro.".iiog*L" 
"*,tinuourly 

p.lnueo (p_ mvided &at a stayissued firring any bankruptcy, i^orrJicy, oi iffi*ooo proceeding shal not be deemed todefeat continuour prrs,r"ice of such fonJ"for*" i"grv_enotieeorJ.r,'urr;;M;;;;;"ffi ;H:iff fl :lf?;It:"%?ffif ffi,nfidefault stiatl not precrude tb" ,;;#;;rr;vH.ai*.ug * 1g*ed.party providod pursu'trt r0sections 8.2, 8.J and 8,4 (except to tm #eri sucl"Affoded party is re4uired to forbcff ftomo<ercising its li€'n pursuant to trris Article Dq 
-il; 

mndominiil *rorr'"ti'oo] a hom@wners,associarion or anorher simitar association r* il*" *t uffi**t'ridill?*r_r or parcers,thsn fqr p'rposos of this Articre D(, ; ;tr .t.d ,& *yi"g a noticaof dsfault sha, se,rd such

16

Attachment 1

681



BK 16927 2212

notice to the applicablc association (or thc declaraut uldcr the applicablc operating documents if
ffirtffiS';;,,I" o,* u,i*rm,Jllo G or_*;i,s:;;h;i#,1 ,i* *r"ngagees (a
**",**ffi ;.8;;i:9"3f; l:"H j1;ffi l*:glnx.:,,m.I,##;
:r[rJJiil* deraurt notice to tJre appricabi" u'iil,rffiil;ililiit r",r,. righr to core

. ARTICT,EX

ASSIGNMBNT, TRANSFER AND MORTGAGE, LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

Section l0.l 
af.

(a) If an Owuc,t shall sell, ransfer

'hdl. J'I:*'_ uli*,a.i * tr,i,,,u,-.iii,i b #,TT{:1# ll f}:ffiHt":Jffi ',Imodified bv scctioo I0'4), h-e rcleas.d fu; id-;bG6ons here*,der *ifi 
-fr*t 

to sucb parcelor portiou thcreof accruini n",, _J"n-J.-rJarL]:irG il;, ilr#;;Jj*_ent. rt sha[be a conditioo procqdeot ti *'e rerruse ;d d;#il;il;;;ffi;*;:1. owner thd thcfollowing conditions are sarjsfied: i;j ;dr;;;? or a,,igrror shan give notce to rhe orherowncrs of anv such salc' 
raD:f€r, ;.;;;*;;..*iqrit *";;Iy;th thc firing forrecord or the instrurneut^etre9tuatiog rh"i;; i; F 6ii& #-r}ffiu]ile rerrninatioqwithin tlirtv (30) davs aflcr the t#iil;;d;o, ag! &) ure tansfaee shal e*ecute anddelivcr to the othcr o*or e vnithn .t"tor*i io- w_Iich (i) the nano srd addrcss of thetransferee shall be disclosedl and (ii) *," ir*ri'rrJrtall ackoowlcdgo itc obligation hereundcrand agrecrnent to bo bormd tiv flrit rir.iu*tion uriJperform an suct outigati-; applicable to itin accorrdaace wit' t'e proririo* 

"f 
rbi;;;;"iion Fairruo G ;;ri; *y s'ch wrinenstatement shall not affect tbe.n:rurg 

"t rorv *r*Ltr rr*rin *iu, rt";;;, nor sba, suchfa*ure uegate, modi' or ot,erwisE ,ud il;-ifr;'oi ';'#,ffi#."0*roun, 
,o *"p'rovisions of this Decrararior,, llt *.r, ruir,rr" rlu Jr iiJtJ 

" ffiil;ii, the transfereehereundef. NorwithstandiDg_.ri*ins to il;;'*fi-hr, :'dffil ioffiilJt,ip or entitiesto whom Decrarant conveys parcel irh.r ililil'uc right to sal,-taolio *-irsig, a[ or anyportion of rhc parcer *irirgut trr. mrr *itt* ,irr9* or o"crarantiiiii'the earricr of (x)substsrtiar compretioa of the rnitiai D"r"i;;;;;;l tyl t*rlojy.* u[#rf; rr.oive Darel

6";l# *X#X;Hltthing 
hnein t. iitiii#i"^'ri,;li.r! i*i.,i iGf', *irity ro fficr

Bro,rr*r6;;;;tu;::ili'J:ffilfl l'ft S?f*t'H*,?*i[:l']ffi *ffigrD alt or anv porrion of rre parcer to;;ffi;, I"*.rt;;;:ffi*q tow,home,and/or condominir:u dwetoper, !""i";G;fi;frr'1b. tr,F, igilffi -ffi 
tp*r*rrr, ro,its Parcet in accordance wiln tiris ffi;;til;JLr.*1" zoning upprovals, subjccr to thePacEI 2 owner's reasoiable approvar;;;c*;;, ;, portio,n 

"rti,E 
irrJii-a \aortgagr" 1*othcrwise prohibit said Mortgagoe too, Lx#sr"Llti i"*"ar* fi;-r;;;agc inctucriog,without limitation, obtaining-trri p*.i u".rgrrT.*"r"r*. * il;:#i#f. Aay reque'tsubmitted to the Parcel z o*r* r"" rperlr"ir#i *-*t-iora ,rlt ac"ti.a infomratioaregarding rhc proposed pu.rn*o o. *riiirloi il';il f#;iii ,i irlriiffi*r.

17

Attachment 1

682



BR 16927 2213

O) If any Parcel is sold or otherwise transferred (including via a grormd
lease), sudr transfers shall be subject to thie Declsration -drh;;*;fb":;'tirjrreir,e thc lesseeunder any ncw grouad lease and the ressor under a groun<t teaso ,*aqriri;;prssession upontermination of such ground lease) shall bo bound by its quusrerols obugationitrcreunder as fullyas if suc'h transferees were originalry parties hereto, uoa *r, olrigrIi;;r[ *, with and bobinding upon the parceG ard be blniung upoir-ari subsequent dil th;f, inclding anyclaims or liens arising under this pectaration against a prior owner of a prcel whtch shall
gontlnue as to irny k,,"feree of such parcel, Notiithstandlng *vtt rg t" trr, *ukary herein, inthc,ovent that all or gy portion of parcel I or pucel z is zu"t3ect to J"" * 

"ror" 
condominiuur

legles, any and all such condomiuium regimes shall be-subjJ-*J *ioraioate to thisDeclaration,

(c) In the eveirt that a Parcel is divided iuto one or more sepamte logal lots, oroondomlniunrs, each of zuoh soparate legal lots strall thereafter bu .oo"idt'to be a ,?accl, 
asdefined in this Declaration and the owuers of each such lcgal lot shau t" * i,owr"r'; provided,

foww3r, that, with rospect to a-condorniniuur, oeoectuantrmoe, tre conjomloiuur regimo and,thereafter. as appropristo under the applicable condominium operating doerments, thocondominjum association, as opposed to the individual condominiril"rrri ooo*, sball bcconsidercd the "owoer" ltl*3dvr, o"ept as otherwise provided herein. Furtlcr, in tho evorttlal thq multiple owners of a parcel are'memb.". or o lor*wno;, 
"rro"iutioq 

ihe declsrantunder tbe opcrating docrrneats of qhe homeowner's assosiatio" -0, tr,r.ri"r, as appropriatcunder the applicable doouments, the homeowner's associatioo irsor[ al q,pora"t" t 
" 

individualmombcrs, shall be considertd thc "owuer" he,reunao, except as oiaods', g.riaa herein andprovided fi[t]rer that the associatioi 
-hat 

tlrc rieht da *tilority ltrrsu-i i" tte associatiou,sgoverning docrments to undertake such obligatiJns and to assess it mcrnbers th€refff without thoapproval of the members. \ the evqt th-a1 . poJoo ftut not 
"lll 

,i-i**i I or an intcresttherein is convcyed or otherwisc transferred *ar, tt"t thcre is more lhan one owner of tbe landthat constitutcd Parccl I as of the Effectiur o*.,-tLn tno owncrs or*""rr-F*."r shall desigrateone of thern who shall have authority to act on'bchalf of such orvncm vis-a+i, the owner ofParce1 2 and they shar notiff the parcel 2 owua of-said desipee.'-itotittrtuoaiog tt"fongoing ugtirig herein $1ir urry1 *y or trre ierncdics availabre to the parcer 2 owncrpursuant to Article vltr, including withoui lirnitatiou, the right of-se-f-ffi ili tr,. rigtt ro plu."e lien on thc propcrty of any o*ott, incuaing *v "*"* "r a condominium rrnit or meirrbsr of ahomeowner's associatio4 pursuant io sectiois.+. ],ro !wn9r of a regal lol(s) shail be obrigatedor liable for the acts or omissions ofan owner ofauotha logal Iot(s), aod the obligations andIiabilities of each ownen shall not be joiut *d r*"rrr, Each owner agrdes that any claim orriglt (including lieo rights) it-may havi-againrr anott cr owuer purnrurt to this Declaratlon shallbe madc or asserted against the ap.pricobri oro*ro *a tir, #ri*ur. ia.*irrl s,hosc actionsor omissions are at issuo. Notwithstandiag ,offig to the contary contained herein, in theevent that the Parcel I owner crcatcs a irasicr owner's associatiou for parcel t and guchassociationhas-0re obligation and autlrority pur*-ito tn. association,s govemiag documents toundcdake the Initial consEuction ana vainteqance obligations *a uritr,"-*ility to assoss itmernbers therefor without ttre approval of the m.,nte"s Ctgg$er_A'$cigtie[,), tbc parcel 2owner shall arsert any claims- or;ght ttut u," i*oi z o,riro-m.y nffi&om or reratingto the Initial construction and.lvtaiitcnancr otrisrtiors against thc Master Association- uutil aMaster Associatioo satisfting the regulrenrerrts ol'tt" pr*ioo- seqtencc is creatcd, tbe ownccs of

t8

Attachment 1

683



BR 16927 2214

ly:d I shau be jointly and swerally liable for thc Initial construction anit MaintcnancsObligations. As used t."i", ',qUU po,irer"dorl;a liarurEii*." Oti;tio*j,shall mean onlythe obligations tirte parcet t oq,o.r pG;nt toTrticlc 3, ttrc orpansion of thc oristing stormlval€t get:rtior pond pwsuant to scction 5.2, and tt" oi,rigutroilrih":i,;*il--d,**;';;
maintain the Cu:rent Access Area, Access Easiment Area md Storm Wato Easemcat Area asset forth in this Dcclaration,

Section 1 0.2 . 
pgsssssorypgtv Rcrraina \espoosiblc. Notwith$t,nding an)&ing. tcifte contrrv hereia contained, irffiil;il; of its parcer incormection vrith a sale aud leasebacli or lcase and. sublease'b"rk, ;di;]trll sim'ltaneouslybecome vestcd with a leasehord estate or ri*iL posrurrory iot rest in1t, r-rlra by virtue of a

fl'r"#i::#,hg* or ressee, ." 0," ;";;;il ue, or iri) ,h"ii;;;y.* or any portior of
parcer,the,n,in-;il;r1:ft'.lilyriiey;'3';**rd,BllL{"jffi 

il?li:f :l#leasebsck or losse and su!]ees.-e,ba"rq or drc M-ffilce or beneficirry;d* *y *"r, Mortgage,
P" 9"q":9 to'be an Owner with resi*t il *"t i'rii*f or portion thueof or td'have assumed orbe bound bv anv of suctr ownoh otrigutioo, tur"*do'fi;;i;;;;#'Lumer sherr retainsuch posscssory intereot, nn{ 29h-ot-!idat; il G" shtus as an 6rnq hersunder with respectto such Parcel or portion thereof shall iontinu" to rernain solery tlr;;;;;ffi*own.r so long ,ssuch owner retains such possessoq intJest, ano performan* a'y *rn o..o* 

"iany 
act rcguiredto be performed uoder this Deora"altio" tviior n inrr**t or*y *raitioniiiiis oeclaration uysuch owner shall be deemed the perforrnarc; ,i;;i act or the fi,rlfilrmqoi 

"i*cn.ondition andshall be acccprable to rlreowners with ure.s. re i"rre *3 "ry! ;td;foriea or ftrfilcd by

Scction 10,3 Rights_ of parties. Notwithstanding aoythiog to tho contrarycontained in this Deqlarauon, ea"tr owoe"Eiy -ortgage its purwl or lts interest t}rcrein atrd/orsell and leaseback' or lease ard sutleasc taci iL parccl or it intercet thc,rcur" rind, in connectionwith any sush t'gnsEctis4 a;sip its iut€trcst in trri. o-."ra,*ron: Ii;; ir"tr tr,torrgage i*forecloscd or a deed delivcred dueu or roreoio*rr, * if any owner sbali have ontercd into Isale and leaseback or a lesse and subleasc back transacion iavolving its parcel and any suchorrner is tlrc lessee or subressee tn*",rnaer ana *rt ror* oi ,rtT&* .urir u" deprived ofpossesrion of such Parcel by reasoo of its failure to comply with the tsrms of sucb leaseback orsublease back, any person or.ontity who_ has urq*ir.a, ;Urlr th;.r#;;;r, fitle to suchParcel or a leaschold estate therein *r,un lorJ tte sane sutile to all otheriecns, provisions,covena.ts! conditions and restistio,E Contained iu this Occlaratiou

scction 10.4 Ground Lesses. If anv ovrner of fce simple tifle to a prcer has.entered into, ot shall cnto ioto, u grollod lrus" oiitl otire parcel, fte,n the lesseE rdo. guchgrow:d lease sball be deerned to bc the Oumer oisuch farcel ana io n""" *r,*.0 or be bourdby any and all of such oumlrs outigations 6icilirrrg, 
_rf 

uperi*tre,.thc oblrgation to sewe as theParcel I owner) hereunder for so toirg ,s *.h l€ss.;shs]f t" tu" ro..e rrooEiuch ground lease,and such obligatiuns and the slanu as an o** no**oer shall continrJo-*"t solely thoseof such less.c so Iong as guch rcsee rh.[ ;;til;*sec under buch ground lease. The lessorunder any suoh ground lease shall not u" ol iler or tte rarcci il trll ;"t have any of therights or obligations of an owno hereunder *ti-rr"tt trr";tt;s;;'r'Jsc tsrminetes or

19

Attachment 1

684



8K16927 2215

expires, provided, tlat such lessor shall; 8t no cost or expenss to such lessor, cooperato in goodfaith with the ]essee if the invorvcm*t-;ith;l*sor-ia. reasoaabry.nccessary under thecircumstrrcc$' upon such terrrination or expiiuG of such grourrd leaso, the lesso,r thcrermdersirall become the owner of thoparoel:rbd;;;i*na tv-trretinn, oi'tiJi..t"rotioo-
Scction tO.: 

-FeEgLoLu*i&. No.Owua or its parkrers, veDtuqs,onployees' sharcholders, uffriat.r, bffiG,Ggrl 
lcents, *p.*iotiw"r, advidors, orconsdtants shall have any personal. iiabiliry for its or t-reir 
falrurc to pcrfonu any covEnant, tennor cgndition of this Declaration, it bcing ,iprcsrty O.il ;.' ;; o;; in ji9. yt s ! ea ;t il ;i,fJtff *j: HqT:,'J# %fHTIffiowncr darnaged as a result of such a"raott rt.ui. ugalust, the rigtrt, titlo anal interest of suchowner in rhe parcer involvcd yg F" rrnpior*r*tr-t#rr,, #lriint-tt'-procceo, or*r"received upon exccution 

9f rych ioago*itnui*r, against the right, title ryrd intercst of suchowner in the parcor invorved *{ q: Improvon-Jr -,r,.r"o";;T; 
i*irL om* income orrsvenue fiom such p,opep 

ryeivabre by zuch or** o, thc consideradonio"i".a by ruchowner tora the gale or otlrer-diqpositjon linctuain! a condeoouation) of alt or F,ny pad of sushowner's righ! titleand intcrcst in thc Pmccl irvoir& *o Improvemcntl ther€on or.the iosuralc,eproceeds rcceived by euch Ownerreqpecling ,oy.r"rufry utr-ffilng Urirrpr"i#*tr.
section 10'6- lri*!:#*!u,+Ea& This Declaretion and the riglrts, interests,Iicns (subject to th. ptovisio* oFffiiT7ffi, and easemeate c.reated hereundor shall beprior and zupcrior to any Mortgage or oorer Ii;;pA or against ooy ownor,s parccl otler thansrch liens as by law have priority ovcr th. tien anJiferation ofthis Dectaration.

ARTICI,E )CI

GENERAL INSURANCE AND CONDEMNATION PROUSION

+tg trp-1ii"t',hk'r ffi , r:H?t XlyrJ 
^Nffi;ANTY OTHER OWNER. F-OR AN-T AND AIiiOi OT, OR DAIVTAGE TO,.ANY OF ITSPROPERTY, INSUP'/qBL_E UNDER, 

'ITT, 
. iIST POUCIES OF INSURANCBCUSTOMARILY AVAII^BLE AT TTD APiUCAiLE TIME.

Sec.tion l l.2 InsuranqE.

(a) Each Owner shall continuouslvgeocraltiabiliry'insuran;;,F,i"i-'#'E::il",ffi tr-Xffi fr'ffi;",ffi trfltransact business in virgini_a and of good fi;.tfi st{,aing aDd h8s 
" 

i'"ri, i.tiog of A orbctter and a Financiar size category oix or-largq,;;n ir"i*" t" 
"miaiiii*o, p-r""rioo

:#*'#t'lfi.']!ffi;'',; ''',; ;i ;'d;ii' *i'o ; ;;h ili;; ffi'.-, damage in

(b) Each 
lwncr.;hall, oo Arc request_of anothcr Owner, promptly furnish therequesting owner a certificatc evidencing *re rori,icr ovme.r's compliauce witl ttre insrra,c€

20

Attachment 1

685



BK 16927 22t6

coverage requirsrneots of this Article }(J. No owner shau be requirod during any given 365_dayperiod to honor more than one_such reque$ fi;;;ch othcr ovmu, udes;an owner stat's itsreason fof belioving that a poriry ,,uy tu*t.,"o cance[ed. upon re4ues! rny owner shallpermit any other owner orltr r.pre.ituu"L ut **,.aucsting owner;s drt *o expo*e toinspect and copy anv inr**"r po'ii"y ."qrir.a Lao this;\rticr;K.' s".r, G..uon sha, be at

ffi i,Iffi ;:H:i 
n css o r fie o*o".,equi st.tt;.p;;d;; ;;ffi; ; ilifi'.* d,ring Normar

ti.etroouero,,lcir,",#""}'ffi J-r*,Hffij;H'*Xffi ,"#:::.q"i:fl ,#,iffi ,1,:to limits tlren applicable for comparablo p*d".-"
(d) Each owncr (b*t not the decrarant.or association, as applicabrg urder acondomini,rn regrme) shail. havrc _e" ;e1,; ri i,s 

"pu"i, i" *--':rir# 
"ro sarisg itsobligations uoder this A{d: x bv -Jrl "i * ;"-.a,ed btr,il:;i p;ii; o, poricies ofinsurance coveriog this and other Iocitions;;;-d**, prtJo".Jilii,ilil"porcy or poriciesbv thc terms thereof shalr arocote r.,u. iiruiiG! i;'irffi;;ffiu"i'XJ._o*, not ressthan the aEoIIlt of insurance rrq"trrd ;";;'"#.n pursuant to this Article XI and shall notdiminish ihe obrigations of ttre particJ; il;; carry insmancg so that fte proceects fromsuch jnsurance shall be 8n alnowt not leso ihan 0ro amount ofproceeds that would bo avuilable ifthe owner wsre insured under a pori.y apelicui* .iry," the gppricabrc parcer.

(e) If a candominir.un association, a .homeowners, associatio[ or trrothsrsimilar associatioo has be€,n cstabtisr.d ;ith ,*iP; to 
"ra*et oip*csi,-iro, for purposes ofmaintaining the insurance reqwed *oo tti.-sIti'on 11.2, the tem ,,owner, shall m6an thcapplicable association (or ihc aecfrant il;-dr;

aisociarion r,* 
""f 

y.ti'ecn estabrish"al in,t ua oi,f.tl"ffir:i1'*TJTltT:r;iil,:
association provided that th9 association 6th;;Ett and authoriry pursumt to the association,s

ffirffi :f lffi Hill:o**'*'totristio,'?ot"**'ii'i#i#ti-ererorwithoutthc

Section I t,ownershauu,i;;lil;:Lrrmiffi :,1_r#llil],*I;"tr1,ff1Ioss, darnages, costs and orperues_ (iacrudi"g, *i-thiru, IimitErioD, il;;.# attome/s fecs)because of bodily inj'ry or diath orioro*=#a*tg of pmperty resurting tom or arisingout of zuch ewneds conshuction 
"! *r;;;;;Lruprin"v-or'por.er.ioo.-r itr parcer, theAccess Easemeut Arco' &e Access E r"".*r, ;; 6,*ior -4r"roar.i ir,I droao", parking

f#T.*, 
other owner's par"et, excrpi to-tt 

"'ri't-*i.u*ed by rtre ecb or omissions of another

shallapply 
sectionll'4 

T&ing' tf a Taking affecting any Parcer occurs, the following

-G) any award of compensatior or d-arnagesfor a Takiug of a parcel, or aoyportion ttrereod or ihe Improvernents therecm, shali berong snd be payabraoorery to the ownet

2l

Attachment 1

686



BR 16927 2217

that owns tlre Pscel taken and uo other ovmer shall sharc in such award, except sE cxpresstyprovided below;

(b) any procecds athibutable to the.Access Easeurent Area, any AccessImprovemcrt or any Access Mouumenl sign shall be paid to the parccii orl"o -o the parpel Iowner shall use such proieeds to restore tr;e ecru* **uerrents or Access taonrrmert sign *oe'rly as possiblo to its conditiou immediatcly prto. to *.r, Taking to pcrmit the continued usethereof' To the extent the cost of-restoring *'.i, eaao, Iruprovenreote or Accegs Morumcntsign exceeds rhe amount of proceeds avaflaSte urcrefor, (, ;i; U;;;il;veorenrs, each
Qyner slull be reqponsibre for such 

"x*"ss 
i; th, same proportiou as esch such orner isobligated to pay tho Accers Expcnso pr*o*it section r.'r;to ,h" ,;r"* whose AcoessMonumeot sign was taken as to *y e."os trronumuot sign shalr bc respousible for suchexccss; md

(c) if, I^: :**1 oi a Tali& rhe Acocss Easomeut is cxtinguishcd ormaterially impaired or the Access Monumeat sifrmay no Ionger bo mcintained, the,n changesshall be made ro'provide ao Eccess easemant-uraroi eer;prrrr;-;;;r signage rightscomparable to the extent. cornrnercially practicable under the "tr,*;G; to the Acc.ossEmement and monument sipage riglrta ouot"a orre.e"veo unoer this Decramtior

section ilS Ta;r.pFyrnenls End contqrrs.- Each owner shalr pay ar taxos,asses$mcnts, use and oqpqgy taxeg water ana swer-r cn*g*, r"t", L['L,r, charges forpublic utilitics, excess levies, license *d ,uh.;;;crmit fees-and t*o, *a kf,o charges bypublic authority, gerreral *dVy{,";a.yrV *a i.qaordinary, forrr.*.*J*forcseon, of anykind and narure whatsoevcr, which slrdl b; *.t."a, brt;;A;;A J*i*o, imposed orapplicable to a Parccl owned by suoh osmei or [np,uvemcot t]rqoon. Each of the owrers
T."y' { its oxpense, by approariate profd.ggr, ,,0 

"to thirfy (30) J;yg,iritten notice to theother own.rs, contcst *re-va1dity, appusabili-ty, or-arnount of any such taxoe md ssessm.ot'applicable to its parcel o._tmp*v-e'o.nts thereo;, 
-buch 

contestmirib;-rd;in good faitr anrtmust not allow the affccred parcel to be forfeitcd or pr*a in j*p*ay 
"i[tg irrr.;r"a.

ARTICLE )trI

MISCELLANEOUS

sestion l2.r 
. 
covcqants Run_ Eig the tand. 

. Ar-r .of thc provisions, riihts,Powers' easemenb, covqnarlts, conditions ana otlimtions conraiaed iu this D'eciaradon shall bebinding upon and inure to ttri benefit 
"i 

d,; c;; fir"l*erp;v.;u.;;* and assigns.Each covenant to do or r.fr:T to- qd"s ;;';{;;;h'p-Jili#rffiil (a) is for thebenefit of rhe other parccrr, (b) r,u,s *tft ilh pr*"r,3oa1cj siar il;i;il binding uponeach successive Owner atuiu! itsperioa of ownusfr;p of eac,h parcel.

section l2'2 Recordatiou. This DcclaraHon shatl becomc sffective and bindingupon the owners and thoir respcc'tir**oo io intaest upon tho Effeotivs Dab and shall bepromptlyrccorded ia thereal properryr."oru, of fu;fox C"ily, ddrd;. 
-'- "

22

Attachment 1

687



BK 16927 2218

Section 12.3 Termination aid Amen&h€nt.

(a) Except as othErwisc specified in this Depraration (incruding,
without limitatioo Section lz'lz wtrigtr may be terminated by the parcel r owaer alone), tlisDeclaration m1y be caucercd, changed, mooinea or amrnded ii, wr,ori or in part only by written
and recorded instnrment cxecute.d_iy'alt 

-owners 
(and trrcir r"sp".d;Mii*rrol, provided,

howeycr, that with-regpect 
Jo sny Parcol for which a condominiurm associatifr, a hommwuers,

association or anothcr similar associatioa has been establisbed, trr. *os*t oii majority of theUnit qwNrs of each such ssociation (and their respective Mortgugocs) shal] satisff therequirerne,trts of this Sestion 12.3(a).

O) The Ownerr shall use reasooablc effortr to copperate to mnsid€rreasonable modificstions to this Declaration at the requast of anothcr O*"o, ioO it shall not bereasonablc for an owns to.withhold its cooperation or conEent to any modification that neitheradversely affcc{s in a material mamor such 6wnrr's dovelopment or *. oritr *rpotive parcel
S permitted in this Declaration nor incrcasqs such ow;€r's 

"blig;do; *ol* tiubititi.,hereuuder.

section 12,4 A,oprovars' whtncva 
lpp.,ovar or.conssnt is reguired of auyo'mer, unlcss provision is made forr qpecific_timc periit, opp*"d oi ***t,rrin t" rG;within tweoty (20) Businesa Days after-suoh owncrs recotpf itt *',n- ..q;ut t* approvalor consent and such owncr sball bc doerned to have consented if such onaer aoo n6i,.ery

$thin g-aid twcnty (20)-Businoss.Davperiod (providc<r *.t *t*;;;il;jy s,utee inbordlet(Ers that failure to respoud.within i"*, tri*ty (20)Business Ory p*"a ,iraf bo deemedconsemt)' whenever time_periods are specified fonapprov"t h*.i, Gti;ih* in thc prwioussenteirce) ad the applicablc oupcrr dges not respond fothia the shtla Ge;riod, the ownerrequesting a rcsponsc slnll, at the end of tlre stated time period, u"iiver a ilna request forresponse in whiqh sYent the reeponding owner shall have t€n e0) Business ouyr to, ti.ipioi,tlre requesting owner's second notidto raspond. m" ,uponarg o-r*-JlJr be dccmerl tohavo consented if sudr owner does,not repry'within said t* tro>uirioo, i:ry pri"a grovidod
ruch request or notice conlpilugwry state$ in bota t.tt*JGjtjrGi" [.frijr,*n such teo(10)'Busincss Day period shau be d;smed- conscng. ran o";ilil6*rr any matrer aBto which its consent is requcsted heretmdo, the re;ns &erefor ,hal bo-;;t€d in rrasonabledetail i,, mitine. The consent or appro'ar by an o*;; ;-;ilil.##; by a,y ownershall not be deemed to w8ivc o. reoos *o.rrrury ;*seot or approvar to or of any similar orsubeequent acts or requests. Exc,ept as othsnvisJ erpressry pri;aaa loJo, any €oDsent orappro-val rights grarrted to m owner punumt to this Declaration as it rclates to another ownsshall be exercised in such owner's re;sonable drssretioq wittoutuoaru a"ruy oicoqaitions,

Scction l2.S ffTsgUje nqJays. Whenwer perfo,rmanco is r,eguired of aayowner here'rrder, that ow,;.hrrt .* n-d"" diiig*cu to'p*r"r"'*a *i" all necessarymoalvures in good faith to oerform; providod, however,-that if #;G;; orirfr**r" shall bcdSlar$- at any time by r.ir.pg,_"3.i(;iofi;;;;1rl co_rnmotio4 riots, sbikcs, picketiug, orother labor disputqs, unavailabirity ortabor or maGats or damage to work ia progus by reasonof fue or othet oasualty or ctutc Ltyona tirereasonaule contol of an owner (financial inabiuty,

23

Attachment 1

688



imprudcni managcmant or negligcoce excepted), thc inability to obtain necessdry governmental
approvals, the discovery of hazardous nite,riils 'or a failur€ or so omer.io iiicly ac in amenny required berein, thta $-tir" for perfonuance as.herein spo.itJ rrraii tu appropriately
exteuded by ths amo*rr o{!r9.{etar rytuairy so caused. As uscd in tr,ir D*i;ti*, m owner,sobligation to use or act with "duc diligcnci" .'diligent efforts,';;;rdr.;il;lar meaning orimpo.tq or take any acti6n requircd ro- *diligenflytmpt"te,'; . otig;tly-p,*rr" or worits ofsimila rncaniug or impor! shal be aesmcd eatisfied ii suc,h 

-od"i;rt 
with or usescommercially reasonable efforts uder the qircumstaoces,

section 12.6 lgreFbirtr Invatidation of any of the provisioos contained inthis Declar-atioq or of the ap,plicatioa r}:ireof to any pe.spo ui juagrn.i o, .o1rrt ordcr rhall inno way affect any of the other provisions hereof oi *ru dppti*tion"trro"oi to uny other pemon
and the sarDe shall remain in full force and cfect, unless?rforcement of tlri; icclaration as solnvalidated would bo unreasonable or grossly inequitabte under all tho circumeturces or wouldfiusEate the purposes of this Decloration.

. soction 12.7 
_ Notice. Any aotice io any owqer shau be in writing and given bydelivering the same to.suctr own"r i" i** by c4peditcd, private carrier service (zuch asFederal Express), or by seoding ttre sarrc by rogstaed'or cstifi& r,rlU irt"- receipt requestcd,

wilh postageprepaid to the owncds mailini adrkess. Copies of certaiu notices ar required to bo
lemt- 

to Mortgagees pursuant to Article D( of this Declaratioa NoO.."* snau be Bent to thcDeclarant and ttrc parcel 2 Owner 
1 

follows:

''Declarant/Parcel 2 Owner: CampuspointB.ealtyCcrrporatioa
10260 Cunpus point Drivc
San Diego, Califomia 92t21
Atbu SAIC Corporate Real Estate

BK 16527 2219

od with a copy to: Gary E. Hurres
Amolil & Porter
555 Twelffh Street, N.W.
WsshiDgto4 DC 200A+1206

. tuY owner may change its mailing address at any timo by giving *nitten aoticc of suchcbange to the other owners in-thcmqnn.'lrovided hcrein at lea* ti troj a"vr;o* to the darosuch cbange is to be effectiv.c.-Additionarly, each o*oo rny lesignai ,p d il" (2) additionar
address.es to which cupies of all notices shail be smr Ail notices unilu this Dertaratioo shall bcd".P* given, received, trrade or communicated ou thc date p*o"Jaihufi-i,.tr;;;;i
mailed, on the delivery date or attmpteddelivery date rtown im ti," i"G-r*."lpt, provid€d thatany such notice set forth above is tendqe6 prior to 6:00 p.M. in the time zone where therecipient of such notice is located oo ory Eusiness Day (failing 

",r,i.rr 
*Jt'notice shall bedeemed giveq received, made or cornmrmiiated on tbe neit irusin&s Day).

Section 12.8. Litieation Exg@seq. tf yf pa*r shall briug a legal or eguirableproceeding against any othr party to ttriJDeclaration 6y reuson of tirbrerct or aliegedviolation of oay covenant condition, restriction, u**r*t, tErm or obligatlon hereo[, or for the

24

Attachment 1

689



erlforcement of any provision hereof or olherwiso arising out of thig DeclEration, the prwailingparty in such p-roceeding shall be entitled to rccovsr torn-*,u 
"on-p*"iiin!ffiy trro reasonablecosts, fees and expenses (iacluding, wittrout limitatiorL rcasonablc atiomeln, fecs) inorned bysuch prwailing party h connection with such procecding *ru"i .r,"u 

-C. 
pi.uil whethsr or uotzuch action is prosecutedlo judgme,lrL

Section t2.9. SvTuuq !:alv: 
place otpsrformuF. This Dcclaration and all

5i-ght5 
and obJ i gations ou"a tu.ty@ oiE"-eio*or,*earth ofVirginia, without refqsnce to the choice of laws-principles ihereof.

:

Section 12.10 Ngn_Mgrger. The ownership, at any timo dr:riug the tern of thisDeclaration, of more ft*_ory pard uv ttre sasre owntli.shafl not s,reate , i61go of titto orcstate, or othor merger' ir+diru any msrger of the rlominant ana senric,trt est tu with rBspect toeasements crcated in this Declaratioa, atrd shall thereforo o"t t*oinut"-*y oitt. .rrfi*t*,restrictivc covEnants' sr oth€r terms oiprovisioos ofthis Daclaration-

SectionlZ,f l Tp!-TqninatioS. The terrns, coverrants, provisions andconditions of this Declaration e},o[ be ctr cflv" *- of the Bffeotive Date and sha]l continue to bebinding upon and inure to the benefit of any owno fiorn time to time ura alt posons, parties andentities olaiming by' tluolgb-.or undsr any of them in pqpetuity rurre.s arr'porons or entitieshaving an interest ttrcrein shal agrec ro terminatr or orne"ryi's" *raity tr" *r!.*
Section 12'12 Iimo. Timc is of the essenc,s of this Declaration and each andevory provisi on hetrof.

secuon 12-13. Estopper certificat€, Aay owuer man at any timo snd from ti,eto timc, deliver wriBen notice t9 ury otherbTnen requesting .uch otrre" oil., to cstig/ inwfiiirs (a) that to the bcst Bp*t*g" of tho certiffing o*oi, tlr. ,.qr;;G-6*rer is nor In
1.f4, T thc performance of its obllgatiorr *d; ihi. Declaration, or, if in d;fEult, to itesqibefterein the naturo aud anount of auy and all defaults, and (b) to mch other reassnsble metters asthcrequesting owner may request. Each owner receiving such ,qrrJ ,iutt oecuts and refumsuch cenificate within tm. (lb) Business Days foilowinirh";;il-rh;;r]'iua certificatemay be relied upon by actuar glrospec{ive purharers,tvertr, t*-tr,Lrf*r"r, rcrrders,mortgagee{rt deed of trust beaeficiries and lcas*ack lessors.

BR 16927 2220

Secfion'12.14
Neithcr anything io ttir ur"t*-Ei-iliffiowun shalr be dcsmed byffi;
SlgYlr::"::"T'-T::'r{".14"t"E*d*dd;i;';6;;J*oorof jointvenhno, or of any association betrv:* tr g*.fo (except as orprcssry set forth hercin), anir noprovisions of fhis Declaratioq xre inteod€d to o.io or constituto sny pemon or entity a thindparty bencfi ciary hereof.

Seotion 12.15 Hoadings: Exhibits: Gender. Captions iu this Deelarction arc for.convenience of refcrence orly, ana sh.tt *t b. **iacr"d r, tuJtqprctation of thisDcclaratiou. All cxhibits rgfcrenced in 0rls Declaration re incorporated iu flis ueotaraton uythis reference as if fully set forth hocin Whenever-requirea by the contert, the singular shall

25

Attachment 1

690



BK 16927 2221

include the plural, the neuts genda ghan include the mare gendcr aud foualc gmder, and viceversa.

section r2.t6 s.@aratg parspl 1 covEpa$s. The initiat ownet of parcer r, afterDeclaranl shall have tlre right, tom-Gito ti*" *a *itl"ut the conseni oith#arcei z owner,to rcconil seprate covsnants baefiting and/or burdeni"g rur."i i-*J irl'onnerc thereofprovided such coveirants re aod remai;subordinate to t}i-s o""r-rti--uad Io rrot impact thcliabilities or obligations set forth berein
I

Section 1z' I 7 W-&SSpg!gg. Tte Parcel 2 Owner shall provide to theParsel 1 owner, for the benefit or tt. rrria*ilr pr.er l, the ,tghl ; ;;; a ilinimuun or rsopa*ing spaccs oD Parcel 2,druing aon.business houre on wiemayi (i.e. aftcr 6:oo p.m.) and onweekends ("overflsl4Parkiuc"). Prior to the sale or rroJ4 of the first housing units on parcel l,the Parcel t owner or the Master Association sbell establish, s*:."t to tr,"lLsonable approvalof the Pcrael 2 owncr, reasonable nrles and regulations ro, t 
" 

uru or ttru-ou"rnow parking. ThoMaster Association (oi before there is a MasL Asrociation, tho rarcci io""il shall snforcesuch rules and regularions. If t}e parcel I owner or the Master i;;;;i,'as-applicable, fails!o establish and/or enforce such rutes anil-regulations, io uoaition-to;;;;;edies tbat maybe available to ig ttrc parcel 2 Owns shufl h-avc tne;ght ro tenrinat;tilil;ii Ovmer,s rightto usc the overllow Parking by sendiag a notico to thJParcet r owno ana. ir-tlcisrur z own"rso elects, recording the san:rc in ttre Iand records.

26

Attachment 1

691



B.K16927 2222
'l

n{ wlrr{Ess wTp.gP:^}r.uri{enigsed has axseuted aud ao]rnowredged rhis
Deelaradoq to bc effective as qfthc bffective Uutu]

CAI{PUS POINT RETA.LTY coRpORAfi oN,
a Csli fomia colporation

,,7

Attachment 1

692



3:'":H11?,3k.-10^ou;-j:1:::- 1l"'..-1u'v- E' Hvder, Norary public,personally appeared Frederlck R.', uaraJa, -E;J";;r;';;:d iIi"r"l
3I--^:I3I*:" 1u_::, -1hu;;,sis of ,u.i"iufu.
::I""lJfl ^"y,n:f^"^.1"T"^(t_q.lJ::L":,iGat"ti"-;i?i.H"rl"".",i_llE6$/"xffii:1?'xx1,::,"::;qg;r.g;6;1;li$i;tie' j#:ix
;:ffi il5'Ho"'i'.\1"-:T-'^T[?"'^^:*#{;(h;-:;"dn"%i=#'ffi :;behalf of which tte p"rson(S'."i"i,';;"J#,.ff ;:?;*::1

8K16927 2223

state of California

County of San Diego

AEKNOWIJEDGMEI'IT

)

)
)

WITNESS my hand and official sea1. -E-^---+rl-^5-^-g.4lm ""IAH*fl,,5[*u tiW

98

Attachment 1

693



BKt6s27 2224

ESffiITS:

ft(hibitA-I
Exhfbi:t r4!-2

Exhibit B
ExhibifGl
Exhibit C.2
ExbibitD-l
ExhibitD-2
ExhibitB
Exhibitl'
ExhibitG

DeucriptlotofFarcol I
Dosoription ofParccl Z

feess-E€seEemt Arm (aad Access Mo,nuacm Sig, ArEa)
$torrn Waler Easement /\lsa
Staur Yir.sttr D'oil$itior psnds
Relocated Parting
Tenporary Ps*ing
Qurrent4'ewArea
Outlot FsqcalE

Tolephonc and Data Cables

a?:

Attachment 1

694



8K16927 2225

wril
. GPS SERVICESSUNVEYORS

RE1'I5ED JANUARY 25, 2OO5
JANUARY 20,2005

EXHIBIT A.1A
DESCRIPTION OF

PARCEL IA
THE RESERVE ATWSONS CORNER

BEING
A PORTION OF

THE PROPERW OF
CAMPUS POINT REALTY CORPORATION,

a! auccelsor ln iniorest to
GAMPUS PO|NT REALTY CORPORATTON, I

DEED BOOK IIOTI PAGE 890
PROVIDENCE DISTRICT

FAIRFAX GOUNTYI VIRGINIA

, Being a porllon of the property described ln e conveyance to Campus Polnt
Realty Corporation, successor in inlerEstto Campus Polnl Realty Corp., ll as recorded in
Deed Book 11073 al Page 890 all among the Land Records of Fairfax County, Mrginia
and belng more particularly desoribed ag follows:

Beginnlng for tre same al a point on lhe southwesterly corner ofTysons
Executive Village as recorded in Deed Book 9777 at Page 1353 among the
aforemontloned Land Records, sald polnt elso belng on thE north€fly line of Lot g,

Courthouse Station (Deed Book 7195 Page 438); thonce running wilh a portion ol
Courihouse Station

1 . North 79"10'45' West, 417'85 feet to a point being the southeasterly corner
of Cou/ts otTyson (geed Book 6020 Page 699); thence leaving Courthouse
Station and running with Gourts of Tyson and conllnutng so as to cross and
Include a portion of the aforesaid poperly ol Campus Polnt Realty Corp ll the
following eleven (11) courses and distances:

2. North 10"50'42" East,515,46feetto a pointthencs

3. North 11'48'13'West, 264.60 feeilo a potnt thence

4. North 79'09'07 West, 449.29 feet to a point; thence

5, 58.12 fe.el along the arc of the curve to th€ right havlng a radlus of 37,00 feet
and a *rord bearing and distance ol North 34,0907'West SZ.3g bet to a
poinl; thence

7o
Vll(A lncoForored

81 60 Greensboro Drlr,e, Sulle 2@ I Mc(eon VA 22102 a fA3| M2-t8O0 r Fox (703) 761-2707
I,lcleoftVA GffinloEraMD.

ENGINEERS T PIANNERS ! LANDSCAPE ARCHITECIS t

Attachment 1

695



BR16S27 2226

t

i

''l
7.

8.

9.

10.

11,

12.

13.

14.

20,

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19,

North 10'50'53" East, 128.62 feet to a point; trence

North 79'09'07" West, 192,48 feet to a point thence

South 64'49'49'West, 21.66 feet to a poht; thence

South 10"50'53"Weet, 57.89 feet lo a point; thence

North 7S"09'07'West, 58.98 feet to a point; thence

South 10'50'53'West, 102.68 feet to a point; lhence

North 79'09'07 West, 27.40 feet to a point ly'ng on the easterly rlght of way
line of Gallows Road - Route 650 (width varies); thence running with a
porllon oI sald easterly right olway line

52.71 feet along lhe arc of the curye to the left haring a radlus of 41 6.60 feet
and a chord bearing and distance of Norih 06'56'31, West 52.08 feEt to a
polnt; thonca

46.73leet along he arc of a curve to the rlght having a radius of 3f.84 feel
and a chord bearirrg and dislance of North Z7oOB,36i Easl, 43.43 feet to a
point thence departing Gallows Road and running so as to cross and lncfu<te
a portion of the subJect propedy (Deed Book 't1073 page Bg0) the follor,rring
nine (9) courues and distances

South 21000'02" WesL 19.05 feet to a point; thence

South 62"49'39' Eaet, 13.72 feel.to a polnt; thence

North 27010'21' East, 46.73 fuet to a point; thbnce

North 64"49'49' East, 240,41 het to a pointt thence

125.73 feet along the arc oI acuwe to the right havlrE a radius of 200.00 feet
and a chord bearing and distance of North B2'SO'21. East, 123.67feet to a
poinU thence

South 79'09'07' Easl 4Z4,T6leelto a point;thence

175.26 feet along the arc of a curve to the right havtng a radiua of 169,00 feet
and a chord bearing and distance sf Sorrth 4go1E,SO,East , 1A7 ,4?feet to a
poht; thence

Sorrth 19o22'4tl' East 121.3'l feet to a polnl; thence

North 73033'08' Eas! 169.&4 feet to a point on the westerly r[ht-oFway line
of.lnterstate Routg_fq (variabte width rlghtof.rvay); nenc.b running wtili
lnterstate Route 495 the following three (3) coursei and distances'

15.

16.

K\DrBb000-6999\6D5F\Dcsuiplon\prrcel tA RrrelY! rt Tysons CorllnOl.t&oj.d(

3t VTTfr

Attachment 1

696



8R16927 2227

17.

18.

XtDriE00o{C99\flllSr0rqiptr.mtpscd lJt Rrsrc a TF@r C4maot.ll{tt,rle

Bouth '16.28'S2' East, 84-20 ftet lo a point of qnreture; henoe

423.65 feEt along the arc of e cuile to the right havhE a radius of 11.ts09.i6
bet and a chord beartrrg gnd dHanco of Soith l tozg;ez' east, +zi.6ii&l to
6 pojntj qelco-leaving aald htsrstate Route 4gEand rtrnnirrg with the
westerly lin6 of the aforementioned rysons Execufive villagj tho roliordng
cotrse and dlslanc€

South 10P54'22'-VVesJ, 485.08 to_ lhe point of bqlnning conhining 540,309
squarefeet or 12.40379 acresof land.

'19.

tt-

Attachment 1

697



BK 16927 2228

REVTSED JANUARY 25, 2005
JINUARY 20! 2oo5

EXHIBII A.{B
DESCRIPNON OF

rHE RE'ER;3Xf FiJB-i con*en
BEING

A PORTION OF

cAMpusrlilfrtf.Tf#T""JroRAroN,
as succegsor in lnterest to

AM Pus Por Nr 
3[X!Hrt"oTf[#.,on,,,

PROVIDENCE DISTRTCT
FAIRFAX COUNTY, VTRGINIA

Being a poraon of the property de6cribed rn a conveyancs to campus pointRealty corporation, successoi in'rntei'est io c"rpr" point.Rearty corp,, ii as iecordeo inDeed Book 1 I o7s sr ease oio ;ri ;;o-;iii""li',ii n*ords of Fairfai county, virsinraand bei ng more pa rticulirly aur*iuiJ .Iriiil;, -

n""'*in3'rlt-t-'tt.q',[$i,$iflii,,[:+ill.ti1"ffi 

t{;]flti#ffi].,
corner of the Courts of 

.,1

corner and running with
three (3) courEes and di

1 . North I 1"10,S3' Ead, .142,86 feel to a poinl of curvature (non_targerrt);

2. 43.43 feet arong ihe arc of a curve.lo the refl having a radius of 20g.00 feetand a chord bearing and distance oif,lortn 17'OB,O3. East, 43,36 feet to apoinl of compoundiurvature; tt "nL'-"3, 105.42 feet along the arc oJ a curve to lhe left having a iadius of 416.g0 feetand a chorcr bearing and drstance of r.rortr' 03.55'5>4' East, 105.13 feet to apoinr; thence reavrhs the +r*"id;''g;i'of way rine of Garows Road andrunning so as to cross and inctiu" aiiirticrrp*i,pi.tn",rtvcoipir]''"ffi 
ffi i[t*(TiiHL..[,X..p"dislances;

4. South Z9.O90f East, 27.40feelto a point; thence

3Z
8rB0 Greensboro Drive,suire2, .r'J,:tllfi?rffj"j noil olr-ru*! Fox (703) 76t-ztl7lrct€slvA Gsrpnlm MD

ENGINEERS ! PTANNERS r taruOsCepe nnCHgefls r GPS SERVICES

Attachment 1

698



8K16927 2229

5. Norih i0"50'83, Eas! 102.68 feet to a polnt ihence

' 6. South 7g.09'07, East, 58.98 feet to a polnt; thence

7. North 10.S0,Sg, East, 87.g9 feet lo a point; thenco

8. North 64.49'49, Eas( 21,66 fe€t to a pointl thence

L South 79"09'07" Ea.t, iSz.qa f*t to a point;thence

10. South 10.80'53" West, 128.62 feet to a poinl; thenc€

11. 58.12 feet arong rhe arc of tho curve to the refl hwing a radius of 37,00 feetand a chord bearing and distance of south eq.og'0y' rast, 
'siiii"liu 

"Point; thence

12. South 79"09,07. East, 449,29 feet to a point j thence

13. South i 1.48'13" East, 2il.60 feet to a potnt; thence

14. South 10'50'42'Wes[ 53,g1 feet to a point marking the northeasterry comer
of tho aroresaid Co-urts olTysons (D.B: 6010, ps, ot6i; r'ii'#;ri,iils *1hthe northerly line of said Coirrts of fysons

15' Norrh 79'09'07' wesr, B77.so feer to the pornt or beginning contatning
28g,OTl square feel or 6.63629 acres of iano.

X:\Darru000699951l5nD*riprina\prrrl tE R6s?c ra Tysos Cm 0Fl t-05.doc

3/ wm

Attachment 1

699



BK 16927 2230

ENGtNEERS r ptArvr.rrffi

REVISEO JANUARY 26, 2005
REVISED JANUARY 25, ZOOS

JANUARY 20, 2005.

EXHIB]T A-2
DESCRIPTION OF

PARCEL 2
RESERVE ATTYSONS CORNER

BEING
A PORTION OF

cA M p us, $ifr'ffi..!$TJJ, o *or roN,

. o * r r."i J lnT iHll+,SElTl'i^, o N, 1r
DEED BOOK T{073 PAGE 890

PROVIDENCE DISTRICT

. FATRFAXCOUNU VtRGtNtA

Being a portion of the property descrlbed in a conveyancs to campus pointRealty corporaron. successoi in'intir"st io'cJilpus.p_otnt Realty corp., ri as recorded inDeed Book 11073 ar erse oeo ari.a;"is'i"i,; Irrd Records oi rairiai county,Vi rs i n ia o nd betng more 
-parricuta 

rti o"rl"tili' rJiJu*r,
Beginning for rhe same at a point on the southeasterry corner of 1951 Kidwerr Lpas recorded ln Deed Book g093 at prg" isslrong rt. rroii,r.niro#o'Gnjh".oror,

trHj"*{#l1fiI[?f p*r#ffi 'mill;::ua*::usi1#Hfi i*;fi:l(varabe

1. South 15"00,02; East, IS2.09 feet to a point; thence

2, South 4Ee4S,I0'East, 458.3E feet lo a potnl; thence

3. South 24"08'i0, East, 286,g4 feet to a point; thence

4. South 16"26'52.. East, 344.89 feet to a poin[ thence leaving theaforernentioned southerry r.rght--oi_;;f rine ot tnrerstare Route 495 andrunnins so as to cross aria i-ncruoea iorrion or tt" Jor.i,",i[*"oiilp"nvof campus point Rearty c.rp, rr t[" riii,i"lng nine (9) coursos and 6ishnces
5. Souh 73"33'08'West, 169.34 feet to a potnt; thence

6. North 19"22,46. West, 121.31 feet to a polnti thence

3i
orB0 creen$coro Drrve. sune 200 r y:lE:ll;;ff.#ii, r, *r_7800 r Fox o03) 761-2t,a7McleoB VA I Gchoilryi.Mo r L€srhJE VA

Attachment 1

700



BK 16927 2231

PlatAtrached Wu,/,W
/qd

7 ' 't75'26 feet arong. the arc of a curve ro rhe re! having a radius of 16g,00 feetand a chord bearing ano aistance-ot'io,it as5s,so" west, 167.42 feer to apoint; ihence

8. North 7y0S,07. Wesl, 424.76 feet to a point; thence

9. 125,73 feet arong the arc of a curve ro the reft having a radius of 200.00 feet

;:ld,.JlT:""arins 
and disrance orsourh B2"so'211west,l2-i.;;.et ro a .

10, South 64049,49" West, 240.41 feet to a point; thence

'1 1. South 27"10'21'West, 48.73 feet to a point; thence

12. North 62.48,39. West, 13.72 feet to a point; thenco

13. North 21"00,02'fa$.-f 
!.OS feet to a point; thence running wirh GallowsRoad, state Route 6s0 (width-;;ri;g;;l conrinuing wilhkiowe, i-rive, stateRoute 736 (widrh vailesj tn" roirowini seven (7) courses and disrances

14. North 51"51,56" East, 20.02,feet to a point; thence

15. Soulh 64q81,20. West, 19.51 fieet to a point thence

16. North 3202441'West, 1g,6i feet to a point; thence .
17. Northl 1010,32, East, 133.g1 feet to a polnt of curvature (non-tangent);

18. tS3.6Z feel along. th€ arc ol acurve t0 the left havlng a radius of SO.O0 feetand a chcrd bearing and distance ; *;;i 20045'35'East, 99.94 feet to apoint of reverse curvalure; tnence 
-' '--'"

19. 21.16 feet rhig^j!: arc of.a.curve to the right having a radius of 25.00 feet

;|ff ,'J:T[*arios 
and o istance oir,ioi i iz'ss,< +rriI[' i[iaiii r" .

20. North 1i"10,32-Rtjp;I11"-"1to a.potnt;rhence teaving Kidweil Drive _Route 736 and ru.nning wi*r souneiv tine of rhe aforemenroned 1951 Kidwe,Lp the fol lowing th reei3) 
"orrJu" 

lr,ir' o iit"n...
21, South 7g01906, East, 102.25 feet to a pointi thence

22. Norlh 73"31,20, East, 167,84 feet to a point; thence

23. South 8g!S9,51',East, lZ3.gZtothe point of beginning contalning 640,580square feet or 14.70870 acres oftanfi. ' -

X:\DzL\600G6999\6ttrnDsriploi\parrct 
Z 0?_2t{4. doc

3c-
WM

Attachment 1

701



BK 16927 2232

/r"*%
-Ll tr*H

*i I

tiiiitr:
rti I
lr i

I

n$EH-;#
$i;=fi#3 xzfr

sE's'Ei3-*I

t!i|r.-

zo
r'lq

e.a/steJ5iprcl uye t Wrgra_ea$t

I

Attachment 1

702



BK 16927 2233

T
!

it
!l<4>
E rrj

{L
s5

d
o-q

7a

p.q

YF

:rn<
lc,t
3E
€c
E-out-
B$
clc

4arqm
mZzut-
}Ec74
E;
rnxo
ilpz
H>
ozrqo
la
9.fr1t'l

4A
,=.

o [1lrir{{lt

$$if5s

, MANAGTMENI AREA

,-t
ro g f:r6 q udrn

fif;; rl:-?a

=i; 

-fr,i 

!3
ur .<) 4

'ihl

dll
liil

!'!

.fsxiri

Attachment 1

703



BK 16527 2234

'.-J

{"# #fi
H-'Ad*2p.rs d ** aA

i$H; d 
Eg

B * E>,1t _1

gl

ar
UI
ro
@
mx
E*t
f'r,
N
b
=c,

t

rf,

dlr
riH

lilIr
I.

f.P t, .-

Attachment 1

704



BK 1 6927 2235

,"

lfr
ar"

0

I
rrl
x
rrla
rrln
rn

r*$fi -*n$

eis*#aiHF$r= fi

iFN:'

A V m;lpnnet&fi\ototat *rtwsn ot e.os

Attachment 1

705



BK 16927 22s6

,l
el I

Iifii

lli Il, I iJ

il

f; r. f#E,^8 a".=# - :tv1 A

*q=EEE ?#
EIr.=#;8Hb.'\'<$ r<

-$ 
fr\

i9tr.'

zo
rnq

alat.

.a\<lnelrtfidtmlf lri v/

Attachment 1

706



BK 16527 2237

itilt

{ri
Iti I,r:
El I

I

-: -l-o ll -<-u d artt
Sqo-t oHm '8.'r' Znxrn-rnC4 rniTl

F : F ?frs;fr
fln--fr*- 9t

s E-D' 
=fiE " H BI

i9pn

l.
c
r
at

F^E 
,/L

Attachment 1

707



BK 16927 2238

I

t'll I ll*-I; $5.-'i \

ilE// 
=.;3 

DI*,\
ll [/i , G ;H;pt5--ll I llcr{6r
ll--,*Jl 

'i =i' ,= 3 f; ' "
i

l/ MrllN--; ili
I I sE ti,6 "1' -lI ,l u$ .s.$e ?l'- "i ='s'*; )

'"ii
;ift I

;irilr:
e i I

t

-riS u' <-rri il an9-o- O

*q*EcE efr
t;{rE: nEo'l: 'Y<
N-N .+)[=s fi\

-+!,Ni

o
rn
UI

I

3

Attachment 1

708



8K 1 6927 2239

ir.lFr+ 5**;g|;r

F

kJ

a
IJ
U)
trJ
E.
td
IF

=r[r
I$tr

1RqE
Y'

)
I

oh
Jts
Jd
4ri!3

9{

'd

rBri
rF
s;

!r-€

HEIE

F$IEtr8

Attachment 1

709



8K16927 2240

ffi s€

E,,+N$15

r**rr;;u

ll-'
.v.
LrJ
V'
hJ
v.
hJ
-l-

etE?

!s$5l ti{F*6

Po

#
E=

EE

sffi 
+gE

Attachment 1

710



County of Fairfax, Virginia
To protect and enrich the quality of life for the people, neighborhoods and diverse communities of Fairfax County

JUN 23 2011

ItlercerTrigianiLLP

Re: Interpretation for RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008; The Reserve at Tysons Comer; Tax Map Numbers
39-2 (56)) A1,83, l-92,39-2 ((1)) 13A5 and 4.6: Parking Obligation

Dear Ms. Trigiani:

This determination is in response to your letter of December 22,2016, requesting an interpretation
of the proffbrs, as well as the approved development conditions and ConceptuallFinal
Development Plan (C/FDP), accepted and approved in conjunction with the above-referenced
application. As I understand it, you are requesting an interpretation of proffer language relating to
parking on an adjacent offsite parcel. Specifically, your request concerns whether the proffers
accepted in RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008 create a continuing obligation to provide offsite parking on an
adjacent property (aka the "Meridian Property"). This determination is based upon your letter
dated December22,2016, and Exhibit l, entitled "Proffers R22003-PR-008" dated
March 14,2004. Copies of this letter and exhibits are attached.

The subject property is located on the east side of Kidwell Drive, south of Leesburg Pike, west of
Interstate 495 and south of Science Applications Court. The property is zoned PDH-30 pursuant to
the approval of RZ 2003-PR-008 by the Board of Supervisors on March 15,2004, with the
Planning Commission approving FDP 2003-PR-008 on April 7, 2004, subject to proffers and

development conditions. These applications permitted development of the property with 92 single-
family attached and 478 multi-family dwelling units.

Prior to the approval of RZffDP 2003-PR-008, the subject property was part of a larger 33.14-acre
property identified as Tax Map Number 39-2 ((l)) Parcel 13. This larger property was originally
zoned to the I-P District (now I-3) pursuant to the approval of RZ 75-7-004 by the Board of
Supervisors on October29,1975, subject to proffers. In 2003, two concurrent applications were
submitted by Lincoln Property Company Southwest, Inc., in order to develop a portion of this
overall property with the residential development described above. PCA75-7-004-02 was
submitted and approved on the entire 33 .7 4 acres in order to delete 19 .04 acres from RZ 7 5-7 -004.
RZIFDP 2003-PR-008 was then approved, subject to proffers, to rezone that same 19.04 acres of
land to the PDH-30 District. As the property included in all these applications was under single
ownership, the proffers for both applications were signed by the same owner, Campus Point Realty
Corporation II. The proffer at issue, however, was approved only in connection with the rezoning

y 30,2017

Lucia Anna Trigiani, Esq.
MercerTrigiani
112 South Alfred Street
Alexandria,Y A22314

Department of Planning and Zoning
Zoning Evaluation Divis ion

12055 Government Center Parkway, Suite 801

Excellence * Innovation * Stewardship
Integrity * Teamwork* Public Service

EXHIBIT

fLl

Attachment 1

711



Lucia Anna Trigiani
Page2

of the 19.04-acre parcel. Subsequent to the approval of RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008, the property subject

to RZffDP 2003-PR-008 was subdivided from the larger property via approved site plans and

record plats.

The proffer at issue with your current request is Proffer 49 of RZ 2003-PR-008, which envisioned
the provision of 150 overflow parking spaces on the Meridian Property. Proffer 49 states:

Prior to the approval of the final site plan on the Application Propertyt , the Applicant
shall provide evidence that a parking agreement is in place with the owners of the

adjacent I-3 parcel identified as Tax Map j9-2 ((l)) part 13, permitting overflow parking

from the Application Property to utilize parkingfacilities on the I-j parcel. A minimttm of
150 overflow parking spaces shall be available to all residents of the Application
Property during non-business hours on weekdays (after 6:00 pm) and on weekends. This
parking agreement shall be recorded in the land records of Fairfax Cotrnty.

It appears, through submitted plans for the subject property, that compliance with Proffer 49 was

demonstrated to Fairfax County through the recordation of a parking agreement in the land records

of Fairfax County. You state that you believe the Declaration of Covenants, Restrictions and

Easements recorded on January 28,2005 in Deed Book 16927 at Page 2195 inthe Fairfax County
land records is the document meant to satisff Proffer 49-specifically, Section 12.17 of the
Declaration of Covenants, Restrictions and Easements as it relates to Overflow Parking Spaces.

The 150 overflow parking spaces were to be located offsite from the i9.04 acres zoned PDH-30,
on the portion which retained its I-3 zoning - the Meridian Property (Tax Map Numbers 39-2 ((1))
13D and 13E), which is currently owned by Tysons Enterprise West LLC and Tyson Enterprise
East LLC, and is developed with two existing office/data center buildings and surface parking. In
accordance with PCA 75-7-003-3 and SE 2015-PR-02l,the Meridian Property will be

redeveloped, in part, with a full-size athletic field and parking garage. You now state that the
Reserve at Tysons Comer Association Board has been notified that the prior owner of the
Meridian Property seeks to terminate the parking agreement with the Association.

In accordance with Section l8-201 of the Zoning Ordinance ("Ordinance"), Board of Supervisors
approval of a rezoning application constitutes a permanent (unless further amended) amendment to
the Zoning Map. Further, per Section 18-204, any proffered conditions submitted as part of the
rezoning application and accepted by the Board of Supervisors become "part of the zoning
regulations applicable to the subject property in question, unless subsequently changed by an
amendment to the ZorungMap." Therefore, an approved rezoning and accepted proffers become a

part of the Zonngmap only for the subject property included in the application, in this case the
19.04 acres described in the application for RZIFDP 2003-PR-008. Proffer 49 was a commitment

1 Proffer #1 associated with RZ 2003-PR-008 states that "Development of the Applicotion Property shall be in

substontial conformonce with the Conceptual/Final Development Plsn (CDP/FDP) prepared by VIKA lncorporated,

consisting of thirteen (1j) sheets dated Januory 77, 200i as revised through March 17, 2004..." As shown on Sheet 2

ofthe CDP/FDP, the portion ofthe property rezoned to the PDH-30 District per RZ 2003-PR-008 contains 19.O4 acres,

which is the Application Property referenced in Proffer 49. Please refer to Appendix 1 depicting the 19.04 acres

subject to RZ 2003-PR-008, which is from the Staff Report published as part of this rezoning application.

Attachment 1

712



Lucia Anna Trigiani
Page 3

that required the demonstration of the provision of at least 150 overflolv parking spaces on the
offsite Meridian Property, which was to be secured via a parking agreement to be recorded in the
land records. As noted above, this agreement was recorded in Deed Book 16927 at Page 2195 prior
to the approval of the site plan, as required.

Proffer 49 specifically required that the overflow parking spaces on an offsite parcel were to be

implemented by a private agreement. As noted above, accepted proffers become part of the Zoning
map for the property subject to the rezoning only and are not enforceable against an off'site
property. By referring to the Meridian Property as the "adjacent I-3 parcel," the proffer language
makes clear that that property was not part of the Application property subject to the proffer.

Based on the foregoing, it is my determination that Proffer 49 remains in effect for the 19.04 acres

included inRZ 2003-PR-008. Although Proffer 49 remains in effect, a proffer violation cannot be

enforced on Meridian because the proffer does not apply to them. The proffer can be removed only
through a Proffered Condition Amendment (PCA) application approved by the Board of
Supervisors. Information on how to apply for a PCA can be found on our website at:

http ://wu w. lairlaxcounty. gov/dpz,/zoning/applications/.

'fhe determination has been made in my capacity as duly authorized agent of the Zoning
Administrator and address only those issues discussed herein and not any separately recorded
private agreements. [f you have any questions regarding this interpretation, please feel free to
contact Kelly M. Atkinson at (703) 324-1290.

Sincerely,

t+*"J'
Zoning Evaluation Division, DPZ

N:Vnterpretations\Reserve At Tysons Comer RZ 2003-PR-008\20 17-02-22Proffer Interpretation Response - Reserve
At Tysons Corner M 2003-PR-008.Doc

Attachments: A/S

Cc: Linda Smyth, Supervisor, Providence District
Phillip Niedzielski-Eichner, Planning Commissioner, Providence District
Laura Gori, Esq., Assistant County Attorney, Office of the County Attorney
Diane Johnson-Quinn, Deputy ZoningAdministrator, Permit Review Branch, ZAD,DPZ
Ellie Codding, Acting Director, Code Development and Compliance Division, LDS
Ken Williams, Manager, Site and Technical Services, LDS
Michael Davis, Section Chief for Site Analysis, DOT
Suzanne Wright, Chief, Special Projects/Applications Management Branch, ZED,DPZ
Tysons Enterprise West, LLC, Owner, Tax Map39-2 (1)) 13D
Tyson Enterprise East, LLC, Owner, Tax Map 39-2 (1) 13E
File: RZ 2003-PR-008, PCA 75-7-004-03 and SE 2015-PR-021, PI 17 01 001, Imaging

Attachment 1

713



MMT RIGIANI
Lucia Anna Trigiani
Pia.Triglanl@MercerTrlglanl.com

Direc-t Dial: 703€37-5008
Dir€ct Fax 703-897-5018

February 17,2Ol7

YIA OVERNIGIIT MAIL

Suzanne Wright, Branch Chief
TannngEvaluation Division, Fairfax County
12055 Government Center Parkway, Suite 807
Fairfax, Virginia 22035 -55055

Re: Proffer R22003-PR-008 dated March t4,2OO4--
Zoning Interpretation Request - Response Iftter

Dear Ms. Wright:

This firm represents The Reserve at Tysons Corner Association, Inc. ('Association"), the
entity responsible for the operation and administration of The Reserve at Tysons residential
community located in Fairfax County, Virginia ('The Reserve Property").

As you are aware, we submitted a Zoning Interpretation Request to Barbara Berlin on
December 22,?fr16 on behalf of the Association relating to overflow parking requirements
contemplated in ProfferRZ2003-PR-008 dated March L4,20M ('Conditions"). A copy of that
letter is enclosed- Capitalized terms in this letter which are not defined have the meanings
contained in our December 22d letter.

Since that time, we understand that Brian Winterhalter at Cooley, counsel for Tysons
Enteqprise East, Lrc and Tysons Enterprise West, LI,C ('Tysons Enterprise") - the owner of the
adjacent Meridian Property, and David Gill at McGuire Woods, counsel for The Boro I Developer,
L.P. and The Boro I-C Developer L.L.C. ('Boro Developer") - the developer of the Meridian
Property, have submitted letters to you addressing the Association's request for a proffer
interpretation.

In their letters, Mr. Winterhalter and Mr. Gill asserL among other things, that Fairfax County
lacks authority to issue a proffer interpretation binding the Meridian Property because the
Conditions were associated with the redevelopment of The Reserve Property and only bind the
property which is part of The Reserve. Messrs. Winterhalter and Gill also maintain that the
Meridian Property is subject to its own set of proffers, which supersede any and all prior proffers to
which the Meridian Property may have been previously subject.

In response to the arguments presented by Messrs. Winterhalter and Gill, we offer the
following:

' Authority. The Director of the ZnmngEvaluation ('Division") has absolute
statutory authority pursuant to the Zoning Ordinance to provide interpretations of the Zoning
Ordinance, which includes Fairfor County accepted conditions for a property. ln this instance, the

112 South Alfred Street o Alexandria,Yirginia22314
telephone: (703) 837-5000 o fax: (703) 832-5001

EXHIBITtr{I \-'

www. M ercerTri gi au i. co m

Attachment 1

714



MEREERTRIGIANI
Ms. Suzanne Wright, Branch Chief
February 17,2017
Page2

Association has the right to request an interpretation of the Conditions and the Division has
authority to inteqpret the Conditions, without reseryation.

' Standard of Review. In interpreting the Conditions, the Division must rely on the
precise wording of the pertinent proffer - in this case, Proffer 49, and must consider the record of
the application. lt other words, the purpose of the proffer must be considered, taking into account
all relannt details related to the application and the basis underlying the proffer with those details
in mind.

' Record of the Application. T insoln Property Company Southwest, Inc. ('Uncoln
Property') applied for rezoning of The Reserve Property - as contract purchaser of The Reserve
Property, and in conjunction with the rezoning, the Conditions were established. Both Lincoln
Property and Campus Point Realty Corporation II ("Campus Point') - the owner of both the Reserve
Property and the Meridian Prcpefi at that time, executed the Conditions.

Also, while the Conditions were established in conjunction with Lincotn Property's
application for the rezoning of The Reserve property - the contract purchaser at the time
('Applicant"), a concunent application was submitted to amend the development plan which
encompassed both The Reserve Property and the Meridian Property. As a result of that concurrent
application, it appears that the Meridian Property acquired additional FAR to accommodate future
expansi611. [n other words, the Meridian Property benefitted in the rezoning of The Reserve
Property. Jhs 2sning and rezoning of the two properties was and continues to be htertwined.

' SAIC Declaration. Purportedly, to satisfy Proffer 49, the predecessor-intifle to
boih The Reseme Prupefly and Meridian ProperQt - Qampus Point, recorded the SAIC
Declaration among the Land Records encumbering The Reserve Property and the Meridian
Property. Section 12.17 of the SAIC Declaration recites the language in Proffer 49, with one
exception - Section 12.17 incorporates a right for the owner of the Meridian Property to terminate
the overflow parking rights unilaterally.

While Mr. Gill maintains that the SAIC Declaration cannot be considered by the Division
because it is a private contract between the parties, the SAIC Declaration is purportedly the very
instrument which was inten"ded to satisfy the Proffer 49, arrd is, consequently, pertinent to the
proffer inqruty. The termination language is unquestionably in direct contravention to Proffer 49,
and therefore, is null and void. The remainder of the SAIC Declaration - including the remainder
of Section 12.17 which requires overflow parking in accordance with Proffer 49, survives pursuant
to the severability clause in Section 12.6 of the SAIC Declaration, and encumbers both The Reserve
Property and the Meridian Property.

' Adverse Impact on Zoning Compliance. The improper unilateral termination by
Tysons Enterprise of the unqualified proffered right for The Reserve residents to utilize overflow
parking on the Meridian Property would render the Meridian Property to be in noncompliance with
Proffer 49, through no fault of, action by or omission of the Association or its members.

Attachment 1

715



"MEREERTRIGIANI
Ms. Suzanne Wright, Branch Chief
February L7,2Al7
Page 3

We believe it is worth noting the Association has consistently been told and has been
receptive to working with dl shareholders to address parking. Even after submitting the
interpretation request, we sent a letter to William Rothschild, also counset for Tysons Enterprise
(perhaps in conjunction with the purchase of the Meridian Property), advising that ow client is
wilting to engage in a dialogue regarding these matters and to accommedate Tysons Enterprise to
the extent possible and permissible. While Mr. Rothschild did telephone us acknowledgtng receipt
of our letter in mid-January, we have had no one representing Tysons Enterprise reach out to us
since then in an effort to develop a working plan. we find this regrettable.

For the foregoing reasons, we respectfully request that the Division proceed with its
determination, and interpret the matter in favor of the Association and the many individuals who
reside in The Reserve Commuafly, perrritting them to continue to utilize at least L50 parking
overflow spaces on the Meridian Property as Proffer 49 contemplates and the SAIC Declaration
mandates.

To issue an unfavorable detennination to our client - especially in light of the proposed
construction of a ballfield, the operation of which will undoubtedly result in increased
competition for street parking, will profoundly and negatively impact hundreds of residents in
The Reserve, many of whom have been supportive of the ballfietd, divesting them of their
property rights and potentially impacting their property values.

If you have any questions, please contact Janie Rhoads or me directly. Your
consideration of this matter is greatly appreciated.

Very truly yours,

I-{r/jk
Enclosure
cc: Supervisor Linda Smyth

Barbara C. Berlin, Director Evaluation Division Deparhnent of Planning and Zoning
Members, Board of Directors, The Reserve at Tysons Corner Association, [nc.
Janie L. Rhoads, Attomey at Iaw

#133n8

Attachment 1

716



Mr. Marshall had filed the necessary notices showing that at least 25 adjacent and/or interested parties had been notified of the date and 
hour of this public hearing and he proceeded to present his case.

Following the public hearing, Kristen Abrahamson, Branch Chief, Zoning Evaluation Division, Department of Planning and Zoning, 
presented the staff and Planning Commission recommendations.

               Chairman Connolly relinquished the Chair to Vice-Chairman Bulova and moved:

· Amendment of the Zoning Ordinance, as it applies to the property which is the subject of Rezoning Application RZ 2003-
SP-044, from the R-1 District to the R-3 District, subject to the proffers dated February 10, 2004.

· Modification of the requirement for a sidewalk along Silverbrook Road to permit an eight-foot wide asphalt trail.

Vice-Chairman Bulova seconded the motion and it carried by a vote of seven, Supervisor DuBois, Supervisor Gross, Supervisor Hudgins, 
Supervisor Kauffman, Supervisor Smyth, Chairman Connolly, and Vice-Chairman Bulova voting "AYE," Supervisor Frey and Supervisor 
Hyland being out of the room, Supervisor McConnell being absent.

               Vice-Chairman Bulova returned the gavel to Chairman Connolly.

ADDITIONAL BOARD MATTER

62. DISCLOSURE BY CHAIRMAN CONNOLLY REGARDING REZONING APPLICATION RZ 2003-PR-008 AND
PROFFERED CONDITION AMENDMENT APPLICATION PCA 75-7-004-2 (PROVIDENCE DISTRICT) (4:33 p.m.)

Chairman Connolly relinquished the Chair to Vice-Chairman Bulova and said that the next two applications on the agenda involve 
property owned by Campus Point Realty Corporation II, a closely related business affiliate of his employer, Science Applications 
International Corporation.   He said that because consideration of the applications will constitute a transaction having application solely to 
a property or business in which he has a personal interest, he will disqualify himself and shall not vote or in any manner act on behalf of 
the Board in this transaction, including participation in these hearings.

               (NOTE: Later in the meeting, the Board held this public hearing.  See Clerk’s Summary Item CL#63.)

AGENDA ITEMS

63. 4 P.M. – PH ON REZONING APPLICATION RZ 2003-PR-008 AND PROFFERED CONDITION AMENDMENT
APPLICATION PCA 75-7-004-2 (LINCOLN PROPERTY COMPANY, INCORPORATED) (PROVIDENCE DISTRICT)  (4:34
p.m.)

(O) (NOTE: Earlier in the meeting, Chairman Connolly recused himself from this case.  See Clerk’s Summary Item CL#62.)

The applications are located on the east side of Gallows Road and on the north and south sides of Science Applications Court, Tax Map 
39-2 ((1)) 13 pt.

Ms. Elizabeth Baker reaffirmed the validity of the affidavit for the record.

Page 22 of 24Final Summary, 3/15/04

9/18/2017http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/bosclerk/summary/2004/04-03-15.htm

Attachment 2

717



Ms. Baker had filed the necessary notices showing that at least 25 adjacent and/or interested parties had been notified of the date and hour 
of this public hearing and she proceeded to present her case.

Following the public hearing, which included testimony by seven speakers, Cathy Belgin, Senior Staff Coordinator, Zoning Evaluation 
Division, Department of Planning and Zoning, presented the staff and Planning Commission recommendations.

Discussion ensued with input from Barbara A. Byron, Director, Zoning Evaluation Division, Department of Planning and Zoning. 

Supervisor Smyth moved approval of Proffered Condition Amendment Application PCA 75-7-004-2, subject to the proffers dated March 
11, 2004.  Supervisor Kauffman seconded the motion and it carried by a vote of seven, Supervisor Hyland and Chairman Connolly being 
out of the room, Supervisor McConnell being absent.

Supervisor Smyth further moved:

· Amendment of the Zoning Ordinance, as it applies to the property which is the subject of Rezoning Application RZ 2003-
PR-008, from the I-3 and HC Districts to the PDH-30 and HC Districts, subject to the proffers dated March 14, 2004.

· Modification of the transitional screening requirement along the southeastern and southern boundaries where the multi-
family units abuts the Courts of Tysons and Tysons Executive Village communities in favor of that shown on the
CDP/FDP.

· Waiver of the barrier requirement along the southeastern and southern boundaries where the multi-family housing abuts the
Courts of Tysons and Tysons Executive Village communities in favor of that shown on the CDP/FDP.

· Modification of the non-core streetscape design along Gallows Road for the Tysons Urban Center in favor of that shown on
the CDP/FDP.

· Waiver of the 200 square foot privacy yard requirement for single family attached homes.

· Modification of the loading space requirement for multi-family dwellings in favor of one loading space provided for each
of the buildings (two total spaces).

· Waiver of the 600-foot maximum private street length requirement.

Supervisor Kauffman seconded the motion and it carried by a vote of seven, Supervisor DuBois, Supervisor Frey, Supervisor Gross, 
Supervisor Hudgins, Supervisor Kauffman, Supervisor Smyth, and Vice-Chairman Bulova voting "AYE," Supervisor Hyland and 
Chairman Connolly being out of the room, Supervisor McConnell being absent.

ADDITIONAL BOARD MATTER

64. AGENDA FOR BUDGET WORKSHOP  (5:42 p.m.)

Vice-Chairman Bulova distributed the agenda for the Budget Workshop scheduled for March 22, 2004.

Page 23 of 24Final Summary, 3/15/04

9/18/2017http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/bosclerk/summary/2004/04-03-15.htm

Attachment 2

718



Lucia Anna Trigiani
Pia.Trigiani@MercerTrigiani.com

(703) 837-5008
(703) 837-501 I

June 28,2017

VIA HAND DELIVERY

Clerk, Board of Zoning Appeals
Zoning Evaluation Division
Departrnent of Planning and Zoning
12055 Government Center Parkway, 801
Fairt-ax, Virginia 22035

Re: The Reserve at Tysorrs Corner Association, Inc. --
Notice of Appeal - Zoning Detennination fbr RZ/FDP 2003-PR-008
The Reserve at Tysons Corner
Tax Map Nurnbers 39-2 ((56)) Al" 83" 1-92. 39-2 ((1)) l3A5 and .46

Dear Clerk of the Board of Zoning Appeals:

Tliis t'irm represents The Reserve at Tysons Comer Association, Inc. ("Association"), the
Virginia nonstock corporation entity which is responsible tbr the operation and administration of The
Resere at Tysons community in Fairf-ax, Virginia.

Tlie Reserve at Tysons community consists of 570 homes - 478 apartments owned by Sirnpson
Properly Group, LP and 92 towrfiornes which are owned individually and are governed by the
Townhouse at the Resenue Homeowners Association, Inc. ("Townhouse Association").

Pursuant to Section l8-300 et seq. of the Fairfax County ZonrngOrdinance ("Ordinance"), this
letter serves as our Notice of Appeal to the Zoning Determination rendered in response to our Zoning
Interpretation request submitted on Decernber 22,2016 ("lnterpretation Request"). A copy of the
Interpretation Request is enclosed as Exhibit 1 . Capitulized terms used in this letter have the
meanings set fortlt in in tlte Interpretation Request.

The Interpretation Request requested an interpretation of Proffer 49 of the Conditions. A copy
of the Conditions is enclosed as Exhibit 2. A copy of the SAIC Declaration is enclosed as Exhibit 3.
It-t sutnmary, on behalf of the Association, we requested whether the owner of the Meridian Properly is
entitled to unilateral/y tenninate the rights of individuals residing on the Reserve Property to the
minitnum of 150 overf'low parking spaces required to be located on the Meridian Properly tbr the use
of Reserve Properly residents pursuant to Profl'er 49 of the Conditions, which is tutquolified in light of
its permanency.

On May 30, 2017 - six months afier the Zoning Interpretation was subtnitted, Tracy D.
Sttunk, AICP, Director of the ZoningEvaluation Division of the Department of Planning ar-rd Zonrng
fbr Fairfax County, Virginia issued aZoningDetennination on behalf of theZoningAdrnir-ristrator and
in response to our Interpretation Request. A copy of the ZoningDetennination is enclosed as Exhibit
4. In shor1, the Zoning Detennination holds that Proffer 49 remains in effect tbr the i9.04 acres
included in RZ 2003-PR-008 - whicli comprises The Reserve Property, but is not entbrceable against
Meridian.

Direct Fax

112 South Alfred Street . Alexandria,Yirgiria22314
telephone: (703) 837-5000 o fax: (703) 837-5001

www.MercerTrigiani.com

Attachment 3

719



MI,l_BA-stiTBr G-l

Clerk, Board of Zoning Appeals
June 28,2017
Page 2

Pursuant to Section 1 8-301 of the Ordinance, any person aggrieved by any decision of the
Zoning Administrator relating to a proft-ered condition may appeal to the Board of Supervisors as
provided in Paragraph l0 of Section 18-204 of the Ordinance. Paragraph 10 of SectionlS-204 of the
Ordinance provides that such appeal shall specify the grounds on which the party is aggrieved and the
basis fbr the appeal.

The Association is aggrieved by the ZoningDetermination because, among other things:

o The Zoning Detennination renders the Reserve Property in non-compliance with Proffer 49 of
the Conditions - through no fault of the Association or any of the members or residents who
reside at the Reserve Property, and with no means of recourse or redress.

. Members of the Association and residents in the cornmunity bear significant hardship without
access to the overt'low parking spaces which are clearly conternplated in and unequivocally
required by the Conditions to be located on the Meridian Property.

o The resulting zoning non-compliance and lack of adequate parking have a negative irnpact on
property values and the ability to sell property located in the Reserve at Tysons community.

This forced tton-compliance and the significant hardships irnposed on Association members
and Reserve Property residents are the direct result of the ZonrngDetermination which holds that the
profl-ers remain in eff-ect, but are unenforceable. This determination is iruecortcilable ancl
ittcottsistenf. The Zoning Interpretation has a negative irnpact on property values and the sale of
property in The Reserve at Tysons community. The foregoing matters serye as the prirnary basis of
this Notice of Appeal, as do the arguments raised in our Interpretation Request and letter to Suzanne
Wriglrt dated February 17,2077 ("Response Letter"), a copy of which is enclosed as Exhibit 5.

Pursuant to Section l8-106 of the Ordinance, we have provided a copy of this Notice of Appeal
and enclosures and a check in the amount of $600.00 to the ZoningAdministrator. Please contact my
colleague, Janie Rhoads, or rne with questions or if additional information is needed. We look forward
to hearing fiorn you.

LAT/mch
cc: ZoningAdrninistrator

Mernbers, Board of Directors
Janie L. Rhoads, Attomey at Law

Enclosures: Interpretation Request (Exhibit l); Conditions (Exhibit 2); SAIC Declaration (Exhibit 3);
Zoning Determination (Exhibit 4); Response Letter (Exhibit 5)

# l3849tt

Very truly yours,

Attachment 3

720



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

INFORMATION - 1

Fairfax-Falls Church Community Services Board 2018 Fee Schedule

Since its establishment in 1969, the Fairfax-Falls Church Community Services Board 
(CSB) has complied with Section 37.2-504 (A) (7) of the Code of Virginia, which states  
the CSB shall prescribe a reasonable schedule of fees for services provided by 
personnel or facilities under the jurisdiction or supervision of the CSB Board and 
establish procedures for the collection of the same.

The CSB ensures compliance with the Code of Virginia by: (1) conducting a review of 
fee-related materials by a Committee comprised of CSB Board members and CSB staff; 
(2) publicizing the proposed changes in English, Spanish, Vietnamese and Korean (e.g., 
on the www.fairfaxcounty/csb webpage and in CSB News); (3) posting a Notice of 
Public Comment and accepting written comments regarding proposed changes; and (4) 
accepting comments during a public CSB Board meeting. 

In accordance with the CSB’s Memorandum of Agreement with the Board of 
Supervisors as well as State regulations, on October 25, 2017, the CSB Board 
approved a Fee Schedule with revisions to selected service charges.

The services on the Fee Schedule include outpatient, residential, and ancillary services.  
Fees for Virginia Medicaid State Plan Option services are set at the Medicaid 
reimbursement rate. Fees for outpatient services are traditionally cost-based and 
recorded in increments that are consistent with Current Procedural Terminology (CPT)
maintained by the American Medical Association to uniformly describe medical
(including psychiatric), surgical, and diagnostic services. Fees for residential services 
are primarily income-based due to the extended length of stay for residential treatment 
or the permanency of a community-living setting for individuals with an intellectual 
disability.  Ancillary charges include usual and customary fees such as those to cover 
administrative costs such as copying records or returned checks and as prescribed by 
Fairfax County Code and/or the Code of Virginia.

The current proposed changes to the CSB Fee Schedule are primarily attributable to 
separating the CSB Guidelines for Assigning Priority Access to CSB Services from the 
Reimbursement for Services Policy; synchronizing the CSB Ability to Pay Scale with the 
Federal Poverty Levels (FPL); updating the CSB Fee Schedule to reflect the services 
provided in the CSB; and updating CSB service fees to more closely reflect CSB costs 
and to maximize Medicare reimbursement.

Unless otherwise directed by the Board of Supervisors, the County Executive will direct 
staff to proceed with the implementation of the revised Fee Schedule.  Sufficient 
advance notice of fee changes must be given to consumers.

721

http://www.fairfaxcounty/csb


Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

FISCAL IMPACT:
The fee-related documents provide the CSB with uniform mechanisms to maximize 
revenues from clients, Medicaid and other health insurance plans.  The FY 2018 
adopted budget for the CSB includes $17.8 million in estimated fee revenues. No 
material change is anticipated as a result of the proposed revisions.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENT:
Attachment 1 - CSB Fee Schedule
Attachment 2 - Summary of CSB Fee Related Changes

STAFF:
Patricia Harrison, Deputy County Executive
Tisha Deeghan, Executive Director, Fairfax-Falls Church CSB
G. Michael Lane, Deputy Director Administrative Operations, Fairfax-Falls Church CSB
LaKeisha Flores, CSB Business Operations, Director

722



Fairfax Falls Church CSB 
Fee Schedule 

Effective February 1, 2018 

Attachment 1 

Service Billing Procedure Code 
Subject to Ability 

to Pay Scale 
Effective February 1, 2017 Effective February 1, 2018 

Adolescent Day Treatment - MH H0035 HA ¥es $36.53 per unit 
Adolescent Day Treatment - SA - Yes $4.80 per 15 minutes $4.80 per 15 minutes 
Adult Day Treatment - MH H0035-HB Yes $34.78 per unit $34.78 per unit 
Adult Day Treatment- SA H0017 Yes $4.80 per 15 minutes 
A New Beqinninq Residential Treatment - Yes $238.30 per day $238.30 per day 
GAP Case Manaqement - Reqular Intensity H0023-UB Yes $195.90 per month $195.90 per month 
GAP Case Manaqement - Hiqh Intensity H0023-UC Yes $220.90 per month $220.90 per month 
Case Manaqement—IB Yes Yes $326.50 per month 
Case Manaqement - MH H0023 Yes $326.50 per month $326.50 per month 
Case Manaqement - DD T1017 Yes $326.50 per month 
Case Manaqement - SA H0006 Yes $16.50 per 15 minutes $243.00 per month 
Conqreqate Residential ID Waiver Services 97535 No $17.71 per hour $17.71 per hour 
Contracted Residential Treatment - Intermediate Rehabilitation/Reentry Yes $163 per day $163 per day 
Crisis Intervention H0036or 90839 or 90840 Yes $30.79 per 15 minutes $30.79 per 15 minutes 
Crisis Stabilization - Adult Residential H2019 Yes $89 per hour $89 per hour 
Crossroads Adult Residential Treatment - Yes $186.52 per day $186.52 per day 
Crossroads Youth Residential Treatment - Yes 
Detoxification, Medical, Residential-settinq - Yes $750 per day $750 per day 
Detoxification, Social, Residential-settinq Yes $495 per day $750 per day 

Drop-In Support Services, ID - Yes 

Rate set by vendor(s) but no less than 

$2 per hour and for those with incomes 

above 150% of FPL, apply 20% liability 

(based on ATP Scale) of the CSB 
contracted negotiated rate. If below 

150% of FPL, charge $2 per hour. 

Rate set by vendor(s) but no less than 

$2 per hour and for those with incomes 

above 150% of FPL, apply 20% liability 

(based on ATP Scale) of the CSB 

contracted negotiated rate. If below 

150% of FPL, charge $2 per hour. 

Family Therapy w/out client 90846 Yes $80.00 per hour $111.24 per event 
Family Therapy w/ client 90847 Yes $80.00 per hour $115.43 per event 
Group Therapy/Counselinq 90853 Yes $4.80 per 15 minutes $27.86 per event 
Head Start - Services to - No $25 per 15 minutes $25 per 15 minutes 
Independent Evaluations - No $75 each $75 each 
Individual Therapy/Counselinq (16 to 37 minutes) 90832 Yes $80.00 per hour $69.08 per event 
Individual Therapy/Counseling (38 to 52 minutes) 90834 Yes $80.00 per hour $91.82 per event 
Individual Therapy/Counselinq (53 minutes or qreater) 90837 Yes $80.00 per hour $137.74 per event 
initial Evaluation/Assessment 90791 Yes $150 per event $150 per event 
Injection Procedure 96372 Yes $20.00 $30.20 per event 
Intensive Community Treatment H0039 Yes $153 per hour $153 per hour 
Intensive Outpatient - SA H0015 Yes $4.80 per 15 minutes $250.00 per day 

Page 1 of 3 

723



Fairfax Falls Church CSB 
Fee Schedule 

Effective February 1,2018 

Attachment 1 

Service Billing Procedure Code 
Subject to Ability 

to Pay Scale 
Effective February 1, 2017 Effective February 1, 2018 

Interactive Complexity* 90785 Yes 

$15 add on to other clinic services 

when there is a factor that 

complicates the psychiatric service 

or increases the work intensity of 

the psychotherapy service 

$15 add on to other clinic services 

when there is a factor that 

complicates the psychiatric service 

or increases the work intensity of 

the psychotherapy service 

Lab Tests - No Actual Cost Actual Cost 
Late Cancellation or No Show - Yes $25.00 $25.00 
Legal Testimony 

onfifP 
Yes $25 per 15 minutes $25 per 15 minutes 

Mental Health Skill-buildinq Service H0046 Yes $91 per unit $91 per unit 
Multi-Family Group Therapy 90849 Yes $25 per event $25 per event 
Neuroloqical Testinq Yes $1168 per event $1168 per event 
New Generations Residential Treatment H0010 Yes $120 per day $393.50 per month 
Nursinq Assessment Yes Deleted; usinq other procedural 
Nursinq Subsequent Care 99211 Yes $29 per event $29 per event 
Peer Support Sen/ices - Individual/SA T1012 Yes $6.50 per 15 minutes 
Peer Support Services - Group/SA S9445 Yes $2.70 per 15 minutes 
Peer Support Services - Individual/MH Yes TBD by Medicaid 
Peer Support Services - Group/MH Yes TBD by Medicaid 
Physical Exam (Physician) 99385-99387 Yes $167 per event $167 per event 
Psychiatric Evaluation 90792 Yes $219 per event $219 per event 
Psychiatric Evaluation & Manaqement Hiqh Complexity - New Patient 99205 Yes $234.95 per event 
Psychiatric Evaluation & Manaqement Low Complexity - New Patient 99203 Yes $124.25 per event 
Psychiatric Evaluation & Manaqement Moderate Complexity - New Patient 99204 Yes $187.06 per event 
Psychiatric Evaluation & Manaqement Hiqh Complexity 99215 Yes $144 per event $164.91 per event 
Psychiatric Evaluation & Manaqement Low Complexity 99213 Yes $54 per event $83.79 per event 
Psychiatric Evaluation & Manaqement Moderate Complexity 99214 Yes $90 per event $122.82 per event 
Psycholoqical Testinq - No $150 per event $150 per event 
Psychological Testing Battery 96101 Yes $851 per event $851 per event 
Psychosocial Rehabilitation H2017 

unrp."> 
Yes $24.23 per unit $24.23 per unit 

Psycholoqical Assessment, Adult Therapeutic Day Treatment H0032 - U7 Yes $36.53 Per event 
Psycholoqical Assessment, Psychosocial Rehab H0032 - U6 Yes $24.23 per event 
Psycholoqical Assessment, GAP SMI Short Form H0032 - UB Yes $37.00 per event 
Psycholoqical Assessment, GAP SMI Lonq Form H0032 - UC Yes $75.00 per event 
Psycholoqical Assessment, Intensive Community Treatment H0032 - U9 Yes $153.00 per event 
Psycholoqical Assessment, Mental Health Skill Buildinq H0032 - U8 Yes $91.00 per event 

Release of Information: Individual - No 
504 per pg up to 50 pgs; 

25<t per pg for > = 51 pqs 
50<t per pg up to 50 pgs; 

254 per pq for > = 51 pqs 
Release of Information: Research - No $10.00 $10.00 

Page 2 of 3 

724



Fairfax Falls Church CSB 
Fee Schedule 

Effective February 1, 2018 

Attachment 1 

Service Billing Procedure Code 
Subject to Ability 

to Pay Scale 
Effective February 1, 2017 Effective February 1, 2018 

Release of Information: Third Party - No 

$10 admin fee 

504 per pg up to 50 pgs; 

254 per pq for > = 51 pqs 

$10 admin fee 

504 per pg up to 50 pgs; 

254 per pq for > = 51 pqs 
Release of Information: Worker's Compensation - No $15.00 $15.00 
Residential Fee ID Community Living Services - No 75% of qross income 75% of gross income 
Residential Fee MH/SA Community Livinq Services - No 30% of qross income 30% of qross income 
Returned Check (due to insuffient funds or closed account) - No $50.00 $50.00 
Skilled Nursinq Waiver LPN Services T1003 No $7.82 per 15 min $7.99 per 15 min 
Skilled Nursinq Waiver RN Services T1002 No $9.02 per 15 min $9.22 per 15 min 
Sojourn House Residential Treatment H2020 Yes 
Telehealth Facility Fee GT Modifier No $20.00 $20.00 
Transportation - No $100 per month $100 per month 
Turninq Point Program - Yes $285.71 per month $285.71 per month 
Urine Collection & Druq Screeninq- Retests Only - Yes $25.00 $25.00 
Wraparound Fairfax - No $1230 per month $1270 per month 
DDW Case Manaqement No $242.73 per month $242.73 per month 
DDW Group Home Residential 5 person Tier 1 H2022-U2 No $221.80 per day $221.80 per day 
DDW Group Home Residential 5 person Tier 2 H2022-U2 No $249.07 per day $249.07 per day 
DDW Group Home Residential 5 person Tier 3 H2022-U2 No $276.33 per day $276.33 per day 
DDW Group Home Residential 5 person Tier 4 H2022-U2 No $325.40 per day $325.40 per day 
DDW Group Home Residential 6 person Tier 1 H2022-U3 No $214.99 per day $214.99 per day 
DDW Group Home Residential 6 person Tier 2 H2022-U3 No $238.84 per day $238.84 per day 
DDW Group Home Residential 6 person Tier 3 H2022-U3 No $266.10 per day $266.10 per day 
DDW Group Home Residential 6 person Tier 4 H2022-U3 No $316.88 per day $316.88 per day 
DDW Group Home Residential 7 person Tier 1 H2022-U4 No $208.17 per day 
DDW Group Home Residential 7 person Tier 2 H2022-U4 No $228.61 per day 
DDW Group Home Residential 7 person Tier 3 H2022-U4 No $255.88 per day 
DDW Group Home Residential 7 person Tier 4 H2022-U4 No $308.36 per day 
PERS Medication Monitorinq S5185 No $58.41 $58.41 
PERS Monitorinq S5161 No $35.05 $35.05 
PERS Installation S5160 No $58.41 $58.41 
PERS Installation & Medication Monitorinq S5160-U1 No $87.62 $87.62 
DDW Skilled Nursinq, Reqistered Nurse S9123 No $11.28 per 15 min $11.28 per 15 min 
DDW Skilled Nursinq, Licensed Practicle Nurse S9124 No $9.78 per 15 min $9.78 per 15 min 
DDW Transition Services T2038 No Unit varies/$5000 yearly limit Unit varies/$5000 yearly limit 
DDW Assistive Technoloqy, Maintenance Costs Only T1999-U5 No Unit varies/$5000 yearly limit Unit varies/$5000 yearly limit 

Page 3 of 3 

725



Attachment 2 

Summary of Changes to CSB 2017-2018 Fee Related Documents 

Reimbursement for Services Policy 2120 

• Separated the CSB Guidelines for Assigning Priority Access to CSB Services from the Reimbursement for 
Services Policy. The CSB Guidelines for Assigning Priority Access to CSB Services is covered in a separate 
Board Policy. 

Ability to Pay Scale 
e Synchronizes the Ability to Pay Scale income levels with the Federal Poverty Levels published by the 

federal government every January. 

Fee Schedule 
• Adds Addiction Recovery and Treatment Services. 
• Removes Substance Use services that were discontinued through the implementation of ARTS. 
• Removes CSB services that are no longer offered. 
• Clarifies Service names, procedure codes, and billing intervals. 
• Adds Mental Health Peer Support Services. Fees will be made available through DMAS. 
• Adds Psychiatric Evaluation and Management services for New Patients. 
• Adds Individual Therapy/Counseling for 16 to 37 minutes; and 38 to 52 minutes. 
© Adds Psychological Assessments for Adult Day Treatment, Psychosocial Rehab, GAP SMI, Intensive 

Community Treatment, and Mental Health Skill Building. 
• Updates Outpatient service fees to maximize Medicare reimbursement. 

Fee and Subsidy Related Procedures Regulation 2120.1 
Regulation 

• Delete "Regulation and/ or the" in Section II of the Regulation. The CSB Board is not required to 
approve revisions to the Regulation. 

• Change "American Medical Association (related to procedural codes)" in Section II, F of the 
regulation to "Relevant Professional Associations". 

Eligibility 
• Delete Appendix A, "Guidelines for Assigning Priority Access to CSB Services". 

Fees for Service 

• Change the term "liability" to "subsidy" to reflect the language used in Policy 2120. 

Subsidy Determination 

• Delete reference to "household income" in Section VIII, C, i. 

• Add clarification when applying full-fee standards to Medicaid enrollees. 
Supplemental Subsidy 

• Clarify supplemental subsidy determination criteria. (Section VIII, C, iv) 

726



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

INFORMATION – 2

Presentation of the Fiscal Year 2017 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR)

Annually, pursuant to the Code of Virginia (Code), Section 15.2-2511, as amended, 
Fairfax County’s financial statements are audited by an independent certified public 
accountant.  This audit is conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
the Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States; and the Specifications for Audits of Counties, Cities, and Towns issued by the 
Auditor of Public Accounts of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  The Code also requires 
that an independent certified public accountant present a detailed written report to the 
local governing body at a public session by December 31.  The County’s financial
statements for fiscal year 2017 have been audited by Cherry Bekaert LLP (CB), and 
CB’s unmodified opinion, with respect thereto, is presented on page 1 of the Financial 
Section of the County’s CAFR.  A representative from Cherry Bekaert is with us today.

In addition to meeting the requirements of the Code, the audit was designed to meet 
federal regulations as outlined in the Code of Federal Regulations, Title 2 Part 200, 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards. Known as the Single Audit, this is a special type of compliance audit 
applicable to specific federal grant programs.  The requirements of the Single Audit are 
established by federal legislation and regulation and are very stringent.  Cherry Bekaert’s 
reports related specifically to this audit activity are included as a separate report and 
bound as part of the Board of Supervisors Reports document.

Auditing standards generally accepted in the United States require that the auditors 
communicate, in writing, to those charged with governance all significant deficiencies, 
including material weaknesses.

The CAFR presented today will be submitted for rigorous peer review by the 
Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA). 
The Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR for the County was awarded the GFOA’s Certificate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting, the highest honor conferred by the 
GFOA, for the 39th time.

A comprehensive package was delivered directly to the offices of each member of the 
Board of Supervisors on or before December 1, 2017.  The package included:

∑ The Fiscal Year 2017 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report;
∑ Cherry Bekaert’s required communications and reports addressed to the Board*;
∑ Compliance reports*.

727



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

*these reports are included within the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors 
Reports document.

In compliance with the Code, a copy of the Fiscal Year 2017 CAFR is being provided to 
the Clerk to the Board of Supervisors where it shall remain open to public inspection.  
The CAFR is also being made available for public use on Fairfax County’s web site.

In addition to the above stated documents, the package also included the County’s first 
edition of the FY 2017 Popular Annual Financial Report (PAFR).  To meet the varied 
needs of our citizens, legislative and oversight bodies, financial managers, investors 
and others, the CAFR presents a large and complex volume of financial information 
presented at an extremely detailed level.  Conversely, the PAFR is designed to offer 
those with a general interest in the County’s financial activities a less detailed glimpse at 
selected data from the CAFR, presented in a highly readable format.

The GFOA PAFR award program annually recognizes high quality reports that meet the 
GFOA’s criteria for reader appeal, understandability, dissemination and other related 
requirements.  The FY 2017 PAFR will be submitted for peer review and award 
consideration by the GFOA. 

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
A comprehensive package was delivered directly to the offices of each member of the 
Board of Supervisors on or before December 1, 2017.  The package included:

• The Fiscal Year 2017 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report;
• Cherry Bekaert’s required communications and reports addressed to the Board*;
• Compliance reports*.

*these reports are included within the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors Reports 
document.

In compliance with the Code, a copy of the Fiscal Year 2017 CAFR is being provided to 
the Clerk to the Board of Supervisors where it shall remain open to public inspection.  
The CAFR will be made available for public use on Fairfax County’s web site at the 
conclusion of the December 5, 2017 Board of Supervisor meeting at:  
http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/finance/cafr.htm

STAFF:
Joseph M. Mondoro, Chief Financial Officer, Department of Management and Budget
Christopher J. Pietsch, Director, Department of Finance
Deirdre M. Finneran, Deputy Director, Department of Finance
Richard M. Modie Jr., Chief, Financial Reporting Division, Department of Finance
Tanya D. Burrell, Chief, Financial Operations Division, Department of Finance

728



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

INFORMATION - 3

Contract Award – Nursing and Other Healthcare Services

The Department of Procurement and Material Management (DPMM) issued a Request 
for Proposal (RFP2000002222) soliciting qualified sources to provide Continuous Duty 
Nursing, Continuous Duty Float Nursing and Temporary Health Care Professional 
Services (Registered Nurses, Licensed Practical Nurses and Certified Nursing 
Assistants), to replace expiring contracts. 

The RFP was publicly advertised in accordance with the Fairfax County Purchasing 
Resolution and 15 organizations responded with proposals by the closing date. The
Selection Advisory Committee (SAC), appointed by the County Purchasing Agent, 
evaluated the proposals in accordance with the criteria established in the RFP. Upon 
completion of the final evaluation of the proposals, the SAC conducted oral interviews 
with the top ranked offerors. The SAC negotiated with the top ranked offerors and 
unanimously recommended to award contracts to:

Continuous Duty 
Nursing Services

Continuous Duty 
Float Nursing 
Services

Temporary 
Healthcare 
Services

Anchor Healthcare Services X
Maxim Healthcare Services, Inc. X X X
MPS Healthcare dba Continuum 
Pediatric Nursing

X

Pediatric Services of America 
dba PSA Healthcare

X

The Medical Team, Inc. X

These offerors best demonstrated the ability to provide the services outlined in the RFP, 
adequately described relevant experience and provided detailed staffing plans with 
experienced and qualified staff with applicable licenses and resumes, provided 
satisfactory professional references, submitted adequate financial statements and 
demonstrated a good understanding of the requirements of the RFP and their ability to 
carry them out effectively. They also demonstrated an awareness of issues associated 
with these services.

The Department of Tax Administration (DTA) has verified that Anchor Healthcare 
Services, MPS Healthcare dba Continuum Pediatric Nursing, Pediatric Services of 
America dba PSA Healthcare and The Medical Team, Inc., possess the appropriate 
Fairfax County Business, Professional and Occupational License (BPOL) and Maxim 
Healthcare Services, Inc., is not required to have a Fairfax County Business, Professional 

729



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

and Occupational License (BPOL).

Unless otherwise directed by the Board of Supervisors, the Department of Procurement 
and Material Management will award the contracts to Anchor Healthcare Services, Maxim 
Healthcare Services, Inc., MPS Healthcare dba Continuum Pediatric, PSA Pediatric 
Services of America dba PSA Healthcare and The Medical Team, Inc. The contracts will 
begin on January 1, 2018 and terminate on December 31, 2021, with two (2) one-year 
renewal options.

FISCAL IMPACT:
The total estimated amount of the contracts for the first year is $1,800,000 and is funded 
in the Health Department in the General Fund. These contracts are included in the 
FY 2018 Adopted Budget Plan.    

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1: List of Offerors for RFP2000002222

STAFF:
Cathy A. Muse, Director, Department of Procurement and Material Management
Gloria Addo-Ayensu, MD, Director of Health, Health Department
Lee Ann Pender, Acting Director, Department of Administration for Human Services

730



ATTACHMENT 1

List of Offerors

Name SWAM Status
ACT-1 Government Solutions/All's Well Large, Minority Owned 

Small and Large
Anchor Healthcare Services Women-Owned Small
Assignment America dba Medical Staffing Network N/A
Delta-T Group Virginia, Inc. Small
Dymentum Health LLC Women-Owned Small
Epic Developmental Services Large
HealthForce of Virginia, Inc. Small
Home Health Connection, Inc. N/A
Kerros & Associates LLC dba Smartcare Government Group Minority-Owned Small and 

Women-Owned Small
Maxim Healthcare Services, Inc. Large
Motir Services, Inc. Minority-Owned Small
MPS Healthcare dba Continuum Pediatric Nursing Services Large
Pediatric Services of America dba PSA Healthcare Large
Sunbelt Staffing Solutions, Inc. Large
The Medical Team, Inc. Women-Owned Small

731



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017 

INFORMATION - 4

Contract Award – Legal Services for Individuals with Disabilities

The Department of Family Services’ Disability Services Planning and Development unit 
provides contracted legal assistance with Legal Services of Northern Virginia (LSNV) for 
families with a disabled family member who needs legal assistance and representation 
regarding denied or terminated Supplemental Security Income (SSI) or Social Security 
Disability Insurance (SSDI) and/or who are receiving General Relief benefits and appear 
to be eligible for SSI or SSDI, or have received overpayments from SSI or SSDI. 
General Relief beneficiaries who are deemed eligible for SSI or SSDI because of this 
program results in reimbursements to Fairfax County for all General Relief payments 
made to the client since he/she applied for SSI or SSDI.  LSNV also represents people 
with disabilities that have been discriminated against due to disability in the areas of 
housing, employment, transportation and public accommodations.

The Department of Procurement and Material Management, the Department of 
Administration for Human Services and the Department of Family Services negotiated a 
non-competitive contract award with Legal Services of Northern Virginia for the 
provision of these services. Legal Services of Northern Virginia is the only local non-
profit provider of legal services with specialized expertise in the areas of individuals with 
disabilities, benefits and other areas of law related to the Americans with Disabilities 
Act. Legal Services of Northern Virginia provides this legal advice and representation 
without regard to the individual’s ability to pay for services. Legal Services of Northern 
Virginia has several offices accessible to individuals with disabilities by public 
transportation. 

The Department of Tax Administration has verified that Legal Services of Northern 
Virginia is not required to have a Fairfax County Business, Professional, and 
Occupational License (BPOL).

Unless otherwise directed by the Board of Supervisors, the Purchasing Agent will award
the contract to Legal Services of Northern Virginia.  This contract will begin on January 
1, 2018, and terminate on December 31, 2022.  

FISCAL IMPACT:
The total estimated cost of the contract is $50,267 per year, or $251,335 over the life of 
the contract. This contract is funded in the Department of Family Services in the 
General Fund and is included in the FY 2018 Adopted Budget Plan.

732



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017 

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS: 
None

STAFF:
Cathy Muse, Director, Department of Procurement and Material Management
Nannette M. Bowler, Director, Department of Family Services
Lee Ann Pender, Acting Director, Department of Administration for Human Services

733



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

10:40 a.m.

Matters Presented by Board Members

734



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

11:30 a.m.

CLOSED SESSION:

(a) Discussion or consideration of personnel matters pursuant to Virginia Code 
§ 2.2-3711(A) (1).

(b) Discussion or consideration of the acquisition of real property for a public purpose, 
or of the disposition of publicly held real property, where discussion in an open 
meeting would adversely affect the bargaining position or negotiating strategy of 
the public body, pursuant to Virginia Code § 2.2-3711(A) (3).

(c) Consultation with legal counsel and briefings by staff members or consultants 
pertaining to actual or probable litigation, and consultation with legal counsel 
regarding specific legal matters requiring the provision of legal advice by such 
counsel pursuant to Virginia Code § 2.2-3711(A) (7).

1. 2525 Network Drive Owner, LLC, and 13861 Sunrise Valley Drive Owner, LLC, 
and 13865 Sunrise Valley Drive Owner, LLC v. Board of Supervisors of Fairfax 
County, Virginia, Case No. CL-2017-12270 (Fx. Co. Cir. Ct.) (Dranesville District)

2. Magaly Hernandez v. Fairfax County, Virginia, Appeal No. 17-1152 (4th Cir.)

3. Elizabeth L. Chapman and Lisa M. Alcazar v. County of Fairfax, Virginia, Case
No. 1:17-cv-965 (E.D. Va.)

4. Rachel Watson v. Fairfax County, Virginia, Case No. 1:17-cv-694 (E.D.Va.)

5. Saba Ishan v. James Jones, Case No. CL-2017-0003539 (Alex. Cir. Ct.)

6. Gerald E. Preston v. Officer A. Harrell, Case No. GV17-011154 (Fx. Co. Gen. 
Dist. Ct.)

7. Leslie B. Johnson, Fairfax County Zoning Administrator v. Cindy Reed Paska, 
Case No. GV17-023049 (Fx. Co. Gen. Dist. Ct.) (Braddock District)

8. Leslie B. Johnson, Fairfax County Zoning Administrator v. Edward Rodney 
Johnson and Kathleen R. Yuergens, Case No. GV17- 019511 (Fx. Co. Gen. Dist. 
Ct.) (Dranesville District)

9. Elizabeth Perry, Property Maintenance Code Official for Fairfax County, Virginia v. 
John Douglas Sanders, Trustee of the John Douglas Sanders Revocable Trust, 
Case No. GV17-019995 (Fx. Co. Gen. Dist. Ct.) (Dranesville District)

10. Elizabeth Perry, Property Maintenance Code Official for Fairfax County, Virginia v. 
Crystal Payne, Case No. GV17-024296 (Fx. Co. Gen. Dist. Ct.) (Hunter Mill 
District)

735



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017
Page 2

11. Elizabeth Perry, Property Maintenance Code Official for Fairfax County, 
Virginia, v. Norman Joseph Fry and Laura A. Fry, Case No. GV17-024772 (Fx. 
Co. Gen. Dist. Ct.) (Hunter Mill District)

12. Leslie B. Johnson, Fairfax County Zoning Administrator v. H.D. Development of 
Maryland, Inc., Case No. CL-2017-0000707 (Fx. Co. Cir. Ct.) (Lee District)

13. Leslie B. Johnson, Fairfax County Zoning Administrator v. Ragheb Aburish, Case 
No. CL-2017-0015519 (Fx. Co. Cir. Ct.) (Mason District)

14. Elizabeth Perry, Property Maintenance Code Official for Fairfax County, Virginia v. 
Jonathan Clark and Carolyn Clark, Case No. CL-2017-0016073 (Fx. Co. Cir. Ct.) 
(Mason District)

15. United States Customs and Border Protection, Office of Information and 
Technology v. Fairfax County (Fairfax County Board of Building Code Appeals) 
(Mount Vernon District)

16. Leslie B. Johnson, Fairfax County Zoning Administrator v. Shahriar Salartash, 
Case No. CL-2017-0015868 (Fx. Co. Cir. Ct.) (Mount Vernon District)

17. Elizabeth Perry, Property Maintenance Code Official for Fairfax County, Virginia v. 
Marina P. Farzad, Case No. CL-2014-0005184 (Fx. Co. Cir. Ct.) (Providence 
District)

18. Leslie B. Johnson, Fairfax County Zoning Administrator v. Kenneth L. Wines, Sr., 
and Shirley M. Wines, Case No. GV17-021931 (Fx. Co. Gen. Dist. Ct.) 
(Providence District)

19. In re: May 3, 2017, Decision of the Board of Zoning Appeals of Fairfax County, 
Virginia; Case No. CL-2017-0007913 (Fx. Co. Cir. Ct.) (Springfield District)

20. Elizabeth Perry, Property Maintenance Code Official for Fairfax County, Virginia v. 
Rubina Siddiqui, Case No. GV17-019994 (Fx. Co. Gen. Dist. Ct.) (Springfield 
District)

21. Elizabeth Perry, Property Maintenance Code Official for Fairfax County, Virginia v. 
Darrell Davis Poe, Case No. CL-2017-0011009 (Fx. Co. Cir. Ct.) (Springfield 
District)

22. Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County v. Solution Towing, Inc., Case 
No. GV17-023640 (Fx. Co. Gen. Dist. Ct.) (Dranesville, Hunter Mill, Lee, Mount 
Vernon, Providence, Springfield, and Sully Districts)

23. Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County v. Edward Lang & Premier Realty, Inc., 
d/b/a RE/MAX Premier, Case No. GV17-023641 (Fx. Co. Gen. Dist. Ct.) 
(Springfield and Sully Districts)

736



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

3:30 p.m.

Public Hearing on SE 2017-SP-018 (Cellco Partnership D/B/A Verizon Wireless) to
Permit a Telecommunications Facility (Monopole), Located on Approximately 12.50
Acres of Land Zoned R-3 and WS (Springfield District)

This property is located at 4515 Stringfellow Road, Chantilly, 20151. Tax Map 45-3 ((1)) 
10

The Board of Supervisors deferred this public hearing at the November 21, 2017 
meeting until December 5, 2017 at 3:30 p.m.  

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:
On November 2, 2017, the Planning Commission voted 9-0 (Commissioner Hart was 
absent from the public hearing) to recommend approval to the Board of Supervisors of 
SE 2017-SP-018, subject to the development conditions dated November 2, 2017.

In a related action, on November 2, 2017, the Planning Commission voted 9-0 
(Commissioner Hart was absent from the public hearing) to approve 2232-S17-25; the 
Planning Commission found that the appliation satisfies the criteria of character, 
location and extent as specified in Section 15.2-2232 of the Code of Virginia, and, 
therefore, is substantially in accordance with the adopted Comprehensive Plan.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Planning Commission Verbatim Excerpt and Staff Report available online at: 
http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpz/staffreports/bos-packages/

STAFF:
Tracy Strunk, Director, Zoning Evaluation Division, Department of Planning and Zoning (DPZ)
Jonathan Buono, Planner, DPZ

737

http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpz/staffreports/bos-packages/


Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

3:30 p.m.

Public Hearing on SEA 89-C-047-02 (CM & DOM, LLC) to Amend SE 89-C-047 
Previously Approved for a Drive-in Bank to Permit a Fast Food Restaurant with a Drive-
Thru and Associated Modifications to Site Design and Development Conditions,
Located on Approximately 1.78 Acres of Land Zoned C-6 (Sully District)

This property is located at 3035 Centreville Road, Herndon, 20171. Tax Map 24-4 ((5)) 
3

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:
On November 2, 2017, the Planning Commission voted 9-0 (Commissioner Hart was
absent from the public hearing) to recommend the following actions to the Board of 
Supervisors:

Approval of SEA 89-C-047-02, subject to the proposed development conditions dated 
October 31, 2017;

Approval of a waiver of the minimum loading space requirement, pursuant to Section 
11-200 of the Zoning Ordinance, in favor of that shown on the SEA plat; and

Approval of the modification of the peripheral lot landscaping requirements, pursuant to 
Section 13-203 of the Zoning Ordinance, in favor of that shown on the SEA plat. 

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Planning Commission Verbatim Excerpt and Staff Report available online at: 
http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpz/staffreports/bos-packages/

STAFF:
Tracy Strunk, Director, Zoning Evaluation Division, Department of Planning and Zoning (DPZ)
Sharon Williams, Planner, DPZ

738

http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpz/staffreports/bos-packages/


Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

3:30 p.m.

Public Hearing on RZ 2017-SU-011 (DD South 5 LC) to Rezone from PDC, I-5, HD and 
WS to PDC, HD and WS to Permit Site Modifications Related to Office Use at an 
Overall Floor Area Ratio of 0.49 and Approval of the Conceptual Development Plan,
Located on Approximately 77.31 Acres of Land (Sully District)

This property is located in the SouthEast Quadrant of the intersection of Sully Road and 
Air and Space Museum Parkway, West of Centreville Road. Tax Map 34-2 ((1)) 2C1, 
2D1, 2E, 3C1 and 6

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:
On November 30, 2017, the Planning Commission voted 9-0-1 (Commissioner Cortina 
abstained from the vote and Commissioner Flanagan was absent from the public 
hearing) to recommend the following actions to the Board of Supervisors:

∑ Approve RZ 2017-SU-011 and its associated CDP, subject to proffers dated 
November 8, 2017;

∑ Approve FDP 2017-SU-011, subject to the development conditions dated 
November 17, 2017, and subject to the Board of Supervisors’ approval of the 
concurrent rezoning and conceptual development plan application;

∑ Approve a modification of Section 10-104(3) B and C of the Zoning Ordinance to
permit an increase in fence height to a maximum height of nine feet around the 
perimeter of the property to provide security for the proposed tenant;

∑ Approve a modification of Section 13-303 of the Zoning Ordinance to permit the
transitional screening as shown on the CDP/FDP to satisfy the requirements 
along the eastern boundary and a portion of the southern boundary;

∑ Approve a modification of Section 13-304 of the Zoning Ordinance to permit the
barriers as shown on the CDP/FDP to satisfy the requirements along the
southern property line and a portion of the eastern and western property lines;

∑ Approve a waiver of the Countywide Trails Plan recommendation for a major 
paved trail along the south side of the abandoned Barnsfield Road;

∑ Approve a modification of Paragraph H of Section 13-304 of the Zoning 
Ordinance in favor of the nine foot security fencing to be located around the 
perimeter of the property as shown on the CDP/FDP; and

739



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

∑ Approve a modification of Section 13-202 of the Zoning Ordinance and waiver of 
Paragraph 3D of Section 12-0514 of the PFM to permit the interior parking lot
landscaping as shown on the CDP/FDP.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Planning Commission Verbatim Excerpt and Staff Report available online at: 
http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpz/staffreports/bos-packages/

STAFF:
Tracy Strunk, Director, Zoning Evaluation Division, Department of Planning and Zoning (DPZ)
Kelly Atkinson, Planner, DPZ

740

http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpz/staffreports/bos-packages/


Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

3:30 p.m.

Public Hearing on AA 2012-SU-001 (Jon & Kim Hickox) to Permit an Amendment of a 
Previously Approved Agricultural and Forestal District to Add Approximately 60 Acres of 
Land Area, Located on Approximately 81.0 Acres of Land Zoned R-C, HD, and WS 
(Sully District)

This property is located at 6780 Bull Run Post Office and 15950 Lee Highway, 
Centreville, 20120. Tax Map 64-1 ((7) 31, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42 and 64-1
((4)) 7 Z1, 7Z2, 7Z3 and 7Z4 and 53-3 ((7)) 32 and 33

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:
On November 30, 2017, the Planning Commission voted 9-0-1 (Commissioner Cortina 
abstained from the vote and Commissioner Flanagan was absent from the public 
hearing) to recommend that the Board of Supervisors approve AA 2012-SU-001, and 
amend Appendix F of the Fairfax County Code to add approximately sixty acres of 
additional land area, to the Hickox Local Agricultural and Forestal District, and renew 
the district for an eight-year term, subject to ordinance provisions consistent with those 
dated November 29, 2017.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Planning Commission Verbatim Excerpt and Staff Report available online at: 
http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpz/staffreports/bos-packages/

STAFF:
Tracy Strunk, Director, Zoning Evaluation Division, Department of Planning and Zoning (DPZ)
Mike Lynskey, Planner, DPZ

741

http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpz/staffreports/bos-packages/


Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

4:00 p.m.

Public Hearing to Reallocate Proffered Funds from Patriot Park to Patriot Park North 
(Springfield District)

ISSUE:
Patriot Park, located at 12111 Braddock Road in the Springfield District, has received   
a number of proffered contributions for park development over the years. Due to the 
uncertainty of VDOT and FCDOT transportation projects that will impact the park, the 
Fairfax County Park Authority requests a public hearing under Va. Code § 15.2-
2303.2(C) in order to reallocate proffered contributions made to Patriot Park for 
alternative improvements at nearby Patriot Park North, located at the corner of 
Braddock and Willow Springs Roads.

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board of Supervisors approve the request 
to reallocate proffered contributions to Patriot Park North.

TIMING:
Board action is requested on December 5, 2017, in order to allow the reallocated funds 
to be accessible for use in calendar year 2018.

BACKGROUND:
On September 12, 2017, the Board authorized the public hearing for this item. 

A total amount of $1,346,459.52 in proffered contributions from eight separate rezoning 
cases is available to be transferred (ATTACHMENT 1). Virginia Code § 15.2-2303.2(C) 
allows a locality to use any cash payments proffered for capital improvements for 
alternative improvements of the same category within the locality in the vicinity of the 
improvements for which the cash payments were originally made. Before using the cash 
payments for the alternate improvements, thirty days’ written notice of the proposed 
alternative improvements must be given to the entities that made the cash payment and 
the Board must conduct a public hearing on the proposal.  Following the public hearing, 
the Board can use the cash payments for alternative improvements if it finds: (a) the 
improvements for which the cash payments were proffered cannot occur in a timely 
manner or the functional purpose for which the cash payments were made no longer 
exists; (b) the alternative improvements are within the vicinity of the proposed 
improvements for which the cash payments were proffered; and (c) the alternative 

742



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

improvements are in the public interest. 

FISCAL IMPACT:
Should the Board of Supervisors not approve the request, the funds proffered to Patriot 
Park will remain unavailable to be used for other improvements at nearby Patriot Park 
North and will remain unutilized until VDOT and FCDOT transportation improvements, 
including road alignments that will impact Patriot Park, are finalized.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1- Spreadsheet including zoning case numbers and proffered contributions  

STAFF:
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive
Sara K. Baldwin, Acting Executive Director, Fairfax County Park Authority
Fred Selden, Director, Department of Planning and Zoning  

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
M. Christopher Sigler, Assistant County Attorney

743



744



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

4:00 p.m.

Public Hearing on Proposed Plan Amendment 2016-CW-4CP, Office Building 
Repurposing

ISSUE:
Plan Amendment (PA) 2016-CW-4CP proposes to add an appendix to the Land Use 
section of the Policy Plan entitled “Guidelines for Office Building Repurposing.” The new 
appendix would establish guidance for considering uses other than those envisioned by 
the adopted Comprehensive Plan for vacant office buildings in mixed-use centers, such 
as Tysons Urban Center, the Merrifield Suburban Area, Community Business Centers,
as well as Industrial Areas, as designated on the county’s Concept for Future 
Development. Repurposing proposals that meet the guidelines set forth in the new 
appendix can be considered to be in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan even if 
the proposed use is not specifically recommended.  The guidance, if adopted, would not 
preclude the Board of Supervisors’ (Board’s) ability to authorize a Comprehensive Plan 
amendment as per county policy.  Furthermore, office repurposing projects in this 
category will need zoning approval by the Board. Opportunities for public input in these 
proposals will occur as part of the development review process.

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:
On November 16, 2017, the Planning Commission voted 9-0 (Commissioner Strandlie 
was absent) to recommend to the Board of Supervisors the adoption of the staff 
recommendation for Plan Amendment 2016-CW-4CP, found on pages 6-10 of the Staff 
Report dated September 18, 2017 with a modification as shown on the handout dated 
November 16, 2017 that would modify the glossary term for office repurposing, as 
shown in Attachment I: Planning Commission Verbatim and Recommendation.  

The original motion offered to the Planning Commission included an additional 
modification that would exclude the option to convert underutilized office buildings to 
residential uses within the Reston Transit Station Areas (TSAs). An alternate motion
was made to amend the original motion to remove the proposed Reston exclusion. The 
Planning Commission voted 7-2 (Commissioner Strandlie was absent) to accept the 
proposed amendment to the original motion to remove the Reston TSAs exclusion. 

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board adopt the Planning Commission 
recommendation to amend the Policy Plan to add guidance on the repurposing of 

745



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

vacant office buildings within certain areas of the county, as shown in Attachment II: 
Planning Commission Handout dated November 16, 2017. 

TIMING:
Planning Commission public hearing – November 2, 2017
Planning Commission decision – November 16, 2017
Board of Supervisors’ public hearing – December 5, 2017

BACKGROUND: 
On October 18, 2016, the Fairfax County Board authorized PA 2016-CW-4CP to 
facilitate the adaptive reuse of vacant and/or underutilized office buildings for alternative 
uses such as residential or institutional uses, in response to recommendations 
developed by the Fairfax County Building Repositioning Workgroup, which was 
established by the Board in the fall of 2015 to examine the conditions in the county that 
contribute to office building obsolescence and to identify potential repositioning and/or 
repurposing solutions to address these conditions. As of December 2016, the inventory 
of vacant office space exceeded 18.4 million square feet.  

Repositioning of an existing building refers to a strategy whereby alterations and 
improvements are made to an office building to make it more competitive in the current 
market while retaining the office use.  Repurposing of an existing building is a change in 
use, such as a conversion from office to residential, institutional, retail, light 
manufacturing, or public uses. The authorization also supports recommendations of the 
Strategic Plan to Facilitate the Economic Success of Fairfax County, developed by the 
Fairfax County Economic Advisory Commission and adopted by the Board in March 
2015, which recommends repurposing vacant office buildings and creating vibrant, 
mixed-use places.

The proposed Policy Plan amendment lays out performance criteria to provide guidance 
that identifies policy expectations and areas where flexibility in the application of certain 
objectives may be appropriate. This includes policies and objectives related to: 
compatibility; transportation; site design; environment; schools, parks, and other public 
facilities; affordable housing; and historic preservation. 

FISCAL IMPACT:
None.

746



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS: 
Attachment I:  Planning Commission Verbatim and Recommendation, dated November 
16, 2017
Attachment II: Planning Commission Plan Language Modification, dated November 16, 
2017 

The Staff Report for 2016-CW-4CP has been previously furnished and is available 
online at: https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpz/comprehensiveplan/amendments/2016-cw-
4cp.pdf

STAFF:
Fred R. Selden, Director, Department of Planning and Zoning (DPZ) 
Barbara Byron, Director, Office of Community Revitalization (OCR)
Marianne R. Gardner, Director, Planning Division (PD), DPZ 
Meghan D. Van Dam, Branch Chief, Planning Division (PD), DPZ
Sophia S. Fisher, Planner III, Policy and Plan Development Branch, PD, DPZ
Laura Baker, Revitalization Program Manager, OCR

747

https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpz/comprehensiveplan/amendments/2016-cw-4cp.pdf
https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpz/comprehensiveplan/amendments/2016-cw-4cp.pdf


  Attachment I 
County of Fairfax, Virginia 

Planning Commission Meeting 
November 16, 2017 
Verbatim Excerpt 

 
 
PA 2016-CW-4CP – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT (OFFICE BUILDING 
REPURPOSING) – To consider proposed revisions to the Comprehensive Plan for Fairfax 
County, VA, in accordance with the Code of Virginia, Title 15.2, Chapter 22. This Amendment 
concerns a countywide policy plan amendment that sets forth new policy recommendations for 
the repurposing of vacant office buildings to an alternative land use not envisioned under the 
Comprehensive Plan. Performance criteria would apply.  (Countywide) 
 
During Commission Matters 
 
Commissioner Sargeant: Thank you Mr. Chairman. Mr. Chairman, we have a motion for 
consideration tonight, a decision only, regarding the Office Building Repurposing Plan 
Amendment. I had – before that amendment, which is Plan Amendment 2016-CW-4CP – before 
that I had some additional questions of staff, as we’ve had input and updates, even as late as 
today. So, I can make sure we covered – covered some of the reasons for what we have in this 
particular Plan Amendment motion. I would like ask Ms. Gardner if we could clarify where we 
are on one particular issue in the glossary regarding better clarification of the description…  
 
Marianne Gardner, Director, Planning Department, Department of Planning and Zoning: Thank 
you.  
 
Commissioner Sargeant: I’m sorry…regarding… can you hear it?  
 
Chairman Murphy: Yeah. 
 
Commissioner Sargeant: Okay. Regarding the description of what is meant by vacant, in terms of 
office buildings for repurposing.  
 
Ms. Gardner: Thank you, Commissioner Sargeant. I think you’re referring to one of the changes 
that we’re suggesting. We received an e-mail from the Mount Vernon Council of Civic 
Associations and they requested that there be clarification to state that office repurposing would 
apply not just to vacant office buildings, but to partially-vacant or underutilized buildings. And 
we thought that was in line with the spirit of the plan amendment and we were prepared to offer 
that as a recommendation. However, when we went back tonight and looked at our ad, we 
realized that it was very specifically drawn and just talks about vacant office buildings. So we 
won’t be offering that, but we would like to clarify in our definition that office building 
repurposing is a change that can affect all or part of an existing building. We think that that’s 
fine. That’s consistent with the ad, but would like to check with the County Attorney on whether 
or not we can make that recommendation for the other change and we’ll do that before the Board 
of Supervisors. 
 
Commissioner Sargeant: So, anticipate making sure that we can move forward with that 
particular proposal from the Mount Vernon Council Citizens Association, to add prior to the 
consideration by the Board of Supervisors.  
 
Ms. Gardner: That’s correct. 

748



PA 2016-CW-4CP – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT  Page 2 
(OFFICE BUILDING REPURPOSING) 

 
 
 
Commissioner Sargeant: Okay, great. Thank you. Other questions related to this particular 
amendment? It’s a countywide amendment, but obviously we – within the description, we have 
included a proposed exemption for – from this amendment for the Reston TSA areas. Could you 
provide some background on the history leading up to this? But I mean, where we are in the 
planning process for Reston, where they are and where this follows – falls into that process, and I 
will ask a few other questions. 
 
Ms. Gardner: The – one of the main concerns raised is that Reston recently underwent a major 
planning process that was just concluded in 2015, which added a significant amount of 
residential use. So, therefore, the concern is that, perhaps since that change is so new, that there 
ought not to be opportunity to add additional residential uses at this time. The other concern is 
that the way the transit station areas in Reston are drawn, they’re divided into TOD and non-
TOD areas. And the non-TOD areas contain these very large swaths of area – of land that’s 
planned and developed for office use and that area is probably greater than what we would see in 
any of the other TSAs. And for that reason, there’s a potential that there could be a considerable 
amount of conversion to residential use that was not anticipated by this recent plan amendment.  
 
Commissioner Sargeant: And some of those eligible buildings will at the half-mile zone of the 
TOD areas, correct? 
 
Ms. Gardner: That’s correct. 
 
Commissioner Sargeant: Okay. We’re seeing – I guess what we see is a concentration of this on 
the eastern edge of the TSA? 
 
Ms. Gardner: Yes, there’re two areas. One is on the eastern edge of the TSA and the other is 
closer to USGS. 
 
Commissioner Sargeant: And as it relates to this particular transit station area for Reston, this 
plan amendment really only impacts office uses that are also planned for office. Is that correct? 
 
Ms. Gardner: That’s correct. 
 
Commissioner Sargeant: Okay, so we don’t have any in between, it’s specifically planned for 
office, thus the conversion is of a concern. Okay. And, as a result, we have included the – at the 
request of the Reston Association, we have included an exemption for the Reston TSA areas 
from this, in this particular Plan Amendment.  
 
Ms. Gardner: That’s correct. And the understanding is that of course at any time the Board of 
Supervisors could authorize an amendment for office repurposing to be considered on a specific 
site.  
 
Commissioner Sargeant: And in other words, they can go through the full plan amendment 
process, with public – public input and hearings and that would…. 
 
Ms. Gardner: Yes, that’s correct.  
 

749



PA 2016-CW-4CP – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT  Page 3 
(OFFICE BUILDING REPURPOSING) 

 
 
Commissioner Sargeant: Okay, alright. I think that about covers it. I just wanted to highlight 
some of the differences between what would have made this a particular concern, in a high-
density area such as the Reston Transit Station Areas, and why would it would it incorporate that 
as opposed to other exemptions. And, with that Mr. Chairman, I would like to make a motion.  
 
Chairman Murphy: Hold on. Did you have a question you wanted to ask on this subject, Mr. 
Niedzielski-Eichner?  
 
Commissioner Niedzielski-Eichner: Thanks Mr. Chairman. I just wanted to clarify this last point 
that was made. Ms. Gardner the – is it also true that the Supervisor from the district could – 
should this – no area be excluded of transportation – transportation area be excluded from this, 
that a Supervisor could in fact ensure that every consideration be given in the traditional 
amendment process.  
 
Ms. Gardner: Yes, that’s correct.  
 
Commissioner Niedzielski-Eichner: So – so this exclusion of one part of the County may not be 
necessary if the Supervisor believes that it is appropriate for his or her district to go through all 
this – to go through the traditional means. 
 
Ms. Gardner: That’s correct.  
 
Chairman Murphy: Okay, Mr. Sargeant.  
 
Commissioner Sargeant: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Start with my reading of the motion here. 
Plan Amendment 2016-IV-4CP (sic) would add Policy Plan guidance to facilitate the repurposing 
of vacant office buildings in certain areas. Mr. Chairman, I MOVE THAT THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION RECOMMEND TO THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS THE ADOPTION OF 
THE STAFF RECOMMENDATION FOR PLAN AMENDMENT 2016-CW-4CP, FOUND ON 
PAGES 6-10 OF THE STAFF REPORT DATED SEPTEMBER 18, 2017, WITH TWO 
MODIFICATIONS AS SHOWN ON THE HANDOUT DATED NOVEMBER 16, 2017. THE 
FIRST MODIFICATION WOULD REMOVE THE OPTION TO CONVERT 
UNDERUTILIZED OFFICE BUILDINGS TO RESIDENTIAL USES IN THE RESTON 
TRANSIT STATION AREAS. THE SECOND MODIFICATION would – WOULD MODIFY 
THE GLOSSARY TERM FOR OFFICE REPURPOSING.  
 
Chairman Murphy: Is there a second to the motion? 
 
Commissioner de la Fe: Second. 
 
Chairman Murphy: Seconded by Mr. de la Fe. Discussion? Ms. Hurley. 
 
Commissioner Hurley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I’d like to offer a friendly amendment that 
would delete Reston as an exception to the overall repurposing motion.  
 
Commissioner Sargeant: Mr. Chairman, respectfully I’m going to decline the friendly 
amendment, if Commissioner Hurley or others would like to offer that as a motion. 
 

750



PA 2016-CW-4CP – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT  Page 4 
(OFFICE BUILDING REPURPOSING) 

 
 
Chairman Murphy: Okay, Ms. Hurley. 
 
Commissioner Hurley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Then, with all due respect to Commissioner 
Sargeant, but to ensure a free and open public discussion of this issue, I MOVE TO AMEND 
THE MOTION TO DELETE THE RESTON EXCLUSION.  
 
Commissioner Ulfelder: Second. 
 
Chairman Murphy: Seconded by Mr. Ulfelder. Is there a discussion of that motion? 
 
Commissioner Sargeant: Mr. Chairman, just restating some of the things I’ve said previously. I 
think this – in other cases we have indeed provided exceptions and has set precedent by 
providing some exceptions to rules, such as the PDC PRM Amendment, which provided a 
different FAR for one particular section of the County, one particular community business center. 
I think we have set the precedent before. I also think, given – given the recent completion of their 
latest planning process, the provisioning process, and the higher density we see for these 
particular transit station areas and some of the extenuating circumstances, that it would be 
appropriate to leave in the exemption for the Reston Transit Station Area.  
 
Chairman Murphy: Further discussion? Mr. de la Fe? 
 
Commissioner de la Fe: Yes, Mr. Chairman, I would oppose the motion because, as has been 
stated, after a five-year community based comprehensive planning process, Reston’s new Master 
Plan strives to balance new development and redevelopment with an overall infrastructure plan. 
This is fundamental to the planned community that Reston is and as it remains just as important 
as Reston grows into the second half century. Reston strongly recommends that Fairfax County 
exclude Reston from only the proposed Building Repurposing Comprehensive Plan Amendment, 
only as it applies to the conversion of office through residential. The rest is fine. But –so I agree 
with the original motion.  
 
Chairman Murphy: Further discussion? Ms. Hurley then Mr. Hart. 
 
Commissioner Hurley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The reasons to encourage repurposing of 
vacant older office buildings apply to Reston as well, and we agree with that except for the 
residential. But as Ms. Gardner just pointed out, if in any case in Reston that it does not seem to 
apply, is not appropriate, is not inconsonance with the recent Comprehensive Plan – all of those 
reasons at any time, the Supervisor can pull it back and have it go through the full 
Comprehensive Plan Amendment. So, it is still – Reston would still be fully covered and fully 
protected.  
 
Chairman Murphy: Mr. Hart. 
 
Commissioner Hart: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I was not here for the public hearing, but I 
watched the video and I do intend to participate in the vote. Thank you. 
 
Chairman Murphy: Further discussion? All those in favor of the… Yes, Mr. Ulfelder. I’m sorry. 
 

751



PA 2016-CW-4CP – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT  Page 5 
(OFFICE BUILDING REPURPOSING) 

 
 
Commissioner Ulfelder: Yes, I – I’m going to – I seconded it and I am going to support the 
amendment. I think that there aren’t really that – I think it’s difficult to make this kind of 
distinction from one area verses other areas – other similarly situated areas. And, I think that, if 
we do it here, why don’t we it somewhere else? Why don’t we do it with other matters as well? 
And I think there is a little bit of a slippery slope there and I think there was also a potential legal 
question as to which issues and which areas you might be exempting on a countywide 
amendment. And I, therefore, am going to support the amendment at this time and I think that it’s 
been pointed out there’s adequate protection if – if for some reason there’re starts to be 
applications to try to convert some of these offices and some of the outlying areas of the Reston 
TSA, to residential to take them through the process that we’d normally – they’d normally have 
to go through and determine whether they, in fact, do work under the revised plan for the Reston 
areas.  
 
Chairman Murphy: Mr. Migliaccio. 
 
Commissioner Migliaccio: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I’ll be supporting Commissioner Hurley’s 
motion also to amend Mr. Sargeant’s motion. This essentially good planning for these policy 
plans to apply countywide. And when we start carving out for certain parts of the County, I’ll 
find it very difficult if we do it for a second time in North County for something in South County 
for my citizens and in either Lee or Mount Vernon that want a carveout, for me to tell them, “no 
we can’t do that with a Zoning Ordinance amendment or a Policy Plan that is supposed to apply 
countywide.” And, as been pointed out, there are adequate safeguards for – through the process 
for the citizens and the Supervisor to pull this out so it’s not an automatic thing. And, as we go 
through the Zoning Modernization Plan that we had before us in the County, we have many, 
many things that we have to get to and I do not think we’ll ever revisit this next two to three 
years. So this should be on the books and I think it should be countywide. Thank you. 
 
Chairman Murphy: Further discussion? Mr. Niedzielski-Eichner. 
 
Commissioner Niedzielski-Eichner: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I had but one question and then I 
will offer my prospective as well. The question I have is, if – is it unusual or is it possible to put 
a date for revisiting this question through a subsequent Commission action? 
 
Ms. Gardner: Yes, sir. I believe that could be the form of a follow-on motion that would be 
forwarded to the Board of Supervisors as a recommendation.  
 
Commissioner Niedzielski-Eichner: And what might that sound like, or …. 
 
Ms. Gardner: It… 
 
Commissioner Niedzielski-Eichner: Say for example, there’s a process that’s underway that I 
understand the Reston community’s concerned about in respect that the process would be at 
some point, so perhaps this is an action that will mitigate the situation at this point in time. But if 
we wanted to revisit the question and have it apply in countywide, could we set a date and what 
might that date look like? 
 
Ms. Gardner: I’m not sure – I mean I think that the timeframe would need to be long enough to 
allow opportunity to see if people decide to take advantage of the policy or not. So, I would think 

752



PA 2016-CW-4CP – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT  Page 6 
(OFFICE BUILDING REPURPOSING) 

 
 
a year or two. And the – probably the recommendation would be that staff be instructed to 
monitor any office repositioning that happens in the Reston area and report back in a time certain 
with what the outcome is, although I’m not sure how we would judge whether the outcome is 
beneficial or negative. That would be the hard part.  
 
Commissioner Niedzielski-Eichner: Okay, thank you. That was – I know it is putting you though 
a little struggle there, and I appreciate your making that effort. Should this motion fail – Ms. 
Hurley’s motion fail, I will wanna introduce some follow-on to speak to an end date. But, in the 
interim, I’m gonna support the motion, I believe this a matter that should consider be – be 
considered countywide with no exceptions.  
 
Chairman Murphy: Mr. Flanagan. 
 
Commissioner Flanagan: Yes, my understanding of this is that, if we leave Reston, subject to 
repurposing, that there will be – that will necessitate a rezoning application in order to have the 
alternate use approved, subsequently. Is that correct? 
 
Ms. Gardner: That’s correct.  
 
Commissioner Flanagan: And at that time, the Reston community can object to the repurposing 
during that process. They will have the public access to make that – their position known. And 
the Supervisor will be able to respond to the constituents at that time. Is that right?  
 
Ms. Gardner: Yes, that’s correct.  
 
Commissioner Flanagan: So there really is a relief for the Reston community if we leave them 
subject to this repurposing.   
 
Ms. Gardner: Yes. I mean – because at the time of rezoning when public hearings are held, there 
is the opportunity for public input and for their opinions to be expressed.  
 
Commissioner Flanagan: Thank you. 
 
Chairman Murphy: Further discussion, all those in favor of the motion as articulated – alternate 
motion as articulated by Ms. Hurley, say aye. 
 
Commissioners: Aye. 
 
Chairman Murphy: Opposed?  
 
Commissioner de la Fe: Nay. 
 
Commissioner Sargeant: Nay. 
 
Chairman Murphy: Motion carries. Mr. de la Fe and Mr. Sargeant vote no. Now we go to the 
main motion. 
 
Commissioner Hart: As amended. Now we go to the main motion. 

753



PA 2016-CW-4CP – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT  Page 7 
(OFFICE BUILDING REPURPOSING) 

 
 
Chairman Murphy: Now we go to the main motion. 
 
Commissioner Hart: As amended. 
 
Chairman Murphy: As amended.  All those in favor of the main motion as amended, say aye. 
 
Commissioners: Aye. 
 
Chairman Murphy: Opposed? Motion carries? Same no? 
 
Commissioner Flanagan: No. 
 
Commissioner Sargeant: No. 
 
Chairman Murphy: Okay, Mr. Sargeant and Mr. de la Fe vote no. 
 
Commissioner de la Fe: No, I didn’t…. 
 
Chairman Murphy: Oh, on the main motion you…. 
 
Commissioner de le Fe: Now, I mean, you know…. 
 
Chairman Murphy: Now it’s…. 
 
Commissioner Sargeant: The continued issue is now…. 
 
Chairman Murphy: Okay, passes unanimously. Okay.  
 
Commissioner de la Fe: The overall.  
 
Chairman Murphy: Overall motion passes….Okay. 
 
Commissioner de la Fe: The overall purpose of this is quite worthwhile. I disagree with the 
previous set of motions.  
 
Chairman Murphy: Okay.  
 
Commissioner Sargeant: Mr. Chairman, if I may, I’d like to thank Marianne Gardner, Sophia 
Fisher, Meghan Van Dam, for all their assistance up to and including during this meeting. So 
thank you very much.  
 
The first motion carried by a vote of 9-0. Commissioner Strandlie was absent from the public 
hearing. 
 
The second motion to amend the first motion carried by a vote of 7-2. Commissioner Strandlie 
was absent from the public hearing. 
 
 
SL 

754



  Attachment II 

PLANNING COMMISSION PLAN LANGUAGE MODIFICATION 
Plan Amendment 2016-CW-4CP 

November 16, 2017 
 

The following is an excerpt of the proposed plan language from page 7 of the staff report.  The 
Planning Commission recommended modifications to the staff recommendation are shown as 
double underlined and highlighted in yellow; the staff recommendations is shown as underlined.  
 
MODIFY:  Fairfax County Comprehensive Plan, 2013 Edition, Glossary, as amended 

through March 14, 2017: 
 
“OFFICE BUILDING REPURPOSING: A change in use in all or part of an existing office building, 
such as a conversion from office to residential, live/work, institutional, public facilities, retail, or 
light manufacturing uses.” 
 

 

755



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

4:00 p.m.

Public Hearing to Consider Amendments to The Code of the County of Fairfax, Virginia, 
Chapter 82, Motor Vehicles and Traffic, Article 5, Sections 32, 32.1, 32.1.a, and 32.2

ISSUE:
A public hearing before the Board of Supervisors to revise Sections 82-5-32, 32.1, 
32.1.a, and 32.2 of The Code of the County of Fairfax, Virginia related to the removal, 
immobilization, and disposition of vehicles unlawfully parked on private or County 
property, to revise language as required by Code of Virginia.  

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board of Supervisors approve the 
proposed amendments to Sections 82-5-32, 82-5-32.1, 82-5-32.1.a, and 82-5-32.2.

TIMING:
On October 24, 2017, the Board to authorized advertisement of the public hearing 
scheduled for December 5, 2017, at 4:00 p.m. If adopted, this ordinance would become 
effective upon adoption.

BACKGROUND:
Localities in Virginia are authorized to regulate the immobilization and removal of
vehicles from private property pursuant to Va. Code Ann. § 46.2-1232.  Fairfax County
exercises this grant of authority in Section 82-5-32 of the Fairfax County Code. All
provisions that govern the immobilization or towing of trespassing vehicles on private
property in the County are found in this section. These regulations were last amended
effective May 1, 2014.

Va. Code Ann. § 46.2-1233.2 requires an advisory board be appointed prior to adopting 
or amending any local trespass towing ordinance.  In accordance, Fairfax County 
established the Trespass Tow Advisory Board (“TTAB”), effective July 1, 2006. 

In 2017, the Virginia General Assembly enacted multiple amendments to Va. Code Ann. 
§§ 46.2-1231, 46.2-1232, and 46.2-1233.2. Several of these amendments are 
applicable specifically to jurisdictions in Planning District 8.  These amendments placed 
new requirements into the Code of Virginia for written contracts and monitoring 
agreements between property owners and tow operators; a new requirement that tow 
operators contact the locality’s animal control office when towing a vehicle occupied by 
a companion animal; and a requirement that the chairmanship of trespass towing 

756



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

advisory boards rotate on an annual basis between the citizen member, the law 
enforcement member, and the tow operator member.  These new requirements have 
been incorporated into the proposed amendments to Sections 82-5-32, and 82-5-32.1.

The proposed amendments to Section 82-5-32 include several minor revisions to clarify 
existing language and processes, such as new language specifying the locality permit 
application process; language clarifying that tow storage lots must be open and staffed 
24 hours per day, 7 days per week to allow for immediate release of towed vehicles; 
and striking a conflicting provision related to the effective date of any suspension or 
revocation of locality permits.  

Additional revisions, largely administrative, have also been included to stylistically align 
the section with the remainder of Chapter 82 by removing the capitalization of defined 
terms in the text, and by changing the outline format to match that found in other 
sections.  These revisions are found throughout Sections 82-5-32, 82-5-32.1, 82-5-
32.1.a, and 82-5-32.2.

TTAB has conducted meetings and provided an open forum for tow operators, the 
public and staff from the Department of Cable and Consumer Services to discuss the 
proposed amendments.  On August 23, 2017, TTAB held a public hearing on the item 
and voted to recommend the ordinance amendments. 

The Consumer Protection Commission received staff briefings on the proposed 
amendment on September 19, 2017, and voted to support TTAB’s recommendation.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1:  Code of Virginia § 46.2-1232. Localities may regulate removal or 
immobilization of trespassing vehicles.
Attachment 2:  Code of Virginia § 46.2-1233.2. Advisory Board. 
Attachment 3:  Proposed Ordinance; draft mark-up, Fairfax County Code Sections 82-5-
32, 32.1, 32.1.a, and 32.2
Attachment 4:  Staff Report to Trespass Tow Advisory Board, August 23, 2017
Attachment 5:  Proposed Ordinance; clean copy, Fairfax County Code Sections 82-5-
32, 32.1, 32.1.a, and 32.2

STAFF:    
David J. Molchany, Deputy County Executive
Michael Liberman, Director, Department of Cable and Consumer Services
Henri Stein McCartney, Chief, Regulation and Licensing Branch, DCCS

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
John Burton, Assistant County Attorney

757



Attachment 1 
Code of Virginia 

§ 46.2-1232. Localities may regulate removal or immobilization of trespassing vehicles.

A. The governing body of any county, city, or town may by ordinance regulate the
removal of trespassing vehicles from property by or at the direction of the owner,
operator, lessee, or authorized agent in charge of the property. In the event that a
vehicle is towed from one locality and stored in or released from a location in another
locality, the local ordinance, if any, of the locality from which the vehicle was towed shall
apply.

B. No local ordinance adopted under authority of this section shall require that any
towing and recovery business also operate as or provide services as a vehicle repair
facility or body shop, filling station, or any business other than a towing and recovery
business.

C. Any such local ordinance may also require towing and recovery operators to (i)
obtain and retain photographs or other documentary evidence substantiating the reason
for the removal; (ii) post signs at their main place of business and at any other location
where towed vehicles may be reclaimed conspicuously indicating (a) the maximum
charges allowed by local ordinance, if any, for all their fees for towing, recovery, and
storage services and (b) the name and business telephone number of the local official, if
any, responsible for handling consumer complaints; (iii) obtain at the time the vehicle is
towed, verbal approval of an agent designated in the local ordinance who is available at
all times; and (iv) obtain, at the time the vehicle is towed, if such towing is performed
during the normal business hours of the owner of the property from which the vehicle is
being towed, the written authorization of the owner of the property from which the
vehicle is towed, or his agent. Such written authorization, if required, shall be in addition
to any written contract between the towing and recovery operator and the owner of the
property or his agent, except for vehicles being towed from a locality within Planning
District 8, which shall not require written authorization if such written contract is in place.
Any such written contract governing a property located within Planning District 8 shall
clearly state the terms on which towing and recovery operators may monitor private lots
on behalf of property owners. For the purposes of this subsection, "agent" shall not
include any person who either (a) is related by blood or marriage to the towing and
recovery operator or (b) has a financial interest in the towing and recovery operator's
business.

D. Any such ordinance adopted by a locality within Planning District 8 may require
towing companies that tow vehicles from the county, city, or town adopting the
ordinance to other localities, provided that the stored or released location is within the
Commonwealth of Virginia and within 10 miles of the point of origin of the actual towing,
(i) to obtain from the locality from which such vehicles are towed a permit to do so and
(ii) to submit to an inspection of such towing company's facilities to ensure that the

758



company meets all the locality's requirements, regardless of whether such facilities are 
located within the locality or elsewhere. The locality may impose and collect reasonable 
fees for the issuance and administration of permits as provided for in this subsection. 
Such ordinance may also provide grounds for revocation, suspension, or modification of 
any permit issued under this subsection, subject to notice to the permittee of the 
revocation, suspension, or modification and an opportunity for the permittee to have a 
hearing before the governing body of the locality or its designated agent to challenge 
the revocation, suspension, or modification. Any tow truck driver who removes or tows 
a vehicle, pursuant to any such ordinance, that is occupied by an unattended 
companion animal as defined in § 3.2-6500 shall, upon such removal, immediately 
notify the animal control office of the locality in which the vehicle is being removed or 
towed. Nothing in this subsection shall be applicable to public safety towing. 

Code 1950, § 46-541; 1952, c. 352; 1954, c. 435; 1958, c. 541, § 46.1-551; 1978, cc. 
202, 335; 1979, c. 132; 1983, c. 34; 1985, c. 375; 1989, cc. 17, 727; 1990, cc. 502, 573; 
2006, cc. 874, 891; 2009, cc. 186, 544; 2012, cc. 149, 812; 2017, c. 825. 

759

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/3.2-6500/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0874
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0891
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0186
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0544
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?121+ful+CHAP0149
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?121+ful+CHAP0812
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?171+ful+CHAP0825


Attachment 2 

Code of Virginia 

§ 46.2-1233.2. Advisory board.

Prior to adopting or amending any ordinance pursuant to § 46.2-1232 or 46.2-1233, the 

local governing body shall appoint an advisory board to advise the governing body with 

regard to the appropriate provisions of the ordinance. Members of the advisory board 

shall only consist of an equal number of representatives of local law-enforcement 

agencies and representatives of licensed towing and recovery operators, and one 

member of the general public. Any such advisory board shall meet at least once per 

year at the call of the chairman of the advisory board, who shall be elected annually 

from among the members of the advisory board by a majority vote. The chairmanship of 

any such advisory board for any locality within Planning District 8 shall be for a term of 

one year and rotate annually between a representative of a local law-enforcement 

agency, a representative of a licensed towing and recovery operator, and one member 

of the general public. 

1993, c. 405; 2006, cc. 874, 891; 2017, c. 825. 

760

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/46.2-1232/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/46.2-1233/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0874
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0891
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?171+ful+CHAP0825


 1 

Attachment 3 2 

3 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 4 

CHAPTER 82 OF THE FAIRFAX COUNTY CODE, RELATING TO 5 

MOTOR VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 6 

7 

Draft of September 21, 2017 8 

9 

AN ORDINANCE to amend the Fairfax County Code by amending and 10 

readopting Sections  82-5-32, 82.5-32.1, 82-5-32.1a and 82-5-32.2 relating 11 

to Motor Vehicles and Traffic. 12 

Be it ordained by the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County: 13 

1. That Sections 82-5-32, 82.5-32.1, 82-5-32.1a and 82-5-32.2 are amended and

readopted as follows:

Article 5. – Stopping, Standing and Parking. 14 

15 

Section 82-5-32. – Removal, immobilization, and disposition of Vvehicles unlawfully 16 

parked on private or County property. 17 

18 

(A)(a)  Applicability. 19 

20 

Sections 82-5-32 through 32.2 establishes the minimum requirements for all 21 

trespass towing initiated in Fairfax County.  Fairfax County Code shall also apply 22 

to a trespassing Vvehicle towed from Fairfax County and stored outside the 23 

County. 24 

25 

(bB)   Definitions. 26 

27 

The following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed 28 

to them in this Sectionsection: 29 

30 

“Advisory Board” or “TTAB” means the Fairfax County Trespass Towing Advisory 31 

Board;. 32 

33 

“Board” means the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors;. 34 

35 

“Commission” means the Fairfax County Consumer Protection Commission. 36 

37 

“County” means the County of Fairfax, Virginia. 38 

39 

“Department” or “DCCS” means the Fairfax County Department of Cable and 40 

Consumer Services. 41 

761



42 

“Director” means the Director of the Fairfax County Department of Cable and 43 

Consumer Services or delegee the duly assigned agent of the Director of the 44 

Department. 45 

46 

"Driver" means a person who drives or is in actual physical control of a Ttow 47 

Ttruck.  A Ddriver shall have obtained all required documents issued by the 48 

Sstate in order to operate a Ttow Ttruck while providing Ttowing services. 49 

50 

“Drop fFee” means a fee that is charged a Vvehicle Oowner for disconnecting a 51 

Ttow Ttruck from a Vvehicle prior to leaving private property. 52 

53 

"Equipment" means any Ttow Ttruck, Vvehicle or related machinery or tools used 54 

to provide Ttowing. 55 

56 

“Immobilize” means a procedure or piece of Eequipment, such as a boot, used to 57 

prevent a Vvehicle from moving.  Immobilization does not include attachment to a 58 

tow truck.   59 

60 

"Law-Eenforcement Oofficer" means any officer authorized by law to direct or 61 

regulate traffic, or to make arrests for violations of the Code of Virginia or local 62 

ordinances. 63 

64 

“Locality” means the geographical area of control of a county, city, or town. 65 

66 

“Locality Ppermit” means a document indicating an Ooperator has been 67 

approved to Iimmobilize or trespass Ttow Vvehicles in Fairfax County and store 68 

Vvehicles either both inside andor outside of Fairfax County. 69 

70 

"Operator" or "Ttowing and Rrecovery Ooperator" means any person, including a 71 

business, corporation, or sole proprietor, offering services involving the use of a 72 

Ttow Ttruck and services incidental to the use of a Ttow Ttruck. 73 

74 

“Personal Pproperty” means any property in a Vvehicle which is not attached to 75 

or considered to be necessary for the proper operation of the Vvehicle. 76 

77 

"Private Property Tow” or “Trespass Tow" means requests for Towing services 78 

made by the owner, manager, or lessee of private property, or the authorized 79 

agent thereof, or under contract between such person and a Towing and 80 

Recovery Operator that specifies what Tows are to be made from the property 81 

when a Vehicle is on the property in violation of law or rules promulgated by the 82 

owner, manager, or lessee of the private property. 83 

84 

“Property Oowner” means the owner, operator, authorized agent, or lessee of 85 

any land, space, or area used for parking, including any county, city, or Ttown, or 86 

authorized agent of the person having control of such premises. 87 

762



88 

“Registration Ccertificate” means a document indicating an Ooperator has been 89 

approved to trespass Ttow and store Vvehicles within Fairfax County. 90 

91 

“State” means the Commonwealth of Virginia. 92 

93 

“Storage Ssite” means a location where Vvehicles are taken until the owner 94 

reclaims the Vvehicle or it is sold.  The location must meet all requirements 95 

specified in this Sectionsection. 96 

97 

"Tow" or “Ttowed” means when the Ttow Ttruck has engaged a Vvehicle by a 98 

physical or mechanical means that causes the Ttowed Vvehicle to be removed 99 

from private property. 100 

101 

"Tow Ttruck" or “Truck” means a motor Vvehicle for hire (i) designed to lift, pull, 102 

or carry another Vvehicle by means of a hoist or other mechanical apparatus, 103 

and (ii) having a manufacturer's gross Vvehicle weight rating (GVWR) of at least 104 

10,000 pounds. "Tow truck" also includes Vvehicles designed with a ramp on 105 

wheels and a hydraulic lift with a capacity to haul or Ttow another Vvehicle, 106 

commonly referred to as "rollbacks." 107 

108 

“Trespass tow" means requests for towing services made by the owner, 109 

manager, or lessee of private property, or the authorized agent thereof, or under 110 

contract between such person and a towing and recovery operator that specifies 111 

what tows are to be made from the property when a vehicle is on the property in 112 

violation of law or rules promulgated by the owner, manager, or lessee of the 113 

private property. 114 

115 

"Vehicle" means every device in, on, or by which any person or property is or 116 

may be transported or drawn on a highway, except devices moved by human 117 

power or used exclusively on stationary rails or tracks. 118 

119 

“Vehicle Oowner” means the owner, operator, authorized agent, or lessee of a 120 

Vvehicle. 121 

122 

(cC)  Exclusions. 123 

124 

(1) This Sectionsection shall not apply to:125 

126 

(Aa)  Police, fire, or public health vehicles, or where a vehicle, 127 

because of a wreck or other emergency, is parked or left 128 

temporarily on the property of another at the direction of police, fire 129 

or public health officials.Federal, State, or local public service 130 

Vehicles. 131 

132 

(Bb)  Vehicle repossession activities. 133 

763



134 

(Cc)  Vehicles Ttowed, moved, or stored at the request of a Llaw-135 

Eenforcement officer. 136 

137 

(2) The provisions of this Section shall not be construed to prohibit138 

Vvehicles from being Ttowed when such Ttowing is otherwise permitted139 

by law.140 

141 

 (dD)  Signs. 142 

143 

(1) Permanent signs, clearly visible during daytime and nighttime hours,144 

shall be posted at all entrances to the parking area that conspicuously145 

disclose that such Vvehicle shall be Ttowed or Iimmobilized.146 

147 

(2) Such signs, at a minimum, shall:  (all measurements are approximate)148 

149 

(Aa)  Be made of metal. 150 

151 

(Bb)  Be 18 inches high and 12 inches wide. 152 

153 

(Cc)  Contain reflective red letters and red reflective graphics on a 154 

reflective white background, with a 3/8 inch reflective red trim strip 155 

3/8 inch in from the entire outer edge of the sign. 156 

157 

(Dd)  Contain the international Towing symbol that is at least 5 158 

inches high by 11 inches wide as found in the Federal Highway 159 

Administration, “Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices”. 160 

161 

(Ee)  Use Series B or Clearview lettering found in the Federal 162 

Highway Administration, “Manual on Uniform Traffic Control 163 

Devices”. 164 

165 

(Ff)  Contain “Towing Enforced” in a font size of 2 inch letters. 166 

167 

(Gg)  Contain “If Ttowed Call 703-691-2131” in a font size of 1 inch 168 

letters, which is the Fairfax County Department of Public Safety 169 

Communications’ (DPSC) telephone number.  However, if the Ttow 170 

originated in the Town of Vienna, the sign shall contain, “If Towed 171 

Call 703-255-6366” and if the Ttow originated in the Town of 172 

Herndon, the sign shall contain, “If Towed Call 703-435-6846”. 173 

174 

(Hh)  Paragraphs (2)(Aa) through (2)(Ff) shall be effective January 175 

1, 2015. 176 

177 

(3) Signs posted in a government road right-of-way must meet Virginia178 

Department of Transportation standards and all applicable Virginia laws to179 

764



include the bottom of the sign mounted at least 7 feet above the ground.  180 

Signs posted on private property are not required to meet this height 181 

requirement as long as they are clearly visible. 182 

183 

(4) Sign contents may also include additional information such as, but not184 

limited to, the name of the property or name and telephone number of the185 

designated Ooperator in a font size of 19/32 inch letters.186 

187 

(5) In addition to the mandatory entrance signs, other area signs may be188 

used to specify any other requirements for parking.189 

190 

(6) The requirement for signs shall not apply to single-family residence191 

properties not subject to common interest community regulations (as192 

defined in Virginia Va. Code §Section 55-528, as amended).193 

194 

(7) No signage of the type required in this Sectionsection shall be195 

required to effect the Ttowing of a Vvehicle unlawfully parked in a spot196 

reserved for persons with disabilities or in a "Fire Lane" that is approved197 

and marked in accordance with County and state requirements.198 

199 

(8) Trespassing Vvehicle on property not marked by signs.200 

201 

(a) (A)  Business Non-residential properties202 

203 

A notice must be conspicuously affixed to a trespassing Vvehicle 204 

with a warning the  Vvehicle is liable to be towed 48 hours after 205 

such notice is posted. 206 

207 

(i) The notice must contain the date and time of posting.208 

209 

(ii) A vehicle found to be trespassing a second time on the210 

same unmarked property may be Ttowed immediately.  A211 

warning notice is not required.212 

213 

(b) (B) Vehicles trespassing on single-family residence properties214 

not subject to common interest community regulations may be215 

towed immediately.  No notice is required.216 

217 

(eE)  Property Owner. 218 

219 

(1) A Pproperty Oowner may have a Vvehicle Ttowed to a Sstorage Ssite220 

or Iimmobilized without the permission of the Vvehicle Oowner if the221 

Vvehicle is occupying property without permission of the Pproperty222 

Oowner, and if conditions set forth in this Sectionsection are met.223 

224 

765



(Aa)  The Pproperty Oowner must give written approval for the Tow 225 

or Immobilization of a Vehicle parked in violation of the Property 226 

Owner’s parking policy.  has executed a contract with a towing and 227 

recovery operator that specifies what tows are to be made from the 228 

property when a vehicle is parked on the property in violation of 229 

law, or rules promulgated by the owner, manager, or lessee of the 230 

private property. Such contract shall clearly state the terms under 231 

which towing and recovery operators may monitor private lots on 232 

behalf of property owners. 233 

234 

(Bb)  Copies of such written approvalswritten contracts shall be 235 

retained for three years after the date of the last Ttow or 236 

Iimmobilization approved by the agreement. 237 

238 

(2) In lieu of having such Vvehicle Ttowed or Iimmobilized, the Pproperty239 

Oowner on which the Vvehicle is located may request a Llaw240 

Eenforcement Oofficer issue, on the premises, a citation to the Vvehicle241 

Oowner.242 

243 

(fF)  Operator. 244 

245 

Trespass Ttow Ooperators must comply with all requirements of this 246 

Sectionsection.   247 

248 

(1) Registration Ccertificate.249 

250 

(aA)  All Ooperators engaged in immobilizing or Ttowing Vvehicles 251 

without the consent of the Vvehicle Oowner in Fairfax County must 252 

register with the Department of Cable and Consumer Services prior 253 

to the initiation of any such operations, and by January 31 of each 254 

subsequent year.   255 

256 

(bB)  To obtain a Rregistration Ccertificate, the following 257 

information and documents must be provided to the Department: 258 

259 

(i) Name, address and telephone number of the business260 

engaged in immobilizing or Ttowing;261 

262 

(ii) Name and telephone number of the business owner or263 

chief executive officer (CEO);264 

265 

(iii) Copy of the Ooperator’s business license;266 

267 

(iv) Address, telephone number, and Vvehicle storage268 

capacity of each Sstorage Ssite to which Vvehicles will be269 

Ttowed;270 

766



271 

(v) Copy of each office and Sstorage Ssite Non-Residential272 

Use Permit and,273 

274 

(vi) Number of Ttow Ttrucks to be operated in Fairfax275 

County.276 

277 

(vii) Proof of insurance as required by Virginia Va. Code §278 

46.2-2143, as amended, and shall include provisions for279 

notice by the insurance carrier to the Director prior to280 

termination of such coverage.281 

282 

(cC) Application shall be made on forms provided by the 283 

Department.  284 

285 

(D)The Ddepartment must be notified of any changes to information286 

previously provided by the Ooperator within 30 calendar days of the287 

change.288 

289 

290 

(2) Locality Ppermit.291 

292 

(a) (A)  All Ooperators engaged in Ttowing Vvehicles without the293 

consent of the Vvehicle Oowner in Fairfax County and storing294 

those vehicles outside of Fairfax County must obtain an295 

approved Llocality Ppermit prior to the initiation of any such296 

operations and by January 31 of each subsequent year.297 

298 

(i) The initial application and annual renewal fee for each299 

Ooperator shall be $150.00.300 

301 

(ii) The initial inspection fee for each Sstorage Ssite outside of302 

Fairfax County shall be $450.00.303 

304 

(B) To obtain a locality permit, the following information and305 

documents must be provided to the Department: 306 

307 

(i) Name, address and telephone number of the business308 

engaged in immobilizing or towing; 309 

310 

(ii) Name and telephone number of the business owner or311 

chief executive officer (CEO); 312 

313 

(iii) Copy of the operator’s business license issued by the314 

jurisdiction in which the operator is headquartered; 315 

316 

767



(iv) Address, telephone number, and vehicle storage 317 

capacity of each storage site to which vehicles will be towed; 318 

319 

(v) Copy of each office and storage site occupancy permit320 

issued by the zoning agency in the jurisdiction in which the 321 

storage site is located.   322 

323 

(vi) Number of tow trucks to be operated in Fairfax County.324 

325 

(vii) Proof of insurance as required by Va. Code 46.2-2143,326 

as amended, and shall include provisions for notice by the 327 

insurance carrier to the Director prior to termination of such 328 

coverage.  329 

330 

(C) Application shall be made on forms provided by the331 

Department. 332 

333 

(c) (D)  The Department must be notified of any changes to334 

information previously provided by the operator within 30 calendar335 

days of the change.336 

337 

An Operator identified on the non-residential use permit of a 338 

Storage Site shall be responsible for application and inspection 339 

fees.  340 

341 

(3) Registration Ccertificates and Llocality Ppermits.342 

343 

(a) (A)  It shall be unlawful for any person to procure, or assist344 

another to procure, through theft, fraud, or other illegal means, a345 

Rregistration Ccertificate or Llocality Ppermit from the346 

Department.  Any violation of any provision of this347 

Sectionsection shall be punishable as a Class 2 misdemeanor.348 

349 

350 

(b) (B)  Any person or entity other than the Department that sells,351 

gives, or distributes, or attempts to sell, give or distribute any352 

document purporting to be a Rregistration Ccertificate or353 

Llocality Ppermit to conduct a trespass towing business in354 

Fairfax County is guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor.355 

356 

(4) Operational rRequirements.357 

358 

(aA)  The Ooperator shall be open for business 24 hours a day and 359 

seven days per week, unless the Ooperator has no vehicles 360 

Iimmobilized or in his possessionstored at an approved storage 361 

site. 362 

768



363 

(bB)  All Ttow Ttruck safety devices must be operational, used, and 364 

comply with local, state, and federal laws and regulations. 365 

366 

(cC)  An Ooperator shall not Ttow a Vvehicle from private property 367 

or Iimmobilize a Vvehicle on private property unless the Vvehicle is 368 

parked on the property in violation of law or rules promulgated by 369 

the owner, manager, or lessee of the private property.as specified 370 

by the Property Owner. 371 

372 

(dD)  All Ttow Ttrucks shall have the following identifying markings 373 

of a contrasting color to the truck body on both sides of each Ttow 374 

Ttruck: 375 

376 

(i) The Ooperator’s business name as registered with the377 

Department in a font not less than three inches in height.378 

379 

(ii) The Ooperator’s telephone number in a font not less380 

than three inches in height.381 

382 

(iii) Truck number in a font not less than four inches in383 

height.384 

385 

(eE)  Each Ttow Ttruck, while trespass towing, shall have a copy of 386 

the current Fairfax County Ttrespass Ttowing Rregistration 387 

Ccertificate or Llocality Ppermit in the Ttow Ttruck. 388 

389 

(fF)  Each Iimmobilization device shall have a label, clearly visible 390 

while the device is in position Iimmobilizing a Vvehicle, that lists the 391 

Ooperator’s name and telephone number, Iimmobilization fee, and 392 

the Department’s name and telephone number. 393 

394 

(gG)  The Fairfax County Department of Public Safety 395 

Communications (DPSC) shall be notified no later than 30 minutes 396 

after initiating the Iimmobilization or Ttowing of a Vvehicle.  397 

However, whenever a Vvehicle is Ttowed or Iimmobilized from sites 398 

within the Town of Herndon or the Town of Vienna, the Ooperator, 399 

shall notify the law enforcement agency in those localities as 400 

applicable. 401 

402 

(hH)  Such notification shall include the: 403 

404 

(i) Operator name and Ddriver employee number who405 

Ttowed or Iimmobilized the Vvehicle;406 

407 

769



(ii) Make, model, color, year, vehicle identification number of 408 

the Ttowed or Iimmobilized Vvehicle;409 

410 

(iii) License plate type (such as passenger car, truck, dealer,411 

taxi, disabled), number, state, and year of license of the412 

Ttowed or Iimmobilized Vvehicle;413 

414 

(iv) Address where the Vvehicle was Ttowed or Iimmobilized415 

from;416 

417 

(v) Reason for the Ttow or Iimmobilization;418 

419 

(vi) Time such Ttow or Iimmobilization was initiated; and420 

421 

(vii) Storage Ssite address where the Vvehicle is located422 

and the Ooperator’s telephone number.423 

424 

(iI)  It shall be unlawful to fail to report a Ttow or Iimmobilization as 425 

required by this Sectionsection.  Violation of the reporting 426 

requirements of this Sectionsection shall constitute an invalid Ttow 427 

resulting in no charge to the owner for the release of the Vvehicle. 428 

429 

(J) Any tow truck driver who tows a vehicle that is occupied by an430 

unattended companion animal, as defined by Va. Code § 3.2-6500, 431 

as amended, shall, upon such removal, immediately notify the 432 

Animal Services Division of the Fairfax County Police Department 433 

(FCPD). Such notification should be made to the Fairfax County 434 

DPSC non-emergency telephone number.   435 

436 

(jK)  Upon leaving private property, a Ddriver must Ttow each 437 

Vvehicle directly to a Sstorage Ssite registered with the 438 

Department.  Changing the Ttowing Vvehicle shall not be permitted 439 

unless the original Ttowing Vvehicle becomes non-operational. 440 

441 

(i) The vehicle must remain in that lot for 30 calendar days if442 

the owner fails to claim the vehicle.443 

444 

(ii) A vehicle towed outside of Fairfax County may not be445 

towed more than ten miles from the origin of the tow, and446 

must remain in the Commonwealth.  The straight line 10-mile447 

radius from a Sstorage Ssite outside of Fairfax County shall448 

be determined by the Director using the Fairfax County GIS449 

& Mapping Services Branch data.450 

451 

(kL)  Photographic evidence clearly substantiating the Vvehicle’s 452 

condition, location, and reason for the Vvehicle’s Ttow or 453 

770



 

Iimmobilization must be made prior to connecting the Ttow Ttruck 454 

to the Vvehicle. 455 

456 

(lM)  While being Ttowed, Vvehicles shall be properly secured in 457 

accordance with all laws, regulations, and Ttow Ttruck Vvehicle 458 

manufacturer recommendations. 459 

460 

(mN)  Nothing in this Sectionsection shall release the Tower 461 

operator from liability for failure to use reasonable care to prevent 462 

the load from shifting or falling.  463 

464 

(nO)  Records. 465 

466 

An Ooperator shall maintain written and electronic records for each 467 

Ttowed or Iimmobilized Vvehicle for a period of three years after 468 

such Ttow or Iimmobilization.  Records to be retained shall include:; 469 

470 

(i) A record of the Pproperty Oowner’s approval;471 

472 

(ii) The information required to be provided to the DPSC and473 

other local law enforcement agencies pursuant to this474 

Sectionsection;475 

476 

(iii) A legible copy of the receipt provided to Vvehicle477 

Oowner; and478 

479 

(iv) Photographs and any other documentation supporting480 

the tow.481 

482 

(5) Storage Ssite Rrequirements.483 

484 

(aA)   Every site to which Ttrespassing Vvehicles are Ttowed, 485 

stored, and available for return to the Vvehicle Oowner shall comply 486 

with the following requirements: 487 

488 

(i) A storage site must be staffed, and open for business 24489 

hours per day and seven days per week, unless the operator490 

has no vehicles towed from a location in Fairfax County491 

stored at the storage site.492 

493 

(ii) An Operator must Tow each Vehicle to a properly zoned494 

Storage Site registered with DepartmentEach storage site495 

must be properly zoned and approved for storage of towed496 

vehicles, as evidenced by an occupancy permit issued by497 

the zoning agency in the jurisdiction in which the storage site498 

771



is located.  Each storage site must also be registered with 499 

the Department. 500 

501 

(iii) A Sstorage Ssite shall be lighted during the hours of502 

darkness to afford clear visibility to all portions of the503 

Sstorage Ssite.504 

505 

(ivii) A Ttowed Vvehicle shall not be stored more than a506 

reasonable walking distance from the area where Ttowing507 

and storage fee payments are received.508 

509 

(iv) The Ooperator shall exercise reasonable care to keep510 

the Ttowed Vvehicle and its contents safe and secure at all511 

times, which shall include appropriate permanent fencing.512 

513 

(vi) No Ooperator may take a Vvehicle to a Sstorage Ssite514 

which does not meet these standards and all other515 

applicable ordinances and regulations:516 

517 

(Aa)  A clearly visible sign must be posted at the 518 

entrance of the Sstorage Ssite that provides 519 

instructions and a localthe operator’s name and 520 

telephone number for obtaining release of a Vehicle; 521 

and 522 

523 

(Bb)   The telephone for the posted number shall be 524 

answered 24 hours a day. 525 

526 

(Cc)  A clearly visible sign with a list of all of the 527 

Ooperator’s fees for trespass Iimmobilization, Ttowing 528 

and storage services, and the Ooperator’s contact 529 

information. 530 

531 

(Dd)  A clearly visible sign available from the 532 

Department of Cable and Consumer Services, listing 533 

the Department's Wweb site, office address, and 534 

telephone number. 535 

536 

(6) Personal  Pproperty.537 

538 

(aA)  Nothing shall be removed from the Vvehicle without the 539 

express consent of the Vvehicle Oowner. 540 

541 

(bB)  Personal Pproperty must be released immediately upon the 542 

Vvehicle Oowner’s request without charge, and it shall be the duty 543 

of the Ooperator to return it to the Vvehicle Oowner if the Vvehicle 544 

772



Oowner claims the items prior to auctionrelease or disposition of 545 

the vehicle.  Any lien created under this Sectionsection shall not 546 

extend to any Ppersonal Pproperty. 547 

548 

(7) Vehicle Rrelease.549 

550 

(aA)  If the Vvehicle Oowner of the Vvehicle is present and 551 

removes the Vvehicle from the property or corrects the violation 552 

before the Vvehicle is connected to the Towing Vehicletow truck, no 553 

fee shall be charged the Vvehicle Oowner;  554 

555 

(bB)  If the Vvehicle has been connected to the Towing Vehicletow 556 

truck and has not yet left private property, the Vvehicle shall not be 557 

Ttowed upon request of the Vvehicle Oowner.  The Vvehicle 558 

Oowner shall be liable for a Ddrop Ffee, as set forth in this 559 

Sectionsection, in lieu of Ttowing, provided that the Vvehicle 560 

Oowner or representative is present and ready, willing, and able to 561 

pay the required Ddrop Ffee and removes the Vvehicle from the 562 

property or corrects the violation. 563 

564 

(cC)  An Iimmobilized or a Ttowed Vehicle moved to a Sstorage 565 

Ssite shall be immediately available for release at the request of the 566 

Vvehicle Oowner. 567 

568 

(dD)  The Ooperator shall accept the following forms of payment for 569 

any trespass Ttowing feesservices: 570 

571 

(i) Cash;572 

573 

(ii) Two major national credit cards;574 

575 

(iii) MasterCard or Visa debit cards; and576 

577 

(iv) Personal checks shall be accepted when credit/debit578 

card machines are not available or are inoperable.579 

580 

(eE)  In all cases when a Vvehicle is Iimmobilized, Ttowed, or fees 581 

charged, the Ooperator shall provide the Vvehicle Oowner with a 582 

receipt that bears the: 583 

584 

(i) Complete name, address, and telephone number of the585 

Ooperator that Ttowed the Vvehicle;586 

587 

(ii) Time the Vvehicle was Ttowed;588 

589 

(iii) Address from which the Vvehicle was Ttowed;590 

773



591 

(iv) Authority for the Ttow (Eentity or person authorizing the592 

tow);593 

594 

(v) Reason for the Ttow;595 

596 

(vi) Driver employee number; (the corresponding Ddriver’s597 

name shall be provided to the Fairfax County Police598 

Department (FCPD); and/or the Director upon request)599 

600 

(vii) Time the Vvehicle was released;601 

602 

(viii) An itemized list of all fees assessed in the603 

Iimmobilization, Ttowing, storage, and/or release of the604 

Vvehicle;605 

606 

(ix) The printed name of the person to whom the Vvehicle607 

was released; and608 

609 

(x) The Department contact informationname and telephone610 

number of the Department where vehicle owners may file a611 

consumer complaint.612 

613 

(fF)  If any requirements of this Sectionsection are not met, for such 614 

Iimmobilization or Ttow, no fee shall be charged. 615 

616 

(8) Compliance.617 

618 

(aA)  The Ooperator shall provide to the Vvehicle Oowner, upon 619 

request, a copy of the authority for the Ttow; including, without 620 

limitation, photographs and other documentation supporting the 621 

tow. 622 

623 

(bB)  Right of Eentry.  Whenever it is necessary for the purposes of 624 

this Sectionsection, the duly authorized agent of the Director may 625 

enter any trespass Ttowing business, business establishment, or 626 

Sstorage Ssite property to obtain information, conduct surveys, 627 

audits, compliance reviews, or investigations.  628 

629 

(Gg)  Rates and Charges. 630 

631 

(1) Change to Rrates and Ccharges.632 

633 

(aA)  Changes in rates and charges for trespass Ttowing services 634 

rendered by Ooperators shall be approved by the Board. 635 

636 

774



(bB)  The Board may consider changes in rates or charges upon 637 

recommendation of the Director or the Advisory Board. 638 

639 

(cC)  The Director shall conduct a review of rates every two years. 640 

641 

(dD)  Any review of rate changes as well as any recommended 642 

change to any rule, regulation, or practice thereto shall come before 643 

the Advisory Board pursuant to a public hearing, which shall be 644 

scheduled as soon as analysis, investigation, and administration 645 

allow.  All recommendations of the Advisory Board and the Director 646 

shall be conveyed to the Board for its consideration and 647 

determination. 648 

649 

(eE)  Whenever the Director or Advisory Board determines a rate 650 

change is warranted, all registered Ooperators shall provide notice 651 

to the public of proposed changes in rates and charges thereto, by 652 

means of a sign posted in a clearly visible place at each of their 653 

fixed places of business in Fairfax County.  Such notice shall be on 654 

a document no smaller than 8.5 by 11.0 inches, printed in no 655 

smaller than 12-point type, and shall contain substantially the 656 

following information: 657 

658 

Notice of Proposed Rate Change 659 

(Insert the Name of the trespass Tower) 660 

661 

A proposed change in trespass Ttowing rates is under 662 

consideration by the Fairfax County government.  The 663 

proposed rates are: (Insert description of the proposed 664 

changes). 665 

666 

The proposed trespass Ttowing rate change shall be 667 

considered by the Trespass Towing Advisory Board at a 668 

public hearing.  The date, time and location of the public 669 

hearing may be obtained by calling the Department of Cable 670 

and Consumer Services.  Any interested person may appear 671 

before the Advisory Board to be heard on this proposed 672 

change.  Persons who wish to be placed on the speakers' list 673 

or who wish further information should call the Department of 674 

Cable and Consumer Services at 703-324-5966. 675 

676 

(fF)  Notices with respect to a proposed rate change shall be 677 

posted within ten days of the staff report for such change and shall 678 

remain posted until the change in rates is denied or becomes 679 

effective. 680 

681 

(2) Rates and Ccharges.682 

775



683 

(aA)  It shall be unlawful for an Ooperator to charge any fees 684 

exceeding the fees set forth in this Sectionsection. 685 

686 

(i) Immobilization.  An Ooperator may charge a Vvehicle687 

Oowner a maximum fee of $75.00 for the release of a688 

Vvehicle when it is Iimmobilized.  No other fee of any type689 

may be charged.690 

691 

(ii) Drop Ffee.  An Ooperator may charge a Vvehicle692 

Oowner a maximum fee of $50.00 for the release of a693 

Vvehicle prior to Ttowing the Vvehicle from private property.694 

No other fee of any type may be charged.695 

696 

(iii) Hookup and initial Ttowing fee shall not exceed:697 

698 

A(I)  $135.00 for Vvehicles with a gross vehicle weight 699 

rating (GVWR) of 7,500 pounds or less. 700 

701 

B(II) $250.00 for Vvehicles with a GVWR of 7,501 702 

pounds through 10,000 pounds. 703 

704 

C(III)  $500.00 for Vvehicles with a GVWR greater 705 

than 10,000 pounds. 706 

707 

D(IV)  For towing a vehicle between seven o'clock 708 

p.m. and eight o'clock a.m. or on any Saturday, Sunday, or709 

holiday, a maximum additional fee of $25 per instance may710 

be charged; however, in no event shall more than two such711 

fees be charged for towing any such vehicle.712 

713 

E(V).  No other fees or charges shall be imposed 714 

during the first 24 hour period. 715 

716 

(iv) Storage fee for the safekeeping of Vvehicles:717 

718 

A (I)  No charge shall be made for storage and 719 

safekeeping of a Vvehicle for the first 24 hours the 720 

Vvehicle is on the Sstorage Ssite.   721 

722 

B.(II)  After the Vvehicle is on the Sstorage Ssite for 723 

more than 24 hours, a Vvehicle storage fee may be 724 

charged for each subsequent 24-hour period, or any 725 

portion thereof, at a rate not to exceed: 726 

727 

776



1. $50.00 for any Vvehicle 22 feet long or less 728 

in length., or729 

730 

2. $5.00 per foot for any Vvehicle over 22 feet731 

in length.732 

733 

(v) If an administrative fee for notification of lien holder,734 

owner, agent or other interested party is charged, it shall not735 

exceed $75.00.  This fee may only apply after the Vvehicle is736 

on the Sstorage Ssite over three full business days.  If an737 

administrative fee is charged, a copy of the Virginia738 

Department of Motor Vehicles report shall be attached to the739 

receipt given to the Vvehicle Oowner.740 

741 

(vi) No other administrative fees shall be charged, or any742 

other charges unless expressly set forth herein.743 

744 

(B) Upon Vvehicle release, the Ooperator shall give the Vvehicle745 

Oowner a receipt itemizing all charges.746 

747 

(C) An Ooperator shall not require a Vvehicle Oowner to sign any748 

waiver of the Vvehicle Oowner's right to receive compensation for749 

damages to the owner's Vvehicle as a condition of the owner750 

retrieving the Ttowed Vvehicle.751 

752 

 (hH)  Penalties and Remedies for Violations. 753 

754 

(1) All Ttrespass Ttowing.755 

756 

(a) (A)  It shall be unlawful for any person to violate any of the757 

provisions of this Sectionsection, or any regulation adopted758 

pursuant to this Sectionsection.  Unless otherwise stated, these759 

violations shall constitute traffic infractions punishable by a fine of760 

not more than that provided for a Class 4 misdemeanor.761 

762 

(b) (B)  It shall be unlawful for any person to make or cause to763 

be made any false statement in writing for the purpose of procuring764 

a Rregistration Ccertificate or Llocality Ppermit, or to make any765 

false statements or entry on records required to be kept by this766 

Sectionsection.  These violations are a violation of Virginia Code767 

Section 18.2-498.3.768 

769 

(c) (C)  An Ooperator shall be suspended if the Ooperator’s770 

insurance is no longer in effect.  Suspension shall be in accordance771 

with Section 82-5-32.(Hh)(2)(bB) and (dD).772 

773 

777



774 (2) Locality Ppermit Ooperators.
775 

(a) (A)  Denial.776 

777 

(i) The Director may deny an Ooperator’s Llocality Ppermit778 

application to conduct a trespass towing business in779 

Fairfax County if the Ooperator:780 

781 

A. (I)  Does not have an approved Sstorage Ssite; or782 

783 

B. (II) Does not possess a valid business license; or784 

785 

C. (III) Is not properly licensed by the Statestate; or786 

787 

D. (IV)  Provides false information on the application.788 

789 

(ii) The Ooperator may reapply after application deficiencies790 

are corrected.  If the denial is based on 82-5-791 

32(hH)(2)(Aa)(i)(IV)D., the denial shall remain in force for792 

one year from the date of denial.793 

794 

(b) (B)  Suspension.795 

796 

(i) The Director may suspend an Ooperator’s Fairfax County797 

Llocality Ppermit for a period of one to 60 days and/or798 

until proof of compliance is provided to the satisfaction of799 

the Director for any of the following reasons, but not800 

limited to:801 

802 

A. (I)  Operating a tow vehicle that fails to meet803 

federal, Statestate, and local codes.804 

805 

B. (II)  Any violations of this Sectionsection which806 

regulate conduct, reporting, and record-keeping.807 

808 

C. (III)  Occurrence of any of the grounds for809 

denial of a registration application or Llocality Ppermit,810 

listed in Section 82-5-32.(hH)(2)(Aa).811 

812 

D. (IV)  Failure to maintain the Sstorage Ssite(s)813 

and/or operation(s) in good order and repair.814 

815 

E. (V)  Failure to pay all fees and taxes imposed816 

insofar as such fees relate to operation of a trespass817 

towing business.818 

819 

778



F. (VI)  Failure to maintain proper insurance.820 

821 

G. (VII)  Valid consumer complaints regarding822 

trespass towing operation.823 

824 

(ii) The suspension will become effective 45 days after the825 

Operator receives the suspension notice unless an826 

appeal is filed in accordance paragraph (e) below.827 

828 

(iii)(ii) However, anyAny suspension for a violation of 829 

Sections 82-5-32.(hH)(2)(Bb)(i)(I)A and (VI)F shall 830 

become effective upon the date of any such violation 831 

without notification pursuant to paragraph (d) below. 832 

833 

(c) (C)  Revocation.834 

835 

(i) An Ooperator’s Llocality Ppermit may be revoked by the836 

Director for, but not limited to, any of the following837 

reasons:838 

839 

A. (I)  If an Ooperator fails to correct deficiencies for840 

which the Ooperator was suspended;.841 

842 

B. (II)  The Ooperator makes or causes or allows to be843 

made any false statement in writing for the purpose of844 

procuring a Llocality Ppermit; or845 

846 

C. (III)  If an Ooperator makes or causes or allows to be847 

made any false statement or entry on records required to be848 

kept by this Sectionsection; or849 

850 

D. (IV)  Conducts operations in the County while under851 

suspension; or852 

853 

E. (V)  At the discretion of the Director for multiple854 

violations by the Llocality Ppermit holder of any of the855 

provisions of this Sectionsection within a twelve-month856 

period.857 

858 

(ii) The revocation will become effective 45 days after the859 

Operator receives the revocation notice unless an appeal860 

is filed in accordance paragraph (e) below.861 

862 

(d) (D)  Notification.863 

864 

779



(i) Written notice of any denial, suspension, or revocation865 

under the above provisions of this Sectionsection shall be866 

given by the Director to the Ooperator in person, or by867 

email, and by certified mail.  Such suspension or868 

revocation shall be effective seven calendar days after869 

the deposit of such notice in the US mail unless870 

otherwise specified in this Sectionsection.871 

872 

NOTE:  It shall be unlawful for an Operator to conduct a 873 

trespass towing business in the County when the Locality 874 

Permit under which the trespass towing operation was 875 

placed in service is under suspension or revocation. 876 

877 

(ii) Locality Ppermits that have been suspended or revoked878 

shall be returned to the Director within seven calendar879 

days from the effective date of the suspension or880 

revocation, provided such suspension was ordered for881 

more than seven calendar days.882 

883 

(e) (E)  Appeal.884 

885 

Procedure for appeal of action by the Director. 886 

887 

(i) If the Director denies, suspends or revokes any888 

Ooperator’s Llocality Ppermit, any party aggrieved thereby889 

may appeal such decision to the Commission.890 

891 

(ii) An appeal shall be filed with the Department of Cable892 

and Consumer Services by the appellant or by the legal893 

representative of the appellant. Appeals shall be in writing,894 

and appeals shall include a brief statement of the reasons895 

thereof. Appeals shall be filed within 45 calendar days of896 

receipt of the notice of denial, suspension, or revocation, and897 

signed by the appellant or the legal representative of the898 

appellant.899 

900 

(iii) Upon receipt of notice of appeal, the Commission shall901 

set a time and place for such hearing and shall give the902 

appellant or legal representative and the Director reasonable903 

notice thereof. All hearings on appeals shall be scheduled904 

and determined as promptly as practicable and in no event905 

more than 60 calendar days from the date the notice of906 

appeal is filed.907 

908 

780



(iv) An appeal may be withdrawn at any time by the appellant 909 

or his agent prior to the Commission meeting by giving 910 

written notice to the Director. 911 

912 

(v) An appeal may also be administratively withdrawn by the913 

Director if it is determined that the appeal was the result of914 

an error.915 

916 

(vi) The Commission shall consider the case record as well917 

as the statements offered by any interested party and shall918 

consider the matter de novo, and the Commission shall,919 

upon the basis of the record before it, affirm, modify or920 

reverse the decision of the Director.921 

922 

(vii) If the Commission affirms the decision of the Director to923 

suspend or revoke an Ooperator's Certificate ora Llocality924 

Ppermit, then the suspension or revocation shall be effective925 

from the date of the Commissioner's order.926 

927 

(viii) If the Commission reverses the decision of the928 

Director, the Director shall issue or restore the Ooperator’s929 

locality permit, in accordance with its order.930 

931 

(ix) Except as otherwise provided in this Sectionsection, an932 

appeal of the decision of the Director to suspend or revoke933 

an Ooperator’s Llocality Ppermit shall stay the effective date934 

of the suspension or revocation.935 

936 

(x) However, if any suspension or revocation of an937 

Ooperator's Llocality Ppermit is based on failure to follow938 

appropriate safety procedures or falsifying documents, then939 

the order of the Director shall remain in effect until the940 

Commission has rendered its decision on the appeal.941 

942 

(f) (F)  The provisions of this Sectionsection are not exclusive and do not943 

relieve the parties or the contracts subject thereto from compliance with all944 

other applicable provisions of law.945 

946 

(HIG)  Code or Rregulatory Cconflict. 947 

948 

In the event of a conflict between an action of the Statestate and the County, the 949 

County ordinance shall be controlling, provided such provisions are no less 950 

stringent than requirements imposed by action of the Statestate. 951 

952 

Section 82-5-32.1. – Trespass Towing Advisory Board. 953 

954 

781



955

(aA) Definitions.

956 

“Citizen Mmember” means a Mmember who represents the general public, and has 957 

no direct or indirect interest, other than as a consumer, in or relating to the Ttowing 958 

and recovery industry. 959 

960 

“Law-Eenforcement Mmember” means a member who is a Fairfax County police 961 

officer and appointed by the Fairfax County Chief of Police to the Advisory Board. 962 

963 

“Member” means a Fairfax County resident appointed or confirmed by the Board of 964 

Supervisors to the Trespass Towing Advisory Board. 965 

966 

“Towing Mmember” means an individual who, prior to appointment, and throughout 967 

the appointment term, shall be an Ooperator of a Ttowing business in Fairfax 968 

County. 969 

970 

(bB)   Members; Sstaff; and Mmeetings 971 

972 

(1) There shall be a Trespass Towing Advisory Board ("Advisory Board").  The973 

Advisory Board shall be composed of five members, two of whom shall represent974 

tow operators, two of whom shall represent local law-enforcement agencies, and975 

one of whom shall represent the community at largegeneral public.  All members976 

shall be residents of Fairfax County, Virginia.  Members of the Advisory Board977 

shall be appointed or confirmed by the Board of Supervisors for terms of three978 

years each.  The terms shall be staggered with no more than two terms, and no979 

less than one term, to commence in any one year.  Vacancies shall be filled by980 

the Board of Supervisors as they arise.  The chairman shall be elected annually981 

from among the members of the advisory board by a majority vote. The982 

chairmanship shall be for a term of one year and rotate annually between a983 

representative of a local law-enforcement agency, a representative of a tow984 

operator, and one member of the general public. A Chairperson shall be elected985 

by the Trespass Towing Advisory Board from among the members of the986 

Advisory Board. The Advisory Board may adopt bylaws and rules and regulations987 

governing the conduct of its responsibilities and duties hereinunderherein under.988 

989 

(2) The Advisory Board shall meet at least once per year at the call of the990 

Chairperson, or two members of the Advisory Board after notice to all991 

Mmembers, or upon request of the Board of Supervisors, or upon the request of992 

the Director.  The staff of the Advisory Board shall be from the Department of993 

Cable and Consumer Services.  The Director of the Department of Cable and994 

Consumer Services, or the Director’s designee, shall attend all meetings of the995 

Advisory Board.996 

997 

(3) A quorum shall consist of a Ttowing Mmember, a Llaw-Eenforcement998 

Mmember and a Ccitizen Mmember.999 

1000 

782



1001

(cB) Duty of the Trespass Towing Advisory Board 

1002 

The Advisory Board shall advise the Board and provide recommendation(s) to 1003 

proposed changes related to the trespass Ttowing code. 1004 

1005 

Section 82-5-32.1.a. – Consumer Protection Commission duties and hearings. 1006 

1007 

(A) (a)  In addition to all other duties, the Commission shall act upon appeals from1008 

actions taken by the Director.1009 

1010 

(B) (b)  All hearings or other public proceedings conducted by the Commission in1011 

accordance with this Sectionsection shall be conducted in an informal manner. The1012 

Commission shall have the discretion to admit all evidence which may be of probative1013 

value even if that evidence is not in accord with formal rules of legal practice and1014 

procedure. Applicants and appellants may appear, either by personal appearance, legal1015 

counsel, or other representation, to present argument and evidence on their behalf. In1016 

addition, the Commission may establish rules of procedure for the conduct of hearings.1017 

Any interested party may record all public proceedings of any hearing in any manner1018 

which shall not impede the orderly conduct of the hearing.1019 

1020 

(C) (c)  The Commission shall report all recommendations and/or decisions in writing,1021 

and the Commission shall furnish copies of those decisions to the Director and to any1022 

applicant or appellant affected thereby.1023 

1024 

Section 82-5-32.2. – Department of Cable and Consumer Services. 1025 

1026 

DCCS shall have the following duties: 1027 

1028 

(aA)   Receive, investigate, record, and attempt to resolve Ttowing complaints. 1029 

1030 

(bB)   Forward complaints that cannot be successfully mediated to the appropriate State 1031 

governmental agency. 1032 

1033 

(cC)   Refer suspected violations of law to the proper enforcing agency. 1034 

1035 

(dD)   Maintain records of Ttowing complaints and their disposition. 1036 

1037 

(eE)   Develop programs of Ttowing education and information and disseminate such 1038 

information. 1039 

1040 

(fF)   Provide advice and information on trespass Ttowing matters to judicial, legislative, 1041 

administrative, and other public and private bodies. 1042 

1043 

(gG)   Analyze the nature of trespass Ttowing problems in Fairfax County and 1044 

recommend to the Board legislative and administrative changes. 1045 

1046 

783



 Ccertificates and Llocality 1047 

(hH)  Receive, process, and act on Ooperator Rregistration 
Ppermit applications. 

1048 

1049 

(iI)  Conduct reviews, inspections, and investigations of Ttowing Sstorage Ssites and 1050 

operations.  1051 

1052 

2. That the provisions of this ordinance are severable, and if any provision of1053 

this ordinance or any application thereof is held invalid, that invalidity shall1054 

not affect the other provisions or applications of this ordinance that can be1055 

given effect without the invalid provision or application.1056 

1057 

3. That the provisions of this ordinance shall take effect upon adoption.1058 

1059 

GIVEN under my hand this_______ day of ____________, 2017 1060 

1061 

1062 

_______________________________ 1063 

Clerk to the Board of Supervisors 1064 

1065 

784



Board Agenda Item 
December 5, 2017 

Attachment 4 
 

STAFF REPORT 
Proposed Amendments to Sections 82-5-32, 82-5-32.15-32.1a, 82-and 82-5-32.2 of the Fairfax 

County Code 
Pertaining to Trespass Towing 

 
Authority Granted by the Code of Virginia 
 

Localities in Virginia are authorized to regulate the immobilization and removal of vehicles from private 

property pursuant to Va. Code Ann. § 46.2-1232.    
 

§ 46.2-1232. Localities may regulate removal or immobilization of trespassing vehicles. 
 
A. The governing body of any county, city, or town may by ordinance regulate the removal of 
trespassing vehicles from property by or at the direction of the owner, operator, lessee, or 
authorized agent in charge of the property. In the event that a vehicle is towed from one locality 
and stored in or released from a location in another locality, the local ordinance, if any, of the 
locality from which the vehicle was towed shall apply. 
 
B. No local ordinance adopted under authority of this section shall require that any towing and 
recovery business also operate as or provide services as a vehicle repair facility or body shop, 
filling station, or any business other than a towing and recovery business. 
 
C. Any such local ordinance may also require towing and recovery operators to (i) obtain and retain 
photographs or other documentary evidence substantiating the reason for the removal; (ii) post 
signs at their main place of business and at any other location where towed vehicles may be 
reclaimed conspicuously indicating (a) the maximum charges allowed by local ordinance, if any, for 
all their fees for towing, recovery, and storage services and (b) the name and business telephone 
number of the local official, if any, responsible for handling consumer complaints; (iii) obtain at the 
time the vehicle is towed, verbal approval of an agent designated in the local ordinance who is 
available at all times; and (iv) obtain, at the time the vehicle is towed, if such towing is performed 
during the normal business hours of the owner of the property from which the vehicle is being 
towed, the written authorization of the owner of the property from which the vehicle is towed, or his 
agent. Such written authorization, if required, shall be in addition to any written contract between 
the towing and recovery operator and the owner of the property or his agent, except for vehicles 
being towed from a locality within Planning District 8, which shall not require written authorization if 
such written contract is in place. Any such written contract governing a property located within 
Planning District 8 shall clearly state the terms on which towing and recovery operators may 
monitor private lots on behalf of property owners. For the purposes of this subsection, "agent" shall 
not include any person who either (a) is related by blood or marriage to the towing and recovery 
operator or (b) has a financial interest in the towing and recovery operator's business. 
 
D. Any such ordinance adopted by a locality within Planning District 8 may require towing 
companies that tow vehicles from the county, city, or town adopting the ordinance to other 
localities, provided that the stored or released location is within the Commonwealth of Virginia and 
within 10 miles of the point of origin of the actual towing, (i) to obtain from the locality from which 
such vehicles are towed a permit to do so and (ii) to submit to an inspection of such towing 
company's facilities to ensure that the company meets all the locality's requirements, regardless of 
whether such facilities are located within the locality or elsewhere. The locality may impose and 

785



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

collect reasonable fees for the issuance and administration of permits as provided for in this 
subsection. Such ordinance may also provide grounds for revocation, suspension, or modification 
of any permit issued under this subsection, subject to notice to the permittee of the revocation, 
suspension, or modification and an opportunity for the permittee to have a hearing before the 
governing body of the locality or its designated agent to challenge the revocation, suspension, or 
modification. Any tow truck driver who removes or tows a vehicle, pursuant to any such ordinance, 
that is occupied by an unattended companion animal as defined in § 3.2-6500 shall, upon such 
removal, immediately notify the animal control office of the locality in which the vehicle is being 
removed or towed. Nothing in this subsection shall be applicable to public safety towing.
 

 
Va. Code Ann. § 46.2-1233.2 requires an advisory board be appointed prior to adopting or amending 
any local trespass towing ordinance.   

§ 46.2-1233.2. Advisory board. 

Prior to adopting or amending any ordinance pursuant to § 46.2-1232 or 46.2-1233, the local 
governing body shall appoint an advisory board to advise the governing body with regard to the 
appropriate provisions of the ordinance. Members of the advisory board shall only consist of an 
equal number of representatives of local law-enforcement agencies and representatives of 
licensed towing and recovery operators, and one member of the general public. Any such advisory 
board shall meet at least once per year at the call of the chairman of the advisory board, who shall 
be elected annually from among the members of the advisory board by a majority vote. The 
chairmanship of any such advisory board for any locality within Planning District 8 shall be for a 
term of one year and rotate annually between a representative of a local law-enforcement agency, 
a representative of a licensed towing and recovery operator, and one member of the general 
public. 

Fairfax County Code Provisions 

Fairfax County exercises the authority granted in the Code of Virginia through the enactment of Section 
82-5-32 of the Fairfax County Code.   All provisions that govern the immobilization or towing of 

trespassing vehicles on private property in the County are found in this section.  These regulations 

were last amended effective May 1, 2014. 

In accordance with Va. Code Ann. § 46.2-1233.2, Fairfax County established the Trespass Tow 
Advisory Board, effective July 1, 2006.  The Trespass Tow Advisory Board has conducted meetings 
and provided an open forum for tow operators, the public and staff from the Department of Cable and 
Consumer Services to discuss a change to the current ordinance provisions.   

PROPOSED REVISIONS TO SECTIONS 82-5-32, 82-5-32.1 and 82-5-32.2 
 
 
Reason for changes:   

 
In 2017, the Virginia General Assembly enacted HB1960, which revised multiple provisions in Va. Code 
Ann. §§ 46.2-1231, 46.2-1232, and 46.2-1233.2. Several of these revisions are applicable specifically 
to jurisdictions in Planning District 8.  These revisions placed new requirements into the Code of 
Virginia for written contracts and monitoring agreements between property owners and tow operators; a 
new requirement that tow operators contact the locality’s animal control office when towing a vehicle 

786

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/3.2-6500/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/46.2-1232/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/46.2-1233/


Board Agenda Item 
December 5, 2017 

occupied by an companion animal; and a requirement that the chairmanship of trespass towing 
advisory boards rotate on an annual basis between the citizen member, the law enforcement member, 
and the tow operator member.  These new requirements have been incorporated into the proposed 
revisions to Sections 82-5-32, 82-5-32.1, 82-5-32.1a, and 82-5-32.2.   
 
Numerous other minor revisions are also proposed to clarify existing language and processes, such as 
new language specifying the locality permit application process; language providing that tow storage 
lots must be open and staffed 24 hours per day, 7 days per week to allow for immediate release of 
towed vehicles; and striking a conflicting provision related to the effective date of any suspension or 
revocation of locality permits.   
 
Additional revisions, largely administrative, have also been included to stylistically align the section with 
the remainder of Chapter 82 by removing the capitalization of defined terms in the text, and by 
changing the outline format to match that found in other sections.    
 

787



Proposed Revisions to Chapter 82-5-32 
July 26, 2017 

 

Line Number Description of change 

Throughout 
entirety of 

section 

Decapitalization of defined terms throughout section, for consistency with remainder of 
Chapter 82 
New outline formatting, for consistency with remainder of Chapter 82 

21 Delete “TTAB” from definition, as it does not appear in the remainder of the Section 

33 Aligns definition of “Director” with that found in Chapter 84.1 (taxicab ordinance) 

59 Clarifies that a locality permit holder may store towed vehicles both inside and outside of 
the County 

68-73 Deletes “private property tow”, as this term does not appear in the remainder of the 
Section.   Definition is moved, and inserted at lines 99-104 as “trespass tow”. 

94 Inserts abbreviation for Gross Vehicle Weight Rating “GVWR” 

118-122 Captures language from Code of Virginia re:  applicability of code 

191 Change “business” to “non-residential” to include non-residential, non-commercial 
properties   

216 - 224 Captures language from HB1960 -  contracts and spotter authorization 

226 Changes wording “written approvals” to “written contracts” 

273-274 Specifies that Department provides application for operator registration 

295-326 Inserts application process for Locality Permit, uses same language as application process 
for registration. 

351-352 Clarifies language - change from “in his possession” to “stored at an approved storage lot” 

357-361 Makes authorization language consistent with that found at Line 216-224 

420-425 Captures new state code language from HB1960 – companion animal 

451 Replace “Tower” with “operator” as the party responsible for securing the load 

479-482 Clarifies language, specifying that storage lots must be staffed and open 24/7 

484-490 Revises language for clarity.  No change in meaning.   

510 Minor change to lot signage content at storage sites 

535-536 Strike “auction”, replace with “release or disposition” 

543 Strike “towing vehicle”, replace with “tow truck” 

550 Strike “services”, replace with “fees”  

600-602 Captures language from HB1960- consumer notice on receipt 

650 Strike “Name of tow operator” from requirements for notice of rate change 

690 Strike “gross vehicle weight rating” and leave abbreviation GVWR 

718-719 Strike “long”, insert “in length” to make language consistent with remainder of sub-
section 

732-733 Minor rewording for clarity 

757-758 Strikes improper code reference 

817-819 Strikes language in conflict with a related code provision 

821 Strike “however” to improve language 

850-852 Strikes language in conflict with a related code provision 

864-867 Delete extraneous “note” 

872-873 Inserts clarifying language related to suspension of permits 

917 Strike “Certificate or” and Insert “a” to clarify sub-section.  

924 Insert “locality” before “permit” to accurately reflect name of permit 

970-989 Captures language from HB1960 – TTAB membership 

1032 Strike “state”, replace with “governmental” 

    Board Agenda Item
    December 5, 2017

788



Board Agenda Item 
December 5, 2017 
 

Attachment 5 1 

 2 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 3 

CHAPTER 82 OF THE FAIRFAX COUNTY CODE, RELATING TO 4 

MOTOR VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC 5 

 6 

Draft of September 21, 2017 7 

 8 

AN ORDINANCE to amend the Fairfax County Code by amending and 9 

readopting Sections 82-5-32, 82.5-32.1, 82-5-32.1a and 82-5-32.2 relating 10 

to Motor Vehicles and Traffic. 11 

 Be it ordained by the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County: 12 

1. That Sections 82-5-32, 82.5-32.1, 82-5-32.1a and 82-5-32.2 are amended and 13 

readopted as follows: 14 

Article 5. – Stopping, Standing and Parking. 15 

 16 

Section 82-5-32. – Removal, immobilization, and disposition of vehicles unlawfully 17 

parked on private or County property. 18 

 19 

(a)  Applicability. 20 

 21 

Section 82-5-32 establishes the minimum requirements for all trespass towing 22 

initiated in Fairfax County.  Fairfax County Code shall also apply to a trespassing 23 

vehicle towed from Fairfax County and stored outside the County. 24 

 25 

(b)   Definitions. 26 

 27 

The following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to 28 

them in this section: 29 

 30 

“Advisory Board” means the Fairfax County Trespass Towing Advisory Board. 31 

 32 

“Board” means the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors. 33 

 34 

“Commission” means the Fairfax County Consumer Protection Commission. 35 

 36 

“County” means the County of Fairfax, Virginia. 37 

 38 

“Department” or “DCCS” means the Fairfax County Department of Cable and 39 

Consumer Services. 40 

 41 

“Director” means the Director of the Fairfax County Department of Cable and 42 

Consumer Services or the duly assigned agent of the Director of the Department. 43 

789



Board Agenda Item 
December 5, 2017 
 

 44 

"Driver" means a person who drives or is in actual physical control of a tow truck.  A 45 

driver shall have obtained all required documents issued by the state in order to 46 

operate a tow truck while providing towing services. 47 

 48 

“Drop fee” means a fee that is charged a vehicle owner for disconnecting a tow 49 

truck from a vehicle prior to leaving private property. 50 

 51 

"Equipment" means any tow truck, vehicle or related machinery or tools used to 52 

provide towing. 53 

 54 

“Immobilize” means a procedure or piece of equipment, such as a boot, used to 55 

prevent a vehicle from moving.  Immobilization does not include attachment to a 56 

tow truck.   57 

 58 

"Law-enforcement officer" means any officer authorized by law to direct or regulate 59 

traffic, or to make arrests for violations of the Code of Virginia or local ordinances. 60 

 61 

“Locality” means the geographical area of control of a county, city, or town. 62 

 63 

“Locality permit” means a document indicating an operator has been approved to 64 

immobilize or trespass tow vehicles in Fairfax County and store vehicles both inside 65 

and outside of Fairfax County. 66 

 67 

"Operator" or "towing and recovery operator" means any person, including a 68 

business, corporation, or sole proprietor, offering services involving the use of a tow 69 

truck and services incidental to the use of a tow truck. 70 

 71 

“Personal property” means any property in a vehicle which is not attached to or 72 

considered to be necessary for the proper operation of the vehicle. 73 

 74 

“Property owner” means the owner, operator, authorized agent, or lessee of any 75 

land, space, or area used for parking, including any county, city, or town, or 76 

authorized agent of the person having control of such premises. 77 

 78 

“Registration certificate” means a document indicating an operator has been 79 

approved to trespass tow and store vehicles within Fairfax County. 80 

 81 

“State” means the Commonwealth of Virginia. 82 

 83 

“Storage site” means a location where vehicles are taken until the owner reclaims 84 

the vehicle or it is sold.  The location must meet all requirements specified in this 85 

section. 86 

 87 

790



Board Agenda Item 
December 5, 2017 

"Tow" or “towed” means when the tow truck has engaged a vehicle by a physical 88 

or mechanical means that causes the towed vehicle to be removed from private 89 

property. 90 

91 

"Tow truck" means a motor vehicle for hire (i) designed to lift, pull, or carry another 92 

vehicle by means of a hoist or other mechanical apparatus, and (ii) having a 93 

manufacturer's gross vehicle weight rating (GVWR) of at least 10,000 pounds. 94 

"Tow truck" also includes vehicles designed with a ramp on wheels and a hydraulic 95 

lift with a capacity to haul or tow another vehicle, commonly referred to as 96 

"rollbacks." 97 

98 

“Trespass tow" means requests for towing services made by the owner, manager, 99 

or lessee of private property, or the authorized agent thereof, or under contract 100 

between such person and a towing and recovery operator that specifies what tows 101 

are to be made from the property when a vehicle is on the property in violation of 102 

law or rules promulgated by the owner, manager, or lessee of the private property. 103 

104 

"Vehicle" means every device in, on, or by which any person or property is or may 105 

be transported or drawn on a highway, except devices moved by human power or 106 

used exclusively on stationary rails or tracks. 107 

108 

“Vehicle owner” means the owner, operator, authorized agent, or lessee of a 109 

vehicle. 110 

111 

(c) Exclusions.112 

113 

(1) This section shall not apply to:114 

115 

(A) Police, fire, or public health vehicles, or where a vehicle, because of a116 

wreck or other emergency, is parked or left temporarily on the property of117 

another at the direction of police, fire or public health officials.118 

119 

(B) Vehicle repossession activities.120 

121 

(C) Vehicles towed, moved, or stored at the request of a law-enforcement122 

officer.123 

124 

(2) The provisions of this section shall not be construed to prohibit vehicles from125 

being towed when such towing is otherwise permitted by law.126 

127 

(d) Signs.128 

129 

(1) Permanent signs, clearly visible during daytime and nighttime hours, shall be130 

posted at all entrances to the parking area that conspicuously disclose that such131 

vehicle shall be towed or immobilized.132 

133 

791



Board Agenda Item 
December 5, 2017 

(2) Such signs, at a minimum, shall:  (all measurements are approximate) 134 

135 

(A) Be made of metal.136 

137 

(B) Be 18 inches high and 12 inches wide.138 

139 

(C) Contain reflective red letters and red reflective graphics on a reflective140 

white background, with a 3/8 inch reflective red trim strip 3/8 inch in from141 

the entire outer edge of the sign.142 

143 

(D) Contain the international Towing symbol that is at least 5 inches high144 

by 11 inches wide as found in the Federal Highway Administration,145 

“Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices”.146 

147 

(E) Use Series B or Clearview lettering found in the Federal Highway148 

Administration, “Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices”.149 

150 

(F) Contain “Towing Enforced” in a font size of 2 inch letters.151 

152 

(G) Contain “If towed Call 703-691-2131” in a font size of 1 inch letters,153 

which is the Fairfax County Department of Public Safety Communications154 

(DPSC) telephone number.  However, if the tow originated in the Town of155 

Vienna, the sign shall contain, “If towed Call 703-255-6366” and if the tow156 

originated in the Town of Herndon, the sign shall contain, “If towed Call157 

703-435-6846”.158 

159 

(H) Paragraphs (2)(A) through (2)(F) shall be effective January 1, 2015.160 

161 

(3) Signs posted in a government road right-of-way must meet Virginia162 

Department of Transportation standards and all applicable Virginia laws to163 

include the bottom of the sign mounted at least 7 feet above the ground.  Signs164 

posted on private property are not required to meet this height requirement as165 

long as they are clearly visible.166 

167 

(4) Sign contents may also include additional information such as, but not limited168 

to, the name of the property or name and telephone number of the designated169 

operator in a font size of 19/32 inch letters.170 

171 

(5) In addition to the mandatory entrance signs, other area signs may be used to172 

specify any other requirements for parking.173 

174 

(6) The requirement for signs shall not apply to single-family residence175 

properties not subject to common interest community regulations (as defined in176 

Va. Code § 55-528, as amended).177 

178 

792



Board Agenda Item 
December 5, 2017 

(7) No signage of the type required in this section shall be required to effect the 179 

towing of a vehicle unlawfully parked in a spot reserved for persons with 180 

disabilities or in a "Fire Lane" that is approved and marked in accordance with 181 

County and state requirements. 182 

183 

(8) Trespassing vehicle on property not marked by signs.184 

185 

(A) Non-residential properties.  A notice must be conspicuously affixed to186 

a trespassing vehicle with a warning the vehicle is liable to be towed 48187 

hours after such notice is posted.188 

189 

(i) The notice must contain the date and time of posting.190 

191 

(ii) A vehicle found to be trespassing a second time on the same192 

unmarked property may be towed immediately.  A warning notice is193 

not required.194 

195 

(B) Vehicles trespassing on single-family residence properties not subject196 

to common interest community regulations may be towed immediately.197 

No notice is required.198 

199 

(e) Property Owner.200 

201 

(1) A property owner may have a vehicle towed to a storage site or immobilized202 

without the permission of the vehicle owner if the vehicle is occupying property203 

without permission of the property owner, and if conditions set forth in this204 

section are met.205 

206 

(A) The property owner has executed a contract with a towing and207 

recovery operator that specifies what tows are to be made from the208 

property when a vehicle is parked on the property in violation of law or209 

rules promulgated by the owner, manager, or lessee of the private210 

property. Such contract shall clearly state the terms under211 

which towing and recovery operators may monitor private lots on behalf of212 

property owners.213 

214 

(B) Copies of such written contracts shall be retained for three years after215 

the date of the last tow or immobilization approved by the agreement.216 

217 

(2) In lieu of having such vehicle towed or immobilized, the property owner on218 

which the vehicle is located may request a law enforcement officer issue, on the219 

premises, a citation to the vehicle owner.220 

221 

(f) Operator.222 

223 

Trespass tow operators must comply with all requirements of this section.  224 

793



Board Agenda Item 
December 5, 2017 
 

 225 

(1)  Registration certificate. 226 

 227 

(A)  All operators engaged in immobilizing or towing vehicles without the 228 

consent of the vehicle owner in Fairfax County must register with the 229 

Department of Cable and Consumer Services prior to the initiation of any 230 

such operations, and by January 31 of each subsequent year.   231 

 232 

(B)  To obtain a registration certificate, the following information and 233 

documents must be provided to the Department: 234 

 235 

(i)  Name, address and telephone number of the business engaged 236 

in immobilizing or towing; 237 

 238 

(ii)  Name and telephone number of the business owner or chief 239 

executive officer (CEO); 240 

 241 

(iii)  Copy of the operator’s business license; 242 

 243 

(iv)  Address, telephone number, and vehicle storage capacity of 244 

each storage site to which vehicles will be towed; 245 

 246 

(v)  Copy of each office and storage site Non-Residential Use 247 

Permit and, 248 

 249 

(vi)  Number of tow trucks to be operated in Fairfax County. 250 

 251 

(vii)  Proof of insurance as required by Va. Code § 46.2-2143, as 252 

amended, and shall include provisions for notice by the insurance 253 

carrier to the Director prior to termination of such coverage.  254 

 255 

(C)  Application shall be made on forms provided by the Department.  256 

 257 

(D)  The department must be notified of any changes to information 258 

previously provided by the operator within 30 calendar days of the change. 259 

 260 

 261 

(2)  Locality permit. 262 

 263 

(A)  All operators engaged in towing vehicles without the consent of the 264 

vehicle owner in Fairfax County and storing those vehicles outside of 265 

Fairfax County must obtain an approved locality permit prior to the 266 

initiation of any such operations and by January 31 of each subsequent 267 

year. 268 

 269 

794



(i) The initial application and annual renewal fee for each operator 270 

shall be $150.00.271 

272 

(ii) The initial inspection fee for each storage site outside of Fairfax273 

County shall be $450.00.274 

275 

(B) To obtain a locality permit, the following information and documents276 

must be provided to the Department:277 

278 

(i) Name, address and telephone number of the business engaged279 

in immobilizing or towing;280 

281 

(ii) Name and telephone number of the business owner or chief282 

executive officer (CEO);283 

284 

(iii) Copy of the operator’s business license issued by the285 

jurisdiction in which the operator is headquartered;286 

287 

(iv) Address, telephone number, and vehicle storage capacity of288 

each storage site to which vehicles will be towed;289 

290 

(v) Copy of each office and storage site occupancy permit issued291 

by the zoning agency in the jurisdiction in which the storage site is292 

located.293 

294 

(vi) Number of tow trucks to be operated in Fairfax County.295 

296 

(vii) Proof of insurance as required by Va. Code § 46.2-2143, as297 

amended, and shall include provisions for notice by the insurance298 

carrier to the Director prior to termination of such coverage.299 

300 

(C) Application shall be made on forms provided by the Department.301 

302 

(D) The Department must be notified of any changes to information303 

previously provided by the operator within 30 calendar days of the change.304 

305 

(3) Registration certificates and locality permits.306 

307 

(A) It shall be unlawful for any person to procure, or assist another to308 

procure, through theft, fraud, or other illegal means, a registration309 

certificate or locality permit from the Department.  Any violation of any310 

provision of this section shall be punishable as a Class 2 misdemeanor.311 

312 

(B) Any person or entity other than the Department that sells, gives, or313 

distributes, or attempts to sell, give or distribute any document purporting314 

795



to be a registration certificate or locality permit to conduct a trespass 315 

towing business in Fairfax County is guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor. 316 

317 

(4) Operational requirements.318 

319 

(A) The operator shall be open for business 24 hours a day and seven320 

days per week, unless the operator has no vehicles immobilized or stored321 

at an approved storage site.322 

323 

(B) All tow truck safety devices must be operational, used, and comply324 

with local, state, and federal laws and regulations.325 

326 

(C) An operator shall not tow a vehicle from private property or immobilize327 

a vehicle on private property unless the vehicle is parked on the property328 

in violation of law or rules promulgated by the owner, manager, or lessee329 

of the private property.330 

331 

(D) All tow trucks shall have the following identifying markings of a332 

contrasting color to the truck body on both sides of each tow truck:333 

334 

(i) The operator’s business name as registered with the335 

Department in a font not less than three inches in height.336 

337 

(ii) The operator’s telephone number in a font not less than three338 

inches in height.339 

340 

(iii) Truck number in a font not less than four inches in height.341 

342 

(E) Each tow truck, while trespass towing, shall have a copy of the current343 

Fairfax County trespass towing registration certificate or locality permit in344 

the tow truck.345 

346 

(F) Each immobilization device shall have a label clearly visible while the347 

device is in position immobilizing a vehicle that lists the operator’s name348 

and telephone number, immobilization fee, and the Department’s name349 

and telephone number.350 

351 

(G) The Fairfax County Department of Public Safety Communications352 

(DPSC) shall be notified no later than 30 minutes after initiating the353 

immobilization or towing of a vehicle.  However, whenever a vehicle is354 

towed or immobilized from sites within the Town of Herndon or the Town355 

of Vienna, the operator, shall notify the law enforcement agency in those356 

localities as applicable.357 

358 

(H) Such notification shall include the:359 

360 

796



(i) Operator name and driver employee number who towed or 361 

immobilized the vehicle;362 

363 

(ii) Make, model, color, year, vehicle identification number of the364 

towed or immobilized vehicle;365 

366 

(iii) License plate type (such as passenger car, truck, dealer, taxi,367 

disabled), number, state, and year of license of the towed or368 

immobilized vehicle;369 

370 

(iv) Address where the vehicle was towed or immobilized from;371 

372 

(v) Reason for the tow or immobilization;373 

374 

(vi) Time such tow or immobilization was initiated; and375 

376 

(vii) Storage site address where the vehicle is located and the377 

operator’s telephone number.378 

379 

(I) It shall be unlawful to fail to report a tow or immobilization as required380 

by this section. Violation of the reporting requirements of this section shall381 

constitute an invalid tow resulting in no charge to the owner for the release382 

of the vehicle.383 

384 

(J) Any tow truck driver who tows a vehicle that is occupied by an385 

unattended companion animal, as defined by Va. Code § 3.2-6500, as386 

amended, shall, upon such removal, immediately notify the Animal387 

Services Division of the Fairfax County Police Department (FCPD). Such388 

notification should be made to the Fairfax County DPSC non-emergency389 

telephone number.390 

391 

(K) Upon leaving private property, a driver must tow each vehicle directly392 

to a storage site registered with the Department.  Changing the towing393 

vehicle shall not be permitted unless the original towing vehicle becomes394 

non-operational.395 

396 

(i) The vehicle must remain in that lot for 30 calendar days if the397 

owner fails to claim the vehicle.398 

399 

(ii) A vehicle towed outside of Fairfax County may not be towed400 

more than ten miles from the origin of the tow, and must remain in401 

the Commonwealth.  The straight line 10-mile radius from a storage402 

site outside of Fairfax County shall be determined by the Director403 

using the Fairfax County GIS & Mapping Services Branch data.404 

405 

797



(L) Photographic evidence clearly substantiating the vehicle’s condition,406 

location, and reason for the vehicle’s tow or immobilization must be made407 

prior to connecting the tow truck to the vehicle.408 

409 

(M) While being towed, vehicles shall be properly secured in accordance410 

with all laws, regulations, and tow truck vehicle manufacturer411 

recommendations.412 

413 

(N) Nothing in this section shall release the operator from liability for414 

failure to use reasonable care to prevent the load from shifting or falling.415 

416 

(O) Records.417 

418 

An operator shall maintain written and electronic records for each towed or 419 

immobilized vehicle for a period of three years after such tow or 420 

immobilization.  Records to be retained shall include: 421 

422 

(i) A record of the property owner’s approval;423 

424 

(ii) The information required to be provided to the DPSC and other425 

local law enforcement agencies pursuant to this section;426 

427 

(iii) A legible copy of the receipt provided to vehicle owner; and428 

429 

(iv) Photographs and any other documentation supporting the tow.430 

431 

(5) Storage site requirements.432 

433 

(A) Every site to which trespassing vehicles are towed, stored, and434 

available for return to the vehicle owner shall comply with the following435 

requirements:436 

437 

(i) A storage site must be staffed, and open for business 24 hours438 

per day and seven days per week, unless the operator has no439 

vehicles towed from a location in Fairfax County stored at the440 

storage site.441 

442 

(ii) Each storage site must be properly zoned and approved for443 

storage of towed vehicles, as evidenced by an occupancy permit444 

issued by the zoning agency in the jurisdiction in which the storage445 

site is located.  Each storage site must also be registered with the446 

Department.447 

448 

(iii) A storage site shall be lighted during the hours of darkness to449 

afford clear visibility to all portions of the storage site.450 

451 

798



(iv) A towed vehicle shall not be stored more than a reasonable 452 

walking distance from the area where towing and storage fee 453 

payments are received. 454 

455 

(v) The operator shall exercise reasonable care to keep the towed456 

vehicle and its contents safe and secure at all times, which shall457 

include appropriate permanent fencing.458 

459 

(vi) No operator may take a vehicle to a storage site which does460 

not meet these standards and all other applicable ordinances and461 

regulations:462 

463 

(I) A clearly visible sign must be posted at the entrance of464 

the storage site that provides the operator’s name and465 

telephone number; and466 

467 

(II) The telephone for the posted number shall be answered468 

24 hours a day.469 

470 

(III) A clearly visible sign with a list of all of the operator’s471 

fees for trespass immobilization, towing and storage472 

services, and the operator’s contact information.473 

474 

(IV) A clearly visible sign available from the Department of475 

Cable and Consumer Services, listing the Department's web476 

site, office address, and telephone number.477 

478 

(6) Personal Property.479 

480 

(A) Nothing shall be removed from the vehicle without the express481 

consent of the vehicle owner.482 

483 

(B) Personal property must be released immediately upon the vehicle484 

owner’s request without charge, and it shall be the duty of the operator to485 

return it to the vehicle owner if the vehicle owner claims the items prior to486 

release or disposition of the vehicle.  Any lien created under this section487 

shall not extend to any personal property.488 

489 

(7) Vehicle release.490 

491 

(A) If the vehicle owner is present and removes the vehicle from the492 

property or corrects the violation before the vehicle is connected to the tow493 

truck, no fee shall be charged the vehicle owner;494 

495 

(B) If the vehicle has been connected to the tow truck and has not yet left496 

private property, the vehicle shall not be towed upon request of the vehicle497 

799



Board Agenda Item 
December 5, 2017 

owner.  The vehicle owner shall be liable for a drop fee, as set forth in this 498 

section, in lieu of towing, provided that the vehicle owner or representative 499 

is present and ready, willing, and able to pay the required drop fee and 500 

removes the vehicle from the property or corrects the violation. 501 

502 

(C) An immobilized or a towed vehicle moved to a storage site shall be503 

immediately available for release at the request of the vehicle owner.504 

505 

(D) The operator shall accept the following forms of payment for any506 

trespass towing fees:507 

508 

(i) Cash;509 

510 

(ii) Two major national credit cards;511 

512 

(iii) MasterCard or Visa debit cards; and513 

514 

(iv) Personal checks shall be accepted when credit/debit card515 

machines are not available or are inoperable.516 

517 

(E) In all cases when a vehicle is immobilized, towed, or fees charged,518 

the operator shall provide the vehicle owner with a receipt that bears the:519 

520 

(i) Complete name, address, and telephone number of the operator521 

that towed the vehicle;522 

523 

(ii) Time the vehicle was towed;524 

525 

(iii) Address from which the vehicle was towed;526 

527 

(iv) Authority for the tow (entity or person authorizing the tow);528 

529 

(v) Reason for the tow;530 

531 

(vi) Driver employee number; (the corresponding driver’s name532 

shall be provided to the FCPD and/or the Director upon request);533 

534 

(vii) Time the vehicle was released;535 

536 

(viii) An itemized list of all fees assessed in the immobilization,537 

towing, storage, and/or release of the vehicle;538 

539 

(ix) The printed name of the person to whom the vehicle was540 

released; and541 

542 

800



(x) The name and telephone number of the Department where 543 

vehicle owners may file a consumer complaint. 544 

545 

(F) If any requirements of this section are not met, for such immobilization546 

or tow, no fee shall be charged.547 

548 

(8) Compliance.549 

550 

(A) The operator shall provide to the vehicle owner, upon request, a copy551 

of the authority for the tow; including, without limitation, photographs and552 

other documentation supporting the tow.553 

554 

(B) Right of entry.  Whenever it is necessary for the purposes of this555 

section, the duly authorized agent of the Director may enter any trespass556 

towing business, business establishment, or storage site property to557 

obtain information, conduct surveys, audits, compliance reviews, or558 

investigations.559 

560 

(g) Rates and Charges.561 

562 

(1) Change to rates and charges.563 

564 

(A) Changes in rates and charges for trespass towing services rendered565 

by operators shall be approved by the Board.566 

567 

(B) The Board may consider changes in rates or charges upon568 

recommendation of the Director or the Advisory Board.569 

570 

(C) The Director shall conduct a review of rates every two years.571 

572 

(D) Any review of rate changes as well as any recommended change to573 

any rule, regulation, or practice thereto shall come before the Advisory574 

Board pursuant to a public hearing, which shall be scheduled as soon as575 

analysis, investigation, and administration allow.  All recommendations of576 

the Advisory Board and the Director shall be conveyed to the Board for its577 

consideration and determination.578 

579 

(E) Whenever the Director or Advisory Board determines a rate change is580 

warranted, all registered operators shall provide notice to the public of581 

proposed changes in rates and charges thereto, by means of a sign582 

posted in a clearly visible place at each of their fixed places of business in583 

Fairfax County.  Such notice shall be on a document no smaller than 8.5584 

by 11.0 inches, printed in no smaller than 12-point type, and shall contain585 

substantially the following information:586 

587 

801



Notice of Proposed Rate Change 588 

589 

A proposed change in trespass towing rates is under consideration by 590 

the Fairfax County government.  The proposed rates are: (Insert 591 

description of the proposed changes). 592 

593 

The proposed trespass towing rate change shall be considered by the 594 

Trespass Towing Advisory Board at a public hearing.  The date, time 595 

and location of the public hearing may be obtained by calling the 596 

Department of Cable and Consumer Services.  Any interested person 597 

may appear before the Advisory Board to be heard on this proposed 598 

change.  Persons who wish to be placed on the speakers' list or who 599 

wish further information should call the Department of Cable and 600 

Consumer Services at 703-324-5966. 601 

602 

(F) Notices with respect to a proposed rate change shall be posted within603 

ten days of the staff report for such change and shall remain posted until604 

the change in rates is denied or becomes effective.605 

606 

(2) Rates and charges.607 

608 

(A) It shall be unlawful for an operator to charge any fees exceeding the609 

fees set forth in this section.610 

611 

(i) Immobilization.  An operator may charge a vehicle owner a612 

maximum fee of $75.00 for the release of a vehicle when it is613 

immobilized.  No other fee of any type may be charged.614 

615 

(ii) Drop fee.  An operator may charge a vehicle owner a maximum616 

fee of $50.00 for the release of a vehicle prior to towing the vehicle617 

from private property.  No other fee of any type may be charged.618 

619 

(iii) Hookup and initial towing fee shall not exceed:620 

621 

(I) $135.00 for vehicles with GVWR of 7,500 pounds or less.622 

623 

(II) $250.00 for vehicles with GVWR of 7,501 pounds624 

through 10,000 pounds.625 

626 

(III) $500.00 for vehicles with GVWR greater than 10,000627 

pounds.628 

629 

(IV) For towing a vehicle between seven o'clock p.m. and630 

eight o'clock a.m. or on any Saturday, Sunday, or holiday, a631 

maximum additional fee of $25 per instance may be632 

802



charged; however, in no event shall more than two such fees 633 

be charged for towing any such vehicle. 634 

635 

(V) No other fees or charges shall be imposed during the636 

first 24 hour period.637 

638 

(iv) Storage fee for the safekeeping of vehicles:639 

640 

(I) No charge shall be made for storage and safekeeping of641 

a vehicle for the first 24 hours the vehicle is on the storage642 

site.643 

644 

(II) After the vehicle is on the storage site for more than 24645 

hours, a vehicle storage fee may be charged for each646 

subsequent 24-hour period, or any portion thereof, at a rate647 

not to exceed $50.00 for any vehicle 22 feet or less in length,648 

or $5.00 per foot for any vehicle over 22 feet in length.649 

650 

(v) If an administrative fee for notification of lien holder, owner,651 

agent or other interested party is charged, it shall not exceed652 

$75.00.  This fee may only apply after the vehicle is on the storage653 

site over three full business days.  If an administrative fee is654 

charged, a copy of the Virginia Department of Motor Vehicles report655 

shall be attached to the receipt given to the vehicle owner.656 

657 

(vi) No other fees shall be charged unless expressly set forth658 

herein.659 

660 

(B) Upon vehicle release, the operator shall give the vehicle owner a661 

receipt itemizing all charges.662 

663 

(C) An operator shall not require a vehicle owner to sign any waiver of the664 

vehicle owner's right to receive compensation for damages to the owner's665 

vehicle as a condition of the owner retrieving the towed vehicle.666 

667 

(h) Penalties and Remedies for Violations.668 

669 

(1) All trespass towing.670 

671 

(A) It shall be unlawful for any person to violate any of the provisions of672 

this section, or any regulation adopted pursuant to this section.  Unless673 

otherwise stated, these violations shall constitute traffic infractions674 

punishable by a fine of not more than that provided for a Class 4675 

misdemeanor.676 

677 

803



(B) It shall be unlawful for any person to make or cause to be made any 678 

false statement in writing for the purpose of procuring a registration 679 

certificate or locality permit, or to make any false statements or entry on 680 

records required to be kept by this section.   681 

682 

(C) An operator shall be suspended if the operator’s insurance is no683 

longer in effect.  Suspension shall be in accordance with Section 82-5-684 

32(h)(2)(B) and (D).685 

686 

(2) Locality permit operators.687 

688 

(A) Denial.689 

690 

(i) The Director may deny an operator’s locality permit application691 

to conduct a trespass towing business in Fairfax County if the692 

operator:693 

694 

(I) Does not have an approved storage site; or695 

696 

(II) Does not possess a valid business license; or697 

698 

(III) Is not properly licensed by the state; or699 

700 

(IV) Provides false information on the application.701 

702 

(ii) The operator may reapply after application deficiencies are703 

corrected.  If the denial is based on Section 82-5-32(h)(2)(A)(i)(IV),704 

the denial shall remain in force for one year from the date of denial.705 

706 

(B) Suspension.707 

708 

(i) The Director may suspend an operator’s Fairfax County locality709 

permit for a period of one to 60 days and/or until proof of710 

compliance is provided to the satisfaction of the Director for any of711 

the following reasons, but not limited to:712 

713 

(I) Operating a tow vehicle that fails to meet federal, state,714 

and local codes.715 

716 

(II) Any violations of this section which regulate conduct,717 

reporting, and record-keeping.718 

719 

(III) Occurrence of any of the grounds for denial of a720 

registration application or locality permit, listed in Section 82-721 

5-32(h)(2)(A).722 

723 

804



(IV) Failure to maintain the storage site(s) and/or 724 

operation(s) in good order and repair. 725 

726 

(V) Failure to pay all fees and taxes imposed insofar as727 

such fees relate to operation of a trespass towing business.728 

729 

(VI) Failure to maintain proper insurance.730 

731 

(VII) Valid consumer complaints regarding trespass towing732 

operation.733 

734 

(ii) Any suspension for a violation of Sections 82-5-32(h)(2)(B)(i)(I)735 

and (VI) shall become effective upon the date of any such violation736 

without notification pursuant to paragraph (d) below.737 

738 

(C) Revocation.739 

740 

(i) An operator’s locality permit may be revoked by the Director for,741 

but not limited to, any of the following reasons:742 

743 

(I) If an operator fails to correct deficiencies for which the744 

operator was suspended;745 

746 

(II) The operator makes or causes or allows to be made any747 

false statement in writing for the purpose of procuring a748 

locality permit;749 

750 

(III) If an operator makes or causes or allows to be made any751 

false statement or entry on records required to be kept by752 

this section;753 

754 

(IV) Conducts operations in the County while under755 

suspension; or756 

757 

(V) At the discretion of the Director for multiple violations by758 

the locality permit holder of any of the provisions of this759 

section within a twelve-month period.760 

761 

(D) Notification.762 

763 

(i) Written notice of any denial, suspension, or revocation under764 

the above provisions of this section shall be given by the Director to765 

the operator in person, or by email, and by certified mail.  Such766 

suspension or revocation shall be effective seven calendar days767 

after the deposit of such notice in the US mail unless otherwise768 

specified in this section.769 

805



770 

(ii) Locality permits that have been suspended or revoked shall be771 

returned to the Director within seven calendar days from the772 

effective date of the suspension or revocation, provided such773 

suspension was ordered for more than seven calendar days.774 

775 

(E) Appeal.776 

777 

Procedure for appeal of action by the Director. 778 

779 

(i) If the Director denies, suspends or revokes any operator’s780 

locality permit, any party aggrieved thereby may appeal such781 

decision to the Commission.782 

783 

(ii) An appeal shall be filed with the Department of Cable and784 

Consumer Services by the appellant or by the legal representative785 

of the appellant. Appeals shall be in writing, and appeals shall786 

include a brief statement of the reasons thereof. Appeals shall be787 

filed within 45 calendar days of receipt of the notice of denial,788 

suspension, or revocation, and signed by the appellant or the legal789 

representative of the appellant.790 

791 

(iii) Upon receipt of notice of appeal, the Commission shall set a792 

time and place for such hearing and shall give the appellant or legal793 

representative and the Director reasonable notice thereof. All794 

hearings on appeals shall be scheduled and determined as795 

promptly as practicable and in no event more than 60 calendar796 

days from the date the notice of appeal is filed.797 

798 

(iv) An appeal may be withdrawn at any time by the appellant or his799 

agent prior to the Commission meeting by giving written notice to800 

the Director.801 

802 

(v) An appeal may also be administratively withdrawn by the803 

Director if it is determined that the appeal was the result of an error.804 

805 

(vi) The Commission shall consider the case record as well as the806 

statements offered by any interested party and shall consider the807 

matter de novo, and the Commission shall, upon the basis of the808 

record before it, affirm, modify or reverse the decision of the809 

Director.810 

811 

(vii) If the Commission affirms the decision of the Director to812 

suspend or revoke an operator's a locality permit, then the813 

suspension or revocation shall be effective from the date of the814 

Commissioner's order.815 

806



816 

(vii) If the Commission reverses the decision of the Director, the817 

Director shall issue or restore the operator’s locality permit, in818 

accordance with its order.819 

820 

(viii) Except as otherwise provided in this section, an appeal of the821 

decision of the Director to suspend or revoke an operator’s locality822 

permit shall stay the effective date of the suspension or revocation.823 

824 

(ix) However, if any suspension or revocation of an operator's825 

locality permit is based on failure to follow appropriate safety826 

procedures or falsifying documents, then the order of the Director827 

shall remain in effect until the Commission has rendered its828 

decision on the appeal.829 

830 

(F) The provisions of this section are not exclusive and do not relieve the831 

parties or the contracts subject thereto from compliance with all other832 

applicable provisions of law.833 

834 

(G) Code or regulatory conflict.835 

836 

In the event of a conflict between an action of the state and the County, 837 

the County ordinance shall be controlling, provided such provisions are no 838 

less stringent than requirements imposed by action of the state. 839 

840 

Section 82-5-32.1. – Trespass Towing Advisory Board. 841 

842 

(a) Definitions.843 

844 

“Citizen member” means a member who represents the general public, and has 845 

no direct or indirect interest, other than as a consumer, in or relating to the towing 846 

and recovery industry. 847 

848 

“Law-enforcement member” means a member who is a Fairfax County police 849 

officer and appointed by the Fairfax County Chief of Police to the Advisory Board. 850 

851 

“Member” means a Fairfax County resident appointed or confirmed by the Board 852 

of Supervisors to the Trespass Towing Advisory Board. 853 

854 

“Towing member” means an individual who, prior to appointment, and throughout 855 

the appointment term, shall be an operator of a towing business in Fairfax 856 

County. 857 

858 

(b) Members; staff; and meetings859 

860 

807



 

(1) There shall be a Trespass Towing Advisory Board ("Advisory Board").  The861 

Advisory Board shall be composed of five members, two of whom shall represent862 

tow operators, two of whom shall represent local law-enforcement agencies, and863 

one of whom shall represent the general public.  All members shall be residents864 

of Fairfax County, Virginia.  Members of the Advisory Board shall be appointed or865 

confirmed by the Board of Supervisors for terms of three years each.  The terms866 

shall be staggered with no more than two terms, and no less than one term, to867 

commence in any one year.  Vacancies shall be filled by the Board of868 

Supervisors as they arise.  The chairman shall be elected annually from among869 

the members of the advisory board by a majority vote. The chairmanship shall be870 

for a term of one year and rotate annually between a representative of a local871 

law-enforcement agency, a representative of a tow operator, and one member of872 

the general public. The Advisory Board may adopt bylaws and rules and873 

regulations governing the conduct of its responsibilities and duties herein under.874 

875 

(2) The Advisory Board shall meet at least once per year at the call of the876 

Chairperson, or two members of the Advisory Board after notice to all members,877 

or upon request of the Board of Supervisors, or upon the request of the Director.878 

The staff of the Advisory Board shall be from the Department of Cable and879 

Consumer Services.  The Director of the Department of Cable and Consumer880 

Services, or the Director’s designee, shall attend all meetings of the Advisory881 

Board.882 

883 

(3) A quorum shall consist of a towing member, a law-enforcement member and884 

a citizen member.885 

886 

(c) Duty of the Trespass Towing Advisory Board887 

888 

The Advisory Board shall advise the Board and provide recommendation(s) to proposed 889 

changes related to the trespass towing code. 890 

891 

Section 82-5-32.1.a. – Consumer Protection Commission duties and hearings. 892 

893 

(a) In addition to all other duties, the Commission shall act upon appeals from actions894 

taken by the Director.895 

896 

(b) All hearings or other public proceedings conducted by the Commission in897 

accordance with this section shall be conducted in an informal manner. The898 

Commission shall have the discretion to admit all evidence which may be of probative899 

value even if that evidence is not in accord with formal rules of legal practice and900 

procedure. Applicants and appellants may appear, either by personal appearance, legal901 

counsel, or other representation, to present argument and evidence on their behalf. In902 

addition, the Commission may establish rules of procedure for the conduct of hearings.903 

Any interested party may record all public proceedings of any hearing in any manner904 

which shall not impede the orderly conduct of the hearing.905 

906 

808



(c) The Commission shall report all recommendations and/o
r decisions in writing, and 907 

the Commission shall furnish copies of those decisions to the Director and to any 908 

applicant or appellant affected thereby. 909 

910 

Section 82-5-32.2. – Department of Cable and Consumer Services. 911 

912 

DCCS shall have the following duties: 913 

914 

(a) Receive, investigate, record, and attempt to resolve towing complaints.915 

916 

(b) Forward complaints that cannot be successfully mediated to the appropriate917 

governmental agency.918 

919 

(c) Refer suspected violations of law to the proper enforcing agency.920 

921 

(d) Maintain records of towing complaints and their disposition.922 

923 

(e) Develop programs of towing education and information and disseminate such924 

information.925 

926 

(f) Provide advice and information on trespass towing matters to judicial, legislative,927 

administrative, and other public and private bodies.928 

929 

(g) Analyze the nature of trespass towing problems in Fairfax County and recommend930 

to the Board legislative and administrative changes.931 

932 

(h) Receive, process, and act on operator registration certificates and locality permit933 

applications.934 

935 

(i) Conduct reviews, inspections, and investigations of towing storage sites and936 

operations.937 

938 

2. That the provisions of this ordinance are severable, and if any provision of939 

this ordinance or any application thereof is held invalid, that invalidity shall940 

not affect the other provisions or applications of this ordinance that can be941 

given effect without the invalid provision or application.942 

943 

3. That the provisions of this ordinance shall take effect upon adoption.944 

945 

GIVEN under my hand this_______ day of ____________, 2017 946 

947 

948 

_______________________________ 949 

Clerk to the Board of Supervisors 950 

809



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

4:00 p.m.

Public Hearing on the Proposed Amendment to Deed of Lease with Comstock Reston 
Station Holdings, LC Regarding Further Development at the Wiehle-Reston East 
Metrorail Station (Hunter Mill District)

ISSUE:
Public Hearing on an amendment (Amendment) to the existing Deed of Lease (Lease) 
between the Board of Supervisors (Board), as landlord and Comstock Reston Station 
Holdings LC (Comstock), as tenant regarding Fairfax County Tax Map 17-4 ((1)) 17A 
(the Site).  The Amendment would revise the process for establishing additional rent 
payments if additional density is approved for the Site before June 1, 2019. Comstock is 
currently proposing additional density for the Site as part of pending development 
applications (Attachment 1).

RECOMMENDATION:
The County Executive recommends that the Board approve the proposed Amendment 
to the Lease.

TIMING:
On October 24, 2017, the Board authorized advertisement of a public hearing to 
consider the Amendment to the lease to take place on December 5, 2017, at 4:00 p.m.

BACKGROUND:
On June 1, 2009, the Board approved a Comprehensive Agreement with Comstock
(together with its affiliates).  The agreement provided for Comstock to construct an 
underground County-owned garage that serves the adjacent Wiehle-Reston East 
Metrorail station. The Comprehensive Agreement also encompassed a 99-year ground 
lease that leases the rest of the Site (other than the County-owned garage) to Comstock 
for private development (currently marketed as Reston Station). The parking garage 
began operations on July 26, 2014.

The Lease, by its terms, may be split or “severed” into multiple leases.  This flexibility 
exists to facilitate development of private buildings.  Two buildings have been 
constructed onsite to date; each of these buildings has been severed off into its own 
lease with a distinct Comstock-affiliated tenant entity, and the remainder of the premises 
is subject to the original lease with Comstock.  The Amendment applies only to the 
original Lease with Comstock.  

810



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

In general terms, Comstock currently pays an annual base rent of $1,933,430 per year 
until July 2020 or construction of 25,000 square feet of residential, office, retail, or hotel 
space within a third building, whichever occurs first. At such time, the aggregate annual 
base rent will increase to $2,900,000 until July 2035, at which point the base rent will be 
reset at 8% of the market value of the premises. The full $2,900,000 base rent 
translates to a valuation of $36,250,000 until 2035, which equates to a base rent of 
approximately $2.96 per square foot.

Under the original Lease, if Comstock obtains approval for increased development 
rights that increase the value of the site by 20% or more prior to 2035, an “intervening 
reset” is triggered. This reset adjusts the base rent to account for the increase in 
development rights.

Comstock has filed two applications to increase the density of the Site, 
PCA/CDPA/FDPA 2009-HM-019 and RZ/CDP/FDP 2016-HM-035. Comstock seeks an 
increase of 0.87 FAR in both applications. The County parcel is currently approved for 
2.5 FAR and the applications currently seek a 3.37 FAR.  If this additional density is 
approved, both Comstock and staff agree that an “intervening reset” would be triggered.

In advance of the Board’s decision on these land use cases, staff has been negotiating 
with Comstock on a material amendment to the current Lease (Amendment) to revise 
the process for addressing this additional density solely with respect to the two 
applications currently under review. The Amendment would provide for the following:

∑ Establish the overall amount of increase in base rent at $3.50 per square foot of
any approved density for the Site resulting from approval of the current PCA and 
RZ applications, so long as such approval occurs before June 1, 2019.

∑ Increase the base rent in three phases: 33% in each of June 28, 2025, 2027, and 
2030.  If Comstock received a RUP (or Non-RUP as may be applicable) for 
25,000 square feet of any building constructed before those dates, the applicable 
portion of the rent becomes due at that time.

∑ Clarify the process for determining market value upon future rent resets, starting 
in 2035.  Specifically, for any building that contains both density generated by the 
Site as well as density moved onto the Site from a separate Comstock-owned 
parcel, the County and Comstock will calculate the percentage of the building 
that is County density, and the market value of the leasehold will be that
percentage of the market value of the entire building.

∑ Provide that the County and Comstock intend to explore the possibility of selling 
(or otherwise modifying the ownership structure of) an approximately one-acre
portion of the Site located north of Reston Station Boulevard.  The Board would 
remain free to cease these discussions at any time, and any agreement to sell 

811



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

(or otherwise modify ownership of) the portion would require subsequent Board
review and approval.

The Amendment is based upon input from the County’s real estate advisors review of 
current market conditions, preliminary appraisals, and tax assessment data. The 
additional annual rental amount is based upon a valuation of the additional density of 
$43.75 per square foot, which equates to an additional rental amount of $3.50 per 
square foot ($43.75 x 8% = $3.50).

FISCAL IMPACT:
The Amendment does not impact the base rent under the current Lease, which is 
approximately $1.9 million per year and will increase to $2.9 million by no later than July 
2020.  The fiscal impact of the Amendment will depend on the amount, if any, of 
additional density that the Board may approve in the above-referenced land use 
applications.  If the Board were to approve an additional 0.87 FAR for both applications, 
then the Amendment would increase the total aggregate base rent payments to 
approximately $4.1 million per year by no later than 2030, which represents an increase 
of approximately $1.2 million per year above the current base rent.  Base rents under 
the Amendment will be used to offset the required debt service on the bonds issued to 
finance construction of the Wiehle-Reston East parking garage. County receipt of 
ground rents are reflected in Fund 40125, Metrorail Parking System Pledged Revenues.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment 1 – County Parcel Depicting the Proposed Development Applications
Attachment 2 – Proposed Amendment to the Deed of Lease with Comstock

STAFF:
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive
Joe LaHait, Debt Coordinator, Department of Management and Budget
Scott Sizer, P3/Joint-Venture Policy Coordinator, Office of the County Executive

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
Cynthia Bailey, Deputy County Attorney, Office of the County Attorney
Ryan Wolf, Assistant County Attorney, Office of the County Attorney

812



Sunset Hills Rd

Reston Station Blvd

Wi
eh

le
Rd

Me
tro

Ce
nte

r D
r

Bldg: 6

Bldg 1Bldg 2
Bldg 3

Bldg 4
Bldg 5

Reston Station Development Applications

County_Parcel
Veatch Property (RZ 2010-HM-008)
Reston Station Promenade (RZ 2016-HM-035)
Reston Station (PCA 2009-HM-019)

ATTACHMENT 1

813



ATTACHMENT 2 
 

  US_ACTIVE-136638448.5 

SIXTH AMENDMENT TO DEED OF LEASE 

THIS SIXTH AMENDMENT TO DEED OF LEASE (this “Sixth Amendment”) is made 
as of the ____ day of ____________, 2017 (“Effective Date”), by and between BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA, a body corporate and politic, in its 
proprietary capacity as the owner of certain land in Fairfax County, Virginia and not in its 
governmental or regulatory capacity (“Landlord”), having an office at 12000 Government Center 
Parkway, Fairfax, Virginia 22035 and COMSTOCK RESTON STATION HOLDINGS, LC, a 
Virginia limited liability company (“Tenant”), having an office at 1886 Metro Center Drive, 
Suite 400, Reston, Virginia 20190.  

RECITALS 

A. Landlord and Tenant entered into that certain Deed of Lease dated as of June 1, 
2009 (“Original Lease”), pursuant to which Landlord leased to Tenant and Tenant leased from 
Landlord certain premises described therein (“Original Premises”) in Fairfax County, Virginia. 

 B. The Original Lease was amended by the First Amendment to Deed of Lease dated 
May 31, 2011; the Second Amendment to Deed of Lease dated January 28, 2014; the Third 
Amendment to Deed of Lease dated July 1, 2014; the certain Fourth Amendment to Deed of 
Lease dated July 1, 2014; and the Fifth Amendment to Deed of Lease dated November 28, 2016 
(the Original Lease, as amended by the foregoing amendments being, the “Existing Lease”). 

C. Tenant intends to seek governmental approvals to, among other things, obtain 
increased development rights above those authorized in the initial Rezoning Approval.  

D.  Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Existing Lease in connection with 
Tenant’s current efforts to obtain increased development rights.    

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the following mutual covenants and 
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the parties agree to amend the Existing Lease, as follows: 

1. Defined Terms; Incorporation of Recitals.  Any capitalized term used but not 
defined in this Sixth Amendment shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Existing 
Lease.  The foregoing recitals are hereby incorporated into this Sixth Amendment.  The exhibits 
referenced herein are incorporated into the Lease. 

2. Article 1 Definitions.  The following definitions are either new or replace existing 
definitions in the Existing Lease and, if replacing prior definitions, are inserted in lieu of the 
prior definition, which are hereby deleted:  

“2017 Rezoning” shall have the meaning provided in Section 3.01(d)(i)(A). 

“2017 Rezoning Approval” shall have the meaning provided in Section 3.01(d)(i)(A). 

“2017 Rezoning Deadline” shall have the meaning provided in Section 3.01(d)(i)(A). 

814



2 

“Additional Rezoning Amendment” shall have the meaning provided in Section 
3.01(d)(ii). 

“Bonus Density” shall mean additional development rights in excess of the Effective 
F.A.R. which may be used in development of the Premises pursuant to the Original 
Rezoning or a 2017 Rezoning but which is not Offsite Floor Area. 

“Building 3” shall mean the Building constructed in Phase 3. 

“Building 4” shall mean the next Building to be constructed after Building 3.   

“Building 5” shall mean the next Building to be constructed after Building 4. 

“Building 6” shall mean the next Building to be constructed after Building 5. 

“Contributing Owner” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8 of this Sixth 
Amendment. 

“County Floor Area” shall mean Existing Floor Area and Upzone Floor Area. 

“County Value Percentage” shall have meaning set forth in Section 5(d) of this Sixth 
Amendment. 

“Effective F.A.R.” shall mean the F.A.R. for the entire Plaza Rezoning or Promenade 
Rezoning (i.e., across all parcels in such rezoning), as applicable. 

“Existing Floor Area” shall mean the Floor Area (excluding Bonus Density) generated by 
the Original Premises as approved in the Original Rezoning, being 979,096 square feet of 
Floor Area as shown on CDP/FDP 2009-HM-019. 

“First Upzone Rent Period” shall mean the period starting on the date of any 2017 
Rezoning Approval and ending on the earlier of (a) issuance of one or more Certificates 
of Occupancy (i.e., for beneficial occupancy, and not merely base building) totaling at 
least 25,000 square feet of Floor Area for Building 4, and (b) 11:59 p.m. on July 25, 
2024. 

“Floor Area Chart” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5(c) of this Sixth 
Amendment.  

“Lease” shall mean the Existing Lease, as amended by this Sixth Amendment, including 
all exhibits, schedules and attachments to this Sixth Amendment and any and all future 
amendments, modifications and supplements to the Existing Lease. 

“Original Rezoning” shall mean the Rezoning Approval as contemplated in the Original 
Lease, being RZ 2009-HM-019-02 CDP/FDP 2009-HM-019, approved May 25, 2010, as 
thereafter interpreted from time to time. 

815



3 

“Offsite Floor Area” shall mean the Floor Area generated by a parcel other than the 
Original Premises (i.e., a parcel owned by a person other than Landlord), which may be 
transferred or otherwise allocated from such parcel only with consent of a Contributing 
Owner for use in development and construction of a Building on the Plaza Site or 
Promenade Site in accordance with the Lease and, as applicable, the Original Rezoning 
or the applicable 2017 Rezoning. 

“PAA” shall mean that certain Proffer Allocation Agreement, dated as of December 15, 
2010, originally between Landlord, Tenant and 11465 SH I, LC, as amended and 
modified through the Effective Date. 

“Plaza Site” shall have the meaning provided in Section 3.01(d)(i)(A). 

“Plaza Rezoning” shall have the meaning provided in Section 3.01(d)(i)(A). 

“Promenade Rezoning” shall have the meaning provided in Section 3.01(d)(i)(A). 

“Promenade Site” shall have the meaning provided in Section 3.01(d)(i)(A). 

“REA” shall mean that certain Reciprocal Easement Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2014, 
originally between Landlord, Tenant and Reston Station Owners Association, LC, as 
amended and modified through the Effective Date.   

“Second Upzone Rent Period” shall mean the period starting on the end of the First 
Upzone Rent Period and ending on the earlier of (a) the issuance of one or more 
Certificates of Occupancy (i.e., for beneficial occupancy, and not merely base building) 
totaling at least 25,000 square feet of Floor Area for Building 5, or (b) 11:59 p.m. on July 
25, 2027. 

“Third Upzone Rent Period” shall mean the period starting on the end of the Second 
Upzone Rent Period and ending on the earlier of (a) the issuance of one or more 
Certificates of Occupancy (i.e., for beneficial occupancy, and not merely base building) 
totaling at least 25,000 square feet of Floor Area for Building 6, or (b) 11:59 p.m. on July 
25, 2030. 

“Upzone Rent” shall have the meaning provided in Section 3.01(d)(i)(B). 

“Upzone Floor Area” shall mean the Floor Area (excluding Bonus Density) generated by 
the Plaza Site and the Promenade Site, as applicable, as may be approved in the 
respective 2017 Rezoning and in excess of the Existing Floor Area, calculated as follows: 

- For the Plaza Rezoning, Upzone Floor Area shall be determined by 
multiplying (a) 332,563.18 square feet (being the land area of the Plaza Site) 
by (b) the difference between the Effective F.A.R. obtained in the Plaza 
Rezoning and 2.5. 

- For the Promenade Rezoning, Upzone Floor Area shall be determined by 
multiplying (a) 59,076.07 square feet (being the land area of the Promenade 

816



4 

Site) by (b) the difference between the Effective F.A.R. obtained in the 
Promenade Rezoning and 2.5. 

3. Additional Density. Section 3.01(d) of the Existing Lease shall be amended and 
restated as follows:   

“(i)   

(A) Tenant, together with other applicants, has filed two land use applications 
with the applicable Governmental Authorities.  Each application includes a portion of the 
Original Premises: (I) PCA 2009-HM-019-02 CDPA/ FDPA 2009-HM-019 (the “Plaza 
Rezoning”), which includes a 7.6346 acre portion of the Original Premises generally to the south 
of Reston Station Boulevard (the “Plaza Site”), and (II) RZ/FDP 2016-HM-035 PCA 2009-HM-
019 (the “Promenade Rezoning”), which includes a 1.3562 acre portion of the Original Premises 
generally to the north of Reston Station Boulevard (the “Promenade Site”).  Each of the Plaza 
Rezoning and the Promenade Rezoning are referred to as a “2017 Rezoning.”  If all necessary 
Governmental Authorities approve, beyond any applicable appeal period, a 2017 Rezoning (a 
“2017 Rezoning Approval”) by June 1, 2019, as such date shall be extended (x) during the 
running of the appeal period and the pendency of any appeal or (y) for such additional time as 
reasonably requested by Tenant if Tenant continues to diligently pursue a 2017 Rezoning subject 
to the approval of Landlord which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld (the “2017 
Rezoning Deadline”), then Base Rent shall increase in accordance with the terms of Section 
3.01(d)(i)(B).  Section 3.01(d)(i) shall not apply to any 2017 Rezoning for which Tenant does not 
obtain a 2017 Rezoning Approval by the 2017 Rezoning Deadline.    

(B) Base Rent shall increase by a sum equal to $3.50 multiplied by the amount 
of the Upzone Floor Area (all such additional Base Rent, the “Upzone Rent”), which shall be due 
in accordance with the Lease, subject to the following: 

(I) During the First Upzone Rent Period, Tenant shall not owe any Upzone 
Rent; provided, however, that if, during the First Upzone Rent Period, 
Building 3 is constructed using any Upzone Floor Area, then, upon the 
issuance of one or more Certificates of Occupancy (i.e., for beneficial 
occupancy, and not merely base building) totaling at least 25,000 square 
feet of Floor Area in Building 3, Tenant shall pay $3.50 per square foot of 
Upzone Floor Area in Building 3. 

(II) During the Second Upzone Rent Period, Tenant shall owe 33.33% of the 
Upzone Rent (inclusive of any portion payable for Building 3 in 
accordance with subsection (I) above).  For example, if the Upzone Floor 
Area is 340,725 GSF, then the total Upzone Rent would be $1,192,537.50 
and the amount due during the Second Upzone Rent Period would be 
$397,512.50. 

(III) During the Third Upzone Rent Period, Tenant shall owe 66.67% of the 
Upzone Rent.  

817



5 

(IV) After the end of the Third Upzone Rent Period, Tenant shall owe 100% of 
the Upzone Rent until the next Reset.   

(C) Within thirty days after a 2017 Rezoning Approval obtained before the 
2017 Rezoning Deadline, Landlord and Tenant shall confirm in writing (I) the Upzone Floor 
Area approved in the applicable 2017 Rezoning, (II) the corresponding total amount of Upzone 
Rent (including breakdowns for each Upzone Rent Period), in accordance with the formula set 
forth in Section 3.01(d)(i)(B) and (III) the updated Floor Area Chart.  If one 2017 Rezoning is so 
approved while the other remains pending, if the latter is subsequently approved before the 2017 
Rezoning Deadline, the foregoing written confirmation shall be promptly updated by the parties 
to reflect the additional Upzone Floor Area and Upzone Rent. 

 (ii)  If Tenant desires (x) to undertake an additional rezoning (after the 2017 
Rezonings) or other land use application that will result increased density for the Premises or (y) 
to continue to pursue one of the 2017 Rezoning after the 2017 Rezoning Deadline (any such 
action, an “Additional Rezoning”), then Tenant shall prepare and submit to Landlord a proposed 
development program for the Additional Rezoning.  Thereafter, Landlord and Tenant shall 
negotiate in good faith to establish the terms and conditions related to the Additional Rezoning 
(e.g., base rent for additional density, timing of commencement of payment of such additional 
base rent, etc.), which shall be memorialized in an amendment to this Lease (an “Additional 
Rezoning Amendment”) and which shall be executed prior to approval of the Additional 
Rezoning by the Governmental Authorities.  For purposes of clarity, zoning interpretation letters, 
proffer condition amendments and other land use approvals that do not increase the density of 
the Premises shall not be Additional Rezonings.” 

4. Reserved.     

5. Density Allocation. 

 (a) If the Plaza Rezoning will be approved before the Promenade Rezoning, then 
Tenant shall cause not less than 86,500 square feet (and up to 228,000 square feet) of Offsite 
Floor Area be allocated to the Promenade Site prior to or concurrently with the approval of the 
Plaza Rezoning (“Promenade Offsite Allocation”). 

 (b) Except as the parties may otherwise agree with respect to a Promenade Offsite 
Allocation, County Floor Area and Bonus Density shall be used prior to Offsite Floor Area. 
Therefore, as of a 2017 Rezoning Approval, all Existing Floor Area not already allocated to the 
RB4 Premises and the OB1 Premises shall be allocated to the Plaza Site, and for purposes of 
calculating Base Rent hereunder, density on the Plaza Site shall be allocated to Buildings, as they 
are constructed, in the following order: first, Existing Floor Area until all such density is used; 
second, Upzone Floor Area from the Plaza Rezoning until all such density is used; thereafter, as 
applicable, Offsite Floor Area.         

(c) Attached as Exhibit A is a form of the chart (“Floor Area Chart”) setting forth a 
County Floor Area figure and a total Floor Area figure for each of the RB4 Lease, the OB1 
Lease, and this Lease.  The Floor Area Chart shall be updated from time to time (which shall not 
constitute, nor require, an amendment of the Lease) in connection with the construction of a 

818



6 

Building, the severance of this Lease (including after the 2017 Rezoning Approval in accordance 
with Section 6 below), and the approval of any rezoning (including any 2017 Rezoning) that 
results in the creation of Upzone Floor Area or other new density.   

(d) Any Parcel Lease for Premises created by a severance occurring after the date of 
this Sixth Amendment shall state (I) County Floor Area and total Floor Area figures for the 
Building to be constructed on such Parcel Lease and (II) the ratio of the County Floor Area in the 
Building to be constructed on such Parcel Lease to the total Floor Area of such Building 
(“County Value Percentage”).  For example, if a Parcel Lease states that a Building has a total 
Floor Area of 200,000 square feet and a County Floor Area of 150,000 square feet, then the 
County Value Percentage for that Building shall be 75%.   

(e) Upon a Reset of a Parcel Lease created by a severance occurring after the date of 
this Sixth Amendment, each Appraiser shall determine the Market Value the Premises of such 
Parcel Lease by multiplying (I) the Market Value of a premises having development rights of the 
total Floor Area figure specified in Parcel Lease, as otherwise determined in accordance with the 
terms of the Lease, by (II) the County Value Percentage.     

6. Promenade Site. 

(a) Promptly following approval of the Promenade Rezoning, Landlord and Tenant 
shall sever this Lease subject to and in accordance with Section 36.03, by executing an 
amendment hereto and executing a Parcel Lease for the Promenade Site including to allocate 
density in accordance with Section 5 above; provided, that the foregoing shall not prevent Tenant 
from electing to sever the Lease sooner. 

(b) Promptly following approval of the Promenade Rezoning, Landlord and Tenant 
shall use commercially reasonable efforts to execute, along with the owner(s) of the other parcels 
subject to the Promenade Rezoning, appropriate proffer allocation and reciprocal easement 
agreements to provide for a reasonable allocation of proffers made in the Promenade Rezoning 
and the reasonable development of the Promenade Site. 

(c) Promptly following approval of the Plaza Rezoning, Landlord and Tenant shall 
use commercially reasonable efforts to amend the REA and PAA to remove the Promenade Site 
and, as applicable, to allocate the proffers under the Plaza Rezoning among Landlord, Tenant 
and the other parties thereto. 

7. Development of Promenade Site.   

(a) The parties acknowledge that development of the Building upon the Promenade 
Site of the size contemplated in the Promenade Rezoning may require use of significant amount 
of Offsite Floor Area.  Landlord shall discuss the possibility of the sale to Tenant (or an Affiliate 
of Tenant) of all or a portion of the Promenade Site (e.g., fee simple sale, air rights, 
condominium) in connection with Promenade Rezoning or upon Tenant’s written request; 
provided, however, that Landlord may elect to cease such discussions at its sole discretion at any 
point.  

819



7 

(b) Upon Tenant’s written request following approval of the Promenade Rezoning, 
Landlord shall execute a deed of boundary line adjustment or similar instrument, on terms 
reasonably acceptable to Landlord and Tenant, to modify the Promenade Site to accommodate 
the footprint of the building to be located thereon (as shown on the approved FDP of the 
Promenade Rezoning), to provide any required access or setbacks and otherwise to accommodate 
development and construction.  Any boundary line adjustment made hereunder shall not result in 
a net reduction of the total land area of the Promenade Site.  Any net increase in the total land 
area of the Promenade Site as a result of a boundary line adjustment shall not include transfer of 
development rights to Landlord or the Promenade Site; Landlord and Tenant agree that the 
grantor of any additional land will reserve and retain the rights to any density existing, or that 
may be generated thereafter, by the additional land.  Use of Offsite Floor Area upon the 
Promenade Site shall be documented in accordance with this Sixth Amendment. 

(c) Upzone Floor Area approved in the Promenade Rezoning shall be used only for 
development of the Promenade Site, and may not be used in the development of any other parcel.  
The proffer allocation agreement referenced in Section 6(c) of this Sixth Amendment will 
contain a similar requirement.  

 (d) If Promenade Rezoning is not approved and Tenant elects to develop a Building 
on the Promenade Site, then the Offsite Floor Area allocated in the Promenade Offsite Allocation 
may be utilized notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary, which shall be 
memorialized in the Parcel Lease for the Promenade Site.   

8. Offsite Floor Area.  Before the development and construction of any Building 
using Offsite Floor Area, Tenant and the owner of the parcel contributing the Offsite Floor Area 
(“Contributing Owner”) shall confirm in recordable writing the number of square feet of Offsite 
Floor Area being used in the Building which shall also be acknowledged by Landlord.    
Landlord and Tenant agree that use of Offsite Floor Area does not change the Base Rent 
obligation for the Premises (i.e., no rent shall be due to Landlord with respect to the Offsite Floor 
Area, subject to the methodology set forth in Section 5(d) above) and that following expiration or 
termination of the Parcel Lease (i) neither Tenant nor the Contributing Owner shall have any 
rights in the Offsite Floor Area used in such Building, except as the parties may otherwise 
expressly provide in a Parcel Lease with respect to the Promenade Site (neither party being under 
any obligation to so otherwise agree), and (ii) Landlord will not owe compensation to Tenant, the 
Contributing Owner, or any other person or entity for the Offsite Floor Area following expiration 
or termination of the Parcel Lease.  

9. Ratification.  Landlord and Tenant hereby ratify and confirm that the terms of the 
Lease shall remain in full force and effect, except as amended by this Sixth Amendment.  To the 
extent of any conflict between the terms of the Existing Lease and the terms of this Sixth 
Amendment, the terms of this Sixth Amendment shall control. 

10. Governing Law.  This Sixth Amendment and any dispute, controversy or 
proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement (whether in contract, tort, common or 
statutory law, equity or otherwise) will be governed by Virginia law, without regard to conflict 
of law principles of Virginia or of any other jurisdiction that would result in the application of 
laws of any jurisdiction other than those of Virginia.   

820



8 

11. Counterparts.  This Sixth Amendment may be executed and delivered in any 
number of counterparts, in the original or by electronic transmission, each of which so executed 
and delivered will be deemed to be an original and all of which will constitute one and the same 
instrument. 

[Signature Page Follows] 

821



 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed this Sixth 
Amendment as of the day and year first written above. 

     LANDLORD: 
 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
FAIRFAX COUNTY, VIRGINIA, a body 
corporate and politic 
 
 
By:       
Name:  ______________________ 
Title:    County Executive 

 
STATE OF VIRGINIA ) 
COUNTY OF FAIRFAX ), to wit 

The foregoing Amendment was acknowledged before me this ______day of 
________, 2017 by ______________________, as County Executive of Fairfax County, 
on behalf of the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia.    

__________________________________ 
Notary Public 

My Commission Expires:    
 
My Notary Registration No.:    

822



 

 

TENANT: 
 
COMSTOCK RESTON STATION  
HOLDINGS, LC, 
a Virginia limited liability company 
 
By: Comstock Management Services, LC 
Its: Manager 
 
 
 By:    ______ 
 Name:  Christopher Clemente 
 Title:     Manager 

 
STATE OF VIRGINIA ) 
 
COUNTY OF FAIRFAX ), to wit 
 

The foregoing Amendment was acknowledged before me this ______day of 
_______, 2017 by Christopher Clemente, as Manager of Comstock Management 
Services, LC, which is the manager of Comstock Reston Station Holdings, LC.    

__________________________________ 
Notary Public 

My Commission Expires:    
 
My Notary Registration No.:   
  

823



 

 

Exhibit A 
 

Floor Area Chart 
(as of September 2017) 

 

Lease 

Existing 
Floor 
Area 

Upzone 
Floor 
Area 

County 
Floor 
Area 

Offsite 
Floor 
Area* 

Bonus 
Density 
Floor  
Area 

Total  
Floor Area* 

County Value 
Percentage 

RB4 Lease 
 

448,749 0 448,749 0 57,088 505,837 88.71% 

OB1 Lease  350,550 0 350,550 0 20,803 371,353 94.40% 

Balance 
Lease  

179,797 0 179,797 0 TBD TBD TBD 

Total: 979,096 0 979,096 0 101,084 1,080,180 TBD 

* Under RZ 2009-HM-019, up to 228,000 sq.ft. of Offsite Floor Area may be transferred on to the Plaza Site by a 
Contributing Owner.  

 
 

824



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

4:30 p.m.

Public Hearing on PCA-C-696-11/ CDPA-C-696-02 (Houston Office Partners LP and 
DSVO Dulles LP, PCA and CDPA) to Amend the Proffers and the Conceptual 
Development Plan for RZ C-696, Previously Approved for a Commercial Development,
Located on Approximately 7.33 Acres of Land Zoned PDC (Dranesville District)

This property is located on the East and West side of and part of Dulles Station 
Boulevard approximately 245 feet South of its intersection with Sunrise Valley Drive.
Tax Map 15-4 ((5)) 8A (pt.), 16-1 ((25)) 1B1, 6B1 (pt.), 6D (pt.)

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:
On November 2, 2017, the Planning Commission voted 9-0 (Commissioner Hart was
absent from the public hearing) to recommend the following actions to the Board of 
Supervisors:

∑ Approval of PCA C-696-011 and CDPA C-696-02, subject to the execution of 
proffers consistent with those dated October 16, 2017;

∑ Approval of a modification to permit more than fifty (50) percent of the gross floor 
area to be devoted to dwellings as a secondary use;

∑ Approval of a modification of Paragraph 4 of Section 11-203 of the Zoning 
Ordinance (the required multi-family dwelling loading space) to that shown on the 
CDPA/FDPA; and (3 loading spaces provided for Building B, and 4 loading 
spaces provided for Building D); and

∑ Approval of a modification of Section 12-0508.3 of the Fairfax County Public 
Facilities Manual (PFM) to request a deviation to the tree preservation target.

In a related action, on November 2, 2017, the Planning Commission voted 9-0 
(Commissioner Hart was absent from the public hearing) to approve FDPA C-696-04, 
subject to the proposed FDPA condition dated October 18, 2017, and the Board of 
Supervisors approval of PCA C-696-011.

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Planning Commission Verbatim Excerpt and Staff Report available online at: 
http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpz/staffreports/bos-packages/

STAFF:
Tracy Strunk, Director, Zoning Evaluation Division, Department of Planning and Zoning (DPZ)
Casey Gresham, Planner, DPZ

825

http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpz/staffreports/bos-packages/


Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

4:30 p.m.

Public Hearing on the First Interim Agreement: Master Development Plan Between the 
Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia and The Alexander Company and Elm 
Street Development (Collectively, “Developer”) (Mount Vernon District)

ISSUE:
Public hearing on the First Interim Agreement between the County and Developer for 
the Master Development Plan for the Original Mount Vernon High School 
redevelopment. 

RECOMMENDATION:
The Acting County Executive recommends that the Board authorize the attached First 
Interim Agreement with the Developer for development of a Master Development Plan 
for the Original Mount Vernon High School redevelopment project.

TIMING:
On November 21, 2017, the Board authorized advertisement of a public hearing to be 
held on December 5, 2017, at 4:30 p.m., allowing for the comment period as required by 
the Code of Virginia and to maintain the project schedule for start of the master plan 
work in early 2018.  The Board’s decision will be given at its January 23, 2018, meeting.

BACKGROUND:
The Fairfax County Board of Supervisors owns approximately 22.6 acres of property at 
the site of the Original Mount Vernon High School building at 8333 Richmond Highway, 
Alexandria, VA, in the Mount Vernon District.  The facility was vacated in 2016 at the 
conclusion of a long-term lease. The building was constructed in 1939, and planning 
efforts continue with focus on immediate occupancy and long-term redevelopment 
planning. The long-term planning and redevelopment will also consider the Fairfax 
County Park Authority property of approximately 17.8 acres at the location of the 
George Washington RECenter and Fairfax Water and right-of-way properties, totaling 
1.74 acres, all adjacent to the County property. 

On May 26, 2017, the Department of Procurement and Material Management 
advertised a Request for Proposals, seeking a qualified firm to enter into an agreement
to develop a Master Development Plan for the combined Original Mount Vernon High 
School and George Washington RECenter sites, totaling approximately 42 acres along 
Route 1 in the Mount Vernon District.

826



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

On June 30, 2017, the County received proposals from two offerors, both of which were 
determined to be responsive and were publicly posted under the Public-Private 
Education and Infrastructure Act notice requirements. Subsequent to review and 
recommendation by the Selection Advisory Committee, the County entered negotiations
with both offerors.  

Negotiations with each offeror concluded on October 23, 2017, with a recommendation 
to enter into the First Interim Agreement with the Developer for the development of a
Master Development Plan for the overall 42-acre site, including both the Original Mount
Vernon High School and the George Washington RECenter facilities.  The Master
Development Plan is Phase One of the overall redevelopment effort and will be followed 
by Phase Two for the Master Development Plan Implementation.   Staff will return to the 
Board at a future date for authorization of Phase Two work.  

FISCAL IMPACT:
The County will pay the Developer for the actual cost of the Master Development Plan 
up to $399,000. An additional County Contingency in the amount of $61,000 
(approximately 15% of the Master Development Plan cost), brings the total required 
funding to $460,000. Funding is available in Project 2G25-102-000, Original Mount 
Vernon High School redevelopment, in Fund 30010, General County Construction and 
Contributions. This project is included in the Adopted FY 2018 – FY 2022 Capital 
Improvement Program (with Future Fiscal Years to FY 2027).

ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:
Attachment A – First Interim Agreement:  Master Development Plan

STAFF:
Robert A. Stalzer, Deputy County Executive
Joseph Mondoro, Chief Financial Officer, Department of Management and Budget
Martha Reed, Capital Programs Coordinator, Department of Management and Budget
Sara Baldwin, Acting Director, Fairfax County Park Authority
Cathy Muse, Director, Department of Procurement and Material Management
James Patteson, Director, Department of Public Works and Environmental Services 
(DPWES)
Ronald N. Kirkpatrick, Deputy Director, DPWES, Capital Facilities

ASSIGNED COUNSEL:
Cynthia Bailey, Deputy County Attorney, Office of the County Attorney
Susan Timoner, Assistant County Attorney, Office of the County Attorney

827



ATTACHMENT A

1

RFP2000002301 – ORIGINAL MOUNT VERNON HIGH SCHOOL REDEVELOPMENT

FIRST INTERIM AGREEMENT: MASTER DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

THIS FIRST INTERIM AGREEMENT: MASTER DEVELOPMENT PLAN (the “Agreement”) is 
dated as of the ___ day of January 2018 (the “Contract Date”), by and between The Alexander 
Company, Inc. and Elm Street Development, Inc. (jointly, the “Developer”), and the Board of 
Supervisors of Fairfax County, Virginia (the “County”). The Developer and the County may be 
referred to collectively in this Agreement as the “Parties.”

RECITALS

R-1. The Original Mount Vernon High School (“OMVHS” or the “Property”) is located at 8333 
Richmond Highway, Alexandria, Virginia and is comprised of the following Tax Map 
Parcels:  Tax Map No. 101-4 ((01)) Parcels 5A, 57, 58A, and 47A; Tax Map No. 101-4 
((07)) Parcels 1 and 39; Tax Map No. 101-4 ((8E)) Parcel 1; Tax Map No. 101-4 ((8A)) 
Parcel A1. The Property also includes approximately 1.4 acres of right-of-way. Attached 
Exhibit A shows the general location of the Property. Built in 1939, with additions in the 
1950s and renovations in the 1980s, the school is a classic example of Colonial Revival 
Architecture, and sits on the land that was once part of the estate of President George 
Washington. The facility has been nominated and is currently under review for inclusion 
in the National Register of Historic Places.

R-2 The building and the overall 42-acre site offer a unique opportunity to create a dynamic 
destination for residents of the entire region and harness innovative models of design, 
community building, social impact, and business ingenuity.

R-3 To that end, on May 26, 2017, the County issued a Request for Proposals (“RFP”), RFP 
No. 2000002301, to solicit a development partner pursuant to the Public-Private 
Education Facilities and Infrastructure Act of 2002, as amended (“PPEA”) to transform 
the OMVHS into an innovative campus that serves the surrounding communities.

R-4 The RFP included General Conditions and Instructions to Bidders, which General 
Conditions are attached as Exhibit B and are fully incorporated into this Agreement, as 
applicable.

R-5 The County has selected the Developer to perform the first phase (“Phase One”) of the 
OMVHS redevelopment by creation of a Master Development Plan (“Master 
Development Plan”) that will detail the vision for the Property such that its 
implementation can be economically and expeditiously achieved.

R-6 Following completion of Phase One, the Parties will endeavor to reach a mutual 
understanding upon subsequent agreements that will provide for the implementation of 
the OMVHS redevelopment effort (“Phase Two”) in a manner consistent with the Master 
Development Plan.

R-7 The Parties want to enter into this Agreement to outline each of their respective 
responsibilities with respect to Phase One.

828



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

2

Accordingly, in consideration of the mutual promises in this Agreement, and other 
valuable consideration, the receipt and legal sufficiency of which are acknowledged by 
the Parties, the Parties agree to the following:

ARTICLE I
THE SCOPE OF WORK

Section 1.01. The Recitals are fully incorporated into this Agreement. 

Section 1.02. The Developer will, within nine months from the Contract Date, provide the County 
with a Master Development Plan that will specifically detail an economically feasible plan to 
redevelop the Property in a form and with all substantive requirements as may be deemed 
necessary by County staff for presentation to the Board of Supervisors (the “Services”) in 
accordance with the schedule described in Article III.

Section 1.03. The Master Development Plan documents will include the following items:

A. Existing context land uses, plans, and accompanying densities/intensities, construction type, 
and square footage of buildings; 

B. Proposed land use and building uses with accompanying densities/intensities, construction 
type, and square footage, vehicular circulation and parking, open space and pedestrian 
circulation, and campus infrastructure;

C. Compliance with the County’s Comprehensive Plan, and all governing ordinances, codes, 
policies, and regulations;

D. Identification of zoning actions and regulatory process for the implementation of the 
development;

E. Development alternatives with priorities and principals, and scenarios based on community 
needs, master development plan goals, and market conditions;

F. Environmental impacts and proposed solutions to mitigate such impacts; 

G. A detailed development implementation schedule that may include a phasing plan with 
realistic and agreed upon timeframes for certain development components;

H. A long-term maintenance regime and property management plan;

I. Coordination and compliance with the land use, transportation grid, and design standards 
set forth in the Embark Richmond Highway Plan Amendment (2015-IV-MV1);

J. A description of possible proffered contributions including road and frontage improvements, 
stormwater management facilities, open space, affordable housing, infrastructure 
construction, and other public and community use/need facilities;

K. A detailed analysis of existing and proposed recreational amenities and open spaces as 
coordinated with the Fairfax County Park Authority’s Needs Assessment, including use or 
replacement options for the George Washington RECenter located on the Property;

829



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

3

L. A comprehensive internal pedestrian network that connects all proposed uses within the 
Property and is integrated with the future Route 1 widening project and the Embark Bus 
Rapid Transit Station;

M. A detailed description of how to address the issues and challenges outlined by the following
assessments, studies, and evaluations previously prepared:

1. The ADA Compliance Assessment Report; 
2. The Facility Condition Assessment; 
3. The Hazardous Material Feasibility Study; 
4. The Historic Structure Report;
5. One Fairfax principals, including efforts to target economic opportunities to 

underserved segments of the Fairfax County community;
6. The Fairfax County Economic Success Strategic Plan; and
7. The OMVHS Re-utilization Task Force Report.

N. A detailed cost model showing the analysis of the detailed costs, and financial feasibility
necessary to effectuate the Master Development Plan, including options that will allow 
flexibility to adapt to future needs. The Master Development Plan will address the 
relationship between type and quality of development versus development cost, and will 
outline economical design elements that include innovative approaches to aesthetics, 
construction methods and materials, sustainable design, life cycle, and maintenance, among 
others. Alternative funding sources should also be evaluated for the development, such as 
federal and state tax credits and possible grants;

O. The Master Development Plan will ensure that the on-site gymnasium services will be fully 
available throughout the duration of the Property’s development, subject to temporary 
closure or relocation for reasonable periods of time (with coordination and approval by the 
County) when necessary for code-required improvements, maintenance, or repairs;

P. At the County´s request, the Developer will provide alternative development concepts and 
land use scenarios with associated costs and development priorities.

Section 1.04. Development of the Master Development Plan must include engagement and 
formal input from the various County and community stakeholders, including, but not limited to, 
Fairfax County Neighborhood and Community Services, the Fairfax County Park Authority, the 
Fairfax County Department of Public Works and Environmental Services, the Fairfax County 
Department of Transportation, the Fairfax County Department of Planning and Zoning, 
members of the Fairfax County Board of Supervisors, the OMVHS Steering Committee, and 
other agencies and community organizations as the County may identify (“Stakeholders”).

Section 1.05. The Developer will conduct at least three formal community meetings at intervals 
mutually agreed upon that are sufficiently advertised among the Stakeholders.

Section 1.06. The Developer will provide bi-weekly progress plans and reports and written 
updates (“Updates”), which the County may disseminate to the Stakeholders during the 
development of the Master Development Plan. 

830



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

4

Section 1.07. The Developer may be required to present the Draft Master Development Plan
and the Final Master Development Plan (as they are more fully described in Article II below) to 
designated community and/or County officials.

ARTICLE II 
DELIVERABLES

Section 2.01. Preparation of the Master Development Plan will consist of three phases, 
reflecting in greater detail for each phase the items set forth in Section 1.03: 

A. Preliminary Master Development Plan, to include: cost models, draft narratives, including 
an executive summary, preliminary site plan with a minimum of three proposed land use 
layouts and densities/intensities, and proposed vehicular and pedestrian connections, 
parking and open space areas throughout the public and private facilities and site. The 
Preliminary Master Development Plan will identify any actions required for 
implementation of proposed land uses and densities/intensities. With regard to the 
alternative proposed concepts to be included in the Preliminary Master Development 
Plan, Developer will provide development concept options offering different 
scenarios/types/mixes at concept level with sufficient information to provide for a cost 
model to aid in the evaluation and selection of the final option.

B. Draft Master Development Plan, to include:

1. Site Plan, describing proposed land uses, building types/uses, and 
densities/intensities, and proposed vehicular and pedestrian connections, parking 
and open space areas throughout the public and private facilities and site;

2. Executive Summary and Narratives explaining project vision;
3. Additional drawings/schematic plans and three dimensional models/views, as 

appropriate, to clearly demonstrate the proposed Master Development Plan 
elements, goals, and phasing;

4. Master Development Plan implementation plan and schedule; and
5. Phasing plan as may be applicable.

C. Final Master Development Plan, to be prepared consistent with all matters described in 
Section 1.03 and Section 2.01(B), in form and substance satisfactory to the County, 
including without limitation:

1. Final Site Plan;
2. Final Cost Model to include total Property development costs, hard costs by 

product type (total and by square foot), soft costs, and development fees;
3. Sources and Uses of Funds Table;
4. Detailed Development & Operating Pro Forma;
5. Structure of Public-Private Partnership;
6. Narrative describing financial plan and party obligations; and
7. Maintenance and Operations Regime and Property Management Plan.

Section 2.02. The Master Development Plan will be in both PDF format and in native source 
format, including Microsoft Work, Microsoft Project, PowerPoint, etc.

831



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

5

Section 2.03. The County retains all ownership rights to the Master Development Plan, without 
limitation, including any supporting data and the Developer work product (collectively all of the 
foregoing are defined as the “Work Product”). The County has the right to provide the Master 
Development Plan together with all other Work Product to another developer or developers for 
the development of the Property or other related projects. The Developer will assign to the 
County all Work Product in the form acceptable to the County (the “Assignment”). In addition, 
the Developer will provide the County with a consent to the Assignment from all consultants of 
the Developer and other parties who may have an interest in the Work Product to assure the 
County of the legal right to use all of the Work Product without limitation.

ARTICLE III 
PURCHASE PRICE AND PAYMENT SCHEDULE

Section 3.01. This Agreement is for a total amount of $399,000 (“Contract Price”), which is 
made up of the following, as set forth in Exhibit C: $340,000 (“Base Contract Amount”); $25,000
(“Reimbursable Expenses”); and $34,000 (“Contingency”). Payment of the Contract Price will be 
according to Section 3.02, and is contingent on the Developer’s timely delivery of all 
deliverables as described in this Agreement, reasonably satisfactory to the County, in 
accordance with the following schedule:

A. Initial 30-Day Period. Within 30 days after the Contract Date, the Developer will provide a 
reasonable schedule to meet the development milestones showing start and end dates for 
each task and any critical path milestones and deliverables.

B. Initial Six-Month Period. Within six months after the Contract Date, during which time 
Developer will conduct all information gathering, Stakeholder outreach, preparation of a 
concept master plan and financial feasibility analysis, the Developer will provide the 
County with the all of the initial deliverables as set forth in Section 2.01(A) and (B) (“Initial 
Deliverables”).

C. Final Two-Month Period. Within two months after the County reasonably determines that it 
has received all of the Initial Deliverables, but not later than eight months after the 
Contract Date, the Developer will update and refine the Initial Deliverables as described in 
Section 2.01(C) in a final draft format sufficient to enable County staff to commence 
preparation of a formal submission and recommendation to the Board of Supervisors of 
the Master Development Plan (“Draft Master Development Plan”).

D. Final 30-Day Period. Within 30 days after the completion of all tasks for the Final Two-
Month Period described in Section 3.01(C), the Developer will work with the County to 
finalize work on the Master Development Plan, including the Developer working with 
County staff on a Board item to be presented to the Board of Supervisors. The Developer 
will participate, if requested, in the presentation to the Board of Supervisors when the 
Board considers staff recommendations with regard to the Master Development Plan
(“Final Master Development Plan”).

Section 3.02. Payment of the Base Contract Amount will be in installments according to the 
schedule below. In addition, the County will reimburse Developer for all reasonable and 
necessary expenses directly related to the Services up to the Reimbursable Expenses. An 
invoice for such expenditures, with appropriate backup, will be provided by Developer to the 
County upon completion of each milestone as described in this Article III. Payment from the 

832



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

6

Contingency will be available only with justification for need and with the County’s prior written 
authorization.

A. Within twenty-five business days of completion of the Initial Six-Month Schedule described 
in Section 3.01(B), as reasonably determined by the County, the County will pay up to 
50% of the Base Contract Amount, based upon work performed by the Developer with 
supporting invoices and other documentation of costs and payments.

B. Within twenty-five business days of completion of the Final Two-Month Schedule as 
described in Section 3.01(C), as reasonably determined by the County, the County will pay 
up to an additional 25% of the Base Contract Amount, based upon work performed by the 
Developer with supporting invoices and other documentation of costs and payments.

C. Within twenty-five days after the County accepts the Master Development Plan following 
consideration by the Board of Supervisors, the County will pay up to the remaining 
balance of the Contract Price, based upon work performed by the Developer with 
supporting invoices and other documentation of costs and payments. 

D. If, at any point during the duration of this Agreement, County staff chooses not to present 
the Master Development Plan to the Board of Supervisors, or the County elects not to 
accept the Master Development Plan after a presentation to the Board of Supervisors, the 
County will pay to the Developer an equitable portion of the Base Contract Amount, based 
upon work performed by the Developer with supporting invoices and other documentation 
of costs and payments. 

ARTICLE IV
STAFFING

Section 4.01. The Developer has assigned the following personnel/consultants to perform the 
Services (the “Consultants”):  

A. Alexander Company Co-Developer

B. Elm Street Development Co-Developer

C. Walter L. Phillips Civil Engineer

D. Gorove/Slade Traffic Engineer

E. Wetland Studies & Solutions
Environmental Studies

F. Geo-Technology Associates
Geotechnical Engineer

G. McGuire Woods LLP Land Use 
Counsel

H. Heise Jorgenson & Stefanelli P.A.
Title Attorney

I. LandDesign Land Planning

833



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

7

J. Smart Site Value Engineering

834



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

8

Section 4.02. The Developer acknowledges that the County selected the Developer based, in 
critical part, on the qualifications of the Consultants. Accordingly, absent circumstances beyond 
the Developer’s control such as death, illness, or turn-over, these Consultants will not be 
changed or substituted during the term of the Agreement without the County’s consent. If any of 
the Consultants are unable or unwilling to meet the requirements of 7.02(A) or 7.02(B), which 
will be determined within 30 days of the Contract Date, the County may either amend the 
insurance requirements for that Consultant or allow the Developer, with the County’s consent, to 
change or make a substitution for such Consultants. The Developer’s competing business 
priorities shall not be a basis for a change or substitution of these Consultants. Any substitutions 
of key personnel of the Developer or the Consultants must be approved in advance by the 
County.

ARTICLE V
TERMINATION

Section 5.01. If the County terminates this Agreement for either convenience or cause as set 
forth under Paragraph 31 of the General Conditions attached as Exhibit B, the County reserves 
the right to work with any other developer who responded to RFP No. 2000002301. 

ARTICLE VI
PHASE TWO

Section 6.01. After the Developer’s delivery of the Master Development Plan and the County 
acceptance of the Master Development Plan, the County intends to negotiate in good faith with 
the Developer to reach subsequent agreements regarding the actual development of the 
Property. The County, however, is under no obligation to continue to Phase Two with the 
Developer. It is anticipated that Phase Two will involve at least two separate agreements. The 
first agreement, which is anticipated to be titled the Second Interim Agreement: Land 
Entitlements (“Second Interim Agreement”), will cover the portion of Phase Two where rezoning 
and other land entitlements will be pursued jointly by the County and the Developer and will 
detail the sharing of responsibility and costs for such land entitlements. While land entitlements 
are pursued under the terms of the Second Interim Agreement, the Parties will negotiate in good 
faith to reach a comprehensive agreement for the actual physical implementation of the 
redevelopment. Should the Parties be unable to agree on the terms of a comprehensive 
agreement, the County is under no obligation to continue Phase Two with the Developer. The 
Second Interim Agreement and the comprehensive agreement (which may consist of one or 
more contracts) will be presented to the Board of Supervisors for approval in accordance with 
the provisions of the PPEA.

Section 6.02. If the County, in its sole discretion, elects to move forward with the Developer on 
Phase Two, in whole or in part, County staff and the Developer will work collaboratively 
following the County´s acceptance of the Master Development Plan to reach agreement on the 
terms of the Second Interim Agreement within 90 days of such acceptance, with the expectation 
that the Second Interim Agreement will be presented to the Board of Supervisors for its 
consideration and approval in accordance with the provisions of the PPEA.

Section 6.03. If the Developer fails to reach agreement with County staff on the terms of the 
Second Interim Agreement within 90 days of the County´s acceptance of the Master 
Development Plan, the County will have the right to offer one or more developers the right to 

835



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

9

implement Phase Two, or in its sole discretion, it may extend the time in which to reach 
agreement on the Second Interim Agreement.

Section. 6.04. Nothing in this Agreement shall prohibit the County, in its sole discretion, from 
using or leasing the Property in any manner during any period before the implementation of 
Phase Two. If any such use, however, materially impacts the implementation of the Master 
Development Plan, the Parties will address any such impacts pursuant to their negotiation the 
Second Interim Agreement, or as applicable, a comprehensive development agreement.

ARTICLE VII
INSURANCE

Section 7.01. The Developer is responsible for its work and for all materials, tools, equipment, 
appliances, and property of any and all description used in connection with the project, whether 
owned by the Developer or by the County. The Developer and its Consultants assume all risks 
of direct and indirect damage or injury to any person or property wherever located, resulting 
from any action, omission, commission, or operation under this Agreement, or in connection in 
any way whatsoever with the contracted work.

Section 7.02. The Developer shall, during the continuance of all work under this Agreement 
provide the following:

A. Maintain statutory Worker's Compensation and Employer's Liability insurance in limits of 
not less than $100,000 to protect the Developer from any liability or damages for any 
injuries (including death and disability) to any and all of its employees, volunteers, or
Consultants, including any and all liability or damage which may arise by virtue of any 
statute or law in force within the Commonwealth of Virginia, or which may be hereinafter 
enacted.

B. Maintain Commercial General Liability insurance in the amount of $1,000,000 
per occurrence/aggregate, to protect the Developer, its Consultants, and the interest of 
the County, against any and all injuries to third parties, including bodily injury and 
personal injury, wherever located, resulting from any action or operation under this 
Agreement or in connection with contracted work. The General Liability insurance shall 
also include the Broad Form Property Damage endorsement, in addition to coverages for 
explosion, collapse, and underground hazards, where required.

C. Maintain owned, non-owned, and hired Automobile Liability insurance, in the 
amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence/aggregate, including property damage, covering all 
owned, non-owned, borrowed, leased, or rented vehicles operated by the Developer. In 
addition, all mobile equipment used by the Developer in connection with the contracted 
work will be insured under either a standard Automobile Liability policy, or a 
Comprehensive General Liability policy.

D. Maintain Professional Liability insurance in the amount of $1,000,000 per 
occurrence/aggregate to cover each individual professional staff.

E. Liability insurance may be arranged by General Liability and Automobile 
Liability policies for the full limits required, or by a combination of underlying Liability 

836



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

10

policies for lesser limits with the remaining limits provided by an Excess or Umbrella 
Liability policy.

F. Rating Requirements:

1. The Developer agrees to provide insurance issued by companies admitted within the 
Commonwealth of Virginia, with the Best's Key Rating of at least A:VI. 

2. European markets including those based in London, and the domestic surplus lines 
markets that operate on a non-admitted basis are exempt from this requirement 
provided that the Developer’s broker can provide financial data to establish that a 
market is equal to or exceeds the financial strengths associated with the A.M. Best's 
rating of A:VI or better.

G. Indemnification: See Article 63 of the General Conditions and Instructions to 
Bidders (Exhibit B).

H. The Developer will provide an original, signed Certificate of Insurance citing the 
contract number and such endorsements as prescribed herein, and shall have it filed with 
the County Purchasing Agent or Risk Manager before any work is started.

I. If the Developer delivers services from a County-leased facility, the Developer
is required to carry property insurance on all equipment, to include County-owned 
installed and maintained equipment used by the Developer while in their care, custody 
and control for use under this Agreement.

J. No change, cancellation, or non-renewal shall be made in any insurance 
coverage without a forty-five day written notice to the County Purchasing Agent or Risk 
Manager. The Developer shall furnish a new certificate prior to any change or 
cancellation date. The failure of the Developer to deliver a new and valid certificate will 
result in suspension of all payments until the new certificate is furnished.

K. Precaution shall be exercised at all times for the protection of persons 
(including employees) and property.

ARTICLE VIII
DELAYS AND SUSPENSIONS

Section 8.01.

A. The County may direct the Developer, in writing, to suspend, delay, or interrupt all or any 
part of the work of this Agreement for the period of time deemed appropriate for the 
convenience of the County. The County will extend the Developer’s time of completion by 
a period of time that in the discretion of the County is reasonably suited for completion of 
work. The County may further amend this Agreement by mutual agreement for any 
increase in the cost of performance of the Agreement (excluding profit) resulting solely 
from the delay or suspension of the Agreement. No adjustment shall be made under this 
provision for any delay or interruption resulting from any other cause, including the fault 
or negligence of the Developer or its Consultants.

837



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

11

B. If the County does not direct the Developer, in writing, to suspend, delay, or interrupt the 
Agreement, the Developer must give the County written notice if the County fails to 
provide data or services that are required for completion of this Agreement by the 
Developer. The County may extend the Developer’s time of completion by a period of 
time that in the discretion of the County is reasonably suited for completion of work. The 
County may further amend this Agreement by mutual agreement for any increase in the 
cost of performance of the Agreement (excluding profit) resulting solely from the delay or 
suspension of this Agreement. No adjustment shall be made under this provision for any 
delay or interruption resulting from any other cause, including the fault or negligence of 
the Developer or its Consultants.

ARTICLE IX
ACCESS TO AND INSPECTION OF WORK PRODUCT

Section 9.01. County designated staff will, at all times, have access to the Work Product being 
performed under this Agreement wherever it may be in progress or preparation.

ARTICLE X
PROJECT AUDITS

Section 10.01.

A. The Developer shall maintain books, records, and documents of all costs and data in 
support of the services provided to the County in accordance with the County standard 
audit requirements as set forth in the RFP.  The County or its authorized representative 
shall have the right to audit the books, records, and documents of the Developer under 
the following conditions:

1. If the Agreement is terminated for any reason in order to arrive at equitable 
termination costs;

2. In the event of a disagreement between the Developer and the County on the amount 
due the Developer under the terms of this Agreement;

3. To check or substantiate any amounts invoiced or paid which are required to reflect 
the costs of services, or the Developer's efficiency or effectiveness under this 
Agreement; and

4. If it becomes necessary to determine the County's rights and the Developer's 
obligations under the Agreement or to ascertain facts relative to any claim against the 
Developer that may result in a charge against the County.

B. These provisions for an audit shall give the County unlimited access during normal 
working hours to the Developer’s books and records under the conditions stated above.

C. Unless otherwise provided by applicable statute, the Developer, from the effective date of 
final payment or termination hereunder, shall preserve and make available to the County 
for a period of three (3) years thereafter, at all reasonable times at the office of the 
Developer but without direct charge to the County, all its books, records, documents, and 
other evidence bearing on the costs and expenses of the services relating to the work 
hereunder.

838



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

12

D. The County's right to audit and the preservation of records shall terminate at the end of 
three (3) years as stated herein. The Developer shall include this "Right of Audit and 
Preservation of Records" clause in all subcontracts or consulting agreements issued by it 
and it shall require same to be inserted by all lower tier subcontractors in their
subcontracts, if the lower tier subcontract amount is $10,000 or more, for any portion of 
the work.

E. If the Developer fails to include this clause in any such contract or lower tier contract, or 
otherwise fails to insure the County's rights hereunder, the Contractor shall be liable to 
the County for all reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees that the County may 
have to incur in order to obtain an audit or inspection of or the restoration of records 
which would have otherwise been available to the County from said persons. Such audit 
may be conducted by the County or its authorized representative. If the County is unable 
to audit the actual cost records as a result of the Developer’s failure to ensure the 
County’s rights to inspect cost records as set forth in this paragraph, then the County will 
be entitled to commercially reasonable  costs as reasonably estimated by the County.

ARTICLE XI
DISPUTE RESOLUTION

Section 11.01. 

A. Any dispute concerning a question of fact as a result this Agreement which is not disposed 
of by the mutual agreement of the Parties shall be decided by the County Purchasing 
Agent, who shall reduce his/her decision to writing and mail or otherwise forward a copy to 
the Developer within ninety (90) days. The decision of the County Purchasing Agent shall 
be final and conclusive unless the Developer appeals within six months of the date of the 
final written decision by instituting legal action as provided in the Code of Virginia. The 
Developer may not institute legal action, prior to receipt of the County Purchasing Agent’s 
decision on the claim, unless the County Purchasing Agent fails to render such decision 
within the time specified.

B. Contractual claims, whether for money or other relief, shall be submitted in 
writing no later than 60 days after final payment; however, written notice of the 
Developer’s intention to file such claim shall have been given at the time of the occurrence 
or beginning of the work upon which the claim is based. Pendency of claims shall not 
delay payment of amounts agreed due in the final payment.

ARTICLE XII
NOTICES

Section 12.01.

A. All notices, demands, or other communications between the Parties (“Notice”) must be in 
writing. Notices must be given by (i) personal delivery or (ii) a nationally-recognized, next-
day courier service, addressed as follows:

If to the County:

Fairfax County Department of Public Works and Environmental Services

839



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

13

Public Private Partnership Branch
12000 Government Center Parkway, Suite 449
Fairfax, Virginia 22035
Attn:  Katayoon Shaya, Chief, P3 Branch

With a copies to:

Fairfax County 
Office of the County Attorney
12000 Government Center Parkway, Suite 549
Fairfax, Virginia  22035-0064 
Attention: County Attorney

and:

Fairfax County Department of Procurement and Material Management
12000 Government Center Parkway, Suite 427
Fairfax, Virginia 22035-0064
Attention:  Director

If to Developer:

_____________________ 
_____________________ 
_____________________ 

With a copy to:

_____________________ 
_____________________ 
_____________________ 

B. A Notice given in accordance with this Agreement will be effective upon receipt or refusal 
by the party to which it is given.

C. For convenience, Notices may be sent via email; however, such email Notice will not be 
considered effective until the original Notice is received by the party to which it is given 
pursuant to one of the delivery methods described in subsection (A) above.

D. Either Party may change its Notice address from time to time by informing the other Party 
in writing of such new address.

ARTICLE XIII
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 13.01. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the attached Exhibits, all of 
which are incorporated by reference, is the entire agreement between the Parties. The terms of 

840



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

14

this Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument executed by the 
Parties.

Section 13.02. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or its application to any party or 
circumstances is determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or 
unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Agreement or the application of such 
provision to such person or circumstances, other than those as to which it is so determined 
invalid or unenforceable, will not be affected, and each provision of this Agreement will be valid 
and will be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law.

Section 13.03. Applicable Law. This Agreement and any dispute, controversy, or proceeding 
arising out of or relating to this Agreement (whether in contract, tort, common or statutory law, 
equity or otherwise) will be governed by Virginia law, without regard to conflict of law principles 
of Virginia or of any other jurisdiction that would result in the application of laws of any 
jurisdiction other than Virginia. 

Section 13.04. Venue. All claims and litigation arising out of or related to this Agreement must 
be brought and resolved in the courts of the Commonwealth of Virginia located in the County of 
Fairfax, Virginia, or U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, Alexandria Division.

Section 13.05. Assignability. The County may assign all of its rights and obligations under this 
Agreement without the written consent of the Developer; provided, however, that any assignee 
of the County will assume all of the obligations of the County under this Agreement. The 
Developer does not have the right to assign this Agreement.

Section 13.06. Captions; Interpretation. (a) The captions of this Agreement are for reference 
only and do not describe the intent of this Agreement or otherwise alter the terms of this 
Agreement. (b) When a reference is made in this Agreement to an Article, a Section, or an 
Exhibit, such reference is to an Article of, a Section of, or an Exhibit to this Agreement. (c) 
Whenever the words “include,” “includes,” or “including” are used in this Agreement, they will be 
deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation.”  (d) The definitions contained in this 
Agreement are applicable to the singular as well as to the plural forms of such terms and to the 
masculine, feminine, and non-genders of such terms. Whenever the context requires, any 
pronouns used in this Agreement include the corresponding masculine, feminine, or non-gender 
forms. 

Section 13.07. No Partnership. Nothing contained in this Agreement will be construed to create 
a partnership or joint venture between the Parties or their successors or permitted assigns.

Section 13.08. Time of Essence. Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of the 
obligations of the Parties under this Agreement.

Section 13.09. Counterparts and Distribution. This Agreement may be executed and delivered 
in any number of counterparts, in the original or by electronic transmission, each of which so 
executed and delivered will be deemed to be an original and all of which will constitute one and 
the same instrument.

Section 13.10. Waiver. No waiver of any breach of this Agreement will be deemed a waiver of 
any preceding or succeeding breach under this Agreement or any other agreement. No 

841



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

15

extension of time for the performance of any obligation or act will be deemed an extension of 
time for the performance of any other obligation or act.

Section 13.11. Business Days. If any date set forth in this Agreement for the performance of 
any obligations by the Parties or for the delivery of any instrument or notice falls on a Saturday, 
Sunday, Legal Holiday, or day in which Fairfax County governmental offices are closed, the 
compliance with such obligations or delivery will be deemed acceptable on the next business 
day following such Saturday, Sunday, Legal Holiday, or closing. The term “Legal Holiday” will 
mean any Fairfax County, Commonwealth of Virginia, or federal holiday on which post offices 
are closed in Virginia. 

Section 13.12. Contract Date. The Contract Date is the date on which this Agreement is 
executed by and delivered to the Parties, which date will be inserted at the top of the first page.

Section 13.13. Waiver of Jury Trial. The Parties each waive all rights to a trial by jury in any 
claim, action, proceeding or counterclaim arising out of or in any way connected with this 
Agreement.

Section 13.14. Safeguard of Information. Unless approved in writing by the County, the 
Developer may not sell or give to any individual or organization any information, reports, or 
other materials given to, prepared, or assembled by the Developer or its consultants under this 
Agreement.

Section 13.15.  Prohibition of Developer News Release. Unless approved in writing by the 
County, the Developer may not sell or give to any individual or organization any information, 
reports, or other materials given to, prepared or assembled by the Developer or its consultants 
under this Agreement or otherwise publicize Developer’s role and involvement with the 
Property. Any public announcement of the proposed project pursuant to the Master 
Development Plan must be fully coordinated with the County.

Section 13.16. Americans with Disabilities Act.

A. Fairfax County Government is fully committed to the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) 
which guarantees non-discrimination and equal access for persons with disabilities in 
employment, public accommodations, transportation, and all County programs, activities,
and services. Fairfax County government contractors, subcontractors, vendors, and 
suppliers are subject to this ADA policy. The Developer must make the same commitment 
and the Developer’s execution of this Agreement is an express acknowledgement of the 
Developer’s commitment and compliance with ADA.

B. Fairfax County is committed to a policy of nondiscrimination in all County programs, 
services, and activities and will provide reasonable accommodations upon request. 
Anyone requesting special accommodations should call the Department ADA 
representative at 703-324-3201 or TTY 1-800-828-1140. Please allow seven working days 
in advance of the event to make the necessary arrangements.

Section 13.17. Authorization to Conduct Business in the Commonwealth. In accordance with 
mandatory County policy, the Developer shall be authorized to transact business in the 
Commonwealth as a domestic or foreign business entity if so required by Title 13.1 or Title 50 of 
the Code of Virginia or as otherwise required by law. The Developer shall not allow its existence 

842



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

16

to lapse or its certificate of authority or registration to transact business in the Commonwealth, if 
so required under Title 13.1 or Title 50, to be revoked or cancelled at any time during the term of 
this Agreement. Fairfax County may void any contract with a business entity if the business 
entity fails to remain in compliance with the provisions of this Section.

Section 13.18. Drug Free Workplace. During the performance of this Agreement, the Developer
agrees to (i) provide a drug-free workplace for the Developer’s employees; (ii) post in 
conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, a statement 
notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, sale, distribution, dispensation, possession, 
or use of a controlled substance or marijuana is prohibited in the Developer’s workplace and 
specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violations of such prohibition; (iii) 
state in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the Developer
that the Developer maintains a drug-free workplace; and (iv) include the provisions of the 
foregoing clauses in every subcontract of over $10,000, so that the provisions will be binding 
upon each subcontractor or vendor. For the purposes of this Section, "drug-free workplace" 
means a site for the performance of work done in conjunction with a specific contract awarded 
to the Developer in accordance with this Section, the employees of whom are prohibited from 
engaging in the unlawful manufacture, sale, distribution, dispensation, possession or use of any 
controlled substance or marijuana during the performance of this Agreement.

Section 13.19. Immigration Reform and Control Act. The Developer agrees that it does not, and 
shall not during the performance of this Agreement in the Commonwealth, knowingly employ an 
unauthorized alien as defined in the Federal Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986.

Section 13.20. Survival. All representations, warranties, and indemnities contained in this 
Agreement or in any instrument, document, or agreement delivered pursuant to this Agreement 
will survive termination of this Agreement unless otherwise provided herein.

WITNESS THE FOLLOWING SIGNATURES AND SEALS:

DEVELOPER:

The Alexander Company, Inc.

By: ____________________________

Name: ____________________________

Title: ____________________________

843



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

17

DEVELOPER:

Elm Street Development, Inc.

By: ____________________________

Name: ____________________________

Title: ____________________________

THE COUNTY:

Fairfax County Board of Supervisors

By:  ___________________________________
Kirk W. Kincannon, Acting County Executive

844



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

A-1

Exhibit A- General Location Map

845



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-1

Exhibit B
Rev 8-2013 

COUNTY OF FAIRFAX
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

GENERAL CONDITIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS

(Vendor: The general rules and conditions which follow apply to all purchases and 
become a definite part of each formal solicitation and resulting contract award issued by 
the DEPARTMENT OF PURCHASING & SUPPLY MANAGEMENT, unless otherwise 
specified. Bidders or their authorized representatives are expected to inform themselves 
fully as to the conditions, requirements, and specifications before submitting bids; failure 
to do so will be at the bidder's own risk and relief cannot be secured on the plea of 
error.) 

Subject to all State and local laws, policies, resolutions, and regulations and all 
accepted rules, regulations and limitations imposed by legislation of the Federal 
Government, bids on all solicitations issued by the DEPARTMENT OF PURCHASING & 
SUPPLY MANAGEMENT will bind bidders to applicable conditions and requirements 
herein set forth unless otherwise specified in the solicitation. 

l. AUTHORITY-The Purchasing Agent has the sole responsibility and authority for 
negotiating, placing and when necessary modifying every solicitation, contract and 
purchase order (except for capital construction projects) issued by the County of 
Fairfax. In the discharge of these responsibilities, the Purchasing Agent may be 
assisted by assigned buyers. Unless specifically delegated by the County Purchasing 
Agent, no other County officer or employee is authorized to order supplies or services, 
enter into purchase negotiations or contracts, or in any way obligate the government of 
the County of Fairfax for an indebtedness. Any purchase ordered or contract made 
which is contrary to these provisions and authorities shall be of no effect and void and 
the County shall not be bound thereby. 

2. DEFINITIONS-

AGENCY: Any Department, Agency, Authority, Commission, Board or other unit in the 
Administrative Service of the County. 

BEST VALUE: As predetermined in the solicitation, means the overall combination of 
quality, price, and various elements of required services that in total are optimal relative 
to a public body’s needs. 

BID: The offer of a bidder to provide specific goods or services at specified prices 
and/or other conditions specified in the solicitation. 

BIDDER/OFFEROR: Any individual, company, firm, corporation, partnership or other 
organization bidding on solicitations issued by the Purchasing Agent and offering to 

846



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-2

enter into contracts with the County. The term "bidder" will be used throughout this 
document and shall be construed to mean "offeror" where appropriate. 

CONSULTANT SERVICES: Any type of services required by the County, but not 
furnished by its own employees, which is in its nature so unique that it should be 
obtained by negotiation on the basis of demonstrated competence and qualification for 
the type of service required and at fair and reasonable compensation, rather than by 
competitive sealed bidding. 

CONTRACTOR: Any individual, company, firm, corporation, partnership or other 
organization to whom an award is made by the County. 

COUNTY: County of Fairfax. 

GOODS: All material, equipment, supplies, printing, and automated data 
processing/information technology hardware and software. 

INFORMALITY: A minor defect or variation of a bid or proposal from the exact 
requirements of the invitation to bid or the request for proposal which does not affect the 
price, quality, quantity or delivery schedule for the goods, services or construction being 
procured. 

INVITATION FOR BID (IFB): A request which is made to prospective suppliers (bidders) 
for their quotation on goods or services desired by the County. The issuance of an IFB 
will contain or incorporate by reference the specifications and contractual terms and 
conditions applicable to the procurement. 

OPEN MARKET PROCUREMENT (OMP): A method of competitive bidding for the 
purchase or lease of goods, non-professional services or for the purchase of insurance, 
construction, or construction management when the estimated cost thereof shall be less 
than $50,000. 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES: Any type of professional service performed by an 
independent Contractor within the practice of accounting, actuarial services, 
architecture, dentistry, land surveying, landscape architecture, law, medicine, 
optometry, pharmacy, or professional engineering (which shall be procured as set forth 
in the Code of Virginia §2.2-4301 in the definition of competitive negotiation at 
paragraph 3 (a), and in conformance with the Fairfax County Purchasing Resolution). 

PURCHASING AGENT: The Purchasing Agent employed by the Board of Supervisors 
of Fairfax County, Virginia. 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL (RFP): A request for an offer from prospective offerors 
which will indicate the general terms which are sought to be procured from the offeror. 
The RFP will specify the evaluation factors to be used and will contain or incorporate by 
reference other contractual terms and conditions applicable to the procurement. 

847



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-3

RESPONSIBLE BIDDER/OFFEROR: An individual, company, firm, corporation, 
partnership or other organization having the capability in all respects to perform fully the 
contract requirements, and also having the moral and business integrity and reliability 
which will assure good faith performance, and having been prequalified, if required. 
(Reference paragraph 24, General Conditions and Instructions to Bidders). 

RESPONSIVE BIDDER/OFFEROR: An individual, company, firm, corporation, 
partnership or other organization having submitted a bid which conforms in all material 
respects to the invitation for bid or request for proposal.

SERVICES: Any work performed by an independent Contractor wherein the service 
rendered does not consist primarily of acquisition of equipment or materials, or the 
rental of equipment, materials and supplies. 

SOLICITATION: The process of notifying prospective bidders that the County wishes to 
receive bids on a set of requirements to provide goods or services. The notification of 
County requirements may consist of public advertising (newspaper, County Web Site, or 
other electronic notification), the mailing of Notices of Solicitation, Invitation for Bid (IFB) 
or Request for Proposal (RFP), the public posting of notices, issuance of an Open 
Market Procurement (OMP), or telephone calls to prospective bidders. 

STATE: Commonwealth of Virginia. 

CONDITIONS OF BIDDING

3. BID FORMS-Unless otherwise specified in the solicitation, all bids shall be submitted 
on the forms provided, to include the bid Cover Sheet and Pricing Schedule(s), properly 
signed in ink in the proper spaces and submitted in a sealed envelope or package. The 
item pages of the Pricing Schedule which do not include any items for which a bid is 
required need not be included in the submission of a bid.  

Should the bid prices and/or any other submissions differ on the copy of the submitted 
bid, the ORIGINAL copy shall prevail. 

4. LATE BIDS & MODIFICATIONS OF BIDS-

a. Any bid/modification received at the office designated in the solicitation after the 
exact time specified for receipt of the bid/modification is considered a late 
bid/modification. A late bid/modification will not be considered for award except 
under the following conditions only:

1. It was sent by registered or certified mail not later than the fifth (5th) calendar 
date prior to the date specified for receipt of the bid/modification; or 

848



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-4

2. The bid/modification was sent by mail and it is determined by the County 
Purchasing Agent that the late receipt was due solely to mishandling by the 
County after receipt at the address specified in the solicitation.

b. If an emergency or unanticipated event or closing interrupts or suspends normal 
County business operations so that bids cannot be received at the County office 
designated for receipt of bids by the exact time specified in the solicitation, the due 
date/time specified for receipt of bids will be deemed to be extended to the same 
time of day specified in the solicitation on the first work day on which normal 
County business operations resume

c. The official time used for receipt of bids/modifications is the Bid Clerk’s time and 
date stamp clock located in the Department of Purchasing and Supply 
Management. “No other clocks, calendars or timepieces are recognized. All 
bidders are responsible to ensure all bids/modifications are received prior to the 
scheduled due date/time.

d. A late hand-carried bid, or any other late bid not submitted by mail, shall not be 
considered for award. 

5. WITHDRAWAL OF BIDS-
a. A bidder for a public construction contract, other than a contract for construction or 

maintenance of public highways, may withdraw his or her bid from consideration if 
the price bid was substantially lower than the other bids due solely to a mistake 
therein, provided the bid was submitted in good faith, and the mistake was a 
clerical mistake as opposed to a judgment mistake, and was actually due to an 
unintentional arithmetic error or an unintentional omission of a quantity of work, 
labor or material made directly in the compilation of a bid, which unintentional 
arithmetic error or unintentional omission can be clearly shown by objective 
evidence drawn from inspection of original work papers, documents and materials 
used in the preparation of the bid sought to be withdrawn. If a bid contains both 
clerical and judgment mistakes, a bidder may withdraw his bid from consideration if 
the price bid would have been substantially lower than the other bids due solely to 
the clerical mistake, that was an unintentional arithmetic error or an unintentional 
omission of a quantity of work, labor or material made directly in the compilation of 
a bid which shall be clearly shown by objective evidence drawn from inspection of 
original work papers, documents and materials used in the preparation of the bid 
sought to be withdrawn. The bidder shall give notice in writing to the Purchasing 
Agent of his or her claim of right to withdraw his or her bid within two (2) business 
days after the conclusion of the bid opening procedure and shall submit original 
work papers with such notice.

b. A bidder for a contract other than for public construction may request withdrawal 
of his or her bid under the following circumstances: 

1. Requests for withdrawal of bids prior to opening of such bids shall be 
transmitted to the County Purchasing Agent in writing. 

849



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-5

2. Requests for withdrawal of bids after opening of such bids but prior to award 
shall be transmitted to the County Purchasing Agent, in writing, accompanied by 
full documentation supporting the request. If the request is based on a claim of 
error, documentation must show the basis of the error. Such documentation may 
take the form of supplier quotations, vendor work sheets, etc. If bid bonds were 
tendered with the bid, the County may exercise its right of collection. 

c. No bid may be withdrawn under this paragraph when the result would be the 
awarding of the contract on  another bid of the same bidder or of another bidder in 
which the ownership of the withdrawing bidder is more than five percent. 

d. If a bid is withdrawn under the authority of this paragraph, the lowest remaining bid 
shall be deemed to be the low bid. 

e. No bidder who is permitted to withdraw a bid shall, for compensation, supply any 
material or labor to or perform any subcontract or other work agreement for the 
person or firm to whom the contract is awarded or otherwise benefit, directly or 
indirectly, from the performance of the project for which the withdrawn bid was 
submitted. 

f. If the county denies the withdrawal of a bid under the provisions of this paragraph, 
it shall notify the bidder in writing stating the reasons for its decision and award the 
contract to such bidder at the bid price, provided such bidder is a responsible and 
responsive bidder. 

g. Work papers, documents, and materials submitted in support of a withdrawal of 
bids may be considered as trade secrets or proprietary information subject to the 
conditions of the Virginia Freedom of Information Act. 

6. ERRORS IN BIDS-When an error is made in extending total prices, the unit bid price 
will govern. Erasures in bids must be initialed by the bidder. Carelessness in quoting 
prices, or in preparation of bid otherwise, will not relieve the bidder. Bidders are 
cautioned to recheck their bids for possible error. Errors discovered after public opening 
cannot be corrected and the bidder will be required to perform if his or her bid is 
accepted.

7. MAILING OF BIDS –. All bids and proposals submitted in response to a Fairfax 
County solicitation shall be submitted in a sealed envelope or package identified with 
the solicitation number, title, and bidders name and address clearly marked on the 
outside of such envelope or package. 

8. COMPLETENESS-To be responsive, a bid must include all information required by 
the solicitation. 

9. ACCEPTANCE OF BIDS/BINDING 90 DAYS-Unless otherwise specified, all formal 
bids submitted shall be binding for ninety (90) calendar days following bid opening date, 
unless extended by mutual consent of all parties. 

850



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-6

10. CONDITIONAL BIDS-Conditional bids are subject to rejection in whole or in part. 

11. BIDS FOR ALL OR PART-Unless otherwise specified by the County Purchasing 
Agent or by the bidder, the Purchasing Agent reserves the right to make award on all 
items in the aggregate or on any of the items on an individual basis, whichever is in the 
best interest of the County. A bidder may restrict his or her bid to consideration in the 
aggregate by so stating but shall name a single unit price on each item bid. Any bid in 
which the bidder names a total price for all the articles without quoting a unit price for 
each and every separate item may not be considered for award. 

12. AREA BIDS-For the purchase and delivery of certain goods and services the 
County may be divided into Areas (e.g., Areas I, II, III, and IV). When such goods and 
services are included in the Pricing Schedule, bidders may bid on all areas or an 
individual area. A map showing the areas of the County will be furnished with the 
solicitation when required. 

13. TIME FOR RECEIVING BID-Bids received prior to the time of opening will be 
securely kept, unopened. The representative of the Purchasing Agent assigned to open 
them will decide when the specified time has arrived, and no bid received thereafter will 
be considered, except as provided in paragraph 4, General Conditions and Instructions 
to Bidders. No responsibility will attach to the Purchasing Agent or his or her 
representative for the premature opening of a bid not properly addressed and identified. 
Unless specifically authorized in the solicitation, telegraphic, electronic, or facsimile 
bids/modifications will not be considered. 

14. BID OPENING-All bids received in response to an Invitation for Bid (IFB) will be 
opened at the date, time and place specified, read publicly, and made available for 
inspection as provided in paragraph 68, General Conditions and Instructions to Bidders. 
Tabulations of bids received are posted on the Department of Purchasing & Supply 
Management Bulletin Board as well as the County’s web site: 
http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dpsm/bidtab.htm. 
Proposals received in response to a Request for Proposal (RFP) will be made available 
as provided in paragraph 68, General Conditions and Instructions to Bidders. 

15. OMISSIONS & DISCREPANCIES-Any items or parts of any equipment listed in this 
solicitation which are not fully described or are omitted from such specification, and 
which are clearly necessary for the completion of such equipment and its 
appurtenances, shall be considered a part of such equipment although not directly 
specified or called for in the specifications. 
Should a bidder find discrepancies or ambiguities in, or omissions from, the solicitation, 
including the drawings and/or specifications, he or she shall notify the Purchasing Agent 
at least five (5) days prior to the date set for the opening of bids. If necessary, the 
Purchasing Agent will send a written addendum for clarification to all bidders no later 
than three (3) days before the date set for opening of bids. Notifications regarding 
specifications will not be considered if received within five days of the date set for 
opening of bids. 

851



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-7

16. RESPONSE TO SOLICITATIONS-In the event a vendor cannot submit a bid on a 
solicitation; he or she is requested to return the solicitation cover sheet with an 
explanation as to why he or she is unable to bid on these requirements. 

17. BIDDER INTERESTED IN MORE THAN ONE BID-If more than one bid is offered 
by any one party, either directly or by or in the name of his or her clerk, partner, or other 
persons, all such bids may be rejected. A party who has quoted prices on work, 
materials, or supplies to a bidder is not thereby disqualified from quoting prices to other 
bidders or firms submitting a bid directly for the work, materials or supplies. 

GENERAL CONDITIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS

18. TAX EXEMPTION-The County is exempt from the payment of any federal excise or 
any Virginia sales tax. The price bid must be net, exclusive of taxes. However, when 
under established trade practice any federal excise tax is included in the list price, a 
bidder may quote the list price and shall show separately the amount of federal tax, 
either as a flat sum or as a percentage of the list price, which shall be deducted by the 
County. Fairfax County's Federal Excise Tax Exemption Number is 54-74-0127K. 
Contractors located outside the Commonwealth of Virginia are advised that when 
materials are picked up by the County at their place of business, they may charge and 
collect their own local/state sales tax. Materials used in the performance of construction 
contracts are subject to Virginia Sales/Use Tax as described in Section 630-10-27J of 
the Virginia Retail Sales and Use Tax Regulations.

19. PROHIBITION AGAINST UNIFORM PRICING-The County Purchasing Agent shall 
encourage open and competitive bidding by all possible means and shall endeavor to 
obtain the maximum degree of open competition on all purchase transactions using the 
competitive sealed bidding, competitive negotiation, or open market methods of 
procurement. In submitting a bid each bidder shall, by virtue of submitting a bid, 
guarantee that he or she has not been a party with other bidders to an agreement to bid 
a fixed or uniform price. Violation of this implied guarantee shall render void the bids of 
participating bidders. Any disclosure to or acquisition by a competitive bidder, in 
advance of the opening of the bids, of the terms or conditions of the bid submitted by 
another competitor may render the entire proceedings void and may require re-
advertising for bids. 

SPECIFICATIONS

20. QUESTIONS CONCERNING SPECIFICATIONS-Any information relative to 
interpretation of specifications and drawings shall be requested of the Purchasing 
Agent, in writing, in ample time before the opening of bids. No inquiries, if received by 
the Purchasing Agent within five (5) days of the date set for the opening of bids, will be 
given any consideration. Any material interpretation of a specification, as determined by 
the County Purchasing Agent, will be expressed in the form of an addendum to the 
specification which will be sent to all prospective bidders no later than three (3) days 
before the date set for receipt of bids. Oral answers will not be authoritative. 

852



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-8

21. BRAND NAME OR EQUAL ITEMS-Unless otherwise provided in the invitation for 
bid, the name of a certain brand, make or manufacturer does not restrict bidders to the 
specific brand, make or manufacturer named; it conveys the general style, type, 
character, and quality of the article desired, and any article which the County in its sole 
discretion determines to be the equal of that specified, considering quality, 
workmanship, economy of operation, and suitability for the purpose intended, shall be 
accepted. 

22. FORMAL SPECIFICATIONS-When a solicitation contains a specification which 
states no substitutes, no deviation therefrom will be permitted and the bidder will be 
required to furnish articles in conformity with that specification. 

The bidder shall abide by and comply with the true intent of the specifications and not 
take advantage of any unintentional error or omission, but shall fully complete every part 
as the true intent and meaning of the specifications and drawings. Whenever the 
mention is made of any articles, material, or workmanship to be in accordance with 
laws, ordinances, building codes, underwriter's codes, A.S.T.M. regulations or similar 
expressions, the requirements of these laws, ordinances, etc., shall be construed as to 
the minimum requirements of these specifications. 

23. FEDERAL SPECIFICATIONS-Any Federal Specifications referred to herein may be 
obtained from the GSA Federal Supply Service Bureau - Specification Section, 470 East 
L'Enfant Plaza, S.W., Suite #8100, Washington, D.C. 20407 (Voice: 1-202-619-8925, 
Fax: 1-202-619-8978). 

AWARD

24. AWARD OR REJECTION OF BIDS-The Purchasing Agent shall award the contract 
to the lowest responsive and responsible bidder complying with all provisions of the IFB, 
provided the bid price is reasonable and it is in the best interest of the County to accept 
it. Awards made in response to a RFP will be made to the highest qualified offeror 
whose proposal is determined, in writing, to be the most advantageous to the County 
taking into consideration the evaluation factors set forth in the RFP. The Purchasing 
Agent reserves the right to award a contract by individual items, in the aggregate, or in 
combination thereof, or to reject any or all bids and to waive any informality in bids 
received whenever such rejection or waiver is in the best interest of the County. Award 
may be made to as many bidders as deemed necessary to fulfill the anticipated 
requirements of Fairfax County. The Purchasing Agent also reserves the right to reject 
the bid of a bidder deemed to be a non-responsible bidder. 

In determining the responsibility of a bidder, the following criteria will be considered: 
a. The ability, capacity and skill of the bidder to perform the contract or provide the 

service required; 
b. Whether the bidder can perform the contract or provide the service promptly, or 

within the time specified, without delay or interference; 
c. The character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience and efficiency of the 

bidder; 

853



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-9

d. The quality of performance of previous contracts or services; 
e. The previous and existing compliance by the bidder with laws and ordinances 

relating to the contract or services; 
f. The sufficiency of the financial resources and ability of the bidder to perform the 

contract or provide the service; 
g. The quality, availability and adaptability of the goods or services to the particular 

use required; 
h. The ability of the bidder to provide future maintenance and service for the use of 

the subject of the contract; 
i. The number and scope of the conditions attached to the bid; 
j. Whether the bidder is in arrears to the County on debt or contract or is a defaulter 

on surety to the County or whether the bidder's County taxes or assessments are 
delinquent; and 

k. Such other information as may be secured by the County Purchasing Agent having 
a bearing on the decision to award the contract. If an apparent low bidder is not 
awarded a contract for reasons of non-responsibility, the County Purchasing Agent 
shall so notify that bidder and shall have recorded the reasons in the contract file. 

25. NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE/CONTRACT DOCUMENTS-A written award (or 
Acceptance Agreement) mailed (or otherwise furnished) to the successful bidder within 
the time for acceptance specified in the solicitation shall be deemed to result in a 
binding contract. The following documents which are included in the solicitation shall be 
incorporated by reference in the resulting contract and become a part of said contract:

a. County of Fairfax Solicitation Form/Acceptance Agreement (Cover Sheet) and 
other documents which may be incorporated by reference, if applicable, 

b. General Conditions and Instructions to Bidders, 
c. Special Provisions and Specifications, 
d. Pricing Schedule, 
e. Any Addenda/Amendments/Memoranda of Negotiations

26. TIE-BIDS – If all bids are for the same total amount or unit price (including 
authorized discounts and delivery times), and if the public interest will not permit the 
delay of re-advertisement for bids, the County Purchasing Agent is authorized to award 
the contract to the resident Fairfax County tie bidder whose firm has its principal place 
of business in the County, or if there be none, to the resident Virginia tie bidder, or if 
there be none, to one of the tie bidders by drawing lots in public; or the County 
Purchasing Agent may purchase the goods or services in the open market except that 
the price paid shall not exceed the lowest contract bid price submitted for the same 
goods or services. The decision of the County to make award to one or more such 
bidders shall be final.

854



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-10

27. PROMPT PAYMENT DISCOUNT-

a. Unless otherwise specified in the solicitation, prompt payment discounts requiring 
payment in less than fifteen (15) days will not be considered in evaluating a bid for 
award. However, even though not considered in the evaluation, such discounts will 
be taken if payment is to be made within the discount period. 

b. In connection with any discount offered, time will be computed from the date of 
delivery of the supplies to the carrier when delivery, inspection and acceptance are 
at the point of origin; or, from date of delivery, inspection and acceptance at 
destination; or, from date correct invoice or voucher is received in the office 
specified by the County, if the latter is later than the date of acceptance. In the 
event the bidder does not indicate a prompt payment discount, it shall be 
construed to mean NET 30 days. 

For the purpose of earning the discount, payment is deemed to be made as of the date 
of mailing of the County check or issuance of an Electronic Funds Transfer.

28. INSPECTION-ACCEPTANCE-For determining acceptance of supplies in 
accordance with the provisions of the prompt payment discount paragraph, inspection
and acceptance shall be accomplished only after examination (including testing) of 
supplies and services to determine whether the supplies and services conform to the 
contract requirements. Acceptance shall occur only after receipt and inspection 
provided such inspection, as appropriate, is accomplished within a reasonable time.

29. DEFINITE BID QUANTITIES-Where definite quantities are specifically stated, 
acceptance will bind the County to order quantities specified and to pay for, at contract 
prices, all such supplies or services delivered that meet specifications and conditions of 
the contract. However, the County will not be required to accept delivery of any 
balances unordered, as of the contract expiration date, unless the Contractor furnished 
the Purchasing Agent with a statement of unordered balances not later than ten (10) 
days after the termination date of the contract.

30. REQUIREMENT BID QUANTITIES-On "Requirement" bids, acceptance will bind 
the County to pay for, at unit bid prices, only quantities ordered and delivered. Where 
the County specifies estimated quantities, the Contractor shall not be required to deliver 
more than ten (10) percent in excess of the estimated quantity of each item, unless 
otherwise agreed upon. 

CONTRACT PROVISIONS

31. TERMINATION OF CONTRACTS-Contracts will remain in force for full periods 
specified and/or until all articles ordered before date of termination shall have been 
satisfactorily delivered and accepted and thereafter until all requirements and conditions
shall have been met, unless: 

a. Terminated prior to expiration date by satisfactory deliveries of entire contract 
requirements, or upon termination by the County for Convenience or Cause.

855



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-11

b. Extended upon written authorization of the Purchasing Agent and accepted by 
Contractor, to permit ordering of unordered balances or additional quantities at 
contract prices and in accordance with contract terms.

32. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE-A contract may be terminated in whole or in 
part by the County in accordance with this clause whenever the County Purchasing 
Agent shall determine that such a termination is in the best interest of the County. Any 
such termination shall be effected by delivery to the Contractor at least five (5) working 
days prior to the termination date of a Notice of Termination specifying the extent to 
which performance shall be terminated and the date upon which termination becomes 
effective. An equitable adjustment in the contract price shall be made for completed 
service, but no amount shall be allowed for anticipated profit on unperformed services. 

33. TERMINATION OF CONTRACT FOR CAUSE-

a. If, through any cause, the Contractor shall fail to fulfill in a timely and proper 
manner his or her obligations under this contract, or if the Contractor shall violate 
any of the covenants, agreements, or stipulations of this contract, the County shall 
thereupon have the right to terminate, specifying the effective date thereof, at least 
five (5) days before the effective date of such termination. In such event all finished 
or unfinished documents, data, studies, surveys, drawings, maps, models, and 
reports prepared by the Contractor under the contract shall, at the option of the 
County, become its property and the Contractor shall be entitled to receive just and 
equitable compensation for any satisfactory work completed on such documents.

b. Notwithstanding the above, the Contractor shall not be relieved of liability to the 
County for damages sustained by the County by virtue of any breach of contract by 
the Contractor for the purpose of set off until such time as the exact amount of 
damages due to the County from the Contractor is determined.

34. CONTRACT ALTERATIONS-No alterations in the terms of a contract shall be valid 
or binding upon the County unless made in writing and signed by the Purchasing Agent 
or his or her authorized agent. 

35. SUBLETTING OF CONTRACT OR ASSIGNMENT OF CONTRACT FUNDS-It is 
mutually understood and agreed that the Contractor shall not assign, transfer, convey, 
sublet or otherwise dispose of his or her contractual duties to any other person, firm or 
corporation, without the previous written consent of the Purchasing Agent. If the 
Contractor desires to assign his or her right to payment of the contract, Contractor shall
notify the Purchasing Agent immediately, in writing, of such assignment of right to 
payment. In no case shall such assignment of contract relieve the Contractor from his or 
her obligations or change the terms of the contract. 

36. FUNDING-A contract shall be deemed binding only to the extent of appropriations 
available to each Agency for the purchase of goods and services.

856



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-12

37. DELIVERY/SERVICE FAILURES-Failure of a Contractor to deliver goods or 
services within the time specified, or within reasonable time as interpreted by the 
Purchasing Agent, or failure to make replacements/corrections of rejected 
articles/services when so requested, immediately or as directed by the Purchasing 
Agent, shall constitute authority for the Purchasing Agent to purchase in the open 
market articles/services of comparable grade/quality to replace the services, articles 
rejected, and/or not delivered. On all such purchases, the Contractor shall reimburse 
the County, within a reasonable time specified by the Purchasing Agent, for any 
expense incurred in excess of contract prices. Such purchases shall be deducted from 
the contract quantities if applicable. Should public necessity demand it, the County 
reserves the right to use or consume articles delivered or services performed which are 
substandard in quality, subject to an adjustment in price to be determined by the 
Purchasing Agent.

38. NON-LIABILITY-The Contractor shall not be liable in damages for delay in shipment 
or failure to deliver when such delay or failure is the result of fire, flood, strike, the 
transportation carrier, act of God, act of Government, act of an alien enemy or by any 
other circumstances which, in the Purchasing Agent's opinion, are beyond the control of 
the Contractor. Under such circumstances, however, the Purchasing Agent may, at his 
or her discretion, cancel the contract.

39. NEW GOODS, FRESH STOCK-All Contractors, unless otherwise specifically 
stated, shall provide new commodities, fresh stock, latest model, design or pack. 

40. NON-DISCRIMINATION-During the performance of this contract, the Contractor 
agrees as follows:

a. The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment because of race, religion, color, sex, national origin, age, disability, or 
other basis prohibited by state law relating to discrimination in employment, except 
where there is a bona fide occupational qualification reasonably necessary to the 
normal operation of the Contractor. The Contractor agrees to post in conspicuous 
places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices setting forth 
the provisions of this non-discrimination clause. 

b. The Contractor, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on 
behalf of the Contractor, will state that such Contractor is an equal opportunity 
employer. 

c. Notices, advertisements and solicitations placed in accordance with federal law, 
rule or regulation shall be deemed sufficient for the purpose of meeting the 
requirements of this section. 

d. The Contractor will include the provisions of the foregoing paragraphs a, b, and c 
above in every subcontract or purchase order of over $10,000 so that the 
provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor. 

e. Contractor and Subcontractor hereunder shall, throughout the term of this contract, 
comply with the Human Rights Ordinance, Chapter 11 of the Code of the County of 
Fairfax, Virginia, as reenacted or amended. 

857



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-13

41. SMALL AND MINORITY BUSINESS UTILIZATION-

a. It is the policy of the County of Fairfax as declared by the Fairfax County Board of 
Supervisors' adoption of a Small and Minority Business Enterprise Program, April 
6, 1981, that Fairfax County and its employees undertake every effort to increase 
opportunity for utilization of small or minority businesses in all aspects of 
procurement to the maximum extent feasible. 

b. Where it is practicable for any portion of the awarded contract to be subcontracted 
to other suppliers, the contractor is encouraged to offer such subcontracting 
opportunities to small, women and minority businesses. 

c. Where Federal grants or monies are involved it is the policy of Fairfax County, 
through its agents and employees, to comply with the requirements set forth in the 
U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular No. A-102, uniform administrative 
requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements with State and Local 
Governments, as they pertain to small and minority business utilization. 

42. GUARANTEES & WARRANTIES-All guarantees and warranties required shall be 
furnished by the Contractor and shall be delivered to the Purchasing Agent before final 
payment on the contract is made. Unless otherwise stated, manufacturer's standard 
warranty applies.

43. PRICE REDUCTION-If at any time after the date of the bid the Contractor makes a 
general price reduction in the comparable price of any material covered by the contract 
to customers generally, an equivalent price reduction based on similar quantities and/or 
considerations shall apply to this contract for the duration of the contract period (or until 
the price is further reduced). Such price reduction shall be effective at the same time 
and in the same manner as the reduction in the price to customers generally. For 
purpose of this provision, a "general price reduction" shall mean any horizontal 
reduction in the price of an article or service offered (1) to Contractor's customers 
generally, or (2) in the Contractor's price schedule for the class of customers, i.e., 
wholesalers, jobbers, retailers, etc., which was used as the basis for bidding on this 
solicitation. An occasional sale at a lower price, or sale of distressed merchandise at a 
lower price, would not be considered a "general price reduction" under this provision. 
The Contractor shall submit his or her invoice at such reduced prices indicating on the 
invoice that the reduction is pursuant to the "Price Reduction" provision of the contract 
documents. The Contractor in addition will within ten days of any general price reduction 
notify the Purchasing Agent of such reduction by letter. FAILURE TO DO SO MAY 
REQUIRE TERMINATION OF THE CONTRACT. Upon receipt of any such notice of a 
general price reduction, all ordering offices will be duly notified by the Purchasing Agent. 
The Contractor, if requested, shall furnish, within ten days after the end of the contract 
period, a statement certifying either (1) that no general price reduction, as defined 
above, was made after the date of the bid, or (2) if any such general price reductions 
were made, that as provided above, they were reported to the Purchasing Agent within 
ten (10) days and ordering offices were billed at the reduced prices. Where one or more 
such general price reductions were made, the statement furnished by the Contractor 
shall include with respect to each price reduction (1) the date when notice of any such 

858



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-14

reduction was issued, (2) the effective date of the reduction, and (3) the date when the 
Purchasing Agent was notified of any such reduction. 

44. CHANGES-Should it become proper or necessary in the execution of this contract 
to make any change in design, or to make any alterations which will increase the 
expense, the Purchasing Agent shall determine an equitable adjustment.

No payment shall be made to the Contractor for any extra material or services, or of any 
greater amount of money than stipulated to be paid in the contract, unless some 
changes in or additions to the contract requiring additional outlay by the Contractor shall 
first have been expressly authorized and ordered in writing by contract amendment or 
otherwise furnished by the Purchasing Agent.

45. PLACING OF ORDERS-Orders against contracts will be placed with the Contractor 
on a Purchase Order (or Procurement Card) executed and released by the Purchasing 
Agent or his or her designee. The Purchase Order must bear the appropriate contract 
number and date. Where Blanket Purchase Agreements (BPAs) have been executed 
and a Blanket Purchase Order has been released by the Purchasing Agent, telephonic 
orders may be placed directly with the Contractor by authorized personnel in the 
ordering Agency. 

DELIVERY PROVISIONS

46. SHIPPING INSTRUCTIONS - CONSIGNMENT-Unless otherwise specified in the 
solicitation each case, crate, barrel, package, etc., delivered under the contract must be 
plainly stenciled or securely tagged, stating the Contractor's name, purchase order 
number, and delivery address as indicated in the order. Where shipping containers are 
to be used, each container must be marked with the purchase order number, name of 
the Contractor, the name of the item, the item number, and the quantity contained 
therein. Deliveries must be made within the hours of 8:00 AM - 3:00 PM. Deliveries at 
any other time will not be accepted unless specific arrangements have been previously 
made with the receiver at the delivery point. No deliveries will be accepted on 
Saturdays, Sundays and holidays, unless previous arrangements have been made. It 
shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to insure compliance with these instructions 
for items that are drop-shipped.

47. RESPONSIBILITY FOR SUPPLIES TENDERED-Unless otherwise specified in the 
solicitation, the Contractor shall be responsible for the materials or supplies covered by 
the contract until they are delivered at the designated point, but the Contractor shall 
bear all risk on rejected materials or supplies after notice of rejection. Rejected 
materials or supplies must be removed by and at the expense of the Contractor 
promptly after notification of rejection, unless public health and safety require immediate 
destruction or other disposal of rejected delivery. If rejected materials are not removed 
by the Contractor within ten (10) days after date of notification, the County may return 
the rejected materials or supplies to the Contractor at his or her risk and expense or 
dispose of them as its own property. 

859



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-15

48. INSPECTIONS-Inspection and acceptance of materials or supplies will be made 
after delivery at destinations herein specified unless otherwise stated. If inspection is 
made after delivery at destination herein specified, the County will bear the expense of 
inspection except for the value of samples used in case of rejection. Final inspection 
shall be conclusive except in regard to latent defects, fraud or such gross mistakes as to 
amount to fraud. Final inspection and acceptance or rejection of the materials or 
supplies will be made as promptly as practicable, but failure to inspect and accept or 
reject materials or supplies shall not impose liability on the County for such materials or 
supplies as are not in accordance with the specifications.

49. COMPLIANCE-Delivery must be made as ordered and in accordance with the 
solicitation or as directed by the Purchasing Agent when not in conflict with the bid. The 
decision of the Purchasing Agent as to reasonable compliance with delivery terms shall 
be final. Burden of proof of delay in receipt of goods by the purchaser shall rest with the 
Contractor. Any request for extension of time of delivery from that specified must be 
approved by the Purchasing Agent, such extension applying only to the particular item 
or shipment affected. Should the Contractor be delayed by the County, there shall be 
added to the time of completion a time equal to the period of such delay caused by the 
County. However, the Contractor shall not be entitled to claim damages or extra 
compensation for such delay or suspension. These conditions may vary for construction 
contracts. See Special Provisions for the individual solicitation. 

50. POINT OF DESTINATION-All materials shipped to the County must be shipped 
F.O.B. DESTINATION unless otherwise stated in the contract or purchase order. The 
materials must be delivered to the "Ship to" address indicated on the purchase order.

51. ADDITIONAL CHARGES-Unless bought F.O.B. "shipping point" and Contractor 
prepays transportation, no delivery charges shall be added to invoices except when 
express delivery is authorized and substituted on orders for the method specified in the 
contract. In such cases, difference between freight or mail and express charges may be 
added to invoice. 

52. METHOD AND CONTAINERS-Unless otherwise specified, goods shall be delivered 
in commercial packages in standard commercial containers, so constructed as to 
ensure acceptance by common or other carrier for safe transportation to the point of 
delivery. Containers become the property of the County unless otherwise specified by 
bidder.

53. WEIGHT CHECKING-Deliveries shall be subject to re-weighing over official sealed 
scales designated by the County. Payments shall be made on the basis of net weight of 
materials delivered. Normal shrinkage may be allowed in such instances where 
shrinkage is possible. Net weights only, exclusive of containers or wrapping, shall be 
paid for by the County.

54. DEMURRAGE AND RE-SPOTTING-The County will be responsible for demurrage 
charges only when such charges accrue because of the County's negligence in 

860



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-16

unloading the materials. The County will pay railroad charges due to the re-spotting of 
cars, only when such re-spotting is ordered by the County.

55. REPLACEMENT-Materials or components that have been rejected by the 
Purchasing Agent, in accordance with the terms of a contract, shall be replaced by the 
Contractor at no cost to the County. 

56. PACKING SLIPS OR DELIVERY TICKETS-All shipments shall be accompanied by 
Packing Slips or Delivery Tickets and shall contain the following information for each 
item delivered:

1. The Purchase Order Number, 
2. The Name of the Article and Stock Number (Supplier's), 
3. The Fairfax County Identification Number (FCIN), if specified in the order, 
4. The Quantity Ordered, 
5. The Quantity Shipped, 
6. The Quantity Back Ordered, 
7. The Name of the Contractor. 

Contractors are cautioned that failure to comply with these conditions shall be 
considered sufficient reason for refusal to accept the goods. 

BILLING

57. BILLING-Billing for the Fairfax County Public Schools and for County agencies: 
Unless otherwise specified on the contract or purchase order (PO), invoices are to be 
submitted, in DUPLICATE, for each purchase order immediately upon completion of the 
shipment or services. If shipment is made by freight or express, the original Bill of 
Lading, properly receipted, must be attached to the invoice. Invoices should be mailed 
to the "BILL TO" address on the PO or to the appropriate address specified in the 
contract. 

PAYMENTS

58. PAYMENT-Payment shall be made after satisfactory performance of the contract, in 
accordance with all of the provisions thereof, and upon receipt of a properly completed 
invoice. Fairfax County reserves the right to withhold any or all payments or portions 
thereof for Contractor's failure to perform in accordance with the provision of the 
contract or any modifications thereto. 

59. PARTIAL PAYMENTS-Unless otherwise specified, partial payments will be made 
upon acceptance of materials or services so invoiced if in accordance with completion 
date. However, up to 5 percent (5%) of the value of the entire order may be retained 
until completion of contract. 

60. PAYMENT FOR EQUIPMENT, INSTALLATION, AND TESTING-When equipment 
requires installation (which shall also be interpreted to mean erection and/or setting up 

861



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-17

or placing in position, service, or use) and test, and where such installation or testing is 
delayed, payment may be made on the basis of 50% of the contract price when such 
equipment is delivered on the site. A further allowance of 25% may be made when the 
equipment is installed and ready for test. The balance shall be paid after the equipment 
is tested and found to be satisfactory. If the equipment must be tested, but installation is 
not required to be made by the Contractor or if the equipment must be installed but 
testing is not required, payment may be made on the basis of 75% at the time of 
delivery and the balance shall be paid after satisfactory test or installation is completed. 

GENERAL CONDITIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS

61. GENERAL GUARANTY-Contractor agrees to:

a. Save the County, its agents and employees harmless from liability of any nature or 
kind for the use of any copyrighted or uncopyrighted composition; secret process, 
patented or unpatented; invention; article or appliance furnished or used in the 
performance of a contract for which the Contractor is not the patentee, assignee, 
licensee or owner. 

b. Protect the County against latent defective material or workmanship and to repair 
or replace any damages or marring occasioned in transit or delivery. 

c. Furnish adequate protection against damage to all work and to repair damages of 
any kind to the building or equipment, to his or her own work or to the work of other 
contractors, for which his or her workers are responsible. 

d. Pay for all permits, licenses and fees and give all notices and comply with all laws, 
ordinances, rules and regulations of the County. 

e. Protect the County from loss or damage to County owned property while it is in the 
custody of the Contractor.

62. SERVICE CONTRACT GUARANTY-Contractor agrees to:

a. Furnish services described in the solicitation and resultant contract at the times 
and places and in the manner and subject to conditions therein set forth provided 
that the County may reduce the said services at any time. 

b. Enter upon the performance of services with all due diligence and dispatch, 
assiduously press to its complete performance, and exercise therein the highest 
degree of skill and competence. 

c. All work and services rendered in strict conformance to all laws, statues, and 
ordinances and the applicable rules, regulations, methods and procedures of all 
government boards, bureaus, offices and other agents. 

d. Allow services to be inspected or reviewed by an employee of the County at any 
reasonable time and place selected by the County. Fairfax County shall be under 
no obligation to compensate Contractor for any services not rendered in strict 
conformity with the contract. 

e. Stipulate that the presence of a County Inspector shall not lessen the obligation of 
the Contractor for performance in accordance with the contract requirements, or be 
deemed a defense on the part of the Contractor for infraction thereof. The Inspector 

862



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-18

is not authorized to revoke, alter, enlarge, relax, or release any of the requirements 
of the contract documents. Any omission or failure on the part of the Inspector to 
disapprove or reject any work or material shall not be construed to be an 
acceptance of any such defective work or material. Notification of an omission or 
failure will be documented by the Purchasing Agent.

63. INDEMNIFICATION-Contractor shall indemnify, keep and save harmless the 
County, its agents, officials, employees and volunteers against claims of injuries, death, 
damage to property, patent claims, suits, liabilities, judgments, cost and expenses which 
may otherwise accrue against the County in consequence of the granting of a contract 
or which may otherwise result therefrom, if it shall be determined that the act was 
caused through negligence or error, or omission of the Contractor or his or her 
employees, or that of the subcontractor or his or her employees, if any; and the 
Contractor shall, at his or her own expense, appear, defend and pay all charges of 
attorneys and all costs and other expenses arising therefrom or incurred in connection 
therewith; and if any judgment shall be rendered against the County in any such action, 
the Contractor shall, at his or her own expense, satisfy and discharge the same. 
Contractor expressly understands and agrees that any performance bond or insurance 
protection required by this contract, or otherwise provided by the Contractor, shall in no 
way limit the responsibility to indemnify, keep and save harmless and defend the 
County as herein provided.

64. OFFICIALS NOT TO BENEFIT-

a. Each bidder or offeror shall certify, upon signing a bid or proposal, that to the best 
of his or her knowledge no Fairfax County official or employee having official 
responsibility for the procurement transaction, or member of his or her immediate 
family, has received or will receive any financial benefit of more than nominal or 
minimal value relating to the award of this contract. If such a benefit has been 
received or will be received, this fact shall be disclosed with the bid or proposal or 
as soon thereafter as it appears that such a benefit will be received. Failure to 
disclose the information prescribed above may result in suspension or debarment, 
or rescission of the contract made, or could affect payment pursuant to the terms of 
the contract.

b. Whenever there is reason to believe that a financial benefit of the sort described in 
paragraph "a" has been or will be received in connection with a bid, proposal or 
contract, and that the Contractor has failed to disclose such benefit or has 
inadequately disclosed it, the County Executive, as a prerequisite to payment 
pursuant to the contract, or at any other time, may require the Contractor to furnish, 
under oath, answers to any interrogatories related to such possible benefit. 

c. In the event the bidder or offeror has knowledge of benefits as outlined above, this 
information should be submitted with the bid or proposal. If the above does not 
apply at time of award of contract and becomes known after inception of a contract, 
the bidder or offeror shall address the disclosure of such facts to the Fairfax County 
Purchasing Agent, 12000 Government Center Parkway, Suite 427, Fairfax, Virginia 

863



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-19

22035-0013. Relevant Invitation/Request for Proposal Number (see cover sheet) 
should be referenced in the disclosure. 

65. LICENSE REQUIREMENT-All firms doing business in Fairfax County, shall obtain a 
license as required by Chapter 4, Article 7, of The Code of the County of Fairfax, 
Virginia, as amended, entitled "Business, Professional and Occupational Licensing 
(BPOL) Tax." Questions concerning the BPOL Tax should be directed to the 
Department of Tax Administration, telephone (703) 222-8234 or visit: 
http://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/dta/business_tax.htm. The BPOL Tax number must be 
indicated in the space provided on the Cover Sheet, "Fairfax License Tax No." when 
appropriate. 

66. AUTHORIZATION TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN THE COMMONWEALTH: A 
contractor organized as a stock or nonstock corporation, limited liability company, 
business trust, or limited partnership or registered as a registered limited liability 
partnership shall be authorized to transact business in the Commonwealth as a 
domestic or foreign business entity if so required by Title 13.1 or Title 50 of the Code of 
Virginia or as otherwise required by law. Any business entity described above that 
enters into a contract with a Fairfax County pursuant to the Fairfax County Purchasing 
Resolution shall not allow its existence to lapse or its certificate of authority or 
registration to transact business in the Commonwealth, if so required under Title 13.1 or 
Title 50, to be revoked or cancelled at any time during the term of the contract. Fairfax 
County may void any contract with a business entity if the business entity fails to remain 
in compliance with the provisions of this section.

67. COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES-The Contractor warrants that no 
person or selling agency has been employed or retained to solicit or secure this contract 
upon an agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage, or 
contingent fee, except bona fide employees or bona fide established commercial or 
selling agencies maintained by the Contractor for the purpose of securing business. For 
violation of this warranty, the County shall have the right to terminate or suspend this 
contract without liability to the County or in its discretion to deduct from the contract 
price or consideration, or otherwise recover, the full amount of such commission, 
percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee. 

68. VIRGINIA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT-All proceedings, records, contracts 
and other public records relating to procurement transactions shall be open to the 
inspection of any citizen, or any interested person, firm or corporation, in accordance 
with the Virginia Freedom of Information Act except as provided below: 

a. Cost estimates relating to a proposed procurement transaction prepared by or for a
public body shall not be open to public inspection. 

b. Any competitive sealed bidding bidder, upon request, shall be afforded the 
opportunity to inspect bid records within a reasonable time after the opening of all 
bids but prior to award, except in the event that the County decides not to accept 

864



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-20

any of the bids and to reopen the contract. Otherwise, bid records shall be open to 
public inspection only after award of the contract. Any competitive negotiation 
offeror, upon request, shall be afforded the opportunity to inspect proposal records 
within a reasonable time after the evaluation and negotiations of proposals are 
completed but prior to award except in the event that the County decides not to 
accept any of the proposals and to reopen the contract. Otherwise, proposal 
records shall be open to the public inspection only after award of the contract 
except as provided in paragraph "c" below. Any inspection of procurement 
transaction records under this section shall be subject to reasonable restrictions to 
ensure the security and integrity of the records. 

c. Trade secrets or proprietary information submitted by a bidder, offeror or Contractor 
in connection with a procurement transaction or prequalification application 
submitted pursuant to the prequalification process identified in the Special 
Provisions, shall not be subject to the Virginia Freedom of Information Act; 
however, the bidder, offeror or Contractor shall (i) invoke the protections of this 
section prior to or upon submission of the data or other materials, (ii) identify the 
data or other materials to be protected, and (iii) state the reasons why protection is 
necessary. 

d. Nothing contained in this section shall be construed to require the County, when 
procuring by "competitive negotiation" (Request for Proposal), to furnish a 
statement of the reasons why a particular proposal was not deemed to be the most 
advantageous to the County. 

BIDDER/CONTRACTOR REMEDIES
69. INELIGIBILITY-

a. Any person or firm suspended or debarred from participation in County procurement 
shall be notified in writing by the County Purchasing Agent. 

1. The Notice of Suspension shall state the reasons for the actions taken and such 
decision shall be final unless the person or firm appeals within thirty (30) days of 
receipt of the Notice by instituting legal action as provided in the Code of Virginia. 

2. The Notice of Debarment shall state the reasons for the actions taken and the 
decision shall be final unless the person or firm appeals within thirty (30) days of 
receipt of the notice by instituting legal action as provided in the Code of Virginia.

b. The County Purchasing Agent shall have the authority to suspend or debar a 
person or firm from bidding on any contract for the causes stated below:

1. Conviction for commission of a criminal offense as an incident to obtaining or 
attempting to obtain a public or private contract or subcontract, or in the 
performance of such contract or subcontract;

2. Conviction under state or federal statutes of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, 
falsification or destruction of records, receiving stolen property, or any other 
offense indicating a lack of business integrity or business honesty which currently, 
seriously, and directly affects responsibility as a County Contractor; 

865



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-21

3. Conviction under the state or federal antitrust statutes arising out of the 
submission of bids or proposals; 

4. Violation of contract provisions, as set forth below, of a character which is 
regarded by the County Purchasing Agent to be so serious as to justify 
suspension or debarment action: 
(a) failure without good cause to perform in accordance with the specifications or 
within the time limit provided in the contract; or 
(b) a recent record of failure to perform or of unsatisfactory performance in 
accordance with the terms of one or more contracts; provided, that failure to 
perform or unsatisfactory performance caused by acts beyond the control of the 
Contractor shall not be considered to be a basis for suspension or debarment; 

5. Any other cause the County Purchasing Agent determines to be so serious and 
compelling as to affect responsibility as a Contractor, such as debarment by 
another governmental entity for any cause listed herein, or because of prior 
reprimands; 

6. The Contractor has abandoned performance or been terminated for default on 
any other Fairfax County project; 

7. The Contractor is in default on any surety bond or written guarantee on which 
Fairfax County is an obligee.

c.  If, upon appeal, it is determined that the action taken by the County Purchasing 
Agent was arbitrary or capricious, or not in accordance with the Constitution of 
Virginia, statutes or regulations, the sole relief available to the person or firm shall 
be restoration of eligibility. The person or firm may not institute legal action until all 
statutory requirements have been met. 

70. APPEAL OF DENIAL OF WITHDRAWAL OF BID-

a. A decision denying withdrawal of a bid submitted by a bidder or offeror shall be final 
and conclusive unless the bidder appeals the decision within ten (10) days after 
receipt of the decision by instituting legal action as provided in the Code of Virginia. 
The bidder or offeror may not institute legal action until all statutory requirements 
have been met.

b. If no bid bond was posted, a bidder refused withdrawal of bid under the provisions 
of Article 2, Section 4 a.9, of the Fairfax County Purchasing Resolution, prior to 
appealing, shall deliver to the County a certified check or cash bond in the amount 
of the difference between the bid sought to be withdrawn and the next low bid. Such 
security shall be released only upon a final determination that the bidder was 
entitled to withdraw the bid.

c. If, upon appeal, it is determined that the decision refusing withdrawal of the bid was 
arbitrary or capricious, the sole relief shall be withdrawal of the bid. 

866



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-22

71. APPEAL OF DETERMINATION OF NONRESPONSIBILITY-

a. Any bidder who, despite being the apparent low bidder, is determined not to be a 
responsible bidder for a particular County contract shall be notified in writing by the 
County Purchasing Agent. Such notice shall state the basis for the determination, 
which shall be final unless the bidder appeals the decision within ten (10) days of 
receipt of the notice by instituting legal action as provided in the Code of Virginia. 
The bidder may not institute legal action until all statutory requirements have been 
met. 

b. If, upon appeal, it is determined that the decision of the County Purchasing Agent 
was arbitrary or capricious and the award for the particular County contract in 
question has not been made, the sole relief available to the bidder shall be a finding 
that the bidder is a responsible bidder for the County contract in question. Where 
the award has been made and performance has begun, the County may declare 
the contract void upon a finding that this action is in the best interest of the public. 
Where a contract is declared void, the performing Contractor shall be compensated 
for the cost of performance up to the time of such declaration. In no event shall the 
performing Contractor be entitled to lost profits. 

72. PROTEST OF AWARD OR DECISION TO AWARD-

a. Any bidder or offeror may protest the award or decision to award a contract by 
submitting a protest in writing to the County Purchasing Agent, or an official 
designated by the County of Fairfax, no later than ten (10) days after the award or 
the announcement of the decision to award, whichever occurs first. Any potential 
bidder or offeror on a contract negotiated on a sole source or emergency basis who 
desires to protest the award or decision to award such contract shall submit such 
protest in the same manner no later than ten days after posting or publication of the 
notice of such contract as provided in Article 3, Section 4, of the Fairfax County 
Purchasing Resolution. However, if the protest of any actual or potential bidder or 
offeror depends in whole or in part upon information contained in public records 
pertaining to the procurement transaction which are subject to inspection under 
Article 2, Section 4d of the Fairfax County Purchasing Resolution, then the time 
within which the protest must be submitted shall expire ten days after those records 
are available for inspection by such bidder or offeror under Article 2, Section 4d, or 
at such later time as provided herein. No protest shall lie for a claim that the 
selected bidder or offeror is not a responsible bidder or offeror. The written protest 
shall include the basis for the protest and the relief sought. The County Purchasing 
Agent shall issue a decision in writing within ten (10) days of the receipt of the 
protest stating the reasons for the action taken. This decision shall be final unless 
the bidder or offeror appeals within ten (10) days of receipt of the written decision 
by instituting legal action as provided in the Code of Virginia. 

b. If prior to award it is determined that the decision to award is arbitrary or capricious, 
then the sole relief shall be a finding to that effect. The County Purchasing Agent 
shall cancel the proposed award or revise it to comply with the law. If, after an 

867



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-23

award, it is determined that an award of a contract was arbitrary or capricious, then 
the sole relief shall be as hereinafter provided. Where the award has been made 
but performance has not begun, the performance of the contract may be declared 
void by the County. Where the award has been made and performance has begun, 
the County Purchasing Agent may declare the contract void upon a finding that this 
action is in the best interest of the County. Where a contract is declared void, the 
performing Contractor shall be compensated for the cost of performance at the rate 
specified in the contract up to the time of such declaration. In no event shall the 
performing Contractor be entitled to lost profits. 

c. Pending final determination of a protest or appeal, the validity of a contract awarded 
and accepted in good faith in accordance with this article shall not be affected by 
the fact that a protest or appeal has been filed. 

d. An award need not be delayed for the period allowed a bidder or offeror to protest, 
but in the event of a timely protest, no further action to award the contract will be 
taken unless there is a written determination that proceeding without delay is 
necessary to protect the public interest or unless the bid or offer would expire. 

73. CONTRACTUAL DISPUTES-

a. Any dispute concerning a question of fact as a result of a contract with the County 
which is not disposed of by agreement shall be decided by the County Purchasing 
Agent, who shall reduce his decision to writing and mail or otherwise forward a copy 
to the Contractor within ninety (90) days. The decision of the County Purchasing 
Agent shall be final and conclusive unless the Contractor appeals within six (6) 
months of the date of the final written decision by instituting legal action as provided 
in the Code of Virginia. A Contractor may not institute legal action, prior to receipt of 
the County Purchasing Agent’s decision on the claim, unless the County 
Purchasing Agent fails to render such decision within the time specified. 

b. Contractual claims, whether for money or other relief, shall be submitted in writing 
no later than sixty days after final payment; however, written notice of the 
Contractor's intention to file such claim shall have been given at the time of the 
occurrence or beginning of the work upon which the claim is based. Nothing herein 
shall preclude a contract from requiring submission of an invoice for final payment 
within a certain time after completion and acceptance of the work or acceptance of 
the goods. Pendency of claims shall not delay payment of amounts agreed due in 
the final payment. 

74. LEGAL ACTION-No bidder, offeror, potential bidder or offeror, or Contractor shall 
institute any legal action until all statutory requirements have been met. 

75. COOPERATIVE PURCHASING-The County may participate in, sponsor, conduct or 
administer a cooperative procurement agreement on behalf of or in conjunction with one 
or more other public bodies, or public agencies or institutions or localities of the several 
states, of the United States or its territories, or the District of Columbia, for the purpose 
of combining requirements to increase efficiency or reduce administrative expenses in 

868



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-24

any acquisition of goods and services. Except for contracts for architectural and 
engineering services, a public body may purchase from another public body’s contract 
even if it did not participate in the request for proposal (RFP) or invitation for bid (IFB), if 
the RFP or IFB specified that the procurement was being conducted on behalf of other 
public bodies. Nothing herein shall prohibit the assessment or payment by direct or 
indirect means of any administrative fee that will allow for participation in any such 
arrangement. 

76. PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATION-The Department of Purchasing & Supply 
Management holds membership in the National Institute of Governmental Purchasing, 
Inc., a non-profit, educational and technical organization that includes among its goals 
and objectives the study, discussion, and recommendation of improvements in 
governmental purchasing and the interchange of ideas and experiences on local state, 
and national governmental purchasing problems. 

77. DRUG FREE WORKPLACE-During the performance of a contract, the Contractor 
agrees to (i) provide a drug-free workplace for the Contractor's employees; (ii) post in 
conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, a 
statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, sale, distribution, 
dispensation, possession, or use of a controlled substance or marijuana is prohibited in 
the Contractor's workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against 
employees for violations of such prohibition; (iii) state in all solicitations or 
advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the Contractor that the 
Contractor maintains a drug-free workplace; and (iv) include the provisions of the 
foregoing clauses in every subcontract of over $10,000, so that the provisions will be 
binding upon each subContractor or vendor. For the purposes of this section, "drug-free 
workplace" means a site for the performance of work done in conjunction with a specific 
contract awarded to a Contractor in accordance with this section, the employees of 
whom are prohibited from engaging in the unlawful manufacture, sale, distribution, 
dispensation, possession or use of any controlled substance or marijuana during the 
performance of the contract. 

78. IMMIGRATION REFORM AND CONTROL ACT: Contractor agrees that it does not, 
and shall not during the performance of the contract for goods and services in the 
Commonwealth, knowingly employ an unauthorized alien as defined in the Federal 
Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986. 

APPROVED:

/S/ David P. Bobzien 
COUNTY ATTORNEY 

/S/ Cathy A. Muse 

869



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

B-25

COUNTY PURCHASING AGENT

870



RFP2000002301 10/24/17 
Original Mt. Vernon High School Redevelopment
Alexander Company

C-1

Exhibit C

Cost Summary 10-23-17

Preliminary 
Master 

Development 
Plan (A)

Draft Master 
Development 

Plan (B)

Final Master 
Development 

Plan (C) Totals
Consultant Function

Land Design Planning $52,000 $15,000 $13,000 $80,000 

Walter L. Phillips Civil Engineering $45,200 $18,000 $8,000 $71,200 

Wetland Studies Environmental $32,000 $2,000 $2,000 $36,000 

Gorove Slade Traffic $32,000 $8,000 $6,000 $46,000 

GTA Geotechnical $17,300 $17,300 

SmartSite

Cost 
Estimates/Value 
Engineering $32,500 $7,500 $40,000 

McGuire, Woods Land Use Counsel $8,000 $15,000 $15,000 $38,000 

Heise, Jorgensen Title $11,500 $11,500 

Subtotal $230,500 $65,500 $44,000 $340,000 

Contingency (10%) $23,050 $6,550 $4,400 $34,000 

Authorized 
Reimbursable 
Expenses $9,000 $7,000 $9,000 $25,000 

Totals Per Phase (Guaranteed Maximum 
Price) $262,550 $79,050 $57,400 $399,000 

871



Board Agenda Item
December 5, 2017

4:30 p.m.

Public Comment from Fairfax County Citizens and Businesses on Issues of Concern

872


	12-5 Agenda
	9 30 Presentations
	10 00 Presentation of the TAC Transportation Award
	10 10 Board Appointments
	10 20 Legislative Program
	10 30 Items Presented by the County Executive
	Admin 1
	Admin 2
	Admin 3
	Admin 4
	Admin 5
	Admin 6
	Action 1
	Action 2
	Action 3
	Action 4
	Action 5
	Action 6
	Action 7
	Action 8
	Action 9
	Action 10
	Action 11
	Action 12
	Consideration 1
	Consideration 2
	Info 1
	Info 2
	Info 3
	Info 4
	10 40 Board Matters
	11 30 Closed Session
	3 30 Cellco Partnerships
	3 30 CM & DOM, LLC
	3 30 DD South 5, LC
	3 30 Jon & Kim Hickox
	4 00 Patriot Park
	4 00 Office Building Repurposing
	4 00 Chapter 82, Motor Vehicles
	4 00 Reston Station
	4 30 Houston Office Partners
	4 30 Mt. Vernon High School
	4 30 Public Comment



